# UNITED NATIONS



International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons

Responsible for Serious Violations of

International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of the former Yugoslavia since 1991 Case No. IT-08-91-T

Date: 27 March 2013

Original: English

## IN TRIAL CHAMBER II

Before: Judge Burton Hall, Presiding

Judge Guy Delvoie Judge Frederik Harhoff

Registrar: Mr. John Hocking

Judgement: 27 March 2013

**PROSECUTOR** 

v.

MIĆO STANIŠIĆ STOJAN ŽUPLJANIN

#### **PUBLIC**

#### **JUDGEMENT**

Volume 3 of 3

#### The Office of the Prosecutor:

Ms. Joanna Korner Mr. Thomas Hannis

#### **Counsel for the Accused:**

Mr. Slobodan Zečević and Mr. Slobodan Cvijetić for Mićo Stanišić Mr. Dragan Krgović and Mr. Aleksandar Aleksić for Stojan Župljanin

# **CONTENTS**

I. ANNEX I: PROCEDURAL HISTORY	1
II. ANNEX II: EVIDENCE OF INDIVIDUALLY NAMED VICTIMS	
A. BACKGROUND TO PROOF OF DEATH DATABASE	
B. THE PROOF OF DEATH DATABASE	
C. GENERAL SUBMISSIONS OF PARTIES.	
1. Defence Submissions	
2. Prosecution Response	
3. Defence Reply	
D. FINDINGS ON SPECIFIC DATABASES AND MATERIAL CONTAINED WITHIN PROOF OF DEA	
DATABASE	
1. Federal Institute of Statistics Mortality Database 1992–1995 ("FIS database")	I. 1.1
2. ICRC Missing Persons Report	
3. Sarajevo Household Survey	
4. Prijedor Book of Missing Persons	
5. Karton Žrtve ("Victim Record")	
6. Muslims Against Genocide Database ("MAG database")	13
7. Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims	
8. Exhibit P411.32	
9. Witness Statement and Expert Report of Amor Mašović	
10. BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons Report Tendered for Alleged	
Victims of the Korićanske Stijene Killing Incident	
E. GENERAL FINDINGS ON EVIDENCE CONTAINED WITHIN PROOF OF DEATH DATABASE	
1. Method of Chamber's Analysis	
2. General Observations	
3. References to "Witness Statements"	
4. Empty and Numbered Name Entries in Final Victims List	21
5. References to "LNU" and "FNU" in Final Victims List	
F. INDIVIDUALLY NAMED VICTIMS	
1. Banja Luka	
2. Ključ	
(a) Velagići	
(b) Biljani	
3. Prijedor and Skender Vakuf	
(a) Kozarac	
(b) Brdo, Čarakovo, and Bišćani	
(c) Ljubija Football Stadium	
(d) Omarska camp	
(e) Keraterm Camp, Room 3	
(f) Korićanske Stijene	
4. Teslić	
5. Višegrad	
(a) Adem Omeragić's house/Pionirska street	
6. Vlasenica	
(a) Execution at Nova Kasaba	
7. Zvornik	
(a) Drinjača School	
(b) Čelopek Dom Kulture	
(c) Karakaj Technical School	613

III. ANNEX III: LEGAL AUTHORITIE	S620
IV. ANNEX IV: DESIGNATED TERMS	AND ABBREVIATIONS63

#### I. ANNEX I: PROCEDURAL HISTORY

- 1. Indictment, arrest, transfer, and initial appearance Stanišić. The initial indictment against Mićo Stanišić was confirmed on 25 February 2005. On 11 March 2005, Stanišić surrendered and was transferred to the seat of the Tribunal. The same day, the President of the Tribunal assigned the case to Trial Chamber II. The initial appearance took place on 17 March 2005 before Judge Agius. Stanišić pleaded not guilty to all counts.
- On 4 May 2005, Stanišić submitted a preliminary motion objecting to the form of the indictment.<sup>5</sup> The Trial Chamber granted the motion in part and ordered the Prosecution to clarify and specify a number of allegations and facts within the initial indictment.<sup>6</sup> The Prosecution proceeded to file an amended indictment on 22 August 2005 and a revised amended indictment on 22 September 2005. The Trial Chamber approved the changes in the indictment. The Prosecution sought leave to amend the revised amended indictment on 9 May 2007 and again on 14 February 2008, in order to add, inter alia, allegations arising from new evidence. Thereafter, the Trial Chamber stated that it was not in a position to render a decision as it did not have the necessary documentation for review and suggested that the Prosecution reduce the scope of the indictment by reducing counts and/or crime sites or incidents.<sup>10</sup> The Prosecution responded by proposing the removal of certain incidents and sites from the indictment; however, the Prosecution opposed the removal of any counts. 11 On 8 May 2008, the Trial Chamber issued, pursuant to Rule 73 bis (D), an invitation to reduce the revised amended indictment by at least one-third by "taking into account that several counts are cumulatively charged". 12 The Prosecution responded that reducing the indictment would not produce a more efficient trial and that reduction would significantly diminish the Prosecution's ability to present its case. 13 On 26 May 2008, the Defence requested the Trial Chamber to order further reductions of the Indictment under Rule 73 bis (D).<sup>14</sup> On 4 July 2008, the Prosecution indicated that it would seek joinder of the cases of Mićo Stanišić and Stojan Župljanin.<sup>15</sup> On 16 July 2008, the Prosecution filed a motion for joinder and leave to consolidate and amend the indictments.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-I, Decision on Review of Indictment and Order for Non-Disclosure, filed confidentially on 25 February 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-I, Scheduling Order for Initial Appearance, 14 March 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-I, Order Assigning a Case to a Trial Chamber, 11 March 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-I, Initial Appearance, 17 March 2005, T. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Defence Motion Objecting to the Form of the Indictment, 4 May 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Decision on Defence Preliminary Motion on the Form of the Indictment, 19 July 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecutor's Amended Indictment, 22 August 2005; Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecutor's Revised Amended Indictment, 22 September 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Order, 11 October 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Motion for Leave to Amend the Indictment, 9 May 2007; Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Supplement to the Prosecution's Motion of 9 May 2007 for Leave to Amend the Indictment, 14 February 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Interim Decision on Prosecution's Motion and Supplement for Leave to Amend the Indictment, filed confidentially on 4 April 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Response to the Trial Chamber's Invitation to Reduce the Scope of its Indictment, with Confidential Annexes, filed confidentially on 25 April 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Invitation Pursuant to Rule 73 bis (D), 8 May 2008, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Response to Trial Chamber's Invitation Pursuant to Rule 73 bis (D), with Confidential Annexes, 20 May 2008, para. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Defence's Submission Regarding Prosecution's Response to Trial Chamber's Invitation Pursuant to Rule 73 bis (D), 26 May 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Request for Leave to Exceed Word Limit for Motion for Joinder and for Leave to Consolidate and Amend Indictments, 4 July 2008,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT, Prosecution's Motion for Joinder and for Leave to Consolidate and Amend Indictments, with Confidential Annexes, filed 16 July 2008.

- 3. *Indictment, arrest, transfer, and initial appearance* Župljanin. Based on the indictment of Radoslav Brdanin and Momir Talić, confirmed on 14 March 1999, an amended indictment was issued against Stojan Župljanin on 16 December 1999.<sup>17</sup> On 5 October 2004, the Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution's request to amend the amended indictment; a second amended indictment was filed on 6 October 2004.<sup>19</sup>
- 4. Župljanin was arrested on 11 June 2008; the same day, the President of the Tribunal assigned the case to Trial Chamber II.<sup>20</sup> Župljanin was transferred to the seat of the Tribunal on 21 June 2008, and his initial appearance was held on 23 June 2008 before Judge Støle.<sup>21</sup> Župljanin did not enter a plea.<sup>22</sup> At a further appearance on 21 July 2008, Župljanin pleaded not guilty to all counts.<sup>23</sup>
- 5. Joinder indictment. On 23 September 2008, the Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion for joinder of the cases against Mićo Stanišić and Stojan Župljanin and ordered the Prosecution to file an amended consolidated indictment.<sup>24</sup> The Prosecution filed a consolidated indictment on 29 September 2008.<sup>25</sup> Stanišić and Župljanin both filed motions challenging the consolidated indictment.<sup>26</sup> Both motions were denied in one decision.<sup>27</sup>
- 6. On 1 December 2008, the Prosecution filed a motion for leave to amend the consolidated indictment in which it sought to clarify the *mens rea* elements of each offence. The Trial Chamber granted the motion and directed the Prosecution to file a new indictment. On 1 May 2009, the Prosecution filed an amended consolidated indictment. The Trial Chamber then invited the Prosecution to review and remove events listed in the schedules of the indictment. In response, the Prosecution filed a motion to amend the schedules by removing five separate incidents. The Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion to amend the schedules; and, on 10 September 2009, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Amended Indictment, 16 December 1999, confirmed by Order on the Review of an Amended Indictment Pursuant to Article 19 of the Statute, filed confidentially on 17 December 1999, made public by Order to Vacate in Part the Orders for Non-Disclosure of 17 December 1999 and for Transmission of Warrant of Arrest, 13 July 2001; Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order on the Review of an Amended Indictment Pursuant to Article 19 of the Statute, filed confidentially on 14 March 1999; Prosecutor v. Momir Talić, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order on the Review of an Amended Indictment Pursuant to Article 19 of the Statute, filed confidentially on 14 March 1999; Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Indictment, 14 March 1999; Prosecutor v. Momir Talić, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Indictment, 14 March 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order Granting Leave to Amend the Amended Indictment Pursuant Article 19 and Rule 50(A)(i)(b), 5 October 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Second Amended Indictment, 6 October 2004.

Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order Assigning a Case to a Trial Chamber, 11 June 2008.
 Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Scheduling Order for Initial Appearance, 23 June 2008. See

also Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order Designating Judge for Initial Appearance, 23 June 2008. See also Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order Designating Judge for Initial Appearance, 23 June 2008; Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Order Regarding Composition of Trial Chamber, 23 June 2008.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Initial Appearance, 23 June 2008, T. 15.
 <sup>23</sup> Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-I, Further Appearance, 21 July 2008, T. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Prosecutor v. Mićo Stanišić, Case No. IT-04-79-PT and Prosecutor v. Stojan Župljanin, Case No. IT-99-36-PT, Decision on Prosecution's Motion for Joinder and for Leave to Consolidate and Amend Indictments, 23 September 2008. This Decision was filed under the newly assigned case number of IT-08-91-PT on 26 September 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Consolidated Indictment, 29 September 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Mićo Stanišić Defence Motion Regarding Form of the Indictment and Request for Additional and Adequate Particulars, 27 October 2008; Stojan Župljanin's Motion Challenging the Consolidated Indictment (and Motion for Exceeding the Prescribed Word Limit), 17 November 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Decision on Mićo Stanišić and Stojan Župljanin's Motions on Form of the Indictment, 19 March 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Prosecution Motion for Leave to Amend the Consolidated Indictment, 1 December 2008, para. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Decision on Motion and Supplementary Motion for Leave to Amend the Indictment, 28 April 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Amended Consolidated Indictment, 1 May 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Status Conference, 9 June 2009, T. 24-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Prosecution's Motion to Amend Schedules of the Indictment, 20 July 2009. *See also* Corrigendum to Prosecution's Motion to Amend Schedules of the Indictment, 23 July 2009.

Prosecution filed a second amended consolidated indictment.<sup>33</sup> On 23 November 2009, the Prosecution resubmitted the second amended consolidated indictment ("Indictment"), which is currently applicable in the joint case.<sup>34</sup> The annex listing the alleged individually-named victims underwent subsequent amendments, with the final annex being filed on 11 April 2012.<sup>35</sup>

- 7. *Motion for joinder with Karadžić*. Župljanin filed a motion requesting joinder with the case of Radovan Karadžić. <sup>36</sup> Because the Trial Chamber had no competence over the case of *Prosecutor v. Radovan Karadžić*, it referred the motion to the President of the Tribunal. <sup>37</sup> A Specially Appointed Chamber found that joinder would adversely affect Stanišić and Župljanin's right to be tried without undue delay and would not provide a significant advantage to the accused; the motion was therefore denied. <sup>38</sup>
- 8. *Pre-trial briefs*. The Prosecution filed its pre-trial brief on 8 June 2009.<sup>39</sup> Each accused filed a pre-trial brief on 29 June 2009 and supplemental briefs on 31 July 2009.<sup>40</sup>
- 9. *Composition of Trial Chamber*. On 3 September 2009, Judge Parker, the Presiding Judge of Trial Chamber II, assigned Judges Burton Hall, Guy Delvoie, and Frederik Harhoff to the bench that would conduct the trial, with Judge Hall presiding.<sup>41</sup>
- 10. *Site visit*. The Trial Chamber, from 20 to 26 September 2010, conducted a site visit to Pale, Vogošća, Vlasenica, Zvornik, Doboj, Teslić, Kotor Varoš, Banja Luka, Ključ, Prijedor, Skender Vakuf, Ilijaš, and Jahorina. Representatives from the Prosecution and the Defence attended the site visit. 42
- 11. Pre-trial conference and presentation of Prosecution case. The pre-trial conference was held on 4 September 2009, during which the Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution 212 hours and 131 witnesses to present its case-in-chief.<sup>43</sup> Trial commenced on 14 September 2009.<sup>44</sup> The Prosecution closed its case on 1 February 2011.<sup>45</sup>
- 12. *Motion for judgement of acquittal.* Neither of the accused filed a motion for a judgement of acquittal under Rule 98 bis.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Pre-Trial Conference, 4 September 2009, T. 110-111; Second Amended Consolidated Indictment, 10 September 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Corrigendum to Prosecution's Submission of Second Amended Consolidated Indictment, 23 November 2009; Second Amended Consolidated Indictment, 23 November 2009.

Amended Consolidated Indictment, 23 November 2009.

35 Prosecution's Corrigendum to the Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012, 11 April 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Stojan Župljanin's Motion for Joinder with the Case of Radovan Karadžić, 3 December 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Order Referring Stojan Župljanin's Motion for Joinder, 3 December 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Decision on Stojan Župljanin's Motion for Joinder, 6 January 2009, paras 32-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, 8 June 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Pre-Trial Brief of the Defence of Mićo Stanišić, 29 June 2009; Defence Pre-Trial Brief on Behalf of Mr. Stojan Župljanin Pursuant to Rule 65 *ter* (F), 29 June 2009; Supplemental Pre-trial Brief of the Defence of Mićo Stanišić, 31 July 2009; Supplement to Defence Pre-Trial Brief on Behalf of Mr. Stojan Župljanin Pursuant to Rule 65 *ter* (F), 31 July 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Order Regarding the Composition of a Trial Chamber and Designating a Presiding Judge, 3 September 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Joint Submission of Proposed Locations for Site Visit, filed confidentially on 11 March 2010; Decision Granting Motion for a Site Visit, filed confidentially on 16 July 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Order Scheduling Pre-Trial Conference and Commencement of Trial with Order Terminating Provisional Release, 19 August 2009; Pre-Trial Conference, 4 September 2009, T. 90-93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Prosecution's Opening Statement, 14 September 2009, T. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Hearing, 1 February 2011, T. 19307.

- Presentation of Defence case. On 28 March 2011, Stanišić and Župljanin filed their witness and exhibit lists. 46 At the pre-defence conference held on 4 April 2011, the Trial Chamber granted Stanišić's request of 11 witnesses and allowed 102 hours to present his case-in-chief,<sup>47</sup> and Stanišić opened his case on 11 April 2011.<sup>48</sup> Stanišić closed his case on 20 July 2011.<sup>49</sup> On 15 September 2011, the Trial Chamber granted in part Stanišić's motion for the admission of documents from the bar table. 50 The Trial Chamber granted Župljanin's request for 24 witnesses and 64 hours to present his case-in-chief,<sup>51</sup> and Župljanin opened his case on 5 September 2011.<sup>52</sup> Župljanin closed his case on 8 December 2011.<sup>53</sup>
- Rebuttal and rejoinder. On 15 December 2011, the Trial Chamber granted in part the Prosecution's first and second motions to present evidence in rebuttal, allowing the Prosecution to call two rebuttal witnesses. <sup>54</sup> These witnesses were heard from 10 to 12 January 2012. <sup>55</sup> Neither of the accused sought to present evidence in rejoinder.
- Chamber witnesses. The Trial Chamber called three witnesses to give evidence. 56 15.
- Re-opening. The Trial Chamber granted a motion by Župljanin for a limited re-opening of 16. his defence case to allow admission of one interview pursuant to Rule 92 quater,<sup>57</sup> but denied a motion to re-open made by Stanišić. 58
- 17. Final briefs and arguments. The parties filed their final trial briefs on 14 May 2012, with public redacted versions available on 12 July 2012.<sup>59</sup> Closing arguments were heard from 29 May to 1 June 2012. On 1 June 2012, the Presiding Judge, pursuant to Rule 87, declared the hearing closed and adjourned the trial to allow the Trial Chamber to deliberate in private. 60 The Trial Chamber sat for 354 days during the course of the trial.
- Provisional release. Mićo Stanišić was provisionally released on eleven occasions.<sup>61</sup> Župljanin was not granted provisional release.<sup>62</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Rule 65 ter (G) Submission Filed on Behalf of Mr. Mićo Stanišić, filed confidentially on 28 March 2011; Rule 65 ter (G) Submission Filed on Behalf of Mr. Stojan Župljanin, filed confidentially on 28 March 2011

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Pre-Defence Conference, 4 April 2011, T. 19312, 19314.

<sup>48</sup> Stanišić Defence Opening Statement, 11 April 2011, T. 19361.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Hearing, 20 July 2011, T. 23596.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Decision Granting in Part the Stanišić Defence Bar Table Motion, filed 15 September 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Pre-Defence Conference, 4 April 2011, T. 19312.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Župljanin Defence Opening Statement, 5 September 2001, T. 23611.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Hearing, 8 December 2011, T. 26399.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Decision Granting in Part the Prosecution's First and Second Motions to Present Evidence in Rebuttal, 15 December 2011, reclassified as confidential by Chamber Decision of 10 January 2012. The Prosecution's third and fourth motions to present evidence in rebuttal were denied. Decision Denying Fourth Prosecution Motion Seeking Leave to Present Evidence in Rebuttal, filed confidentially on 13 January 2012; Decision Denying Third Prosecution Motion Seeking Leave to Present Evidence in Rebuttal, filed confidentially on 13 January 2012.

<sup>55</sup> Mirza Lišinović, 10 January 2012, T. 26444, 11 January 2012, T. 26492; ST266, 11 January 2012, T. 26536, 12 January 2012, T. 26566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Order Scheduling the Appearance of Three Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 98, 15 February 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Decision Granting Župljanin Motion to Reopen Defence Case, 3 April 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Decision Denying Stanišić Motion to Reopen Defence Case, 3 May 2012 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Prosecution's Final Trial Brief, filed confidentially on 14 May 2012; Mr. Mićo Stanišić's Final Written Submissions Pursuant to Rule 86, filed confidentially on 14 May 2012; Župljanin Defence Final Trial Brief, filed confidentially on 14 May 2012; Prosecution's Notice of Filing a Public Redacted Version of the Prosecution's Final Trial Brief, 12 July 2012; Notice of Filing of Public Redacted Version of Mr. Mićo Stanišić's Final Written Submissions Pursuant to Rule 86, 12 July 2012; Župljanin Defence Final Trial Brief (Redacted Public Version), 12 July 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Closing Arguments, 1 June 2012, T. 27668.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Decision on Mićo Stanišić's motion for provisional release, 19 July 2005; Order reinstating provisional release, 10 July 2008; Order reinstating provisional release, 12 June 2009; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's motion for provisional release during the winter recess, 11 December 2009; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's motion for

## II. ANNEX II: EVIDENCE OF INDIVIDUALLY NAMED VICTIMS

#### A. Background to Proof of Death Database

- 19. On 23 July 2010, the Prosecution requested leave of the Chamber to add to its Rule 65 *ter* list of exhibits and to admit into evidence a Proof of Death Database and an accompanying list identifying individually named victims purportedly killed in the Indictment Municipalities.<sup>63</sup> The Proof of Death Database consisted of a compilation of material that, in the Prosecution's submission, proved the deaths of these individuals. The Prosecution also requested leave to add and admit a spreadsheet "listing relevant supporting documentation from the Proof of Death [D]atabase for [the] victims listed in the Confidential Annex to the Indictment [...] found in the [D]atabase".
- 20. On 17 September 2010, the Defence requested that the Prosecution provide it with the necessary information enabling it to identify the persons listed in the schedules to the Indictment in a way that would enable it to challenge that they were victims of the crimes charged. The Defence also notified the Prosecution and the Trial Chamber that it intended to make submissions on each alleged victim. On 2 December 2010, the Defence informed the Chamber that it would not stipulate to the facts contained within the Prosecution's Proof of Death Database.
- 21. Pursuant to further direction from the Chamber, the Prosecution filed a consolidated and updated hyperlinked spreadsheet ("CHS"), requesting the Chamber to grant it leave to amend the Proof of Death Database and admitted into evidence the CHS consisting of a comprehensive list of identified victims and the hyperlinked supporting underlying material tendered to prove their deaths, substituting the previous version of the Proof of Death Database.<sup>67</sup>
- 22. On 1 February 2011, the Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion and directed the Prosecution to provide missing English translations as soon as practicable and to correct other identified deficiencies no later than 1 March 2011.<sup>68</sup>
- 23. On 1 March 2011, the Prosecution filed its notice of compliance with the Trial Chamber's directions.<sup>69</sup> In a confidential annex to this filing, the Prosecution provided descriptions of the main databases adduced in the Proof of Death Database, as well as explanations pertaining to the their respective provenance.<sup>70</sup>

provisional release during the summer recess, 16 July 2010; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's motion for provisional release during court winter recess, 3 December 2010; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's request for provisional release, 18 November 2011; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's request for provisional release, 6 June 2012; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's motion for an extension of provisional release, 27 August 2012; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's second motion for an extension of provisional release, 19 November 2012; Decision granting Mićo Stanišić's third motion for an extension of provisional release, 21 February 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> See Decision on Stojan Župljanin's Motion for Provisional Release, 30 June 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Prosecution's Motion to Add Proof of Death Database to Its 65 *ter* Exhibit List and to Tender into Evidence with Confidential Annexes A and B, 23 July 2010, para. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Prosecution's Motion to Add Proof of Death Database to Its 65 *ter* Exhibit List and to Tender into Evidence with Confidential Annexes A and B, 23 July 2010, paras 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Hearing, 17 September 2010, T. 14831.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Hearing, 2 December 2010, T. 18096.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Directives Relating to the Proof of Death Consolidated Hyperlinked Spreadsheet, with Confidential Annexes A and B, 14 January 2011, para. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Decision Granting Prosecution's Motion on Proof of Death Database, 1 February 2011, p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B.

- 24. On 26 July 2011, the Prosecution requested the Chamber to admit into evidence and to grant it leave to add additional death certificates and material to the Proof of Death Database.<sup>71</sup> The Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion in part and admitted 292 death certificates and 44 other proof of death documents relating to persons named in the Proof of Death Database into evidence on 25 November 2011.<sup>72</sup>
- 25. On 8 December 2011, the Chamber permitted that the Defence file submissions on the Proof of Death Database separately from the final trial briefs. The Defence was instructed to provide the Chamber with a spreadsheet setting out the submissions and related narratives in relation to each alleged victim.<sup>73</sup>
- 26. On 27 January 2012, the Chamber granted, in part, the Prosecution's second motion to supplement the Proof of Death Database filed on 8 December 2011 and admitted additional proof of death documents into evidence. By the same decision, the Chamber ordered the Prosecution to file an updated public annex listing all known alleged victims listed in schedules A and B to the Indictment, as well as a final and complete version of the Proof of Death Database by 6 February 2012.<sup>74</sup> The Chamber invited the Defence to file its objections in respect of each individual listed in the Proof of Death Database by 20 February 2012.<sup>75</sup>
- 27. On 6 February 2012, the Prosecution moved the Chamber to reconsider, in part, its decision of 27 January 2012 and provided its notice of compliance with the Chamber's order, filing an amended victims list ("Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012"). The Prosecution provided additional submissions on the amendments, explaining *inter alia* the removal of 30 names from the victims list and the addition of two new names. The request for the removal of 30 names was amended by the Prosecution on 27 February 2012. The request for the removal of 30 names was amended by the Prosecution on 27 February 2012.
- 28. The Defence filed their opposition to the Prosecution's Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012 on 14 February and 15 February 2012, respectively,<sup>79</sup> requesting an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Prosecution's Motion to Reopen its Case-in-Chief (Death Certificates) and Tender Documents from the Bar Table, 23 July 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Decision Admitting into Evidence Documents Supplementing the CHS, 25 November 2011. By an oral order of the Trial Chamber of 20 September 2011, the Chamber directed the Prosecution to inform the Chamber of the dates on which the latter sent the Requests for Assistance to the respective countries, and which led it to being provided with the documents in question. The Prosecution was further directed to provide the Chamber with information on outstanding Requests for Assistance pertaining to the Proof of Death Database and a template translation of the documents received. On 30 September 2011, the Prosecution filed its notice of compliance with the oral order of 20 September 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Hearing 8 December 2011, T. 26409-26411.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Second Decision Admitting into Evidence Documents Supplementing the CHS, 27 January 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Second Decision Admitting into Evidence Documents Supplementing the CHS, 27 January 2012, para. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS and Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Order of 27 January 2012, 6 February 2012 ("Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012, part IV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> On 27 February 2012, the Prosecution confidentially filed the Prosecution's Corrigendum to the Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS and Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Order of 27 January 2012. The Prosecution requested to amend its request for the removal of 30 names, as it had in error requested to remove the names of four persons named as victims of the killing incident set out in schedule B 1.1 of the Indictment. The Prosecution also requested the removal of the entry "ŽERIĆ, three brothers" from the annex to the Indictment, which it inadvertently omitted to do in its notice of compliance of 14 January 2012. Finally, the Prosecution gave notice that it would withdraw the name of Nenad Čorak from the Proof of Death Database. The Prosecution undertook to file amended versions of the Proof of Death Database and annex to the Indictment once the Trial Chamber had ruled on its Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Stanišić Defence Opposition to Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS, 14 February 2012; Župljanin Defence Notice Regarding Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS, 14 February 2012. In its notice, the Defence for Stojan Župljanin informed all parties

extension of time for the filing of its submissions on each alleged victim listed in the Proof of Death Database dependent on the date when a final version of the Proof of Death Database would be filed by the Prosecution.<sup>80</sup>

- 29. On 29 March 2012, the Chamber, granting in part the Prosecution Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012, denied the Prosecution's request for reconsideration and ordered the Prosecution to file a final and complete version of the Proof of Death Database and an updated public annex to the Indictment by 5 April 2012.<sup>81</sup> The Trial Chamber invited the Defence to file its objections in respect of each individual listed in the Proof of Death Database by 12 April 2012.<sup>82</sup>
- 30. On 5 April 2012, the Prosecution filed its notice of compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012. A corrected and final version of the public annex to the Indictment ("Final Victims List") was filed by way of a corrigendum on 11 April 2012. The Final Victims List lists 1,735 individuals.
- 31. On 12 April 2012, the Defence for Mićo Stanišić and the Defence for Stojan Župljanin filed their joint defence submissions on the Proof of Death Database ("Defence Submissions"). As part of the Defence Submissions, the Defence requested that certain material contained in the Proof of Death Database be excluded. The motion to exclude certain material was denied, and the Trial Chamber stated that it would consider the submissions contained within the Defence Submissions in evaluating the evidence adduced for the individually named victims.
- 32. On 17 April 2012, the final version of the Proof of Death Database was assigned exhibit number P2466.<sup>88</sup> As instructed by the Chamber, the Proof of Death Database was classified as a confidential exhibit in this case.<sup>89</sup>
- 33. On 23 April 2012, the Defence jointly filed a motion seeking the reconsideration or certification of the Chamber's 18 April 2012 decision. On 26 April 2012, the Prosecution filed its Response to the Defence Submissions, as well as to the Defence motion for reconsideration ("Prosecution Response"). On 1 May 2012, the Defence requested leave to reply ("Defence

and the Trial Chamber that it adopted in full the submissions of the Defence for Mićo Stanišić set out in the latter's filing of 15 February 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Stanišić Defence Opposition to Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS, 14 February 2012; Župljanin Defence Notice Regarding Prosecution's Motion for Reconsideration in Part of the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Documents to the CHS, 14 February 2012, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Decision Granting in Part Prosecution's Motion to Reconsider the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Material to the CHS, 29 March 2012, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Decision Granting in Part Prosecution's Motion to Reconsider the Trial Chamber's Decision of 27 January 2012 and to Add Further Material to the CHS, 29 March 2012, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012, 5 April 2012.

Prosecution's Corrigendum to the Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012, 11 April 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 12 April 2012 ("Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Decision Denying Joint Defence Motion to Reconsider the Decision Granting Prosecution's Motion on Proof of Death Database, 18 April 2011, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Registry Internal Memorandum, 17 April 2012, "Assignment of Exhibit Number pursuant to 29 March 2012 Decision", p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Decision on Prosecution's Request For Change in Status of an Exhibit, 7 May 2012. In its decision, the Chamber considered that the Proof of Death Database included material that warranted a confidential classification.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Motion for Reconsideration or Certification of "Decision Denying Joint Defence Motion to Reconsider the Decision Granting Prosecution's Motion on Proof of Death Database", 23 April 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012.

Reply"). <sup>92</sup> On 10 May 2012, the Chamber denied the Defence motion for reconsideration and certification, but granted the Defence leave to reply to the Prosecution Response and noted that it would take into consideration the submissions made in the Prosecution Response and the Defence Reply as far as they related to the Proof of Death Database during its assessment of the evidence contained in the latter. <sup>93</sup>

34. On 11 July 2012, the Defence filed an addendum to the Defence Submissions, requesting the Chamber to include as part of the Defence Submissions additional material received from BiH on the civilian or combatant status of alleged victims named in the Indictment. On 13 July 2012, the Prosecution responded, opposing the admission of the material. On 23 July 2012, the Chamber granted the Defence request to receive the addendum and its annexes as part of the Defence Submissions and admitted into evidence the underlying material received from BiH. The material received from BiH was subsequently assigned the exhibit number 1D834.

#### **B.** The Proof of Death Database

- 35. In its analysis of the evidence presented in support of the Final Victims List, the Chamber will refer to the material presented collectively as the "Proof of Death Database".
- 36. The Proof of Death Database was assigned a single exhibit number in this case. The Chamber has considered the hyperlinked documents the Prosecution has listed under the highlighted CHS name entry of each alleged victim in this case, when determining whether this person was killed as alleged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber has referenced the relevant documents in its analysis by reference to the "ordinal number" of the Proof of Death Database, followed by the name of the source, and, where applicable, the list or table setting out the relevant information hyperlinked to that "ordinal number". The Chamber observes that the Prosecution's reference to "ordinal numbers" should in fact be a reference to "cardinal numbers".
- 37. Three translations received subsequent to the filing of the final Proof of Death Database were, pursuant to an order of the Chamber, assigned the individual exhibit numbers P2466.1, P2466.2, and P2466.3. The Chamber considers them to form an integral part of the Proof of Death Database.
- 38. In considering the Defence Submissions in relation to each alleged victim, the Chamber has considered the individual submissions hyperlinked to the name entries in conjunction with the information contained within annexes C and D to the Defence Submissions and annexes A and B to the addendum. The Chamber notes that Annexes C and D to the Defence Submissions refer the Chamber to the information regarding the civilian or combatant status of alleged victims supplied by the governments of BiH and the Republic of Croatia, which were admitted into evidence as

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Defence Application to Reply and Reply to Prosecution Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 1 May 2012.

Decision Denying Joint Defence Motion for Reconsideration or Certification of the Decision of 18 April 2012 and Allowing the Defence to Reply to the Prosecution's Response to the Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 10 May 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 11 July 2012, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Prosecution's Opposition to Defence Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 13 July 2012, para.

Decision Admitting into Evidence Material Provided by Bosnia and Herzegovina and Granting Defence Request Regarding the Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Consolidated Hyperlinked Spreadsheet, 23 July 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Confidential Registry Internal Memorandum on the Assignment of an Exhibit Number pursuant to 20 July Decision, 3 August 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Order Instructing the Registrar to Assign Exhibit Numbers to Additional Translations within the Proof of Death Database, 28 August 2012.

1D833 and 1D795, respectively. 99 Annexes A and B to the Defence addendum of 11 July 2012 refer the Chamber to the additional information received from the government of BiH contained in 1D834.

#### C. General Submissions of Parties

#### 1. Defence Submissions

- 39. The Defence submits that certain underlying material and databases upon which the Prosecution relies are unreliable sources of evidence to which the Chamber should attach no weight. It is argued that the Prosecution fails to provide sufficient information about the provenance of the information contained within the databases. According to the Defence, the significant discrepancies between the different databases listed for each individual render the data contained therein unreliable for the purposes of determining the identity of the victims. It is moreover averred that the databases share the same sources of information, which, according to the Defence, calls into question whether information is corroborated.
- 40. The Defence has provided the Chamber with a spreadsheet mirroring the name entries contained within the Proof of Death Database that highlights purported errors in the Proof of Death Database, such as discrepancies between the information entered and the information provided in the underlying documents. The spreadsheet's colour-coded highlights also draw the Chamber's attention to conflicting or ambiguous information, as identified by the Defence, as well as missing underlying documentation. The Defence submits that, while it has highlighted some information as "present and correct", it contests that this information establishes that the deaths occurred as alleged in the Indictment. 104
- 41. Finally, the Defence avers that, based on the documentation submitted in the Proof of Death Database, it found that the Prosecution's allegations were supported by the underlying evidence in relation to 173 of the individually named victims.<sup>105</sup>

#### 2. Prosecution Response

42. The Prosecution submits that the Proof of Death Database and its underlying materials are relevant, probative, and sufficiently reliable for the Chamber to give them weight during its deliberations. It submits that the material should be viewed as a whole and in conjunction with the other evidence in the trial. Relying on the Trial Chamber's decision of 1 February 2011 in which it held that the identities of the victims do not constitute material facts that need to be pleaded, the Prosecution avers that the Defence relies on the incorrect premise that the Prosecution needs to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 5. On 15 February 2012, the Chamber directed the Stanišić Defence to include the information on the civilian or combatant status of persons listed in the schedules of the Indictment received from the government of BiH in its filing of 20 February 2012 as underlying material with appropriate hyperlinks to the relevant entry in the spreadsheet it would file.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 17.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, paras 40-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, paras 1, 4, 6, 10.

prove the identities of victims beyond reasonable doubt. <sup>107</sup> The Prosecution submits that it has set out sufficiently the provenance of the material underlying the Proof of Death Database. <sup>108</sup>

- 43. The Prosecution also argues that the Defence fails to substantiate its argument that questionnaires of the relatives of the victims or their former communities are inherently unreliable. The Prosecution rejects the Defence's challenge of nearly 700 entries in the Proof of Death Database on the grounds that some of the supporting material submitted for one individual consists of differing information from different sources, albeit not necessarily conflicting. In the Prosecution's submission, the fact that information may differ in two databases does not render it inconsistent *per se*, because the underlying sources may be different, but equally truthful. 110
- 44. Moreover, the Prosecution submits that it has repeatedly offered to provide to the Defence material referenced as "witness statements" of persons who never appeared on the Prosecution's Rule 65 *ter* witness list. However, the Defence has never requested the material in question.<sup>111</sup>

#### 3. <u>Defence Reply</u>

- 45. The Defence submits that, in the Prosecution Response, the Prosecution has repeatedly misrepresented the Defence submissions. The Defence reiterates its earlier submission that the Prosecution must prove that victims named in the Annex to the Indictment are indeed deceased and that their death has been caused by an act or omission of the Accused or by a person for whose acts or omissions the Accused bears criminal responsibility. The Defence avers that only then may the Trial Chamber find the named persons to be victims of the alleged crimes. The Prosecution has repeatedly misrepresented the Prosecution has repeated his prosec
- 46. The Defence takes issue with the Prosecution's assertion that the Defence has failed to state its reasons for challenging the reliability of questionnaires completed by relatives of the alleged victims and refers the Trial Chamber to its previous submissions on this issue.<sup>114</sup>

#### D. Findings on Specific Databases and Material Contained within Proof of Death Database

- 1. Federal Institute of Statistics Mortality Database 1992–1995 ("FIS database")
- 47. The Prosecution submits that the FIS database has been compiled by the official BiH government statistical authority and records all registered deaths in BiH between 1992 and 1995. According to the Prosecution, the data was collected using statistical methods and approaches and on the basis of obligatory death notification certificates. 115

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, paras 2, 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, para. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, para. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, para. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, para. 21.

Defence Application to Reply and Reply to Prosecution Response to Joint Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 1 May 2012, paras 3, 4, 5, and 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Defence Application to Reply and Reply to Prosecution Response to Joint Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 1 May 2012, para. 3.

Defence Application to Reply and Reply to Prosecution Response to Joint Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 1 May 2012, para. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 1.

- 48. The Defence submits that the FIS database is unreliable because it does not supply sufficient information about the way in which an individual died and indicates merely that a victim's death was "forced" or caused by "war" or "unknown". The Defence, in particular, underscores that persons who died in "war" may have died in combat. It is further submitted that, for the most part, it is impossible to ascertain the sources of the information underlying the FIS database and the methodology of its compilation. The use of questionnaires completed by relatives of the deceased are, in the Defence's view, particularly unreliable because their veracity cannot be verified. 118
- 49. The Prosecution rejects as irrelevant the Defence assertion that the FIS database should be given no weight on the grounds that the database fails to specify whether the victims listed were civilians or had military status. The Prosecution argues that the status of a victim may not be indicative of whether or not a person was killed *hors de combat*. In the Prosecution's submission, the Chamber would have to assess the underlying FIS documentation in conjunction with other evidence received in relation to a particular victim.
- 50. In its Reply, the Defence underscores its earlier submission that the ambiguity of the information provided in relation to the cause of death of the listed individuals leaves the possibility open that these persons may have died in combat. 120
- 51. The Chamber considers the FIS database to be sufficiently reliable to prove the death, place of death, date of death, date of birth, father's name, and name of a person. However, the Chamber will not rely on the database as proof of the circumstances of death, since the database, as provided by the Prosecution, does not permit the Trial Chamber to determine whether the listed individuals did or did not die in combat.

#### 2. ICRC Missing Persons Report

- 52. The Prosecution submits that the ICRC Missing Persons Report consists of five lists<sup>121</sup> compiled by the Committee for the International Red Cross on the basis of standardised questionnaires filled in by close relatives of the missing individuals.<sup>122</sup>
- 53. The Chamber notes that the Defence makes distinct submissions on the "ICRC Missing Persons Report" and the "ICRC List". Yet, both sets of submissions concern the five separate lists uploaded into the Proof of Death Database as "ICRC Missing Persons Report".
- 54. With respect to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, the Defence submits that the Prosecution fails to specify the provenance of the information contained therein. The Defence further challenges this database, stating that its content is ambiguous because it fails to clarify whether a person has disappeared or is deceased. The Defence submits that it was only able to reach a conclusion as to the death or disappearance of a certain person by reference to other Proof of Death

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, paras 20-21.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 21.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, paras 22-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and response to motion to reconsider the reconsideration decision, 26 April 2012, para. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Defence Application to Reply and Reply to Prosecution Response to Joint Final Submissions on the and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 1 May 2012, para. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> These include a Table of (i) Missing Persons; (ii) Still Missing With Indication of the Recovery of Their Body; (iii) Closed Cases Where Death Has Been Ascertained; (iv) Closed Cases Where Missing Persons Have Been Found To Be Alive; (v) Administrative Exclusions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, paras 24-27.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 24.

Database documents listed for the individual in question. Finally, the Defence challenges the reliability of the "pending tracing requests" table within the ICRC Missing Persons Report, arguing that it is inconclusive as to whether a particular individual is indeed deceased.

- 55. The Defence moreover challenges the reliability of the ICRC Missing Persons Report, arguing that its underlying source is information provided by undefined "close relatives" of missing persons. It furthermore avers that, in the absence of information on the link between the armed conflict and the victims' alleged disappearances, the report is inherently unreliable. 127
- 56. The Chamber considers the ICRC Missing Persons Report to be sufficiently reliable to establish the identity and date and place of disappearance of a person. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that, in conjunction with other evidence presented to prove a person's death, the database is capable of supporting a conclusion that a person died at a certain place on a certain date.

#### 3. Sarajevo Household Survey

- 57. The Prosecution submits that the Sarajevo Household Survey, carried out by the Institute for Research of War Crimes and International Law, Sarajevo, consists of interview surveys completed with households living within the Sarajevo frontlines in mid-1994. It is argued that the fact that 340,000 persons participated in the survey makes it a "complete source of information". 128
- 58. The Defence submits that the Sarajevo Household Survey is not only based on unreliable information, but is also generally unusable due to its size and the fact that most of its pages are comprised of handwritten documents. The Defence further notes that Prosecution expert, Ewa Tabeau, expressed reservations about the reliability of the database on the grounds of potential bias. 129
- 59. The Prosecution takes issue with the Defence's submission that the Prosecution expert, Ewa Tabeau, expressed reservations about the document. It submits that the Defence mischaracterises Tabeau's testimony. According to the Prosecution, Tabeau deemed the survey sufficiently reliable, if slightly biased towards Muslim victims. <sup>130</sup>
- 60. Accepting the expert report and the testimony of Prosecution witness Ewa Tabeau, the Chamber is satisfied that the Sarajevo Household Survey has been compiled in a way that makes it sufficiently reliable in relation to the date, place, and time of disappearance or death of a particular person. However, the Chamber does not consider it to be capable of providing conclusive information on the circumstances of a person's death. The Chamber considers the Defence's argument that most of the survey's pages are comprised of handwritten pages to be without merit, as the translation services have been able to provide translations of the relevant entries. However, the Chamber notes that in a number of instances the Prosecution has submitted parts of the survey that did not relate to the individual for whom they were adduced.<sup>131</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 27.

Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 5.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Prosecution's Response to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database and Response to Motion to Reconsider the Reconsideration Decision, 26 April 2012, para. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 6656, 6672, 6679, 6687, 6796, and 6800.

#### 4. Prijedor Book of Missing Persons

- 61. The Prosecution submits that the Prijedor Book of Missing Persons was compiled by the Office for the Refugees and Displaced People of Prijedor Municipality and contains 3,146 records of missing persons received from family members and friends. 132
- 62. The Defence submits that the Prijedor Book of Missing Persons is inherently unreliable because it is compiled based on the reports of family members and friends of missing persons and the purported source of the database, namely the Office for the Refugees and Displaced People of Prijedor Municipality, does not appear to exist. The Defence relies on the Trial Judgement in the *Stakić* case, which declared the database unreliable because its provenance could not be established. The Defence relies on the Trial Judgement in the stakic case, which declared the database unreliable because its provenance could not be established.
- 63. The Chamber considers that, in light of the unascertainable provenance of the material, the Prijedor Book of Missing Persons is not capable of providing sufficiently reliable information on date, place, and time of disappearance or death of an alleged named victim in this case. Accordingly, the Chamber has disregarded the database in its analyses of the entries in the Proof of Death Database for the alleged named victims for whom the Prosecution has tendered this database.

# 5. <u>Karton Žrtve ("Victim Record")</u>

- 64. The Prosecution submits that the Victim Record was created and compiled by a Bosnian NGO, the Research and Documentation Centre ("RDC"), established in the year 2004 and based in Sarajevo. According to the Prosecution, the RDC collected records, newspaper reports, lists, and information received from individual informants on the wounding and killing of persons during the war events. The Prosecution avers that some inconsistent and less reliable records may be included in this database. <sup>135</sup>
- 65. The Defence submits that the Victim Record is an unreliable source of information because the statements providing the underlying information were neither collected on a standardised basis nor checked for accuracy before being incorporated into the Victim Record database. It further draws the Trial Chamber's attention to the Prosecution's submission that the editing process of the information contained within the Victim Record may have introduced errors into the database. <sup>136</sup> In particular, the Defence submits that the person listed under "ordinal number" 6742 has been identified as still being alive by another Trial Chamber of this Tribunal. <sup>137</sup>
- 66. The Chamber considers that the Victim File is capable of providing sufficiently reliable information on the identity, date, place, and time of disappearance or death. The Chamber does, however, not consider it to be capable of providing conclusive information on the circumstances of a person's death.

#### 6. Muslims Against Genocide Database ("MAG database")

67. The Prosecution submits that the MAG database contains data collected by the NGO Muslims Against Genocide on persons killed during the war in BiH. The data was collected by volunteers working for the NGO. The information was collected from relatives and neighbours of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011 Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011, Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 7.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, paras 31-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 33.

deceased persons, hospitals, ambulances, newspapers, and community contacts. The Prosecution received "the data [...] during a mission of the Demographic Unit to [BiH]; an update was provided later in 2001 and computerized in 2002." The NGO ceased to exist around 2003. 139

- 68. The Defence challenges the reliability of the database, submitting that the veracity of the statements providing the underlying information cannot be verified, especially given the fact that the forms used to collect the information are inaccessible. 140
- 69. The Chamber considers the database to be unreliable for the purposes of its determination as to whether or not alleged individually named persons were killed as charged in the Indictment because the database at times records a "date of death" and records the corresponding "cause of death" as "unaccounted for"<sup>141</sup> or in general terms, <sup>142</sup> thus suggesting that it was actually not known when a person died or if the person was indeed deceased or missing.

#### 7. <u>Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims</u>

- 70. The Prosecution submits that the Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims report was compiled by Civpol Goražde Station Commander Sgt. T. Cameron on 6 November 1994. According to the Prosecution, the report's underlying information was received by Civpol in the form of witness statements. The Prosecution obtained the report on 6 March 1995. 143
- 71. The Defence submits that the alleged provenance of the report cannot be verified, the underlying witness statements do not meet the criteria of admissibility, and the information contained in the database is incomplete and unreliable.
- 72. The Chamber considers the Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims report to be capable of providing sufficiently reliable information on date, place, and time of disappearance or death of a particular person. However, the Chamber does not consider it to be capable of providing conclusive information on the circumstances of a person's death.

#### 8. Exhibit P411.32

- 73. Exhibit P411.32, which was admitted into evidence on 26 November 2009, consists of an official note created by witness Adil Draganović attached to a list of persons who allegedly suffocated in a truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992.
- 74. The Prosecution has not made specific submissions in relation to its reliance upon this exhibit in the Proof of Death Database. 146

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011, Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 8.

Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011, Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 8.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), ordinal number "6466", MAG 2002 (confidential), reference to "MAG key #34887".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), ordinal number "7020", MAG 2002 (confidential), reference to "MAG key #30582: Cause of death: He was killed in a camp"; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), ordinal number "7059" MAG 2002 (confidential), reference to "MAG key #33692: Cause of death: Violent Death".

Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with Directions of 1 February 2011, Regarding the Proof of Death Database, 1 March 2011, Confidential Annex B, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 36.

The Chamber notes the Prosecution's general submissions in relation to its reliance of P411.32 in relation to the incident charged in Indictment schedule B 1.1 at para. 26 of the Prosecution's Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012.

- 75. The Defence submits that exhibit P411.32 is unreliable because it lists as deceased a person who is still alive. 147
- 76. The Chamber has examined exhibit P411.32 and the explanations provided in relation to it by Adil Draganović in his testimony. Has Given that a person found to be alive features on the list, the Chamber is unable to conclude that those listed suffocated in the truck to Manjača on 7 July 1992.

### 9. Witness Statement and Expert Report of Amor Mašović

- 77. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has not advanced any submissions on the witness statement and expert report of Amor Mašović.
- 78. The Defence submits that, for sixteen persons alleged to have been killed in Bosanski Šamac, the Prosecution has hyperlinked an expert report of Amor Mašović. However, the report was named "BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons". In the Defence submission, the material is not evidence in this case. It further submits that Amor Mašović was dropped as a witness from the Prosecution's Rule 65 *ter* list. 150
- 79. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has introduced the witness statement of Amor Mašović into the Proof of Death Database under the name of "List of Missing Civilians in Vlasenica 1992, State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons". Similarly, the Prosecution introduces the expert report of Amor Mašović into the Proof of Death Database under the name of "BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons" in sixteen cases. As stated in section E below, the Chamber will not rely on witness statements that have not been admitted in this case. Accordingly, the Chamber will not rely on the witness statement of Amor Mašović submitted as "List of Missing Civilians in Vlasenica 1992, State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons". Equally, the Chamber will not rely on the expert report of Amor Mašović submitted as "BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons" for sixteen persons alleged to have been killed in Bosanski Šamac. 153

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Adil Draganović, 26 November 2009, T3919-3920; Adil Draganović, P411.06, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 14 May 2002, T5551-5552.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> The Defence submits that Nenad Čorak is still alive. *See*, Defence Submissions, para. 37. The Chamber notes that Nenad Čorak is listed as the sixteenth of the 20 persons listed in P411.32. The Chamber further notes that the Prosecution removed Nenad Čorak from the Public Updated Annex to the Second Amended Consolidated Indictment on 4 April 2012. *See*, Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012, 5 April 2012.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, para. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6906, List of Missing Civilians in Vlasenica 1992, State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 241, 245, 249, 253, 257, 261, 265, 272, 276, 283, 287, 291, 295, 299, 301, 305 (confidential).

<sup>153</sup> Viz., Miro Čorković, son of Anto (CHS "ordinal number" 240); Ivan Agatić, son of Ante (CHS "ordinal number" 244), Jozo Antunović, son of Marko (CHS "ordinal number" 248); Džemal Balić, son of Smail (CHS "ordinal number" 252); Luka Balžanović, son of Đuro (CHS "ordinal number" 256); Niko Brandić, son of Ivo (CHS "ordinal number" 260); Luka Gregurević, son of Marko (CHS "ordinal number" 264); Sead Hurtić, son of Smail (CHS "ordinal number" 271); Izet Kahrimanović son of Osman (CHS "ordinal number" 275); Franjo Mandić, son of Luka (CHS "ordinal number" 282); Ilija Matić, son of Mato (CHS "ordinal number" 286); Nezir Nadak, son of Nezir (CHS "ordinal number" 290); Josip Orsolić, son of Pejo (CHS "ordinal number" 294); Dragan Pratiljačić, son of Ivo (CHS "ordinal number" 298); Selim Purak, son of Mehmed (CHS "ordinal number" 300); and Ivo Tuzlak, son of Mato (CHS "ordinal number" 304) (confidential).

# 10. <u>BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons Report Tendered for Alleged Victims of the Korićanske Stijene Killing Incident</u>

80. While the parties have not made submissions on this specific report, the Chamber considers the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons report to be irrelevant to the Korićanske Stijene killings because it only records information on persons exhumed in the municipalities of Bijeljina, Bratunac, Han Pijesak, Kalesija, Kladanj, Rogatica, Ševkovići, Srebrenica, Vlasenica, and Zvornik. Moreover, the Chamber notes that, in any event, the information provided in the material is incomplete because it does not contain information on the gender, age, or cause of death of unidentified victims; it also does not include information on the cause of death and identification methods used in relation to identified victims.<sup>154</sup>

# E. General Findings on Evidence Contained within Proof of Death Database

- 81. The Trial Chamber finds that the evidence provided in the form of the underlying material of the Proof of Death Database, viewed in its entirety and in conjunction with the other evidence adduced during the trial, is capable of supporting conclusive findings on the death of the alleged victims in this case. However, a positive finding as to the death of an alleged victim named in the Indictment is not synonymous with a finding that the person in question was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber will only reach the conclusion that a certain named individual was killed as charged in the Indictment where the identity of the victim and the circumstances of the death of the victim correspond to the allegations contained within the Indictment.
- 82. Due to the nature of the vast majority of the material presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber has considered, for the most part, a combination of material in order to establish (a) the identity of the alleged victim; (b) the date and place of disappearance; (c) the identity of the remains found and relating autopsy reports submitted for that individual; and (d) the circumstances of the person's death, in order for it to be satisfied that the alleged victim was killed as charged in the Indictment. The materials submitted in the Proof of Death often provided only partial information on the abovementioned and thus had to be viewed in conjunction with other materials to enable the Chamber to reach a decision on whether or not the person in question was indeed killed as charged in the Indictment.
- 83. Other than the databases the Chamber has accepted as being capable of providing reliable information on the identity and circumstances of disappearance of a person, the Chamber has placed reliance *inter alia* on police missing person reports, autopsy and exhumation reports, BiH court declarations on death, and death certificates, unless otherwise indicated in the relevant analyses.
- 84. The Chamber has considered eye-witness evidence it has received in the course of the trial as sufficient to prove the circumstances of an alleged victim's death, where the testimony clearly identified the person and the circumstances of their death.
- 85. In its analysis of the material presented for each individually named victim, the Chamber has not considered any of the following material: (a) indictments; (b) ICTY judgments; (c) ICTY plea agreements; (d) ICTY suspect interviews; and (e) witness statements incorporated into the Proof of Death Database that have not been tendered pursuant to Rules 92 bis, 92 ter, 92 quater, or 92 quinquies.

155 See section D above.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5712, List of Exhumed Persons provided by the FBH Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

#### 1. Method of Chamber's Analysis

- 86. Due to the large number of alleged individually named victims in relation to some of the killing incidents charged in the Indictment, the Chamber has included its findings in the present Annex. For those incidents where the number of alleged individually named victims does not exceed 20 persons, the Chamber has generally included its findings in the narrative of the Judgement.
- 87. The Chamber has analysed all the material presented for each alleged individually named victim by viewing the information contained therein as a whole, considering the relevant information to determine the identity of the person, as well as the time, place, and circumstances of the person's death. The Trial Chamber has considered each of the Defence challenges to an alleged individually named victim, but only refers to the Defence challenges in the present Annex (a) where the Defence submits that a person was a combatant at the time of their death and (b) where the Defence has made submissions or summarised information not available to the Chamber due to a missing translation into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The individual analyses will set out a narrative of the information presented, succeeded by a conclusion as to whether or not the Chamber finds that an alleged individually named victim was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### 2. General Observations

- 88. The Chamber observes that the Proof of Death Database demonstrated a number of deficiencies.
- 89. The Chamber notes with concern that, in some instances, no translations have been provided or translations of documents have been uploaded into the database in bulk, without satisfactory description so as to allow the Chamber ready access to the document in question. <sup>157</sup> In this regard, the Chamber specifically notes the submission of 120 unlabelled autopsy reports submitted under a single hyperlink. <sup>158</sup>
- 90. In relation to some Proof of Death Database entries in which the Prosecution refers to exhibits and witness testimony to support its allegations of named individuals having been killed in a specific incident, the Prosecution has either omitted to refer to the date of the relevant testimony or omitted to provide specific references within the evidence, or both, obliging the Chamber to conduct searches for the referenced material. <sup>159</sup> In several instances, the Prosecution alleged that

<sup>159</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4872, Reference to "ST063; line 13188:21 - 13188:22" (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4837, Reference to ST063, P1671.04, Prosecution v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002 (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> The challenges are hyperlinked to the Defences' colour-coded spreadsheet that sets out which information was, according to the Defence, missing or contradictory in the material presented by the Prosecution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3661, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3831.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3836.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3864.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3934.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3945.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3945.1, Death Certificates (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4837.1, Death Certificates (confidential);

<sup>(</sup>confidential); 158 See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3661, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2868, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2886, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2907, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2925, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2940, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2943, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2958, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2965, Autopsy Report (confidential).

certain persons were killed in an incident charged in the Indictment despite the fact that none of the adduced material supported, at a minimum, the persons' disappearance in the relevant place at the relevant time. <sup>160</sup> In other instances, the Prosecution did not submit any evidence to support its allegation that certain persons were killed as charged in the Indictment. <sup>161</sup>

\_

of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2605, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2606, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2607, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2608, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2609, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2619, Krajina, (Hamed's wife) (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2621, LNU, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2855, Hopovac, (Mahmut's Sister) (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 2856, Hopovac, Mahmut's Sister's Daughter) (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 3094, Karagić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3559, Kerkić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3560, Kerkić, Peno (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3561, LNU, Ferid (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3619, Šolaja, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3658, Čaušević, Samed (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4121, LNU, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4284, Šerić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4393, Avdić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4460, Pehadžić, Alija (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4481, Cerić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4897, LNU, Aziz (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4898, LNU, Ibro (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4899, LNU, Islam (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4900, LNU, Mahmut (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4901, LNU, Meho (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4944, Mešić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4998, Mujagić, Fikret (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5019, Mujkanović, Fajzo (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5044, Nasić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5077, Pavić, Željko (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5176, Suljić, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5620, Fazlić, Fikret (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5853, Jakupović, Ibrahim (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6300, Sinanagić, Nermin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6664, Kurspahić, Sadeta (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6720, Kurspahić, Hasnija (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6755, Kurspahić, Meva (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6767, Kurspahić, Munira (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6798, LNU, Hasema (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6812, Velić, Tima (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6856, Tvrtković, Lutvo (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6858, Velagić, Sabahudin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6959, Rešidajić, Reuf (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6995, Džodžaljević, Hajrudin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7311, Dautović, Selmo (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7457, Atlić, Schad (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7473, Džihić, Semsudin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7511, Kapidžić, Ismail (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7519, Kulin, Edin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7526, Kuršumović, Ismail (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7537, Pašić, Edin (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7555, Tuhčić, Aziz (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7629, Grabić, Muradif (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7650, Kašarević, Nešad (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7666, Selimović, Sead (confidential); and P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7728, Pezerović, Ismail (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>CHS), "ordinal number" 4877, Reference to "ST063, P1671.03, Prosecution v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002 (confidential). The Chamber notes that P1671.03 is not an exhibit in this case. The correct exhibit number is P1671.04; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4955, Reference to "ST062" (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5079, Reference to "ST063: line 13188:21 – 13188:22" (confidential). The Chamber notes that this part of ST063's testimony has not been admitted in the present case; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4955, Reference to "ST062" (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4967, Reference to "ST062; ST242; Transcript of testimony of ST242 in case IT-94-1-T (Tadić) dated 13 Jun 1996; Exhibit P2291" (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3709.1, Death Certificate of Ifet Ališković (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3750.1, Death Certificate of Asim Avdić (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), ordinal number 5039, Edin Muretčehaić (confidential).

<sup>161</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2604, Kenjar, FNU (confidential); P2466, Proof

91. In its motion of 6 February 2012, the Prosecution informed the Chamber that it had reviewed and updated the spelling of victim names and identified alternate spellings for some, so as to ensure all spellings were accurate. According to the Prosecution, alternate spellings were included in the Proof of Death Database for the relevant entries. 162 The Chamber nevertheless observes a number of discrepancies in the spelling of the names of alleged victims between the Proof of Death Database and the Final Victims List. 163 These issues are dealt with in the individual analyses contained within this present Annex.

#### 3. References to "Witness Statements"

92. The Chamber observes that, in many instances, the Prosecution has maintained document entries in the Proof of Death Database labelled "witness statement" or "STXX DROPPED", 165

The Chamber notes the Prosecution's concession that it provided blank entries with no underlying material for 55 persons made at footnote 4 and para. 5 of the Prosecution's Response. <sup>162</sup> Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012, para. 26.

165 See, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 46, ST250 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 64, ST250; ST72 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 390, ST040 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 394, ST040 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 396, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 397, ST046 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 399, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 400, ST045 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 402, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 403, ST045 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 405, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 406, ST046 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 407, ST045 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 412, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 414, ST149 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 415, ST046 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 416, ST045 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2623, ST007 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2663, ST007 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2808, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3028, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3097, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3099, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3111, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3119, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3154, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3170, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3172, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3297, ST021 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3738, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3740, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3750, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3752, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3787, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3794, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3803, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3843, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3860, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3878, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3880, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3882, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3884, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3886, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 3970, 4147, 4233, 4409, 4479, 4486, 4608, 4639, 4645, 4742, and 7523 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> See, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 175, 330, 336, 384, 2254, 2343, 2354, 2356, 2363, 2367, 2367, 2369, 2371, 2375, 2379, 2381, 2426, 2430, 2447, 2449, 2525, 2529, 2617, 2620, 2668, 2673, 2675, 2692, 2697, 2702, 2756, 2792, 2798, 2863, 4286, 4298, 4332, 4384, 4386, 4405, 4446, 4487, 4496, 4555, 4587, 4609, 4611, 4615, 4623, 4820, 5102, 5104, 5109, 5114, 5167, 5214, 5365, 5603, 5652, 5666, 5668, 5760, 5762, 5775, 5844, 5865, 5869, 5947, 6039, 6062, 6220, 6229, 6236, 6254, 6310, 6346, 6361, 6394, 6420, 6663, 6830, 6832, 6838, 6849, 6851, 6855, and 7126 (confidential).

the latter indicating that there exists a statement for a witness who was dropped from the Rule 65 ter list and not called to give evidence. However, these entries are not accompanied by

Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3888, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3890, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3899, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3903, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3905, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3914, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3936, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3938, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3940, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3960, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3962, ST006 DROPPED (confidential): P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3971, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3997, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4012, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4018, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4046, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4062, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4076, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4078, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4103, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4114, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4116, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4118, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4120, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4125, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4146, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4148, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4166, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4168, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4203, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4228, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4230, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4232, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4234, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4236, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4238, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4240, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4242, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4244, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4246, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4253, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4255, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4257, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4259, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4261, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4263, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4281, ST006 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4602, ST070 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5043, ST069 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6623, ST076 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7586, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7588, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7590, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7596, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7598, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7604, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7606, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7613, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7615, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7617, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7622, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7624, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7626, ST010 DROPPED; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7628, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7649, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7657, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7663, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7665, ST010 DROPPED (confidential); and P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7678, ST010 DROPPED (confidential).

underlying material admitted as evidence in this case. Such entries have been treated as blank entries, and the Chamber has not addressed them in the individual analyses.

#### 4. Empty and Numbered Name Entries in Final Victims List

93. The Prosecution, in amending its victims list, removed a number of names from the schedules relating to the incidents charged in the Indictment. However, the Chamber observes that, in doing so, the Prosecution adhered to the original numbering, leaving numbered blank spaces within the Final Victims List and thus rendering incorrect the numerical count of persons listed for each killing incident. Similarly, the Prosecution has, on two occasions, submitted the names of more than one individual under a single entry.

### 5. References to "LNU" and "FNU" in Final Victims List

94. In its Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits entries for persons whose both first and last names are unknown. The Chamber does not consider these entries to identify named victims.

#### F. INDIVIDUALLY NAMED VICTIMS

#### 1. Banja Luka

95. The Prosecution submits that 21 persons were exhumed from the mass grave site "Ušče Dabar", In Krkojevći, Sanski Most. The Chamber, however, notes that the report on the exhumation of the site states that 19 persons were exhumed from this grave site. It

# ALAGIĆ, Teufik, son of Kadir (41, male)

96. Teufik Alagić, ICRC number BAZ-108110-01, born on 30 April 1951, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 11 June 1992. Teufik Alagić is listed in the Sanski Most Register of Deaths, as having died on 7 July 1992 in Sanski Most. The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed in the area of Oštra Luka Hazići-Pavići on 20 September 2007, have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Teufik Alagić, born on 30 April 1951. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 29 March 2008, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, thoracic cage, left upper arm, and right forearm. At the time of his death, Teufik Alagić wore an olive-green windbreaker, a pink shirt, and flannel trousers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Motion to Reconsider and Notice of Compliance of 6 February 2012, para. 27.

<sup>167</sup> See, Final Victims List, A 1.2, blank spaces at Nos. 10, 38, 46, and 70; Final Victims List, A 3.1, blank spaces at Nos. 6, 14, 15, 19, 21, and 22; Final Victims List, A 3.3, blank spaces at Nos. 26, 58, 60, 69, 82, and 89; Final Victims List, A 4.1, blank spaces at Nos. 20, 32, 42, and 43; Final Victims List, B 3.2, blank space at No. 5; Final Victims List, B 4.1, blank space at No. 165 and additional names Nos. 1 and 4; Final Victims List, B 4.2, blank spaces at No. 11, and 86; Final Victims List, B 6.1, blank spaces at Nos. 60, 220, 232, and 240; Final Victims List, B 7.1, blank space at No. 24; Final Victims List B 13.1, blank spaces at Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 5; Final Victims List, B 13.3, blank space at No. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Final Victims List, A 3.1, "KENJAR family, six members" under No. 36; Final Victims List, A 3.3, "KARAGIĆ, Seno and his two sons FNU".

Indictment Schedules A n. 3.1; B n 4.1; B n. 9.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> The Chamber notes the different spellings of the "Ušče Dabra"/"Ušče Dabar" mass grave. For ease of reference, the Chamber will refer to it as the "Ušče Dabar" grave site.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> See e.g. P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 33, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis, p. 2 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2.1, Death Certificate of Teufik Alagić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

97. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Teufik Alagić died a violent death caused by several penetrating wounds. However, in the absence of evidence that Teufik Alagić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Teufik Alagić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# BARJAKTAREVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Hakija (18, male)

- 98. Jasmin Barjakarević, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The FIS database records that Jasmin Barjaktarević, born on 11 December 1973, died in Ključ on 7 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the Ušče-Dabar mass grave and marked "UD No. 07" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Jasmin Barjaktarević. The autopsy of "Body No. 07" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać in July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Jasmin Barjaktarević's remains were identified as those of blue shorts with three white stripes on the sides, and rubber boots. Iso
- 99. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Barjaktarević died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Jasmin Barjaktarević travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Barjaktarević was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# BIŠĆEVIĆ, Edin, son of Faik (26, male)

100. Edin Bišćević, ICRC number BAZ-202980-03, born on 2 June 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 27 May 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Edin Bišćević. Human remains exhumed from the Dragoraj mass grave, reburied at *Luke* graveyard in Ključ as an unidentified body and re-exhumed on 16 November 2006 were believed to be those of Edin Bišćević, who disappeared in Manjača camp on 7 July 1992. The remains were marked "*Luke* Body No. 01" and identified as being those of Edin Bišćević on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 21 April 2007, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and thoracic cage. No clothing was found on Edin Bišćević's remains.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 15, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>177</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 14, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 178 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 12, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"
 11, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 13, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>180</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 13, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 17, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 18, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 13, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 18.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

101. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Bišćević died a violent death caused by several penetrating wounds. However, in the absence of evidence that Edin Bišćević travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Bišćević was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# BURNIĆ, Enver, son of Mustafa (33, male)

- 102. Enver Burnić, born on 30 March 1959, is listed in the FIS database as having died in Banja Luka on 7 July 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report. Enver Burnić is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 1997 of the municipality of Sanski Most. The place of death is recorded as "on the road to Manjača". The time of death is recorded as "7 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the Dragoraj mass grave, reburied at *Luke* graveyard in Ključ as an unidentified body and reexhumed on 16 November 2006 and marked "*Luke* Body No. 03" were identified as being those of Enver Burnić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 8 December 2007, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the thoracic cavity, the pelvis, and the left upper arm. No identifiable clothing was found on Enver Burnić's remains.
- 103. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enver Burnić died a violent death caused by several penetrating wounds. However, in the absence of evidence that Enver Burnić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Enver Burnić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# DELIĆ, Adam, son of Ivo (28, male)

104. Adam Delić, ICRC number BAZ-104445-01, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. <sup>190</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Adam Delić as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 1 July 1992. <sup>191</sup> The FIS database records that Adam Delić, born on 9 April 1964, died in Banja Luka on 7 August 1992. <sup>192</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the Ušče-Dabar mass grave and marked "UD No. 09" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Adam Delić. <sup>193</sup> The Chamber has not been provided with a report of the autopsy of "UD No. 09".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 24, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 25, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>187</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 25.1, Death Certificate of Enver Burnić (confidential).

<sup>188</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 25.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 18.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 27, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 28, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>192</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 30, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 193 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 31, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"
 11, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

105. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adam Delić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Adam Delić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Adam Delić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# DELIĆ, Mirhad, son of Hajro (age unknown)

106. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Mirhad Delić. <sup>194</sup> Clothing found in the mass grave "Ušče-Dabar" was identified as that of Mirhad Delić by the deceased's wife. On this basis, it was assumed that Mirhad Delić was one of the unidentified bodies exhumed from the site on 17 July 2001. <sup>195</sup> The Chamber has not received any evidence confirming that Mirhad Delić's remains were indeed exhumed from the "Ušče Dabar" site.

107. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirhad Delić is deceased. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DURMIŠEVIĆ, Salahudin, son of Vehid (32, male)

108. Salahudin Durmišević, ICRC number BAZ-110866-01, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 7 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabra" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. <sup>196</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance. <sup>197</sup> The FIS database records that Salahudin Durmišević, born on 5 March 1960, died in Banja Luka on 8 July 1992. <sup>198</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of 19 other persons from the grave site "Ušče Dabra" and marked "UD No. 08" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Salahudin Durmišević. <sup>199</sup>

109. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salahudin Durmišević is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Salahudin Durmišević travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Salahudin Durmišević was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# HADŽIĆ, Mustafa, son of Mujo (65, male)

110. Mustafa Hadžić, born on 5 July 1931, is listed as deceased in the Gornji Kamengrad Register of Deaths, municipality of Sanski Most. The time of death is entered as "15 December

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 31, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 33, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 39, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 37, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>198</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 38, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 199 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 36, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,
 November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

- 1996". The place of death is recorded as "unknown". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 200
- 111. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Hadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HALILOVIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown)

- 112. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Mustafa Halilović, was one of the men who suffocated in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.<sup>201</sup> It has been submitted by the Defence that Mustafa Halilović was a Croatian defender.<sup>202</sup> The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity.<sup>203</sup>
- 113. The Chamber is therefore unable find that Mustafa Halilović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Hivzo, <sup>204</sup> son of Salih (66, male)

- 114. Hivzo Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-106222-01, born in 1926, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 19 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance. The FIS database records that Hivzo Hodžić, born on 3 February 1926, died in Sanski Most on 7 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" grave site and marked "UD No. 03" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Hivzo Hodžić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 03" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 24 July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". At the time of his death, Hivzo Hodžić wore blue jeans and a chequered shirt.
- 115. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hivzo Hodžić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Hivzo Hodžić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Hivzo Hodžić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 42.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Hadžić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 46 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 1 "ordinal number" 45, Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that Hivzo Hodžić's first name is "Himzo". In light of multiple database entries recording his name as "Hivzo", the Chamber considers this individual's first name to be "Hivzo".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 49, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 54, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 50, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 <sup>208</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 54.1, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 51, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 53, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 53, Autopsy Report (confidential).

# HODŽIĆ, Ismet, son of Aziz (42, male)

116. Ismet Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-111642-01, born in 1949, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance. The FIS database records that Ismet Hodžić, born on 1 November 1949, died in Vrhopolje, Sanski Most, on 3 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 other persons from the "Ušče Dabra" mass grave and marked "UD No. 14" were believed to be those of Ismet Hodžić on the basis of a preliminary visual identification by the deceased's wife. The report of the International Commission for Missing Persons however, states that human remains exhumed from a grave site in Snagovo marked "SNA-18-RF" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ismet Hodžić, son of Mustafa. The Chamber will thus not consider the autopsy report adduced for "Ušče Dabar Body No. 14. 216

117. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Hodžić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Ismet Hodžić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Hodžić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown)

118. The only evidence tendered to prove that Mustafa Hodžić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, is exhibit P411.32. As set out above, the Chamber will not consider this list in its analysis. The Chamber is therefore unable find that Mustafa Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HUKANOVIĆ, Sevdaga, son of Safet (17, male)

119. Sevdaga Hukanović, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Vrhopolje, Sanski Most, on 7 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The FIS database records that Sevdaga Hukanović, born on 31 May 1974, died in Vrhopolje, Sanski Most, on 30 May 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 other persons from the "Ušče Dabra" mass grave and marked "UD No. 01" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Sevdaga Hukanović. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 01" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 57, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 58, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 61, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 62, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 59, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 56, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 67, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 66, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
<sup>219</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 71, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 70, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Bihać on 23 July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Sevdaga Hukanović's remains were identified as those of blue track-suit bottoms and light coloured socks. 221

120. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sevdaga Hukanović died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Sevdaga Hukanović travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Sevdaga Hukanović was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# JAKUPOVIĆ, Adem, son of Hasan (64, male)

- 121. Adem Jakupović, ICRC number BAZ-106845-01, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most, on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The FIS database entry submitted for Adem Jakupović refers to a different person. The Chamber will thus disregard the information. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 other persons from the "Ušče Dabra" mass grave and marked "UD No. 16" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Adem Jakupović. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 16" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 25 September 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of recent damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on the remains where identified as those of brown flannel trousers.
- 122. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adem Jakupović died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Adem Jakupović travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Adem Jakupović was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# JUSIĆ, Ramo, son of Tale (38, male)

123. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Ramo Jusić. The FIS database records that Ramo Jusić, born on 1 June 1953, died in Banja Luka on 7 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 other persons from the "Ušče Dabra" mass grave and marked "UD No. 19" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ramo Jusić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 19" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 69, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 69, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 73, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 78, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 76, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 75, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 74, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy established that Adem Jakupović had suffered multiple fractures to the ribs that had healed prior to his death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 74, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 88, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

P248 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 84, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 87, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 83, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 25 September 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". At the time of his death, Ramo Jusić wore a black leather jacket, grey flannel trousers, and black moccasins. <sup>231</sup>

124. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramo Jusić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Ramo Jusić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Ramo Jusić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# KAMIĆ, Fadil, son of Mustafa (49, male)

- 125. Fadil Kamić, ICRC number BAS-002785-01, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Došci, Sanski Most, on 7 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he disappeared in Dabar, Sanski Most, in July 1992. The FIS database records that Fadil Kamić, born on 11 April 1942, died in Banja Luka, on 30 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 11" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Fadil Kamić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 11" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 25 July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Fadil Kamić's remains were identified as those of grey flannel trousers.
- 126. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Kamić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Fadil Kamić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Fadil Kamić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# KERIĆ, Atif, son of Hasan (42, male)

127. Atif Kerić, ICRC number BAS-003483-01, born on 4 July 1949, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Manjača on 7 July 1992. The FIS database records that Atif Kerić, born on 4 July 1949, died in Banja Luka, on 7 July 1992. Based on clothing found in the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave, which was identified by Atif Kerić's wife, Atif Kerić's remains were believed to be among those of 19 other persons exhumed from site. However, the Prosecution has not submitted any evidence regarding the results of the DNA samples

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 85, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 85, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 91, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 92, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 95, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 <sup>235</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 94, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"
 93, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 90, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 90, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 97, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 99, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 98, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential).

taken from Atif Kerić's next of kin in order to identify him as one of the exhumed persons from "Ušče Dabar". The Chamber is thus unable to ascertain whether his remains were indeed exhumed from the site.

128. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Atif Kerić is deceased. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HALIMOVIĆ, <sup>241</sup> Mirsad, son of Avdo (32, male)

129. Mirsad Halimović, ICRC number BAZ-104557-01, born on 31 December 1959, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Podbrežje, Sanski Most, on 14 June 1992. According to the same report, his remains were handed over or exhumed in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. Human remains exhumed from "Ušče Dabar" and marked "UD No. 13" have been identified as those of Mirsad Halimović through identification of items and clothing found on the remains by the deceased's brother. However, another family identified the same body as that of a person named "Kemo Talić". The Prosecution has not submitted any evidence regarding the results of the DNA samples taken from Mirsad Halimović's next of kin in order to identify him as one of the exhumed persons from "Ušče Dabar". The Chamber is thus unable to ascertain whether his remains were exhumed from the site and will therefore not consider the autopsy report of "UD No. 13" submitted for Mirsad Halimović. 244

130. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Halimović is deceased. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MATANOVIĆ, Vinko, son of Ante (37-38, male)

131. Vinko Matanović, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most, on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. The FIS database records that Vinko Matanović, born on 13 May 1954, died in Banja Luka, on 7 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 02" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Vinko Matanović. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 02" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać between 25 July and 3 September 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained. Although the body showed injuries to the rib cage caused by a blow with a blunt instrument, the injury was determined not to have been fatal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that this individual's last name is "Malinović". However, all evidence submitted in the Proof of Death Database relates to a certain "Halimović, Mirsad, son of Avdo". The Chamber thus considers the difference in name to stem from a clerical error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 103, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 101, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> The Chamber notes that "UD No. 13" has indeed been identified as the body of Kemo Talić on the basis of DNA matching. *See* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 168, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 111, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 109, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 112, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 110, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Vinko Matanović's remains were identified as those of a white long-sleeved shirt and blue jeans. <sup>249</sup>

132. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vinko Matanović died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Vinko Matanović travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Vinko Matanović was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# MATERIĆ, Besim, son of Jusuf (33, male)

- 133. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 17" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Besim Materić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 17" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać between 25 July and 3 September 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained in the absence of recent damage to the bones. The body did show signs of a healed fracture of the 12<sup>th</sup> rib. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Besim Materić's remains were identified as those of brown flannel trousers. 252
- 134. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besim Materić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Besim Materić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Besim Materić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# MAUZNER, Ventislav, 253 son of Drago (34, male)

- 135. Ventislav Mauzner, ICRC number BAZ-109684-01, born on 23 September 1957, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Sanski Most, on 3 July 1992. The FIS database records that Ventislav Mauzner, born on 23 September 1957, died in Banja Luka, on 7 July 1992. Ventislav Mauzner, born on 23 September 1957, is listed as deceased in the Sanski Most Register of Deaths for the year 1997. The time of death is entered as "7 (seventh) July 1992". The place of death is recorded as "on the way to Manjača". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.
- 136. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ventislav Mauzner is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Ventislav Mauzner travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Ventislav Mauzner was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 107, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 107, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 116, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 114, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 115, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 115, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> The Chamber notes that while the Prosecution submits that this individual's first name is "Vencislav", all documentation adduced for this person is in the name of "Ventislav". The Chamber thus considers the latter version to be the correct one.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 118, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 109, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
<sup>256</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 119.1, Death Certificate of Ventislav Mauzner (confidential).

### MEHIĆ, Izet, son of Husein (39, male)

137. Izet Mehić, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most, on 7 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001.<sup>257</sup> The FIS database records that Izet Mehić, born on 26 October 1952, died in Banja Luka, on 7 July 1992.<sup>258</sup> Human remains exhumed from "Ušče Dabar" and marked "UD No. 04" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Izet Mehić.<sup>259</sup> The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 04" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać between July and 3 September 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of any damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992".<sup>260</sup> Remnants of clothing found on Izet Mehić's remains were identified as those of a brown chequered shirt, a white vest, and brown flannel trousers.<sup>261</sup>

138. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Izet Mehić died on or about 7 July 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Izet Mehić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Izet Mehić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

## MLINAR, Josip, son of Mato (40, male)

139. Josip Mlinar, born on 1 December 1951, is listed in the FIS database as having died in Sanski Most on 7 July 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Josip Mlinar. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 10" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Josip Mlinar. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 10" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać in July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of any recent damage to the bones. The body did show a healed fracture of the left arm and thumb. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Izet Mehić's remains were identified as those of blue jeans.

140. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Josip Mlinar died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Josip Mlinar travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Josip Mlinar was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 123, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 125, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 122, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"
 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 124, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 124, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 132, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
<sup>263</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 127, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 130, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 131, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

The Chamber notes that the entry as to the exact day of when the autopsy was carried out is illegible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 124, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 124, Autopsy Report (confidential).

# MUŠIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Husein (59, male)

- 141. Ibrahim Mušić, born on 2 March 1933, is listed in the FIS database as having died in Banja Luka on an unknown day in December 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Ibrahim Mušić. The December 1933, is listed as deceased in the Sanski Most Register of Deaths for the year 1996. The time of death is recorded as "1 (first) December 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Banja Luka. The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the Dragoraj mass grave, reburied at *Luke* graveyard in Ključ as an unidentified body and re-exhumed on 16 November 2006 were believed to be those of Ibrahim Mušić. The remains were marked "*Luke* Body No. 07" and identified as being those of Ibrahim Mušić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 1 July 2007, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the right thighbone and skull causing brain injury. No clothing was found on Ibrahim Mušić's remains.
- 142. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Mušić died in December 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Ibrahim travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Mušić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# MUHIĆ, Dževad, son of Jusuf (35, male)

- 143. Dževad Muhić, ICRC number BAZ-109652-01, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabra" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001.<sup>273</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>274</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 12" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Dževad Muhić.<sup>275</sup> The Chamber has not been provided with a report on the autopsy of "UD No. 12".
- 144. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Muhić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Dževad Muhić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, and in the absence of evidence that he died of asphyxia, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Muhić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 135, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>269</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 134, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 135.2, Death Certificate of Ibrahim Mušić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 135.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 18.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 137, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 138, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 139, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 140, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

### MUHIĆ, Nedžad, son of Jusuf (38, male)

Nedžad Muhić, ICRC number BAZ-109652-02, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as having gone missing in Sanski Most, on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. 276 The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>277</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 05" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Nedžad Muhić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 05" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać in July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of any recent damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Nedžad Muhić's remains were identified as those of blue jeans. The Prosecution refers the Chamber to the evidence of Adil Draganović. The Chamber notes that the indicated passages merely refer to the fact that around 17 people were believed to have died in one of the lorries transporting detainees to Manjača camp, and that the remains of Nedžad Muhić were exhumed from a mass grave in Krkojevac near the river bank of the Sana river. 282 The Prosecution also refers the Chamber to the evidence of ST140 who states that Nedžad Muhić, who used to be a judge prior to the conflict, was killed. ST140 does not specify the time or circumstances in which Nedžad Muhić was killed, but states that he was killed at the behest of the Sanski Most Crisis Staff who drew up a list of Muslims and Croats in leading positions that were to be killed or captured. 283 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>284</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nedžad Muhić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Nedžad Muhić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Muhić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJADŽIĆ, Zijad, son of Avdo (48, male)

Zijad Mujadžić, ICRC number BAZ-106658-01, born in 1943, is listed as having gone missing in Sanski Most on 5 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Ušče Dabar" in Sanski Most on 17 July 2001. 285 The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>286</sup> Zijad Mujadžić, born on 14 July 1943, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 1996 of the

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 145, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 148, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 142, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 147, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>279</sup> The Chamber notes that the entry as to the exact day is illegible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 146, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 146, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 149 (confidential), referring to Adil Draganović, P411.04, Prosecutor v. Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 26 April 2002, T. 5095; Adil Draganović, P411.10, Prosecutor v. Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 22 May 2002, T. 5869-5870.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 150 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 2, "ordinal number" 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 154, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 155, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

municipality of Sanski Most. The place of death is recorded as "on the road to Manjača". The time of death is recorded as "7 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 15" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Zijad Mujadžić. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 15" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 25 July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of any damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Zijad Mujadžić's remains were identified as those of blue jeans and brown socks. <sup>290</sup>

148. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Mujadžić died in July 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Zijad Mujadžić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Mujadžić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

# TALIĆ, Kemo,<sup>291</sup> son of Ibrahim (38, male)

149. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Kemo Talić. Human remains exhumed among those of 19 persons from the "Ušče Dabar" mass grave and marked "UD No. 13" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Kemo Talić, born on 27 February 1954. The autopsy of "Ušče Dabar Body No. 13" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać on 25 July 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of any damage to the bones. The time of death was established as "1992". At the time of his death, Kemo Talić's wore blue jeans, and a blue shirt.

150. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kemo Talić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Kemo Talić travelled in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Kemo Talić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck, as charged in the Indictment.

## TUTIĆ, Ivica, son of Svetko (38, male)

151. The FIS database records that Ivica Tutić, born on 30 May 1954, died in Sanski Most on 7 July 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Ivica

34

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 158.1, Death Certificate of Zijad Mujadžić (confidential).

<sup>288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 158, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 157, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 156, Autopsy Report (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 156, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> The Chamber notes that while the Prosecution submits that this individual's first name is "Kemal", all evidence tendered in the Proof of Death Database refers to a certain "Talić, Kemo" The Chamber thus considers his first name to be "Kemo" rather than "Kemal".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 164, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 167, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 168, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 166, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 166, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 171, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Tutić.<sup>297</sup> Based on clothing found in the mass grave and identified by the deceased's father, the remains of Ivica Tutić were believed to be among those of 19 other persons exhumed from the grave site "Ušče Dabra". 298 The Prosecution has not submitted any evidence regarding the results of the DNA samples taken from Ivica Tutić's next of kin in order to identify him as one of the persons exhumed from "Ušče Dabar". The Chamber is thus unable to ascertain whether his remains were exhumed from the site.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ivica Tutić is deceased. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PRŠIĆ, Muharem, father's name unknown (age unknown).

The only evidence tendered to prove that Muharem Pršić was one of the men who suffocated in the truck transporting detainees from Betonirka to Manjača camp on 7 July 1992, is exhibit P411.32. As set out above, the Chamber will not consider this list in its analysis. The Chamber is therefore unable find that Muharem Pršić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### 2. Ključ

#### (a) Velagići

## ČEHIĆ, Asim, son of Hasan (34, male)

154. Asim Čehić, ICRC number BAZ-107973-05, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>299</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Asim Čehić as having disappeared in Velagići on 1 June 1992.<sup>300</sup> The FIS database records that Asim Čehić, born on 10 June 1957, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 301 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative Judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 302 Human remains marked "Body No. 26" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons, were identified as those of Asim Čehić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>303</sup> The autopsy of Asim Čehić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be ascertained, as the body's head was missing and no visible signs of injury could otherwise be detected.<sup>304</sup> Remnants of clothing found on Asim

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 170, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 172, Cantonal MUP Bihać Record of Potential Identification and Request for DNA Analysis (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1663, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1659, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1664, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>302</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1665, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1665, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1662, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

Čehić's body were identified as a multi-coloured woollen jacket, as well as a black jacket.<sup>305</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 306

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Čehić went missing in Velagići by 1 June 1992. Having received evidence that the bodies of other persons killed at the Velagići school on 1 June 1992 were buried at the Lanište II site, the Chamber finds that the only reasonable inference is that Asim Čehić was among the men killed at Velagići school as charged in the Indictment.

#### ČEHIĆ, Husein, son of Hamed (20, male)

Husein Čehić, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 156. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>307</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Husein Čehić as having disappeared in Velagići on 1 June 1992. The FIS database records that Husein Čehić, born on 20 September 1971, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 309 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative Judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 310 Human remains marked "Body No. 76" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Husein Čehić. 311 The autopsy of Husein Čehić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by the shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Husein Čehić wore a brown raincoat, a brown sweater, and blue jeans. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>314</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Husein Čehić appears on this list.315

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Čehić was shot and killed 157. in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1662, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1670, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Report on the exhumation of mass graves between 1995 and 2007 in the municipalities of Banja Luka, Brčko, Bratunac, Gacko, Jajce, Ključ, Kotor Varoš, Prijedor, Sanski Most, Skender Vakuf, Teslić, Višegrad, Vlasenica and Zvornik (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1673, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1672, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
310 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1667, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1669 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" submitted under "ordinal number" 1667 are one and the same document.

<sup>311</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1667, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>312</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1671, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1671, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

### ČEHIĆ, Ilijaz, son of Hamdija (19, male)

Ilijaz Čehić, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 316 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Ilijaz Čehić as having disappeared in Velagići on 1 June 1992.<sup>317</sup> The FIS database records that Ilijaz Čehić, born on 23 September 1972, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 318 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative Judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>319</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 15" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ilijaz Čehić. 320 The autopsy of Ilijaz Čehić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a multiple fractures of left lower leg caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>321</sup> At the time of his death, Ilijaz Čehić wore a brown leather jacket, a navy sweater, and blue jeans.<sup>322</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 323

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ilijaz Čehić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ČEHIĆ, Mirsad, son of Hamed (27, male)

Mirsad Čehić, ICRC number BAZ-104341-01, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>324</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mirsad Čehić as having disappeared in Velagići on 1 June 1992. 325 The FIS database records that Mirsad Čehić, born on 6 January 1965, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 326 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative Judge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1676, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1681, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1678, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

319 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1680, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1675 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1680, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1679, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1679, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1687, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1683, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1685, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 327 Human remains marked "Body No. 68" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's brother as being those of Mirsad Čehić. The autopsy of Mirsad Čehić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. <sup>329</sup> At the time of his death, Mirsad Čehić wore a brown jacket, a navy T-shirt, blue jeans, and white trainers. 330 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>331</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Mirsad Čehić appears on this list. 332

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Čehić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ĆEMAL, Sabahudin, son of Hajrudin (19, male)**

Sabahudin Ćemal, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>333</sup> The FIS database records that Sabahudin Ćemal, born on 25 March 1973, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 334 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 335 Human remains marked "Body No. 36" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as being those of Sabahudin Cemal on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>336</sup> The autopsy of Sabahudin Ćemal's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left upper leg caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>337</sup> At the time of his death, Sabahudin Ćemal wore a multi-coloured rain jacket, a white vest, and blue jeans. 338 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 339 The Chamber

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1689, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1688 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>328</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1689, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1686, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1686, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the list includes a year of birth which is recorded as "1969". However, the Chamber considers this difference to be insignificant.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1693, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1691, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 335 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1695, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1694 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1695, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup>P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1696, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1696, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Sabahudin Cemal, born in 1973, appears on this list. 340

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Ćemal was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ĆEMAL**, Saif, son of Bego (32, male)

Saif Cemal, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 164. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>341</sup> The Prosecution submits the FIS database record for "Sale" Čemal, son of Bego, born on 24 September 1959. This database lists him as having died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 342 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 343 Human remains marked "Body No. 67" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of "Raif" Cemal by the deceased's son on the basis of the former's clothing. 344 The autopsy of Saif Cemal's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Saif Cemal wore a grey jumper, a chequered shirt, and blue jeans. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 347 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The Chamber is satisfied that the name of Saif Cemal appears on this list.<sup>348</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Saif Ćemal was shot and killed in 165. Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## ČARKIĆ, Elvedin, son of Ferid (18, male)

Elvedin Čarkić, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1701, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1700, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 343 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1698, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1702 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1698, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the name first recorded is "Raif", but considers this to be a clerical error, given that the autopsy report states that "Body No. 67" was identified as that of "Saif" Čemal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1699, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1699, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the list includes a year of birth which is recorded as "1969". The Chamber notes that the first name is recorded as "/?Soir/" but considers it to be consistent with the first name "Saif", given that the birth year recorded in the list is consistent with identifying information provided for Saif Cemal in the Proof of Death Database.

5 October 1996.<sup>349</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Elvedin Čarkić as having disappeared in Velagići on 1 June 1992. 350 The FIS database records that Elvedin Čarkić, born on 22 October 1973, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. <sup>351</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 352 Human remains marked "Body No. 61" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Elvedin Čarkić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains and identification by his parents. 353 The autopsy of Elvedin Čarkić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>354</sup> At the time of his death, Elvedin Čarkić wore a blue denim jacket, a brown T-shirt, and jeans.<sup>355</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 356

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Elvedin Čarkić was shot and killed 167. in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIČIĆ, Ramiz, son of Redžo (42, male)

Ramiz Aličić, ICRC number BAZ-103763-01, born in 1949, is listed in the BiH State 168. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>357</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information.<sup>358</sup> The FIS database records that Ramiz Aličić, born on 15 July 1949, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 359 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>360</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 34" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's brother as those of Ramiz Aličić. 361 The autopsy of Ramiz

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1707, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1709, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>351</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1710, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 352 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1708, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1705 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1708, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>354</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1711, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1711, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1718, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>358</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1719, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>359</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1717, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1716, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1715 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1716, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

Aličić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by "a shot from a firearm at contact range". At the time of his death, Ramiz Aličić wore a black leather jacket, a brown sweater, and blue trousers. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that after the soldiers had shot down the detainees in front of the school, they approached and shot those still showing signs of life from a close range. He also testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The Chamber is satisfied that the name of Ramiz Aličić, born in 1949, appears on this list.

169. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Aličić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BAJRIĆ, Šefik, son of Ramiz (43, male)

Šefik Bairić, ICRC number BAZ-103780-01, born in 1948, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Kliuč on 5 October 1996.<sup>367</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Šefik Bajrić went missing in Častovići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. 368 The FIS database records that Šefik Bajrić, born on 5 October 1948, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 369 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 370 Human remains marked "Body No. 13" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's wife as those of Šefik Bajrić.<sup>371</sup> The autopsy of Šefik Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>372</sup> Remnants of clothing found on Šefik Bajrić's remains were identified as those of a blue workman's shirt, a brown sweater, and a multi-coloured shirt. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1713, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1713, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15796-15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the list includes a year of birth which is recorded as "1969". The Chamber notes that the last name is recorded as "Alić" but considers it to be consistent with the last name "Aličić", given that the birth year recorded in the list is consistent with identifying information provided for Ramiz Aličić in the Proof of Death Database.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1724, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1722, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1726, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1727, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1721 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1727, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1725, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1725, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

Lanište.<sup>374</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Šefik Bajrić, born in 1948, appears on this list.375

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šefik Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BAJRIĆ, Fehim, son of Huso (32, male)

Fehim Bajrić, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>376</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Fehim Bajrić went missing in Častovići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992.<sup>377</sup> The FIS database records that Fehim Bajrić, born on 8 August 1959, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. <sup>378</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 379 Human remains marked "Body No. 19" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's mother as being those of Fehim Bajrić. 380 The autopsy of Fehim Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The body's head was missing. The cause of death was, however, established as a trauma to the left thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fehim Bajrić wore a sheepskin coat, a chequered shirt, a sweater, and blue jeans. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 383 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Fehim Bajrić, born in 1959, appears on this list.384

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fehim Bajrić was shot and killed 173. in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# BAJRIĆ, Husein, son of Huso (39, male)

Husein Bajrić, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1734, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1733, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that Fehim Bajrić's father's name is recorded as "Hase" rather than "Huso". Based on the fact that the date of birth recorded for Fehim Bajrić is consistent with that recorded in the FIS database, the Chamber is satisfied that the information concerns the same individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1730, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 379 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1729, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1735 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>380</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1729, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1731, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1731, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>385</sup> The FIS database records that Husein Bajrić, born on 5 March 1953, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 386 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč.<sup>387</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 50" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's mother as those of Husein Bajrić on the basis of his clothing.<sup>388</sup> The autopsy of Husein Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The body's head was missing. The cause of death was, however, established as injuries to the right thigh bone and pelvis caused by shots from a firearm. <sup>389</sup> At the time of his death, Husein Bajrić wore a navy track-suit jacket, a blue jumper, and blue flannel trousers. 390 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that Husein Bajrić was one of the three men separated from the group, held at the checkpoint outside of Velagići school, and shot there at around 9:30 p.m. on the night of 1 June 1992. ST017 further testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 392 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Husein Bajrić, born in 1953, appears on this list.<sup>393</sup>

175. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BAJRIĆ, Ibro, son of Ibro (33, male)

176. Ibro Bajrić, born on 10 April 1959, is listed in the FIS database as having died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 33" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ibro Bajrić. The autopsy of Ibro Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head "caused by a shot from a firearm at contact range". At the time of his death, Ibro Bajrić

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1741, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1742, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). The Chamber notes that Husein Bajrić's father's name is recorded as "Hase" rather than "Huso".

<sup>387</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1737, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1737, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1739 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1737, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1740, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1740, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15789, T. 15794 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1746, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1747, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1744 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1747, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1745, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

wore a light-brown leather jacket, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>398</sup> Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that after the soldiers had shot down the detainees in front of the school, they would go and shoot those still showing signs of life from a close range.<sup>399</sup> He also testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 400 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Ibro Bajrić appears on this list. 401

177. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibro Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BAJRIĆ, Kasim, son of Ibrišim (23, male)

178. Kasim Bajrić, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 402 The FIS database records that Kasim Bajrić, born on 29 September 1968, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 403 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 404 Human remains marked "Body No. 06" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Kasim Bajrić. 405 The autopsy of Kasim Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity which fractured the fifth and sixth rib. The injury was caused by a shot from a firearm. 406 At the time of his death, Kasim Bajrić wore a leather jacket, a sweater, shirt, and black flannel trousers. 407 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 408 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Kasim Bajrić, born in 1968, appears on this list. 409

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kasim Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1745, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15796-15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1751, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1753, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 404 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1750, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1755 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1750, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>406</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1752, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1752, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

#### BAJRIĆ, Meho, son of Meho (37, male)

Meho Bairić, ICRC number BAZ-103776-01, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 410 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. H11 The FIS database records that Meho Bajrić, born on 1 January 1955, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 413 Human remains marked "Body No. 11" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Meho Bajrić. 414 The Chamber has not received an autopsy report for the remains marked "Body No. 11". 415 It has been submitted by the Defence that from 1 August 1995 to 24 August 1995, Meho Bajrić, son of Meho was a member of the Croatian armed forces. 416 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity, requesting additional precise information, such as a personal identification number or date and place of birth. 417 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 418 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Meho Bajrić, born in 1955, appears on this list. 419

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Meho Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### BAJRIĆ, Mesud, son of Sulejman (30, male)

182. Mesud Bajrić, ICRC number BAZ-103777-01, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mesud Bairić as having gone missing in Častovići. It is otherwise consistent with the information contained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1759, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1761, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1760, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
413 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1762, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1758 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1762, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> The Chamber notes that the comprehensive autopsy report "Autopsy Report Lanište II" including the individual reports submitted for other persons buried at the grave site, does not include an individual report on "Body No. 11". See, e.g., P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1752, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

416 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 14

<sup>&</sup>quot;ordinal number" 1756; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 1; 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1764, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons list. 421 The FIS database records that Mesud Bajrić, born on 16 July 1961, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 422 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 423 Human remains marked "Body No. 08" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's parents as those of Mesud Bajrić. 424 The autopsy of Mesud Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head. Mesud Bajrić, however, also suffered an injury to the abdomen and lumbar region of the spine. Both injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 425 At the time of his death, Mesud Bajrić wore a rain coat, a multicoloured sweater, track-suit bottoms and rubber boots. 426 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 427 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Mesud Bajrić, born in 1961, appears on this list. 428

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### BAJRIĆ, Muharem, son of Huso (27, male)

184. Muharem Bajrić, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 429 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Muharem Bajrić as having gone missing in Častovići. It is otherwise consistent with the information contained in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons list. 430 The FIS database records that Muharem Bajrić, born on 17 December 1964, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 431 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč. 432 Human remains marked "Body No. 18" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1767, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1766, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 423 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1768, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1765 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1768, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1770, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1770, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1773, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1774, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>431</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1778, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 432 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1777, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1772 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

were identified as those of Muharem Bajrić through identification by his mother. As The autopsy of Muharem Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head. Muharem Bajrić, however, also suffered multiple injuries to the ribs. All injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Muharem Bajrić wore a denim jacket, a multi-coloured sweater, and jeans. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Muharem Bajrić, born in 1964, appears on this list.

185. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BAJRIĆ, Mustafa, son of Huso (30, male)

Mustafa Bairić, ICRC number BAZ-101113-01, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State 186. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mustafa Bajrić as having gone missing in Častovići. It is otherwise consistent with the information contained in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons list. 439 The FIS database records that Mustafa Bajrić, born on 6 March 1962, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 440 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 441 Human remains marked "Body No. 51" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's mother as those of Mustafa Bajrić. 442 The autopsy of Mustafa Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. 443 At the time of his death, Mustafa Bajrić wore a black leather jacket, a multicoloured sweater, and brown trousers. 444 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1777, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1776, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1776, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1783, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1774, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1782, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

441 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1784, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1786 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1784, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1781, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1781, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

Lanište. 445 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Mustafa Bajrić, born in 1962, appears on this list.446

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BAJRIĆ, Nedim, son of Šefik (20, male)

Nedim Bajrić, ICRC number BAZ-103780-02, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 447 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Nedim Bajrić as having gone missing in Častovići. It is otherwise consistent with the information contained in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons list. 448 The FIS database records that Nedim Bajrić, born on 5 June 1971, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 449 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 65" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's mother as those of Nedim Bajrić. <sup>451</sup> The autopsy of Nedim Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>452</sup> At the time of his death, Nedim Bajrić wore a brown sweater, a black T-shirt, and jeans. 453 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 454 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Nedim Bairić from Častovići, born in 1975, appears on this list. 45.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nedim Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1792, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1788, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1793, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 450 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1790, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1791 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1790, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1789, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name recorded in the autopsy report states "Eldin". Given that "Body No. 65" was identified as that of Nedim Bajrić by the deceased's mother, the Chamber is satisfied that the difference in first names is a clerical error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1789, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber is satisfied that the list concerns the same person, although the year of birth is recorded as "1975".

#### BAJRIĆ, Rifet, son of Mujo (28, male)

Rifet Bairić, ICRC number BAZ-103488-01, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 456 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. 457 The FIS database records that Rifet Bajrić, born on 29 May 1964, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 458 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 459 Human remains marked "Body No. 49" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified by the deceased's wife and father as those of Rifet Bajrić. 460 The autopsy of Rifet Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the right lower leg and left upper arm. Rifet Bajrić also sustained injuries to the left forearm. All injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 461 At the time of his death, Rifet Bajrić wore a black leather jacket, a long-sleeved T-shirt, and jeans. 462 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 463 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Rifet Bajrić from Častovići, born in 1964, appears on this list. 464

191. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rifet Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### BAJRIĆ, Zikret, son of Ferid (30, male)

192. Zikret Bajrić, ICRC number BAZ-101321-01, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Zikret Bajrić went missing on 1 June 1992 in Častovići. The FIS database records that Zikret Bajrić, born on 5 March 1962, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1798, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1799, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1800, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1797, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1797, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1796 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1797, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1801, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1801, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1809, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1808, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1807, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 42" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Zikret Bajrić through identification by the deceased's father, sister, and brother-in law. The autopsy of Zikret Bajrić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to both thigh bones caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Zikret Bajrić wore a black sweater, a chequered shirt, and flannel trousers. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Zikret Bajrić from Častovići, born in 1962, appears on this list. At 3

193. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zikret Bajrić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEČIĆ, Emsud, son of Ajiz (28, male)

194. Emsud Bečić, ICRC number BAZ-101319-01, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Emsud Bečić went missing on 1 June 1992 in Častovići. The FIS database records that Emsud Bečić, born on 15 October 1963, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Thuman remains marked "Body No. 16" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Emsud Bečić. The autopsy of Emsud Bečić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1804, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1803 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1804, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1806, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1806, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1813, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1811, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>476</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1812, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

477 P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1817, G. 18

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1817, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1814 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1817, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1816, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the document records the first name as "Ensur", but considers the difference in spelling to be insignificant.

Emsud Bečić wore a navy sweater and blue jeans. 480 The Chamber has also received evidence that Emsud Bečić, son of Ajiz, born on 15 September or 15 October 1963, was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Emsud Bečić was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 1 June 1992 in Velagići."<sup>481</sup>. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 482 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The list records a man by the first name of "Emsud" born in 1963. 485

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that immediately prior to his death Emsud Bečić was detained at the Velagići school and was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Emsud Bečić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BEČIĆ, Refik, son of Ramiz (36, male)

Refik Bečić, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 484 The FIS database records that Refik Bečić, born on 20 November 1955, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 485 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 486 Human remains marked "Body No. 46" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Refik Bečić through identification by the deceased's brother on the basis of his clothing. 487 The autopsy of Refik Bečić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head. He also suffered an injury to his left upper arm. Both injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 488 At the time of his death, Refik Bečić wore a black leather jacket, a chequered shirt, and blue jeans. 489 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 490 The Chamber has also received evidence in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1816, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 42 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1819, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1820, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 486 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1823, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1821 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1823, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1824, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1824, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Refik Bečić from Častovići, born in 1955, appears on this list.<sup>491</sup>

197. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Refik Bečić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BILAJAC, Šaban, son of Muho (64, male)

Šaban Bilajac, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 198. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 492 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 493 Human remains marked "Body No. 69" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Šaban Bilajac through identification by the deceased's son on the basis of his clothing. <sup>494</sup> The autopsy of Šaban Bilajac's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity. Šaban Bilajac also sustained a fractured lower jaw. Both injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 495 At the time of his death, Šaban Bilajac wore a grey suit jacket, a chequered shirt, and brown trousers. 496 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 497

199. Based on the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database and the evidence of ST017, the Chamber finds that Šaban Bilajac was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# BUKVIĆ, Tifo, son of Vahid (25, male)

200. Tifo Bukvić, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Tifo Bukvić, born on 5 July 1966, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1828, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the list records his father's name as "Meho".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1827, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1830 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1827, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1826, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1826, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1832, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1833, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

of Ključ.<sup>500</sup> Human remains marked as "Body No. 73" and "Body No. 78", and joined as "Body No. 73", exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Tifo Bukvić, born on 5 July 1956, on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>501</sup> The autopsy of Tifo Bukvić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic cavity. Tifo Bukvić also sustained a fracture to the left upper arm. Both injuries were caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>502</sup> At the time of his death, Tifo Bukvić wore a black leather jacket, a navy shirt and woollen trousers.<sup>503</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>504</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Tifo Bukvić, born in 1966, appears on this list.<sup>505</sup>

201. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding that the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List records the date of his disappearance as nine days after the alleged event, the Chamber finds that Tifo Bukvić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## BURZIĆ, Đulaga, son of Smail (37, male)

202. Đulaga Burzić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Đulaga Burzić, born on 20 September 1954, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 20" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Đulaga Burzić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Đulaga Burzić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Đulaga Burzić wore a leather jacket, a multi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1836, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1835 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1836, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber considers that the year of birth recorded contains a clerical error and should read "1966", as the autopsy report as well as all other material presented in relation to Tifo Bukvić record his year of birth as "1966".

<sup>502</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1837, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1837, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1843, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1842, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1841, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1840 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1841, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1839, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the name registered in the autopsy report for "Body No. 20" reads "Muharem Bajrić". However,

coloured sweater, and corduroy trousers.<sup>511</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 512 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Đulaga Burzić, born in 1954, appears on this list.<sup>513</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Đulaga Burzić was shot and killed 203. in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DELIĆ, Almir, son of Mustafa (18, male)

204. Almir Delić, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>514</sup> The FIS database records that Almir Delić, born on 21 March 1974, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 515 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 516 Human remains marked "Body No. 77" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Almir Delić through identification by the deceased's brother. The autopsy of Almir Delic's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 518 At the time of his death, Almir Delić wore a brown jacket, a grey sweater, and blue jeans. <sup>519</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 520

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almir Delić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DELIĆ, Emil, son of Rasim (17, male)

Emil Delić, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on

Case No. IT-08-91-T

54

Muharem Bajrić, aged 27, was identified as "Body No. 18". As the autopsy report for "Body No. 20" records the birth year of the deceased as "1954", and is consistent with the cause of death as recorded in the Court Record of the Postmortem Examination for Đulaga Bukvić, the Chamber is satisfied that "Body No. 20" was identified as that of Đulaga

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1839, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1849, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1850, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 516 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1851, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1847 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1851, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1848, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1848, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

5 October 1996.<sup>521</sup> The FIS database records that Emil Delić, born on 23 July 1974, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 522 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 523 Human remains marked as "Body No. 27" and "Body No. 43" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Emil Delić; he was registered as "Body No. 27" through identification of both body parts by the deceased's father. 524 The autopsy of Emil Delic's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a shattered head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>525</sup> At the time of his death, Emil Delić wore a denim jacket, a track-suit top, and brown trousers. 526 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 527

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emil Delić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DELIĆ, Fadil, son of Mumin (49, male)

208. Fadil Delić, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 528 The FIS database records that Fadil Delić, born on 9 April 1943, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 529 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 530 Human remains marked "Body No. 14" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as being those of Fadil Delić on the basis of an ID card found on his body. 531 The report states that the cause of death was a head injury caused by a shot from a firearm. <sup>532</sup> The autopsy report submitted for "Body No. 14" states that those remains belong to "Fadil Bajrić", born in "1953". The Chamber is thus unable to rely on the autopsy report submitted in its analysis. The

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1857, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>522</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1853, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 523 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1858, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1855 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

524 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1858, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>525</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1856, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1856, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1864, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1865, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 530 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1860, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1863 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1860, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1860, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1862, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 534 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Fadil Delić, born in 1943, appears on this list. 535

209. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Delić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DERVIŠEVIĆ, Karanfil, son of Mujo (27, male)

Karanfil Dervišević, ICRC number BAZ-104470-02, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Karanfil Dervišević went missing in April 1992 in Gornji Hadžići, Ključ. 537 The FIS database records that Karanfil Dervišević, born on 4 June 1964, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 538 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 539 Human remains marked "Body No. 23" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Karanfil Dervišević. 540 The autopsy of Karanfil Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>541</sup> Clothing found on Karanfil Dervišević's remains was identified as a brown jacket and a blue sweater.<sup>542</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 543 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Karanfil Dervišević appears on this list. 544

Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the differing dates of his reported disappearance, the Chamber finds that Karanfil Dervišević was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1867, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1871, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1872, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 539 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1869, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1868 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1869, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1873, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1873, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

#### DERVIŠEVIĆ, Rešid, son of Salko (60, male)

- Rešid Dervišević, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>545</sup> The FIS database records that Rešid Dervišević, born on 17 April 1932, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 546 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 547 Human remains marked "Body No. 21" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Rešid Dervišević through identification by the deceased's son. <sup>548</sup> The autopsy of Rešid Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996.<sup>549</sup> The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Rešid Dervišević also suffered multiple fractures to both thighbones. These injuries were also caused by shots from a firearm. <sup>550</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 551 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Rešid Dervišević, born in 1932, appears on this list. 552
- Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the difference in recorded dates of disappearance, the Chamber finds that Rešid Dervišević was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# DERVIŠEVIĆ, Safet, son of Dedo (25, male)

214. Safet Dervišević, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 553 The FIS database records that Safet Dervišević, born on 15 May 1967, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 554 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč. 555 Human remains marked "Body No. 05" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1875, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1879, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1877, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1878 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1877, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1876, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>550</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1876, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>551</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1884, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1885, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 555 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1886, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1883 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

were identified as those of Safet Dervišević through identification by an acquaintance. The upper part of the trunk and head were missing from the body. The autopsy of Safet Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. Remnants of clothing found on Safet Dervišević's body were identified as brown trousers and black leather shoes. The autopsy report states that the cervical part of the spine and skull are missing from the body. The cause of death was established as injuries to the right thigh bone caused by shots from a firearm. The Chamber recalls that has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Safet Dervišević, born in 1967, appears on this list.

215. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Dervišević was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### DRAGANOVIĆ, Adem, son of Arif (54, male)

Adem Draganović, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 216. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 561 The FIS database records that Adem Draganović, born on 3 June 1937, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč. 563 Human remains marked "Body No. 59" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Adem Draganović on the basis of an ID card and identification by the deceased's son. 564 The autopsy of Adem Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996.<sup>565</sup> The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>566</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 567 The Chamber has also received evidence in form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Adem Draganović, born in 1937, appears on this list. 563

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>556</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1886, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>557</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1887, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>558</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1887, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>560</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>561</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1889, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>562</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1892, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>563</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1891, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1890 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>564</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1891, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1893, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>566</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1893, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>567</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>568</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

217. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adem Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DRAGANOVIĆ, Džemal, son of Nail (34, male)

Džemal Draganović, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>569</sup> The FIS database records that Džemal Draganović, born on 8 February 1959, died on 1 June 1992 in Ključ. 570 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Džemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>571</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 01" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Džemal Draganović through identification by his brother on the basis of information received from the deceased's wife. <sup>572</sup> The autopsy of Džemal Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. 573 The cause of death was established as injuries to the left upper arm caused by shots from a firearm. The body's head was missing. 574 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 575 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Džemal Draganović appears on this list. 576

219. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the difference in recorded year of birth, the Chamber finds that Džemal Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Emsud, son of Hilmo (25, male)

220. Emsud Draganović, ICRC number BAZ-100075-01, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Emsud Draganović went missing in Ključ, but is otherwise consistent with this information. The FIS database records that Emsud Draganović, born on 7 October 1966, died on 1 June 1992 in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>569</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1900, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1896, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 571 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1899, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1901 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1899, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1897, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the year of birth in the autopsy report is recorded as "1956". The Chamber considers the difference in date recorded to be insignificant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1897, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>576</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1908, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1904, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Velagići, Ključ.<sup>579</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>580</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 32" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Emsud Draganović.<sup>581</sup> The autopsy of Emsud Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>582</sup> At the time of his death, Emsud Draganović wore a black track-suit, a multi-coloured shirt, and jeans.<sup>583</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>584</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Emsud Draganović, born in 1966, appears on this list.<sup>585</sup>

221. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Esmin, son of Mehmed (17, male)

222. Esmin Draganović, ICRC number BAZ-103521-01, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Esmin Draganović went missing in Nezići, Ključ, but is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission on Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his personal information and date of disappearance. The FIS database records that Esmin Draganović, born on 30 October 1974, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 70" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Esmin Draganović through identification by the deceased's mother. The autopsy of Esmin Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>579</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1905, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>580</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1907, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1903 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>581</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1907, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1906, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1906, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>584</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>585</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>586</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1912, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>587</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1915, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>588</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1917, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1911, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1916 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>590</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1911, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by shots from a firearm. Firearm. Remnants of clothes found on Esmin Draganović's remains were those of a raincoat, a grey T-shirt, and white trainers. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of "Emso Draganović", born in 1974, appears on this list. The Chamber is satisfied that the entry concerns the same person.

223. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Esmin Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Fadil, son of Vahid (32, male)

Fadil Draganović, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>595</sup> The FIS database records that Fadil Draganović, born on 12 September 1959, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 596 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 597 Human remains marked "Body No. 60" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Fadil Draganović through identification by the deceased's brother.<sup>598</sup> The autopsy of Fadil Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity. Fadil Draganović also sustained a broken left upper arm. All injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 599 At the time of his death, Fadil Draganović wore a sheepskin coat, a navy sweater, and ieans. 600 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 601 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Fadil Draganović appears on this list. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that this person died at Velagići on 1 June 1992. 603

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>591</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1914, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1914, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1925, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1919, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1921, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1923 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>598</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1921, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1920, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>600</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1920, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>601</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>602</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>603</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 15 "ordinal number" 1918.

225. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### DRAGANOVIĆ, Fehret, son of Ago (37, male)

Fehret Draganović, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 226. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>604</sup> The FIS database records that Fehret Draganović, born on 4 April 1955, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 605 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 606 Human remains marked "Body No. 10" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Fehret Draganović on the basis of a passport found on his remains. 607 The autopsy of Fehret Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a shattered head caused by the shot of a firearm. Fehret Draganović also sustained multiple fractures to the left upper arm, and the right thighbone caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fehret Draganović wore a chequered shirt, a grey sweater, and jeans. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 610 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of "Fikret" or "Fekret" Draganović appears on this list, succeeded by the number "55". 611 The Chamber is satisfied that the entry concerns Fehret Draganović, born in 1955.612

227. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fehret Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Hamdija, son of Ramiz (19, male)

228. Hamdija Draganović, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is largely consistent with this information,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>604</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1932, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>605</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1930, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
606 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1927, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1928 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>607</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1927, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>608</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1929, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>609</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1929, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>610</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>611</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>612</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 15 "ordinal number" 1918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>613</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1935, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

recording the date of Hamdija Draganović's disappearance as 1 June 1992. 614 The FIS database records that Hamdija Draganović, born on 29 October 1970, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 615 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 616 Human remains marked "Body No. 25" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Hamdija Draganović. 617 The autopsy of Hamdija Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be established due to the fact that the lower part of Hamdija Draganović's body was missing. No visible signs of injuries to the upper body could be detected. 618 At the time of his death, Hamdija Draganović wore a multi-coloured jacket. 619 The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 3 June 1996. According to the report, Hamdija Draganović was last seen in Hadžići, on 1 June 1992 when he "went towards *Velagići* [primary school]". 620 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 621 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Hamdija Draganović appears on this list. 622

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### DRAGANOVIĆ, Hilmo, son of Hilmo (28, male)

Hilmo Draganović, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 623 The FIS database records that Hilmo Draganović, born on 13 May 1964, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 624 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč. 625 Human remains marked "Body No. 40" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons

<sup>614</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1934, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>615</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1941, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

616 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1939, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1937 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1939, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>618</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1936, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>619</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1936, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>620</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1940, Police Missing Persons Report, Draganović, Hamdija (confidential).

<sup>621</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>622</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>623</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1943, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1946, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1945, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1947 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

were identified as those of Hilmo Draganović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. <sup>626</sup> The autopsy of Hilmo Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by the shot of a firearm. <sup>627</sup> At the time of his death, Hilmo Draganović wore a green jacket, a grey T-shirt, and jeans. <sup>628</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. <sup>629</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Hilmo Draganović, born in 1964, appears on this list.

231. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### DRAGANOVIĆ, Hilmo, son of Ibro (56, male)

Hilmo Draganović, born in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 631 The FIS database records that Hilmo Draganović, born on 23 June 1935, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 632 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 633 Human remains marked "Body No. 57" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Hilmo Draganović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 634 The autopsy of Hilmo Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by the shot of a firearm. Hilmo Draganović also sustained a fractured right upper arm caused by a shot from a firearm. 635 At the time of his death, Hilmo Draganović wore a blue workman's shirt, a V-neck sweater, and workman's trousers. 636 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 637 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Hilmo Draganović, born in 1935, appears on this list.<sup>63</sup>

<sup>626</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1945, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the document states that the number of the body is "illegible". However, on the basis of the corresponding autopsy report, the Chamber is satisfied that the Court Record of Post-mortem Examination assigns number "40" to Hilmo Draganović's body as submitted by the Prosecution.

<sup>627</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1944, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1944, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>629</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>630</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>631</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1952, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>632</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1950, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>633</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1951, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1953 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>634</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1951, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>635</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1954, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>636</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1954, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>637</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

233. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DRAGANOVIĆ, Mesud, son of Hilmo (19, male)

Mesud Draganović, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 234. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>639</sup> The FIS database records that Mesud Draganović, born on 9 July 1972, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 640 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>641</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 58" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Mesud Draganović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains and identification by his sister-in-law and niece. 642 The autopsy of Mesud Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by the shot of a firearm. 643 At the time of his death, Mesud Draganović wore a white corduroy jacket, a multi-coloured jumper, and jeans.<sup>644</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 645 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Mesud Draganović, born in 1972, appears on this list. 646

235. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# DRAGANOVIĆ, Nijaz, son of Nail (31, male)

236. Nijaz Draganović, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Nijaz Draganović, born on 21 April 1961, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>639</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1961, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1958, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1960, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1962 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>642</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1960, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1957, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>644</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1957, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>647</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1964, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>648</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1965, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

of Ključ.<sup>649</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 41" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Nijaz Draganović.<sup>650</sup> The autopsy of Nijaz Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the abdomen and right thighbone caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>651</sup> At the time of his death, Nijaz Draganović wore a brown leather jacket, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>652</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>653</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Nijaz Draganović appears on this list.<sup>654</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that this person died at Velagići on 1 June 1992.

237. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Ramiz, son of Ago (42, male)

238. Ramiz Draganović, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 656 The ICRC Missing Persons List is generally consistent with this information, but records Ramiz Draganović's date of disappearance as 1 June 1992. 657 The FIS database records that Ramiz Draganović, born on 1 June 1950, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 658 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 659 Human remains marked "Body No. 31" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ramiz Draganović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 660 The autopsy of Ramiz Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic cavity. Ramiz Draganović also sustained injuries to his lower jaw caused by shots from a firearm. 661 Clothing found on Ramiz Draganović's remains was identified as a blue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1967, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1969 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1967, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>651</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1966, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>652</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1966, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 15 "ordinal number" 1963.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1975, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1972, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>658</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1977, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>659</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1973, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1978 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>660</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1973, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>661</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1976, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

jacket, a chequered shirt, and blue trousers. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Ramiz Draganović appears on this list.

239. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DRAGANOVIĆ, Rufat, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 240. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 665 The Prosecution submits that human remains marked "Body No. 29" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons from the grave site Lanište II are those of Rufat Draganović. 666 The Chamber notes that the court record of the exhumation and post-mortem examination submitted states that "Body No. 29" was that of an unidentified male. However, the autopsy report of "Body No. 29" exhumed from Lanište II states that the remains are those of Rufat Draganović. It further states that remains are those of a "young man". The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an entry and exit wound to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 669 Clothing found on Rufat Draganović's remains was identified as a dark coat, a brown jumper, and a chequered shirt.<sup>670</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 671
- 241. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rufat Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## DRAGANOVIĆ, Safet, son of Adem (21, male)

242. Safet Draganović, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Safet Draganović, born on 30 August 1970, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>662</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1976, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1983, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1981 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>666</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1983, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1983, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>668</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1982, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1982, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>670</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1982, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>671</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>672</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1987, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>673</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1986, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 12" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Safet Draganović, born on 30 August 1970 in Hadžići. The autopsy of Safet Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by an entry-exit wound. Safet Draganović also sustained multiple fractures to his left leg caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Safet Draganović wore a denim jacket, jeans, and a blue sweater. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Safet Draganović appears on this list.

243. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# DRAGANOVIĆ, Rufad, 680 son of Adem (27, male)

244. Rufad Draganović, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>681</sup> The FIS database records that Rufad Draganović, born on 29 May 1965 died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ.<sup>682</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>683</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 66" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Rufad Draganović, on the basis of a SFRY passport found on his remains.<sup>684</sup> The autopsy of Rufad Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>685</sup> At the time of his death, Rufad Draganović wore a black raincoat, jeans, and a track-suit top.<sup>686</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>674</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1988, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1989 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>675</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1988, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>676</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1990, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>677</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1990, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>679</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>680</sup> The Chamber notes that the Proof of Death Database lists Rufad Draganović as "Sufad Draganović", whereas all material submitted in relation to the individual is in the name of "Rufad Draganović".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>681</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1996, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>682</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1994, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>683</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1993, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1992 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1993, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>685</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1995, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>686</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1995, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>687</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Rufad Draganović, born in 1965, appears on this list.<sup>688</sup>

245. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rufad Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DRAGANOVIĆ, Teufik, son of Ago (35, male)

Teufik Draganović, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 689 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>690</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 64" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Teufik Draganović, born on 11 June 1956, through identification by the deceased's brother.<sup>691</sup> The autopsy of Teufik Draganović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 692 At the time of his death, Teufik Draganović wore a denim jacket, a brown T-shirt, and jeans. 693 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. <sup>694</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Teufik Draganović appears on this list. 695

247. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Teufik Draganović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## FAZLIĆ, Husein, son of Ajiz (31, male)

248. Husein Fazlić, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Husein Fazlić, born on 5 January 1961, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>687</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>688</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>689</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2000, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>690</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2001, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 1998 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>691</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2001, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1999, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>693</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1999, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>694</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>695</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>696</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2007, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>697</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2008, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 698 Human remains marked "Body No. 07" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Husein Fazlić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 699 The autopsy of Husein Fazlić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a shattered head caused by a shot from a firearm at contact range. Remnants of clothing found on Husein Fazlić's remains were identified as grey flannel trousers. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that after the soldiers had shot down the detainees in front of the school, they approached and shot those still showing signs of life from a close range. ST017 also testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Husein Fazlić appears on this list.

249. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Fazlić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## GROMILIĆ, Emir, son of Hasib (18-19, male)

250. Emir Gromilić, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Emir Gromilić, born on 9 June 1973, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Thuman remains marked "Body No. 37" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Emir Gromilić. The autopsy of Emir Gromilić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be established due to the skeletonisation of the remains and the fact that no visible injuries to the bones could be detected. At the time of his death, Emir Gromilić wore a rain jacket, a white vest, and jeans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2006, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2005 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2006, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2003, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2003, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15796-15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>703</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>704</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the name is spelled as "Huzein Fazlić" in the list but considers the difference to be insignificant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>705</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2014, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2015, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>707</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2013, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2011 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>708</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2013, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>709</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2010, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>710</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2010, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 711 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Emir Gromilić appears on this list. The Chamber has also received evidence that Emir "Gromelić", son of Hasib, born on 9 October 1973, was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Emir Gromelić was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 1 June 1992 in Velagići."<sup>713</sup> The Chamber notes the difference in the spelling of Emir Gromilić's last name, as well as the difference in recorded dates of birth between the BiH Ministry for War Veterans register and the FIS database.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that immediately prior to his death 251. Emir Gromilić was detained at the Velagići school and was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Emir Gromilić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## HALILOVIĆ, Saim, son of Sabit (28, male)

Saim Halilović, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>714</sup> The FIS database records that Saim Halilović, born on 24 February 1964, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Saim Halilović, born in 1965, went missing in Ključ in June 1992. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč.<sup>717</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 44" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Saim Halilović through identification by his mother. <sup>718</sup> The autopsy of Saim Halilović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>719</sup> At the time of his death, Saim Halilović wore a brown leather jacket and blue trousers. 720 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that after the soldiers had shot down the detainees in front of the school, they approached and shot those still showing signs of life from a close range.<sup>721</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>711</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>712</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 28 (confidential).

<sup>714</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2019, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2018, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>716</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2020, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2022, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2017 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2022, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>719</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2023, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>720</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2023, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>721</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15796-15797 (confidential).

ST017 also testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 722 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Saim Halilović, born in 1964, appears on this list.<sup>723</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Saim Halilović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### HOTIĆ, Dževad, son of Ejub (24, male)

254. Dževad Hotić, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Pudin Han, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>724</sup> The FIS database records that Dževad Hotić, born on 1 September 1967, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići. 725 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 726 Human remains marked "Body No. 54" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Dževad Hotić through identification by his brother-in-law. The autopsy of Dževad Hotić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 728 At the time of his death, Dževad Hotić wore a black leather jacket, a multicoloured sweater, and jeans.<sup>729</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Dževad Hotić appears on this list. 731

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Hotić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# JUKIĆ, Ismet, son of Muharem (51, male)

Ismet Jukić, born in 1941, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 256. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>722</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the name is spelled as "Zaim Halilović" in the list but considers the difference to be insignificant.

<sup>724</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2030, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2027, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

726 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2026, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2029 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2026, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>728</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2025, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>729</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2025, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>730</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>731</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

5 October 1996.<sup>732</sup> The FIS database records that Ismet Jukić, born on 12 May 1941, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići. 733 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 734 Human remains marked "Body No. 79" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ismet Jukić through identification by a former neighbour of the deceased. 735 The autopsy of Ismet Jukić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The body's head was missing. However, the cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 736 At the time of his death, Ismet Jukić wore a red T-shirt and brown trousers. 737 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that Ismet Jukić was among the men detained and shot at Velagići school on 1 June 1992. The Chamber has heard that Ismet Jukić, who initially survived the shooting was killed after begging the soldiers to shoot him in order to end his suffering.<sup>738</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Ismet Jukić, born in 1941, appears on this list.<sup>739</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Jukić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KERANOVIĆ, Asim, son of Husein (33, male)

Asim Keranović, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>740</sup> The FIS database records that Asim Keranović, born on 11 January 1959, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići. 741 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 742 Human remains marked "Body No. 22" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Asim Keranović. 743 The autopsy of Asim Keranović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a shattered head and injuries to

<sup>732</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2035, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>733</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2036, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>734</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2032, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2037 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>735</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2032, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that although only 77 human bodies were exhumed from the mass grave, the bodies were numbered from 1 to 79, as two bodies were recovered in parts and each part assigned a distinct number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>736</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2033, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>737</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2033, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>738</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>740</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2040, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2044, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>742</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2043, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2042 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>743</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2043, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

the pelvic organs and bones caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>744</sup> At the time of his death, Asim Keranović wore a navy sweater and shirt, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>745</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 746 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Asim Keranović appears on this list.<sup>747</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Keranović was shot and 259. killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KERANOVIĆ, Emir, son of Husein (26, male)

Emir Keranović, ICRC number BAZ-108367-01, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State 260. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>748</sup> The FIS database records that Emir Keranović, born on 2 May 1966, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 749 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 750 Human remains marked "Body No. 24" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Emir Keranović on the basis of a Yugoslav passport found on his remains. 751 The autopsy of Emir Keranović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 752 At the time of his death, Emir Keranović wore a green rain coat and tracksuit. 753 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Emir Keranović appears on this list. 75

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emir Keranović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>744</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2039, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>745</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2039, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>747</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>748</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2048, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>749</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2050, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>750</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2046, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2051 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2046, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>752</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2049, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>753</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2049, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>755</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagici Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

#### KERANOVIĆ, Enes, son of Husein (28, male)

Enes Keranović, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Pudin-Han, in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 756 The FIS database records that Enes Keranović, born on 11 June 1963, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 757 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in Velagići and Ključ, issued by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court on 11 November 1996. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in their homes in the summer of July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Velagići on 10 November 1996. The Human remains marked "Body No. 11" exhumed from Lazina graveyeard in Velagići were identified as those of Enes Keranović. The autopsy of Enes Keranović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 11 November 1996. The cause of death could not be ascertained, as no visible traces of injuries could be found on the skeletised remains. 759 The Chamber has also received credible evidence from ST017 that Enes Keranović survived the shooting at Velagići school on 1 June 1992. 760

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Keranović is deceased. However, based on the evidence it has received from ST017, as well as the exhumation report, the Chamber is unable to find that Enes Keranović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KERANOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Huseijn (22, male)

Jasmin Keranović, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 264. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>761</sup> The FIS database records that Jasmin Keranović, born on 29 December 1969, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>763</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 75" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Jasmin Keranović.<sup>764</sup> The autopsy of Jasmin Keranović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as

75

<sup>756</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2053, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2054, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 758 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2055, Court Record of Exhumation of Individual Graves in Velagići and Ključ (confidential).

759 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2055, Court Record of Exhumation of Individual Graves

in Velagići and Ključ (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797-15798 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2060, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>762</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2063, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2062, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2059 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>764</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2062, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 765 At the time of his death, Jasmin Keranović wore a sheepskin coat, a brown sweater, and jeans. The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 3 June 1996. According to the report, Jasmin Keranović was last seen in Hadžići, on 1 June 1992 when he "went towards *Velagići* [primary school]". <sup>767</sup> The Chamber has heard evidence from ST017 that he heard the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 say that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 768

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Keranović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KUJUNDŽIĆ, Derviš, son of Mumin (55, male)

Derviš Kujundžić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 266. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>769</sup> The FIS database records that Derviš Kujundžić born on 5 April 1937, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>771</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 35" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Derviš Kujundžić. The autopsy of Derviš Kujundžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity cavity by a shot from a firearm. The Chamber recalls that Kujundžić wore a brown jacket, a chequered shirt, and flannel trousers. it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 775 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Derviš Kujundžić appears on this list.<sup>776</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Derviš Kujundžić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2058, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2058, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2061, Police Missing Persons Report, Keranović, Jasmin (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>769</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2070, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2065, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 771 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2068, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2069 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2068, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>773</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2066, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>774</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2066, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>775</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>776</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

### MUHELJIĆ, Adem, son of Dedo (40, male)

Adem Muheliić, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>777</sup> The FIS database records that Adem Muheljić, born on 11 August 1951, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ.<sup>778</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ.<sup>779</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 39" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Adem Muheljić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>780</sup> The autopsy of Adem Muheljić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Adem Muheljić also suffered multiple fractures of the left leg. 781 At the time of his death, Adem Muheljić wore a grey leather jacket, a chequered shirt, and grey trousers. 782 The Chamber has received evidence from ST017, that Adem Muheljić was among the detained persons at Velagići school, where he was beaten by a Serb soldier and subsequently shot dead.<sup>783</sup> The Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 784 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of "Adem /? Mukeljić", appears on this list. The Chamber is satisfied that the entry concerns the Adem Muheljić listed in the Final Victims List.

269. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adem Muheljić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### MUHELJIĆ, Dedo, son of Derviš (60, male)

270. Dedo Muheljić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Dedo Muheljić, born on 3 May 1932, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botoniić of the lower court

77 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2074, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>778</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2076, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>779</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2073, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2075 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>780</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2073, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2072, Autopsy Report Laniste II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>782</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2072, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>783</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15794 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>784</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>785</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>786</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2079, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>787</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2084, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

of Ključ.<sup>788</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 30" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Dedo Muheljić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>789</sup> The autopsy of Dedo Muheljić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Dedo Muheljić also suffered multiple injuries to the ribs, the right thigh bone and lower leg. All of his injuries were caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>790</sup> At the time of his death, Dedo Muheljić wore a grey jacket and sweater, a blue shirt, and workman's trousers.<sup>791</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.<sup>792</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of "Dedo Mulegić", born in 1932, appears on this list.<sup>793</sup> The Chamber is satisfied that the entry concerns the Dedo Muheljić listed in the Final Victims List.

271. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dedo Muheljić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## MURATOVIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Nurija (62, male)

272. Ibrahim Muratović, ICRC number BAZ-903077-01, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>794</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision issued by Judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 27 September 1996, whereby he declared dead Ibrahim Muratović. The said decision establishes the date of death as "1 June 1992" and the place of death as "Velagići". The FIS database records that Ibrahim Muratović, born on 25 July 1946 died on 22 June 1995 in an unknown location. The Chamber is unconvinced that the entry relates to the same individual, given the discrepancy between the recorded information and the other evidence received in relation to this individual. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Human remains marked "Body No. 53" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ibrahim Muratović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Ibrahim Muratović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>788</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2083, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2081 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>789</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2083, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>790</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2080, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>791</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2080, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>792</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2086, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>795</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2092, Declaration of Death of Ibrahim Muratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>796</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2088, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2090, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2089 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>798</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2090, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ibrahim Muratović wore a blue denim jacket, a brown shirt, and overalls. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of "Ibrahim Mulatović", born in 1930, appears on this list. The Chamber is satisfied that the entry concerns the Ibrahim Muratović listed in the Indictment.

273. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Muratović was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## NEZIĆ, Atif, son of Husein (20, male)

274. Atif Nezić, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.803 The FIS database records that Atif Nezić, born on 1 May 1972 died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. <sup>804</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Atif Nezić died in Velagići, Ključ on 1 June 1992. <sup>805</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 806 Human remains marked "Body No. 09" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Atif Nezić through identification by the deceased's mother. 807 The Chamber has not been provided with an autopsy report for Atif Nezić. However, the court record states that the autopsy performed by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Atif Nezić wore a black leather jacket, a black and grey jumper, and grey trousers. 808 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 809 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Atif Nezić, born in 1972, appears on this list.810

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>799</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2087, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>800</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2087, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>801</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>802</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2099, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>804</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2097, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>805</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2094, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that the report records Atif Nezić's date of birth as 16 May 1971.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>806</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2096, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2098 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>807</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2096, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>808</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2096, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>809</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>810</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

275. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Atif Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### NEZIĆ, Husein, son of Mumin (56, male)

Husein Nezić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.811 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Husein Nezić died in Velagići, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. 812 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 813 Human remains marked "Body No. 28" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Husein Nezić. 814 The autopsy of Husein Nezić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head. The head trauma was caused by a shot from a firearm at contact-range. 815 At the time of his death, Husein Nezić wore a grey jacket, a multi-coloured shirt, and corduroy trousers. 816 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that after the soldiers had shot down the detainees in front of the school, they approached and shot those still showing signs of life from a close range. 817 ST017 also testified that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 818 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Husein Nezić appears on this list.<sup>819</sup>

277. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# NEZIĆ, Islam, son of Meho (63, male)

278. Islam Nezić, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Islam Nezić, born on 15 March 1929, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina",

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2102, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>812</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2103, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2101, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2104 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>814</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2101, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>815</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2105, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>816</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2105, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>817</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15796-15797 (confidential).

<sup>818</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>819</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992. The Chamber notes that the list includes a year of birth which is recorded as "1937".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>820</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2113, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2108, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 822 Human remains marked "Body No. 56" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Islam Nezić on the basis of an ID card, a SFRY passport, and a savings booklet of the *Privredna Banka Sarajevo* found on his remains. 823 The autopsy of Islam Nezić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 824 At the time of his death, Islam Nezić wore a grey flannel jacket, a chequered shirt, and cordurouy trousers. 825 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 826

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Islam Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### NEZIĆ, Nijaz, son of Husein (22, male)

Nijaz Nezić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 827 The FIS database records that Nijaz Nezić, born on 8 September 1969, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 828 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 829 Human remains marked "Body No. 48" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Nijaz Nezić through identification by the deceased's mother. 830 The autopsy of Nijaz Nezić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The bodies head was missing. The cause of death was established as resulting from injuries to the right lower leg and the left upper arm caused by shots from a firearm.<sup>831</sup> At the time of his death, Nijaz Nezić wore a black leather jacket, a blue long-sleeved T-shirt, and blue jeans. 832 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 833 The Chamber has also received evidence in the

<sup>822</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2111, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2109 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2111, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>824</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2112, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>825</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2112, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>826</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>827</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2118, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2119, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

829 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2120, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2117 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>830</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2120, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>831</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2116, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>832</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2116, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>833</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Nijaz Nezić appears on this list. 834

281. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### NEZIĆ, Rezak, son of Safet (22, male)

282. Rezak Nezić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 835 The FIS database records that Rezak Nezić, born on 13 July 1969, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 836 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 837 Human remains marked "Body No. 03" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Rezak Nezić. 838 The autopsy of Rezak Nezić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 839 At the time of his death, Rezak Nezić wore a denim jacket, a blue T-shirt, and blue jeans. 840 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 841 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Rezak Nezić appears on this list.842

283. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rezak Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## NEZIĆ, Safet, son of Mumin (52, male)

284. Safet Nezić, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 843 The FIS database records that Safet Nezić, born on 18 December 1939, died on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>835</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2125, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>836</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2126, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

837 P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2122, Charles and Charles and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>837</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2122, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2127 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>838</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2122, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>839</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2123, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records the deceased's name as "Rezah Ezric". Given that the court record of exhumation and post-mortem records that name as Rezak Nezić, the Chamber considers the difference in name to be a clerical error

<sup>840</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2123, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>841</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>842</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2131, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 844 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Kliuč. 845 Human remains marked "Body No. 52" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Safet Nezić. 846 The autopsy of Safet Nezić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right-hand side thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Safet Nezić wore a grey suit jacket, a grey jumper, and jeans. He Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 849 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Safet Nezić, born in 1939, appears on this list.850

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Nezić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ZEČEVIĆ, Esad, son of Ćamil (38, male)

286. Esad Zečević, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 851 The FIS database records that Esad Zečević, born on 10 December 1953, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 852 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 853 Human remains marked "Body No. 04" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Esad Zečević on the basis of an ID card found on the remains. 854 The autopsy of Esad Zečević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head. Esad Zečević also suffered fractures of his shoulderblades, the left lower arm, and the left lower leg. All injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 855 At the time of his death, Esad Zečević wore a brown sweater, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>844</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2133, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

845 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2130, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2132 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2130, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>847</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2134, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>848</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2134, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>849</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>850</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2137, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2136, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 853 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2139, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2140 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>854</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2139, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>855</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2141, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

red shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 856 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 857

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Esad Zečević was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZEČEVIĆ, Omer, son of Ćamil (41, male)

Omer Zečević, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 858 The FIS database records that Omer Zečević, born on 1 July 1951, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 859 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 860 Human remains marked "Body No. 45" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Omer Zečević, born on 1 July 1950, on the basis of an ID card found on the remains.<sup>861</sup> The autopsy of Omer Zečević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right thighbone caused by a shot from a firearm. <sup>862</sup> At the time of his death, Omer Zečević wore a leather jacket, a chequered shirt, and jeans. 863 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 864

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Zečević was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ZUKIĆ, Denis, son of Ferid (18, male)

Denis Zukić, ICRC number BAZ-103224-01, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 865 The FIS database records that Denis Zukić, born on 5 July 1973, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 866 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists

<sup>856</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2141, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>857</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>858</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2147, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2143, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

860 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2146, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2145 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>861</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2146, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>862</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2148, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>863</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2148, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>864</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>865</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2155, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>866</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2151, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Denis Zukić as having disappeared and died in Velagići on 1 June 1992. <sup>867</sup> The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. <sup>868</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 02" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Denis Zukić. <sup>869</sup> The autopsy of Denis Zukić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left thighbone caused by a shot from a firearm. <sup>870</sup> At the time of his death, Denis Zukić wore a grey jacket, a multi-coloured sweater, and blue jeans. <sup>871</sup> The Chamber recall that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.

291. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Denis Zukić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZUKIĆ, Faik, son of Muharem (53, male)

292. Faik Zukić, ICRC number BAZ-101934-01, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Faik Zukić as having disappeared and died in Vojići, Ključ, in June 1992. The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. Thuman remains marked "Body No. 38" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Faik Zukić. The autopsy of Faik Zukić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>867</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2153, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>868</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2150, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2152 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>869</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2150, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>870</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2156, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2156, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>872</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>873</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2162, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>874</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2158, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2160, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2163 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>876</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2160, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>877</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2161, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>878</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2161, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>879</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

293. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Faik Zukić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### ZUKIĆ, Hasan, son of Rešid (25, male)

Hasan Zukić, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 294. Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 880 The FIS database records that Hasan Zukić, born on 1 April 1967, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. 881 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 882 Human remains marked "Body No. 17" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Hasan Zukić on the basis of an ID card found on the remains. 883 The autopsy of Hasan Zukić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Hasan Zukić also suffered a shot wound to his left upper arm. <sup>884</sup> At the time of his death, Hasan Zukić wore a black leather jacket, a yellow long-sleeved T-shirt, and black trousers. 885 The Chamber recalls that it has heard evidence from ST017 that the Serb soldiers who shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building on 1 June 1992 said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. 886 The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Hasan Zukić, born in 1967, appears on this list. 887

295. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Zukić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ZUKIĆ, Ramiz, son of Muharem (51, male)

296. Ramiz Zukić, ICRC number BAZ-101934-02, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Ramiz Zukić, born on 30 October 1940, died on 1 June 1992 in Velagići, Ključ. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Ramiz Zukić as having disappeared and died in Vojići, Ključ, in June 1992.

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>880</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2170, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2166, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2169, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>882</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2169, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2168 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>883</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2169, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>884</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2167, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>885</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2167, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>886</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>887</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>888</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2175, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>889</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2176, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>890</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2173, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište II" mass grave, also known as "Babina Dolina", compiled between 5 and 7 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. <sup>891</sup> Human remains marked "Body No. 47" exhumed among the remains of 77 persons were identified as those of Ramiz Zukić through identification by the deceased's daughter and another relative. <sup>892</sup> The autopsy of Ramiz Zukić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Ramiz Zukić also suffered shot wounds to both legs and his left upper arm. <sup>893</sup> At the time of his death, Ramiz Zukić wore a grey flannel jacket, a chequered shirt, and jeans. <sup>894</sup> ST017 testified that Ramiz Zukić was one of three men that remained at the checkpoint outside of Velagići school where they were shot after the rest of the group was ordered into the school building on 1 June 1992. <sup>895</sup> After they had shot and killed the approximately 76 persons outside the Velagići school building, ST017 testified that the Serb soldiers said that they were going to bury the bodies in the forest in Lanište. <sup>896</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence in the form of a list of 79 persons who reported at the Velagići checkpoint on 1 June 1992. The name of Ramiz Zukić, born in 1940, appears on this list.

297. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Zukić was shot and killed in Velagići on 1 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### (b) Biljani

## <u>ŠLJIVAR, Sabit, son of Abid (74, male)</u>

298. Sabit Šljivar, born in 1918, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court on 14 October 1996. According to the report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Jabukovac in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 14" were identified as being those of Sabit Šljivar. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the head. Solve the same list, which is a property of the same list, his body as the

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2172, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential). The Chamber notes that the "Court Report of Exhumation" submitted under "ordinal number" 2174 and the "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II" are one and the same document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>892</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2172, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>893</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2177, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>894</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2177, Autopsy Report Lanište II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>895</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15789, 15794, 15822 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>896</sup> ST017, 12 October 2010, T. 15797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>897</sup> P1284.31, Handwritten List of 79 Individuals Compiled at the Velagići Checkpoint, 5 June 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>898</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 486, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>899</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 487, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>900</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 487, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>901</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 487, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

death certificate issued by the municipal authorities of Ključ in the year 2011 states that Sabit Šljivar, born on 8 April 1918 in Donja Sanica, Ključ, died in Sanica on 26 June 1992. 902

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabit Šljivar was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabit Šljivar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **ŠUŠNJAR**, Almedin, son of Meho (19, male)

Almedin Šušnjar, ICRC number BAZ-104074-01, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The FIS database records that Almedin Šušnjar, born on 14 February 1973, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 905 The Chamber has received a report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. 906 According to the report, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 907 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I" compiled on 12 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić states that the body marked "Body No. 24" was identified as that of Almedin Šušnjar through identification by the deceased's mother. 908 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established that Almedin Šušnjar died a violent death due to an injury to the abdominal organs. The injury to the abdominal organs was caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Almedin Šušnjar wore a brown flannel jacket, a light-green jumper, a grey shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 909

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almedin Šušnjar was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>910</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Almedin Šušnjar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## **ŠUŠNJAR**, Meho, son of Latif (51, male)

Meho Šušnjar, ICRC number BAZ-104074-02, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 911 This information is consistent with the ICRC

<sup>902</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 487.1, Death Certificate of Sabit Šljivar (confidential).

<sup>903</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 491, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>904</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 489, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>905</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 493, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>906</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 490, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>907</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 490, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential). 908 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 495, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>909</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 492, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>910</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>911</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 501, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Missing Persons Report. He FIS database records that Meho Šušnjar, born on 10 October 1940, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 168" was identified as that of Meho Šušnjar by the deceased's "next of kin". The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cage caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Meho Šušnjar wore a blue workman's jacket, a short sleeved grey shirt, and blue jeans.

303. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Meho Šušnjar was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 917 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Meho Šušnjar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Adnan, son of Hamdija (20, male)

304. Adnan Čehić, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Adnan Čehić, born on 17 February 1972, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. Has According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I" compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 23" was identified as that of Adnan Čehić on the basis of an ID card found on his body. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established that Adnan Čehić died a violent death due to an injury to his abdominal organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Adnan Čehić wore a black jumper, a white long-sleeved shirt, and blue jeans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>912</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 499, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>913</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 497, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
914 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 498, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
915 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 502, Court Record of Posts more recognisation Lanište I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>915</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 503, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>916</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 502, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>917</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>918</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 505, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 506, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 507, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>921</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 510, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>922</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 509, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

305. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adnan Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ČEHIĆ, Ahmo, son of Hašim (67, male)

306. Ahmo Čehić, ICRC number BAZ-102037-01, born in 1925, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. P1 The FIS database records that Ahmo Čehić, born on 19 August 1925, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I" compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 109" was identified as that of Ahmo Čehić. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as a result of an injury to the lumbar section of the spine. The injury was caused by a shot from a firearm. P1

307. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ahmo Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>928</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ahmo Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Asim, son of Latif (41, male)

308. Asim Čehić, ICRC number BAZ-100561-01, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. PIS database records that Asim Čehić, born on 21 February 1951, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 4 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 119" was identified as that of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>923</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 513, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>924</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 512, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 925 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 515, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2406, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 514, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laniste I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>927</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>928</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>929</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 523, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 520, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 522, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

Asim Čehić. 932 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. 933 At the time of his death, Asim Čehić wore a brown flannel jacket, a white sweater, a multi-coloured shirt, and brown corduroy trousers. 934

309. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>935</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asim Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Bećo, son of Ahmet (85, male)

- 310. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from the site marked as "Biljani VIII" and labelled "Body No. 19" were identified as being those of Bećo Čehić from Donji Biljani, born on 23 February 1907. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1996. The autopsy established that there were no visible injuries on the limbs and bones of the torso of Bećo Čehić.
- 311. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bećo Čehić is deceased. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Efrajim, son of Abid (46, male)

312. Efrajim Čehić, born in 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>939</sup> The FIS database records that Efrajim Čehić, born on 1 May 1946, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. <sup>940</sup> According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". <sup>941</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>932</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 521, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>933</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 509, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Asim Čehić under "ordinal number" 519. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>934</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 509, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
 <sup>935</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>936</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 526, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>937</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 526, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>938</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 526, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>939</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 528, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 530, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 532, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 111" was identified as that of Efrajim Čehić on the basis of a bank card issued in the deceased's name found on the body. 942 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. The victim also suffered multiple fractures to his upper and lower spine. At the time of his death, Efrajim Čehić wore a brown leather jacket, a white long-sleeved shirt, and blue jeans.943

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Efrajim Čehić was shot and killed 313. in the municipality of Ključ in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Elvir, son of Samed (21, male)

314. Elvir Čehić, born in 1971, ICRC number BAZ-100560-01, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 944 The FIS database records that Elvir Čehić, born on 9 May 1971, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 945 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 946 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 019" was identified as that of Elvir Čehić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 947 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established that Elvir Čehić died a violent death due to an injury to the thoracic cavity. At the time of his death, Elvir Čehić wore a grey jumper, a blue T-shirt, and grey trousers. 948

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Elvir Čehić was shot and killed in 315. Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 949 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Elvir Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

949 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>942</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 533, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>943</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Efrajim Čehić under "ordinal number" 531. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>944</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 537, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>945</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 535, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>946</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 539, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 536, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 538, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

## ČEHIĆ, Hamdija, son of Sulejman (48, male)

316. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Mešani in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 10" were identified as being those of Hamdija Čehić. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot to the head. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as those of a grey jacket, a long-sleeved black sweater, and grey corduroy trousers.

317. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Latif, son of Meho (70, male)

318. Latif Čehić, born in 1922, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Latif Čehić, born on 19 April 1922, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". Stenestor court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 142" was identified as that of Latif Čehić by "his next of kin". The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the head.

319. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Latif Čehić was shot and killed in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>950</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 542, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>951</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 542, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>952</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 542, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>953</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 545, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>954</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 547, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 955 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 546, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 956 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 549, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>956</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 549, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>957</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Latif Čehić under "ordinal number" 548. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

#### ČEHIĆ, Miralem, son of Đerim (60, male)

320. The FIS database records that Miralem Čehić, born on 23 August 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. Set According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 171" was identified as that of Miralem Čehić on the basis of a health insurance card found on the deceased. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a result of injuries to both upper legs caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Miralem Čehić wore a black leather jacket, a grey long-sleeved T-shirt, and blue jeans.

321. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Miralem Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>962</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Miralem Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Nail, son of Smajo (61, male)

322. Nail Čehić, born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. He FIS database records that Nail Čehić, born on 21 May 1931, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. He According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". He second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 156" was identified as that of Nail Čehić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. He autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as multiple fractures to his lower jaw and dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nail Čehić wore a blue denim jacket, a grey long-sleeved shirt, and grey flannel trousers.

94

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>958</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 551, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 555, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 554, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>961</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 552, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>962</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>963</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 559, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 558, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 560, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>966</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 562, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>967</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 557, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

323. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>968</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nail Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Nedžad, son of Hakija (31, male)

324. Nedžad Čehić, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. He FIS database records that Nedžad Čehić, born on 17 August 1960, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 038" was identified as that of Nedžad Čehić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 4 October 1996 established the cause of death as multiple fractures to his upper and lower jaws and skull caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nedžad Čehić wore a short grey jacket and blue jeans.

325. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nedžad Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČEHIĆ, Rasim, son of Ahmet (60, male)

326. Rasim Čehić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Rasim Čehić, born on 17 May 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 141" was identified as that of Rasim Čehić on the basis of a SFRY

<sup>969</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 566, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>968</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 564, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 569, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>972</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 568, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>973</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 567, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>974</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 576, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>975</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 574, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>976</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 572, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

passport found on his remains.<sup>977</sup> The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as injury to the thoracic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Rasim Čehić wore a black leather jacket, a white long-sleeved sweater, a multi-coloured shirt, and black flannel trousers.<sup>978</sup>

327. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rasim Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>979</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Rasim Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Sulejman, son of Haso (68, male)

328. Sulejman Čehić, born in 1924, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The entry in the FIS database referred to by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Sulejman Čehić was killed at Biljani school, does not relate to Sulejman Čehić, son of Haso, born in 1924. The Chamber will therefore disregard the FIS database entry in its analysis. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". P82 The autopsy of "Body No. 112", recorded to be that of Sulejman Čehić, carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996, established the cause of death as to the thoracic organs and dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm.

329. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>984</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ČEHIĆ, Suad, son of Ahmo (29, male)

330. Suad Čehić, ICRC number BAZ-102037-02, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in

984 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>977</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 575, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>978</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Rasim Čehić under "ordinal number" 573. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>979</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>980</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 581, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

981 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 583, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 580, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Sulejman Čehić under "ordinal number" 578. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Suad Čehić, born on 26 March 1963, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 125" was identified as that of Suad Čehić, son of Ahmo from Donji Biljani, born on 16 March 1963. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as injuries to the pelvic organs caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Suad Čehić wore a multicoloured cardigan, a white long-sleeved T-shirt, and blue worker's trousers.

331. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 990 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Suad Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČEHIĆ, Teufik, son of Ćasim (20, male)

332. Teufik Čehić, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 991 The FIS database records that Teufik Čehić, born on 12 February 1972, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 992 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 993 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 157" was identified as that of Teufik Čehić, on the basis of a SFRY military booklet found on the deceased. 994 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Teufik Čehić wore a light-brown jacket, a beige shirt, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>995</sup>

<sup>995</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 596, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>985</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 589, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>986</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 587, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 987 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 590, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 988 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 585, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential) The Chamber notes the slight discrepancy between the dates of birth recorded in the court record and in the FIS database.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>989</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Suad Čehić under "ordinal number" 588. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>990</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>991</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 595, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>992</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 594, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 <sup>993</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 592, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 <sup>994</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 593, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

333. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Teufik Čehić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, so well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Teufik Čehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČAJIĆ, Ale, son of Muharem (37, male)

Ale Čajić, BAZ-103957-01, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 997 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 998 The FIS database records that Ale Čajić, born on 9 April 1955, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 999 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1000 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 101" was identified as that of Ale Čajić, on the basis of a gun licence and a driving licence found on the deceased. 1001 The autopsy of Ale Čajić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by the shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ale Čajić wore a blue denim jacket, a blue longsleeved sweater, and brown flannel trousers. 1002

335. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ale Čajić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ale Čajić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Šefko, son of Rašid (55, male)

336. Šefko Avdić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>997</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 603, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>996</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>998</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 600, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>999</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 599, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 605, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1001</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 601, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1002</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Ale Čajić under "ordinal number" 602. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1003</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

5 October 1996. 1004 The FIS database records that Šefko Avdić, born on 6 May 1937, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1005 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1006 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 107" was identified as that of Šefko Avdić. The autopsy of Šefko Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to his head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Šefko Avdić wore a blue worker's tunic, a white sweater, a blue shirt, and blue worker's trousers. 1008

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šefko Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1009 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Šefko Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Abid, son of Crnko (59, male)

Abid Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-103906-02, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State 338. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1011 The FIS database records that Abid Avdić, born on 13 March 1933, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1012 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1013 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 118" was identified as that of Abid Avdić from Donji Biljani, born in 1933. 1014 The autopsy of Abid Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic

<sup>1004</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 612, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1005</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 611, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1006 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 609, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1007 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 607, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential) <sup>1008</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The

Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Šefko Avdić under "ordinal number" 608. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. 1009 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1010</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 616, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1011</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 620, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 618, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 615, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>1014</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 617, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a consequence of an injury to the left lower leg caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Abid Avdić wore a brown leather jacket, a brown shirt, and grey corduroy trousers. <sup>1015</sup>

339. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1016</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Abid Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Abid, son of Muho (58, male)

340. Abid Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-103843-01, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1018 The FIS database records that Abid Avdić, born in 1933, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1019 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1020 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 064" was identified as that of Abid Avdić from Donji Biljani, born on 16 October 1933 on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1021 The autopsy of Abid Avdic's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 15 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Abid Avdić's remains were identified as those of jeans and red leather lace-up shoes. 1022

341. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1023</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Abid Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1023</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1015</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Abid Avdić under "ordinal number" 619. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1016</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 624, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1018</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 622, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1019</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 626, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1020</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 628, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1021</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 625, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>1022</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 623, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

### AVDIĆ, Asim, son of Dedo (64, male)

Asim Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100069-01, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The FIS database records that Asim Avdić, born on 25 May 1928, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1027 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 183" was identified as that of Asim Avdić, son of Dedo, from Donji Biljani. 1028 The autopsy of Asim Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a fractured skull caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Asim Avdić wore a grey, woollen sweater, blue workman's trousers, and brown slippers. 1029

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1030 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asim Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Besim, son of Rasim (35, male)

344. Besim Avdić, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1031 The FIS database records that Besim Avdić, born on 24 April 1967, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1032 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1033 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that

101

<sup>1024</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 634, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1025</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 636, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1026</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 630, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 635, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1028 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 631, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential) <sup>1029</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 632, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1030</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1031</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 643, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 639, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 640, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

the body marked "Body No. 126" was identified as that of Besim Avdić, son of Rasim, born on 24 April 1957, from Donji Biljani. The autopsy of Besim Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Besim Avdić's remains were identified as those of a blue denim jacket, a grey sweater, and a white T-shirt. 1035 The Chamber notes that the missing person reports submitted are inconsistent as regards the year of birth of Besim Avdić. Considering that both the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, and the court report on the post-mortem examination list Besim Avdic's year of birth as "1957", the Chamber finds that Besim Avdić, son of Rasim, was born in the year 1957 rather than 1967.

345. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besim Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1036 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Besim Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Emsud, son of Jusuf (39, male)

Emsud Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-102346-01, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State 346. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1037 The FIS database records that Emsud Avdić, born on 7 February 1953, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1038 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1039 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 049" was identified as that of Emsud Avdić, son of Jusuf, born on 7 February 1953, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1040 The autopsy of Emsud Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Emsud Avdić wore a brown suit jacket, a green sweater, and blue jeans. 1041

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Avdić was shot and killed 347. in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani

102

<sup>1034</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 642, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential) <sup>1035</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 516, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Besim Avdić under "ordinal number" 638. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1036</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 647, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1038</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 645, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1039</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 650, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1040</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 648, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>1041</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 646 Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

on 10 July 1992,<sup>1042</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Emsud Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Enes, son of Ramiz (38, male)

Enes Avdić, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1043 The FIS database records that Enes Avdić, born on 13 September 1953, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1044 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative iudge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1045 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 178" was identified as that of Enes Avdić by members of the deceased's family. 1046 The autopsy of "Body No. 178" carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records "Body No. 178" to be that "Ramiz Avdić, born in 1953." The Chamber considers this to be a clerical error, given that the birth year and last name are consistent with those recorded in the other evidence adduced for Enes Avdić. At the time of his death, Enes Avdić wore a blue denim jacket, blue jeans, and brown leather shoes. 1047

349. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1048</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Enes Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Ermin, son of Osmo (24, male)

350. Ermin Avdić, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Ermin Avdić, born on 3 March 1968, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1050 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 654, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

103

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1042</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1044</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 655, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1045 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 656, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

lo46 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 657, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>1047</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 653, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
1048 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1049</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 660, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1050</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 659, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

"Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1051 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 075" was identified as that of Ermin Avdić through identification by the deceased's sister. 1052 The autopsy of "Body No. 075" carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 15 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the left lower leg caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Ermin Avdić's remains were identified as a black leather jacket, a black shirt, and canvas shoes. 1053

351. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ermin Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Feriz, son of Aziz (65, male)

352. Feriz Avdić, born in 1926, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Feriz Avdić, born on 13 July 1926, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. Sacording to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 095" was identified as that of Feriz Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of "Body No. 095" carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Feriz Avdić wore a brown corduroy jacket, a blue cardigan, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers.

353. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Feriz Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Feriz Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1051</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 663, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1052</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 662, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1053</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 661, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1054</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 671, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1055</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 667, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1056</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 666, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1057</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 668, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1058</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 670, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1059</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

#### AVDIĆ, Fuad, son of Abid (31, male)

Fuad Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-103906-01, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Fuad Avdić, born on 10 June 1961, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1061 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Laniste I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1062 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 059" was identified as that of Fuad Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Fuad Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as a fractured skull caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fuad Avdić wore a brown leather jacket, a navy sweater, and navy trousers. 1064

355. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fuad Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1065 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fuad Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Habir, 1066 son of Feriz (37, male)

Habir Avdić, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1067 The FIS database records that Habir Avdić, born on 5 February 1955, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1068 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1069 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that

105 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1060</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 675, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 676, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1062 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 678, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1063</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 673, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1064 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 674, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1066</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has listed this individual in the Proof of Death Database under the name "Habib Avdić". However, all evidence tendered in support of the allegation that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment record his first name as "Habir". The Chamber thus considers the entry "Habib" to be a clerical error.

<sup>1067</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 681, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1068</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 684, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 680, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

the body marked "Body No. 170" was identified as that of Habir Avdić on the basis of a bank card issued in Habir Avdić's name found on the deceased. The autopsy of Habir Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Habir Avdić wore a black flannel suit jacket, a multi-coloured sweater, and black trousers with braces. 1071

357. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Habir Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1072</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Habir Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Hajrudin, son of Hamdija (32, male)

358. Hajrudin Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-901810-01, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1073 The FIS database records that Hajrudin Avdić, born on 17 August 1959, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1074 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1075 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 008" was identified as that of Hajrudin Avdić by the deceased's wife on the basis of his clothing. 1076 The autopsy of Hajrudin Avdić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be determined, as the body's head was missing and there were no visible signs of injuries to the limbs and bones of the trunk. At the time of his death, Hajrudin Avdić wore a padded, olivegreen jacket, an "Adidas" jersey, and a track suit with a printed emblem. 1077

359. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Avdić died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1078 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992.

<sup>1078</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1070</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 683, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential)
<sup>1071</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 682, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records the victim's year of birth as "1950". Having regard to the identifying information recorded in the other evidence adduced, the Chamber considers this to be a clerical error.
<sup>1072</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). "ordinal number" 689, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1074</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 687, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1075</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 690, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1076</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 688, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1077</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 692, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Notwithstanding the fact that the cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Hakija, son of Hamdo (55, male)

Hakija Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100078-01, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Hakija Avdić, born on 18 May 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1080 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Hakija Avdić, born on 18 May 1937, as having gone missing in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1081 The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 July 1996, whereby he declared dead Hakija Avdić. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Biljani". 1082 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1083 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by judge Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 106" was identified as that of Hakija Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Hakija Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hakija Avdić wore a grey flannel jacket, a white sweater, a chequered shirt, and brown corduroy trousers. 1085 The Chamber notes the discrepancy in the dates of birth recorded in the missing person reports. Given that both the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the ICRC Missing Persons Report record Hakija Avdić's birth year as 1937, the Chamber considers that he was born in that year, rather than 1932 as recorded in the FIS database.

361. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hakija Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hakija Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Hamed (34, male)

362. Ibrahim Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-901151-01, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on

<sup>1086</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

107

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1079</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 697, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1080</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 700, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1081</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 698, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>1082</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 696, Declaration of Death of Hakija Avdić (confidential).
 1083 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 701, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1084</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 699, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1085</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. The FIS database records that Ibrahim Avdić, born on 10 February 1958, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. <sup>1088</sup> The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1089 The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 009" was identified as that of Ibrahim Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Ibrahim Avdić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of a BiH governmental expert team and the investigative judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Ibrahim Avdić wore a grey long-sleeved shirt, a cotton shirt, and blue ieans. 1091

363. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1092</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Ismet, son of Tahir (32, male)

364. Ismet Avdić, born in 1959 in Ključ, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja II" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 November 1996. The FIS database records that Ismet Avdić, born on 28 October 1959, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. It has been submitted by the Defence that Ismet Avdić was a Croatian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1087</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 703, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1088</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 704, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1089</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 705, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1090 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 706, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1091</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 706, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>1092</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1093</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 710, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Report on the exhumation of mass graves between 1995 and 2007 in the municipalities of Banja Luka, Brčko, Bratunac, Gacko, Jajce, Ključ, Kotor Varoš, Prijedor, Sanski Most, Skender Vakuf, Teslić, Višegrad, Vlasenica, and Zvornik (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1094</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 709, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1095</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 708, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

defender. 1096 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia stating that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 1097

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Avdić died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1098</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ismet Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Muharem, son of Hamid (42, male)

366. Muharem Avdić, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1099 The FIS database records that Muharem Avdić, born on 12 March 1950, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1100 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1101 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 099" was identified as that of Muharem Avdić through identification by his "next of kin". 1102 The autopsy of Muharem Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 12 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Muharem Avdić wore a blue worker's shirt, a beige jumper, and grey trousers. 1103

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1104 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muharem Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1096</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 7 "ordinal number" 707; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 1.

1079 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1099</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 712, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 716, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 715, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1102</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 714, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1103</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 717, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1104</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

#### AVDIĆ, Nail, son of Adem (64, male)

Nail Avdić, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Nail Avdić, born on 21 May 1928, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1106 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1107 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 182" was identified as that of Nail Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Nail Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a trauma to the left thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nail Avdić wore a blue suit jacket and a blue workman's overall. 1109

369. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1110 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nail Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Nijaz, son of Osmo (26, male)

Nijaz Avdić, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Nijaz Avdić, born on 4 June 1966, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1112 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1113 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 015" was identified as that of Nijaz Avdić on the basis of an ID card found

110 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1105</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 722, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1106</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 723, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 724, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1108 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 721, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential), <sup>1109</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 719, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1110</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 729, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 726, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1113 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 731, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

on the deceased.<sup>1114</sup> The autopsy of Nijaz Avdić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nijaz Avdić wore a grey T-shirt, grey trousers, and a brown leather jacket.<sup>1115</sup>

371. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1116 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Refik, son of Hamid (27, male)

Refik Avdić, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1117 The FIS database records that Refik Avdić, born on 20 August 1964, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1118 The Prosecution has submitted the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, according to which 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1119 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 074" was identified as that of Refik Avdić from Donji Biljani, born on 20 August 1964. The autopsy of "Body No. 074" carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 15 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Refik Avdić's remains were identified as those of a blue denim jacket, a grey sweater, and white trainers. 1121 The Chamber notes that the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Refik Avdić was exhumed in Crvena Zemlja, while the other documentary evidence submitted records him as having been exhumed from the Lanište I site. The Chamber thus considers the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List to contain a clerical error and relies on the forensic evidence submitted.

373. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Refik Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1122</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1114</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 727, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1115 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 728, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1116</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). "ordinal number" 736, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1118</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 737, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
1119 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 735, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1119</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 735, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1120</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 738, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1121</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 734, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1122</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Refik Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Sejad, 1123 son of Smajo (22, male)

Sejad Avdić, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 374. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1124 The FIS database records that Sejad Avdić, born on 23 February 1970, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1125 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1126 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1127 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 070" was identified as that of Sejad Avdić by the deceased's mother and sister. 1128 The autopsy of Sejad Avdić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 15 November 1996. The cause of death could not be ascertained, as there were no visible injuries to the bones of the trunk and limbs and the body was already in an advanced stage of putrefication. No clothing was found on Sejad Avdić's remains. 1129

375. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sejad Avdić was killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1130 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that his cause of death could not be determined, the Chamber finds that Sejad Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Smail, son of Šerif (46, male)

376. Smail Avdić, born in 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Smail Avdić, born on 7 November 1945, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1123</sup> The Chamber notes the difference in spelling of the first name of Sejad Avdić as regards the Prosecution's entry in the Proof of Death Database and considers it to be a clerical error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1124</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 744, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 741, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1126 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 740, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 745, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1128 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 742, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1128</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 742, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1129</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 746, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1130</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1131</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 750, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1132</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 748, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 163" was identified as that of Smail Avdić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Smail Avdić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the right upper and lower leg, caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death Smail Avdić wore a denim suit jacket, a grey jumper, and blue jeans. The same compiled to the compile of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to the right upper and lower leg, caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death Smail Avdić wore a denim suit jacket, a grey jumper, and blue jeans.

377. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1136 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Smail Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Smail, son of Crnko (42, male)

378. Smail Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100354-01, born in 1949, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1137 The FIS database records that Smail Avdić, born on 19 August 1949, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1138 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1139 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 080" was identified as that of Smail Avdić. 1141 The autopsy of Smail Avdić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Smail Avdić's remains were identified as those of a grey jacket, a white sweater, and brown leather boots. 1142

113

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1133</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 752, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1134</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 753, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1135 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 751, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

1136 Adjudicated Fact 566.

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1138</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 755, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1139 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 756, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1140</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 757, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1141</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 760, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1142</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 761, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

379. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Avdić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1143</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Smail Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BAHTAGIĆ, Enver, son of Ahmo (39, male)

380. Enver Bahtagić, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Krasulje, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja II" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1144 The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. <sup>1145</sup> The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 004" was identified as that of Enver Bahtagić. 1146 The autopsy of Enver Bahtagić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of a BiH governmental expert team, and the investigative judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the right shoulder blade. The body also showed signs of other injuries in the form of fractures to the right upper and lower leg. At the time of his death, Enver Bahtagić wore purple track-suit bottoms. 114'

381. Relying on the court report on the exhumation of the Crvena Zemlja mass grave, the Chamber finds that Enver Bahtagić died on 10 July 1992, rather than 27 May 1992. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber thus finds that Enver Bahtagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1148</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Enver Bahtagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BAJRAMOVIĆ, Ejub, son of Islam (52, male)

382. Ejub Bajramović, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Krasulje, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja II" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1143</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1144</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 765, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1145</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 763, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>1146</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 764, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1147</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 764, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1148</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1149</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 769, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1150 The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 005" was identified as that of Ejub Bajramović. 1151 The autopsy of Ejub Bajramović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of a BiH governmental expert team and the investigative judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Ejub Bajramović wore a brown jumper, a green T-shirt with grey vertical stripes, and brown trousers. 1152

Relying on the court report on the exhumation of the Crvena Zemlja mass grave, the Chamber finds that Ejub Bajramović died on 10 July 1992, rather than 27 May 1992. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber thus finds that Ejub Bajramović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1153 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ejub Bajramović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BAJRIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Ibro (61, male)

384. Ibrahim Bajrić, ICRC number BAZ-101997-02, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Velagići, Ključ, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Ibrahim Bajrić, born on 31 May 1931, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1155 The information recorded in the FIS database is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1156 The Chamber notes the significant discrepancy between the dates of birth as recorded in the in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the ICRC Missing Persons Report. It also notes that the place of disappearance recorded in the ICRC Missing Persons Report is "Biljani". Considering that both the FIS database and the ICRC Missing Persons Report record Ibrahim Bajric's date of birth as 31 May 1931, the Chamber is satisfied that Ibrahim Bajrić, son of Ibro, ICRC number 101997-02, was born in 1931 and disappeared in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1157 The second court record of the post-

<sup>1150</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 767, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1151 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 768, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1152</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 768, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1153</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 773, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 771, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1156</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 772, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1157</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 774, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 155" was identified as that of Ibrahim Bajrić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1158 The autopsy of Ibrahim Bajrić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ibrahim Bajrić wore a grey denim jacket, a blue jumper, and grey flannel trousers. 1159

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Bajrić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1160 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Bajrić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BALAGIĆ, Abid, son of Meho (71, male)

Abid Balagić, born in 1921, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1161 The FIS database records that Abid Balagić, born on 12 May 1921, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1162 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1163 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 097" was identified as that of Abid Balagić. 1164 The autopsy of Abid Balagić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity and pelvic organs caused by shots from a firearm. 1165

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Balagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1166 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Abid Balagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1166</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1158</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 775, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1159 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 776, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1160</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 779, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 780, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1163</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 783, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1164</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 781, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>1165</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 782, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

### BALAGIĆ, Avdo, son of Lutfija (28, male)

Avdo Balagić, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1167 The FIS database records that Avdo Balagić, born on 20 February 1964, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1168 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1169 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1170 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 051" was identified as that of Avdo Balagić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1171 The autopsy of Avdo Balagić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a shot wound to the head. Remnants of clothing found on Avdo Balagić's remains were identified as those of a black leather jacket. 1172

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Avdo Balagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1173 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Avdo Balagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BALAGIĆ, Fikret, son of Arif (52, male)

Fikret Balagić, son of Atif, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1174 The FIS database records that Fikret Balagić, born on 17 April 1940, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1175 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1176 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 102" was identified as that of Fikret Balagić on the basis of an ID card

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1167</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 787, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 791, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 1169 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 789, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved

Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 790, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1171 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 786, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1172</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 788, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 799, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 798, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 795, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

and a driving licence found on his remains. 1177 The autopsy of Avdo Balagić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as shot wounds to the thoracic cavity and dorsal vertebrae. At the time of his death, Fikret Balagić wore a brown, knitted jacket and brown flannel trousers. 1178

391. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Balagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1179 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fikret Balagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BALAGIĆ, Vehbija, son of Mustafa (55, male)

392. Vehbija Balagić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1180</sup> The FIS database records that Vehbija Balagić, born on 13 May 1937, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1181 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1182 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 067" was identified as that of Vehbija Balagić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1183 The autopsy of "Body No. 067" was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a shot wound to the head. At the time of his death, "Body No. 067" wore a dark salt and pepper jacket, a multicoloured V-neck sweater, a red shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 1184 The Chamber notes that the autopsy report registers the identity of "Body No. 067" as "Asim Alagic". Given that both the court record of the post-mortem examination compiled on site and the autopsy report are consistent as regards the cause of death and the clothing worn by the deceased, the Chamber finds that the name of "Asim Alagic" entered in the autopsy report is a clerical error and should instead read "Vehbija Balagić".

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Balagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1185 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on

<sup>1185</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

118

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1177</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 797, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1178 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Fikret Balagić under "ordinal number" 794. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1179</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 805, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 806, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 801, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 803, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>1184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 804, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Balagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTONJIĆ, Ćamil, son of Sulejman (62, male)

Camil Botonjić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1186 The FIS database records that Ćamil Botonjić, born on 18 September 1930, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1187 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1188 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 025" was identified as that of Camil Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1189 The autopsy of Camil Botonjić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996, established the cause of death as shot wounds to the thoracic cavity and the left upper arm. At the time of his death, Ćamil Botonjić wore a white shirt and blue workman's trousers. 1 190

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Camil Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1191 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Camil Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BOTONJIĆ, Ćazim, son of Ale (54, male)

Ćazim Botonjić, born in 1938, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani, Ključ, on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from an individual grave in the hamlet of Ćehići in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 13" were identified as being those of Ćazim Botonjić on

<sup>1186</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 809, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 811, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 813, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
<sup>1189</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 812, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1190</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 808, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1191</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 816, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1193</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 815, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1996. The autopsy established that Ćazim Botonjić sustained multiple fractures to the dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ćazim Botonjić wore a grey blazer and sweater, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1195

397. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ćazim Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that Ćazim Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Aiz, son of Ibro (60, male)

398. Aiz Botonjić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Aiz Botonjić, born on 1 June 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1197 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1198 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 072" was identified as that of Aiz Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1199 The autopsy of Aiz Botonjić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996, established the cause of death as a shot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Aiz Botonjić wore a grey flannel jacket, a white shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 1200

399. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aiz Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1201</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Aiz Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Džafer, son of Rifet (18, male)

400. Džafer Botonjić, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

1201 Adjudicated Fact 566.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1194</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 815, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 815, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1196</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 820, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1197</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 818, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 822, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1199</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 823, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1200</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 821, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

5 October 1996. 1202 The FIS database records that Džafer Botonjić, born on 3 January 1974, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1203 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1204 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1205 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 122" was identified as that of Džafer Botonjić through identification by "his next of kin". 1206 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Džafer Botonjić wore a purple cardigan, a grey shirt, and blue jeans. 1207. The Chamber has also received evidence that "Džafet Botonjić", son of Rifet, born on 3 or 9 January 1974, was a member of the Kliuč TO from 6 April 1992 to 10 July 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, "Džafet Botonjić" was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 10 July 1992 in Donji Biljani." The Chamber notes the difference in the spelling of Džafer Botonjić's name, as well as the different date of birth recorded in the ministry's records.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Džafer Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH Ministry for War Veterans record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time, place and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Džafer Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Ejub, son of Musa (60, male)

402. Ejub Botonjić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1209 The FIS database records that Ejub Botonjić, born on 27 February 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1210 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known

<sup>1202</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 827, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1203</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 830, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1204 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 828, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 825, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1206</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 826, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). (1207 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Džafer Botonjić under "ordinal number" 831. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1208</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 40 (confidential).

<sup>1209</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 834, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1210</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 836, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

as "Lanište I". 1211 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 162" was identified as that of Ejub Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1212 The autopsy of Ejub Botonjić's body carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996, established that his death was caused by "a trauma to the thoracic cavity and the dorsal vertebrae" caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ejub Botonjić wore a blue suit jacket, a blue shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1213

403. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ejub Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Fadil, son of Ragib (24, male)

Fadil Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-103935-01, born in 1968, in Biljani, Ključ, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1214 The FIS database records that Fadil Botonjić, born on 27 January 1968, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1215 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1217 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 127" was identified as that of Fadil Botonjić through identification by the deceased's sister. <sup>1218</sup> The autopsy of Fadil Botonjić's body, carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996, established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fadil Botonjić wore a blue denim jacket, a blue sweater, and blue jeans. 1219

405. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1220 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on

1220 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1211</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 833, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1212 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 837, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

1213 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 838, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 840, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 843, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 842, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1217</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 844, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1218 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 845, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1219</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has erroneously uploaded another copy of the court report on the exhumation of the Lanište I site was erroneously uploaded under the description "Autopsy Report Lanište I" under "ordinal number" 841. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fadil Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTONJIĆ, Feriz, son of Omer (53, male)

Feriz Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-100016-01, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Feriz Botonjić, born on 3 August 1939, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1222 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1223 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1224 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 026" was identified as that of Feriz Botonjić on the basis of his clothing by a nephew of the deceased. 1225 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Feriz Botonjić wore a blue workman's jacket, a grey jumper with white and blue stripes, and grey canvas trousers. 1226

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Feriz Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1227 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Feriz Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Hamdija, son of Iso (53, male)

Hamdija Botonjić, ICRC Number BAZ-102916-01, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja II" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1228 The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried pursuant to information

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1221</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 848, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 850, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1223</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 852, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 853, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1225 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 849, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>1226</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 854, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). 1227 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1228</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 858, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1229 The court record of the postmortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 6 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 002" was identified as that of Hamdija Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1230 The autopsy of Hamdija Botonjić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of BiH governmental expert team, and the investigative judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. The body also showed signs of other injuries in the form of fractures caused by gunshots to the right upper arm. At the time of his death, Hamdija Botonjić wore blue jeans, a white chequered shirt, and a grey velvet jacket. 1231

409. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Botonjić was shot and killed on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1232</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Hamed, son of Hakija (32, male)

Hamed Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-103938-01, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State 410. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1233 The FIS database records that Hamed Botonjić, born on 1 March 1960, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1236 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 128" was identified as that of Hamed Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1237 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hamed Botonjić wore a grey leather jacket, a blue

<sup>1229</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 857, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1230 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 856, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena

Zemlja II (confidential).

1231 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 856, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential). <sup>1232</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 863, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1234</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 865, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1235</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 860, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1236</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 862, Court Record of Exhumation Laniste I

<sup>1237</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 861, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

wool V-neck sweater, a multi-coloured shirt, a white T-shirt, grey flannel trousers and black shoes. 1238

411. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamed Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1239 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamed Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTONJIĆ, Hamid, son of Ćamil (30, male)

- 412. Hamid Botonjić, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1240 The FIS database records that Hamid Botonjić, born on 22 June 1962, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1241 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1242 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 138" was identified as that of Hamid Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1243 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the left thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hamid Botonjić wore a blue flannel jacket, a white long-sleeved T-shirt, and red track-suit bottoms. 1244
- 413. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamid Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BOTONJIĆ, Hikmet, son of Husnija (26, male)

414. Hikmet Botonjić, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1238</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hamed Botonjić under "ordinal number" 864. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1239</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1240</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 869, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1241</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 868, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 870, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 873, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1244</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hamid Botonjić under "ordinal number" 871. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

5 October 1996. 1245 The FIS database records that Hikmet Botonjić, born on 23 May 1966, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1246 While the ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Hikmet Botonjić was born on 2 March 1966, the information recorded in the report is otherwise consistent with the data in both the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the FIS database. 1247 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1248 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 108" was identified as that of Hikmet Botonjić on the basis of a driving licence issued in his name found on the deceased. 1249 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hikmet Botonjić wore a black leather jacket, a black T-shirt, blue jeans, and black rubber miner's boots. 1250

415. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hikmet Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1251 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hikmet Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Hilmo, son of Redžo (59, male)

416. Hilmo Botonjić, born on 1 May 1933, is listed in the FIS database as having died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List relied upon by the Prosecution, does not list any individual by the name of "Hilmo Botonjić, son of Redžo". 1253 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1254 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 041" was identified as that of Hilmo Botoniić on the basis of an ID card found on the

126 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1245</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 881, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1246</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 879, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1247 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 880, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved

Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1248</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 877, Court Record of Exhumation Laniste I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1249</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 878, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1250</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hikmet Botonjić under "ordinal number" 876. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1251</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 886, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1253 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 884, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 888, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

remains. 1255 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the abdomen and thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hilmo Botonjić wore a brown suit jacket, a grey shirt, and blue trousers. 1256

417. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1257 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Husein, son of Zejnil (50, male)

Husein Botonjić, born in 1942 in Biljani, Ključ, is listed in the BiH State Commission for 418. Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1258 The FIS database records that Husein Botonjić, born on 25 March 1942, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1259 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1260 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 068" was identified as that of Husein Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Husein Botonjić wore a cotton jacket, a brown sweater, a red and brown shirt, and blue jeans. 1262

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1263</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Husein Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

1263 Adjudicated Fact 566.

127

<sup>1255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 885, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 883, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1258</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 892, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 891, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1260 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 890, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 894, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>1262</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 893, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

#### BOTONJIĆ, Muharem, son of Huso (28, male)

420. Muharem Botonjić, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1264 The FIS database records that Muharem Botonjić, born on 29 June 1964, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1265 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1266 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 056" was identified as that of Muharem Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1267 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Muharem Botonjić wore a green jacket, a white short-sleeved T-shirt, and blue jeans. 1268

421. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1269</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muharem Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Mujo, son of Muharem (62, male)

422. Mujo Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-102074-01, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1270 The FIS database records that Mujo Botonjić, born on 31 January 1930, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1271 While the ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Mujo Botonjić was born on 20 May 1930, his father's name, ICRC number, date and place of disappearance are otherwise consistent with the information recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and FIS database. 1272 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were

128

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1264</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 901, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1265</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 900, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 897, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1267 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 899, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 898, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1269</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1270</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 906, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1271</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 904, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1272</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 908, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1273 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 183" was identified as that of Mujo Botonjić, born on 20 May 1930 in Donji Biljani. 1274 The autopsy of the remains of Mujo Botonjić was carried out on 13 November 1996 by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine. 1275 The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the thorax and right upper arm. At the time of his death, Mujo Botonjić wore a grey jacket, a coloured shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1276

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mujo Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1277 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mujo Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTONJIĆ, Nail, son of Abid (59, male)

Nail Botonjić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1278 The FIS database records that Nail Botonjić, born on 10 August 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1279 The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1280 The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 010" was identified as that of Nail Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1281 The autopsy of Nail Botonjić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of a BiH governmental expert team, and the investigative

<sup>1273</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 909, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1274 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 907, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 910, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 910, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report states that the remains of Mujo Botonjić were labelled as "Body No. 185", whereas the Court Record of Post-mortem Examination states that the remains marked "Body No. 183" were identified as those of Mujo Botonjić. Given that the latter report does not include any entry for remains marked "Body No. 185" but two entries marked "Body No. 183", and that both the cause of death and the clothing found on the remains of Mujo Botonjić are consistent in the two documents, the Chamber considers the difference in number to be a clerical error. <sup>1277</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1278</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 915, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1279</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 914, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 913, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 912, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Nail Botonjić wore a brown jacket, a white long-sleeved T-shirt, a blue short-sleeved chequered shirt, and grey trousers. 1282

425. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1283</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nail Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Nail, son of Redžo (65, male)

426. Nail Botonjić, born in 1927, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1284 The FIS database records that Nail Botonjić, born on 24 March 1927, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1285 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1286 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 003" was identified as that of Nail Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1287 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nail Botonjić wore a grey workman's jacket, a blue workman's shirt, and blue jeans. 1288

427. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1289</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nail Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BOTONJIĆ, Nijaz, son of Mujo (26, male)

428. Nijaz Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-102074-02, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on

rajudicated ract 500

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1282</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 912, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1283</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1284</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 920, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1285</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 918, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 921, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 919, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 922, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1289</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1290 The FIS database records that Nijaz Botonjić, born on 7 October 1965, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1291 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1292 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1293 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 176" was identified as that of Nijaz Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1294 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and dorsal vertebrae caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nijaz Botonjić wore a grey jacket, a grey short-sleeved shirt, and grey trousers. 1295

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1296 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTONJIĆ, Omer, son of Hamid (61, male)

430. Omer Botonjić, born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1297 The FIS database records that Omer Botonjić, born on 10 January 1931, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1298 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1299 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 180" was identified as that of Omer Botonjić on the basis of an ID card

<sup>1290</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 929, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1291</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 927, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>1292</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 930, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved

Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1293</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 928, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1294 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 925, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1295</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 926, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1296</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1297</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 937, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1298</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 935, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 936, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

found on the deceased. 1300 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a direct consequence of traumata to the head, thoracic cavity and abdomen caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Omer Botonjić wore a grey leather jacket, a navy shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1301

431. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1302</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Omer Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Ramiz, son of Omer (67, male)

432. Ramiz Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-100850-03, born in 1927, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Ramiz Botonjić, born on 15 May 1925, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1304 The ICRC Missing Persons List also records Ramiz Botonjić's birth year as "1925" and lists the place of his disappearance as "Botonjić, Ključ". The information as regards his father's name, ICRC number and the date of his disappearance, is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the FIS database. 1305 The Chamber thus finds that Ramiz Botonjić was born in 1925. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1306 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 030" was identified as that of Ramiz Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1307 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 1308

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 944, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1300</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 933, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

1301 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 934, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 940, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>1305</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 941, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1306</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 942, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1307 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 919, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has erroneously uploaded another copy of the court report on the exhumation of the Lanište I under the description "Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I" under "ordinal number" 943. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1308</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 945, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1309</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Rifet, son of Pašo (55, male)

434. Rifet Botonjić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1310 The FIS database records that Rifet Botonjić, born on 27 August 1936, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1311 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1312 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 009" was identified as that of Rifet Botoniić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1313 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as a result of multiple fractures of the left lower leg caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Rifet Botonjić wore a brown corduroy jacket, a brown sweater, a blue shirt, and flannel trousers. 1314 The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 25 September 1996, whereby he declared dead Rifet Botonjić. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Donji Biljani". 1315

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rifet Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1316 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Rifet Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Sabahudin, son of Ramiz (25, male)

Sabahudin Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-100850-01, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in

Adjudicated Fact 566.

1310 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 953, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

1316 Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 947, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1312 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 948, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1313</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 951, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1314</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 949, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1315</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 950, Declaration of Death of Rifet Botonjić (confidential).

the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1317 The FIS database records that Sabahudin Botonjić, born on 9 February 1967, died on 10 July 1992 in Biliani Donji, Ključ. 1318 The ICRC Missing Persons list states that Sabahudin Botonjić went missing on 10 July 1992 in Botonjić, Ključ. 1319 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1320 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 116" was identified as that of Sabahudin Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1321 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Sabahudin Botonjić wore a brown leather jacket, a purple sweater, and blue jeans. 1322 The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 12 August 1996, whereby he declared dead Sabahudin Botonjić. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Donji Biljani". 1323

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1324</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Sabrija, son of Sabit (26, male)

Sabrija Botonjić, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1325 The FIS database records that Sabrija Botonjić, born on 12 June 1966, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1326 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of

<sup>1317</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 958, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1318</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 955, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1319 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 956, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that the ICRC Missing Persons Report records Sabahudin Botonjić's date of birth as "9 October 1967" rather than "9 February 1967", as listed in the Federal Institute of Statistics Database. The Chamber considered the difference in date to be negligible.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 959, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1321</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 961, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1322</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The

Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Sabahudin Botonjić under "ordinal number" 957. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 960, Declaration of Death of Sabahudin Botonjić (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 965, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1326</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 968, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1327 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 114" was identified as that of Sabrija Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1328 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Sabrija Botonjić wore a blue track-suit top, a multi-coloured T-shirt, and blue ieans. 1329

439. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabrija Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Sadik, son of Dedo (31, male)

Sadik Botonjić, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1330 The FIS database records that Sadik Botonjić, born on 23 November 1961, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1331 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1332 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 104" was identified as that of Sadik Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1333 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Sadik Botonjić wore a short worker's jacket, a blue denim jacket, a blue short-sleeved T-shirt, black jeans, blue overalls, and black rubber boots. 1334

441. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sadik Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1335 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on

135

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1327</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 966, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1328</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 967, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1329 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Sabrija Botonjić under "ordinal number" 964. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1330</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 971, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1331</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 974, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1332 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 973, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>1333</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 975, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1334</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Sadik Botonjić under "ordinal number" 976. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1335</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sadik Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Saim, son of Aiz (25, male)

Saim Botonjić, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1336</sup> The FIS database records that Saim Botonjić, born on 25 March 1967, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1337 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1338 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that "Body No. 89" was identified as that of Saim Botonjić. 1339 In support of the submission in the Proof of Death Database, the Prosecution refers the Chamber to the second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I". The report states that "Body No. 89" was identified as that of "Muharem Kurubas". Saim Botonjić is not listed in the report. The Chamber considers this to be a clerical error, as the original BCS report lists "Body No. 89" as that of Saim Botonjić. 1340 However, as the report is not translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal, the Chamber is unable to rely on the report in its original version. The basis on which the deceased has been identified is thus unknown. The autopsy report of the bodies exhumed from the Lanište I mass grave states that the autopsy of "Body No. 89" was performed on 6 November 1996 and is that of "Saim Botonjić", born in 1967. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Saim Botonjić's body were those of a blue denim jacket and black shoes. 1341

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Saim Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1342</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Saim Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BOTONJIĆ, Suad, son of Hilmo (26, male)

The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 6 June 1996. According to the report, Suad Botonjić, born in 1976, was last seen in Biljani on 10 July 1992

<sup>1342</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1336</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 982, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 980, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1338 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 981, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1339</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 979, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

1340 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 981, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1341</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Saim Botonjić under "ordinal number" 978. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

wearing a blue work uniform. 1343 Suad Botonjić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Suad Botonjić, born on 14 September 1963, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1345 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1346 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 123" was identified as that of Suad Botonjić, born on 14 September 1965, on the basis of an ID card found on his remains.<sup>1347</sup> The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Suad Botonjić wore grey flannel trousers, a blue worker's jacket, a chequered shirt, and blue work overalls. Based on the date of birth recorded on the ID card found on the deceased, the Chamber finds that Suad Botonjić was born in 1965. The Chamber has also received evidence that Suad Botonjić, son of Hilmo, born on 14 September 1969 or 1963, was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Suad Botonjić was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 10 July 1992 in Donji Biljani." <sup>1349</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO up until a date prior to the alleged incident. It also records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Suad Botonjić was killed at Biljani, as charged in the Indictment.

# BOTONJIĆ, Sulejman, son of Ćamil (26, male)

Suleiman Botonjić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 446. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1350 The FIS database records that Suleiman Botonjić, born on 28 August 1965, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1351 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge

<sup>1343</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 986, Police Missing Persons Report, Botonjić, Suad

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1344 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 985, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 990, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1346 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 991, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1347 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 988, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1348</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Suad Botonjić under "ordinal number" 987. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1349 1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 43 (confidential).

<sup>1350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 998, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 996, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1352 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 085" was identified as that of Sulejman Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1353 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the left thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Sulejman Botonjić's remains were identified as a grey flannel jacket, and a navy sweater. 1354

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1355</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biliani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Vehbija, son of Latif (47, male)

448. Vehbija Botonjić, born in 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1356 The FIS database records that Vehbija Botonjić, born on 21 May 1945, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1357 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1358 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 158" was identified as that of Vehbija Botonjić. 1359 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and dorsal vertebrae caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Vehbija Botonjić wore a light brown shirt, a blue jumper, and grey flannel trousers. 1360

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1361 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber

<sup>1361</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1352</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 995, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1353 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 993, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1354 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 994, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1356</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1000, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1001, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1358 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1004, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1003, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1005, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BOTONJIĆ, Zijad, son of Muho (39, male)

Zijad Botonjić, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 450. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1362 The FIS database records that Zijad Botonjić, born on 14 April 1953, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1363 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1364 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 120" was identified as that of Zijad Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1365 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established that Zijad Botonjić died of an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Zijad Botonjić wore a blue denim jacket, a white shirt, blue jeans, and a blue track-suit top. 1366

451. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1367 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zijad Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BOTONJIĆ, Zuhdija, son of Mehmed (59, male)

452. Zuhdija Botonjić, ICRC number BAZ-200599-03, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Zuhdija Botonjić, born on 17 November 1933, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were

139

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1362</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1008, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1363</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1011, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1364 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1007, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1365</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1012, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

I (confidential). <sup>1366</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Zijad Botonjić under "ordinal number" 1009. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1367</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1020, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1369</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1018, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1370 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 039" was identified as that of Zuhdija Botonjić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. <sup>1371</sup> The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established that Zuhdija Botonjić died of a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Zuhdija Botonjić wore a grey flannel suit jacket, a grey sweater, and jeans. 1372

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zuhdija Botonjić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1373 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zuhdija Botonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## CRNALIĆ, <sup>1374</sup> Mesud, son of Fejzo (39, male)

Mesud Crnalić, born in 1953 in Donja Sanica, Ključ, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Donja Sanica, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mesud Crnslić, went missing on 10 July 1992 in Biljani. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1377 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 117" was identified as that of Mesud Crnalić by "his next of kin". 1378 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, he wore a grey denim shirt, a jumper with green stripes, and cream-coloured trousers. 1379

<sup>1370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1017, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1371 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1015, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1016, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has listed this individual under the last name "Crnolic". However, the documentation adduced for this person refers to "Mesud Crnalic". The Chamber thus considers the difference in

spelling to be a clerical error.

1375 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1024, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the list records his name as "Crnalic" rather than "Crnolić".

<sup>1376</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1025, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1377</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1027, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>1378</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1022, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1379</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Mesud Crnalić under "ordinal number" 1023. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

455. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Crnalić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mesud Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽAFERAGIĆ, Abid, son of Arif (28, male)

456. Abid Džaferagić, born on 2 September 1963, is recorded in the FIS database as having died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. <sup>1381</sup> The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court on 6 November 1996. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 6 November 1996. <sup>1382</sup> The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Osmanovići in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 20" were identified as being those of Abid Džaferagić, son of Osman, born on 2 September 1963 <sup>1383</sup> The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1996. The autopsy established that Abid Džaferagić sustained multiple fractures of the skull. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a green round-neck sweater. <sup>1384</sup>

457. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. The Chamber is, however, unable to find that Abid Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFERAGIĆ, Ahmet, son of Hakija (37, male)

458. Ahmet Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-104503-01, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the information that Ahmet Džaferagić went missing in Biljani on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative

1381 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1029, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

(confidential). <sup>1382</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1030, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1384</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1030, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1385</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1038, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1386</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1033, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1387</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1034, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1380</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1383</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1030, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential). The Chamber notes that Abid Džaferagić's father's name is recorded as "Osman", rather than "Arif" as recorded in the Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 77" was identified as that of Ahmet Džaferagić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1388 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ahmet Džaferagić wore a red and white jumper, blue jeans, and white trainers. 1389

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1350</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFERAGIĆ, Almir, son of Šemso (4, male)

Almir Džaferagić, born in 1988, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1391 The FIS database records that Almir Džaferagić, born on 25 May 1988, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1392 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1393 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 188" was identified as that of Almir Džaferagić by the deceased's father. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established that Almir Džaferagić's death was caused by injuries to the right upper and lower arm. The injuries were caused by shots from a firearm. 1395

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almir Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Almir Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### Džaferagić, Amira, daughter of Šemso (4 months old, female)

462. Amira Džaferagić, born in 1992, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>1388</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1035, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1389</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1036, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1390</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1391</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1041, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1392</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1043, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1393 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1040, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1394</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1045, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1395</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1042, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

5 October 1996. 1396 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1397 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 172" was identified by her father as being that of Amira Džaferagić, born on 29 February 1992. 1398 Her body was found at the very bottom of the mass grave. 1399 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established that Amira Džaferagić died as a result of a fractured skull caused by a shot from a firearm. <sup>1400</sup> The Chamber notes that the autopsy report states that "Body No. 172" was that of a male child. Considering the positive identification of the remains, as well as the identity of the remains registered in the autopsy report, the Chamber is satisfied that the remains are those of Amira Džaferagić.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Amira Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Amira Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFERAGIĆ, Besima, daughter of Rasim (30, female)

464. Besima Džaferagić, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1401 The FIS database records that Besima Džaferagić, born on 1 April 1962, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1403 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 143" was identified as that of Besima Džaferagić. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as a fractured skull caused by a shot from a firearm. 1405

<sup>1396</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1050, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1397</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1049, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1398 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1047, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

1399 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1049, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1400 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1048, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1401</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1052, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1403 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1056, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1404</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1053, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1405</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Besima Džaferagić under "ordinal number" 1055. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

465. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besima Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Besima Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# **DŽAFERAGIĆ, Hamdija son of Musa (60, male)**

Hamdija Džaferagić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing 466. Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1406 The FIS database records that Hamdija Džaferagić, born on 9 June 1932, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1407 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1408 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 159" was identified as that of Hamdija Džaferagić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1409 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established that Hamdija Džaferagić died of an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hamdija Džaferagić wore a grey suit jacket, a grey shirt, and blue workman's trousers. 1410 The Chamber has also received evidence that Hamdija Džaferagić, son of Musa, born on 5 June or 15 July 1932 was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 10 July 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Hamdija Džaferagić was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 10 July 1992 in Donji Biljani." The Chamber notes that neither of the dates of birth referenced in the register of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans match the date of birth recorded for Hamdija Džaferagić in the FIS database. Given, however, that the year of birth is recorded as "1932" in all databases relied on in relation to this individual, the Chamber is satisfied that the information concerns the same person.

467. Based on the evidence presented, and relying on the BiH Ministry of War Veterans records and the FIS database, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Džaferagić was killed at Biljani, as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFERAGIĆ, Mehmed, son of Muho (77, male)

468. Mehmed Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-102872-01, born in 1914, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1406</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1062, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1407</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1061, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1408</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1059, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1409</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1063, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1410</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1058, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1411</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 24 (confidential).

the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1412 The FIS database records that Mehmed Džaferagić, born on 10 October 1914, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1413 While the ICRC Missing Persons Report records the day and month of birth for Mehmed Džaferagić as 11 August 1914, it is otherwise consistent with the information that Mehmed Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-102872-01, went missing in Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1414 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1415 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 154" was identified as that of Mehmed Džaferagić, son of Muho, born on 11 August 1914, by "his next of kin". 1416 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the left leg caused by a shot from a firearm. 1417

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1418 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFERAGIĆ, Nail, son of Mehmed (40, male)

Nail Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-102872-02, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1420 In the Proof of Death Database, the body marked "Body No. 136" was identified as that of Nail Džaferagić. However, the Chamber notes that the second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that "Body No. 136" is the body

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1412</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1066, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1065, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1414</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1069, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1415</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1068, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1416 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1067, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1417</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1071, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1418</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1419</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1073, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1074, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 1074, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential); 1076, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

of an "unidentified young man". <sup>1422</sup> The autopsy report for the bodies exhumed at "Lanište I" also states that "Body No. 136" is that of an unidentified young male, approximately 170 cm tall. <sup>1423</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to rely on either report in relation to the Nail Džaferagić.

471. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Džaferagić went missing in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DŽAFERAGIĆ**, Safet, son of Arif (36, male)

Safet Džaferagić, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1424 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Safet Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-101385-01, born on 3 September 1955, went missing in Biljani, Ključ on 10 July 1992. This information is consistent with the FIS database. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1427 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 020" was identified as that of Safet Džaferagić on the basis of a passport and personal ID card found on the deceased. 1428 The autopsy of Safet Džaferagić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The remains did not bear any visible sign of injury to the bones of the trunk and limbs, and the cause of death could not be ascertained. Remnants of clothing found on Safet Džaferagić's remains were identified as a black leather jacket, a jumper, and a shirt. 1429

473. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Džaferagić died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1430 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that Safet Džaferagić's cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

146

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1422</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1075, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1423</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for "Body No. 136" under "ordinal number" 1076. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1424</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1080, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1425</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1082, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1426</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1081, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1427</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1084, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1428</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1079, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

 <sup>1429</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1078, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
 1430 Adjudicated Fact 566.

### DŽAFERAGIĆ, Vehbija, son of Daut (29, male)

Vehbija Džaferagić, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1431 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Vehbija Džaferagić, ICRC number BAZ-102758-01, born on 29 November 1962, went missing in Donji Biljani, Ključ on 10 July 1992. 1432 While the FIS database records a different day and month of birth for Vehbija Džaferagić, the other recorded information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1433 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1434 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 031" was identified as that of Vehbija Džaferagić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1435 The autopsy of Vehbija Džaferagić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Vehbija Džaferagić wore a blue denim jacket, blue jeans, and a grey Tshirt. 1436

475. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Džaferagić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1437 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Vehbija Džaferagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DERVIŠEVIĆ, Aiz, son of Huso (19, male)

Aiz Dervišević, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1438 The FIS database records that Ajiz Dervišević born on 28 August 1972, died on 10 July 1992 in Biljani Donji, Ključ. 1439 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known

147

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1431</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1086, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1432</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1089, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1088, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1434 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1091, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1435 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1087, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1436</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1090, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). 1437 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1438</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1099, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1098, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

as "Lanište I". 1440 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 007" was identified as that of Aiz Dervišević on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1441 The autopsy of Aiz Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The remains did not display visible signs of injury to the bones of the trunk and limbs. Possible injuries to organs could not be established due to the advanced stage of putrefaction of the body. Thus, the cause of death could not be ascertained. Remnants of clothing found on Aiz Dervišević's remains were identified as those of blue jeans and a blue T-shirt. 1442

477. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aiz Dervišević died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1443 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that Aiz Dervišević's cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DERVIŠEVIĆ, Husein, son of Huso (32, male)

Husein Dervišević, ICRC number BAZ-104470-01, born in 1959 in Gornji Hadžići, Ključ, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1444 The FIS database records that Husein Dervišević, born on 13 August 1951, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1445 The Chamber notes the discrepancy in the recorded date of birth between the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the FIS database. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1446 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 004" was identified as that of Husein Dervišević on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The ID card records his date of birth as 13 August 1959. 1447 The autopsy of Husein Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as injuries to both upper legs caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Husein Dervišević wore a blue denim shirt, a chequered shirt, a brown track suit, and white trainers. 1448

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1440</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1096, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1441 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1094, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1442</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1095, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records Aiz Dervišević's name as "Aziz Dervišević". The Chamber considers this to be a clerical error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1443</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1444</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1103, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1445</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1105, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1446</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1106, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1447</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1101, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1448</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1102, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Dervišević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1449 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Husein Dervišević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DERVIŠEVIĆ, Omer, son of Feto<sup>1450</sup> (36, male)

Omer Dervišević, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1451 The FIS database records that Omer Dervišević, son of Feto, born on 9 November 1964, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1453 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 079" was identified as that of Omer Dervišević, son of Feto, born on 9 November 1964. The autopsy of Omer Dervišević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Żujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Omer Dervišević wore a multi-coloured sweater and blue jeans. 1455

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Dervišević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1456 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Omer Dervišević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOŠEN, Mato, son of Karlo (59, male)

Mato Došen, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 482. Persons List as having gone missing in an unspecified location in the municipality of Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site

<sup>1449</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1450</sup> The Chamber notes that Omer Dervišević's father's name is recorded as "Feto", "Feta", and "Fata" respectively in the material presented in support of the allegation that Omer Dervišević was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber considers these to be three variants of the same name and is satisfied that the information provided concerns the same individual.

1456 Adjudicated Fact 566.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

149

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1109, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1113, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1453</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1112, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1110, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1455</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1108, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

"Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1457 The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1458 The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 001" was identified as that of Mato Došen, born on 23 February 1933, by the deceased's son. 1459 The autopsy of Mato Došen's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of BiH governmental expert team and the investigative judge Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the thorax. Remnants of clothing found on his remains were identified as those of a brown cardigan, a white shirt, and leather moccasins. 1460

483. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular, relying on the court record of exhumation of the Crvena Zemlja grave site, the Chamber finds that Mato Došen was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1461</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mato Došen was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **DOMAZET, Asim, son of Hamed (44, male)**

484. Asim Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-100084-02, born in 1948, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 6 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 014" was identified as that of Asim Domazet, born on 12 April 1948, based on an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Asim Domazet's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1457</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1118, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1458</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1117, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1459</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1116, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1460</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1122, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1461</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1462</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1121, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons. Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1463</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1120, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1464</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1122, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of a BiH governmental expert team and the investigative judge Đemal Botonjić. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Clothing found on his remains was identified as a grey jumper and a chequered shirt. <sup>1465</sup>

485. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1466 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asim Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DOMAZET, Asmir, son of Hamdija (22, male)**

486. Asmir Domazet, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1467 The FIS database records that Asmir Domazet, born on 27 September 1969 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1468 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1469 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 061" was identified as that of Asmir Domazet through identification by his next of kin. 1470 The autopsy of Asmir Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. He also suffered a broken leg. At the time of his death, Asmir Domazet wore a grey sweater and blue jeans. 1471

487. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asmir Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1472</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asmir Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1465</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1116, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1466</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1467</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1125, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1468</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1128, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1469</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1129, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1470</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1124, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1471</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1126, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1472</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

#### **DOMAZET, Derviš, son of Ibrahim (59, male)**

Derviš Domazet, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1473 The FIS database records that Derviš Domazet, born on 15 October 1932 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1474 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1475 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 073" was identified as that of Derviš Domazet on the basis of a health card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Derviš Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Derviš Domazet wore a grey jacket, a white shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 1477

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Derviš Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1478</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Derviš Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Fadil, son of Ahmo (46, male)

490. Fadil Domazet, born in 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1479 The FIS database records that Fadil Domazet, born on 6 May 1946 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1480 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1481 The court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 055" was identified as that of Fadil Domazet on the basis of an ID card

152

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1473</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1131, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1135, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1475 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1132, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1476 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1136, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1477</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1134, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1478</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1479</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1142, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1139, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1140, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

found on the deceased. 1482 The autopsy of Fadil Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the dorsal vertebrae caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fadil Domazet wore a blue denim jacket, a green shirt, and blue jeans. 1483

491. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1484</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fadil Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DOMAZET, Fahrudin, son of Safet (22, male)

Fahrudin Domazet, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1485 The FIS database records that Fahrudin Domazet, born on 2 January 1970 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1486 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1487 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 150" was identified as that of Fahrudin Domazet on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Fahrudin Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a direct consequence of a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fahrudin Domazet wore a brown leather jacket, a navy track-suit top, and grey jeans. 1489

493. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1490 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1482</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1138, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1483</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1143, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1484</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1485</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1149, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1486</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1145, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1487</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1148, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1488</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1147, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1489</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1151, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1490</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

### DOMAZET, Fajka, daughter of Salko (69-70, female)

494. Fajka Domazet, born in 1923, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body has been exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Domazeti in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 12" were identified as being those of Fajka Domazet, born on 7 June 1923. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The autopsy established that Fajka Domazet was most likely strangled to death or hanged with a woman's scarf, which was found tied in a noose and knotted around her cervical vertebrae.

495. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fajka Domazet was killed in Bijlani in July 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that Fajka Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **DOMAZET, Fuad, son of Feriz (30, male)**

496. Fuad Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-100068-01, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Fuad Domazet, born on 3 February 1962 died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 145" was identified as that of Fuad Domazet on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. We was identified as that of Fuad Domazet on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Fuad Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1491</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1154, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1492</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1153, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1493</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1153, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1494</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1153, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1495</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1156, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1496</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1158, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1497</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1157, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1498</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1162, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1499</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1160, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fuad Domazet wore a grey cotton jacket, a grey jumper, and blue jeans. 1500

497. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fuad Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1501</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fuad Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DOMAZET, Hajrudin, son of Fehim (21, male)**

498. Hajrudin Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-104016-01, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. The FIS database records that Hajrudin Domazet, born on 16 May 1971 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the information recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance. The Prosecution submits the Ključ lower court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić, according to which 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1505 It also submits the second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, which states that the body marked "Body No. 115" was identified as that of Hajrudin Domazet through identification by his "next of kin". 1506 The Chamber thus considers that Hajrudin Domazet was exhumed from the grave site known as "Lanište I" rather than from the site known as "Crvena Zemlja", as recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. The autopsy of Hajrudin Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hajrudin Domazet wore a blue cotton jacket, a grey shirt, a white vest, and blue jeans. 1507

499. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in

155

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1500</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Fuad Domazet under "ordinal number" 1159. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1501</sup> Adiudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1502</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1170, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1503</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1167, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1504</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1169, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1505</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1165, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1506</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1164, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1507</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hajrudin Domazet under "ordinal number" 1166. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1508 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DOMAZET, Hamdija, son of Hamed (46, male)

500. Hamdija Domazet, born in 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1509 The FIS database records that Hamdija Domazet, born on 15 April 1946 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1510 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1511 The second court record of the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996 states that the body marked "Body No. 139" was identified as that of Hamdija Domazet on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Hamdija Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right-hand side of the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hamdija Domazet wore a black leather jacket, a red T-shirt, a multicoloured shirt, and brown flannel trousers. 1513

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1514</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Hamed, son of Avdo (69, male)

502. Hamed Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-100084-01, born in 1922, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Hamed Domazet,

Adjudicated Fact 566.

1509 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1174, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

(confidential).

1512 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1187, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

Case No. IT-08-91-T

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1178, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1511 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1177, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1513</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hamdija Domazet under "ordinal number" 1175. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1514</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1515</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1182, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

born on 2 September 1922 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 7 June 1996. According to the report, Hamed Domazet, born on 1 April 1922, was last seen in Biljani on 10 July 1992 "being taken by force in the direction of Biljani [...] primary school". At the time, Hamed Domazet wore a blue work suit. 1518 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1519 The second court record of the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 113" was identified as that of Hamed Domazet on the basis of gun licence issued in his name found on the deceased. 1520 The autopsy of Hamed Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right thighbone caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hamed Domazet wore a blue worker's jacket, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1521

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamed Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1522 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamed Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Hamid, son of Ćerim (60, male)

Hamid Domazet, born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1523 The FIS database records that Hamid Domazet, born on 3 September 1931, died in Donji Biljani, Kjuč, on 10 July 1992. 1524 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1525 The Prosecution submits the second court record of the post-mortem examination

157 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1516</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1185, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1517</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1169, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1518</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1184, Police Missing Persons Report, Domazet, Hamed (confidential).

1519 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1186, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1520 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1181, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1521</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hamed Domazet under "ordinal number" 1183. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. 1522 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1523</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1190, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1191, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1192, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, stating that the body marked "Body No. 091" was identified as that of Hamid Domazet. The Chamber notes that the translation of the court record of the post-mortem examination does not list "Body No. 091". The Chamber considers this to be an oversight, as the original BCS version lists a "Body No. 091" as that of Hamid Domazet. However, as the relevant part has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal, the Chamber is unable to rely on the report in its original version. The basis upon which the deceased has been identified is thus unknown. The Chamber has also received the autopsy report of "Body No. 91" which states that the body was that of Hamid Domazet. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 established the cause of death as a direct consequence of an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. Clothing found on Hamid Domazet's remains was identified as a brown flannel jacket, a grey jumper, and blue jeans. 1527

505. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamid Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1528 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hamid Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DOMAZET, Husein, son of Dervo (27, male)**

506. Husein Domazet, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani, Ključ on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed in the hamlet of Domazeti, Biljani, and marked as "Body No. 09" were identified as being those of Husein Domazet. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The autopsy established that Husein Domazet died as a result of a gunshot wound to the head. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as a long-sleeved beige sweater and long boots.

507. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Domazet was shot and killed in Bijlani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1526</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1193, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1527</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1194, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1528</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1529</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1196, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1530</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1197, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1531</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1197, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1532</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1197, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

#### DOMAZET, Islam, son of Feho (69, male)

Islam Domazet, born in 1923, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1533 The FIS database records that Hamid Domazet, born on 31 March 1923, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1534 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1535 The second court report on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 181" was identified as that of Islam Domazet through identification by his daughter and on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1536 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established the cause of death as a trauma to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Islam Domazet wore a black suit jacket, a brown cardigan, and brown cordurov trousers. 1537 The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 26 August 1996, whereby he declared dead Islam Domazet. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Donji Biljani". 1538

509. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Islam Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1539 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Islam Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DOMAZET, Mehmed, son Sulejman (21, male)

Mehmed Domazet, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1540 The FIS database records that Mehmed Domazet, born on 6 February 1971 died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1541 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the

159 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1533</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1199, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1534</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1205, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1204, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1536 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1202, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1537</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1194, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1538</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1200, Declaration of Death of Islam Domazet (confidential). 1539 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1540</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1207, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1208, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1542 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 047" was identified as that of Mehmed Domazet on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of "Body No. 047" recorded to be that of "Mehmed Domazetović", born in 1971, was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Mehmed Domazet wore a blue denim jacket, a dark-blue striped T-shirt, a brown cardigan, and blue jeans. 1545

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992, 1546 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Meho, son of Ibro (59, male)

- Meho Domazet, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1547 The FIS database records that Hamid Domazet, born on 30 August 1932, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1548 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1549 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 169" was identified as that of Meho Domazet through identification by the deceased's wife. The autopsy of Meho Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Meho Domazet wore a chequered shirt, grey flannel trousers, and black leather moccasins. 1551
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Meho Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1542</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1211, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1543 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1209, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1544</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1210, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber considers the difference in name to be a clerical error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1545</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1210, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1547</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1216, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1548</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1219, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1549 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1215, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1217, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>1551</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1218, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

on 10 July 1992, 1552 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Meho Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DOMAZET, Nail, son of Adil (60-61, male)

Nail Domazet, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1553 The FIS database records that Nail Domazet, born on 19 October 1930, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1554 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1555 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 167" was identified as that of Nail Domazet, born on 19 October 1931, on the basis on an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Nail Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Nail Domazet wore a flannel suit jacket, a grey short-sleeved shirt, and grey trousers. 1557

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1558 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nail Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DOMAZET, Rifet, son of Safet (24, male)

516. Rifet Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-104016-03, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Rifet Domazet, born on 1 July 1968, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. This information is consistent with

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1224, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

161

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1552</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1221, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1222, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1556 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1225, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1557</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1226, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1558</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1559</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1232, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1560</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1228, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1561 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1562 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 083" was identified as that of Rifet Domazet on the basis of a personal ID card and an employee's ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of "Body No. 083" recorded to be that of "Ifet Domazet", born in 1968, was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 1564 The Chamber considers the difference in name to be a clerical error. At the time of his death, Rifet Domazet wore blue jeans and a dark-blue cardigan. 1565

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rifet Domazet was shot and killed 517. in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1566 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biliani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Rifet Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Safet, son of Ibrahim (56, male)

518. Safet Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-104016-04, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Safet Domazet, born on 17 January 1936, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1570 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 086" was identified as that of Safet Domazet. 1571 The autopsy of Safet Domazet's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1561</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1229, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1562</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1231, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1563 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1234, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1564</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1233, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1565</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1233, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). 1566 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1567</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1238, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1568</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1239, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1569</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1241, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1570</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1242, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1237, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 1572 At the time of his death, Safet Domazet wore a hand-knitted jumper, a chequered shirt, and overalls. 1573

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1574 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Safet Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DOMAZET, Zijad, son of Atif (40, male)

Zijad Domazet, ICRC number BAZ-100850-02, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Laniste I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1575 The FIS database records that Zijad Domazet, born on 23 June 1952, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1577 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1578 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 018" was identified as that of Zijad Domazet through identification by the deceased's wife and son. 1579 The autopsy of Zijad Domazet's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic and abdominal cavity caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Zijad Domazet wore a grey jumper, a blue shirt, and grey trousers. 1580

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Domazet was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1581 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zijad Domazet was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1581</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1572</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1236, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1573</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1236, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1574</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1575</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1248, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1576</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1249, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1577 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1250, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1578</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1250, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1579</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1245, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1580</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1247, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

### HODŽIĆ, Abid, son of Muharem (62, male)

Abid Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-904934-01, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1582 The FIS database records that Abid Hodžić, date of birth unknown, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. <sup>1583</sup> According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1584 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 177" was identified as that of Abid Hodžić through identification by members of the deceased's family. 1585 The autopsy of Abid Hodžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Abid Hodžić wore a chequered shirt, a black suit jacket, and white flannel trousers. 1586

523. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Hodžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1587</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Abid Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HODŽIĆ, Adil, son of Aziz (69, male)

524. Adil Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-901936-01, born in 1923, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Adil Hodžić, born on 15 May 1923, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 100" was identified as that of

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1582</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1253, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1583</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1252, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1584</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1254, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1885 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1245, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

 <sup>1586</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1256, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
 1587 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1588</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1261, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1589</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1262, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1590</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1259, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

Adil Hodžić. 1591 The autopsy of Adil Hodžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 12 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic and abdominal cavities caused by shots from a firearm. 1592

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adil Hodžić was shot and killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1593</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Adil Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HODŽIĆ, Derviš, son of Nurija (60, male)

Derviš Hodžić, born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1594 The FIS database records that Derviš Hodžić, born on 13 August 1931, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 1 October 1996, whereby he declared dead Derviš Hodžić. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Biljani". 1596 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1597 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I". compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 132" was identified as that of Derviš Hodžić on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. <sup>1598</sup> The autopsy of Derviš Hodžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Derviš Hodžić wore a brown cardigan, a multi-coloured shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1599

Based on the evidence presented, and relying on the declaration of death, the Chamber finds 527. that Derviš Hodžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1600 as well as the fact that about 140 men

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1591</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1263, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1592</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Adil Hodžić under "ordinal number" 1264. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. 1593 Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1267, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1595</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1270, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1596 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1272, Declaration of Death of Derviš Hodžić (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1268, Court Record of Exhumation Laniste I

<sup>1598</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1271, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1599</sup> See. P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Derviš Hodžić under "ordinal number" 1269. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1600</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Cryena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Derviš Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HODŽIĆ, Osman, son of Ibro (58, male)

Osman Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-100824-01, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Osman Hodžić, born on 29 February 1934, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The Prosecution refers the Chamber ICRC Missing Persons Report. The cited report does not, however, contain an entry relating to either Osman Hodžić or "Osmo Hodžić" as indicated by the Prosecution. 1603 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1604 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 011" was identified as that of Osman Hodžić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1605 The autopsy of Derviš Hodžić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Osman Hodžić wore a grey suit jacket, a chequered shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1606

529. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Osman Hodžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992 Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1607 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Osman Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Rufat, son of Abid (35, male)

530. Rufat Hodžić, born in 1956 is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1608 The FIS database records that Rufad Hodžić, born on 17 October 1956, died in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1601</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1276, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1278, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1279, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that the report lists Osman Hodžić as "Osmo" Hodžić under cardinal number 3872. The said entry corresponds to that of "Omer Hodžić" from Srebenica, born in 1926, having gone missing in Potočari in 1995.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1275, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1274, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1606</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1280, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1607</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1608</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1284, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1610 The Prosecution submits the second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, establishes that the body marked "Body No. 137" has been identified as that of Rufad Hodžić. However, the report indicates that "Body No. 137" was that of an unidentified middle-aged man. 1611 The autopsy of "Body No. 137" compiled by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine, however, states that "Body No. 137" was that of Rufad Hodžić, born in 1956. The report does not state on what basis the body has been identified. The autopsy was carried out on 14 November 1996, and established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and right upper arm cause by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Rufad Hodžić wore blue worker's trousers and a multicoloured jumper. 1612

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rufad Hodžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1613 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Rufad Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Almir, son of Sabit (18, male)

532. Almir Jašarević, born in 1974 is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1614 The FIS database records that Almir Jašarević, born on 15 Januray 1974, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1615 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1616 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 006" was identified as that of Almir Jašarević on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Almir Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1609</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1287, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1610 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1285, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

1611 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1282, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1612</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 694, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Rufad Hodžić under "ordinal number" 1286. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1613</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1614</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1294, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1293, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1290, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1291, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Almir Jašarević wore blue overalls, blue jeans, a white T-shirt, and a denim jacket. 1618

533. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almir Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1619</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Almir Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JAŠAREVIĆ, Bego, son of Ibrahim (41, male)

534. Bego Jašarević, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Bego Jašarević, born on 10 Januray 1951, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 144" was identified as that of Bego Jašarević through identification by "his next of kin". The autopsy of Bego Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Bego Jašarević wore a brown, long-sleeved T-shirt, and grey flannel trousers.

535. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bego Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1625 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Bego Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JAŠAREVIĆ, Besim, son of Bego (53, male)

536. Besim Jašarević, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list,

<sup>1625</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1291, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1620</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1299, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1621</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1300, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1622</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1297, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1301, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1624</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1298, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1626 The FIS database records that Besim Jašarević, born on 13 March 1939, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1627 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. 1628 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1629 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 052" was identified as that of Besim Jašarević through identification by the deceased's son. 1630 The autopsy of Besim Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Besim Jašarević wore a short-sleeved shirt, a grey corduroy jacket, and grey overalls. 1631

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besim Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1632 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Besim Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Ejub, son of Ragib (63, male)

Ejub Jašarević, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 538. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Biljani, Ključ on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 21 June 1996. According to the report, Ejub Jašarević, born in 1929, was killed at Husein Zakanović's house in Biljani and buried in the same place. The report states that he was last seen on 10 February 1992. 1634 The Chamber has received a report from the BiH Federal Ministry of the Interior on the exhumation of mass graves in the area of Ključ and Sanski Most compiled by Bajro Kulovac on 22 October 1996. The report states that Ejub Jašarević's remains marked "Body No. 6" were exhumed from a grave site known as "Biljani I". 1635 The Chamber has received a report on the exhumation of a mass grave and two individual graves in the vicinity of Biljani school on 14 October 1996, compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the remains of Ejub

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1626</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1309, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1304, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1628 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1303, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1629</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1307, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1630 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1305, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1631</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1306, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1632</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1633</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1312, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1634</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1314, Police Missing Persons Report, Jašarević, Ejub (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1635</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1311, Report of the Federal Ministry of Internal Affairs on Exhumation and Identification of Bodies from Mass Graves in Sanski Most and Ključ (confidential).

Jašarević, as identified by the deceased's daughter who found his body and buried him there on 10 July 1992, were exhumed from the individual grave near Biljani school. 1636

539. Based on the information contained within the exhumation report, and notwithstanding the police missing person's report, the Chamber finds that Ejub Jašarević was killed at Biljani school on 10 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Enes, son of Rasim (29, male)

Enes Jašarević, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1637 The FIS database records that Enes Jašarević, born on 27 March 1963, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1638 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1639 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 048" was identified as that of Enes Jašarević through identification by the deceased's next of kin. 1640 The autopsy of Enes Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Enes Jašarević wore a grey leather jacket, a grey shirt, and a blue workman's uniform. 1641 The Chamber has also received evidence that Enes Jašarević, son of Rasim, born on 24 March or 29 March 1963 was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 10 July 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Enes Jašarević was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 10 July 1992 in Donji Biljani." <sup>1642</sup>

541. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Enes Jašarević was killed at Biljani, as charged in the Indictment.

# JAŠAREVIĆ, Jusuf, son of Ejub (37, male)

542. Jusuf Jašarević, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

170 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1636</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1313, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1637</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1318, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1321, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1639</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1319, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1640</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1320, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1641</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1317, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>10834,</sup> List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 41 (confidential).

5 October 1996. 1643 The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 21 June 1996. According to the report, Jusuf Jašarević, born in 1955, was killed at Husein Zakanović's house in Biljani and buried in the same place. The report states that he was last seen on 10 July 1992. 1644 The Chamber has received a report from the BiH Federal Ministry of the Interior on the exhumation of mass graves in the area of Ključ and Sanski Most compiled by Bajro Kulovac on 22 October 1996. The report states that Jusuf Jašarević's remains marked as "Body No. 7" were exhumed from a grave site known as "Biljani I". The Chamber has received a report on the exhumation of a mass grave and two individual graves in the vicinity of Biljani school on 14 October 1996, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the remains of Jusuf Jašarević, as identified by the deceased's sister who found and buried him there on 10 July 1992, were exhumed from the individual grave near Biljani school.1646

543. Based on the information contained within the exhumation report, and notwithstanding the police missing persons report, the Chamber finds that Jusuf Jašarević was killed at Biljani school on 10 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### JAŠAREVIĆ, Kemal, son of Bego (51, male)

Kemal Jašarević, born in 1941, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1647 The FIS database records that Besim Jašarević, born on 16 May 1941, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1648 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Kemal Jašarević went missing in Biljani on 10 June 1992. 1649 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1650 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 044" was identified as that of Kemal Jašarević on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Kemal Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Kemal Jašarević wore a workman's shirt, a grey T-shirt and sweater, and grey flannel trousers. 1652

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1643</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1323, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1644</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1326, Police Missing Persons Report, Jašarević, Jusuf

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1645</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1325, Report of the Federal Ministry of Internal Affairs on Exhumation and Identification of Bodies from Mass Graves in Sanski Most and Ključ (confidential).

<sup>1646</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1324, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1647</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1331, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1648</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1328, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1649</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1333, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1650</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1329, Court Record of Exhumation Laniste I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1651</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1332, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1652</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1334, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

545. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kemal Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1653</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Kemal Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JAŠAREVIĆ, Raif, son of Rasim (30, male)

546. Raif Jašarević, born in 1961, listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Raif Jašarević, born on 21 July 1961, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. Saccording to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 050" was identified as that of Raif Jašarević through identification by the deceased's sister on the basis of his clothing. The autopsy of Raif Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Raif Jašarević wore a black leather jacket, a red and white shirt, and brown cotton trousers.

547. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Raif Jašarević was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1659 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Raif Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Sabit, son of Sećer (54, male)

548. Sabit Jašarević, born in 1938, listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Sabit Jašarević, born on 10 October 1938, died in

<sup>1654</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1336, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1653</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1655</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1328, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1656</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1337, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1657</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1332, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1658</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1338, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1660</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1347, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the list records Sabit Jašarević's father's name as "Šacir". Given the otherwise consistently recorded personal information in all documents submitted, the

Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1661 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1662 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 035" was identified as that of Sabit Jašaević on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. 1663 The autopsy of Sabit Jašarević's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 4 October 1996. The cause of death could not be ascertained, as the head was missing and there were no visible signs of injury to the bones of the trunk and limbs. At the time of his death, Sabit Jašarević wore a blue long-sleeved jacket and grey trousers. 1664

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabit Jašarević died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1665</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that Sabit Jašarević's cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Bećir, son of Bećo (46, male)

Bećir, Kapidžić, born in 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 550. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1666 The FIS database records that Bećir Kapidžić born on 1 April 1945, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1667 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1668 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 042" was identified as that of Bećir Kapidžić, born on 1 August 1945, on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Bećir Kapidžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 4 October 1996. The cause of death was established as

Chamber considers that the exact father's name is not known with certainty. It is, however, satisfied that the information concerns the same individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1661</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1345, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1662 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1348, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1663 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1343, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Court Record records Sabit Jašarević's father's name as "Bećir". Given the otherwise consistently recorded personal information in all documents submitted, the Chamber considers that the exact father's name is not known with certainty. It is, however, satisfied that the information concerns the same individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1664</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1344, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1666</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1350, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1667</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1354, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1668</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1351, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>1669</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1355, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

an injury to the dorsal vertebrae caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Bećir Kapidžić wore a grey jacket, a jumper, a chequered shirt, and blue workman's trousers. 1670 The Chamber has also received evidence that Bećir Kapidžić, son of Bećo, born on 10 April 1945, was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. According to the register, Bećir Kapidžić was taken prisoner on 9 or 10 July 1992 and killed on 10 July 1992 in Biljani under unknown circumstances. 1671

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bećir Kapidžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. The Chamber thus finds that Bećir Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Jasmin, son of Bećir (23, male)

- Jasmin Kapidžić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 552. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1672 The FIS database records that Jasmin Kapidžić, born on 21 March 1969, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1673 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1674 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 028" was identified as that of Jasmin Kapidžić on the basis of an ID card found on the victim. 1675 The autopsy of Jasmin Kapidžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 4 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Jasmin Kapidžić wore a brown leather jacket, a brown jumper, and brown trousers. 1676
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Kapidžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1677 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Kapidžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1677</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1670</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1353, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1671 1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 25 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1672</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1357, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1673</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1359, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1674 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1360, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1675</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1358, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>1676</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1353, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the hyperlinked document under "ordinal number" 1361 is another copy of the exhumation report submitted under "ordinal number" 1360, rather than the autopsy report, as stated in the Proof of Death Database. Given that the autopsy report submitted in relation to all bodies found in the Lanište I mass grave is an integrated document, the Chamber will accept the autopsy report submitted for Bećir Kapidžić in relation to Jasmin Kapidžić.

### KUBURAŠ, Muharem, son of Huso (59, male)

Muharem Kuburaš, ICRC number BAZ-104042-01, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Muharem Kuburaš, born on 23 February 1933, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1679 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1680 The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 089" was identified as that of Muharem Kuburaš. 1681 The autopsy report compiled by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine states that the autopsy of Muharem Kuburaš's body registered as "Body No. 093" was carried out on 6 November 1996. 1682 Noting the discrepancy in the numbers assigned to the bodies, the Chamber relies on the autopsy report rather than the court report as regards the assigned number of the identified body. The autopsy established the cause of death as the consequence of an injury to the head caused by the shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Muharem Kuburaš wore a navy blue flannel jacket, a grey jumper, and brown flannel trousers.  $^{1683}$ 

555. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Kuburaš was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1684</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muharem Kuburaš was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KUBURAŠ, Nihad, son of Ramiz (22, male)

556. Nihad Kuburaš, ICRC number BAZ-100849-01, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1685</sup> The FIS database records that Nihad Kuburaš, born on 11 May 1970, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. <sup>1686</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons

175

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1678</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1367, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1679</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1369, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1680</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1365, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1681</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1366, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes the Prosecution submission that Muharem Kuburaš's body was "Body No. 093" exhumed from the site, and that the body was identified on the basis of an ID card found on the body. However, the Chamber notes that the court record does not list "Body No. 93". Moreover, "Body No. 089" is listed as being that of Muhraem Kuburaš, born on 23 February 1933.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1682</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 13, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that "Body No. 089" as identified as that of Muharem Kuburaš, is recorded to be that of "Saim Botoniić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1683</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1364, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1685</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1357, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1686</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1376, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Report is consistent with this information. 1687 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1688 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 151" was identified as that of Nihad Kuburaš on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1689 The autopsy report compiled by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine states that the autopsy of Nihad Kuburaš's body registered as "Body No. 131" was carried out on 13 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as the consequence of an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Nihad Kuburaš wore a blue leather jacket and blue jeans.

557. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Kuburaš was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1691</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nihad Kuburaš was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEŠANOVIĆ, Asim, son of Vehbija (23, male)

558. Asim Mešanović, ICRC number BAZ-100077-01, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1692 The FIS database records that Asim Mešanović, born on 27 September 1968, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1694 The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 164" was identified as that of Asim Mešanović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Asim Mešanović's remains carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1687</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1377, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1688</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1373, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1689</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1375, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has hyperlinked the first court record issued on 12 October 1996 to this entry. The uploaded report does not contain the entry on the identification of Nihad Kuburaš's body. However, since the court record concerns the exhumed bodies from only one grave site, the Chamber considers them to constitute one integral report; it thus considered the second court record issued on 7 November 1996 in this instance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1690</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1298, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Nihad Kuburaš under "ordinal number" 1378. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1691</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1692</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1382, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1693</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1385, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1694</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1383, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1695</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1380, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996 established that there were no visible signs of injury to the bones of the trunk and limbs. The cause of death could not be ascertained. At the time of his death, Asim Mešanović wore a blue denim jacket, a grey jumper, and blue jeans. 1696

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Mešanović was killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1697</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that Asim Mešanović's cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MEŠANOVIĆ, Asmir, son of Vehbija (20, male)

Asmir Mešanović, ICRC number BAZ-100077-02, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State 560. Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Asmir Mešanović, born on 21 April 1972, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1699 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botoniić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1700 The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 002" was identified as that of Asmir Mešanović on the basis of an ID card found on the victim and through identification by one of his brothers. <sup>1701</sup> The autopsy of Asmir Mešanović's remains carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity and the left upper leg caused by shots from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Asmir Mešanović's remains were identified as those of light brown canvas trousers. 1702

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asmir Mešanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1703</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asmir Mešanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>1703</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1696</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1697</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1698</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1389, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1699</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1388, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). \(^{1700}\) P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1391, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>1701</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1390, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>1702</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1393, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

## MEŠANOVIĆ, Muhamed, son of Ekrem (26, male)

Muhamed Mešanović, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1704</sup> The FIS database records that Muhamed Mešanović, born on 16 March 1966, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. <sup>1705</sup> According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1706 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 084" was identified as that of Muhamed Mešanović. 1707 The autopsy of Muhamed Mešanović's remains carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 15 November 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by shots from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Muhamed Mešanović's remains were identified as those of a denim jacket and a grey sweater. 1708

563. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Mešanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1709</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Mešanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEŠANOVIĆ, Suad, son of Latif (34, male)

564. Suad Mešanović, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1710 The FIS database records that Suad Mešanović, born on 28 August 1966, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1711 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the

178 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1704</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1400, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1705</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1396, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1706 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1401, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1707</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1390, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1708</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1378, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the hyperlinked document under "ordinal number" 1398 is another copy of the exhumation report submitted under "ordinal number" 1401, rather than the autopsy report, as stated in the Proof of Death Database. Given that the autopsy report submitted in relation to all bodies found in the Lanište I mass grave is an integrated document, the Chamber will accept the autopsy report as submitted for Nihad Kuburaš as including information relevant to Muhamed Mešanović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1709</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1405, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1408, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1712 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 065" was identified as that of Suad Mešanović. 1713 The autopsy of Suad Mešanović's remains carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Suad Mešanović wore a brown jacket, a grey shirt, and blue trousers. 1714 The Chamber has also received evidence that Suad Mešanović, son of Latif, born on 27 or 28 August 1957, was a member of the Ključ TO from 6 April 1992 to 10 July 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Suad Mešanović was killed "during a mass execution by the Serbian aggressor on 10 July 1992 in Donji Biljani." <sup>1715</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Mešanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the Ključ TO but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber thus finds that Suad Mešanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEŠANOVIĆ, Zifad, son of Adem (30, male)

Zifad Mešanović, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 566. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996.<sup>1716</sup> The FIS database records that Zifad Mešanović, born on 24 March 1962, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992.<sup>1717</sup> According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1718 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 098" was identified as that of Zifad Mešanović by the deceased's "next of kin". The autopsy of Zifad Mešanović's remains carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996 established the cause of death as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Zifad Mešanović's remains were identified as those of a brown leather jacket and flannel trousers. 1720

<sup>1712</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1403, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential). (1713 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1409, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

I (confidential). <sup>1714</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1404, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1715 1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 26 (confidential). 1716 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1414, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1415, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1718 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1413, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1719 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1412, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the name recorded in the court record is "Zifad Mujezinović". As the translation of the document states that parts of the entry are illegible, the Chamber accepts that the entry may relate to Zifad Mešanović, as his father's name and date of birth as recorded are consistent with the other reports received by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1720</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1411, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

567. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zifad Mešanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1721</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zifad Mešanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJEZINOVIĆ, Asim, son of Meho (68-70, male)

568. Asim Mujezinović, born in 1922, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Asim Mujezinović, born on 1 Janurary 1924, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 066" was identified as that of Asim Mujezinović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of "Body No. 066" was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. It established the cause of death as an injury to the abdomen caused by a shot from a firearm.

569. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1727 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Asim Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJEZINOVIĆ, Emir, son of Rasim (28, male)

570. Emir Mujezinović, ICRC number HRZ-009373-01, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Emir Mujezinović,

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

(confidential). <sup>1725</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1421, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1721</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1723</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1419, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1724</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1423, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1726</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1418, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report states that "Body No. 066" was that of listed as "Asmir" Mujezinović, but considers the difference in first name to be a clerical error.

1727 Adiudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1430, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

born on 30 June 1964, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The seconding to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 135" was identified as that of Emir Mujezinović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Emir Mujezinović's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Emir Mujezinović wore a blue denim jacket, a green jumper, and corduroy trousers.

571. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emir Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1733 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Emir Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJEZINOVIĆ, Hamdija, son of Hasan (58, male)

572. Hamdija Mujezinović, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 036" was identified as that of Hamdija Mujezinović, born on 25 July 1933, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Hamdija Mujezinović's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be established, as there were no visible injuries to the trunk and limbs of the body. At the time of his death, Hamdija Mujezinović wore a blue workman's shirt, a jumper, and blue trousers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1729</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1426, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1730 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1429, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1731</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1428, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

I (confidential). 

1732 See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Emir Mujezinović under "ordinal number" 1425. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. 

1733 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1734</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1433, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1735</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1437, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1736</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1435, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1737</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1434, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

573. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Mujezinović was killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1738 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that Hamdija Mujezinović cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJEZINOVIĆ, Hasib, son of Huso (67, male)

Hasib Mujezinović, born in 1925, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani, Ključ, on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. 1740 The Prosecution submits that the remains marked "Body No. 11" were exhumed and identified as those of Hasib Mujezinović. 1741 The report of the investigative judge states that human remains exhumed in the hamlet of Domazeti in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 11" were identified as being those of "Sahib" Mujezinović. 1742 The Chamber considers the difference in name to be clerical error, given that other persons killed in the same location were the sons of "Hasib" and that the year of birth recorded for "Body No. 11" is consistent with the year recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992 and established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the thoracic cavity. At the time of his death, Hasib Mujezinović wore a patterned sweater, a chequered shirt, and grey trousers. 1743

575. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasib Mujezinović was shot and killed in Bijlani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJEZINOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Osman (21, male)

576. Ismet Mujezinović, ICRC number BAZ-101474-01, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Ismet Mujezinović, born on 26 May 1971, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). "ordinal number" 1440, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1738</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1740</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1741</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1742</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1743</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1744</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1444, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1745</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1447, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". <sup>1746</sup> The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 027" was identified as that of Ismet Mujezinović by his mother on the basis of his clothing. <sup>1747</sup> The autopsy of Ismet Mujezinović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a wound to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Ismet Mujezinović wore a black leather jacket, a blue sweater, and blue jeans. <sup>1748</sup>

577. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1749 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ismet Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJEZINOVIĆ, Muharem, son of Sulejman (60-61, male)

578. Muharem Mujezinović, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Muharem Mujezinović, born on 19 July 1931, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 040" was identified as that of Muharem Mujezinović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Muharem Mujezinović's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 4 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a wound to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Muharem Mujezinović wore a flannel suit jacket, a grey jumper, and jeans. The same stablished is a suit jacket, a grey jumper, and jeans.

579. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1746</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1442, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1747 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1445, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

I (confidential).  $^{1748}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1446, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).  $^{1749}$  Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1750</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1454, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1751</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1450, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). The Chamber notes the difference in the recorded year of birth between the FIS Database and the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1752</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1452, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1753</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1455, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1754</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1453, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

in Biljani on 10 July 1992,<sup>1755</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muharem Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJEZINOVIĆ, Najil, son of Huso (65, male)

580. Najil Mujezinović, born in 1927, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1756</sup> The FIS database records that Muharem Mujezinović, born on 18 January 1927, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. <sup>1757</sup> According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1758 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 045" was identified as that of Najil Mujezinović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. The autopsy of Najil Mujezinović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the abdominal cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Najil Mujezinović wore a blue jacket, a grey sweater, and brown corduroy trousers. 1760

581. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Najil Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1761</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Najil Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJEZINOVIĆ, Osman, son of Haso (58, male)

582. Osman Mujezinović, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Osman Mujezinović, born on 26 June 1934, died

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). "ordinal number" 1462, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1758</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1458, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1759</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1460, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

1760 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1461, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1755</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1757</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1463, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). The Chamber notes the difference in the recorded year of birth between the FIS Database and the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1759</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1460, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Laništo I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1761</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1470, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1764 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1765 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 096" was identified as that of Osman Mujezinović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1766 The autopsy of Osman Mujezinović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Osman Mujezinović wore a grey jacket, a grey sweater and shirt, and black flannel trousers. 1767

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Osman Mujezinović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1768</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Osman Mujezinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJEZINOVIĆ, Smail, son of Hasib (37, male)

584. Smail Mujezinović, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The FIS database states that Smail Mujezinović, born on 20 September 1954, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. 1771 The report states that human remains exhumed in the hamlet of Domazeti in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 008" were identified as being those of Smail Mujezinović. 1772 The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The cause of death was established as a gunshot to the head. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were

185 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>1763</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1466, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). The Chamber notes the difference in the recorded year of birth between the FIS Database and the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1764</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1465, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1765</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1471, Court Record of Exhumation Laniste I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1766</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1467, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište

I (confidential). <sup>1767</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1468, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1769</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1474, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1770</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1473, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1771</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1475, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1772</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1475, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

identified as a long-sleeved beige sweatshirt and patterned socks.<sup>1773</sup> The investigative judge's report states that according to information received, Smail Mujezinović was shot dead together with another by Serb paralimitary units in the hamlet of Domazeti on 10 July 1992.<sup>1774</sup>

585. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Mujezinović was shot and killed in Domazeti, Biljani in 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Smail Mujezinović killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MULAHMETOVIĆ, Samir, son of Ale (18, male)

586. Samir Mulahmetović, ICRC number BAZ-107554-01, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. This mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 175" was identified as that of Samir Mulahmetović by the deceased's "next of kin". The autopsy of Samir Mulahmetović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine and abdominal organs caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Samir Mulahmetović wore a blue workman's shirt, a denim jacket, and blue jeans.

587. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Samir Mulahmetović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1780</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Samir Mulahmetović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MULAHMETOVIĆ, Smajil, son of Ale (62, male)

588. Smajil Mulahmetović, born on 19 November 1929 is listed in the FIS database as having died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1773</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1774</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1439, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1775</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1481, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1776</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1477, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1479, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1480, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1778</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1480, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1779</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1482, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1781</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1486, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". <sup>1782</sup> The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 012" was identified as that of Smajil Mulahmetović on the basis of an ID card found on his remains. <sup>1783</sup> The autopsy of Smajil Mulahmetović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the lumbar section of the spine caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Smajil Mulahmetović wore a blue jacket, a blue shirt, and blue trousers. <sup>1784</sup>

589. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smajil Mulahmetović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1785</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Smajil Mulahmetović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Šefkija, son of Ćerim (39, male)

590. Šefkija Omanović, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report states that human remains exhumed in the hamlet of Ćehići in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 017" were identified as being those of Šefkija Omanović, born on 28 September 1952. The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as those of a grey flannel jacket. The same stable is the same of the University Medical Centre of a grey flannel jacket.

591. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šefkija Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

1786 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1491, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1787</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1490, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1788</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1490, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1789</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1490, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1782</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1487, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1783</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1488, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1784</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1485, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1785</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

#### OMANOVIĆ, Abid, son of Ibrahim (85, male)

Abid Omanović, born in 1907, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database submitted in support of the Prosecution's allegation lists an individual by the name of Abid "Omerović", born on 3 March 1907, who died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1791 Considering that the first name, father's name, and year of birth recorded correspond to that provided for the named individual in the Prosecution's allegation, the Chamber considers that the information concerns the same individual, and that the difference in last name stems from a clerical error. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1792 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 147" was identified as that of Abid Omanović by the deceased's "next of kin". The autopsy of Abid Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right hip bone caused by the shot of a firearm. 1794

593. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abid Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1795</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biliani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Abid Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Adil, son of Abid (55, male)

Adil Omanović, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 15 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. <sup>1796</sup> The FIS database submitted in support of the Prosecution's allegation lists an individual by the name of Adil Omerović, born on 9 January 1934, who died in Donji Biljani, Kliuč, on 10 July 1992. 1797 The Chamber is unconvinced that the information concerns the same individual and will therefore disregard the FIS database in this instance. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October

188

<sup>1790</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1495, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1791</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1493, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1792 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1498, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1793 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1494, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1794</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Abid Omanović under "ordinal number" 1497. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. <sup>1795</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1796</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1502, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1797</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1503, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1798 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 140" was identified as that of Adil Omanović. 1799 The autopsy of Adil Omanović's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Adil Omanović wore a grey jacket and sleeveless jumper, a multi-coloured shirt, and blue worker's trousers. 1800

595. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adil Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that Adil Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Asim, son of Hurem (56, male)

Asim Omanović, born in Biljani, Ključ, in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for 596. Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 9 July 1996. According to the report, Asim Omanović, born on 9 December 1935, was last seen in Biljani on 26 June 1992 when he was "killed at home". The report further states that his body was located at Jabukovac cemetery. At the time he was last seen, Asim Omanović is said to have worn a T-shirt, black trousers, and black shoes. 1802 The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. The report states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Jabukovac in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 015" were identified as being those of Asim Omanović, born on 9 December 1935. 1804 The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Asim Omanović wore a black blazer, a chequered shirt, a grey sweater, flannel trousers, and black shoes. 1805

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1798</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1504, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1799 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1494, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1800</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Adil Omanović under "ordinal number" 1500. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1801</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1509, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1802</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1507, Police Missing Persons Report, Omanović, Asim (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1803</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1508, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1804</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1508, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1805</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1508, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, relying on the police missing persons' report of Ključ SJB, the Chamber is unable to find that Asim Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Elkaz, son of Osmo (56, male)

598. Elkaz Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-106793-01, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Elkaz Omanović, born on 11 January 1936, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1807 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Elkaz Omanović disappeared in Gornja Sanica in June 1992. 1808 The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 20 September 1996, whereby he declared dead Elkaz Omanović. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Donji Biljani". 1809 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1810 The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 187" was identified as that of Elkaz Omanović. 1811 The autopsy report compiled by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine states that the autopsy of Elkaz Omanović's body was carried out on 14 November 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by the shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Elkaz Omanović wore a blue sweater, a grey long-sleeved shirt, and grey trousers. 1812

Based on the evidence presented, and relying, in particular, on the court declaration as to 599. Elkaz Omanović's death, the Chamber finds that Elkaz Omanović was shot and killed in Biliani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1813</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Elkaz Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### OMANOVIĆ, Enid, son of Hilmo (27, male)

Enid Omanović, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body

<sup>1813</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1806</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1518, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1516, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1808</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1517, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1809</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1512, Declaration of Death of Elkaz Omanović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1810</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1514, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1511, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1812</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1515, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1814 The FIS database records that Enid Omanović, born on 31 December 1964, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1815 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1816 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 071" was identified as that of Enid Omanović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1817 The autopsy report compiled by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine states that the autopsy of Enid Omanović's remains was carried out on 6 October 1996. The autopsy established the cause of death as the consequence of an injury to the lumbar region of the spine caused by the shot of a firearm. At the time of his death, Enid Omanović wore a denim jacket, a white T-shirt, and jeans. 1818

601. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enid Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1819</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Enid Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Hilmo, son of Hamid (58, male)

602. Hilmo Omanović, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database submitted in support of the Prosecution's allegation lists an individual by the name of Hilmo "Omerović", born on 27 February 1934, who died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. Considering that the first name, father's name, and year of birth recorded correspond to that provided for the named individual in the Prosecution's allegation, the Chamber considers that the information concerns the same individual, and that the difference in the last name stems from a clerical error. According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 121" was identified as that of Hilmo Omanović by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1814</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1521, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1815</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1525, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1816 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1523, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1817 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1522, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1818</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1524, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1820</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1532, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1821</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1529, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1527, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

deceased's son.<sup>1823</sup> The autopsy of Hilmo Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right upper leg caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hilmo Omanović wore a grey jacket, a white cardigan, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>1824</sup>

603. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1825</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hilmo Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Mustafa, son of Mujo (64, male)

Mustafa Omanović, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 604. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1826 The FIS database states that Mustafa Omanović, born on 20 April 1928, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1827 According to the report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled on 4 October 1996 by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ, 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1828 The Prosecution submits that the body exhumed from "Lanište I" marked "Body No. 146" was identified as that of Mustafa Omanović. 1829 The translation of the court record of the post-mortem examinations of bodies exhumed from "Lanište I" submitted in support of the allegation does not list "Body No. 146". The Chamber notes that the original BCS document does list "Body No. 146" as that of Mustafa Omanović. 1830 However, given the Chamber is unable to rely on the report in its original version. It is thus unknown on what basis the deceased was identified. The autopsy of Mustafa Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left upper leg and left lower leg caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Mustafa Omanović wore a white jumper, a multi-coloured shirt, and grey flannel trousers. 1831

605. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1823</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1530, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1824</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Hilmo Omanović under "ordinal number" 1531. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1825</sup> Adiudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1826</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1538, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1827</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1539, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1828</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1536, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1829</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1537 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1830</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1537, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1831</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Mustafa Omanović under "ordinal number" 1535. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1832 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Omer, son of Mustafa (82, male)

Omer Omanović, born in 1910, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1833 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1834 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 184" was identified as that of Omer Omanović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1835 The autopsy of Omer Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Żujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 1836

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1837 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Omer Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Omer, son of Nazif (55, male)

Omer Omanović, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1838 The FIS database records that Omer Omanović, born on 12 January 1937, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1839 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1840 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from

1833 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1543, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

193 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1832</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1834</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1544, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1835 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1545, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1836</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1542, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1838</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1547, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1839</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1552, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1840</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1548, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 179" was identified as that of Omer Omanović through identification by the deceased "next of kin". <sup>1841</sup> The autopsy of Omer Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Omer Omanović wore a grey jumper, a grey suit jacket, and grey flannel trousers. <sup>1842</sup>

609. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1843</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Omer Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Pašo, son of Osman (51, male)

- 610. Pašo Omanović, born in 1941, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. 1844 The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. 1845 The report states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Jabukovac in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 18" were identified as those of Pašo Omanović, born in 1941. 1846 The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The cause of death was established as a gunshot to the thoracic cavity. Remnants of clothing found on the body were identified as those of a green sweater. 1847
- 611. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Pašo Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMANOVIĆ, Saudin, son of Aiz (21, male)

612. Saudin Omanović, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1841</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1550, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1842</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1551, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1843</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1844</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1554, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1845</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1555, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1846</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1555, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1847</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1555, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

5 October 1996. 1848 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1849 The FIS database entry as submitted by the Prosecution, does not list an individual by the name of Saudin Omanović, but a person named "Zijad Omanović, son of Aziz". 1850 The Chamber is unconvinced that the entry concerns the same individual and will thus disregard the FIS database in relation to Saudin Omanović. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1851 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 081" was identified as that of Saudin Omanović, born on 19 July 1970. 1852 The autopsy of Saudin Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996. The body's head was missing, however the cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Saudin Omanović wore a purple track suit with white and green stripes and a purple and green long-sleeved T-shirt. 1853

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Saudin Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1854 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Saudin Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### OMANOVIĆ, Tehvid, son of Almaz (31, male)

Tehvid Omanović, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Biljani on 4 November 1996. The Chamber has received the court report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of individual graves in the area of Biljani village, compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the Ključ lower court. According to this report, a number of bodies of Bosnian Muslims killed in July 1992 were exhumed from individual grave sites within the village of Biljani on 7 November 1996. 1856 The report states that human remains exhumed from the graveyard in the hamlet of Jabukovac in Biljani and marked as "Body No. 016" were identified as being those of Tehvid Omanović, born on 12 January 1961. 1857 The forensic medical examination was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and his team of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1848</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1563, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1849</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1562, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1850</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1561, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1851 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1558, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1852</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1559, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1853</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1557, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1854</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>1855</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1565, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1856</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1566, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>1857</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1566, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 7 November 1992. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Remnants of clothing found on the body were identified as those of a red track-suit top and a white sweater. <sup>1858</sup>

615. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Tehvid Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed, as charged in the Indictment.

#### OMANOVIĆ, Zuhdija, son of Husein (67, male)

Zuhdija Omanović, born in 1925, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1859 The FIS database records that Zuhdija Omanović, born on 10 June 1925, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1861 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 152" was identified as that of Zuhdija Omanović. 1862 The autopsy of Zuhdija Omanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The body's head was missing, however the cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity and dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Zuhdija Omanović wore a grey sheepskin coat, a light-blue jumper, and grey flannel trousers. 1863

617. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zuhdija Omanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1864</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zuhdija Omanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## OMERADŽIĆ, Džemal, son of Mehmed (58, male)

618. Džemal Omeradžić, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The FIS database records that Džemal Omeradžić, born on 22 March 1934 died

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1858</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1566, Court Record of Exhumation on Mass Grave and Individual Graves in Biljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1859</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1571, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1569, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1861</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1570, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1862</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1572, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

 <sup>1863</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1568, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).
 1864 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1865</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1579, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1867 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 005" was identified as that of Džemal Omeradžić, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1868 The autopsy of Džemal Omeradžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Džemal Omeradžić wore a grey suit jacket, a multi-coloured shirt, and blue jeans. 1869

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Džemal Omeradžić was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that Džemal Omeradžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### OMERADŽIĆ, Salko, son of Osman (48, male)

Salko Omeradžić, born in 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 620. Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1870 The FIS database records that Salko Omeradžić, born on 10 March 1944, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1871 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 1872 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1873 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 133" was identified as that of Salko Omeradžić through identification by the deceased's brother. 1874 The autopsy of Salko Omeradžić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a direct consequence of an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Salko

197

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1866</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1578, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1867</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1576, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1868</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1574, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1869</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1575, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records his name as "Džemal Omeragić". The Chamber considers the difference

in spelling to be negligible. 1870 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1586, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1871</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1585, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>1872</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1583, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1873</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1584, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>1874</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1582, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

Omeradžić wore a blue worker's jacket, a blue short-sleeved shirt, grey flannel trousers, and black boots. 1875

621. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salko Omeradžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1876</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Salko Omeradžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## PEHADŽIĆ, Šerif, son of Ćerim (30-31, male)

622. Šerif Pehadžić, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1877 The FIS database records that Šerif Pehadžić, born on 13 May 1968, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Šerif Pehadžić, born on 13 May 1962 disappeared in Kljuć on 10 July 1992. 1879 The Chamber notes the divergence in the information regarding Serif Pehadžić's date of birth and considers that he was born in either 1961 or 1962. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1880 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 082" was identified as that of Šerif Pehadžić, born on 13 May 1962, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Serif Pehadžić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. Remnants of clothing found on Serif Pehadžić's body were identified as being those of a white long-sleeved shirt and black loafers. 1882

623. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šerif Pehadžić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on

<sup>1883</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1875</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Salko Omeradžić under "ordinal number" 1587. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead. The Chamber also notes that the autopsy report records the name as "Salko Omeragić", but considers the difference in spelling to be negligible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1876</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1592, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1878</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1593, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1879</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1595, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1880</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1594, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1881</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1591, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1882</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1590, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Šerif Pehadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SINANOVIĆ, Azra, daughter of Himzo (17, female)

Azra Sinanović, born in 1975, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1884 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1885 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 122" was identified as that of Azra Sinanović, born on 29 May 1975, through identification by the deceased's "next of kin". <sup>1886</sup> The autopsy of "Body No. 129", identified as that of Azra Sinanović, was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. 1887 The Chamber takes note of the Prosecution's submissions that the court record contains two references to "Body No. 122" and that the second entry has been erroneously recorded as "Body No. 122" rather than "Body No. 129". Given that the autopsy report submitted for "Body No. 129" is consistent with the information recorded under one of the entries for "Body No. 122", the Chamber is satisfied that the discrepancy stems from a clerical error and that Azra Sinanović was indeed exhumed as "Body No. 129".

625. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Azra Sinanović was shot and killed in Biljani on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, however, the Chamber is unable to find that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SINANOVIĆ, Lejla, daughter of Mehmed (52, female)

626. Lejla Sinanović, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1888 The FIS database records that Lejla Sinanović, born on 18 June 1940, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1889 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1890 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 088" was identified as that of Lejla Sinanović, born on 18 June 1940, through

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1884</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1598, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1885</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1599, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1886</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1600, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1887</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1590, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>1888</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1605, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1889</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1603, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1890</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1602, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

identification by the deceased's "next of kin". The autopsy of Lejla Sinanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 1892

627. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Lejla Sinanović was shot and killed in Biljani on or about 1 June 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SUBAŠIĆ, Fadil, son of Adil (61, male)

Fadil Subašić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1893 The FIS database records that Fadil Subašić, born on 10 July 1931, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1894 The Chamber notes the discrepancy in dates of birth provided for Fadil Subašić in the two databases submitted. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1895 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 186" was identified as that of Fadil Subašić, born on 10 July 1931, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Fadil Subašić's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Fadil Subašić wore a grey suit jacket, a blue jumper, and grey flannel trousers. 1897

629. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Subašić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1898 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fadil Subašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SUBAŠIĆ, Izedin, son of Nazif (27, male)

630. Izedin Subašić, ICRC number BAZ-100085-01, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1891</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1606, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1892</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1604, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1893</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1611, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1894</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1609, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1895</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1610, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1896</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1608, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1897</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1612, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1898</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. 1900 The FIS database records that Izedin Subašić, born on 5 September 1964, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1901 The Prosecution further submits a missing persons report issued by Ključ SJB on 13 June 1996. According to this report, "Edin Subašić", born in 1964, was last seen in Biljani on 10 July 1992, "being taken by force" towards Biljani primary school. 1902 The Chamber notes the discrepancy in first names, but considers this report to concern the same individual, as both the father's name and year of birth are consistent with the information it has otherwise received. The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1903 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 149" was identified as that of Izedin Subašić on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. 1904 The autopsy of Izedin Subašić's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 13 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Izedin Subašić wore a blue worker's tunic, a grey shirt, and blue jeans. 1905

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Izedin Subašić was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Based on the evidence that he was last seen being taken by force towards Biljani primary school, the Chamber finds that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZUKANOVIĆ, Hazim, son of Smail (40, male)

Hazim Zukanović, ICRC number BAZ-100064-01, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Hazim Zukanović disappeared in Sanski Most on 10 July 1992. 1907 The FIS database records that Hazim Zukanović, born on 17 Sepetmber 1951, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1908 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1899</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1617, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1900</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1615, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1616, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 1902 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 986, Police Missing Persons Report, Subašić, Izedin (confidential).

1903 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1618, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1904</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1621, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1905</sup> See, P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1384, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded a part of the document not listing the autopsy results for Izedin Subašić under "ordinal number" 1619. Accordingly, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>1906</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1630, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1907</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1625, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>1908</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1628, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1909 The court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 013" was identified as that of Hazim Zukanović, born on 19 November 1928, on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. <sup>1910</sup> The autopsy of Hazim Zukanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records Hazim Zukanović's year of birth as "1951" and establishes the age of the deceased as "approximately 41 years of age". 1911 Accordingly, the Chamber considers there to be a clerical error in the date of birth as recorded in the court record of the post-mortem examination. The cause of death was established as an injury to the right-hand thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. At the time of his death, Hazim Zukanović wore a grey leather jacket, a white jumper, and brown trousers. 1912

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hazim Zukanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1913 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hazim Zukanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ZUKANOVIĆ, Husein, son of Husein (67, male)

Husein Zukanović, ICRC number BAZ-914700-01, born in 1925, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1914 The FIS database records that Husein Zukanović, born on 6 April 1925, died in Donji Biljani on 10 July 1992. 1915 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1916 The second court record on the post-mortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 092" was identified as that of Husein Zukanović through identification by the deceased's daughter. 1917 The autopsy of Husein Zukanović's body was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by a shot from a firearm. 1918

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1909</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1626, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1910</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1629, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1911</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1624, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1912</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1624, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). <sup>1913</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1914</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1632, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1915</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1636, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1633, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1635, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1918</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1624, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Zukanović was shot and killed in Biljani in 1992. However, in the absence of consistent evidence indicating that he disappeared on 10 July 1992, and given that persons killed prior to 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave site Lanište I, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ZUKANOVIĆ, Mujaga, son of Adil (37, male)

636. Mujaga Zukanović, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Crvena Zemlja" in the municipality of Ključ on 4 November 1996. 1919 The FIS database records that Mujaga Zukanović, born on 30 September 1954, died in Biljani Donji, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1920 The Chamber has received a court report on the exhumation of the mass grave known as "Crvena Zemlja II" carried out on 5 November 1996 in the area of the village of Krasulje, Ključ, compiled on site by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ. According to the report, the exhumation was carried out pursuant to information that the remains of Bosnian Muslim civilians from the village of Biljani killed on 10 July 1992 were believed to have been buried there. In total, 16 bodies were exhumed from the site. 1921 The court record of the post-mortem examination of the 16 bodies exhumed from the "Crvena Zemlja II" mass grave, compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 6 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 011" was identified as that of Mujaga Zukanović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. The autopsy of Mujaga Zukanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 November 1996 in the presence of BiH governmental expert team and the investigative judge of the lower court of Ključ. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. At the time of his death, Mujaga Zukanović wore a blue long-sleeved work shirt, blue work trousers, and leather boots. 1923

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mujaga Zukanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1924 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mujaga Zukanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ZUKANOVIĆ, Salih, son of Suljo (69, male)

638. Salih Zukanović, born in 1923, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ključ, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1925

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1919</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1639, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1640, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1921 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1642, Court Record of Exhumation, Crvena Zemlja II (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1641, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential)

<sup>1923</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1641, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Crvena Zemlja II (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1924</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1925</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1646, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

The FIS database records that Salih Zukanović, born on 13 February 1923, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 19 August 1996, whereby he declared dead Salih Zukanović. The said decision establishes the date of death as "10 July 1992" and the place of death as "Donji Biljani". The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Đemal Botonjić on 12 October 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 014" was identified as that of Salih Zukanović on the basis of an ID card found on the deceased. Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 6 October 1996. The cause of death could not be established as there were no visible signs of injury to the bones of the trunk and limbs and the organs had entirely changed due to putrefaction.

639. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salih Zukanović died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, 1991 as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Notwithstanding the fact that the cause of death could not be ascertained, the Chamber finds that Salih Zukanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ZUKANOVIĆ, Smail, son of Mehmed (66, male)

640. Smail Zukanović, ICRC number BAZ 964965-01, born in 1926, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lanište I" in the municipality of Ključ on 5 October 1996. 1932 The FIS database records that Smail Zukanović, born on 7 January 1926, died in Donji Biljani, Ključ, on 10 July 1992. 1933 The report on the crime scene investigation and exhumation of the "Lanište I" mass grave compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić of the lower court of Ključ on 4 October 1996, states that 188 bodies were exhumed from the mass grave known as "Lanište I". 1934 The second court record on the postmortem examination of bodies from the mass grave "Lanište I", compiled by investigative judge Demal Botonjić on 7 November 1996, states that the body marked "Body No. 173" was identified as that of Smail Zukanović, born on 1 July 1926, on the basis of an ID card found on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1926</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1645, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1927 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1650, Declaration of Death of Salih Zukanović (confidential).

1928 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1644, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1928</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1644, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1929</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1647, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1648, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report records his name as "Salim Zukanović".

1931 Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1932</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1657, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1933</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1655, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1934</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1654, Court Record of Exhumation Lanište I (confidential).

deceased.<sup>1935</sup> The autopsy of Smail Zukanović's remains was carried out by Dr. Hamza Žujo and Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the University Medical Centre Sarajevo Institute for Forensic Medicine on 14 November 1996. The cause of death was established as an injury to the pelvic organs caused by a shot from a firearm.<sup>1936</sup> At the time of his death, Smail Zukanović wore a grey suit jacket, a green jumper, and grey flannel trousers.<sup>1937</sup>

641. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Zukanović was shot and killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Noting the adjudicated fact that at least 144 men were killed in Biljani on 10 July 1992, <sup>1938</sup> as well as the fact that about 140 men who disappeared in Biljani on 10 July 1992 have been exhumed from the grave sites Lanište I and Crvena Zemlja, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn is that these men died in Biljani on 10 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Smail Zukanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### 3. Prijedor and Skender Vakuf

#### (a) Kozarac

## **ŠAHURIĆ**, FNU, daughter of Adem (age unknown, female)

642. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## **ŠAHURIĆ, FNU, Adem's wife (age unknown, female)**

643. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 1940 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# <u>ŠAHURIĆ</u>, <u>Šerifa</u>, daughter of Mujo (56, female)

644. Šerifa Šahurić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998. The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons as "Body No. 6" from a mass grave in Kamičani, Kozarac, on 20 July 1998 were identified as those of Šerifa Šahurić, daughter of Mujo, born on 1 January 1936. The autopsy of Šerifa Šahurić's body, carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998 established the cause of death as injury to the pelvic cavity caused by shots from a firearm.

<sup>1943</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2386, Autopsy Report (confidential).

. . . .

205

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1935</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1652, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1936</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1653, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1937</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 1653, Autopsy Report Lanište I (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1938</sup> Adjudicated Fact 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1939</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2379 (confidential).

<sup>1940</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2381 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1941</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2388, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1942</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2384, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2383, Photo Documentation (confidential).

time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the body included a grey cardigan and a sleeveless tunic. 1944

645. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šerifa Šahurić was killed in Kamičani, Kozarac, on or about 28 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## **ŠAHURIĆ, Mehmed, son of Meho (69, male)**

- 646. Mehmed Šahurić, born in 1923, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998. The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons as "Body No. 5" from a mass grave in Kamičani, Kozarac on 20 July 1998 were identified as those of Mehmed Šahurić, son of Meho, born on 3 February 1923. He autopsy of Mehmed Šahurić's body, carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998, established that death occurred as a result of a gunshot wound to the head. Clothing found on the remains included a blue wool jacket, a sweater, and grey velvet trousers. The Chamber has received a decision of the Municipal Court of Ključ, issued by judge Šefik Trodžić on 17 July 1998, whereby Mehmed Šahurić was declared dead. The Ključ court held that Mehmed Šahurić died on 27 May 1992 in the village of Kamičani near Kozarac, Prijedor. The decision was based on the statements of three family members who stated that Mehmed Šahurić had been killed during the shelling of Kamičani on 27 May 1992.
- 647. The Chamber has also received evidence that between 24 and 26 May 1992, the village of Kamičani was attacked by Bosnian Serb military and that at least eight Bosnian Muslim civilians who were hiding in the basement of Mehmed Šahurić's house were shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers after their place of refuge was discovered. 1950
- 648. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual. <sup>1951</sup>
- 649. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Šahurić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 27 May 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## ALIĆ, Ekrem, son of Mehmed (36, male)

650. Ekrem Alić, born on 6 November 1955, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The date of death is entered as "27 May 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Benkovac". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. Ekrem Alić, ICRC number BAZ-110127-03, born 9 November 1955,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1944</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2386, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1945</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2393, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1946</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2395, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2392, Photo Documentation (confidential).

1947 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2396, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1948</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2396, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>12400, 1100</sup> of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2390, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1949 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2394, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Šahurić, Mehmed (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1950</sup> Adjudicated Fact 847.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1951</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 18, "ordinal number" 2389.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1952</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2399.1, Death Certificate of Ekrem Alić (confidential).

is also listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Benkovac, Prijedor, on 27 May 1992. 1953

651. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ekrem Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BAŠIĆ, <sup>1954</sup> Šefika, daughter of Ibrahim (70, female)

- 652. Šefika Bašić, born in 1922, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. 1955 Human remains exhumed from a mass grave in Huskići, Prijedor on 29 June 2000 and marked as "Body No. 2" were identified as those of Šefika Bašić by the deceased's son on the basis of the known location of the grave, as well as the clothing on the body, which included a green silk women's blouse, blue trousers, and black rubber shoes. 1956 The autopsy of Šefika Bašić's remains was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, chest, and the right lower leg. The time of death was established as "1992". The Chamber notes that it has not been provided with the translation into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal of the police missing persons report submitted for Šefika Bašić. 1958
- 653. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šefika Bašić was shot and killed in Huskići, Kamičani, in the municipality of Prijedor on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BAŠIĆ, Muhamed, son of Omer (78, male)

654. Muhamed Bašić, born in 1914, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Person List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave in Huskići, Prijedor on 29 June 2000 and marked as "Body No. 7" were identified by the deceased's son as those of Muhamed Bašić on the basis of his clothing and the known place where the body was buried in May or June 1992. The autopsy of the body, carried out by forensic expert Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 7 July 2000, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and right upper arm. Muhamed Bašić also sustained multiple fractures of the ribs. Clothing found on the remains included brown trousers, a chequered shirt, and white trainers. A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 23 October 2000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1953</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2398, ICRC Missing Persons Report on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1954</sup> The Chamber notes that this name is spelt as "Ašić" in the Prosecution's Final Victims List, but is satisfied that the entry relates to Šefika Bašić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1955</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2401, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1956</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2404, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1957</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2402, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1958</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2403, Police Missing Persons Report, Bašić, Šefika (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1959</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2407, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1960</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2406, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1961</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2409, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1962</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2409, Autopsy Report (confidential).

states that Muhamed Bašić was last seen in Huskići in May or June 1992, but does not further elaborate upon the circumstances of his disappearance. 1963

655. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Bašić was shot and killed in Huskići, Prijedor, on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BAHONJIĆ, Nihad, son of Hasan (37, male)

- Nihad Bahonjić, born on 15 March 1955, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date of death is entered as "26 May 1992" and the place of death as "Kozarac". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 1964 The Chamber has also received the evidence of Idriz Merdanzić that on 26 May 1992 in Kozarac Nihad Bahonjić was taken away by a Serb soldier and Merdanzić subsequently heard shots and never saw Bahonjić again. 1965
- Based on the testimony of Idriz Merdanzić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nihad Bahonjić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on 26 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIĆ, Hanifa, daughter of Hasan (61, female)

- Hanifa Bešić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Dera, Prijedor on 30 May 1992. 1966 According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Kozarac I" in the municipality of Prijedor on 16 September 1999. On 15 September 1999, human remains exhumed among six others from a mass grave at Strmac-Rovine in Kozarac and marked "Body No. 6" were identified as those of Hanifa Bešić, daughter of Hasan, born on 22 October 1930. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 4 October 1999. The cause of death was established as traumata to the head, the upper and lower jaw, the shoulder, and the right thigh caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the remains included parts of a brown skirt. 1969
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hanifa Bešić was shot and killed in Kozarac on or about 30 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIĆ, Mustafa, son of Ibrahim (48, male)

Mustafa Bešić, born on 10 May 1944, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The date of death is entered as "21 August 1992".

<sup>1963</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2408, Police Missing Persons Report, Bešić, Muhamed (confidential).

<sup>1964</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2411.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Bahonjić (confidential). <sup>1965</sup> Idriz Merdanzić, 9 December 2010, T. 18399.

<sup>1966</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2414, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1967</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2414, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1968</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2415, Exhumation Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1969</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2416, Autopsy Report (confidential).

The place of death is entered as "Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 1970

661. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BEŠIĆ, Salih, son of Smajo (age unknown, male)

662. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BEŠIĆ, Senad, son of Aziz (29, male)

- 663. Senad Bešić, ICRC number BAZ-106400-02, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Dera, Prijedor, on 1 May 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed in Bešići, Prijedor, on 24 September 1999. Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. Human remains exhumed from a grave site in Dera-Bešići and marked "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Senad Bešić by the deceased's wife based on the clothing and other characteristics. Prijedor of Senad Bešić's remains was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 30 September 1999 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the neck and chest and the time of death as 20 June 1992. The autopsy report records that clothing found on the body included blue trousers, a blue jacket, and a dark blue worker's coat. Prijedor, on 24 September 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission on 1964, is listed in the BiH S
- 664. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Bešić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 20 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIĆ, Vasif, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

665. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Vasif Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEGOVIĆ, Ibrahim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

666. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Begović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1970</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2418.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Bešić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1971</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2419 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1972</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2422, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1973</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2421, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1974</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2423, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1975</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2424, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>1976</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2426 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1977</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2428 (confidential).

#### BLAZEVIĆ, Adem, son of Mehmed (42, male)

667. Adem Blazević, born on 11 October 1954, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2010. The date of death is entered as "21 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place or cause of death. 1978

668. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Adem Blazević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽONLAGIĆ, Fehim, son of Dževad (16, male)

669. Fehim Džonlagić, born in 1975, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 12 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. Pehim "Đonlagić", ICRC number BAZ-109933, born 12 September 1975, is listed as having gone missing in Kamičani on 12 June 1992 in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. He is also listed as deceased in the Omarska Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The date of death is entered as "12 June 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. According to the International Commission for Missing Persons database, human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave marked "JKGBP-387#E12" were identified as those of Fehim Džonlagić based on DNA matching.

670. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fehim Džonlagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Amir, son of Edhem (21, male)

671. Amir Elezović, born on 14 November 1970, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The date of death is entered as "16 September 1992". The place of death is listed as "Trnopolje". The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Amir Elezović. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave at Trnopolje-Redžići on 31 August 2006 and marked "Body No. 3" were identified as those of Amir Elezović based on DNA matching. The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 2006 and 21 July 2007, respectively. The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the head. The autopsy report does not specify a time of death, but notes that Amir Elezović disappeared in Trnopolje on 16 September

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1978</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2430.1, Death Certificate of Adem Blazević (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>1979</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2432, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1980</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2433, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1981</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2434.1, Death Certificate of Fehim Džonlagić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1982</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2434, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1983</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2436.1, Death Certificate of Amir Elezović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1984</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2436, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1985</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2436.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

- 1992. Clothing found on the body included flannel trousers, a brown leather windbreaker, and a green T-shirt. 1986
- 672. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Amir Elezović died in Prijedor in September 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Amir Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ELEZOVIĆ, Edhem, son of Šerif (49, male)

- 673. Edhem Elezović, born on 1 June 1943, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The date of death is entered as "9 July 1992". The place of death is listed as "Trnopolje". The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Edhem Elezović. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave at Trnopolje-Redžići on 31 August 2006 and marked "Body No. 5" were identified as those of Edhem Elezović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the remains was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 2006 and 21 July 2007, respectively, and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and lumbar sections of the spine. The autopsy report does not specify a time of death, but notes that Edhem Elezović disappeared in Trnopolje on 16 September 1992. Clothing found on the body included olive trousers, a sweater, and a black windbreaker. Two bullets were also recovered from the remains.
- 674. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edhem Elezović was killed in Prijedor on or after 16 September 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Edhem Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Halil, son of Edhem (29, male)

675. Halil Elezović, born 11 September 1963, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is listed as "9 July 1992" and the place of death is recorded as "Trnopolje". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 1990 The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Halil Elezović. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave at Trnopolje-Redžići on 31 August 2006 and marked "Body No. 7" were identified as those of Halil Elezović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the remains was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 21 July 2007 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, right upper arm and right thigh. The time of death was not specified in the autopsy report, although it was noted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1986</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2436.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2439.1, Death Certificate of Edhem Elezović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1988</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2438, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1989</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2439.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>1990</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2445.1, Death Certificate of Halil Elezović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1991</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2445, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1992</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2445.2, Autopsy Report (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2442, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

that Halil Elezović had disappeared in Trnopolje on 16 September 1992. Clothing found on the body included a yellow and brown sweater, a brown shirt, and white trainers. 1993

676. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halil Elezović was killed in Prijedor on or after 16 September 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Halil Elezović, was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Hasim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

677. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasim Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ELEZOVIĆ, Samir, son of Hakija (19, male)

678. Samir Elezović, born on 21 April 1973, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The date of death is entered as "9 July 1992" and the place of death as "Trnopolje, Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave at Trnopolje-Redžići on 31 August 2006 and marked "Body No. 11" were identified as those of Samir Elezović by DNA matching. The autopsy of Samir Elezović's body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 30 July 2006 and 17 March 2007, respectively, and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and pelvis. The autopsy report does not specify a time of death, but notes that Samir Elezović had disappeared in Trnopolje-Redžići on 9 July 1992. Clothing found on the remains included jeans and a tracksuit top.

679. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Samir Elezović was killed in Prijedor on or after 9 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ELKASOVIĆ, Osman, son of Salih (59, male)

680. Osman Elkasović, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hrnjići, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Mujkanovići, Prijedor, on 22 September 1999. Human remains exhumed from the "Hrnjići-Mujkanovići" grave site on 23 September 1999 and marked "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Osman Elkasović. The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 1999. The cause of death was established as a trauma to the head caused by a shot from a firearm. The time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a brown sweater and tracksuit bottoms.

681. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Osman Elkasović was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 25 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1993</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2445.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1994</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2447 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1995</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2449.1, Death Certificate of Samir Elezović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1996</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2449.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1997</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2449.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1998</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2452, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>1999</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2453, Autopsy Report (confidential).

## ELKASOVIĆ, Osme, son of Osman (28, male)

- 682. Osme Elkasović, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 15 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. Human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb* and marked "Body No. 3" were identified as those of Osme Elkasović. The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as an injury to the head and facial bones caused by a shot from a firearm. The autopsy report establishes the time of death as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a blue T-shirt, a jacket, and trainers.
- 683. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Osme Elkasović was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 15 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ELKASOVIĆ, Sakib, son of Zijad (24, male)

- 684. Sakib Elkasović, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. Human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb* and marked "Body No. 4" were identified as those of Sakib Elkasović on the basis of identification documents found on the body. The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital in October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and face and the left shoulder blade caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the body included a tracksuit top and jeans. The time of death was established as "1992".
- 685. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sakib Elkasović was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FAZLIĆ, Mustafa, son of Husein (36, male)

686. Mustafa Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-207671-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 27 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kamičani I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 1998. 2004 The Chamber has received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 20 September 1999, whereby Mustafa Fazlić was declared dead. The Sanski Most court held that Mustafa Fazlić, born on 26 August 1956, was killed on 31 August 1992 in Kamičani. The court reached the decision on the basis of the statement of a witness who, together with Mustafa Fazlić, had been captured and taken to the Keraterm detention camp and thereafter to the Trnopolje camp. In late August, Mustafa Fazlić and two other camp inmates were escorted to Kamičani by Serb soldiers and killed. Human remains exhumed from the "Kamičani I" grave site and marked "Body No. 2" were

Case No. IT-08-91-T

213

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2000</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2459, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2001</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2457, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2002</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2464, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2003</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2462, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2004</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2469, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2005</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2470, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Fazlić, Mustafa (confidential).

identified as those of Mustafa Fazlić. The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 27 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. The autopsy report establishes the time of death as "1992". The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2007

687. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Fazlić was killed in Kamičani, Prijedor in August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Alija, son of Kasim (24, male)

Alija Forić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 688. Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998.<sup>2008</sup> The Chamber has received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 18 June 1997, whereby Alija Forić was declared dead. The Sanski Most court held that Alija Forić, born on 1 July 1969, died on 15 December 1996. The ruling was based on the statements of witnesses heard who testified that Alija Forić was killed during a massacre in the hamlet of Sivci, Trnopolje, on 14 June 1992. The Sanaki Most court, however, declared the date of death to be 1996, being one year from the end of the war. 2009 Human remains exhumed at the Sivci Mekteb and marked "Body No. 5" were identified as those of Alija Forić. The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the remains included black jeans, a brown leather jacket, and brown boots. <sup>2010</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2011</sup>

689. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds Alija Forić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# FORIĆ, Amir, son of Taib (11, male)

690. Amir Forić, ICRC number BAZ-205791-05, born in 1980, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 30 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Džonlagići, Prijedor, on 23 September 1999. Amir Forić, born 1 July 1980, is also listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date of death is entered as "30 June 1992" and the place of death is listed as "Kamičani". The Chamber has received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 21 July 1998, whereby Amir Forić was declared dead. The Sanski Most court ruled that Amir Forić,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2006</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2468, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2007</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 19, "ordinal number" 2467.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2008</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2478, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2009</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2476, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Forić, Alija

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2010 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2477, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2011</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 19, "ordinal number" 2473 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2012</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2482, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2013</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2482.1, Death Certificate (confidential).

born on 1 July 1980, died on 30 June 1992 in Kamičani, Prijedor, on the basis of a previous ruling of the same court that Amir Forić was killed together with this mother in Kamičani on 30 July 1992.<sup>2014</sup> Human remains exhumed as "Body No. 3" from the "Kamičani-Džonlagići" site were identified as those of Amir Forić. The autopsy of the body was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 1999. The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the head, and the time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a burgundy short-sleeved T-shirt, a short-sleeved shirt, and pyjamas. 2015

691. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Amir Forić was shot and killed in Kamičani on or about 30 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FORIĆ, Hanifa, daughter of Muret (48, female)

Hanifa Forić, ICRC number BAZ-205791-06, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 30 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Džonlagići, Prijedor, on 23 September 1999.<sup>2016</sup> The FIS database records that Hanifa Forić, born on 8 February 1944, died in Kamičani on 30 June 1992.<sup>2017</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report also states that Hanifa Forić, born on 19 August 1944, went missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 30 June 1992. 2018 Human remains exhumed from the "Kamičani-Džonlagići" site and marked "Body no. 1" were identified as those of Hanifa Forić. The autopsy of her body was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 1999. The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the head. The body also showed serial fracturing of the ribs which may have been caused by a hard blunt instrument. The time of death was established as "1992".<sup>2019</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hanifa Forić was killed in Kamičani on or about 30 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Jusuf, son of Huso (63, male)

694. Jusuf Forić, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamićani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1998. 2020 The Sarajevo Household Survey states that Jusuf Forić was killed in his house in Kozarac in 1992. 2021 The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998 and marked "Body No. 2" were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2014</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2481, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Forić, Amir

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2015</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2480, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2016</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2489, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2017</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2485, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2018</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2486, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2019</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2487, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2020</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2493, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2021</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2494, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

identified as those of Jusuf Forić, son of Huso, born on 22 October 1928. 2022 The autopsy of his body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head, thoracic cavity and pelvic cavity caused by the shots of a firearm. The time of death was determined as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a blue jacket and blue overalls. 2023

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jusuf Forić was killed in Kamičani on or about 28 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FORIĆ, Lutvija, daughter of Ibrahim (79, female)

Lutvija Forić, born in 1913, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamićani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1998. The FIS database records that Lutvija Forić, born on 10 May 1913, was killed in Kamičani on 24 May 1992. 2025 The Sarajevo Household Survey lists Lutvija Forić as having been killed in her home in Kozarac in 1992. The Chamber has received a decision issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 24 September 1999, whereby Lutfija Forić, born 10 May 1913, was declared dead. 2027 The Sanski Most court established that Lutvija Forić died on 24 May 1992 in Kamičani. The decision was based on the testimony of Lutvija Forić's granddaughter's husband that Lutvija Foric's granddaughter had seen her grandmother killed in front of her house by Serb soldiers on this date. 2028 The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons from a grave in Kamičani on 20 July 1998 and marked "Body No. 9"2029 were identified as those of Lutvija Forić. 2030 The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. She also suffered a shot injury to the right shin and foot. A bullet casing was recovered from the body. 2031 Clothing found on the remains included a blouse and violet trousers. 2032 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2033

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2022</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2495, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2492, Photographic Documentation (confidential).

2023 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2498, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2024</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2503, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2025</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2508, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

2026 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2507, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

The Chamber notes the different spelling of "Lutvija" in this document, but based on the date of birth, is satisfied that all references are to the same person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2028</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2502, Lower Court Death Certificate of Lutvija Forić (confidential). (confidential). (2029 The Chamber notes that the eight bodies exhumed from the site were numbered starting with "Body No 2" through

to "Body No. 9".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2030</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2505, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2500, Photographic Documentation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2031</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2501, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2032</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2501, Autopsy Report (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 19, "ordinal number" 2499 (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Lutvija Forić was killed in Kamičani on or about 24 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FORIĆ, Smail, son of Teufik (24, male)

698. Smail Forić, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998.<sup>2034</sup> The autopsy of human remains exhumed at Sivci as "Body No. 8" identified as those of Smail Forić was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head, pelvic bones and right leg caused by the shots of a firearm. The time of death was determined as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a white shirt, blue tracksuit bottoms, and trainers. <sup>2035</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Forić was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas in June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FORIĆ, Teufik, son of Huso (51, male)

Teufik Forić, born in 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1998. 2036 The FIS database records that Teufik Forić, son of Huso, born on 1 December 1940, was killed in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 24 May 1992. 2037 The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons from a grave in Kamičani, Kozarac, on 20 July 1998 and marked as "Body No. 4" were identified as being those of Teufik Forić, son of Husein, born on 25 December 1940.<sup>2038</sup> The autopsy of his body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The autopsy report issued on 11 August 1998 states that the cause of death was established as injury to the thoracic cavity and right upper arm caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the remains included a grey cardigan and grey trousers.<sup>2039</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 24 September 1999, whereby Teufik Forić, son of Huso, born on 1 December 1940, was declared dead. The Sanski Most court held that Teufik Forić was a member of the Kozarac TO and was killed on 24 May 1992 in Kamičani while carrying out combat tasks. 2040

The Chamber finds that Teufik Forić died in Kozarac or surrounding areas in May 1992. However, in light of the evidence presented, in particular the evidence that Teufik Forić was a member of the Kozarac TO, the Chamber cannot conclude that the only reasonable inference available upon the evidence is that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2034</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2512, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2035</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2513, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2036</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2520, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2517, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2038</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2519, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2523, Photographic Documentation (confidential). <sup>2039</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2518, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2040</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2515, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Forić, Teufik (confidential).

Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Teufik Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Šerifa, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>2041</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Serifa Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Atif, son of Murat, (72, male)

- Atif Garibović, born on 3 May 1920, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date of death is entered as "23 June 1992". The place of death is entered as "Trnopolje". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2042
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Atif Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Husein, son of Suleiman, (63, male)

- Husein Garibović, born on 30 December 1929, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor for the year 2000. The date of death is entered as "28 May 1992". The place of death is entered as "Trnopolje, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2043</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Mina, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2044 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mina Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HADŽIĆ, Halid, son of Redžep (70, male)

708. Halid Hadžić, born in 1922, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 15 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani-Vriosk in the municipality of Prijedor on 22 September 2003. 2045 Human remains exhumed at Kamičani-Vriosk as "K.V.220903-1" were identified as those of Halid Hadžić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>2046</sup> The autopsy of the body was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 15 October 2003 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the chest and pelvis. Clothing found on the

218 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2041</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2525 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2042</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2526.1, Death Certificate of Atif Garibović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2527.1, Death Certificate of Husein Garibović (confidential). <sup>2044</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2529 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2045</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2533, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2046</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2531, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential); see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2532, Autopsy Report (confidential).

remains included a grey sweater, brown trousers, and a windcheater.<sup>2047</sup> The Chamber notes that it was not presented with an English translation of the exhumation report in respect of this individual.<sup>2048</sup>

709. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halid Hadžić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 15 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Fikret, son of Meho (39, male)

- 710. Fikret Hodžić, born on 26 June 1953, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The date of death is entered as "9 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Trnopolje". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.
- 711. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HUSKIĆ, Šerif, son of Sulejman (62, male)

- 712. Šerif Huskić, born in 1926, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave site in Dera-Bešići, Prijedor, and marked "Body No. 4" were identified as those of Šerif Huskić by his daughter, based on the clothing found on the remains, which included a grey sweater and olive jacket. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, pelvis, right thigh and right forearm. The time of death was determined as "1992". While the autopsy report states that the body was exhumed from a mass grave in Huskići, it also notes that the body was identified as that of Šerif Huskić, born on 15 August 1929.
- 713. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šerif Huskić was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas in June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HUSKIĆ, Šuhra, daughter of Abid (62, female)

714. Šuhra Huskić, born 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići, Prijedor, on 29 June 2000. A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 23 October 2000 on the basis of a statement given by an acquaintance states that Šuhra Huskić was last seen in Hukići in May or June 1992. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave in Huskići and labelled "Body No. 5" were identified

(confidential).

Case No. IT-08-91-T

219

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2047</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2532, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2048</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2534, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2536.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Hodžić (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2540, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). <sup>2051</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2538, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2052</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2539, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2053</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2542, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2054</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2543, Police Missing Persons Report, Huskić, Šuhra (confidential).

as those of Šuhra Huskić by an acquaintance of the deceased on 24 October 2000, based on the place the body was known to have been buried in May or June 1992 and on clothing found on the remains. The autopsy conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000 established that Šuhra Huskić died as a result of penetrating wounds to the head and the right leg. The time of death was established as being consistent with "1992". Clothing found on the remains included blue trousers and a blue T-shirt. <sup>2056</sup>

715. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šuhra Huskić was shot and killed in Huskići, Prijedor, in May or June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HUSKIĆ, Edhem, son of Sulejman (62, male)

716. Edhem Huskić, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 23 October 2000 on the basis of a statement given by an acquaintance of Edhem Huskić, states that Edhem Huskić was last seen in Huskići in May or June 1992. Human remains exhumed from a mass grave in Huskići and marked Body No. 1 were identified as those of Edhem Huskić by an acquaintance on 24 October 2000, based on the known place where the body was buried in May or June 1992 and on the clothing found on the remains. The autopsy of the body was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head. The time of death was established as being consistent with 1992. Clothing found on the body included black leather shoes, a blue flannel jacket, and a canvas jacket.

717. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edhem Huskić was killed in Huskići, Prijedor, in May or June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HUSKIĆ, Enver, son of Šero (36, male)

718. Enver Huskić, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. <sup>2061</sup> The autopsy of Enver Huskić's body, exhumed from the "Huskići" grave site as "Body No. 3" and identified by the deceased's sister, <sup>2062</sup> was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, pelvis, and both legs. The time of death was established as being consistent with "1992". Clothing found on the remains included tracksuit bottoms and a red T-shirt. <sup>2063</sup>

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2055</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2544, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2056</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2547, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2057</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2550, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2058</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2553, Police Missing Persons Report, Huskić, Edhem (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2059</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2551, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2060</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2549, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2061</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2558, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2062</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2559, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2063</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2560, Autopsy Report (confidential).

719. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enver Huskić was killed in Huskići, Prijedor, in May or June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HUSKIĆ, Mina, daughter of Haso, (63, female)

- 720. Mina Huskić, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Huskići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Huskići on 29 June 2000. The autopsy of human remains exhumed from the "Huskići" mass grave as "Body No. 6" and identified as those of Mina Huskić by the deceased's daughter, was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 7 July 2000. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the left and right arms, the pelvis, and both legs. The time of death was established as being consistent with "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a knitted cardigan, a headscarf, and multicoloured trousers.
- 721. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mina Huskić was shot and killed in Huskići, Prijedor, in May or June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JAKUPOVIĆ, Atif, son of Sulejman (77, male)

- 722. Atif Jakupović, born in 1914, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998. The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons from a grave in Kamičani on 20 July 1998 and marked "Body No. 7" were identified as being those of Atif Jakupović. The autopsy conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital established the cause of death as an injury to the thoracic cavity caused by the shot of a firearm. The time of death was estimated as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a blue jacket, a cardigan, and a striped shirt. <sup>2069</sup>
- 723. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Atif Jakupović was shot and killed in Kamičani, Prijedor, on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Kemal, son of Osman (52, male)

724. According to the International Commission for Missing Persons database, human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa and marked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2064</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2562, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that this person is listed as "Emina Huskić". However, as all other information contained in the List is consistent with this person being "Mina Huskić", the Chamber finds that the List refers to Mina Huskić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2065</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2563, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2066</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2564, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2067</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2567, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2068</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2568, Court Record of Post Mortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2571, Photographic Documentation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2069</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2569, Autopsy Report (confidential).

- "JL01-034B" were identified as those of Kemal Jakupović, son of Osman. <sup>2070</sup> The autopsy of his remains was carried out by Dr. Giancarlo Di Vella of the ICTY on 1 August 2000. The cause of death was established as gunshot traumata to the head and trunk. <sup>2071</sup>
- 725. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Kemal Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### JAKUPOVIĆ, Samed, son of Hase (18, male)

- 726. Samed Jakupović, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. Human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb*, marked "Body No. 6", and identified as Samed Jakupović, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic cavity and left leg caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was estimated as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a white corduroy jacket and blue jeans. 2073
- 727. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Samed Jakupović was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Zilhad, son of Osman (29, male)

- 728. Zilhad Jakupović, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. The autopsy on human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb*, marked as "Body No. 7" and identified as those of Zilhad Jakupović, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left shoulder blade and the dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the remains included brown trousers and a black sweater. 2075
- 729. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zilhad Jakupović was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JASKIĆ, Abaz, son of Meho (50, male)

730. Abaz Jaskić, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 15 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. The autopsy of human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb*, marked as "Body No. 1", and identified as those of Abaz Jaskić, was carried out by Dr. Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2070</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2573, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2071</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2574, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2072</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2576, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2073</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2579, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2074</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2584, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2075</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2581, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2076</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2591, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Hospital on 26 October 1998. While the autopsy report states that Abaz Kaskić suffered multiple fractures of the head and facial bones, the Chamber notes that some of the report's text is missing and thus the cause of death remains unknown. The time of death was estimated as "1992". Clothing found on the body included high rubber boots, trousers, a blue tracksuit, and a brown jacket. 2077

731. Based on the evidence presented, and based on the fact that other persons found to have been buried at the Sivci *Mekteb* have been found to have been killed in the surrounding areas of Kozarac on or about 14 June 1992, the Chamber finds that Abaz Jaskić was also killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## JASKIĆ, Nijaz, son of Abaz (29, male)

- 732. Nijaz Jaskić, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave site in Kevljani-Sivci, Prijedor, on 21 October 1998. The autopsy of the human remains exhumed at the Sivci *Mekteb*, marked as "Body No. 2" and identified as those of Nijaz Jaskić, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 26 October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and ribs caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was estimated as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included black leather shoes, green tracksuit bottoms, and a grey leather jacket. 2079
- 733. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Jaskić was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAVOR, Alija, son of Ale (40, male)

- 734. Alija Javor, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sivci, Prijedor on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Kevljani-Jaskić, Prijedor on 21 October 1998. The autopsy of the human remains exhumed from the "Jaskići" site, marked "Body No. 1" and identified as those of Alija Javor, was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 23 October 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and dorsal vertebrae caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was estimated as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included white trainers, a green shirt, and a brown sweater. 2081
- 735. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Alija Javor was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

736. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2077</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2588, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2078</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2593, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2079</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2597, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2080</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2602, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2081</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2600, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2082</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2604 (confidential).

#### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

737. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

738. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

739. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

740. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KENJAR, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

741. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KENJAR, Munib, son of Mahmut (48, male)

- 742. The FIS database records that Munib Kenjar, born on 25 September 1944, died in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK01-342-BP" were identified as being those of Munib Kenjar on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Munib Kenjar disappeared in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. The autopsy conducted on the remains by forensic expert Dr. Marek Gasior for the ICTY on 29 October 2001 established that most of the bones were missing including the skull. The bones that were present did not show specific signs of injury and it was therefore not possible to ascertain the cause of death.
- 743. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Munib Kenjar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2083</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2605 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2084</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2606 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2085</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2607 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2086</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2608 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2087</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2609 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2088</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2613, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
<sup>2089</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2612, Record of Identification (confidential); *see also* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2089</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2612, Record of Identification (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2615, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2090</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2611, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### KOSURAN, Asim, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

744. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Asim Kosuran was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KRAJINA, FNU, Hamid's wife (age unknown, female)

745. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KRAJINA, Hamid, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

746. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamid Krajina was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### LNU, FNU "Seki", son of Fadil (age unknown, male)

747. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### LNU, Tale, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

748. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEĐUNJANIN, Haris, son of Bećir (21, male)

- 749. The Chamber has received a decision issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 22 September 1998, whereby Bećir Međunjanin, father of Haris Međunjanin, was declared dead. While hearing witnesses as to the circumstances of the death of Bećir Međunjanin, the Sanski Most court heard that after the fall of Kozarac on 26 May 1992, the Međunjanin family, including Haris Međunjanin, and other local residents were hiding in the Kozarac woods. It was furthermore established that, while they were hiding in the woods, Haris Međunjanin was shot and killed by "one of the local inhabitants [who was] temporarily deranged". The Chamber thus considers that although the declaration primarily concerns Bećir Međunjanin, the ruling gives sufficient particulars of the circumstances of the death of Haris Međunjanin, born on 13 October 1970.
- 750. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is thus unable to find that Haris Međunjanin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2091</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2617 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2092</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2618 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2093</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2620 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2094</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2621 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2095</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2623 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2096</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2625, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Medunjanin, Bećir (confidential).

### MUJAGIĆ, Esad, son of Sadik (37, male)

- Esad Mujagić, born 11 October 1954, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is entered as "9 July 1992". The place of death is listed as "Trnopolje". The autopsy of human remains marked "Trnopolje-Redžici Body No. 8" and identified as those of Esad Mujagić by DNA matching was carried out on 1 October 2006 and 2 May 2007, respectively, by a medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office. The name of the medical expert is illegible in the autopsy report. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the shoulder, pelvis, and thigh. Clothing found on the remains included jeans and black workman's ankle boots. The autopsy report does not specify a time of death. 2098
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Esad Mujagić was killed in Prijedor on or around 9 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJANOVIĆ, Đemila, daughter of Adem (72, female)

- Đemila Mujanović, born in 1920, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 753. Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998. 2099 The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons as "Body No. 8" from a mass grave in Kamičani on 20 July 1998 were identified as those of Đemila Mujanović. 2100 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998 established that the death was violent and the direct result of a firearm wound to the abdominal cavity. The time of death was determined as "1992". Clothing found on the remains included a beige pullover, a cotton vest, and violet trousers. <sup>2101</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Demila Mujanović was killed in Kamičani on or about 28 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJKANOVIĆ, Bajro, son of Suljo (80, male)

755. Bajro Mujkanović, born in 1912, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hrnjići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Trnopolje-Hrnić on 22 September 1999. 2102 The autopsy of human remains exhumed from Trnopolje-Hrnići on 22 September 1992, marked as "Body No. 1", and identified as being those of Bajro Mujkanović was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 1999. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head, chest, and pelvis. The date of death was determined as "July 1992". Clothing found on the remains included a long-sleeved sweater and brown socks. 2103

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2097</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2628.1, Death Certificate of Esad Mujagić (confidential). P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2628.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2099</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2636, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2100</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2634, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2630, Photographic Documentation (confidential). <sup>2101</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2632, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2102</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2639, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2103</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2638, Autopsy Report (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bajro Mujkanović was killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJKANOVIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Adem (63, male)

Ibrahim Mujkanović, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing 757. Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Kamičani on 20 July 1998. 2104 The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of eight persons as "Body No. 3" from a mass grave in Kamičani on 20 July 1998 were identified as those of Ibrahim Mujkanović, son of Adem, born on 15 June 1928. The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as firearm wounds to the chest, abdomen, and lower limbs. The time of death was found to be consistent with 1992. Clothing found on the remains included a chequered shirt, a woolen pullover, and grey trousers. 2106

758. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Mujkanović was killed in Kamičani on or about 1 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ORUČ, Himzo, son of Rifet (25, male)

Himzo Oruč, born in 1967, ICRC number BAZ-103436-01, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozaruša, Prijedor, on 24 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the Strmac-Kozaruša grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 15 September 1999. <sup>2107</sup> On 18 December 2000, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Himzo Oruč, born on 25 February 1967, died a violent death on 28 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor, on the basis of a statement from Himzo Oruč's mother that Himzo Oruč, a member of the Kozarac TO, was killed in Kozarac on 28 May 1992. The autopsy of human remains exhumed at Kozarac-Strmac-Rovine and marked "Body No. 3" was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 4 October 1999. The autopsy report identifies the body as that of Himzo Oruč and establishes the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and right upper arm. The time of death was determined to be consistent with death in 1992. Clothing found on the remains included a jacket with flannel lining, a long-sleeved T-shirt, a brown sweater, and a black and green shell suit.<sup>2109</sup>

760. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2110</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Himzo Oruč was killed in Kozarac, Prijedor on or about 28 May 1992. However, in light of the evidence presented, in particular the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2104</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2646, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2645, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2641, Photographic Documentation (confidential). 2106P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2643, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2107</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2648, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2108</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2649, Death Certificate of Himzo Oruč (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2109</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2650, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2110</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, "ordinal number" 2647.

evidence that Himzo Oruč was a member of the Kozarac TO, the Chamber cannot conclude that the only reasonable inference available on the evidence is that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Himzo Oruč was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PIDIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Bibo (61, male)

762. Ibrahim Pidić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor on 14 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Kenjari, Prijedor on 4 July 2003. Ibrahim Pidić, born on 10 December 1930, is also listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The date of death is entered as "14 June 1992". The place of death is entered as "Kamičani". Human remains exhumed in Kamičani-Kenjari on 4 July 2003 and marked as "Body No. 2" were identified as those of Ibrahim Pidić, based on the identification of items found on the body by Ibrahim Pidić's relatives, as well as DNA matching. The autopsy of the body of Ibrahim Pidić, conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 25 July 2003, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, chest, and pelvis. The autopsy report does not record a time of death.

763. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Pidić was killed in Kamičani, Prijedor, on or about 14 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PIDIĆ, Irfan, son of Smail (27, male)

764. Irfan Pidić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kamičani I" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 1998. On 16 September 1998, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Irfan Pidić, born on 10 February 1965, was killed on 27 August 1992 in Kamičani, on the basis of a statement of a witness that after having been taken to Trnopolje camp, Irfan Pidić was escorted out of the camp, taken to Kamičani, and killed on 27 August 1992. The autopsy of human remains exhumed from the "Kamičani I" mass grave, marked "Body No. 1" and identified as those of Irfan Pidić, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić on 27 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the thoracic and abdominal cavities caused by shots from a firearm.

765. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Irfan Pidić was killed in Kamičani on 27 August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Irfan Pidić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### POLJAK, Ibro, son of Muharem (51, male)

766. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2111</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2652, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2112</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2654.1, Death Certificate of Ibrahim Pidić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2113</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2654.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2114</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2657, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2115</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2656, Death Certificate of Irfan Pidić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2116</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2658, Autopsy Report (confidential).

the Tribunal.<sup>2117</sup> The Chamber will thus not consider the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List in its analysis. Ibro Poljak, born 6 September 1940, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The day of death is entered as "28 May 1992". The place of death is entered as "Kamičani". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2118</sup>

767. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibro Poljak was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SENADIN, FNU, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

768. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SOFTIĆ, Halida, daughter of Edhem (18, female)

- 769. Halida Softić, ICRC number BAZ-103381-03, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 30 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site in Džonlagići, Prijedor, on 23 September 1999. The autopsy of human remains, exhumed from the "Kamičani-Džonlagići" site, marked "Body No. 2", and identified as those of Halida Softić, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 October 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as fractures to the thoracic vertebrae and ribs caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was established as being consistent with 1992. 2121
- 770. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halida Softić was shot and killed in Kozarac or surrounding areas on or about 30 June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SOFTIĆ, Hamet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

771. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamet Softić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SOFTIĆ, Hase, son of Adem (55, male)

772. Hase Softić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 27 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kamičani I" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 1998. The autopsy of human remains exhumed from the "Kamičani I" mass grave as "Body number 3" and identified as those of Hase Softić, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 27 August 1998. The cause of death was established as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2117</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2661, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2118</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2661.1, Death Certificate of Ibro Poljak (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2119</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2663 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2120</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2666, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2121</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2665, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2122</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2668 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2123</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2671, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

injuries to the head and thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was determined as "1992". 2124

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hase Softić was killed in Kozarac 773. or surrounding areas on or about 27 August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hase Softić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### VELIĆ, Mesud, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death.<sup>2125</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## VELIĆ, Mustafa, son of Hasan (63, male)

Mustafa Velić, born on 8 September 1928, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The date of death is entered as "30 May 1992". The place of death is entered as "Kozarac". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2126</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Velić was 776. killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ZENKIĆ, Arif, son of Omer (38, male)

Arif Zenkić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 777. Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed at the Kamičani Mekteb in the municipality of Prijedor on 20 July 1998. The Court Record of Postmortem Examination, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that charred human remains found in the ablution room of the demolished Kamičani mosque, marked as "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Arif Zenkić, son of Omer, born on 8 March 1954. The report further states that according to information gathered during the investigation, Arif Zenkić had been killed in 1992. He was taken to the ablution room in preparation for burial, which was precluded from taking place due to the beginning of the attack. The body had remained on the ablution slab for six years before it was burned. 2128 The autopsy of Arif Zenkić's remains was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998. The autopsy report established that the "death was violent, according to the known course of events" and the year of death as "1992".<sup>2129</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2124</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2670, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2672 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2126</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2675.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Velić, (confidential). <sup>2127</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2678, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2128</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2645, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2679, Photographic Documentation (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has uploaded the document in its original BCS version only under "ordinal number" 2682. However, as the document concerned is the same report tendered for other persons exhumed in Kamičani, the Chamber refers to the cited document instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2129</sup>P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2677, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2679, Photographic Documentation (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Arif Zenkić was killed in Kamičani on or about 1 June 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### (b) Brdo, Čarakovo, and Bišćani

## ŽERIĆ, Arif, son of Muho (77, male)

Arif Žerić, born in 1915, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed in Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala, Prijedor, on 25 September 1998. 2130 Human remains exhumed from the Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala mass grave and marked "Body No. 4" were identified onsite as those of Arif Žerić, son of Muho, born on 5 July 1992, by the person who had buried him there. <sup>2131</sup> The autopsy of the body was carried out on 6 October 1998 by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the chest. The time and place of death were established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". <sup>213</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Arif Žerić was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ŠABANOVIĆ, Ferid, son of Bego (25, male)

Ferid Šabanović, born on 24 January 1967, ICRC number BAZ-109854-01, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 21 July 1992. 2133 A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 19 June 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Ferid Šabanović's sister states that Ferid Šabanović was last seen on 20 July 1992 in "Rizvanovići (Krečevine)". The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "[t]ransported [a] neighbour [...] who was killed, and never came back." 2134 On 19 June 2000, human remains marked "Body No. 2" exhumed on 10 May 2000 at Rizvanovići-Krčavine were identified as those of Ferid Šabanović by his sister; the identification was based on her statement that she saw Ferid Šabanović being shot on 20 July 1992, that his body was buried at the location of the mass grave at Rizvanovići-Krčavine, and the fact that the remains of another individual shot at the same time as Ferid Šabanović had been identified in the same mass grave. <sup>2135</sup> The Chamber has also received the evidence of ST065 who stated that he saw Ferid Šabanović shot dead while unarmed on 20 July 1992 by Bosnian Serb soldiers at a collection point in Bišćani, Prijedor. 2136

The Chamber observes the slight discrepancy between the dates of disappearance listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the Police Missing Persons Report, but notes that they are so close in time that they do not create an inconsistency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2130</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2683, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2131</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2682, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2132</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2684, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2133</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2690, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2134</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2689, Police Missing Persons Report, Šabanović, Ferid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2688, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2136</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6863 (confidential); Adjudicated Fact 829.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ferid Šabanović was shot and killed in Bišćani, Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ŠABANOVIĆ, Izet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Izet Šabanović's death. <sup>2137</sup> 784. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# **ŠABANOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Bego (21, male)**

Jasmin Šabanović, ICRC number BAZ-109854-02, born 27 January 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2138 Human remains exhumed in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, and marked "Body No. 22 DV" were identified as those of Jasmin Šabanović on the basis of a DNA profile. <sup>2139</sup> Jasmin Šabanović is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "22 November 1996". There is no cause of death listed in the death certificate. 2140

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Šabanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ŠVRAKA, Muharem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

787. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muharem Švraka's death. 2141 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČAUŠEVIĆ, Emir, son of Emsud (16, male)

Emir Čaušević, born in 1976, ICRC number BAZ-103617-06, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 19 August 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 18 August 2008. 2142 The autopsy of human remains marked "Rakovčani No. 5" and identified as those of Emir Čaušević was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 24 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head, face, jaw, shoulder-blade, and ribs "inflicted by several gunshots". 2143

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2137</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2692 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2138</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2694, ICRC Missing Persons Report on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2139</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2695, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2695.1, Death Certificate of Jasmin Šabanović (confidential). <sup>2141</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2697 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2142</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2700, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2143</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2699, Autopsy Report (confidential).

### ALIŠIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2144 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ALAGIĆ, Fikret, son of Jusuf (23, male)

- On 23 September 1996, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most found that Fikret Alagić, born 791. on 6 May 1967, had died on 25 July 1992 in Prijedor. The Municipal Court based its finding on the evidence of Fikret Alagic's brother who stated that their mother had discovered Fikret Alagic's body after he was executed by Serbs in Sredice, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. 2145 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2146
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Alagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2147 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Muhamed, son of Hamed (17, male)

794. Muhamed Avdić, son of Hamed, born 28 May 1975, is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date and time of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2148 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution also tenders the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.<sup>2149</sup> However, the report concerns another individual; thus, the Chamber will disregard this report in its analysis. The Defence submits that Muhamed Avdić was engaged in combat activities when he died and refers the Chamber to the BiH Ministry of War Veterans register. 2150 According to the register, Muhamed Avdić, son of Hamed, born on 8 May 1974 was a member of the armed forces from 13 May 1992 to 12 July 1995. It is recorded that he went missing while carrying out military duties in Srebrenica on 12 July 1995. The Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the information concerns the same individual, given the discrepancy in the registered dates of birth recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the record of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans.

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Muhamed Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2144</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2701 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2145</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2704, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Alagić, Fikret

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2146</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 21, "ordinal number" 2703 (confidential). <sup>2147</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2707 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2148</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2710.1, Death Certificate of Muhamed Avdić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2149</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2710, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2150</sup> See Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 11 July 2012, p. 3; Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, Confidential Annex B, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2151</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 9 (confidential).

### AVDIĆ, Rajif, son of Muharem (62, male)

796. Rajif Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-109843-01, born on 7 October 1929, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 6 August 1992. 2152

797. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rajif Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Reuf, son of Muho (60, male)

798. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Reuf Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-102681-03, born in 1932, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 27 July 1993. Partial human remains exhumed from a grave site known as "Poljski Put" in Čarakovo, Prijedor, and marked "Body No. 3" were identified as those of Reuf Avdić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 17 May 2008 by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. Reuf Alagić suffered fractures of the pelvic bone and thighs possibly caused by penetrating wounds. However, the cause of death could not be established. Reuf Avdić, born on 10 March 1932, is also listed in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The date and time of his death are entered as "27 July 1992". The place of death is listed as "Keraterm, Prijedor".

799. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Reuf Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BEHLIĆ, Anel, son of Eniz (22 months, male)

800. Anel Behlić, born in 1990, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave site at Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala on 25 September 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 states that human remains exhumed as "Body No. 3" from the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala" grave site on 25 September 1998 were identified as those of Anel Behlić by a witness who had buried the bodies. The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998. The time and place of Anel Behlić's death was established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo". The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the chest cavity caused by a firearm. Anel Behlić's age at the time of his death was recorded as "22 months" old. 2158

801. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Anel Behlić was killed on or about 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

234

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2152</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2712, ICRC Missing Persons Report on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2153</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2714, ICRC Missing Persons Report on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2154</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2714.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>2155</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2714.1, Death Certificate of Reuf Avdić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2156</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2716, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2157</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2718, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2158</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2717, Autopsy Report (confidential).

### BEHLIĆ, Aziz, son of Mustafa (40, male)

802. Aziz Behlić, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 7 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 28 September 1998.<sup>2159</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 details that human remains exhumed from an individual grave at the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala I" site on 28 September 1998 and marked "Body No. 1", were identified by a witness as those of Aziz Behlić, son of Mustafa, born on 2 June 1952, who had been killed on 1 July 1992.<sup>2160</sup> The autopsy of the body was carried out on 6 October 1998 by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The time and place of death were established as "1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the head, pelvis, left upper leg, and left lower leg. The Defence submits that Aziz Behlić was engaged in combat activities when he died and refers the Chamber to the BiH Ministry of War Veterans register. According to the register of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans, Aziz Behlić, son of Mustafa, born on 11 June 1952, was a member of the Prijedor TO from 1 March 1992 to 1 July 1992. The register states that he was klilled in Čarakovo on 1 July 1992. The circumstances of his death are not recorded.

803. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aziz Behlić was shot and killed in Čarakovo in the beginning of July 1992. The BiH record states that he was a member of the TO when he died. As the evidence establishes that Aziz Behlić was killed prior to the time relevant to the charge, the Chamber will not make a finding as to his combatant status at the time of his death. Thus, based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEHLIĆ, Bibo, son of Šaban (63, male)

804. Bibo Behlić, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 September 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 details that human remains exhumed as "Body No. 5" from the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala" grave site on 25 September 1998 were identified as those of Bibo Behlić, son of Šaban, born on 20 July 1929, by a witness, who had buried the bodies at the site. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998 and established the time and place of death as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head caused by a firearm. <sup>2166</sup>

805. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bibo Behlić was killed on or about 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

235

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2159</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2720, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2160</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2721, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2161</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2722, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2162</sup> See Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 11 July 2012, p. 3; Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, Confidential Annex B, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2163</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 30 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2164</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2724, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2165</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2725, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2166</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2726, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### BEHLIĆ, Ermin, son of Esad (16, male)

806. Ermin Behlić, ICRC number BAZ-111183-02, born in 1976, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 28 September 1998. The Court Record of Exumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 details that human remains exhumed from an individual grave at the "Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala I" site on 28 September 1998 and marked "Body No. 2" were identified by a witness as those of Ermin Behlić, son of Esad, born on 7 January 1976. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998. The time and place of death were established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the neck and chest caused by a firearm.

807. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ermin Behlic was killed on or about 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEHLIĆ, Zerina, daughter of Munib (23, female)

808. Zerina Behlić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 September 1998. <sup>2170</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 details that human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala" mass grave and marked "Body No. 2" were identified as those of Zerina Behlić, daughter of Munib, born on 1 June 1969 by a witness, who had buried the bodies at the site. <sup>2171</sup> An autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998. The autopsy report records the time and place of death as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head, neck and right forearm caused by a firearm. <sup>2172</sup>

809. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zernia Behlić was killed on or about 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BRKIĆ, Omer, son of Hasib (31, male)

810. Omer Brkić, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Žeger" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 27 July 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Žeger" grave site on 27 July 1997 along with four other male bodies and marked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2167</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2729, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2168</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2728, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2169</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2730, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2170</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2734, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2171</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2732, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2172</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2733, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2173</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2736, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

"Body No. 3" were identified as those of Omer Brkić, son of Hasib, born on 14 July 1961. 2174 The autopsy of "Body No. 3" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 August 1998. The autopsy report determines the time of death as "1992". The cause of death is recorded as injuries to the head inflicted by gunshots.<sup>2175</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Brkić was killed on or about 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor, Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽANANOVIĆ, Azema, daughter of Latif (60, female)

- Azema Džananović, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Carakovo, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed in "Pašinac" in the municipality of Prijedor on 15 May 2000. 2176 Human remains exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery and marked "PC01-006B" were identified as those of Azema Džananović, born on 10 February 1932, by a relative on the basis of the deceased's clothing and earrings.<sup>2177</sup> The autopsy of Azema Džananović's body was carried out on 6 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot injury to the trunk.<sup>2178</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Azema Džananović was killed on or about 24 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽANANOVIĆ, Vejsil, son of Jakup (60, male)

- Vejsil Džananović, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in "Pašinac" in the municipality of Prijedor, on 15 May 2000.<sup>2179</sup> Human remains exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery and marked "PC01-005B" were identified as those of Vejsil Džananović, born on 2 February 1932, by a relative on the basis of the deceased's clothing, <sup>2180</sup> and an ID card and firearm licence found on the body. <sup>2181</sup> The autopsy of Vejsil Džananović's body was carried out on 5 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot injury to the head.<sup>2182</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vejsil Džananović was killed on or 815. about 24 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2174</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2737, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2175</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2738, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2176</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2743, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2177</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2742, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2178</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2745 Autopsy Report, Pašinac Cemetery (confidential). <sup>2179</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2748, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2180</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2751, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2181</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2750, Exhumation and Mortuary Evidence Sheet (confidential). <sup>2182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2749, Autopsy Report (confidential).

## DŽOLIĆ, Besim, son of Ahmet (32, male)

- 816. Besim Džolić is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date and time of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2183
- 817. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Besim Džolić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DEDIĆ, FNU (age unknown, gender unknown)

818. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DEDIĆ, Nermin, son of Rifet (29, male)

819. Nermin Dedić, ICRC number BAZ-103218-04, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 3 April 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report also lists Nermin Dedić as having disappeared in Bišćani on 20 July 1992. A police missing persons report issued on 14 May 2001 on the basis of a statement given by Nermin Dedić's mother states that Nermin Dedić, born 23 February 1968, was last seen in "Mladin Forrest" in Bišćani on 20 July 1992. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "killed by the Serb army during the cleansing of the village and deportation". At the time of his disappearance, Nermin Dedić wore a long-sleeved chequered shirt and jeans. The Prosecution refers the Chamber to a record of identification for "Body No. 1" exhumed from a grave site known as "Bišćani-Šuma Mladik". The said report has not been provided in one of the official working languages of the Court. However, the Chamber notes that the Defence has considered the report in its original version and also states that "Body No. 1" was identified as that of Nermin Dedić by the deceased's mother. On 9 April 2001, an autopsy was conducted on the body of Nermin Dedić by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The autopsy report states that it was not possible to determine a cause of death, as there was no visible damage to the bones. A violent death could, however, not be ruled out.

820. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nermin Dedić was killed on or about 20 July 1992 in the area of Bišćani. The Chamber thus finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

\_

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2754.1, Death Certificate of Besim Džolić (confidential).
 <sup>2184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2755 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2185</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2761, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2186</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2759, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>2187</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2762, Police Missing Persons Report, Dedić, Nermin (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2188</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2758, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2189</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 22 "ordinal number" 2757.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2190</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2760, Court Record of Exhumation and Autopsy (confidential).

## DEDIĆ, Rifet, Father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

821. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Rifet Dedić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DEDIĆ, Sulejman, son of Rifet (25, male)

- 822. Sulejman Dedić, ICRC number BAZ-103218-01, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Bišćani-Kadići in the municipality of Prijedor on 2 July 2002. Sulejman Dedić, born on 14 August 1966, is also listed on the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004 lists Sulejman Dedić as deceased. The date and time of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death is entered as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.
- 823. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejamn Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## **DEMIROVIĆ**, Fatima, daughter of Redžo (49, female)

- 824. Fatima Demirović, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from a grave site at Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala, in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 September 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 details that human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo Gornja-Mahala" mass grave and marked "Body No. 1" were identified as the remains of Fatima Demirović, daughter of Redžo, born on 4 May 1943, by a witness who had buried the bodies at the site. 2196 On 6 October 1998, an autopsy was conducted on Fatima Demirović's body by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The autopsy report records the time and place of death as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo" and the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the head, neck and thoracic cage. 2197
- 825. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fatima Demirović was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DIZDAREVIĆ, Nazif, son of Salih (83, male)

826. Nazif Dizdarević, born in 1908, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2191</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2763 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2192</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2766, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2193</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2767, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2194</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2767.1, Death Certificate of Sulejman Dedić(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2771, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2196</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2769, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2197</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2770, Autopsy Report (confidential).

list, his body was exhumed from a grave site at Čarakovo-Brdani on 2 October 1998. <sup>2198</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998, states that human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Bradžani" site on 2 October 1998 and marked "Body No. 1" were identified by a witness as those of Nazif Dizdarević, son of Salih, born on 8 November 1908, who was killed in July 1992. <sup>2199</sup> On 6 October 1998, an autopsy was conducted on "Body No.1" by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The time and place of death were determined as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Brdani". The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the head, thoracic cage, and left thigh. <sup>2200</sup> The Chamber also received evidence from ST248 that on 23 July 1992, Bosnian Serb Forces attacked Čarakovo. <sup>2201</sup> According to ST248, during the two days after the attack of 23 July 1992, Serb soldiers went from house to house and took people away to mistreat and kill them. <sup>2202</sup> ST248 testified that on 27 July 1992, Nazif Dizdarević was found dead in the kitchen of his house.

827. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nazif Dizdarević was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DIZDAREVIĆ, Sulejman, son of Ibrahim (30, male)

- 828. Sulejman Dizdarević, ICRC number BAS-003656-01, born on 6 March 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The FIS database states that Sulejman Dizdarević died in Donja Puharska, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. 2205
- 829. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Dizdarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Đula, daughter of Ibro (67, female)

- 830. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Đula Duratović, ICRC number BAS-002927-01, born on 15 October 1924, went missing on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor. <sup>2206</sup>
- 831. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Đula Duratović was killed as charged on the Indictment.

# **DURATOVIĆ, Denijel, son of Husein (26, male)**

832. Denijel Duratović, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Sredice I" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2198</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2777, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2199</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2775, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2200</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2776, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2201</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5727-5728 (confidential).

<sup>2202</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5739 (confidential).

ST248, P2296, Prosecution v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5742 (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2780, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2205</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2781, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2206</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2782.2, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

16 July 1998. 2207 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of 16 persons from the "Bišćani-Sredice" site and marked "Body No. 16" were identified as those of Denijel Duratović, born 10 September 1966. <sup>2208</sup> The autopsy of Denijel Duratović's body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head inflicted with firearms at a close range. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on his remains were those of a long-sleeved shirt and grey cotton trousers.<sup>2209</sup>

On the basis of the evidence presented, and noting that other persons exhumed from the Sredice site were found to have been killed there on or about 20 July 1992, the Chamber finds that Denijel Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DURATOVIĆ, Ešef, son of Husnija (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ešef Duratović's death. 2210 834. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Ekrem, son of Rifat (42, male)

- Ekrem Duratović, born 29 October 1949, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date of death is entered as "28 June 1992" and place of death as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2211
- 836. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ekrem Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DURATOVIĆ, FNU, son of Ismet (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>2212</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DURATOVIĆ, Hazim, son of Husnija (age unknown, male)

838. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hazim Duratović's death. <sup>2213</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2207</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2784, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Trial Chamber notes that the name of this individual is spelled as "Denijal" in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. As the remainder of evidence in the record consistently records the first name as "Denijel", the Chamber considers this difference to be negligible.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2786, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2209</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2785, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2210</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2787 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2211</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2790.1, Death Certificate of Ekrem Duratović (confidential).  $^{2212}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2791 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2213</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2793 (confidential).

## DURATOVIĆ, Husnija, son of Avdo (age unknown, male)

839. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Husnija Duratović's death. 2214 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DURATOVIĆ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

840. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ismet Duratović's death. 2215 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DURATOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Husnija (42, male)

- Ismet Duratović, ICRC number BAS-002880-01, born on 11 November 1949, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2216 Ismet Duratović is also listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor" The cause of death is not specified. 2217
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DURATOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Husnija (39, male)

- Mehmed Duratović, ICRC number BAS-002878-01, born on 1 September 1952, is listed in 843. the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2218 Mehmed Duratović is also listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani". The cause of death is not specified. 2219
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DURATOVIĆ, Mirhet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mirhet Duratović's 845. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mirhet Duratović's death. <sup>2220</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2795 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2215</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2797 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2800, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2800.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Duratović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2218</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2802, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2804.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Duratović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2220</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2806 (confidential).

## DURATOVIĆ, Senad, <sup>2221</sup> son of Ahmet (36, male)

- 846. Senad Duratović, born 16 February 1956, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is entered as "23 July 1992" and place of death as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2222
- 847. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Zemira, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

848. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Zemira Duratović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DURATOVIĆ, Zlatan, son of Ismet (27, male)

- 849. Zlatan Duratović, born 21 April 1965, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2224
- 850. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zlatan Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## EJUPOVIĆ, Irfan, son of Šerif (28, male)

- 851. Irfan Ejupović, born 5 April 1964, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2225
- 852. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Irfan Ejupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# EJUPOVIĆ, Nedžad, son of Šerif (33, male)

- 853. Nedžad Ejupović, born 11 January 1959, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2226
- 854. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Ejupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution in its Final Victims List states that this person's first name is either "Seno" or "Senad". However, the only documentation provided in the Proof of Death Database records his name as "Senad".

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2808.1, Death Certificate of Senad Duratović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). The Chamber notes that the name is spelled "Senad" in the Death Certificate; however, the Chamber is satisfied that all references are to the same person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2223</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2810 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2812.1, Death Certificate of Zlatan Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2225</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2814.1, Death Certificate of Irfan Ejupović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 2226 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2816.1, Death Certificate of Nedžad Ejupović (confidential).

### FIKIĆ, Hamdija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 855. The Chamber has received the evidence of ST065 that he saw Hamdija Fikić shot dead while unarmed by Bosnian Serb soldiers at a collection point in Bišćani, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. 2227
- 856. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Fikić was shot and killed in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HADŽIĆ, Husnija, son of Dedo (65, male)

- 857. Husnija Hadžić, born in 1927, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Jugovci, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2228
- 858. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Husnija Hadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HADŽIĆ, Muhamed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

859. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muhamed Hadžić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Damir, son of Mujo (age unknown, male)

860. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Damir Hegić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Hilmija, son of Smail (age unknown, male)

861. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hilmija Hegić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Alija, son of Smail (age unknown, male)

862. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Alija Hegić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Fikret, son of Alija (age unknown, male)

863. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fikret Hegić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2227</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24, 26 August 2002, T. 6861-6863 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2228</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2820, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2229</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2821 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2230</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2823 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2231</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2824 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2232</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2825 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2826 (confidential).

### HEGIĆ, Nazmija, son of Sadik (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nazmija Hegić's death. 2234 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HEGIĆ, Nihad, son of Sadik (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nihad Hegić's death. 2235 865. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HEGIĆ, Hadžalija, son of Mustafa (56, male)

Hadžalija Hegić, born in 1936 is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hegići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2236 The FIS database records that Hadžalija Hegić, born on 10 February 1936, died in Bišćcani, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. 2237 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, assembled human remains marked "JK01/079BP" were identified as those of Hadžalija Hegić on the basis of DNA matching. According to the report, Hadžalija Hegić disappeared in Hegići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2238 On 26 October 2001, Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY carried out the autopsy of Hadžlija Hegić's body. Most bones of the upper body and skull were missing from the body. The cause of death could not be ascertained. 2239

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hadžalija Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HEGIĆ, Hasan, son of Husein (54, male)

868. Human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-263B" were identified as those of Hasan Hegić on the basis of DNA matching. 2240 The autopsy of Hasan Hegić's body was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 6 November 2001. Hasan Hegić suffered a non-lethal gunshot injury to the right forearm and several unspecific fractures that may have been caused post-mortem. The cause of death could not be established.<sup>2241</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2234</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2827 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2828 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2236</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2831, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2834, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2238</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2835, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2239</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2830, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2240</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2839, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2837, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2241</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2838, Autopsy Report (confidential).

### HEGIĆ, Husein, son of Osman (38, male)

- Husein Hegić, born on 10 January 1954, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2242
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Hegić was 871. killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HEGIĆ, Ismet, son of Salih (38, male)

- Ismet Hegić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hegići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2243 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Hegić, born 25 March 1954, ICRC number BAS-002839-02, went missing in Hegići on 20 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-005B" were identified as those of Ismet Hegić on the basis of DNA matching. 2245 The autopsy of Ismet Hegić's body was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 26 October 2001. The body showed fractures of the skull, the arms and the legs. However, the cause of death could not be ascertained.<sup>2246</sup>
- The Trial Chamber notes that the Prosecution presented a Municipal Court Declaration of Death in relation to this individual. However, the ruling in the translation is "illegible". 2247
- The Chamber notes that the Defence agrees there is evidence to support the allegation. 2248 However, based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Mujo, son of Salko (43, male)

- Mujo Hegić, born on 10 January 1949, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of 875. Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2249
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mujo Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HEGIĆ, Salih, son of Salko (67, male)

Salih Hegić, born 6 December 1928, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The date of death is entered as "22 November 1996". The place of death is not recorded and the cause of death is not specified. 2250

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2843.1, Death Certificate of Husein Hegić (confidential). <sup>2243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2848, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P24466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2849, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2847, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2246</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2850, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2247</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2845, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Hegić, Ismet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 23, "ordinal number" 2844 (confidential). <sup>2249</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2852.1, Death Certificate of Mujo Hegić (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, first name unknown (Mahmut's sister), father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>2251</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, first name unknown (Mahmut's sister's daughter), father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2252 880. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, Adem, son of Karanfil (72, male)

- 881. Adem Hopovac, born 15 October 1924, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date of death is entered as "22 November 1996". The place of death is not recorded and the cause of death is not specified. 2253 ST248 testified that he saw Adem Hopovac had been killed in front of his house in Čarakovo on 23 July 1992.<sup>2254</sup>
- Based on the evidence of ST248, the Chamber finds that Adem Hopovac was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

In support of its allegation, the Prosecution refers the Chamber to the evidence of ST248. 2255 ST248 testified that he saw eight bodies in a swamp area between Zecovi and Čarakovo. However, there is no evidence linking this individual to those eight bodies. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2257 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2250</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2854.1, Death Certificate of Salih Hegić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2251</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2855 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2252</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2856 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2253</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2859.1, Death Certificate of Adem Hopovac (confidential). <sup>2254</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5732-5733 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2861, Reference to "ST-248; Transcript of testimony in Case IT-97-24-T (Stakić) on 08 July 2002; line 5735:21 – 5736:1; Exhibit P02296" (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2256</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5733-5734 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2257</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2862 (confidential).

#### **HOPOVAC, Hamdija, son of Smail (45, male)**

885. Hamdija Hopovac, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Zecovi, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a grave site in Zecovi-Točak, Prijedor, on 12 August 1998. The Chamber has received an autopsy report for "Body No. 3" exhumed from the "Zecovi-Kosa" grave site identified as that of Hamdija Hopovac. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 19 August 1998 by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as the result of injuries to the shoulder blade and spine inflicted by a firearm. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Hamdija Hopovac's remains were a grey men's jacket, grey woollen trousers, and leather shoes.

886. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Hopovac was shot and killed in Zecovi, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, Huse, son of Husein (48, male)

887. Huse Hopovac, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 2 October 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 1" exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site on 2 October 1998 were identified as belonging to Huse Hopovac, son of Husein, born on 19 June 1944. The autopsy carried out on 5 October 1998 by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital establishes the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, neck, thorax, and arm. The date and place of death were established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Prijedor". Remnants of clothing found on Huso Hopovac's remains included a long-sleeved T-shirt. ST248 testified that he saw eight dead bodies on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, including that of Huse Hopovac.

888. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Huse Hopovac died a violent death in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **HOPOVAC, Suad, son of Huse (18, male)**

889. Suad Hopovac, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 2 October 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 2" exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site on 2 October 1998 were identified as belonging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2258</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2866, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2259</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2868, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2260</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2870, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2261</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2874, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2262</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2873, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2263</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5735-5736 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2264</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2877, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

to Suad Hopovac, son of "Huso", born on 7 February 1974. 2265 The autopsy of the body was carried out on 5 October 1998 by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head and thorax caused by a firearm. The date and place of death was established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo". 2266 The Trial Chamber also received the evidence of ST248 who stated that he saw eight dead bodies on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, including one person he identified as Suad Hopovac, son of Huse. 2267

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Hopovac died a violent death in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KADIĆ, Abdulah, son of Avdija (51, male)

- 891. Abdulah Kadić, born on 12 March 1941, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The date of death is entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. 2268
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Abdulah Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Amir, son of Mehmed (23, male)

Amir Kadić, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from the "Bišćani-Sredice" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 10 August 1998. 2269 The ICRC Missing Persons Report also states that Amir Kadić, born on 1 November 1968, ICRC number BAS-003522-01, went missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2270 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Amir Kadić, son of Mehmed, born on 1 November 1968, as it was established onsite by "a witness" that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992 and their bodies left lying on the ground.<sup>2271</sup> The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998. The report states that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshotinflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". 2272

The Defence submits that according to the Response by the Croatian Government regarding the Register of Defenders, Amir Kadić was a Croatian defender. <sup>2273</sup> This document states that Amir Kadić, son of Mehmed, was a member of the RH Armed Forces from 15 February 1995 to 28 February 1998.<sup>2274</sup> The Chamber notes that these dates fall outside of the Indictment period and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2265</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2880, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2881, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2267</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5735-5736 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2884.1, Death Certificate of Abdulah Kadić (confidential). <sup>2269</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2888, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2270</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2891, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2890, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2272</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2886, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 23, "ordinal number" 2885 (confidential). <sup>2274</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government regarding the Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001.

after the date on which the evidence establishes that Amir Kadić died. The Chamber finds that this record cannot relate to the same "Amir Kadić, son of Mehmed".

895. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Amir Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Bego, son of Huso (40, male)

Bego Kadić, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Sredice-Garaža" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 16 July 1998. 2275 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 2" exhumed among those of 16 persons from the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Bego Kadić, son of Huso, born on 5 July 1952. 2276 The autopsy of the body was carried out on 30 July 1998 by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as injuries to the forehead and lumbar spine inflicted with a firearm. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Bego Kadić's remains included a blue work shirt, a blue work overall with a chequered shirt, and blue corduroy trousers. 2277 On 26 April 1997, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Bego Kadić "was killed in Bišćani on 20 July 1992" on the basis of the statements of two witnesses to this effect. 2278

The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2279</sup>

On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bego Kadić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Enes, son of Ramo (30, male)

Enes Kadić, born 17 March 1962, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2280

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Enes Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2275</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2898, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2895, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2897, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2278</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2894, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Kadić, Bego

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 23, "ordinal number" 2892 (confidential). <sup>2280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2900.1, Death Certificate of Enes Kadić (confidential).

### KADIĆ, Faruk, son of Husein (32, male)

- 901. Faruk Kadić, born 18 September 1960, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Bišćani, Crna Jaruga, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2281</sup>
- 902. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Faruk Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIĆ, Ferid, son of Omer (39, male)

903. Ferid Kadić, ICRC number BAS-001361-03, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Bišćani-Sredice" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 10 August 1992. The ICRC Mission Persons Report states that Ferid Kadić, born on 6 January 1953, went missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Ferid Kadić, son of Omer, born on 6 January 1953, as it was established onsite by "a witness" that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992 and their bodies left lying on the ground. The remains were also identified as those of Ferid Kadić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998. The report states that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". 2286

904. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ferid Kadić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIĆ, Gane, son of Selim (62, male)

905. Gane Kadić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 31 August 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed in Bišćani Kadići in the municipality of Prijedor on 1 October 1999. Human remains exhumed from the "Bišćani Kadići" site on 1 October 1999 and labelled "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Gane Kadić, born on 8 May 1930 by the deceased's son and wife, and identification by the person who buried the body at the time. The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1999. The autopsy established the time of death as "31 August 1992" and the cause of death as gunshot-inflicted injuries to the chest,

\_

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2902.1, Death Certificate of Faruk Kadić (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2906, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2283</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2910, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2284</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2906, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2285</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2909, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2907, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2912, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2914, Identification Report (confidential).

the right forearm, and both lower legs. The existence of injuries to the head could not be ascertained due to missing bones. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a dark jacket, a green sweater, and trousers. 2289

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Gane Kadić died a violent death in Bišćani, Prijedor in August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIĆ, Hajdar, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hajdar Kadić's death. 2290 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Hamzalija, son of Omer (53, male)

Hamzalija Kadić, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor.<sup>2291</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains of 16 persons were exhumed from two mass graves and two individual graves on 16 and 17 July 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, and the remains labelled "Body No. 13" were identified as those of Hamzalija Kadić, son of Omer, born on 14 March 1939. An autopsy was conducted on Body No. 13" by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998. The autopsy report established that Hamzalija Kadić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the head and the chest. Clothing found on the remains included a blue cardigan and blue work trousers. <sup>2293</sup> On 2 July 1998, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Hamzalija Kadić, born on 14 March 1939, was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, on the basis of two witness statements indicating that Hamzalija Kadić had been shot and killed outside Faid Kekić's house. 2294 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute this evidence. 2295

On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamzalija Kadić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Huso, son of Meho (72, male)

Huse Kadić, born in 1920, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 10 August 1998. 2296 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2289</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2913, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2915 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2291</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2919, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2292</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2923, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2293</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2922, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2294</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2920, Lower Court Declaration Death, Kadić, Hamzalija

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2295</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A,

p. 23, "ordinal number" 2917.
<sup>2296</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2929, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

28 August 1998, states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men from the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Huso Kadić, son of Meho, born on 4 November 1920, as it was established onsite by "a witness" that nine named men had been killed there in July 1992, including Huso Kadić. 2297 The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998 and established that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". 2298

911. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Huso Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIĆ, Idriz, son of Seido (63, male)

- Idriz Kadić, born in 1929, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prjedor, on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed in Bišćani-Kadići, Prijedor, on 22 July 1998. 2299 Pursuant to the Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 human remains of seven persons were exhumed in Bišćani-Kadići, Prijedor on 22 July 1998; those of Idriz Kadić, son of Sejdo, born on 4 May 1929, were labelled "Body No. 6". 2300 The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 4 August 1998 and established that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the head and the chest. Clothing found on the remains included grey trousers. <sup>2301</sup> On 11 August 1998, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Idriz Kadić, born on 4 May 1929, was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, on the basis of a witness statement that Idriz Kadić and six other people were killed near his house. <sup>2302</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2303</sup>
- 913. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Idriz Kadić was shot and killed in Bišćani, Prijedor, on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIĆ, Isak, son of Husein (46, male)

"Ishak" Kadić is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The date and time of death are entered as "26 November 1996". The death certificate does not state the place or cause of death.<sup>2304</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2297</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2928, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential). While the Chamber notes the discrepancy in the documents presented to the Chamber regarding the spelling of this individual's name, on the basis of the close similarity between "Huso" and "Huse", the Chamber finds that these references are to the same individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2298</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2925, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

2299 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2934, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2932, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

2301 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2931, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2302</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal numbers" 2933 and 3040, Declaration of Death of Idriz Kadić (confidential). While the BCS original of the declaration of death is uploaded under "ordinal number" 2933, the corresponding English translation is uploaded under a different name entry in the Proof of Death Database, at "ordinal number" 3040, and the Chamber will rely on the translation as found under "ordinal number" 3040.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2303</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 24, "ordinal number" 2930. <sup>2304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2935.1, Death Certificate of Ishak Kadić (confidential).

915. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Isak Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Mehmed, son of Meho (64, male)

916. Mehmed Kadić, born in 1928, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 10 August 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Mehmed Kadić, as it was established onsite by a witness that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992, including Mehmed Kadić, born 22 May 1928. The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998. The autopsy established that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". <sup>2307</sup>

917. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Mirzet, son of Alija (33, male)

918. Mirzet Kadić, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 10 August 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Mirzet Kadić, as it was established onsite by a witness that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992, including Mirzet Kadić, son of Alija, born in 1959. The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998 and established that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". The time of death was established as "1992".

919. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirzet Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Mujaga, son of Mujo (39, male)

920. Mujaga Kadić, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2305</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2938, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2306</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2937, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2307</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2940, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2308</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2944, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2309</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2945, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2310</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2943, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

that his body was exhumed on 10 August 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. 2311 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site believed to belong to Mujaga Kadić, as it was established onsite by a witness that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992, including Mujaga Kadić, son of Mujo, born 22 September 1952.<sup>2312</sup> Parts of the remains found were also identified as those of Mujaga Kadić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2313</sup> The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998 and established that the bones of at least seven of these bodies showed gunshot-inflicted injuries. The time of death was established as "1992". 2314 On 13 July 1998, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Mujaga Kadić, born on 22 September 1952, was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, on the basis of two witness statements that he was killed by members of the Serb army on this date.<sup>2315</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.<sup>2316</sup>

921. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mujaga Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Mujo, son of Agan (77, male)

- Mujo Kadić, born in 1915, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 922. Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. This list states that his body was exhumed on 10 August 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor.<sup>2317</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Mujo Kadić, as it was established onsite by a witness that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992, including Mujo Kadić, son of Agan, born 31 April 1915. 2318 The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998. The autopsy report states that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992". 2319
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mujo Kadić was killed in the 923. Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

255 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2311</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2956, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2312</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2950, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential). <sup>2313</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2955, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2314</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2951, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential). <sup>2315</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2949, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Kadić, Mujaga

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2316</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A,

p. 24, "ordinal number" 2948.
<sup>2317</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2961, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2318</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2960, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2319</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2958, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

#### KADIĆ, Sead, son of Mujo (32, male)

924. Sead Kadić, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. This list states that his body was exhumed on 10 August 1998 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 28 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed among those of nine men at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site were believed to belong to Sead Kadić, as it was established onsite by a witness that nine named persons had been killed there in July 1992, including Sead Kadić, son of Mujo, born on 11 June 1960. Parts of the remains found were also identified as being those of Sead Kadić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998 and established that the bones of at least seven of these bodies had gunshot-inflicted injuries and that the "death was violent". The time of death was established as "1992".

925. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sead Kadić was killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIĆ, Sejad, 2325 son of Rizah (33, male)

926. A police missing persons report of 16 October 2000 states that Sejad Kadić was last seen on 22 July 1992 in Turkovac, Ljubija, Prijedor. The adduced birth certificate states that Sejad Kadić, son of Rizah, was born on 22 January 1959. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that "Sead" Kadić, born in 1959, went missing in Šurkovac on 1 July 1992. This list states that his body was exhumed on 17 October 2000 in Šurkovac, Prijedor. Human remains exhumed on 16 October 2000 in Šurkovac, Prijedor, and labelled "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Sejad Kadić by the deceased's sister, and acquaintance, and a passport found on the body. The autopsy of Sejad Kadić's body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 24 October 2000. The autopsy established that he died in 1992, and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, pelvis, upper legs, and the left upper arm. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a purple sweater and brown trousers. The suddent state of the sead of the properties of the same purple sweater and brown trousers.

256

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2320</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2967, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2321</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2967, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2322</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2968, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2323</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2966, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2324</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2965, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2325</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List, the Prosecution has listed this person with a first name spelled as "Sejad" which is consistent with the information in the birth certificate, the police missing persons report, and the two records of identification. However, the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the autopsy report refer to him as "Sead" but contain information that is otherwise consistent. The Chamber will thus refer to this individual by the spelling "Sejad".

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2977, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Sead (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2977.1, Birth Certificate of Sejad Kadić (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2977.1, Birth Certificate of Sejad Kadić (confidential).

P2486, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2973, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2329</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2976, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2330</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2972, Autopsy Report (confidential).

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sejad Kadić was killed in Šurkovac, Prijedor, on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Sulejman, son of Omer (43, male)

928. Sulejman Kadić, born in 1949, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 in Sredice-Garaža, Prijedor. 2331 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 1" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Sulejman Kadić, son of Omer, born on 1 February 1949.<sup>2332</sup> The autopsy of Sulejman Kadić was performed by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 30 July 1998. The date of death was recorded as "1992", and the cause of death as gunshot-inflicted injuries to the head and the right side of the chest. Clothing found on the remains included a white T-shirt and trousers. 2333

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Kadić was killed in the 929. Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Šaban, son of Šaban (36, male)

Šaban Kadirić, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. This list states that his body was exhumed on 17 July 1998 from the "Sredice II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor. 2334 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 4" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Šaban Kadirić, son of Šaban, born on 22 March 1973. 2335 An autopsy of Šaban Kadirić's body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 30 July 1998 and established that Saban Kadirić died in 1992. The cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries at close range to the head and the facial bones. Clothing found on the remains included a blue work shirt and grey trousers. 2336 On 23 February 1998, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Šaban Kadirić, born on 22 March 1956, was killed on 22 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, on the basis of two witness statements that Šaban Kadirić and five other men were taken outside Nihad Hamulić's house and killed.<sup>2337</sup> The Chamber notes that this account generally corresponds to the Court Record of Post-mortem Examination, which states that seven male bodies were found by the

Case No. IT-08-91-T

257

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2331</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2982, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2332</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2983, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2333</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2979, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2334</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2990, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2986, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2988, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2337</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2989, Court Declaration of Death, Kadirić, Šaban (confidential).

house of Nihad Hamulić. 2338 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual. 2339

Based on the evidence presented, Šaban Kadirić died a violent death in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 22 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KADIRIĆ, Šerif, son of Ibrahim (44, male)

- Serif Kadirić, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor.<sup>2340</sup> The FIS database records that Šerif Kadirić, born on 10 March 1947, died on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 11" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Šerif Kadirić, son of Ibrahim, born on 10 March 1948.<sup>2342</sup> An autopsy was carried out on the remains by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998. The autopsy report established that Šerif Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries at close range to the forehead, the chest, and the abdominal cavity. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a grey sweater and grey trousers.<sup>2343</sup> On 19 February 2001, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Šerif Kadirić was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, based on the statements of several witnesses that on 20 July 1992, Serb soldiers shot and killed 12 men including Šaban Kadirić in Bišćani. 2344 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute the evidence adduced by the Prosecution in respect of this individual.<sup>2345</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Serif Kadirić was shot and killed in 933. the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KADIRIĆ, Agan, son of Rasim (24, male)

Agan Kadirić is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The day, month, and year of birth are entered as "4 April 1968". The place of birth is stated as "Rizanovići, Prijedor". The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is stated as "Rizanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death.<sup>2346</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2338</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2986, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2339 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 24, "ordinal number" 2984.

2340 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2992, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2995, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 2342 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2994, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2343</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2997, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2344</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 2998, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Kadirić, Šerif

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 24, "ordinal number" 2991. <sup>2346</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3000.1, Death Certificate of Agan Kadirić (confidential).

On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Agan Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Avdo, son of Hasan (44, male)

Avdo Kadirić is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death.<sup>234</sup>

937. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Avdo Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Emdžad, son of Dževad (19, male)

938. Emdžad Kadirić, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 17 July 1998 from the "Sredice II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor.<sup>2348</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 5" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Emdžad Kadirić, son of Dževad, born on 7 July 1973.<sup>2349</sup> An autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 30 July 1998. The autopsy established that Emdžad Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshotinflicted injuries to the head, upper and lower jaws, the right side of the chest, and the right forearm. Clothing found on the remains included a grey sweater and jeans. <sup>2350</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emdžad Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIRIĆ, Emsud, son of Safet (38, male)

Emsud Kadirić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 17 July 1998 from the "Sredice II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor.<sup>2351</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 8" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Emsud Kadirić, son of Safet, born on 12 May 1954.<sup>2352</sup> The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998. The autopsy established that

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2347</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3002.1, Death Certificate of Avdo Kadirić (confidential). <sup>2348</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3008, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2349</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3005, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3007, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2351</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3011, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3010, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

Emsud Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries at close range to the head and the chest. Clothing found on the remains included a blue shirt and grey trousers. 2353

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Enes, son of Safet (27, male)

- Enes Kadirić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice I" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor. 2354 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 12" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Enes Kadirić, son of Safet, born on 12 April 1965. 2355 The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998. The autopsy established that Enes Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the right side of the chest and the second and third cervical vertebrae. Clothing found on the remains included a blue shirt and blue jeans.<sup>2356</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIRIĆ, Ermin, son of Hasan (between 16-30, male)

- Human remains exhumed in Redak, Ljubija, Prijedor and marked "RK01-173B" were identified as those of Ermin Kadirić on the basis of DNA matching. 2357 The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Segaran Ramalu Naidoo of the ICTY on 31 July 2000. The autopsy report prepared by Dr. Naidoo established that the individual was aged between 16 and 30 years old and that the probable cause of death was a gunshot-inflicted injury to the chest. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a sleeveless jacket and blue jeans. 2358
- 945. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ermin Kadirić died a violent death. However, absent any evidence addressing the date and place of disappearance, or any further evidence concerning the circumstances of the death, the Chamber is unable to find that Ermin Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2353</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3014, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2354</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3018, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2355</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3019, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). 2356 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3017, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2357</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3022, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2358</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3024, Autopsy Report (confidential).

# KADIRIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2359 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2360 947. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Hasan, son of Šerif (53, male)

Hasan Kadirić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 17 July 1998 from the "Sredice II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor. 2361 The FIS database records that Hasan Kadirić, born on 15 March 1939, died on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Sredice, Prijedor. <sup>2362</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 9" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Hasan Kadirić, son of Šerif, born on 15 March 1939. 2363 The autopsy of Hasan Kadirić's body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 and established the cause of death as gunshot-inflicted injuries at close range to the head, the right side of the chest, and the right upper arm. Clothing found on the remains included a white shirt and cream cordurov trousers. 2362

949. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Husein, son of Huso (40, male)

Husein Kadirić, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Sredice on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice-Iza Gar" site in the municipality of Prijedor. 2365 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998, states that human remains marked "Body No. 3" exhumed among those of 16 persons from the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Husein Kadirić, a.k.a. "Robert", son of Huso. 2366 An autopsy was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2359</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3025 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3027 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2361</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3034, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2362</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3033, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2363</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3035, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2364</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3031, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2365</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3039, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2366</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3037, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 and established that Husein Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the right side of the chest and pelvic organs. Clothing found on the remains included a blue tracksuit. 2367 In support of its allegation that Husein Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment, the Prosecution submitted a death certificate. However, the Chamber notes that the English translation of the death certificate adduced is issued in the name of another person.<sup>2368</sup> The Chamber further notes that the Defence does not dispute the allegation in relation to this individual.<sup>2369</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Kadirić was shot and killed 951. in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Mirsad, son of Idriz (40, male)

952. Mirsad Kadirić, born in 1952, ICRC number BAZ-100146-02, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice I" site in the municipality of Prijedor. <sup>2370</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 15" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Mirsad Kadirić. <sup>2371</sup> An autopsy was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 1 August 1998 and established that Mirsad Kadirić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot injuries inflicted at close range to the head, the chest, and the abdominal cavity. Clothing found on the remains included a blue shirt and grey trousers.<sup>2372</sup> On 3 December 1999, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Mirsad Kadirić was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani, Prijedor, on the basis of a witness statement that the witness saw Mirsad Kadirić being beaten, kicked, and killed by soldiers on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani. 2373 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute the allegation in relation to this individual.<sup>2374</sup>

953. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Kadirić died a violent death in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2367</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3041, Autopsy Report of Husein Kadirić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3040, Declaration of Death of Idriz Kadić (confidential). The Chamber notes that a death certificate in the name of Husein Kadirić was tendered in its original BCS version. No translation into an official working language of the Tribunal was provided; as such, the Chamber will not consider this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2369</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A,

p. 24, "ordinal number" 3036. 
<sup>2370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3043, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3047, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3046, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2373</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3048, Court Declaration of Death, Kadirić, Mirsad

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2374</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database (CHS), 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 24, "ordinal number" 3042.

### KADIRIĆ, Nihad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

954. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nihad Kadirić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Omer, son of Dedo ("Derviš)<sup>2376</sup> (61, male)

955. Omer Kadirić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Sredice II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 17 July 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 6" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Omer Kadirić, son of Dedo, born on 12 September 1930. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 and established that Omer Kadirić died in 1992 as the result of injuries to the thorax inflicted by a firearm. Clothing found on the body included a men's red V-neck sleeveless embroidered jacket, a chequered shirt, blue trousers, and a black leather belt. 2379

956. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Kadirić died a violent death in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Rašid, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

957. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Rašid Kadirić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Rasim, son of Derviš (40, male)

958. Rasim Kadirić, born on 31 August 1951, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The day, month, year, and hour of death are recorded as "15 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The cause of death is not specified. <sup>2381</sup>

959. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rasim Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2375</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3049 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2376</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has indicated that Omer Karirić's father's name is "Derviš"; however, the records received for this individual consistently indicate that his father's name is "Dedo". Given that the other information on the record is otherwise consistent, the Chamber will rely on the evidence presented and consider this individual's father's name as "Dedo". *See* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, table of exhumed (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3056, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2377</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3056, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2379</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3053, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2380</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3057 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2381</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3060.1, Death Certificate of Rasim Kadirić (confiential).

### KADIRIĆ, Safet, son of Redžo (62, male)

Safet Kadirić, born in 1930, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Sredice II" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 17 July 1998. 2382. The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 7" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Safet Kadirić, son of Redžo, born on 6 March 1930.<sup>2383</sup> The autopsy of the body was performed by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 and established that Safet Kadirić died in 1992 as the result of multiple gunshots to the head, leg, pelvis, and ribs. Clothing found on the body included a jacket, a long-sleeved shirt, and blue trousers. 2384

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KADIRIĆ, Salih, son of Mujo (77, male)

- 962. Salih Kadirić, born on 14 April 1915, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "29 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2385
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Samir, son of Izet (23, male)

- 964. Samir Kadirić, born on 13 June 1969, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2386
- 965. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIRIĆ, Suad, son of Emsud (17, male)

Suad Kadirić, born in 1975, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing 966. Persons as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Sredice II" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 17 July 1998. 2387 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2382</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3062, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2383</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3064, Court Report of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2384</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3066, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2385</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3068.1, Death Certificate of Salih Kadirić (confidential). <sup>2386</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3070.1, Death Certificate of Samir Kadirić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2387</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3073, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 10" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Suad Kadirić, son of Emsud, born on 22 February 1975. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 and established that Suad Kadirić died a violent death caused by injury to the head with a firearm. The date of death is established as "1992". Clothing on the body included a woollen sweater and jeans.<sup>2389</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Kadirić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHTERAN, Haso, son of Muharem (68, male)

968. Hase Kahteran, born in 1924, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Žeger" site in the municipality of Prijedor on 27 July 1998. 2390 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains of five persons were exhumed from Čarakovo-Žeger on 27 July 1998; those labelled as "Body No. 1" were identified as Hase Kahteran, son of Muharem, born in 1924. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 August 1998 established that Hase Kahteran died a "violent" death in 1992 as the result of injuries to the lumbar part of the spine and the right upper arm inflicted by gunshots. Remnants of clothing found on the body included a woollen men's suit jacket and a brown jumper. <sup>2392</sup> The Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled on 25 March 1999 that Haso Kahteran, born on 2 February 1924, was killed on 24 July 1992 in Prijedor on the basis of two witness statements that Haso Kahteran was killed in July 1992 during the attack on Prijedor and that his body had been exhumed and identified in June 1998 in Čarakovo. 2393 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2394

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Haso Kahteran was shot and killed in Carakovo, Prijedor, on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHTERAN, Kemal, son of Haso (40, male)

A report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004 states that human remains marked "JK01-200B-II" were identified as those of Kemal Kahteran, on the bases of DNA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2388</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3072, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential).

2389 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3074, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2390</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3076, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is spelled "Hase" in this list. On the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Haso Kahteran's identity, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that the material concerns the same person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2391</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3077, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination, p. 43 (confidential). <sup>2392</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3078, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2393</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3079, Lower Court Death Certificate, 25 March 1999

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2394</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 24 "ordinal number" 3075.

matching.<sup>2395</sup> According to the report, Kemal Kahteran, born on 3 July 1952, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor.<sup>2396</sup> The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 7 November 2001 and established that Kemal Kahteran was killed as a result of a gunshot injury to the head.<sup>2397</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kemal Kahteran was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, in July 1992, Accordingly, the Chamber finds he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KALTAK, Admir, son of Fadil (29, male)

Admir Kaltak, ICRC Number BAZ-111131-05, born on 24 March 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Prijedor on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed on 30 July 1998 in Prijedor. Admir Kaltak is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 1999. The date of death is recorded as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The BiH Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Admir Kaltak went missing on 27 July 1992 and that his body was exhumed on 16 July 1998 from the "Sredice" I site in the municipality of Prijedor. 2400 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains marked "Body No. 14" exhumed among those of 16 persons at the "Bišćani-Sredice" site on 16 and 17 July 1998 where the individuals had been buried in different locations around a demolished house, were identified as those of Admir Kaltak.<sup>2401</sup> The autopsy carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 31 July 1998 established that Admir Kaltak died "a violent death" in 1992. Clothing found on the body included a blue T-shirt, grey trousers, and black leather shoes. 2402 On 25 March 1999, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Admir Kaltak was killed on 20 July 1992 in Bišćani-Sredice in the municipality of Prijedor on the basis of a witness statement that Admir Kaltak was shot and killed behind Habib Kadirić's house along with six other men.<sup>2403</sup> The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the place of exhumation listed in the BiH Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the other documents. The Chamber finds that, in light of the consistency between the other documents, the place of exhumation was Bišćani-Sredice, Prijedor. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the allegation in respect of this person.<sup>2404</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Admir Kaltak was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2395</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3082, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3081, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 7 January 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2396</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3082, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2397</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3083, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2398</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3087, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2399</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3088. Death Certificate of Admir Kaltak (confidential). <sup>2400</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3085, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, table of exhumed (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2401</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3086, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2402</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3089, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2403</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3090, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Kaltak, Admir (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2404</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 1 "ordinal number" 3084.

# KARAGIĆ, Šefik, son of Salih (58, male)

- 974. Šefik Karagić, born on 7 November 1933, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date of death is recorded as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2405
- 975. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šefik Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARAGIĆ, Derviš, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

976. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Derviš Karagić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Fikret, son of Šefik (34, male)

- 977. Fikret Karagić, born on 1 January 1962, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2010. The date of death is recorded as "21 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.
- 978. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, FNU, fathers's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

979. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, FNU, son of Seno ("1") (age unknown, male)

980. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, FNU, son of Seno ("2") (age unknown, male)

981. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Hamzo, son of Hamzalija (age unknown, male)

982. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamzo Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2405</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3091.1, Death Certificate of Šefik Karagić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2406</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3092, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2407</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3093.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Karagić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2408</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3094 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2409</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3096 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2410</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3098 (confidential).

### KARAGIĆ, Huzeir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death.<sup>2412</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Huzeir Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARAGIĆ, Ifet, son of Ismet (24, male)

- 984. Ifet Karagić, born on 6 June 1968, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2413</sup>
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ifet Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Munib, son of Edhem (48, male)

- 986. Munib Karagić, born on 20 November 1943, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2414
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Munib Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARAGIĆ, Saša, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Saša Karagić's death.<sup>2415</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Salih, son of Rasim (23, male)

- Salih Karagić, born on 16 June 1969, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2416
- Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Salko, son of Šefik (33, male)

Salko Karagić, born on 1 October 1958, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2411</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3100 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2412</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3102 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2413</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3104.1 Death Certificate of Ifet Karagić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2414</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3106.1 Death Certificate of Munib Karagić (confidential).  $^{2415}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3107 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2416</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"3111.1 Death Certificate of Salih Karagić (confidential).

are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2417

992. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Salko Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARAGIĆ, Samir, son of Hamzalija (20, male)

- 993. Samir Karagić, born on 26 April 1972, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The death does not specify the cause of death. 2418
- 994. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARAGIĆ, Saud, son of Munib (22, male)

- 995. Saud Karagić, born on 8 June 1970, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "24 July 1992" and the place of death as "Tukovi, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2419</sup>
- 996. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Saud Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARAGIĆ, Seno, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

997. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Seno Karagić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARAGIĆ, Suad, son of Sulejman (29, male)

998. Suad Karagić, ICRC number BAS-001473-02, born on 20 April 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 20 July 1992 in Tukovi, Prijedor. This information is consistent with the information registered both in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons and a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 14 March 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Suvad Karagić's wife. Human remains

269 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2417</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3113.1, Death Certificate of Salko Karagić (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>2418</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3115.1, Death Certificate of Samir Karagić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2419</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3117.1, Death Certificate of Saud Karagić (confidential). <sup>2420</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3118 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2421</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3129, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2422</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3121, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2423</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3122, Police Missing Persons Report, Karagić, Suad (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is spelled "Suvad" in the police missing persons report tendered. However, on the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Suad Karagić's identity, the Chamber is satisfied that the material concerns the same person. The Chamber additionally notes that two different police missing persons reports are listed as evidence to prove this individual's death; *see* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3128 Police Missing Persons Report, Karagić, Suad (confidential). However, the latter police missing persons

exhumed in Tukovi and marked as "Body No. 1" were identified as those of "Suvad" Karagić by the deceased's mother on the basis of his clothing on 1 June 2000. 2424 The autopsy of "Tukovi, Body No. 1" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 18 May 2000 and concluded that the death occurred in 1992 and was violent, but based on the presence of few bones and the lack of damage to them, it was not possible to determine the exact cause of death.<sup>2425</sup> On 18 December 1997, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Suad Karagić was killed by the Serb army on 20 July 1992 on the basis of witness testimony.<sup>2426</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the allegation in respect of this person.<sup>2427</sup>

Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Karagić died a violent death in Tukovi, Prijedor, on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARUPOVIĆ, Fehim, son of Muharem (52, male)

1000. Fehim Karupović, born on 17 August 1939, is listed as deceased in Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "23 July 1992" and the place of death as "Čarakovo, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2428 The Chamber received evidence from ST248 who stated that he saw Fehim Karupović had been shot dead in front of his house in Čarakovo on 23 July 1992 when Bosnian Serbs attacked Čarakovo. 2429

1001. Based on the evidence of ST248, the Chamber finds that Fehim Karupović was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KEKIĆ, Emsud, son of Hamdija (33-34, male)

1002. Emsud Kekić, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing on 20 July 1992 in Rizvanovići, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 October 1999. An autopsy of "Rizvanovići" Body No, 1" identified as that of Emsud Kekić was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1999. The autopsy report establishes that Emsud Kekić died on 28 July 1992 and the death was "violent and the consequence of penetrating wounds to the thoracic cage and the head." Clothing found on the body included black leather shoes, parts of a jacket, and one multicoloured sock.<sup>2431</sup>

Case No. IT-08-91-T

report concerns an individual whose father's name is Edhem. Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard this evidence in its analysis.

2424 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3123, Record of Identification (confidential).

2424 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3123, Record of Identification (confidential). The Ch

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2425</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3124, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is spelled "Suvad" in the Autopsy Report. However, on the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Suad Karagić's identity, the Chamber is satisfied that the material concerns the same person.

2426 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3126, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Karagić, Suvad

<sup>(</sup>confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is spelled Suvad in the Lower Court Declaration of Death. However, on the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Suad Karagic's identity, the Chamber is satisfied that the material concerns the same person.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 25 "ordinal number" 3120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2428</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3133.1 Death Certificate of Fehim Karupović (confidential). <sup>2429</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002. T. 5727-5733 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2430</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3135, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2431</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3137, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1003. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emsud Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KEKIĆ, Halid, son of Hadžo (39, male)

1004. Halid Kekić, born on 9 November 1952, is listed as deceased in Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "26 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. <sup>2432</sup> The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that Halid Kekić was taken from a bus going from Bišćani towards Prijedor and shot and killed by Serb forces on 20 July 1992.<sup>2433</sup>

1005. Based on the evidence of ST065, the Chamber finds that Halid Kekić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on 20 July 1992, Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KEKIĆ, Nurija, son of Hadže (46, male)

1006. Nurija Kekić, born on 10 June 1946, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2434 The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that Nurija Kekić was taken from a bus going from Bišćani towards Prijedor and shot and killed by Serb forces on 20 July 1992.<sup>2435</sup>

1007. Based on the evidence of ST065, the Chamber finds that Nurija Kekić was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on 20 July 1992, Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KEKIĆ. Sabahudin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1008. The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that Sabahudin Kekić was taken from a bus going from Bišćani towards Prijedor and shot and killed by Serb forces on 20 July 1992.<sup>2436</sup>

1009. Based on the evidence of ST065, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Kekić was shot and killed in Prijedor on 20 July 1992, Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KLJAJIĆ, Husein, son of Šaban (56-57, male)

1010. Husein Kljajić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed in Čarakovo on 21 August 1998. <sup>2437</sup>. The autopsy of "Čarakovo mosque Body No. 4" identified as that of Husein Kljajić was carried out on 27 August 1998 by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. Husein Kljajić had also suffered fractures of the right arm and one rib. The time of death was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2432</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3140.1 Death Certificate of Halid Kekić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2433</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6870 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2434</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3142.1, Death Certificate of Nurija Kekić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2435</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6870 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2436</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6870 (confidential). <sup>2437</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3146, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as a grey shortsleeved shirt.<sup>2438</sup>

1011. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Kljajić was shot and killed in Čarakovo on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KLJAJIĆ, Muhamed, son of Mujo (29, male)

1012. Muhamed Kljajić, ICRC Number BAZ-104736-02, born on 2 September 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 25 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. 2439 The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Muhamed Kljajić, born in 1962, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor, and was exhumed on 27 July 1998 at Čarakovo-Žeger. 2440 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that on 27 July 1998, human remains exhumed among those of five male bodies from the "Čarakovo-Žeger" site and marked "Body No. 5", were identified as those of Muhamed Kljajić. 2441 The autopsy of "Body No. 5" was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 August 1998. The time of death was determined as "1992" and the cause of death was established as injuries to the head and the facial bones inflicted by gunshots. At the time of his death, Muhamed Kljajic wore a multi-coloured wool sweater, light grey jacket, and blue tracksuit bottoms. 2442

1013. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Kljajić was killed in Carakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### LNU, Admir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1014. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to provde the death of this individual. 2443 Accordingly the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MALOJČIĆ, Fadil, son of Husein (32, male)

1015. Fadil Malojčić, born on 10 March 1960, is listed as deceased in Prijedor Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "23 July 1992" and the place of death as "Čarakovo, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2444 The Chamber received the evidence of ST248 that he saw the dead body of Fadil Malojčić on 23 July 1992 after Bosnian Serb tanks attacked Čarakovo. 2445

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2438</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3147, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital (confidential). <sup>2439</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3152, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved

Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2440</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3150, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3151, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination, pp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2442</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3149, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2443</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3153 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2444</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3156.1, Death Certificate of Fadil Malojčić (confidential).  $^{2445}\,ST248,\,P2296,\,\textit{Prosecution v. Stakić},\,Case\,\,No.\,\,IT-97-24-T,\,8\,\,July\,\,2002.\,\,T.\,\,5732-5736\,\,(confidential).$ 

1016. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Malojčić was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MEDIĆ, Halil, son of Halil (49, male)

1017. Halil Medić, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed at the Čarakovo mosque on 2 October 1998. According to the same remains exhumed as "Čarakovo mosque Body No. 2" identified as that of Halil Medić was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 October 1998. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head, neck, chest, and upper right arm. The time and place of death was established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo". At the time of his death, Halil Medić wore a black long-sleeved sweater, a grey sweater without sleeves, and trousers. 2447

1018. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halil Medić was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MEDIĆ, Mirsad, son of Esad (38, male)

1019. Mirsad Medić, born on 15 May 1954, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišcani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that he saw Mirsad Medić shot and killed along with four other unarmed men in Bišćani on 20 July 1992. 2449

1020. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Medić was shot and killed in Bišćani, Prijedor, on or abour 20 July 1992 in Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Elvedin, son of Ishak (29, male)

1021. Elvedin Mrkalj, born on 22 March 1963, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Tukovi, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2450

1022. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Elvedin Mrkalj was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Emsud, son of Kasim (31, male)

1023. Emsud Mrkalj, born on 5 August 1960, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The day, month, year, and hour of death

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2446</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3158, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2447</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3159, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes the slight differences in the spelling of Halil Medić's name throughout the autopsy report, but considers these differences to be neglibile.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2448</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3162.1, Death Certificate of Mirsad Medić (confidential). <sup>2449</sup> ST065, P1769.1, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002. T. 6859-6863 (confidential); Adjudicated Fact 829.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2450</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3164.1, Death Certificate of Elvedin Mrkalj (confidential).

are entered as "20 June 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that Emsud Mrkalj was taken from a bus going from Bišćani towards Prijedor and shot and killed by Serb forces on 20 July 1992. 2452

1024. Based on the evidence of ST065, the Chamber finds that Emsud Mrkalj was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Denis, son of Nijaz (age unknown, male)

1025. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Denis Mrkalj's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Ermin, son of Nijaz (age unkown, male)

1026. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ermin Mrkalj's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Halid, father's name unknown (age unkown, male)

1027. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Halid Mrkalj's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Hamdija, father's name unknown (age unkown, male)

1028. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hamdija Mrkalj's death. <sup>2456</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Ifet, son of Abdulah (44, male)

1029. According to a police missing persons statement issued by Lušći Palanka police on 25 May 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Ifet Mrkalj's sister, and a further statement taken form an eye-witness, Ifet Mrkalj, born on 3 February 1948, was killed among other men in Bišćani-Krčevine, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The bodies were not buried at the time. When he was last seen, Ifet Mrkalj wore a blue T-shirt, a tracksuit, and white trainers. Human remains exhumed from the "Rizvanovići-Krečevine" site in the municipality of Prijedor and marked "6 Bodies LF-49cm" contained bones identified as belonging to Ifet Mrkalj on the basis of DNA matching. The record of identification states that Ifet Mrkalj was also positively identified among the remains of six persons exhumed from the "Rizvanovići-Krčevine" site by the deceased's aunt and the eye-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2451</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3166.1, Death Certificate of Emsud Mrkalj (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2452</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6870 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2453</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3167 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2454</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3168 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2455</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3169 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2456</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3171 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2457</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3180, Police Missing Persons Report, Mrkalj, Ifet (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2458</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3175, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

witness to his death.<sup>2459</sup> The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Ifet Mrkalj, born in 1948, went missing on 20 July 1992 and was exhumed from Rizvanovići-Krčevine, Prijedor, on 10 May 2000.<sup>2460</sup> The autopsy of the bones recovered from the site was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 23 May 2000, and establishes the cause of death as "violent" and the "direct consequence of a shot from a firearm". The time of death was established as "1992."<sup>2461</sup>

1030. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ifet Mrkalj was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Isak, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1031. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Isak Mrkalj's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Kasim, son of Hamza (62, male)

- 1032. Kasim Mrkalj, born on 29 June 1930 in Bišćani, Prijedor, is listed as deaceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2005. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 that Kasim Mrkalj was taken from a bus going from Bišćani towards Prijedor and shot and killed by Serb forces on 20 July 1992. <sup>2464</sup>
- 1033. Based on the evidence of ST065, the Chamber finds that Kasim Mrkalj was shot and killed in the Bišćani area in Prijedor on 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Latif, son of Hamza (53, male)

- 1034. Latif Mrkalj, born on 4 June 1938, is as listed deaceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2465
- 1035. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Latif Mrkalj was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Mirhad, son of Kasim (34, male)

1036. Mirhad Mrkalj, born on 1 March 1958, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify

275 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2459</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3178, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2460</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3174, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2461</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3177, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2462</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3181 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2463</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3183.1, Death Certificate of Kasim Mrkalj (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2464</sup> ST065, P1769.01, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002, T. 6859-6870 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2465</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3184.1, Death Certificate of Latif Mrkalj (confidential).

the cause of death.<sup>2466</sup> The Chamber received the evidence of ST065 who stated that he saw Mirhad Mrkalj shot dead, while unarmed, by Bosnian Serb soldiers at a collection point in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.<sup>2467</sup>

1037. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirhad Mrkalj was shot and killed in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Smajil, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1038. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Smajil Mrkalj's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUŠIĆ, Badema, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

1039. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Badema Mušić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJDŽIĆ, Avdo, father's name unknown (55, male)

1040. On 18 March 1992, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most declared dead Avdo Mujdžić, born on 10 February 1937. The Sanski Most court held that he was killed on 23 July 1992 near the mosque in Čarakovo, based on the statements of several witnesses who stated that Avdo Mujdžić and ten other men had been lined up against the wall of the mosque and shot and killed on that morning. The autopsy of "Čarakovo mosque Body No. 2" identified as that of Avdo Mujdžić was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 25 August 1998. The date of death was established as "1992" and the cause of death as a trauma to the thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. At the time of his death, Avdo Mujdžić wore a blue shirt, and shorts. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the allegation in respect of this individual.

1041. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Avdo Mujdžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJDŽIĆ, Rahim, son of Omer (54, male)

1042. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Rahim Mujdžić, born in 1938, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor on 23 July 1992 and was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-

ordinar number 3172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2466</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3186.1, Death Certificate of Mirhad Mrkalj (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2467 ST065, P1769.1, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 26 August 2002. T. 6859-6863 (confidential); Adjudicated Fact 829.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2468</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3187 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2469</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3189 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2470</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3193, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Mujdžić, Avdo (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2471</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3194, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2472</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 26 "ordinal number" 3192.

Centar" site on 30 September 1999. A record of identification issued on 30 September 1999 states that human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Centar II" site and marked as "Body No. 3" were identified as those of Rahim Mujdžić, born on 5 May 1938, by the deceased's sister. The autopsy of Rahim Mujdžić's body, carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 October 1999, determined the time of death as "1992". The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Clothing found on his remains was identified as grey woollen trousers and a narrow belt with a buckle. 2475

1043. The Chamber finds that Rahim Mujdžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Rahim Mujdžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJDŽIĆ, Redžep, son of Šerif (47-48, male)

1044. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Redžep Mujdžić, born in 1944, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992 and was exhumed in Čarakovo on 21 August 1998. The autopsy of "Čarakovo mosque Body No. 1" identified as that of Redžep Mujdžić was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 25 August 1998. The date of death was established as "1992" and the cause of death as a trauma to the head caused by shots from a firearm. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a short-sleeved shirt, and black leather shoes. <sup>2477</sup>

1045. Based on the evidence presented, and based on the fact that other persons found at the Čarakovo mosque were killed there on 23 July 1992, the Chamber is finds that Redžep Mujdžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUSIĆ, Edin, <sup>2478</sup> father's name unknown (27, male)

1046. Edin Musić, born on 27 June 1965, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "23 July 1992" and the place of death as "Čarakovo" The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2479

1047. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Musić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUSIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Hilmo (25, male)

1048. Fahrudin Musić, ICRC number BAZ-105210-01, born on 8 July 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 25 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Fahrudin Musić, born in 1967, went missing on 1 June 1992 and was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Žeger" site in the municipality of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2473</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3197, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2474</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3198, Record of Identification (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3196, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2476</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3200, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2477</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3201, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2478 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution lists this person as "Edina Musić" in the Final Victims List and the Proof of Death Database. However, based on the Death Certificate submitted, the individual is named "Edin Musić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2479</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3203.1, Death Certificate of Edin Music (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2480</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3207, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Prijedor on 27 July 1998.<sup>2481</sup> The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that on 27 July 1998, human remains exhumed among those of five male bodies at the "Čarakovo-Žeger" site and marked "Body No. 2", were identified as those of Fahrudin Musić, son of Hilmo, born on 8 July 1967.<sup>2482</sup> The autopsy of "Body No. 2" was performed by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 August 1998. The time of death was determined as "1992" and the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the head. Clothing found on the remains included a black leather jacket and a vest.<sup>2483</sup>

1049. Based on the evidence presented, and based on the fact that other persons buried at the Žeger site were found to have been killed there on 23 July 1992, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Musić was also shot and killed there on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUSIĆ, Hasib, son of Redžo (57, male)

1050. Hasib Musić, born in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. According to the same list, his body was exhumed on 21 August 1998 in Čarakovo.<sup>2484</sup> Hasib Musić, born on 25 May 1935, was declared dead by a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued on 23 April 1997. It was held that he was killed on 23 July 1992 near the mosque in Čarakovo, on the basis of witness testimony that ten men had been killed outside the mosque on this date. The ruling was also based on the statement of another witness who stated that Hasib Musić was among the persons killed there. 2485. The autopsy of "Čarakovo mosque Body No. 3" identified as that of Hasib Musić was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 25 August 1998. The date of death was established as "1992" and the cause of death as traumata to the head and thoracic cavity caused by shots from a firearm. 2486 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the allegation in respect of this individual.<sup>2487</sup>

1051. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasib Musić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUSIĆ, Zekir, son of Vejsil (45, male)

1052. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Zekir Musić, born in 1947, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed from the Čarakovo mosque site on 2 October 1998. 2488 The autopsy of the body marked "Carakovo mosque Body No 1." Exhumed at the Carakovo mosque on 2 October 1998 identified as that of Zekir Musić was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 October 1998. The time and place of death was recorded as "Čarakovo, Prijedor, 1992" and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2481</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3206, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2482</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3205, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2483</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3208, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2484</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3210, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3211, Lower Court Death Certificate, 23 April 1997

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2486</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3212, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2487 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 26 'ordinal number" 3209.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2488</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3215, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, neck, chest, and pelvis.<sup>2489</sup> At the time of his death, Zekir Musić was wearing a blue shirt and trousers. 2490

1053. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zekir Musić was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PELAK, Muharem, son of Avdija (39, male)

1054. Muharem Pelak, ICRC number BAZ-101275-02, born on 4 August 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 July 1992 in Rizvanovići, Prijedor.<sup>2491</sup> The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Muharem Pelak went missing on 22 July 1992 in Rizvanovići-Jugovci and that his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2492 Human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave site in 2001 and labelled "JK01-313B" were identified as those of Muharem Pelak on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2493</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, Muharem Pelak's body was identified both on the basis of DNA matching and visual identification by the deceased's family. According to the report, Muharem Pelak disappeared in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 21 July 1992. An autopsy of Muharem Pelak's body was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 25 October 2001. The cause of death could not be ascertained.<sup>2496</sup>

1055. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Pelak was killed in RizvanovićI, Prijedor, on or about 21 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### PORČIĆ, Sead, son of Šefik (27, male)

1056. Sead Porčić, born on 18 June 1965, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "22 November 1996." The place of death is not recorded. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2497

1057. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Porčić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2489</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3214, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that another body exhumed at the Čarakovo mosque has been labelled "Čarakovo Mosque body No. 1" and was identified as that of Redžep Mujdžić. See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3201, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital (confidential) above. The Chamber is satisfied that the similar labelling stems from the fact that the bodies were exhumed on two separate occasions, namely in August 1998 and October 1998, respectively.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3214, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2491</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3222, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2492</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3218, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3223, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 29 May 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2494</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3217, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2495</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3217, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2496</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3221, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2497</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3225.1, Death Certificate of Sead Porčić (confidential).

## REDŽIĆ, Ajka, daughter of Arif (74, female)

1058. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Ajka Redžić, born in 1918, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The list states that her body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala II" site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 28 October 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 states that on 28 September 1998, two bodies were exhumed from two individual graves at the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala II" site. Human remains marked "Body No. 1" were identified by a witness as those of Ajka Redžić, who had been killed in front of her house in August 1992. The autopsy of Ajka Redžić's body carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević at the of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and face. The time and place of death were established as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala."

1059. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the date of Ajka Redžić's death as recorded in the exhumation report, the Chamber finds that Ajka Redžić died a violent death in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## REDŽIĆ, Asim, son of Muharem (53, male)

1060. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Asim Redžić, born in 1939, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Prijedor Baćuša I" site on 30 September 1999. Human remains exhumed from the "Čarakovo Baćuša" site and marked "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Asim Redžić by the deceased's son who had buried the body at the exhumation site. The Chamber received the evidence of ST248 that he had seen the dead bodies of eight people, including Asim Redžić, on 23 July 1992 when Bosnian Serb tanks attacked Čarakovo. The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 October 1999 and established the cause of death as injuries to the head, jaw, spine, right upper arm, and left leg inflicted by a firearm. The time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the remains was identified as grey woollen trousers, a beige chequered shirt, and a suit jacket. 2504

1061. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asim Redžić was killed in the Čarakovo area in Prijedor on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# REDŽIĆ, Ešef, son of Muharem (37, male)

1062. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Ešef Redžić, born in 1957, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor on 24 August 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed at the Pašinac cemetery, Prijedor, on 15 May 2000. According to the FIS database,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2498</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3229, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2499</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3228, Court Record of Exhumation (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2500</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3227, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2501</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3233, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2502</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3232, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2503</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002. T. 5732-5736 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2504</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 3234, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2505</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3242, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Ešef Redžić was born on 19 April 1955 and died on 1 August 1992 in Čarakovo.<sup>2506</sup> Human remains marked "PC01-002B" were identified as those of Ešef Redžić, born on 19 April 1955, through identification by the deceased's sister on 22 September 2000.<sup>2507</sup> The autopsy of the body, which had been exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 5 July 2000. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to head and chest.<sup>2508</sup> The Chamber notes the discrepancy in the recorded years of birth and, on the whole of the evidence, finds that this Ešef Redžić was born on 19 April 1955.

1063. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ešef Redžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, in August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# REDŽIĆ, Eniz, son of Meho (36, male)

1064. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Eniz Redžić, born in 1956, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala II" site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 28 October 1998. The Court Record of Exhumation, issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998 states that on 28 September 1998, two bodies were exhumed from two individual graves from the "Prijedor Čarakovo-Gornja Mahala II" site. Human remains marked "Body No. 2" were identified by a witness as those of Eniz Redžić, who had been killed in front of his mother's house along with his mother in August 1992. The autopsy of Eniz Redžić's body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the chest. The time and place of death were recorded as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo, Gornja Mahala". At the time of his death, Eniz Redžić wore a sweater and trousers.

1065. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the date of Eniz Redžić's death as recorded in the exhumation report, the Chamber finds that Eniz Redžić died a violent death in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# REDŽIĆ, Naila, daughter of Vejsil (36, female)

1066. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Naila Redžić, born in 1955, went missing on 24 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that her body was exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, Prijedor, on 15 May 2000. <sup>2512</sup> On 22 September 2000, human remains marked "PC01-009B" were identified by a relative as those of "Nail" Redžić, born on 20 August 1955, based on the clothing found on the remains. <sup>2513</sup> The autopsy of Naila Redžić's body, which was exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 5 July 2000 and established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to head. <sup>2514</sup> On

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2506</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3241, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2507</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3239, Identification Report, Ešef Redžić.(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2508</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3244, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2509</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3248, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2510</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3246, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2511</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3247, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2512</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3254, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons. table of exhumed (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2513</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3252, Identification Report. Despite the name being recorded as "Nail" in the translation, it is listed as "Naila" in the BCS original, which is consistent with the other evidence for this individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2514</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3251, Autopsy Report (confidential).

5 November 1996, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Naila Redžić, born on 9 June 1955, was killed on 24 August 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on the basis of two witnesses stating that they had seen her dead body in front of a house in Čarakovo, Prijedor. <sup>2515</sup> The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth provided in the record of identification and the Lower Court Declaration of Death. However, the Chamber is satisfied that both documents pertain to the same individual.

1067. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the date of disappearance recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, the Chamber finds that Naila Redžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo on or about 24 August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### REDŽIĆ, Namir, son of Ešef (3, male)

1068. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Namir Redžić, born in 1989, went missing on 24 August 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, Prijedor, on 15 May 2000. 2516 According to the Record of Identification, Namir Redžić's body marked "PC01-010B" was identified by his aunt on 22 September 2000 in Šejkovača, Sanski Most. The identification was made based on the clothing. 2517 The autopsy of Namir Redžić's body, exhumed from the Pasinac cemetery, was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 11 July 2000 and established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to head. Clothing found on the body was identified as a blue long-sleeved children's shirt.<sup>2518</sup>

1069. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Namir Redžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo on or about 24 August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### REDŽIĆ, Nizam, son of Mehmed (19, male)

1070. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Nizam Redžić, born in 1973, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Zecovi, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site, Prijedor, on 2 October 1998. 2519 The Court Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 10 October 1998, states on 2 October 1998, an onsite witness identified human remains exhumed from "Čarakovo-Baćuša" site, labelled "Body No. 3", as those of Nizam Redžić, who had been killed in July 1992.<sup>2520</sup> The autopsy of the body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1998. The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the head, chest, and pelvis. At the time of his death, Nizam Redžić wore a brown long-sleeved sweater, red short-sleeved shirt, and trousers. The date and place of death are recorded as "23 July 1992, Čarakovo". 2521

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2515</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3256, Lower Court Declaration of Death, Redžić, Naila

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2516</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3263, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2517</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3260, Identification Report, Namir Redžić (confidential). <sup>2518</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3258, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2519</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3266, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3265, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2521</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3268, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1071. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nizam Redžić was shot and killed in the Čarakovo area in Prijedor on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## REDŽIĆ, Rubija, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

1072. The Chamber has received the evidence of ST248 that Rubija Redžić was killed on 23 July 1992 when Bosnian Serbs attacked Čarakovo. ST248 stated that he saw Rubija Redžić's dead body in front of her house and that he saw that her body was covered in blood emanating from her head. <sup>2522</sup>

1073. Based on the evidence of ST248, the Chamber finds that Rubija Redžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that she was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### REDŽIĆ, Sabahudin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1074. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Sabahudin Redžić's death. <sup>2523</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### REDŽIĆ, Vahid, son of Ešef (6-7, male)

1075. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Vahid Redžić, born in 1985, went missing on 24 August 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. The list states that his body was exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, Prijedor, on 15 May 2000. According to the record of identification, the body of Vahid Redžić, marked PC01-008B was visually identified by his aunt on 22 September 2000 in Šejkovača, Sanski Most. The autopsy of the body, exhumed from the Pašinac cemetery, was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 6 July 2000 and established the cause of death as gunshot injuries to chest and pelvis.

1076. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vahid Redžić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 24 August 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Vahid Redžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# REKIĆ, Ramiz, son of Redžo (40, male)

1077. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons states that Ramiz Rekić, born in 1952, went missing on 23 July 1992 in Čarakovo, Prijedor. According to the same list, Ramiz Redžić's body was exhumed from the "Čarakovo-Alića Bunar" site in Prijedor on 19 October 1998. The autopsy of "Body No. 1" exhumed from the "Alića Bunar" site, identified as that of Ramiz Rekić on the basis of an ID card found on his body, was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 6 October 1999. The cause of death was established as injuries to the head and left thigh caused by shots from a firearm. The time of death was established

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2522</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002. T. 5727-5733 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2523</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3272 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2524</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3276, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2525</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3279, Identification Report, Redžić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2526</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3277, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2527</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3282, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

as "1992". At the time of his death, Ramiz Rekić wore a brown leather belt, blue worker's trousers, and a beige shirt. 2528

1078. The Chamber finds that Ramiz Rekić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### RIZVANOVIĆ, Hasan, son of Ibrahim (57-61, male)

1079. Hasan Rizvanović, ICRC number BAZ-903655-02, 2529 born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Volarić II" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 19 August 1998. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution also tenders the ICRC Missing Persons Report. However, the report appears to concern another individual and, thus, the Chamber will disregard the report in its analysis. Hasan Rizvanović, born 2 April 1935, is listed as deceased in the Ljubija Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date and time of death are entered as "19 July 1992" and the place of death as "Ljubija". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. The FIS database records that Hasan Rizvanović, born on 2 April 1935, died on 19 July 1992 in Ljubija, Prijedor. The autopsy of Hasan Rizvanović was carried out on 28 August 1998 by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Cantonal Hospital Bihać. The cause of death was established as an injury to the left side of the chest inflicted by a firearm.

1080. The Chamber finds that Hasan Rizvanović died a violent death in 1992. However, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### RIZVANOVIĆ, Hase, son of Hamid (42, male)

1081. Hase Rizvanović, born 26 March 1950, is listed as deceased in the Ljubija Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "19 December 1992" and the place of death as "Ljubija". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. 2535 The autopsy of "Body No. 3" exhumed from the "Volarić I" mass grave and identified as that of Hase Rizvanović was carried out by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 28 August 1998. It was determined that Hase Rizvanović died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the head and the chest. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a blue and red tracksuit and blue overalls. 2536 On 26 April 1997, the Municipal Court of Sanski Most ruled that Hase Rizvanović, born on 26 March 1950, was killed on 19 June 1992 in Ljubija, Prijedor, on the basis of statements given by two witnesses who stated that Hase Rizvanović was taken by the Serb police from Rizvanovići to the bank of the river Sana

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2528</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3284, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2529</sup> The Chamber notes that the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List uses the same ICRC number for two different men named "Hasan Rizvanović".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2530</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3291, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2531</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3286, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2532</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3291.1, Death Certificate of Hasan Rizvanović (confidential).

<sup>2533</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3299, Federal Legister, Confidential Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3291.1, Death Certificate of Hasan Rizvanović (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3288, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3289, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2534</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3289, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihad (confidential).

<sup>2535</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3289, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihad (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2535</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3295.1, Death Certificate of Hase Rizvanović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2536</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3293, Autopsy Reports from the Cantonal Hospital Bihać (confidential).

with a group of 20 Bosniak men and that only one of these men survived.<sup>2537</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution also tenders the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.<sup>2538</sup> However, the report appears to concern another individual and, thus, the Chamber will disregard the report in its analysis.

1082. The Chamber finds that Hase Rizvanović died a violent death on or about 19 June 1992 in Ljubija, Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# RIZVANOVIĆ, Haso, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1083. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Haso Rizvanović's death. <sup>2539</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SALIHOVIĆ, Huse, son of Hilmo (29, male)

1084. Huse Salihović, born on 27 June 1963, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "16 July 1992" and the place of death as "Čarakovo". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. <sup>2540</sup> The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Huse Salihović, born in 1963, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his remains were exhumed on 14 October 1998 in Gornja Mahala-Brda, Prijedor. <sup>2541</sup> Bodyparts exhumed from the Čarakovo martyr's cemetery where they had been reburied after their first exhumation from the "Gornja Mahala Brda" site, were identified as those of Huso Salihović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of his body was carried out by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 4 November 2006. The autopsy report prepared by Dr. Rakočević does not record a time of death, but states that Huse Salihović disappeared in Čarakovo on 16 July 1992. The autopsy report established that the cause of death was a penetrating wound to the head. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a grey sweater and a blue shirt. <sup>2542</sup> The Chamber has received evidence from ST248 that he had seen the dead bodies of Huse Salihović and Nermin Sijacić, who had been found disfigured and mutilated in a field. <sup>2543</sup>

1085. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Huse Salihović was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SIJAČIĆ, Hašim, son of Mehmed (49, male)

1086. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Hašim Siječić, born in 1943, went missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The list states that his body was exhumed on 27 July 1998 from the "Žeger" site in the municipality of Prijedor.<sup>2544</sup> The Court

285 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2537</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3295, Death Certificate of Hase Rizvanović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2538</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3294, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2539</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3296 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2540</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3301.1, Death Certificate of Huse Salihović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2541</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3299, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2542</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3301.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2543</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T 8 July 2002, T. 5741 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2544</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3303, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Record of Exhumation issued by investigative judge Abdulmedžid Mušić of the Cantonal Court of Bihać on 6 August 1998 states that human remains exhumed from an individual grave on 27 July 1998 in Čarakovo-Žeger, Prijedor and marked "Body No. 6" were identified as those of Hašim Slječić, son of Mehmed, born on 22 March 1943. The autopsy of the body was conducted by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 5 August 1998. 2546 The autopsy report established that Hašim Sijačić died in 1992 and that the cause of death was gunshot-inflicted injuries to the chest. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as brown trousers.<sup>2547</sup>

1087. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hašim Sijačić was shot and killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on or about 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SLJEČIĆ, Husein, son of Husein (55, male)

1088. Husein Siječić, born 17 June 1937, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "22 July 1992" and the place of death is stated as "Čarakovo". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. 2548

1089. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Siječić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SIJEČIĆ, Jasmin, son of Safet (29, male)

1090. Jasmin Siječić, born 14 June 1963, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "23 July 1992" and the place of death is stated as "Čarakovo, Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death.<sup>2549</sup>

1091. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Siječić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SIJEČIĆ, Ermin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1092. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ermin Siječić's death. 2550 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this individual was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SIMBEGOVIĆ, Hasib, father's name unknown (64, male)

1093. The Prosecution adduces a death certificate for Hasib "Sinanbegović", born 15 February 1928. The Chamber considers this death certificate to relate to another person. <sup>2551</sup> The Chamber has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2545</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3305, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 2546 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3305, Court Record of Post-mortem Examination (confidential). <sup>2547</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3304, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2548</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3307.1, Death Certificate of Husein Siječić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2549</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3310.1, Death Certificate of Jasmin Siječić (confidential). <sup>2550</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3311 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2551</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3316.1, Death Certificate of Hasib Sinanbegović (confidential).

received evidence from ST248 that, on 28 July 1992, Hasib Simbegović was taken to a bridge in Žeger by Drago Tintar and shot in the forehead.<sup>2552</sup>

1094. On the basis of the evidence of ST248, the Chamber finds that Hasib Simbegović was shot and killed in Prijedor on or about 28 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SUŠIĆ, Husein, son of Mustafa (67, male)

1095. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Husein Sušić, born in 1925, went missing in Čarakovo on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, assembled human remains marked "JK01/190B and JK01/378#11" were identified as those of Husein Sušić on the bases of DNA matching and visual identification by the deceased's family members. According to the report, Husein Sušić was executed in front of the Čarakovo mosque on 23 July 1992. S555

1096. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is finds that Husein Sušić was killed in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SUŠIĆ, Rasim, son of Mustafa (58, male)

1097. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Rasim Sušić, ICRC number BAS-003104-01, born on 7 December 1934, died in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in Prijedor and marked "JK01/394BP-20" were identified as those of Rasim Sušić on the basis of DNA matching. State of Policy Prijedor.

1098. On the basis of the evidence presented, and considering that other persons killed in the area on or about 20 July 1992 were buried at the Jakarina Kosa site, the Chamber finds that Rasim Sušić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## TREPIĆ, Husein, son of Safet (50, male)

1099. Husein Trepić, born 3 February 1942, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is stated as "Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. 2558

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2552</sup> ST248, P2296, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 8 July 2002, T. 5748 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2553</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3320, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2554</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3318, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3319, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2555</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3318, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2556</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3322, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2557</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3323, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2558</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3325.1, Death Certificate of Husein Trepić (confidential).

1100. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Trepić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### VOJNIKOVIĆ, Elvir, son of Muharem (20, male)

1101. Elvir Vojniković, born 12 November 1972, is listed as deceased in the Prijedor Register of Deaths municipality of Prijedor for the year 2009. The day, month, year, and hour of death are entered as "20 July 1992" and the place of death as "Rizvanovići-Šljunkara, Prijedor". The death certificate does not state the cause of death. 2559 Human remains exhumed from the "Rizvanovići-Šljunkara" site on 27 May 2005 and labelled "Body No. 1" were identified as those of Elvir Vojniković on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy was conducted by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital on 24 September 2005 and 21 April 2007, respectively. The cause of death could not be established due to the incomplete state of the remains, which only consisted of a skull missing the lower jaw. The skull was otherwise undamaged. <sup>2560</sup>

1102. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Elvir Vojniković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### (c) Ljubija Football Stadium

### ČANČAR, Suvad, son of Adem (34-35, male)

1103. Suvad Čančar, born in 1957, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Prijedor on 1 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor and marked as "RK01/240B", were identified as those of Suvad Čančar on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Suvad Čančar's body was carried out on 12 July 2000 by Professor Mohammad Elfawal of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the head and other parts of the body. <sup>2563</sup>

1104. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Suvad Cancar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Ekrem, son of Fehim (29, male)

1105. Ekrem Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-110549-02, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Carakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. Ekrem Čaušević, born on 4 April 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Person Report as having disappeared in Kurevo, Prijedor, on 29 July 1992. 2565 Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL01/005B" were identified as those of Ekrem Čaušević on the basis of DNA matching. 2566 The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2559</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3327.1, Death Certificate of Elvir Vojniković (confidential).

2560 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3327.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2561</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3329, ICRC Missing Person Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2562</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3332, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2563</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3331, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2564</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3337, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2565</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3335, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2566</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3334, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

autopsy of Ekrem Čaušević's body was carried out on 1 August 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to legs. <sup>2567</sup>

1106. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ekrem Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1107. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ismet Avdić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Amir, son of Salko (19, male)

1108. Amir Crljenković, ICRC number BAZ-109088-01, born in 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. Amir Crljenković, born on 8 May 1973, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Prijedor in July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 110" were identified as those of Amir Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching. The Prosecution has tendered an identification report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 21 September 2001 which states that human remains marked "RK01/077B" were identified as those of Amir Crljenković, born on 8 May 1973, through identification of the deceased's clothing by his sister. The Prosecution has also tendered an autopsy report for the remains "RK01/077B" exhumed from the "Redak" grave site. Start cannot be ascertained with certainty which body belonged to Amir Crljenković, the Chamber will not consider the autopsy report in its analysis.

1109. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Amir Crljenković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DEDIĆ, Emsud, son of Kasim (36, male)

1110. Esmud Dedić, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. The Chamber has received a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 25 July 2000 on the basis of a statement given by one of Emsud Dedić's relatives. The report states that Emsud Dedić was last seen in "Miška Glava" at the "end of July 1992" when has was "taken away from the Stadium in Ljubija". At the time of his disappearance, Emsud Dedić wore blue jeans, a denim shirt, and black leather boots. Exhumed human remains marked as "RK01/180B" were identified as those of Emsud Dedić on the basis of his clothing and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2567</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3336, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2568</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3338 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2569</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3346, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2570</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3343, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2571</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3345, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2572</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3347, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2573</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3355, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2574</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3352, Police Missing Persons Report, Dedić, Emsud (confidential).

characteristic ante-mortem injury to the shoulder by the deceased's wife. <sup>2575</sup> The autopsy of "RK01/180B" exhumed from the "Redak" grave site was carried out on 21 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. Clothing found on the remains included jeans and ankle-high boots. <sup>2576</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Ahmet Tatarević of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 26 March 1999, whereby Emsud Dedić was declared dead. The date of his death was established as 20 July 1992, based on the statements of two witnesses that Emsud Dedić was taken from his home by Serb military formations on 20 July 1992 and killed "somewhere near Ljubija". <sup>2577</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. <sup>2578</sup>

1111. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DEDIĆ, Samir, son of Said (23, male)

1112. Samir Dedić, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. <sup>2579</sup> The police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 9 October 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Samir Dedić's mother, states that Samir Dedić was last seen at his home in Rizvanovići in July 1992. At the time of his disappearance, Samir Dedić wore a grey windbreaker, jeans, and a chequered shirt. <sup>2580</sup> Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/076B" were identified by the deceased's mother as those of Samir Dedić on the basis of his clothing on 10 October 2000. <sup>2581</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders an autopsy report for the remains "RK01-074B". <sup>2582</sup> As this autopsy report relates to the remains of another person, the Chamber will disregard it in its analysis.

1113. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DURATOVIĆ, Ekrem, son of Rifet (43, male)

1114. Ekrem Duratović was born on 29 January 1949 in Rizvanovići, Prijedor.<sup>2583</sup> The Chamber has received a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 3 February 1999 on the basis of a statement given by Ekrem Duratović's cousin. According to the report, Ekrem Duratović, born on 29 January 1949, was last seen in Hambarine on 21 July 1992. At the time of his disappearance, he wore a jacket lined with fur, grey trousers, and a brown jumper.<sup>2584</sup> Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor and marked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2575</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3354, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2576</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3353, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2577</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3356, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>2578</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database 12 April 2012, Confidential Appear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2578</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 27, "ordinal number" 3349.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2579</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3359, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2580</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3363, Police Missing Persons Report, Dedić Samir (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2581</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3360, Record of Identification (confidential). The Chamber notes that the record of identification does not state from which grave site the body was exhumed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2582</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3362, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2583</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3370.1, Birth Certificate, of Ekrem Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2584</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3370, Police Missing Persons Report, Duratović, Ekrem (confidential).

"RK01/133B" were identified as those of Ekrem Duratović on the basis of DNA matching, 2585 documents found on the remains, and positive identification by the deceased's brother. The autopsy of Ekrem Duratović's body was carried out on 13 July 2000 by Professor Mohammad Elfawal of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and chest. Clothing found on the remains included a brown, furry jacket and brown trousers. 2587

1115. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ekrem Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Ermin, son of Rahim (28, male)

- 1116. Ermin Duratović, born 12 July 1968, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The date and time of his death are recorded as "22 November 1996". The place of death is not recorded. The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2588</sup>
- 1117. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ermin Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Fikret, son of Karanfil (33, male)

- 1118. Fikret Duratović, born 12 January 1959, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date and time of death are recorded as "12 June 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2589</sup>
- 1119. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Said, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1120. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Said Duratović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# EJUPOVIĆ, Sakib, son of Džafer (38, male)

1121. Sakib Ejupović, born 13 September 1953, is listed as deceased in the Ljubija Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date and time of death are recorded as "10 August 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Ravska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2591</sup> The Prosecution has also tendered an autopsy report for the body of Sakib Ejupović. The document has, however, not been tendered in one of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2585</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3367, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2586</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3365, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2587</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3369, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2588</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3371.1, Death Certificate of Ermin Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2589</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3373.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2590</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3374 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2591</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3376.1, Death Certificate of Sakib Ejupović (confidential).

official working languages of the Tribunal.<sup>2592</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard the report in its analysis.

1122. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sakib Ejupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FATIMIĆ, Edin, son of Ilijaz (22, male)

1123. Edin Fatimić, ICRC number BAZ-101895-01, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 7 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2593 Edin Fatimić, born on 17 October 1969, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Ljubija, Prijedor, in June 1992. 2594 The FIS database records that Edin Fatimić died in Prijedor on 20 June 1992. 2595 A police missing persons report issued by Lušći Palanka SJB on 23 December of an unknown year states that Edin Fatimić was last seen in front of his house in Bišćani. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "[i]t is believed that he was running toward Ljubija forrest". At the time of his disappearance, Edin Fatimić wore a white and blue shirt and white trainers. <sup>2596</sup> The Chamber has received a court decision issued on 21 December 2000, whereby Edin Fatimić was declared dead. According to this decision, witnesses stated that Edin Fatimić was killed in the village of Redak, Prijedor, on 20 June 1992. The Chamber notes that it is unclear by which court the decision was issued.<sup>2597</sup> Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/039B" were identified as those of Edin Fatimić by the deceased's mother on the basis of his clothing. An ID card was also found on the remains. 2598 The autopsy of "RK01/039B" exhumed from the "Redak" grave site was carried out on 24 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the pelvis and legs. Clothing found on the remains included jeans and a blue shirt. 2599

1124. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Fatimić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FIKIĆ, Reuf, son of Ramo (21, male)

1125. Reuf Fikić, ICRC number BAZ-111604-01, born on 14 July 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Person Report as having gone missing in Hamarine, Prijedor, in July 1992. 2600 Reuf Fikić is also listed as deceased in the Omarska Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date and time of death recorded as "23 July 1992". The place of death is recorded as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2592</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3376.2, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the translation of the autopsy report tendered concerns the autopsy of the body of a certain "Samir Foric" exhumed from the Jama Lisac mass grave in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa.

2593 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3383, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2594</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3385, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber has also received a letter to this effect issued by the ICRC Mission in Zagreg in 1996 under "ordinal number" 3379 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2595</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3386, Federal Institute for Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2596</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3363, Police Missing Persons Report, Fatimić, Edin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3384, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential). <sup>2598</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3378, Record of Identification (confidential). The record of identification issued by Sanski Most SJB on 14 September 2000 does not state from which grave site the remains

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2599</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3382, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2600</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3392, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

"Omarska". 2601 The Chamber received evidence of Elvedin Našić who knew Reuf Fikić and saw him being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Liubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. 2602

1126. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, the Chamber finds that Reuf Fikić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HAMULIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1127. The Chamber notes no evidence has been tendered in the Proof of Death Database to prove this person's death. 2603 However, the Chamber received evidence of Elvedin Našić that a man with the last name of "Hamulić" from Rizvanovići was shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from the Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992.<sup>2604</sup>

1128. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, the Chamber finds that a man with the last name of Hamulić from Rizvanovići was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HAMULIĆ, Ismet, son of Himzo (20, male)

1129. Ismet Hamulić, born 27 August 1971, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The place of death is entered as "Prijedor, Keraterm camp". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the "Ljubija-Ljeskare" grave site in Donja Ljubija and marked "Body No 3" were identified as those of Ismet Hamulić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 30 September 2006 and 17 March 2007, respectively, by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Kovačević. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head, lumbar part of the spine, and right thighbone. Remnants of clothing found on the body were identified as white trainers, jeans, and a blue track-suit top. 2606

1130. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Hamulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HEGIĆ, Besim, son of Hase (41, male)

1131. Besim Hegić, ICRC number BAZ-107457-05, born on 14 November 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 22 August 1992. 2607 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor and marked as "RK01/074B" were identified as those of Besim Hegić on the basis of DNA matching. 2608 The autopsy of Besim Hegić's body was carried out on 25 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. Clothing found on the remains included a woolen pullover and black trousers. <sup>2609</sup> The Chamber received

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2601</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3394.1, Death Certificate of Reuf Fikić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2602</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brđanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2603</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3395, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2604</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brđanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12707 (confidential). <sup>2605</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3397.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Hamulić (confidential). <sup>2606</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3397.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2607</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3405, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3404, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2609</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3399, Autopsy Report (confidential).

evidence of Elvedin Našić who stated that Besim Hegić, whom he knew, was shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. 2610

1132. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Besim Hegić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **HOPOVAC, Islam, son of Demal (36, male)**

1133. Islam Hopovac, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2611 The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 4 September 1998, whereby Islam Hopovac, born on 2 March 1956, was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Islam Hopovac was killed at the Ljubija mine on 26 July 1992. By the same decision, judge Draganović ordered that a corresponding entry into the register of deaths be made. <sup>2612</sup> The Chamber has also received a copy of the said entry. Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave and marked "RK01/203B" were identified as those of Islam Hopovac by the deceased's wife. 2614 The autopsy of Islam Hopovac's body was carried out on 12 July 2000 by Dr. Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the chest, face, and legs. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as blue jeans. <sup>2615</sup> The Chamber also received evidence of Elvedin Našić, who stated that he saw that Islam Hopovac, whom he knew, was shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers after they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium to the iron ore mine on or about 25 July 1992. <sup>2616</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. <sup>2617</sup>

1134. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Islam Hopovac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOPOVAC, Razim, son of Raif (24, male)

1135. Razim Hopovac, ICRC number BAZ-110552-03, born on 1 December 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kurevo, Prijedor, on 29 July 1992. he According to a police missing persons report issued on 6 February 1998 on the basis of a statement given by Razim Hopovac's mother, Razim Hopovac was last seen in Kurevo-Briševo on 29 July 1992. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "disappeared on the road to Ljubija". When he was last seen, Razim Hopovac wore a green jacket, jeans, and brown shoes. The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 2 February 1998, whereby Razim Hopovac, born on 1 December 1967, was

294

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2610</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706-12707 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2611 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3411, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2612</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3413, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2613</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3410, Death Certificate of Islam Hopovac (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2614</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3412, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2615</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3409, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2616</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brđanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2617</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 28, "ordinal number" 3406.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2618</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3415, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2619</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3418, Police Missing Persons Report, Hopovac, Razim (confidential).

declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Razim Hopovac disappeared in the Ljubija woods on 27 July 1992 and established the latter date as the date of his death. Exhumed human remains marked "JL01/050B" were identified as those of Razim Hopovac by the deceased's wife on the basis of his clothing. The autopsy of "JL01-050B" exhumed from the Jama Lisac mass grave in Bosanska Krupa was carried out on 25 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. The cause of death could not be ascertained. Edecated the statement of the s

1136. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Razim Hopovac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HUJIĆ, Meho, son of Behlil (25, male)

1137. Meho Hujić, ICRC number BAZ-108074-01, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for the Tracing of Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 27 September 2000, whereby Meho Hujić, born on 5 February 1967, was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Meho Hujić was captured and taken to Ljubija football stadium from where he disappeared without a trace on 29 July 1992. The date of his death was thus determined as 29 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the Jama Lisac mass grave and marked "JL01/043B" were identified as those of Meho Hujić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Meho Hujić's body was conducted on 1 August 2000 by Dr. A Samarasekera of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple firearm injuries to the trunk and limbs. 2626

1138. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the slight discrepancies in dates of death and disappearance recorded in the materials, the Chamber finds that Meho Hujić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HUJIĆ, Rifet, son of Behlil (28, male)

1139. Rifet Hujić, ICRC number BAZ-003108-01, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for the Tracing of Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 27 September 2000, whereby Rifet Hujić, born on 23 November 1963, was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Rifet Hujić was captured and taken to Ljubija football stadium from where he disappeared without a trace on 29 July 1992. The date of his death was thus established as 29 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" grave site and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2620</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3417, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2621</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3416, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2622</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3419, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2623</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3422, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2624</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3425, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).
 <sup>2625</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3423, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2626</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3424, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2627</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3430, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2628</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3428, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

marked "JL01/013B" were identified as those of Rifet Hujić on the basis of DNA matching. 2629 The autopsy of Rifet Hujić's body was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. 2630

1140. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the slight discrepancies in dates of death and disappearance recorded in the materials, the Chamber finds that Rifet Hujić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### JAMASTAGIĆ, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1141. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been tendered in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. 2631 However, the Chamber received evidence from Elvedin Našić that he saw a person whom he only knew as certain "Jamastagić from Sredice" being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992.<sup>2632</sup>
- 1142. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, the Chamber is satisfied that a man with the last name Jamastagić was killed at the Ljubija mine on or about 25 July 1992 as charged in the Indictment.

# JUJIĆ, Hasan, son of Sefer (30, male)

1143. Hasan Jujić, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Miska Glava, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. <sup>2633</sup> Hasan Jujić, ICRC number BAZ-111193-02, born on 26 March 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Zmijska Glava in August 1992. 2634 The FIS database records that Hasan Jujić died in Donja Puharska, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. 2635 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK01/111B" were identified as those of Hasan Jujić on the basis of DNA matching. 2636 The autopsy of Hasan Jujić's body was carried out on 18 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. Hasan Jujić suffered a number of gunshot injuries to the head, chest, spine, and legs. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. 2637

1144. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Jujić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Armin, son of Rizah (29, male)

1145. Armin Kadić, born in 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ljubija-Stanica, Prijedor, on 1 August 1992. According to

296

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2629</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3427, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2630</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3429, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2631</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3431 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2632</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brđanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12707 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2633</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3439, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2634</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3440, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3437, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2636</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3435, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2637</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3436, Autopsy Report (confidential).

the same list his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. According to a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 24 October 2000, Armin Kadić was last seen in Ljubija in 1992. 2639 The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 19 May 1997, whereby Armin Kadić, born on 1 March 1963, was declared dead. The court established his date of death as 15 December 1996. Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/194B" were identified as those of Armin Kadić by the deceased's wife on the basis his clothing. 2641 The autopsy was carried out on 20 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the head and trunk. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as jeans and a black and grey sweater. 2642

1146. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Armin Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Edin, son of Dževad (17, male)

1147. Edin Kadić, born on 27 September 1974, is listed as deceased in the Ljubija Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The date and time of death are recorded as "25 June 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Raljaš, Ljubija". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 2643 It has been submitted by the Defence that Edin Kadić was a Croatian defender. 2644 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 2645

1148. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIĆ, Elvis, son of Ferid (15, male)

1149. Elvis Kadić, ICRC number BAZ-110027-01, born in 1977, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 24 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2646 Elvis Kadić, born on 15 January 1977 is also listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. 2647 According to the police missing persons report issued by SJB Sanski Most on 20 July 1998 on the basis of a statement given by his mother and another relative, Elvis Kadić was last seen in Ljubija on 24 July 1992. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "taken

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2638</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3446, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2639</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3448, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Armin (confidential).

2640 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3444, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2641</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3445, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2642</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3443, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2643</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3450.1, Death Certificate of Edin Kadić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2644</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 28, "ordinal number" 3449; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 1. <sup>2645</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2646</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3453, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2647</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3454, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

by a truck from Ljubija in an unknown direction" <sup>2648</sup> Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/246B" were identified as those of Elvis Kadić by the deceased's mother on the basis of his clothing. <sup>2649</sup> The autopsy of "RK01-246B" exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave was carried out on 13 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Elvis Kadić sustained multiple gunshot injuries to the head, chest, arms, legs, and the spine. The cause of death was determined as gunshot injuries to the head and chest. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as a blue jersey and a mustard-coloured shirt. <sup>2650</sup>

1150. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Elvis Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KADIĆ, Vahidin, son of Dževad (21, male)

1151. Vahidin Kadić, ICRC number BAZ-100031-03, born 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. <sup>2651</sup> Vahidin Kadić, born on 11 October 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.2652 According to a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 12 September 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Vahidin Kadić's mother, states that Vahidin Kadić was last seen "at home" on 26 July 1992. 2653 The Chamber notes that the same report states that he last resided in Bišćani, Prijedor. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "went in the direction of Bihać". At the time of his disappearance, he wore a black jacket, a green jumper, and brown leather shoes. 2654 The Chamber has also received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Agan Džafić on 3 November 1998, whereby Vahidin Kadić, born on 11 October [1970] was declared dead. The date of his death was determined as "25 July 1992" and the place of his death as "Bišćani, Prijedor". 2655 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave and marked "RK01/156B" were identified on 12 September 2000 as those of Vahidin Kadić by the deceased's mother on the basis of his clothing. The autopsy was carried out on 20 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. Vahidin Kadić sustained multiple gunshot injuries to the head, the cervical spine, the lower spine, the chest, the arms, the legs, and the feet. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the chest. Remnants of clothing found on the remains included a waterproof jacket, a green sweater, and trousers. 2657

1152. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Vahidin Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2648</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3452, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Elvis (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3455, Record of Identification (confidential). The Chamber notes that the identification report does not state where the remains were exhumed.

2650 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3456, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2651</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3467, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2652</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3468, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2653</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3461, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Vahidin (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2654</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3461, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Vahidin (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2655</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3466, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error recorded in the year of birth in the English translation of the document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2656</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3462, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2657</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3464, Autopsy Report (confidential).

### KADIĆ, Zejnil, son of Mehmedalija (18, male)

1153. Zejnil Kadić, ICRC number BAZ-109649-01, born 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. Zejnil Kadić, born on 23 December 1973, is also listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor on 26 July 1992. 2659 The Chamber has received a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB in 1996 on the basis of a statement given by Zejnil Kadić's mother. The report states that Zejnil Kadić was last seen in Bišćani on 25 July 1992. 2660 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK01/161B" were identified as those of Zejnil Kadić on the basis of DNA matching. 2661 His remains were also identified visually by his mother. 2662 The autopsy was carried out on 19 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. Zejnil Kadić suffered multiple gunshot wounds to the skull, neck, ribs, pelvis, left forearm, and both legs. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and neck. Clothing found on the remains included a green jacket and track-suit bottoms. 2663

1154. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zejnil Kadić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Sabahudin, son of Redžep (19, male)

1155. Sabahudin Kadirić, born on 13 November 1972, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The date and time of death are entered as "20 July 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Ljubija". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify a cause of death. 2664

1156. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabahudin Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Hilmija, son of Jasim (29, male)

1157. Hilmija Kadirić, born 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kurevo-Šuma, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2665 Hilmija Kadirić, ICRC number BAZ-110848-02, born on 4 April 1963, is also listed in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kurevo, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 2666 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2658</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3474, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2659</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3477, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2660</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3473, Police Missing Persons Report, Kadić, Zejnil

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2661</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3476, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2662</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3471, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2663</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3472, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2664</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3479.1, Death Certificate of Sabahudin Kadirić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2665</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3483, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2666</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3482, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

"RK01/097B" were identified as those of Hilmija Kadirić on the basis of DNA matching. 2667 The autopsy of Hilmija Kadirić's body was carried out on 24 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the trunk. Clothing found on the remains included a blue and white jacket and a T-shirt. 2668

1158. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hilmija Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Nećko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1159. In the Proof of Death Database, the Prosecution refers the Chamber to the testimony of Elvedin Našić in support of its allegation that Nećko Kadirić was killed at the Ljubija football stadium or its surrounding areas on or about 25 July 1992. The Chamber recalls that it has received evidence from Elvedin Našić that he saw a person with the last name of "Kadirić" from Sredice being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers after having been bused from Ljubija football stadium to the iron ore mine on or about 25 July 1992. Propagator 2670

1160. While the Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the testimony concerns the same person, it is nevertheless satisfied that a man with the last name of Kadirić was killed at the Ljubija mine on 25 July 1992 as charged in the Indictment.

## KARAGIĆ, Ferid, son of Salih (43, male)

1161. Ferid Karagić, born 1949, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000.<sup>2671</sup> The FIS database records that Ferid Karagić, born on 6 May 1949, died in Zecovi, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. 2672 The Chamber has received a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 14 September 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Ferid Karagić's son, which states that Ferid Karagić was last seen in Redak-Ljubija at the beginning of August 1992. The circumstances of disappearance are recorded as "caught and executed in Redak with 117 Bosniaks". At the time of his disappearance, Ferid Karagić wore dark, striped trousers, a shirt, and brown shoes. 2673 The Chamber has also received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović, whereby Ferid Karagić was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court found that Ferid Karagić was apprehended by Serb soldiers and taken to the Ljubija football stadium from where he was bused to the Ljubija iron ore mine and killed. The Sanski Most court established the date of his death as 28 July 1992. 2674 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK 01-239B" were identified as those of Ferid Karagić by the deceased's son on the basis of his clothing. 2675 The autopsy of Ferid Karagić's body was carried out on 13 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Ferid Karagić sustained multiple gunshot injuries to the head, chest, left hip, left thigh, and knee. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and chest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2667</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3486, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2668</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3481, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2669</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3488, Reference to "ST-066; Transcript of Testimony in Case No. IT-99-36-T (Brdjanin) on 12 December 2002; Exhibit P02182" (confidential).

Elvedin Našić, P2182, Prosecutor v. Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12707 (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3498, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2672</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3493, Federal Institute of Statistics database (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2673</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3490, Police Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2674</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3499, Lower Court Death Certificate (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2675</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3496, Record of Identification (confidential).

Clothing found on the remains included a blue and white chequered shirt, and black, striped trousers. 2676 The Prosecution refers the Chamber to the evidence of Elvedin Našić. However, Ferid Karagić is not mentioned in the evidence. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2678</sup>

1162. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ferid Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARAGIĆ, Mustafa, son of Mehmed (26, male)

1163. Mustafa Karagić, born on 13 January 1966, is listed as deceased in the Ljubija Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The date and time of death are entered as "25 July 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Miska Glava". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 2679

1164. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KEKIĆ, Asmir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1165. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Asmir Kekić's death. 2680 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Asmir Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KEKIĆ, Esad, son of Hakija (50, male)

1166. Esad Kekić, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2681 The FIS database records that Esad Kekić, born on 3 March 1943, died in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 26 July 1992. 2682 The police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 12 September 2000 on the basis of a statement taken from Esad Kekić's wife states that Esad Kekić was last seen "at home in Bišćani" on 20 July 1992. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "taken to Ljubija Stadium camp". At the time of his disappearance, Esad Kekić wore a denim jacket, blue trousers, and a blue and white shirt. 2683 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave and marked "RK01/165B" were identified as those of Esad Kekić by the deceased's wife on the basis of his clothing, and an ID card found on his remains.<sup>2684</sup> The autopsy of Esad Kekić's body was carried out on 13 July 2000 by Professor Mohammad Elfawal of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the chest. Clothing found on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2676</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3491, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2677</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number", 3502, Reference to "ST-066; Transcript of Testimony in Case No. IT-99-36-T (Brdjanin) on 12 December 2002; Exhibit P02182" (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2678</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3489 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3504.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Karagić (confidential).

<sup>2680</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3505 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2681</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3516, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2682</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3517, Federal Institute of Statistics database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2683</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3509, Police Missing Persons Report, Kekić,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2684</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3510, Record of Identification (confidential).

remains included a blue and white chequered shirt and a denim jacket.<sup>2685</sup> A corresponding death certificate was issued by the Sanski Most Health Centre on 29 September 2000. 2686 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2687</sup>

1167. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Esad Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KEKIĆ, Jasmir, son of Hamdija (18, male)

1168. A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 17 October 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Jasmir Kekić's sister-in-law records that Jasmir Kekić, born on 27 August 1973, was last seen on 20 July 1992 "close to home in Bišćani". At the time he was last seen, Jasmir Kekić wore a light blue track-suit and white trainers. Exhumed human remains marked as "RK01/229B" were identified as those of Jasmir Kekić by the deceased's sister-in-law. An ID card was also found on his remains. <sup>2689</sup> The autopsy of Jasmir Kekić's body exhumed from the "Redak" grave site was carried out on 21 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head, neck, and chest.<sup>2690</sup> The Chamber recalls that it has received evidence from Elvedin Našić that he saw a person with the last name of "Kekić" of about 19 years of age being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers after having been bused from Ljubija football stadium to the iron ore mine on or about 25 July 1992. 2691

1169. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmir Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KEKIĆ, Nurudin, son of Faik (20-21, male)

1170. Nurudin Kekić, born 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/021" were identified as those of Nurudin Kekić, born on 21 July 1971, by the deceased's sister. <sup>2693</sup> The autopsy of Nurudin Kekić's body was carried out on 21 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and trunk. Clothing found on the remains included blue track-suit bottoms and a navy blue sweater. 2694

1171. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurudin Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

302 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2685</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3514, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2686</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3511, Death Certificate of Esad Kekić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2687</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3507.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2688</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3521, Police Missing Persons Report, Kekić, Jasmir (confidential). <sup>2689</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3522, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2690</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3520, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2691</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12707.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2692</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3529, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2693</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3527, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2694</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3526, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### KEKIĆ, Ramo, son of Avdija (42, male)

1172. Ramo Kekić, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2695 Ramo Kekić, born on 27 June 1950, is also listed in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 1999. The date and time of his death are recorded as 29 July 1999. 2696 The place of death is recorded as "Gornja Ljubija". The death certificate issued in the year 1999 does not specify the cause of death. A police missing persons statement issued by Sanski Most SJB on 28 June 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Ramo Kekić's son states that Ramo Kekić was last seen at the Ljubija Football Stadium on 27 July 1992. At the time he was last seen, Ramo Kekić wore jeans, a red shirt, and black shoes. The police report bears an additional remark which states that "On 27 July 1992 [Ramo Kekić] was taken in an unknown direction from the [...] Ljubija stadium along with 70 other prisoners. All of them were put onto a truck [...] and since then [...] his tracks were lost."<sup>2698</sup> Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave and marked "RK01/160B" were identified as those of Ramo Kekić by a relative. 2699 The autopsy of Ramo Kekić's remains was carried out on 20 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the chest and abdominal region.<sup>2700</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2701</sup>

1173. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the slight discrepancies as regards the date of death or disappearance recorded in the material presented, the Chamber finds that Ramo Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KEKIĆ, Senad, son of Sadik (26, male)

1174. Senad Kekić, ICRC number BAZ-109692-01, born in 1966, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Šurkovac, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the information recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Senad Kekić's date and place of disappearance. The FIS database records that Senad Kekić, born on 1 March 1966, died in Zecovi, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The police missing persons statement issued by Sanski Most SJB on 29 June 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Senad Kekić's mother states that Senad Kekić was last seen at the Ljubija Stadium on 27 July 1992. At the time he was last seen, Senad Kekić wore blue workman's trousers and a blue workman's shirt. The police report bears an additional remark which states that "On 28 [July] 1992

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2695</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3536, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2696</sup> The Chamber notes that the original document is illegible as to the recorded year of his death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2697</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3537, Death Certificate of Ramo Kekić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2698</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3532, Police Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2699</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3534, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2700</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3538, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2701</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3531 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2702</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3546, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2703</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3547, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2704</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3543, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

[Senad Kekić] was taken in an unknown direction from the *Ljubija* [...] Stadium."<sup>2705</sup> The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 19 February 2001, whereby Senad Kekić, born on 1 March 1966, was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Senad Kekić was captured and taken to the Ljubija football stadium from where he was taken to the Ljubija iron or mine and killed on 20 July 1992. The date of his death was thus established as 20 July 1992. 2706 Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/063B" were identified as those of Senad Kekić by the deceased's mother on the basis of his clothing. The autopsy of Senad Kekić's body, exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave, was carried out on 17 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Senad Kekić had suffered multiple gunshot injuries to the head, chest, the left shoulder blade, and both legs. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to head and pelvis. Clothing found on the remains included a blue work jacket, blue work trousers. <sup>2708</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2709

1175. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the slight discrepancies as regards the date of death or disappearance as recorded in the material presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KEKIĆ, Suvad, son of Sadik (28, male)

1176. Suvad Kekić, <sup>2710</sup> ICRC number BAZ-109692-02, born on 15 December 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Šurkovac, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992.<sup>2711</sup> According to the FIS database, Suvad Kekić died in Zecovi, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.<sup>2712</sup> The Chamber has received a police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 29 June 2000 on the basis of the statement of a relative. The police report records that Suvad Kekić was last seen at the Ljubija Stadium on 27 July 1992. At the time he was last seen, Suvad Kekić wore blue jeans and a grey T-shirt. The police report bears an additional remark which states that "On 27 July 1992 [Suvad Kekić] was taken in an unknown direction from the [...] Ljubija [...] Stadium."<sup>2713</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 19 February 2001, whereby Suvad Kekić, born on 15 December 1963, was declared dead. Based on the statements of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court established that Suvad Kekić was captured and taken to the Ljubija football stadium from where he was taken to the Ljubija iron or mine and killed on 20 July 1992. The date of his death was thus established as 20 July 1992.<sup>2714</sup> Exhumed human remains marked "RK01/167B" were identified as those of Suvad Kekić by the deceased's mother.<sup>2715</sup> The autopsy of Suvad Kekić's body exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave was carried out on 24 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban for the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the chest. Clothing found on the remains

304 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2705</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3545, Police Missing Persons Report, Kekić, Senad (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error in the date recorded in the English translation of this document.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2706</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3428, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential). P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3549, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2708</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3548, Autopsy Report (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, 'ordinal number" 3540.

The Chamber notes that the report records the first name as "Suad" but considers the difference in spelling to be

negligible. <sup>2711</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3547, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3543, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2713</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3545, Police Missing Persons Report, Kekić, Suvad (confidential). <sup>2714</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3542, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2715</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3549, Record of Identification (confidential).

included dark blue trousers and a white shirt.<sup>2716</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2717</sup>

1177. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the discrepancies as regards the date of death or disappearance recorded in some of the material presented, the Chamber finds that Suvad Kekić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KERKIĆ, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1178. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KERKIĆ, Peno, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1179. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Peno Kerkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Ferid, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1180. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MEDIĆ, Rašid, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1181. In support of its allegation, the Prosecution has referred the Chamber to the evidence of Elvedin Našić. The Chamber recalls that it received evidence of Elvedin Našić that he saw Rašid Medić being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. <sup>2723</sup>

1182. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, the Chamber finds that Rašid Medić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUHIĆ, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1183. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove this person's death. However, the Chamber recalls that is has received evidence of Elvedin Našić that he saw a man whom he knew to be Abdulah Muhić being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. 2725

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2716</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3548, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2717</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3550.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2718</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3559 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2719</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3560 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3561 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2721</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3565, Reference to "ST-066; Transcript of Testimony in Case No. IT-99-36-T (Brdjanin) on 12 December 2002; line 12706:19; Exhibit P02182" (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2722</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706 (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3562.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2724</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3566 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2725</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706 (confidential).

1184. While the Prosecution in its Final Victims List does not specify the first name of this person, and does not provide further evidence to support its allegation, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that a man named Abdulah Muhić was killed at the Ljubija mine on or about 25 July 1992 as charged in the Indictment.

#### MULALIĆ, Suad, son of Adem (30, male)

1185. Suad Mulalić, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Miska Glava on 19 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2726 The FIS database records that Suad Mulalić, born on 19 June 1962 died in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 28 July 1992. 2727 Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK01-203B" were identified as those of Suad Mulalić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>2728</sup> The Chamber also received evidence of Elvedin Našić that he saw Suad Mulalić being shot dead by Bosnian Serb soldiers at the Ljubija iron ore mine to where they had been bused from Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992.<sup>2729</sup>

1186. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, and the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Suad Mulalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUSIĆ, Muho, son of Derviš (37, male)

1187. Muho Musić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2730 A police missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 9 October 2000 on the basis of a statement given by Muho Music's wife states that Muho Music was last seen in Zmijska Glava, Ljubija, on 8 July 1992. At the time of his disappearance, he wore a denim jacket and a multi-coloured jumper. <sup>2731</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Adil Draganović of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 4 May 1999, whereby Muho Musić, born on 30 July 1954, was declared dead. Based on the statement of a witness heard, the Sanski Most court established that Muho Musić was captured in early July, detained in a school building, taken to the Ljubija football stadium, and killed. The date of his death was established as 8 July 1992.<sup>2732</sup> Three human bodies exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK01/158B", "RK-01-078B", and "RK01-193B", respectively, were identified as those of either Faik, Ismet, or Muho Musić, all sons of Derviš, on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>2733</sup> The Chamber has received an autopsy report for the remains marked "RK01-198B". 2734 However, as it is unable to ascertain whether these remains were those of Muho Muhić or those of one of his brothers, the Chamber will not consider

<sup>2734</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3581, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2726</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3573, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2727</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3570, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 2728 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3569, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brđanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12706 (confidential). <sup>2730</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3576, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2731</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3578, Police Missing Persons Report, Musić, Muho (confidential). <sup>2732</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3580, Lower Court Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2733</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3579, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

the report in its analysis.<sup>2735</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in respect of Muho Musić. 2736

1188. Based on the evidence presented, and notwithstanding the discrepancies as regards the date of death or disappearance recorded the material presented, the Chamber finds that Muho Musić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### NAŠIĆ, Irfan, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1189. In support of its allegation, the Prosecution has referred the Chamber to the evidence of Elvedin Našić. 2737 The Chamber recalls that it has received evidence of Elvedin Našić that he saw Irfan Našić being killed by a Bosnian Serb reserve policeman known as "Stiven" at the Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. <sup>2738</sup> The Chamber also recalls the adjudicated fact which states that a police officer known as "Stiven" killed Irfan Našić with a pistol from a close distance.<sup>2739</sup> The Chamber also notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2740</sup>

1190. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić and the adjudicated fact, the Chamber finds that Irfan Nasić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PETROVAC, Muharem, son of Osman (30, male)

1191. Muharem Petrovac, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor. The date of his disappearance is not recorded. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2741 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Muharem Petrovac, born on 4 May 1962, as having died in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 26 July 1992.<sup>2742</sup> Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" mass grave and marked "RK01/244B" were identified as those of Muharem Petrovac on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2743</sup> The autopsy of Muharem Petrovac's remains was carried out on 13 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to head and chest. Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as jeans and trainers.<sup>2744</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence of Elvedin Našić that he saw Muharem Petrovac being killed by Bosnian Serb policemen at the Ljubija football stadium on or about 25 July 1992. <sup>2745</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2746</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2735</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3581, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2736</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3574 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3584, Reference to" ST-066; Transcript of Testimony in Case No. IT-99-36-T (Brdjanin) on 12 December 2002; line 12698:24 - 12699:10; Exhibit P02182" (confidential).

2738 Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12698-16700

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 2739 Adjudicated Fact 911.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3582.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2741</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3587, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2742</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3588, ICRC Missing Persons List, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3592, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2744</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3591, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2745</sup> Elvedin Našić, P2182, *Prosecutor v. Brdanin*, Case No. IT-99-36-T, 12 December 2002, T. 12699-12700 confidential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2746</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 29, "ordinal number" 3585.

1192. Based on the evidence of Elvedin Našić, and the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Muharem Petrovac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SIJEČIĆ, Edin, son of Džemal (17, male)

1193. Edin Siječić, ICRC number BAZ-101197-05, born in 1974, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Ljubija, Prijedor, on 1 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubija" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 June 2000. 2747 Edin Siječić is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Zmijska Glava on 26 July 1992.<sup>2748</sup> The Chamber has also received a police missing persons report issued by Šejkovača police in Sanski Most on 14 September 2000 on the basis of a statement given by a relative. 2749 It is unclear when Edin Siječić was last seen, as the report states that Edin Siječić, born on 5 August 1974, was last seen "Ljubija/Rudnik" on 20 March 1992, but also bears a handwritten note stating that he was last seen in "Biščani" at the "beginning of July in [...] Glava." Human remains exhumed from the "Redak" mass grave and marked "RK01/208B" were identified as those of Edin Siječić by the deceased's mother. An ID card was also found on the body. <sup>2751</sup> The autopsy of Edin Siječić's body was carried out on 12 July 2000 by Professor Mohammad Elfawal of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple gunshot injuries to the head and other body parts. Clothing found on the remains included a blue nylon jacket.<sup>2752</sup>

1194. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Siječić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### (d) Omarska camp

### ŠERIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1195. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 2753 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ŠOLAJA, Ljubomir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1196. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ljubomir Šolaja's death. <sup>2754</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ljubomir Šolaja was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ŠOLAJA**, Miroslav, son of Mato (56, male)

1197. Miroslav Šolaja, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor, on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2747</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3595, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2748</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3597, ICRC Missing Persons List, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2749</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3599, Police Missing Persons Report, Siječić, Edin (confidential). <sup>2750</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3599, Police Missing Persons Report, Siječić, Edin

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3598, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2752</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3602, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2753</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4284 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2754</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4285 (confidential).

25 May 1999. 2755 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Miroslav Šolaja's identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>2756</sup> The Chamber has received a missing persons report issued by Sanski Most SJB on 7 March 2000. According to this report, Miroslav Šolaja, son of Mato, was last seen as he was "taken away by Serb police" and thereafter "killed in Omarska Camp". The date of his disappearance is not recorded.<sup>2757</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor and marked "KV 13-006 B" were identified as being those of Miroslav Šolaja, on the basis of DNA matching. 2758 The autopsy of Miroslav Šolaja's remains was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 23 September 1999. Miroslav Šolaja suffered multiple fractures of the ribs, the left forearm, and the right hand, as well as a fractured nose and lower jaw. It was determined that the injuries were likely caused by direct blows from heavy objects, as well as stamping. Despite the clear evidence of the use of blunt force, the injuries were insufficient to account for the death and the direct cause of death could not be established.<sup>2759</sup>

1198. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Miroslav Šolaja was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ČEHAJIĆ, Muhamed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1199. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muhamed Čehajić's death. 2760 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ČEHAJIĆ, Muhamed, son of Osman (54, male)

1200. Muhamed Čehajić, ICRC number BAZ-105161-01, born in 1938, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that he went missing in Prijedor in May 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 116" have been identified as being those of Muhamed Čehaljić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>2763</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Professor Muhamed Čehajić was detained at Omarska camp where he was repeatedly beaten and abused by the guards. On 27 July 1992, Professor Muhamed Čehajić, together with a group of other intellectuals from Prijedor with whom he had been detained in the camp, was taken outside of the camp and killed in the area of Omarska

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2755</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4294, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2756</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4291, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2757</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4296, Police Missing Persons Report, Šolaja, Miroslav

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2758 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4289, Sanski Most SJB Request for the Issuance of a Death Certificate (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4290, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2759</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4293, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2760</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4298 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2761</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4303, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2762</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4302, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2763</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4304, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

village. 2764 The Chamber further notes the adjudicated fact that Muhamed Čehajić and Esad Sadiković were taken out of the camp and killed. 2765

1201. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the adjudicated fact, and other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Čehajić was killed at Omarska, as charged in the Indictment.

### **ČOLIĆ**, Fadil, son of Mehmed (50, male)

1202. Fadil Čolić, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, on 16 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>2767</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave site and marked "JK01-297B" were identified as being those of Fadil Čolić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2768</sup> The autopsy of Fadil Čolić's remains was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 6 November 2001. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head.<sup>2769</sup>

1203. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Čolić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at the Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that Fadil Čolić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIĆ, Bahrija, son of Asim (36, male)

1204. Bahrija Alić, ICRC number BAZ-206558-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. 2770 The ICRC Missing Persons report states that Barija Alić, born on 15 May 1956, disappeared in Benkovac on 27 May 1992. 2771 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-041B" were identified as being those of Bahrija Alić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2772</sup> The autopsy of Bahrija Alić's remains was carried out on 2 August 2000 by Dr. A. Samarasekera of the ICTY. Bahrija Alić suffered a number of injuries, such as fractures of the rib cage and skull caused by blunt force or stamping, as well as several gunshot injuries. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot to the neck. The body showed evidence of the hands having been tied together with wire. Bullets and fragments of bullets were also found on the body. 2773

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4309, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2764</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6628-6630.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2765</sup> Adjudicated Fact 878.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2767</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4311, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2768</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4307, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2769</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4310, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2770</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4315, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4316, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4314, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2773</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4317, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1205. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bahrija Alić died a violent death. Based on the evidence that, at the time of his death, Bahrija Alić's hands were tied with a rope, the Chamber finds that he was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIĆ, Besim, son of Muharem (33, male)

1206. Besim Alić, ICRC number BAS-002326-01, born on 26 June 1959, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 22 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" grave site and marked "JL01-045B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Besim Alić. The autopsy of Besim Alić's remains was carried out on 25 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. A number of bones from Besim Alić's body were missing, including parts of the skull, the right arm, and right foot. The head injury, as established through autopsy was caused either by blunt force or gunshot. The direct cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the chest. 2776

1207. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besim Alić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that Besim Alić was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## ALIĆ, Ekrem, son of Ramo (41, male)

1208. Ekrem Alić, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The FIS database records that Ekrem Alić, born on 25 July 1951, died in Prijedor on 27 July 1992. The Chamber has received an undated police missing persons report which states Ekrem Alić was last seen in Omarska on 27 July 1992. The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "[a]llegedly sent to be exchanged". The Chamber has also received a decision issued by judge Edina Ridešić of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, whereby Ekrem Alić was declared dead on 6 October 1998. It was held that he died after having been taken to Omarska camp by Serb soldiers, from where he disappeared on 27 July 1992. The date of his death was determined as "27 July 1992" and it was ordered that a corresponding entry be made in the Register of Deaths. The Chamber has also received the corresponding entry in the Omarska Register of Deaths. Although human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/027 B" were identified as being those of Ekrem Alić on the basis of visual identification of his clothing by the deceased's wife, the deceased being those of Ekrem Alić on the aforementioned site and marked "JL 01/051 B", were identified as being those of Ekrem Alić on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2774</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4319, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2775</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4321, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2776</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4320, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4325, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2778</sup> Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4328, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4324, Police Missing Persons Report, Alić, Ekrem (confidential). The Chamber notes that it is unclear when and by with SJB this report was issued.

<sup>(</sup>confidential). The Chamber notes that it is unclear when and by with SJB this report was issued. <sup>2780</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4329, Municipal Court of Sanski Most Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2781</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4330.1, Death Certificate of Ekrem Alić (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4330, Record of Identification (confidential).

basis of DNA matching.<sup>2783</sup> The autopsy of Ekrem Alić's body was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 25 July 2000. The body showed a number of injuries. Ekrem Alić had suffered a number of fractures to the ribs, both thigh bones, the right shoulder blade, and head injuries which were determined to be caused by blunt force with a heavy weapon; some of these injuries were likely caused by stamping. There was also evidence of gunshot wounds to the chest. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot wound to the head.<sup>2784</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2785</sup>

1209. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ekrem Alić was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Eno, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1210. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Eno Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Esad, son of Osman (37, male)

1211. Esad Alić, ICRC number BAZ-103351-01, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Esad Alić, born on 7 October 1954, disappeared in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. The FIS database records that Esad Alić died in Prijedor on 25 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked as "Body No. 232-DF" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Esad Alić. 1990.

1212. Based on the evidence presented, and the fact that other persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Esad Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Mehmed, son of Kasim (30, male)

1213. The entry in the ICRC Missing Persons Report submitted for Mehmed Alić lists a person by the name of Elvis Alić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the report in this instance. Mehmed Alić, born on 25 September 1961, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The place of death is recorded as "Kamičani". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2783</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4327, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2784</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4323, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber disregarded the autopsy report for "JL 01/027 B" submitted for Ekrem Alić under "ordinal number" 4326 for the reasons set out in the analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2785</sup> Joint Defence Final Šubmissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 36, "ordinal number" 4322.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2786</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4332 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2787</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4340, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2788</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4337, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2789</sup> Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4328, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2790</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4339, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2791</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4342, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

not specify the cause of death.<sup>2792</sup> The Defence submits that Mehmed Alić was a member of the armed forces and died in Kotlovača.<sup>2793</sup> The Chamber has received evidence that Mehmed Alić, son of Kasim, born on 25 September, was a member of the Kozarac TO from 6 April 1992 to 27 May 1992. He is said to have died during combat in Kotlovača.<sup>2794</sup>

1214. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIĆ, Mirsad, son of Hazim (35, male)

1215. Mirsad Alić, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 11 September 2001. The FIS database records that Mirsad Alić, born on 12 October 1956, died in Omarska on 27 May 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-185B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Mirsad Alić. The autopsy of Mirsad Alić's remains was carried out on 2 November 1992 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. Due to the skeletonisation of the remains, no internal injuries could be ascertained. As the bones showed no specific ante-mortem fractures, the cause of death could not be determined.

1216. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Muhamed, son of Hilmija (29, male)

1217. Muhamed Alić, ICRC number BAZ-107456-01, born on 1 June 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in June 1992 in Omarska. Persons List as laso listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/024 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Muhamed Alić. The autopsy of Muhamed Alić's body was carried out on 3 August 2000 by Dr. Giancarlo Di Vella of the ICTY. The body was missing the left arm and hand and showed a number of injuries. Muhamed Alić had suffered a number of rib fractures which were expressive of blunt trauma to the chest when he was still alive. He had also suffered injuries to the right shoulder blade, the right arm, and to the head. There was also evidence of gunshot wounds to the pelvis. The cause of death was determined as gunshot injuries to the trunk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2792</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4342.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Alić (confidential). <sup>2793</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 36, "ordinal number" 4341 and Confidential Annex C, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2794</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 54 (confidential). <sup>2795</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4345, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4349, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4348, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>2798</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4346, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2799</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4353, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2800</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4354, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2801</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4351, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2802</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4352, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1218. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Mustafa, son of Husein (27-28, male)

1219. Mustafa Alić, ICRC number BAZ-104650-01, born in 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in August 1992 in Kamičani, Prijedor. <sup>2803</sup> He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. 2804 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/023 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Mustafa or Smail Alić. 2805 As set out in the subsequent entry in relation to Mustafa Alić's brother Smail, the Chamber has determined that the human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" site and marked "JL 01/001 B" were in fact not those of Smail Alić, as submitted by the Prosecution, but those of Mustafa Alić. Body "JL 01/023 B" was determined to be that of Smail Alić, rather than Mustafa Alić. Accordingly, the Chamber has considered the autopsy report of "JL 01/001 B". The autopsy was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. There was evidence of blunt force trauma to the head indicative of repeated blows from a heavy object that could have been fatal. Mustafa Alić had also suffered a number of rib fractures possibly caused by additional blows, kicking or falling. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot injury to the trunk.<sup>2806</sup> The Chamber further considers the decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most adduced for Mustafa Alić's brother Smail. This decision of 5 October 1998 declares dead Smail Alić on the basis of the statement of the deceased's mother that her sons Smail and Mustafa Alić were members of the Kamičani TO, captured on 1 June 1992, and taken to Omarska camp from where they never returned.<sup>2807</sup>

1220. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Alić died as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Smail, son of Husein (29-30, male)

1221. Smail Alić, ICRC number BAZ-102647-01, born on 23 July 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 1 June 1992 in Kamičani, Prijedor. The Missing Person Statement issued by the Sanski Most SJB on 25 December 1997 states that Smail Alić, born on 20 August 1962, was "[I]ast seen on 27 July 1992" at "Omarska Camp". The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "captured by the Serb army". According to the Missing Person Statement, Smail Alić was 190 cm tall and 29 years old when he went missing. A decision issued by the municipal court of Sanski Most on 5 October 1998, declared that Smail Alić, born on 23 July 1962, died on 20 August 1992 on the basis of the statement of the deceased's mother that her sons Smail and Mustafa Alić were members of the Kamičani TO, captured on 1 June 1992, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2803</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4362, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2804</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4359, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2805</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4357, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2806</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4370, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2807</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4368, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 5 October 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2808</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4369, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2809</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4366, Police Missing Persons Report, Alić, Smail (confidential).

taken to Omarska camp from where they never returned.<sup>2810</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/001 B" were identified as those of Smail Alić on the basis of visual identification of his clothing and his teeth by the deceased's sister. <sup>2811</sup> The anthropological examination of body JL 01/001 B, however, established that body "JL 01/001 B" belonged to a male, aged between 35 and 60, and 163 cm to 179 cm tall.<sup>2812</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that the human remains marked as body "JL 01/001 B" are those of Smail Alić. Having regard to the fact that human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" grave site and marked "JL 01/023 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of either Mustafa or Smail Alić, <sup>2813</sup> the Chamber considers that Smail Alić may have been exhumed from the site as "JL 01/023 B". The anthropological examination of that body records the height of the deceased to have been "equal to 175.5 +/- 7.7 cm or so". 2814 Noting the discrepancy between the height range of the exhumed remains and the height as specified by Smail Alić's sister, the Chamber, nevertheless, finds that it is reasonable, in light of the results of the DNA analyses to conclude that the body belonged to Smail Alić. The autopsy of body JL 01/023 B was carried out by Dr. Giancarlo Di Vella of the ICTY on 31 July 2000. The body was missing the right forearm and hand and showed a number of injuries. The individual had suffered a number of fractures to the head, neck, ribs, and the left arm, all indicative of blunt trauma lesions. There was also evidence of gunshot wounds to the head and to the trunk. The cause of death was determined as gunshot wounds. 2815 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2816</sup>

1222. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smail Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIĆ, Suad, son of Edhem (24, male)

1223. Suad Alić, ICRC number BAZ-208367-01, born on 12 July 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 27 May 1992 in Benkovac, Prijedor. Partial human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/026 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Suad Alić. The autopsy of Suad Alić's remains was carried out on 1 August 2000 by Dr. A. Samarasekera of the ICTY. Only the bones of the legs and pelvis, and a number of lumbar vertebrae were presented for autopsy. The cause of death was determined as firearm injuries to the hip and to the thigh. <sup>2819</sup>

1224. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Alić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that Suad Alić was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

315 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2810</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4368, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 5 October 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2811</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4367, Record of Identification (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4370, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2813</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4357, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2814</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4361, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2815</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4361, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2816</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 36, "ordinal number" 4363.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2817</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4374, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's first name is listed as "Suvad" rather than "Suad".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2818</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4372, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2819</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4373, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### ALIĆ, Suad, son of Ramo (33-34, male)

1225. Suad Alić, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/012 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Suad Alić. 2821 The autopsy of Suad Alić's remains was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. Suad Alić sustained several gunshot wounds to the head, chest, the abdominal region, and the legs. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot wound to the head. 2822

1226. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Zijad, son of Asim (32, male)

1227. Zijad Alić, ICRC number BAZ-206558-05, born on 30 January 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Benkovac, Prijedor, on 27 May 1992. 2823 Zijad Alić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "15 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2824

1228. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Ziljad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1229. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Zijad Alić's death. 2825 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ziljad Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALISIĆ, Mirsad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1230. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mirsad Alić's death. 2826 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Alisić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ARAŠ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1231. The Chamber has received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Ismet Araš, a former police officer, was killed at Omarska camp sometime after 25 July 1992 together with a group of former police officers from Prijedor. 2827

1232. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Ismet Araš was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2820</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4376, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2821</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4377, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>2822</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4378, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2823</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4382, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2824</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4382.1, Death Certificate of Zijad Alić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2825</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4383 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2826</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4385 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2827</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

### ATAROVIĆ, Ahmet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1233. The Chamber has received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Ahmet Atarović, a former defence lawyer from Prijedor, was killed at Omarska camp in 1992. 2828
- 1234. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Atarović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDAGIĆ, Hamdija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1235. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hamdija Avdić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1236. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BAHONJIĆ, Emsud, son of Safet (29, male)

- 1237. Emsud Bahonjić, born on 10 September 1962, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "26 June 1992" and the place of death as "*Keraterm* camp, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has received evidence that Emsud Bahonjić was a member of the MUP between 6 April to 26 June 1992 and that he was killed on 26 June 1992 at the Keraterm camp. <sup>2832</sup>
- 1238. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Bahonjić was killed on or about 26 June 1992 at the Keraterm camp. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Emsud Bahonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BAHONJIĆ, Islam, son of Jakup (41, male)

1239. Islam Bahonjić, ICRC number BAZ-108050-01, born in 1951, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in Omarska in August 1992. He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor on 24 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The Prosecution submits an autopsy report for human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV15 001B". However, the Prosecution does not submit any material indicating the identification of the remains as being those of Islam Bahonjić. Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard the autopsy report submitted. The Chamber has received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Islam Bahonjić, an x-ray technician at the Prijedor hospital, was killed at the Omarska camp sometime after 25 July 1992

317

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2828</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2829</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4391 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2830</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4393 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2831</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4395.1, Death Certificate of Emsud Bahonjić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2832</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 32 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2833</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4402, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2834</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4399, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2835</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4398, Autopsy Report (confidential).

together with a group of physicians from the Prijedor area.<sup>2836</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Islam Bahonjić, born on 24 February 1951, was a member of the Kozarac TO from 6 April 1992 to 9 July 1992. The BiH Ministry of Justice record lists the circumstances of his death as "put to death" and the place of death as "Omarska camp".<sup>2837</sup>

1240. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac the Chamber finds that Islam Bahonjić was killed at Omarska camp sometime after 25 July 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the Kozarac TO, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment, The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Islam Bahonjić was killed at Omarska camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BALIĆ, Fadil, son of Hasan (28, male)

1241. Fadil Balić, born on 26 March 1964, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "17 July [1992]". The Chamber considers this to be a clerical error. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 28B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as being those of Fadil Balić. The autopsy of Fadil Balić's remains was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 1 July 2006. The cause of death was determined as penetrating wounds to the head, thoracic cavity, and pelvis.

1242. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Balić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BALIĆ, Hamdija, son of Ekrem (39, male)

1243. Hamdija Balić, born on 16 December 1952, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "16 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2842</sup>

1244. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamdija Balić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2836</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6686; P1671.02, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2837</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 55 (confidential).

The original document records the date of death as "17.7.1992".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2839</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4405.1, Death Certificate of Fadil Balić (confidential). The Chamber notes that the English translation of this document erroneously records the date and time of death as "7 July 1964".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2840</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4405.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2841</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4405.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2842</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4408.1, Death Certificate of Hamdija Balić (confidential).

### BALIĆ, Mahmut, son of Hasan<sup>2843</sup> (21, male)

1245. Mahmut Balić, ICRC number BAZ-111066-01, born on 6 February 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in July 1992 in Omarska. 2844 Mahmut Balić, born on 8 February 1971, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "17 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 2845

1246. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mahmut Balić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BARIŠIĆ, Joso, son of Srećko (56, male)

1247. Joso Barišić, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 25 June 1992 in Briševo, Ljubija. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. 2846 The Missing Person Statement issued by the Sanski Most SJB on 2 March 2000 states that Joso Barišić, born on 12 February 1936, was "[I]ast seen on 25 June 1992" and that he "went to report to the police in Ljubija and did not return". The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "died on [sic] Omarska camp on 8 July 1992". According to the Missing Person Statement, three witnesses, all listed by name, accounted for his death at the Omarska camp. 2847 The FIS database states that Joso Barišić, born on 2 February 1936, died on 8 July 1992 in Prijedor. 2848 The Prosecution tenders a Record of Identification, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this document.<sup>2849</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is also unable to rely on the autopsy report of the human remains marked "KV13 001B" exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave site. 2850

1248. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Joso Barišić between the Missing Person Statement and the FIS database.

1249. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Joso Barišić was killed at Omarska camp, as charged in the Indictment.

# BARIŠIĆ, Vladimir, son of Ivo (41, male)

1250. Vladimir Barišić, born in 1941, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 7 July 1992 in Ljubija. According to the same list, his body

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2843</sup> In its Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits this persons's first name to be either "Mahmud" or "Mahmut". In the Proof of Death Database, the Prosecution submits his father's name to be "Haze". However, all documentation presented for this person is issued in the name of Mahmut Balić, son of Hasan. The Chamber has thus used the latter in its analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2844</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4410, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2845</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4410.1, Death Certificate of Mahmut Balić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2846 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4413, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2847</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4414, Police Missing Persons Report, Barišić, Joso (confidential). <sup>2848</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4417, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2849 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4412, Record of Identification (confidential). The Chamber, however, notes that the Defence submits that the body was identified through visual identification by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2850</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4415, Autopsy Report (confidential).

was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The FIS database states that Vladimir Barišić, born on 15 March 1941, died on 9 July 1992 in Prijedor. The Prosecution submits an autopsy report for human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV15 007B". The Prosecution does, however, not tender any evidence that identifies human remains marked as "KV15 007B" as being those of Vladimir Barišić. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to rely on the autopsy report in this instance.

1251. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Vladimir Barišić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEŠIĆ, Dževad, son of Ibrahim (52, male)

- 1252. Dževad Bešić, born on 23 May 1944, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.<sup>2854</sup>
- 1253. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠIĆ, Edin, son of Muharem (29, male)

1254. Edin Bešić, ICRC number BAZ-109272-01, born on 18 April 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 27 May 1992 in Kozarac. He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in Prijedor on 11 September 2001. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK 01/140 BP" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Edin Bešić. The autopsy of Edin Bešić's body was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 7 November 2001. The body showed a number of injuries sustained post-mortem to the left arm, forearms, elbows, ribs, left and right shoulder blade, pelvis, head, face, and right femur. The cause of death was unascertained. The Chamber has also received evidence that Edin Bešić was a policeman in the Prijedor SJB, from 6 April to 27 May 1992. The BiH Ministry of Justice record lists the circumstances of his death as "killed" and the place of death as "Kozarac".

1255. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Bešić died a violent death in Kozarac between 26 and 27 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2851</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4419, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the father's name is recorded as "Ivica" rather than "Ivo".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2852</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4421, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2853</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4420, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2854</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4424.1, Death Certificate of Dževad Bešić (confidential).

<sup>2855</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4426, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2856</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4429, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2857</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4430, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2858</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4428, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2859</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 57 (confidential).

#### BEŠIĆ, Ekrem, son of Muhamed (27, male)

1256. Ekrem Bešić, ICRC number BAZ-207564-01, born on 29 July 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 27 May 1992 in Kozarac. 2860 He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2861 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK 01/286 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Ekrem Bešić. The autopsy of Ekrem Bešić's body was carried out on 7 November 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The body showed a number of fractured bones. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the trunk.<sup>2863</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Ekrem Bešić was a policeman, from 6 April to 27 May 1992. The BiH Ministry of Justice record lists the circumstances of his death as "killed" and the place of death as "Kozarac". 2864

1257. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ekrem Bešić died a violent death in Kozarac between 26 and 27 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ekrem Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠIĆ, Suad, son of Razim (age unknown, male)

1258. The Prosecution tenders a report as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Suad Bešić. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV 17/003 B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Suad Bešić. 2866 The autopsy of Suad Bešić's body was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 15 July 1999. The body showed a number of head, chest and rib injuries, which were likely caused by kicking, blows from a weapon, or falling. There were also injuries on the left forearm, consistent with defence injury in warding off a heavy blow or blows. The cause of death was established as a blunt force injury to the head. 2867

1259. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Bešić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that Suad Bešić was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIREVIĆ, Mugbila, daughter of Salih (58, female)

1260. Mugbila Beširević, born on 15 November 1938, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2860</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4436, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2861</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4438, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2862</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4433, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2863</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4439, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2864</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 58 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2865</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4443, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2866</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4442, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2867</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4444, Autopsy Report (confidential).

"22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in the year 2001 does not specify place or cause of death. 2868

1261. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mugbila Beširević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠIREVIĆ, Zlatan, son of Kemo (age unknown, male)

1262. The Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Zlatan Beširević, an engineer and prominent businessman from Prijedor was detained in the same room as Nusret Sivac at Omarska camp. Zlatan Beširević's mother was a Serb, and through her connections, Zlatan Beširević had his name added to a list of elderly and sick people who were to be transferred from Omarska to the Trnopolje camp. However, when the persons were called out to leave the camp by bus, Željko Meakić ordered Zlatan Beširević to stay in Omarska camp. When the other detainees were returned to the detention room, Beširević stayed behind. He then returned to the detention room and told his fellow inmates that he had learned that his name had been removed from the list by the Crisis Staff. The following day, he was taken away brutally to the red house from where he never returned. The Chamber notes the adjudicated fact that the red house was a notorious killing site within the camp, 2870

1263. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, and the adjudicated fact that the red house was a notorious killing site, the Chamber finds that Zlatan Beširević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEGIĆ, Eniz, son of Emin (42, male)

1264. Eniz Begić, ICRC number BAZ-100048-01, born on 3 May 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 13 June 1992 in Prijedor. He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 13 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 14 August 2004. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave on 21 October 2004 and marked "Body No. 358" were identified as being those of Eniz Begić on the basis of DNA matching and positive visual identification of his body by the deceased's family. The autopsy of Eniz Begić's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 20 March 2005. The body was missing the left forearm and the right kneecap. Eniz Begić had suffered a number of fractures to the skull, face, jaw, ribs, and cervical and lumbar vertebrae. The cause of death was determined as gunshot wounds to the head and neck. The Chamber has also received evidence from Nusret Sivac that "Enes Begić" was killed at the Omarska camp sometime after 25 July 1992 together with a group of other physicians from the area of Prijedor. Noting the difference in spelling of Eniz

27 March 2013 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2868</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4446.1, Death Certificate of Mugbila Beširević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2869</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6684-6685.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2870</sup> Adjudicated Fact 368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2871</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4459, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2872</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4456, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2873</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4455, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4457, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2874</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4458, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2875</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6686; P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

Begić's name, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that the testimony and documentary evidence concern the same person.

1265. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac and other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Eniz Begić was killed at Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

## BEHADŽIĆ, Alija, father's name unknown (age unknown)

1266. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Behadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BILETIĆ, Ilija, son of Mato (38, male)

1267. Ilija Biletić, ICRC number BAZ-110690-01, born on 25 January 1954, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 9 July 1992 in Omarska. He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 10 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The Prosecution tenders a Missing Person Statement issued by the Sanski Most SJB in support of its allegation, which states that Ilija Biletić was last seen on 10 July 1992 in "Omarska camp, in front of the hall". The circumstances of his disappearance are recorded as "sent to camp on 8 July 1992". The Prosecution also tenders an autopsy report of body "KV15 008B" exhumed from the Kevljani mass grave site in support of its allegation. While the autopsy report states that an identity card was found on the victim, and that DNA samples were taken, 2881 no evidence is tendered to identify "KV15 008B" as being the remains of Ilija Biletić.

1268. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ilija Biletić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BURAZEROVIĆ, Muhamed, son of Husnija (47, male)

1269. The FIS database states that Muhamed Burazerović, born on 1 March 1945, died on 23 July 1992 in Prijedor. The Prosecution tenders a report as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Muhamed Burazerović. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 103" were identified as being those of Muhamed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2876</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4460 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2877</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4466, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2878</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4467, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2879</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4463, Police Missing Persons Report, Biletić, Ilija (confidential). The Chamber notes that it is unclear in which year the report was issued.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2880</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4464, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2881</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4464, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2882</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4475, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2883</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4470, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

Burazerović on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2884</sup> According to this report, Muhamed Burazerović went missing in Omarska camp between 22 and 27 July 1992.<sup>2885</sup> The autopsy of Muhamed Burazerović's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 4 March 2005. Muhamed Burazerović had suffered a number of skull, face, jaw, rib, lumbar vertebrae, pelvis, and right calf bone fractures. The cause of death was determined as multiple wounds to the head, rib cage, and pelvis, caused by blows with a blunt and hard instrument, resulting in injuries to internal organs.<sup>2886</sup>

1270. Based on the evidence presented and the fact that other persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Burazerović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BURAZOVIĆ, Ismail, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1271. The Chamber has received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Ismail Burazović, a former lawyer in the public construction and utility company, was killed at the Omarska camp in 1992. 2887
- 1272. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Ismail Burazović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## CERIĆ, Amir, 2888 son of Jusuf (21, male)

- 1273. Amir Cerić, born on 28 May 1971, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "20 June 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2889
- 1274. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Amir Cerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## CERIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1275. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# CRNALIĆ, Asmir, a.k.a. "Vico", son of Zijad (34, male)

1276. Asmir Crnalić, born on 23 February 1958, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "27 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has received evidence from Nusret Sivac that Asmir Crnalić, a neighbour and friend of his

324

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2884</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4474, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4471, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2885</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4833, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2886</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4473, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2887</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2888</sup> The Chamber notes in its Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits this person's first name to be either "Amer" or "Amir". In the Proof of Death Database, the Prosecution submits the name to be "Amer" rather than "Amir". However, the death certificate tendered is issued in the name of "Amir Ceric". The Chamber thus considers the latter to be this person's name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2889</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4480.1, Death Certificate of Amir Cerić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2890</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4481 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4485.1, Death Certificate of Asmir Crnalić (confidential\_. The Chamber notes that this individual's first name is recorded as "Armin" rather than "Asmir".

who suffered from a mental health condition, was shot dead in Omarska camp in 1992.<sup>2892</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>2893</sup>

1277. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac and other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Asmir Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# CRNALIĆ, Mirsad, <sup>2894</sup> son of Zijad (35, male)

1278. Mirsad Crnalić, born on 1 January 1957, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "2 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2895

1279. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRNALIĆ, Mustafa, son of Hasan (47, male)

1280. Mustafa Crnalić, ICRC number BAS-004293-01, born on 1 May 1945, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in July 1992 in Omarska. He is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date and time of death are recorded as "23 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2897 The Prosecution tenders a report as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Mustafa Crnalić. 2898 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body 61-RF" were identified as being those of Mustafa Crnalić on the basis of DNA matching. 2899

1281. Based on the evidence presented, and the fact that other persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2892</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6630-6633; P1671.06, Prosecutor v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 31 July 2002, T. 6729-6730, 6733.

2893 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 37,

<sup>&</sup>quot;ordinal number" 4482.

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution in its Final Victims List submits that this person's first name is unknown. However, the death certificate adduced states that his first name is "Mirsad". The corresponding entry in the Proof of Death Database also states that his first name is Mirsad. Accordingly, the Chamber thus considers his first name to be known.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2895</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4487.1, Death Certificate of Mirsad Crnalić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2896</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4489, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2897</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4494.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Crnalić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2898 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4494, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2899</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4490, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### CRNALIĆ, Zijad, son of Latif (62, male)

1282. Zijad Crnalić, born on 1 December 1929, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "8 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2900</sup>

1283. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## CRNALIĆ, Ziko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1284. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ziko Crnalić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ziko Crnalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## CRNKIĆ, Ešef, son of Ramo (43, male)

1285. Ešef Crnkić, ICRC number BAZ-101718-01, born on 29 June 1949, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 1 August 1992 in Omarska. <sup>2902</sup> He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 1 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 14 August 2004. <sup>2903</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 239" were identified being as those of Ešef Crnkić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>2904</sup> According to this report, Ešef Crnkić went missing in Omarska camp on 15 August 1992. <sup>2905</sup> The autopsy of Ešef Crnkić's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 20 February 2005. Ešef Crnkić had suffered fractures to the shoulder blade, rib, and left lower leg. According to the autopsy report, the leg injury was likely caused by blows from a blunt object. The cause of death was determined as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage. <sup>2906</sup>

1286. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ešef Crnkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# CRNKIĆ, Husein, son of Ramo (46, male)

1287. Husein Crnkić, ICRC number BAZ-101718-02, born on 9 September 1945, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 18 June 1992 in Biščani, Prijedor. He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 18 June 1992 in Prijedor. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani"

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2900</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4496.1, Death Certificate of Zijad Crnalić (confidential).
 <sup>2901</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4497 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2902</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4507, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2903</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4500, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's first name is listed as "Ešref" rather than "Ešef".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2904</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4504, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4502, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2905</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"4504, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2906</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4503, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2907</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4518, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999.<sup>2908</sup> The FIS database states that Husein Crnkić died in Prijedor on 18 June 1992.<sup>2909</sup> The Prosecution also tenders a Missing Person Statement issued by the Sanski Most SJB which states that Husein Crnkić, a mathematics professor from Prijedor, was last seen by his wife in Omarska camp on 18 June 1992. At the time, Husein Crnkić wore brown trousers, an olive-green long-sleeved shirt, and black leather boots. 2910 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV16 002B" were identified as being those of Husein Crnkić on the basis of positive visual identification of his clothing by the deceased's wife and sister, as well as on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>2911</sup> The autopsy of Husein Crnkić's body was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 13 July 1999. According to the autopsy report, Husein Crnkić's body was wrapped up in a large thick blanket and missing bones from the hands and feet. Husein Crnkić had suffered a number of fractures to the ribs and right shoulder blade indicative of having been caused by blows from a weapon, kicking or stamping. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a dark green, long-sleeved shirt and brown trousers. <sup>2912</sup>

1288. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Crnkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽIHIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Adem (24, male)

1289. Fahrudin Džihić, ICRC number BAZ-104896-02, born in 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in June 1992 in Omarska.<sup>2913</sup> He is also listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 21 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000.<sup>2914</sup> Fahrudin Džihić, born on 6 June 1968, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. <sup>2915</sup> The Chamber has received an autopsy report compiled by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, specialist in forensic medicine and pathology of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, which states that human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-017B" were, on the basis of DNA matching carried out out by the International Commission for Missing Persons, identified as being those of Fahrudin Džihić. <sup>2916</sup> The autopsy of Fahrudin Džinić's body was carried out on 28 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. It was determined that Fahrudin Džihić suffered multiple ante-mortem injuries; chiefly a gunshot wound to the back of the skull. He also sustained a fractured left elbow, forearm, and hand. Fragments of bullets were retrieved from inbetween the lumbar vertebrae as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2908</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4516, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2909</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4517, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>2910</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4519, Police Missing Persons Report, Crnkić, Husein

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

2911 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4515, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4513, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 -September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2912</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4511, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2913</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4522, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2914</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4521, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2915</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4522.1, Death Certificate of Fahrudin Džihić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2916</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4522.2, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has not adduced the relevant ICMP report.

well as his ribs, suggesting further gunshot injuries to the trunk. The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the head. <sup>2917</sup>

1290. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Džihić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽIHIĆ, Sabahudin, son of Adem (26-30, male)

1291. Sabahudin Džihić, ICRC number BAZ-104896-01, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 21 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000.<sup>2918</sup> Sabahudin Džihić, ICRC number BAZ-104896-01, born in February 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in Omarska in June 1992. <sup>2919</sup> Sabahudin Džihić, born on 27 January 1966, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "1 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska camp". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 2920

1292. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Džihić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽIHIĆ, Sabit, son of Ahmet (age unknown, male)

1293. The Prosecution tenders a report as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Sabit Džihić. 2921 As the Prosecution did not tender any other evidence, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabit Džihić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DAUTOVIĆ, Edna, daughter of Uzeir (23, female)

1294. Edna Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-108745-01, born in 1969, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that she disappeared in Prijedor on 14 June 1992, 2923 while the FIS database states that she died in Prijedor on 25 July 1992. <sup>2924</sup> The Chamber has also received a Missing Persons Statement issued by the Lušci Palanka SJB on 27 January 2000 which states that Edna Dautović was last seen in Omarska Camp on 24 July 1992. The circumstances of her disappearance are recorded as "[having been] sent to Omarska

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2917</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4522.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2918</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4524, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2919</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4525, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4525.1, Death Certificate of Sabahudin Džihić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>2921</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4527, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4530, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2423 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4536, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2924</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4535, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

with 43 camp inmates and two women [...]". 2925 The Chamber has also received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued on 4 April 1997, whereby Edna Dautović was declared dead. According to this decision, witnesses stated that Edna Dautović was detained at Omarska camp. On or about 24 July 1992 she was put on a bus together with other Omarksa detainees who were to be exchanged for Serbian soldiers. Edna Dautović was never seen again. 2926 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01/042 B" were identified as being those of Edna Dautović on the basis of DNA matching, as well as positive visual identification by the deceased's parents on the basis of her clothing. <sup>2927</sup> The autopsy of her body was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 27 July 2000. Edna Dautović had suffered a blunt force trauma to the head suggestive of repeated blows with a heavy object. She had also suffered a number of fractures to the ribs, the right shoulder blade, and the right arm which were generally consistent with traumata from further blows, kicks, or heavy falls. There was also evidence of a gunshot wound to the right side of her pelvis. The cause of death was determined as gunshot injuries to the chest.<sup>2928</sup> The Chamber has received evidence that Edna Dautović was a member of the Čarakovo TO from 1 April to 30 May 1992, but the duties she carried out are recorded as "unknown". The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records the circumstances of her death as "went missing" and the place of death as "Prijedor". 2929 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. <sup>2930</sup>

1295. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edna Dautović was killed as charged in the Indictment. While the BiH record states that she served in the Čarakovo TO and disappeared while performing her duties, it records the time and place of her disappearance in a manner that is not inconsistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of her death, Edna Dautović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when she was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that she was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Edna Dautović was killed at or around the area of Omarska camp having first been detained in the camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Edvin, son of Uzeir (26, male)

1296. Edvin Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-108745-02 born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 31 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. Edvin Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-108745-02, born on 13 August 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Prijedor on 16 July 1992. The FIS database records that he died on 20 July 1992 in Prijedor. The Missing Person Statement issued by the Lušci Palanka SJB on 27 January 2000 states that Edvin Dautović was last

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2925</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4534, Police Missing Persons Report, Dautović, Edna (confidential).
 <sup>2926</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4538, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 4 April 1997

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2926</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4538, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 4 April 1997 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2927</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4539, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2928</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4529, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2929</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 61 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2930</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 37, "ordinal number" 4528.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2931</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4541, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons. Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2932</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4549, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2933</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4547, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

seen in Omarska camp on 16 July 1992.<sup>2934</sup> The Chamber has also received a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued on 8 February 2001 whereby Edvin Dautović was declared dead. According to this decision, eyewitnesses stated that Edvin Dautović was detained at the Omarska camp and killed on 20 July 1992. His body was then loaded unto a truck and taken away.<sup>2935</sup> Edvin Dautović is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 1997 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "30 May 1992" and the place of death as "Prijedor". The death certificate issued in 1997 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2936</sup> The Chamber notes that the abovementioned decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most corrected Edvin Dautović's date of death as recorded in the Register of Deaths to read 20 July 1992 rather than 30 May 1992.<sup>2937</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV14 004B" were identified as being those of Edvin Dautović on the basis of DNA matching as well as positive visual identification by the deceased's parents of his clothing and other items found with his body. 2938 The autopsy of Edvin Dautović's body was carried out on 28 June 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Edvin Dautović had sustained fractures to the sternum, several ribs, and two dorsal vertebrae. The rib fractures were suggestive of having been caused by kicking, blows from a weapon, or falling heavily. The multiplicity of fractures could have caused internal damage, such as bleeding or pneumonia. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained with certainty. 2939 The Chamber has received evidence that Edvin Dautović was a member of the Čarakovo TO from 25 April to 30 May 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records the circumstances of his death as "wounded - killed" and the place of death as "Prijedor". <sup>2940</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 2941

1297. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edvin Dautović was killed as charged in the Indictment. While the BiH record states that he served in the Čarakovo TO and died in Prijedor, it records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is not inconsistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Edvin Dautović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Edvin Dautović was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

#### DEDIĆ, Ahil, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1298. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ahil Dedić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ahil Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DENIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Safet (41, male)

1299. Ibrahim Denić, born on 3 September 1950, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "28 May 1992" and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2934</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4551, Police Missing Persons Report, Dautović, Edvin (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2935</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4542, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 8 February 2001 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2936</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4548, Death Certificate of Edvin Dautović (confidential).

<sup>2937</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4542, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 8 February 2001, p. 3 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2938</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4544, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4545, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2939</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4543, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2940</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 62 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2941</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 37, "ordinal number" 4540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2942</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4554 (confidential).

the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 2943 The Chamber has also received evidence that Ibrahim Denić was a member of the MUP between 19 April and 28 May 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans states that he went missing in Omarska camp on 28 May 1992.<sup>2944</sup>

1300. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Denić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DEUMIĆ, Akib, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1301. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Akib Deumić's death.<sup>2945</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Akib Deumić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DROBIĆ, Ilijaz, son of Salih (47, male)

1302. Ilijaz Drobić, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 9 June 1992 in Podbriježje, Prijedor. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. 2946 The FIS database records that, Ilijaz Drobić, born on 15 September 1944, died in Prijedor on 20 June 1992. 2947 Ilijaz Drobić is also listed in the List of Exhumed Persons Identified by DNA Analysis of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons of 29 October 2002. According to this list, he went missing in Omarksa on 20 July 1992 and his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in June 1999.<sup>2948</sup> The International Commission for Missing Persons also records that his remains, marked "KV14 002B" were exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave. 2949 The autopsy of Ilijaz Drobić's body was carried out on 6 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. Ilijaz Drobić sustained fractures to nine ribs, and two lumbar vertebrae, indicative of severe blows with fists, feet, a blunt instrument, or falling. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained.<sup>2950</sup>

1303. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ilijaz Drobić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### EJUPOVIĆ, Fadil, son of Emin (35, male)

1304. Fadil Ejupović, born on 17 August 1956, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2010 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>2951</sup>

1305. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fadil Ejupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2943</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4557.1, Death Certificate of Ibrahim Denić (confidential). 2944 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 33 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2945</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4558 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2946</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4566, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4565, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>2948</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4564, List of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2949</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4567, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2950</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4563, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2951</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4569.1, Death Certificate of Fadil Ejupović (confidential).

#### EJUPOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Husein (41-42, male)

1306. Ismet Ejupović, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 1 July 1992 in Keraterm camp. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV16 013B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ismet Ejupović. DNA matching, identified as being those of Ismet Ejupović. Sody was carried out on 15 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. Ismet Ejupović had suffered fractures of the nose, the breastbone, ribs, the left shoulder blade, and several lumbar vertebrae. The injuries were indicative of repeated blows from fists, feet, or a blunt instrument. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained.

1307. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Ejupović died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to or detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### EKINOVIĆ, Adnan, son of Omer (29, male)

1308. Adnan Ekinović, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 1 May 1992 in Prijedor. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor on 25 May 1999. Adnan Ekinović, born on 1 October 1962, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "7 July [1992]" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV16 012B" were identified as being those of Adnan Ekinović on the basis of DNA matching, as well as positive visual identification of his clothing and teeth by the deceased's family. The autopsy of Adnan Ekinović's body was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 14 July 1999. Adnan Ekinović had suffered fractures to his breastbone, ribs, and left shoulder blade. The injuries were indicative of kicking, stamping, blows from a heavy weapon, or falling. The rib fractures were determined to have likely been caused by a heavy blow with a weapon. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained.

1309. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adnan Ekinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2952</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4572, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2953</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4575, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2954</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4573, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2955</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4581, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2956</sup> The Chamber notes the clerical error in the date recorded in the translation of the document. The original states that the date of death was "7.7.1992".

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4583.1, Death Certificate of Adnan Ekinović (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4582, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2958</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4582, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4580, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2959</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4579, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### EKINOVIĆ, Omer, son of Idriz (55, male)

- 1310. Omer Ekinović, born on 25 January 1937, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "8 July 1992" and the place of death as "Omarska". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2960</sup>
- 1311. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Omer Ekinović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELKAZ, Mehmed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1312. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mehmet Elkaz's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmet Elkaz was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ERGELIĆ, Muhamed, son of Safet (47, male)

1313. Muhamed Ergelić, ICRC number BAZ-106654-01, born on 15 March 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing from Prijedor on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 2962 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons in respect of the recorded place and date of disappearance. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-96-B" and were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Muhamed Ergelić. According to this report, Muhamed Ergelić disappeared in the Keraterm or Omarska camp on 23 May 1992. The autopsy of the body carried out on 9 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY, established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the chest. Marek Gasior of the ICTY, established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the chest. The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 15 April 1999, whereby Muhamed Ergelić born on 15 March 1945, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was last seen in Omarska camp on 27 July 1992 where he was beaten by the guards. Camp guards had told the witness that Muhamed Ergelić was dead. Prosecution's allegation.

1314. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2960</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4585.1, Death Certificate of Omer Ekinović (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4586 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2962</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4594, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2963</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4598, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2964</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4592, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4590, DNA Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2965</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4592, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2966</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4596, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2967</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4595, Declaration of Death of Muhamed Ergelić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2968</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30, "ordinal number" 4588.

#### FAZLIĆ, Muhamed, son of Ismet (34, male)

1315. Muhamed Fazlić, born on 2 November 1957, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "18 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2969</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Muhamed Fazlić, son of Ismet, born on 2 November 1957, was a member of the Prijedor police force between 6 April 1992 and 18 July 1992. According to the records of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Muhamed Fazlić went missing in Omarska camp on 18 July 1992.

1316. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FIKIĆ, Said, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1317. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Said Fikić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Said Fikić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Adem, son of Taib (20, male)

1318. Adem Forić, ICRC number BAZ 205791-04, born on 17 May 1972, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kozarac in June 1992. Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Adem Forić. Adem Forić is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year of 2001 of the Municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The time and date of death is recorded as "30 June 1992". Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa in June 2000 were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Adem Forić. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 25 July 2006, established the cause of death as a penetrating wound to the chest. Remnants of clothing found on Adem Forić's remains were identified as being those of blue sweat pants, lining of a sleeve, and a white undershirt.

1319. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Adem Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# FORIĆ, Armin, 2978 son of Idriz (23, male)

1320. Armin Forić, born on 19 October 1968, was exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the Jama Lisac mass grave and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2969</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4600.1, Death Certificate of Muhamed Fazlić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2970</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 34 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2971</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4602 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2972</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4607, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2973</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4604, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2974</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4607.1, Death Certificate of Adem Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2975</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4607.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2976</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4607.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2977</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4607.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2978</sup> In the Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits this person's first name to be "Amir" or "Armin". The documentation submitted records the name as "Armin Forić". In its analysis, the Chamber has thus referred to the latter.

marked "JL01-038B", were identified as being those of Armin Forić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 16 April 2006, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, thoracic cavity and pelvis. Armin Forić sustained other injuries in the form of fractures to the left upper arm and leg. According to the autopsy report, these may have been caused by a blow with a hard, blunt instrument. Remnants of clothing found on Armin Forić were identified as being those of a blue sweater, jeans, and a coat. Remnants of clothing found on Armin Forić were identified as

1321. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# FORIĆ, Bahrija, son of Kadir (47, male)

- 1322. Bahrija Forić, born 15 April 1945, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 August 1992". Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave between 16 and 28 June 2000 and marked "JL01-044B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Bahrija Forić. The autopsy of the body carried out on 26 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY, established the cause of death as a penetrating wound to the thoracic cage. The autopsy report also states that Bahrija Forić sustained head injuries and fractured ribs indicative of blows from a hard, blunt instrument. <sup>2982</sup>
- 1323. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Bahrija Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FORIĆ, Emir, son of Halim (24, male)

- 1324. Emir Forić, born on 1 October 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2000 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Alići". The time o death is recorded as "27 April 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>2983</sup>
- 1325. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# FORIĆ, Faud, son of Mehmed (age unknown, male)

1326. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Faud Forić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Faud Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# FORIĆ, Hajro, don of Sejdo (26, male)

1327. Hajro Forić, ICRC number BAZ-108160-01, born on 24 April 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2979</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4609.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2980</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4609.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2981</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4611.1, Death Certificate of Bahrija Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2982</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4611.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2983</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4613.1, Death Certificate of Emir Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2984</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4615 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2985</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4617, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Hajro Forić. Hajro Forić is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Forići". The date and time of death are recorded as "17 June 1992". The Chamber notes that the adduced death certificate states that Hajro Forić was born on 24 February 1966. The Chamber has also received evidence that Hajro Forić, son of Sejdo, born on 15 February 1966 was a member of the Kozarac TO between 1 April and 17 June 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans records that he was killed in Kozarac on 17 June 1992.

1328. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hajro Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Mehmed, son of Adhem (age unknown, male)

1329. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mehmed Forić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Mehmed, son of Ahmet (50, male)

1330. Mehmed Forić, ICRC number BAZ-104471-02, born on 5 January 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 29 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Lisac" in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and place of disappearance, but states that he went missing on 28 July 1992. The FIS database records that Mehmed Forić died in Omarska on 28 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL01-046B" were identified as being those of Mehmed Forić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out on 26 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY, established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to head. The medical examiner also found additional gunshot injuries to the body, including several gunshot wounds to the right arm. Three distorted bullets were found in the remains along with a cartridge case. Fractured ribs indicated that Mehmed Forić was also kicked or hit with a heavy weapon.

1331. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Forić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

336 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2986</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4618, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2987</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4620.1, Death Certificate of Hajro Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2988</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4620.1, Death Certificate of Hajro Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2989</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 35 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2990</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4623 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2991</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4628, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2992</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4629, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2993</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4631, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2994</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4625, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2995</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4626, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### FORIĆ, Munib, son of Muharem (31, male)

1332. Munib Forić, ICRC number BAZ-205791-01, born on 25 January 1961, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kozarac in June 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Munib Forić. The FIS database records that Munib Forić died in Prijedor on 5 July 1992. Munib Forić is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 July 1992". Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-001B" were identified as being those of Munib Forić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 27 July 2000 established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and thoracic cavity. Remnants of clothing found on Munib Forić were identified as being those of a green and blue knitted jumper.

1333. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Sajid, 3003 son of Tajib (24, male)

1334. Sajid Forić, ICRC number BAZ-205791-03, born on 25 January 1968, is recorded in the FIS database as having died in Omarska, Prijedor, on 16 June 1992. 3004 According to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Sajid Forić went missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, in June 1992. Sajid Forić is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "29 May 1992" The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Sajid Forić. Assembled human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa between 16 and 28 June 2000, and marked "JL01-47B+049B" were identified as being those of Sajid Forić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 2 August 2000 established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the lumbar section of the spine, the thoracic cage, and the left upper arm. Remnants of clothing

337

Case No. IT-08-91-T

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2996</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4633, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2997</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4635, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2998</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4637, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2999</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4638.1, Death Certificate of Munib Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3000</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4638.2, Autopsy Report (confidential). <sup>3001</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4638,2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3002</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4638,2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3003</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List the Prosecution submits this person's first name to be either "Said" or "Sajid". In the majority of the documents adduced, his name was spelled as "Sajid". The Chamber adopted the spelling used in the majority of the documents tendered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3004</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number"4641, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3005 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4643, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3006</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4644.1, Death Certificate of Sajid Forić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3007</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4642, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>3008</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4644.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

found on Sajid Forić were identified as those of a green-brown sweater, tracksuit bottoms, and brown ankle-high boots.  $^{3009}$ 

1335. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FORIĆ, Samir, 3010 son of Taib (22, male)

1336. Samir Forić, ICRC number BAZ-205791-02, born on 11 May 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kozarac in June 1992. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Samir Forić. Samir Forić is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "30 June 1992". Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa between 16 and 28 June 2000 and marked "JL01-036B" were identified as being those of Samir Forić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office established the cause of death as a penetrating wound to the head.

1337. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GANIĆ, Sulejman, son of Muharem (58, male)

1338. Sulejman Ganić, born on 6 January 1952, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "16 June 1992 at 3:10 pm". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>3015</sup>

1339. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Galić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Džemal, son of Muharem (41, male)

1340. Džemal Garibović, born on 15 January 1951, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Omarska' camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "1 July 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3009</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4644.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3010</sup> In the Final Victims List, the Prosecution lists this person as either "Semir" or "Samir" Forić. In the majority of the documents adduced, the name is spelled as "Samir". In its analysis, the Chamber has thus adopted the latter spelling of the first name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3011</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4646, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3012</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4649, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3013</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4650.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Samir Forić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3014</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4650.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4652.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Suleiman Galić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3016</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4654.1, Death Certificate of Džemal Garibović (confidential).

1341. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Džemal Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Derviš, son of Ibro (35, male)

1342. Derviš Garibović, born on 24 June 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3017 Derviš Garibović is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "5 June 1992". <sup>3018</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-137-B" and were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Derviš Garibović 3019 According to this report, Derviš Garibović disappeared in Omarska camp on 25 May 1992. 3020 The autopsy of the body carried out on 3 November 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY, established the cause of death as gunshot injuries to the pelvis and the right arm. 3021

1343. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Derviš Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GARIBOVIĆ, Dževad, son of Muharem (47, male)

1344. Dževad Garibović, born on 24 January 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 17 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3022 Dževad Garibović is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "10 June 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, partial human remains marked "JK-01-392#6" consisting of no more than a large part of a lower jaw, were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Dževad Garibović. According to this report, Derviš Garibović disappeared in Omarska camp on 17 June 1992.<sup>3024</sup>

1345. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>3017</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4657, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4662.1, Death Certificate of Derviš Garibović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
3019 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4662, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4660, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 - September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3020</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4662, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3021</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4659, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3022</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4669, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3023</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4669.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Dževad Garibović.

<sup>3024</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4668, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Enes, son of Tahir (27, male)

1346. Enes Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-102797-02, born on 31 August 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 6 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. <sup>3025</sup> Enes Garibović is recorded in the ICRC Missing Persons List as having gone missing on 26 May 1992 in Trnopolje, Prijedor. 3026 Enes Garibović is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and date and time of death are recorded as "6 June 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3027

1347. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Ferid, son of Seifo (30, male)

1348. Ferid Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-102793-01, born on 17 April 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Trnopolje on 25 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3028 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and place of disappearance. The Chamber notes, however, that the date of disappearance is recorded as 26 May 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-254-B" assembled from 5 distinct parts found in the grave site, 3030 were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ferid Garibović. <sup>3031</sup> According to this report, Ferid Garibović disappeared in Sivći, Prijedor, on 22 May 1992. <sup>3032</sup> The Prosecution submits three distinct autopsy reports, only two of which pertain to body parts identified as being those of Ferid Garibović. <sup>3033</sup> The autopsies of the two body parts were carried out separately on 12 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The autopsy of "JK01-033BP" consisting of the trunk and upper body of Ferid Garibović established the cause of death as gunshot injuries to trunk.<sup>3034</sup> It is thus unnecessary for the Chamber to consider the autopsy report for the lower body part.<sup>3035</sup>

<sup>3025</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4674, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3026</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4672, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4675.1, Death Certificate of Enes Garibović (confidential).

3028 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4685, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3029</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4679, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3030</sup> Viz. JK01-35BP+35BP-2+BP35-II+33BP+381-BP-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3031</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4677, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4678, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3032</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4677, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>3033</sup> The autopsy report submitted under "ordinal number" 4680 pertains to body parts marked "JK01-042BP".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3034</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4683, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3035</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4684, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466.

1349. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ferid Garibović died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he died there, as charged in the Indictment.

# GARIBOVIĆ, Hamdija, or Hamdo, 3036 son of Mustafa (25, male)

1350. Hamdija Garibović, born on 20 June 1966, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Gornji Jakupovići". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 May 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3037 The Chamber has also received evidence that Hamdo Garibović, son of Mustafa, born on 20 June 1966, was a member of the Kozarac TO between 6 April 1992 and 10 June 1992. According to the records of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Hamdo Garibović went missing in Omarska camp on 10 June 1992. 3038

1351. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamdo Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Hasan, son of Husein (39, male)

1352. Hasan Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-101996-01, born on 12 January 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 6 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Hasan Garibović's identifying information but records the date and place of disappearance as 3 June 1992 in Trnopolje, Prijedor. 3040 Pursuant to the Report of the Identification of bodies exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 105" were identified as being those of Hasan Garibović on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3041</sup> According to the same document, Hasan Garibović went missing in Omarska camp between 15 and 30 June 1992.<sup>3042</sup> The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 19 February 2005, established the cause of death as a gunshot wounds to the neck and rib cage. 3043 Remnants of clothing found on Hasan Garibović were identified as those of grey trousers and a striped white shirt. 3044

1353. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>3036</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that this person's first name is "Hamdo". However, the death certificate adduced records the name as "Hamdija". The record of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans states that this person's first name is "Hamdo".

3037 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4689.1, Death Certificate of Hamdija Garibović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 36 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3039</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4691, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4694, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3041</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4692, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4693, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3042</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4692, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3043</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4695, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3044</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4695, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Hasib, son of Avdo (24, male)

1354. Hasib Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-103470-01, born on 2 January 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, human remains exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004 were identified as being those of Hasib Garibović on the basis of DNA matching. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records Hasib Garibović as having gone missing in Trnopolje on 26 May 1992. Hasib Garibović is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "5 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3047

1355. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasib Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Hilmija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1356. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hilmija Garibović's death. 3048 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hilmija Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Irfan, son of Abdulah (23, male)

1357. Irfan Garibović, born on 12 October 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 3 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3049 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK01-216-B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Irfan Garibović. 3050 According to this report, Irfan Garibović disappeared in Omarska camp on 3 June 1992. 3051 The autopsy of the body was carried out on 1 November 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The cause of death could not be ascertained. 3052

1358. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Irfan Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

342 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3045</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4701, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4699, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3046</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4697, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3047</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4702.1, Death Certificate of Hasib Garibović (confidential). 3048 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4704 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3049</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4712, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3050</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4711, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4706, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3051</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4711, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3052</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4709, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Senad, son of Tahir (29, male)

1359. Senad Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-102794-01, born on 4 December 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Senad Garibović as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave on 19 August 2004 and marked "Body No. 9" were identified as being those of Senad Garibović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, on 24 February 2006 established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the head and neck. The medical expert also found evidence of blunt force injury to the right arm. Remnants of clothing found on Senad Garibović were identified as those of a black sweater and red tracksuit bottoms.

1360. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Suad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Suad Garibović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Suad Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Sulejman, son of Husein (24, male)

1361. Sulejman Garibović, born 25 August 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Trnopolje". The date and time of death are recorded as "9 July 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3059</sup>

1362. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# GARIBOVIĆ, Suvad, father's unknown (age unknown, male)

The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Suvad Garibović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Suvad Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3053</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4719, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3054</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4716, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3055</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4714, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4717 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3056</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4721, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3057</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4721, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3058</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4723 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3059</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4725.1, Death Certificate of Sulejman Garibović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3060</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4727 (confidential).

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Tahir, son of Meho (53, male)

1363. Tahir Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-102797-01, born on 27 March 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Trnopolje on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Tahir Garibović as having gone missing in Omarska on 14 July 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Kevljani" site were identified as being those of Tahir Garibović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 6 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The body showed evidence of substantial blunt force traumata to the head and trunk causing fractures to the skull and jaw, the breastbone, ribs, and pelvis. The injuries to the trunk were indicative of having been caused by a heavy weapon or severe stamping. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained.

1364. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Tahir Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GROZDANIĆ, Dževad, son of Murat (40, male)

1365. Dževad Grozdanić, born on 6 January 1952, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "30 July 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3065

1366. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Grozdanić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GROZDANIĆ, Senad, son of Omer (39, male)

1367. Senad Grozdanić, ICRC number BAZ-111171-01, born on 24 January 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. 3066 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Senad Grozdanić's his identifying information and place of disappearance but states that he went missing in June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" grave site and marked "KV22-008B/D2" were identified as being those of Senad Grozdanić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 21 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3061</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4729, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3062</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4730, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3063</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4731, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3064</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4734, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3065</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4736.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Dževad Grozdanić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3066</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4739, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons. Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3067</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4738, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3068</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4741 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

of the ICTY. 3069 Senad Grozdanić had suffered blunt force traumata to the back, fractures to several ribs, and a fracture of the left shoulder blade. It was, however, not possible to establish whether these injuries were sustained ante or post-mortem, and the cause of death could not be ascertained. 3070 Remnants of clothing found on the body were identified as being those of a black and grey woollen cardigan, green and black long-sleeved shirt, and dark brown trousers. 3071

1368. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Grozdanić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HABIBOVIĆ, Mahmut, a.k.a. "Meho", 3072 son of Ibrahim (58, male)

1369. Mahmut Habibović, born on 4 June 1934, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "30 July 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3073 The Chamber has also received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Meho Habibović was detained at Omarska camp. According to Nusret Sivac, Meho Habibović was one of a number of older persons who died in the camp as a consequence of the poor sanitary conditions and daily beatings administered by the camp's guards. 3074

1370. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mahmut, a.k.a. "Meho", Habibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HADŽALAGIĆ, Rizo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1371. The Prosecution refers the Chamber to a part of Nusret Sivac's evidence that has not been tendered into evidence in this case. 3075 However, the Chamber notes the adjudicated fact that in June or July 1992, in Omarska camp, a Bosnian Serb camp guard in camouflage uniform kicked Rizo Hadžalić with his heavy army boots and struck him with his rifle butt. The guard jumped all over Rizo Hadžalić's body until he was dead. The incident was witnessed by other camp inmates. 3076

1372. Based on the adjudicated fact, the Chamber finds that Rizo Hadžalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HADŽALIĆ, Rizah, son of Hajrudin (39, male)

1373. Rizah Hadžalić, born on 20 September 1952, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "14 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3077

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3069</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4740, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3070</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4740, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3071</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4740, Autopsy Report (confidential).

In the Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits this person's first name to be "Meho" or "Mahmut". The death certificate adduced in the Proof of Death Database records his first name as "Mahmut", while the evidence of Nusret Sivac refers to a certain "Meho". The Chamber considers that the evidence concerns the same person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3073</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4743.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Mahmut Habibović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3074</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6638-6639.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3075</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4745 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3076</sup> Adjudicated Fact 880.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3077</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4747.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Rizah Hadžalić.

1374. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rizah Hadžalić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HADŽIĆ, Hajra, daughter of Bejdo (36, female)

1375. Hajra Hadžić, born 22 December 1955, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 August 1992". The Chamber has received the autopsy report for "Body No. 3" exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site identified as being that of Hajra Hadžić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy was carried out on 15 March 2008 by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević. The cause of death was established as a penetrating wound to the head. The medical expert also found evidence of damage to the bones caused by blows from a "hard dull instrument", or otherwise caused post-mortem. 3079

1376. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajra Hadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HARAMBAŠIĆ, Fikret, son of Hamed (29, male)

1377. Fikret Harambašić, ICRC number BAZ-111396-01, born on 1 November 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons report records Fikret Harambašić as having disappeared in Prijedor in May 1992. Partial human remains consisting of no more than the skull, neck, and the upper part of the breastbone, exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV02-010BP" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Fikret Harambašić. The autopsy of Fikret Harambašić's body eas carried out on 28 June 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death could not be ascertained. 3083

1378. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Harambašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Ismet, son of Šaban (33, male)

1379. Ismet Hodžić, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 3 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Tomašica" in the municipality of Prijedor on 6 June 2004.<sup>3084</sup> Human remains exhumed from the "Tomašica" grave site and marked "Tomasica No.78(1)" were identified as those of Ismet Hodžić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3085</sup> Ismet Hodžić, born on 23 April 1959, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

 <sup>3078</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4748.1, Death Certificate of Hajra Hadžić (confidential).
 3079 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4748.2, Autopsy Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3080</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4752, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3081</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4754, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3082</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4755 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3083</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4753, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3084</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4759, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3085</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4757 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

are recorded as "3 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3086

1380. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HODŽIĆ, Zilhad, son of Sulejman (36, male)

1381. Zilhad Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-102799-02, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Ziljad Hodžić's identifying information and date of disappearance, but records him as having gone missing in Kozarac. 3088 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-123-B" were identified as being those of Zilhad Hodžić on the basis of DNA matching. 3089 According to the same report, Ziljad Hodžić disappeared in Omarska, Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. 3090 The autopsy of the body carried out on 10 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY, established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the chest. 3091 The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 15 April 1999, whereby Zilhad Hodžić, born on 1 May 1956, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was last seen in Omarska camp on 7 June 1992 where he was taken out of the camp by the camp commander. A Serb police officer had told the witnesses that Zilhad Hodžić had been imprisoned in Omarska and that he had probably died. 3092 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3093

1382. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zilhad Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HRNIĆ, Dalija, son of Jasim (45, male)

1383. Dalija Hrnić, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in the Omarska camp on 23 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. Human remains exhumed from the "Kevljani" site and marked "KV02-023B" were identified as being those of Dalija Hrnić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3086</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4759.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Hodžić (confidential). <sup>3087</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4765, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3088</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4761, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3089</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4768, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa Mass Grave (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4769, DNA Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3090</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4768, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa Mass Grave (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3091</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4770, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>3092</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4772, Declaration of Death of Zilhad Hodžić (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3093</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30, "ordinal number" 4760.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3094</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4776, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3095</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4774 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

body was carried out on 24 June 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Whereas the body showed injuries to the chest in form of fractured ribs indicative of falling, kicking, or blows from a heavy object, the cause of death could not be ascertained.<sup>3096</sup>

1384. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dalija Hrnić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HRNIĆ, Jasmin, son of Mehmed (29, male)

1385. Jasmin Hrnić, born on 6 May 1963, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 18 June 1992. According to the same list his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1992. 3097 Human remains exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV02-012B" were identified as being those of Jasmin Hrnić on the basis of DNA matching. 3098 The FIS database records that Jasmin Hrnić died in Prijedor on 17 June 1992. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 29 June 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. Jasmin Hrnić sustained multiple fractures of the facial bones and injuries to the rib cage indicative of stamping, a severe kick or blow from a heavy object, or falling. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained. 3100

1386. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Hrnić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HRUSTIĆ, Dževad, son of Omer (24, male)

1387. Dževad Hrustić, ICRC number BAZ-110314-01, born on 27 March 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kevljani on 24 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Dževad Hrustić's identifying information and date of disappearance although the report records that he went missing in Kamičani, Prijedor. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" grave site and marked "JL01-031B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Dževad Hrustić. The autopsy of the body carried out on 1 August 2000 by Dr. Giancarlo Di Vella of the ICTY established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the head and trunk. 3104 The medical expert found evidence of blunt force traumata to the chest. 3105

1388. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Hrustić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Hrustić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3096</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4777, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3097</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4783, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4779 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4781, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 3100 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4780, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4788, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3102</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4789, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3103</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4786 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3104</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4787, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3105</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4787, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Azur, son of Mehmdalija (age unknown, male)

1389. In support of its allegation that Azur Jakupović was killed in Omarska camp, the Prosecution submits a death certificate. The Chamber, however, notes that the death certificate adduced is issued in the name of another person. 3106

1390. Consequently, the Chamber is unable to find that Azur Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Hajrudin, son of Halim (31, male)

1391. Hajrudin Jakupović, ICRC number BAZ-101804-01, born on 14 February 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report Hajrudin Jakupović, born in 1962, went missing in Babići, Prijedor, on 27 May 1992. Human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-331B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Hajrudin Jakupović. The autopsy of the body carried out on 23 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY established the cause of death as a gunshot injury to head. The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, issued by judge Adil Draganović on 21 April 1999, whereby Hajrudin Jakupović born on 14 February 1961, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was last seen in Kozarac near the sawmill factory on 26 May 1992. According to one of the witnesses, after the attack on Kozarac, seven Muslim policemen including Hajrudin Jakupović were singled out and brought to the parking lot in front of the cardboard factory in Kozarac where they were shot.

1392. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Jakupović was killed in Kozarac on or about 26 May 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed in Omarska camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Idriz, son of Fehim (44, male)

1393. Idriz Jakupović, ICRC number BAZ-109667-01, born on 26 November 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 13 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records Idriz Jakupović as having gone missing in Prijedor on 6 July 1992. According to the FIS

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4791.1, Death Certificate of Džemal Garibović (confidential). The Chamber notes that a death certificate in the name of Azur Jakupović was tendered in BCS.
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4796, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3107</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4796, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3108</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4801, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that the ICRC number recorded is consistent with the one recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3109</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4794 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3110</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4799, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4795, Declaration of Death of Hajrudin Jakupović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential) 3112 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4808, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3113</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4806, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

database Idriz Jakupović died in Omarska on 20 July 1992.<sup>3114</sup>. The Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor lists Idriz Jakupović as deceased. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "13 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3115 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site and marked "Body No. 438-DF" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Idriz Jakupović. 3116

1394. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Idriz Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Ilijaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1395. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ilijaz Jakupović's death. 3117 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ilijaz Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Mirsad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1396. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. The Defence submits that Mirsad Jakupović was a Croatian defender.<sup>3119</sup> The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 3120 The Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Muhamed, son of Redžep (25, male)

1397. Muhamed Jakupović, born on 12 December 1966, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The place of death is recorded as "Kamičani". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. It has been submitted by the Defence that Muhamed Jakupović was a Croatian defender. The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 3123 The Chamber has, however, received evidence that Muhamed Jakupović, son of Redžep, born on 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3114</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4803, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3115 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4809.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Idriz Jakupović.

<sup>3116</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4808, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4809 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3117</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3118</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4812 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3119</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 39 "ordinal number" 4812; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 2. <sup>3120</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4816.1, Death Certificate of Muhamed Jakupović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3122 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 39 "ordinal number" 4815, and Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3123</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

December 1966, was a member of the Prijedor SJB from 1 April 1992 to 15 July 1992. The BiH Ministry for War Veterans states that he was killed in Kamičani on 15 July 1992. 3124

1398. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Nihad, son of Ferid (32, male)

1399. Nihad Jakupović, born on 26 October 1959, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The place of death is recorded as "Jakupovići". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3125 The Defence submits that Nihad Jakupović was a Croatian defender. 3126 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 3127

1400. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JASKIĆ, Fikret, son of Jasmin (age unknown, male)

1401. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fikret Jaskić's death. 3128 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Jaskić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAVOR, Bahrija, son of Hamdija (26, male)

1402. Bahrija Javor, ICRC number BAZ-107028-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Babići, Prijedor, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" mass grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. The ICRC Missing Persons List records that Bahrija Javor disappeared in Kozarac in May 1992. Partial human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL01-004B" were identified as being those of Bahrija Javor on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Bahrija Javor's remains was carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 27 July 2000. The upper half of the body from the pelvis upwards was missing, apart from one rib. The rib showed a fracture, but it could not be determined whether the injury occurred post-or ante-mortem. No other findings could be made as to the death of Bahrija Javor. His cause of death was thus established as being unascertained. 3132

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3124</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 37 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4818.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Jakupović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3126 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 39 "ordinal number" 4817, and Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3127</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3128</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4819 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4824, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3130</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4827, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3131</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4822, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3132</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4826, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1403. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bahrija Javor died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there as charged in the Indictment.

## KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Muharem, son of Alija (56-57, male)

1404. Muharem Kahrimanović, born in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 21 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains marked "Body No. 310" were identified as being those of Muharem Kahrimanović on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Muharem Kahrimanović, born on 22 July 1935, went missing in Omarska camp on 21 July 1992. The autopsy of Muharem Kahrimanović's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 2 April 2005. The body's head, several cervical vertebrae, ribs, and fragments of the feet were missing. The cause of death was established as an injury to the thoracic cage with multiple fractures of the ribs and an injury to the internal organs of the thoracic cage.

1405. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPETANOVIĆ, Asef, son of Halid (37, male)

1406. Asef Kapetanović, born on 17 July 1955, is listed in the Register of Deaths for Omarska in the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that Nusret Sivac testified that Asef Kapetanović was killed in Omarska camp. However, Nusret Sivac testified that a person by the name of Burho Kapetanović, not Asef Kapetanović, was killed in Omarska camp on 27 July 1992. The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.

1407. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asef Kapetanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3133</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4834, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3134</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4833, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4829, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3135</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4833, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3136</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4832, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3137</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4837.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Asef Kapetanović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3138</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4837, Reference to ST063, P1671.03, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has omitted to indicate the relevant transcript pages. It further notes that the correct exhibit number of the transcript of the testimony of 30 July 2002 is P1671.04.

<sup>3139</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T.6688-6690.

#### KAPETANOVIĆ, Burhanudin, a.k.a. "Burho", 3140 son of Osman (44, male)

1408. Burhanudin Kapetanović, born in 1948, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Burhanudin Kapetanović, ICRC number BAZ-109700-01, born on 25 February 1948, disappeared in Prijedor on 30 May 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains marked "Body No. 398" assembled from "Bodies Nos. 278+398" were identified as being those of Burhanudin Kapetanović on the basis of visual identification of the deceased's clothing by his next of kin and DNA matching. The Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Burho Kapetanović, an audio-visual technician Sivac personally knew, was killed in Omarska camp on 27 July 1992.

1409. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Burhanudin Kapetanović was killed in Omarska camp on 27 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPETANOVIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Osman (47, male)

1410. Mehmedalija Kapetanović, ICRC number BAZ-109700-02, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mehmedalija Kapetanović as having disappeared in Prijedor on 13 June 1992. Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains marked "Body No. 394" were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Kapetanović on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Mehmedalija Kapetanović, born on 9 September 1944, went missing in Omarska camp on 10 June 1992. The autopsy of Mehmedalija Kapetanović's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 April 2005. The cause of death was established as a bullet wound to the head. Staring the start of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 April 2005. The cause of death was established as a bullet wound to the head.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3140</sup> In its Final Victims List, the Prosecution lists this person as "Burhanudin" or "Burho" Kapetanović.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4843, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3142</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4842, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3143</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4845, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4844, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3144</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6688-6690.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3145</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4852, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3146</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4854, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3147</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4853, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4849, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3148</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4853, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3149</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4850, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1411. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Kapetanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Emir, son of Hamdija (30, male)

- 1412. Emir Karabašić, born on 20 September 1961, is listed in the Register of Deaths for Omarska in the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2004. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "10 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3150</sup>
- 1413. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Karabašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARAGIĆ, Emir, son of Smail (33, male)

1414. Emir Karagić, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Biščani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Emir Karagić, ICRC number BAS-001383-02, born on 8 January 1959, disappeared in Omarska on 20 July 1992.<sup>3152</sup> Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 005-BP" were identified as being those of Emir Karagić on the basis of DNA matching. 3153 The autopsy of Emir Karagić's body was carried out on 20 July 1999 by Dr. Markus Rothschild of the ICTY. Bones of another skull were found on the remains. The cause of death could not be established, although there were indications that death may have resulted from a trauma to the head and brain. The cause of death was recorded as "unascertained". 3154

1415. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emir Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARDUM, Gordan, son of Zdravko (33, male)

1416. Gordan Kardum, ICRC number BAZ-270343-01, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 21 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>3156</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 296" were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3150</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4857.1, Death Certificate of Emir Karabašić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
3151 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4862, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3152</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4860, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4859, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3154</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4863, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4866, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3156</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4871, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

identified as being those of Gordan Kardum on the basis of DNA matching. 3157 According to this report, Gordan Kardum, born on 3 June 1958, went missing in Omarska camp on 21 July 1992. 3158 The autopsy of Gordan Kardum's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 20 February 2005. The cause of death was established as bullet wounds to the thoracic cage and the right thigh bone. 3159 In support of its allegation that Gordan Kardum was killed in Omarska camp, the Prosecution has referred the Chamber to the testimony of Nusret Sivac.<sup>3160</sup> However, the Chamber notes that the part of Sivac's testimony it has been referred to, does not mention Gordan Kardum.

1417. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Gordan Kardum was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KERENOVIĆ, Omer, son of Hamdija (57, male)

1418. Omer Kerenović, ICRC number BAZ-105852-01, born in 1934, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Omer Kerenović, born on 29 November 1934, disappeared in Prijedor on 8 June 1992.3162 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 129" were identified as being those of Omer Kerenović on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that judge Omer Kerenović, who was detained at Omarska camp, was killed there together with other legal professionals. 3164 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.<sup>3165</sup>

1419. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Omer Kerenović was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3157</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4868, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4867, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>3158</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4868, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification

Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3159</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4869, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>3160</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4872, Reference to "ST063; line 13188:21 - 13188:22" (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has not provided the Chamber with a full citation to the testimony, including the date of the testimony. Moreover, the Chamber notes that the part of Nusret Sivac's testimony referred to is a general statement about the fate of Muslim and Croat policemen who did not sign the declaration of loyalty. It reads: "[...] several Muslims and Croats, indeed, signed it. However, it didn't help them any [sic]. They were still taken to the Omarska and Keraterm camps and killed there."

3161 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4877, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3162</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4874, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4875, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3164</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6680; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4879, Reference to ST063, P1671.03, Prosecution v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002 (confidential). The Chamber notes that the correct exhibit number of the transcript of the testimony of 30 July 2002 is P1671.04.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3165</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 40, "ordinal number" 4873.

#### KESIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Šefika (27, male)

- 1420. Fahrudin Kesić, ICRC number BAZ-104685-01, born on 5 March 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Kamičani, Prijedor, in June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL01-008B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Fahrudin Kesić. The autopsy of Fahrudin Kesić's remains was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. Reinhard Urban of the ICTY. According to the autopsy report, Fahrudin Kesić sustained gunshot wounds to the head, chest, left arm, left thigh bone, and pelvis. The direct cause of death was determined as gunshot injuries to the head and chest. The direct cause of death was determined as gunshot injuries to the head and chest.
- 1421. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Kesić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KODŽIĆ, Emir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1422. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove Emir Kodžić's death. However, the Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Emir Kodžić, who was a police officer in Prijedor was executed among other former Prijedor police officers in Omarska camp between 25 and 27 July 1992. 1170
- 1423. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Emir Kodžić was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

### KOMŠIĆ, Aleksandar, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1424. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Aleksandar Komšić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Aleksandar Komšić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KOMŠIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1425. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KRAJIŠNIK, Juso, son of Muhamed (20, male)

1426. Juso Krajišnik, born in 1972, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska on 15 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" mass grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa 22 June 2000. The Chamber has received a decision issued by judge Edina Riđešić of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, whereby Juso Krajišnik, born on 10 March 1972, was declared dead on 29 November 1997. It was held that he was last seen in the village of Kamičani in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3166</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4881, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3167</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4883, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3168</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4882, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3169</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4885 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3170</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3171</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4887 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3172</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4889 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3173</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4891, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

municipality of Prijedor on 27 May 1992 when he disappeared without a trace. The date of his death was determined as "27 May 1992" and it was ordered that a corresponding entry be made in the Register of Deaths. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01-015B" were identified as being those of Juso Krajišnik on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Juso Krajišnik's remains was carried out on 31 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The autopsy established that Juso Krajišnik suffered a number of injuries, including fractures of the lower jaw and ribs caused by blunt force, and several gunshot injuries to the chest at contact range, as well as the head. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot injury to the head. The cause of death was determined as a

1427. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Juso Krajišnik died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## LISIĆ, Mirzet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1428. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove Mirzet Lisić's death. However, the Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Mirzet Lisić, who used to be a police officer in Prijedor was executed among other former Prijedor police officers between 25 and 27 July 1992. 1178
- 1429. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Mirzet Lisić was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Aziz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1430. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Ibro, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1431. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Islam, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1432. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Mahmut, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1433. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3174</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4892, Municipal Court of Sanski Most Declaration of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3175</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4894, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3176</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4893, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4886 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3178</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T.6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3179</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4897 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3180</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4898 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3181</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4899 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4900 (confidential).

#### Last name unknown, Meho, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1434. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MAHMULJIN, Omer, son of Hamdija (33-34, male)

1435. Omer Mahmuljin, ICRC number BAS-003129-01, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 6 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Omer Mahmuljin, born on 18 June 1958, went missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 205" were identified as being those of Omer Mahmuljin on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Omer Mahmuljin went missing in Omarska camp between 1 and 30 June 1992.

1436. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Omer Mahmuljin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MAHMULJIN, Osman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1437. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. However, the Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Dr. Osman Mahmuljin was one of a number of Muslim and Croat doctors from Prijedor who were killed in Omarska camp. 189

1438. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Osman Mahmuljin was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

# MAHMULJIN, Velida, daughter of Fehim, née ARNAUTOVIĆ (43, female)

1439. Velida Mahmuljin, ICRC number BAZ-101995-01, born in 1948, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kozarac on 15 May 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 12 October 2000. The ICRC Missing Persons List states that Velida Mahmuljin, born on 26 November 1948, disappeared in Kozarac on 27 May 1992. 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4901 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4903, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3185</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4904, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3186</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4908, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4906, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3187</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4908, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3188</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4909 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3189</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6686; *see also* Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6626.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3190</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4913, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3191</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4916, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Mahmuljin, born on 26 November 1948, is listed in the Register of Deaths for Kozarac in the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2010. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "18 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3192</sup> Human remains exhumed from a grave site in Kevljani, Prijedor, and marked "Kevljani Hadžići Body No. 2" were identified as being those of Velida Mahmuljin on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3193</sup>

1440. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Velida Mahmuljin was killed, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MAHMULJIN, Zijad, son of Idriz (53, male)

1441. Zijad Mahmuljin, ICRC number BAZ-105149-02, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 28 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Zijad Mahmuljin, born on 1 June 1939, disappeared in Kozarac on 26 June 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 132" were identified as being those of Zijad Mahmuljin on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Zijad Mahmuljin was carried out on 12 March 2005 by the medical expert the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and thoracic cage. Zijad Mahmuljin also suffered injuries in the form of fractures of ribs and his lower jaw caused by blows from a hard object. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and thoracic cage.

1442. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Mahmuljin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MAHMUTOVIĆ, Meho, son of Mustafa (39, male)

1443. Meho Mahmutović, ICRC number BAZ-108680-01, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 26 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Meho Mahmutović's identifying information and date and place of his disappearance. Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3192</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4918.1, Death Certificate of Velida Mahmuljin (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that the death certificate states that her father's name was "Sulejman Mahmuljin". The Chamber notes that the father's name recorded in the death certificate reads "Fehim Arnautović" and is consistent with that recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the ICRC Missing Persons Report. Sulejman Mahmuljin was the deceased's spouse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3193</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4917, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3194</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4925, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4924, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3196</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4922, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3197</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4923, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3198</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4935, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3199</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4934, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 094" were identified as being those of Meho Mahmutović, born on 5 August 1952, on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Meho Mahmutović's body was carried out on 15 February 2005 by the medical expert the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the pelvis. Meho Mahmutović also suffered a fractured sternum and multiple fractures to his ribs, likely caused by blows from a blunt instrument. The Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Meho Mahmutović, who was a police officer in Prijedor, was executed among other former Prijedor police officers in Omarska camp between 25 and 27 July 1992. The cause of Mahmutović also suffered a fractured officer in Prijedor, was executed among other former Prijedor police officers in Omarska camp between 25 and 27 July 1992.

1444. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Meho Mahmutović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MARIĆ, Stjepan, son of Nikola (45, male)

1445. Stjepan Marić, born in 1947, in Visoko in the municipality of Visoko, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Trnopolje camp on 6 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Stjepan Marić, ICRC number BAZ-111072-01, born on 5 August 1947 in Visoko, disappeared in Prijedor on 5 August 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 402-DF" were identified as being those of Stjepan Marić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Stjepan Marić, a Croat engineer who was the director of the mathematical centre of the Ljubia mines, had been mobilised into the Serb army and sent to fight in Croatia. According to Sivac, Marić deserted. He was subsequently apprehended and was one of the first persons to be brought to Omarska camp, where he was killed in July 1992.

1446. Based on the testimony of Nusret Sivac, and other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Stjepan Marić was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

# MATANOVIĆ, Drago, son of Nikola (20-21, male)

1447. Drago Matanović, ICRC number BAS-000853-01 born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Lisac" mass grave site in the municipality of Bosanska Krupa on 22 June 2000. Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL01-035B" were identified as being those of Drago Matanović on

360 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3200</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4930, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4931, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3201</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4932, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3202</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3203</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4938, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3204</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4939, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3205</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4937, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3206</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.08, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 1 August 2002, T. 6677.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3207</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4941, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

the basis of DNA matching. 3208 The autopsy of Drago Matanović was carried out on 3 August 2000 by Dr. A. Samarasekera of the ICTY. Drago Matanović sustained a number of blunt force injuries to the chest causing fractures to ribs a few weeks prior to his death. The cause of death was established as multiple high-velocity firearm injuries to the head, as well as firearm injuries to both legs.

1448. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Drago Matanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEŠIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1449. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3209 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MEŠIĆ, Halim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1450. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3210 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Halim Mešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEDUNJANIN, Bećir, son of Hajro (49, male)

1451. Bećir Medunjanin, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 22 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. 3211 The FIS database records that Bećir Medunjanin, father's name unknown, born on 3 June 1943 died in Omarska on 22 June 1992. 3212 Human remains exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave site and marked as "KVT 001 BP-L" were identified as being those of Bećir Medunjanin on the basis of DNA matching. 3213 The autopsy was carried out on 28 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The only body part recovered and labelled as "KVT 001 BP-L" was Bećir Medunjanin's head. The cause of death could not be ascertained, as the injury to the skull was determined to have occurred post-mortem.<sup>3214</sup> The Chamber notes the Prosecution's general reference to the evidence of Mevludin Sejmenović. However, Mevludin Sejmenović does not testify about the death or circumstances of the death of Bećir Medunianin. 3215

1452. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bećir Medunjanin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEDUNJANIN, Sadeta, daughter of Hasan, maiden name unknown (48, female)

1453. Sadeta Medunjanin, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, her body was exhumed from the "Lisac" grave site in the municipality of Bosanska

361 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3208</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4943, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4944 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3210</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4946 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3211</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4948, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4954, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3213 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4949, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4953, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3215</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4955, Reference to "ST062" (confidential).

Krupa, on 22 June 2000.<sup>3216</sup> The FIS database records that Sadeta Medunjanin, born on 26 February 1944, died in Omarska, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.<sup>3217</sup> The Prosecution refers the Chamber to a police missing persons report. However, the said report has not been provided in the Proof of Death Database. <sup>3218</sup> As noted by the Defence, the police missing persons report states that Sadeta Medunjanin was last seen in Omarska camp in July 1992. 3219 Human remains exhumed from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave and marked "JL 01-025 B" have been identified as being those of Sadeta Medunjanin on the basis of DNA matching as well as visual identification of her body on the basis of her clothing by the deceased's son. 3220 The autopsy of Sadeta Medunjanin's body was carried out on 28 July 2000 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The body was missing the left leg. The cause of death was established as a gunshot injury to the head. Sadeta Medunjanin also suffered a number of broken ribs, likely caused by blunt force through kicking or blows from a weapon.<sup>3221</sup> The Prosecution has referred the Chamber to the evidence of Azra Blazević and Mevludin Sejmenović. Neither witness mentions Sadeta Medunjanin in their testimony. 3222

1454. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sadeta Medunjanin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MEHMEDAGIĆ, Esad, son of Mehmed (54, male)

1455. Esad Mehmedagić, ICRC number BAZ-100916-01, born in 1938, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 5 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. 3223 The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Esad Mehmedagić, born on 11 April 1938, went missing in Prijedor on 12 June 1992. 3224 The FIS database records that Esad Mehmedagić died in Prijedor on 28 July 1992.3225 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 39" were identified as being those of Esad Mehmedagić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Esad Mehmedagić's body was carried out on 15 February 2005 by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. 3227 The Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Esad Mehmedagić, a visually impaired

3227 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4969, Autopsy Report (confidential).

362 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4959, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3217</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4958, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3218 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4957 (confidential). The Chamber notes that the original has been uploaded correctly and considered by the Defence.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 40 "ordinal number" 4956.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4961, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4960, Record of DNA Analysis (confidential). <sup>3221</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4962, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3222</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4967 (confidential), Reference to "ST062; ST242; Transcript of testimony of ST242 in case IT-94-1-T (Tadić) dated 13 Jun 1996; Exhibit P2291".

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4977, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3224</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4975, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4970, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3226 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4978, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4974, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 - September 2007 (confidential).

lawyer from Prijedor, who had been particularly singled out and abused by the guards in Omarska camp, was the first of the legal professionals to be killed at the white house in July 1992. 3228

1456. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Esad Mehmedagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEMIĆ, Nijaz, son of Jusuf (35, male)

1457. Nijaz Memić, ICRC number BAZ-110116-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Nijaz Memić disappeared in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. Nijaz Memić, born on 14 September 1956, is listed in the Register of Deaths for Omarska in the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "5 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 177" were identified as being those of Nijaz Memić on the basis of DNA matching. DNA matching.

1458. Based on the evidence presented, as well as the fact that persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were also buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Nijaz Memić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MLINAR, Slavko, son of Joso (61, male)

1459. Slavko Mlinar, born in 1931, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Briševo, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. Pursuant to the report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 223" were identified as being those of Slavko Mlinar, born on 24 April 1931, on the basis of DNA matching. According to the same report, Slavko Mlinar went missing in Omarska camp on 19 July 1992. The autopsy of Slavko Mlinar's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 9 April 2005. The cause of death was established as injuries to the rib cage resulting in multiple fractures of ribs on both sides and injuries to internal organs.

<sup>3228</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6633-6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3229</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4980, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3230</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4983, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4985.1, Death Certificate of Nijaz Memić (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4984, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4987, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3234</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4989, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4988, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3235</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4989, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>3236</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4990, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1460. Based on the evidence presented, as well as the fact that persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were also buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Slavko Mlinar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUŠIĆ, Iliaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1461. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Iliaz Mušić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Iliaz Mušić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJADŽIĆ, Fikret, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1462. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fikret Mujadžić's death. <sup>3238</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Mujadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJAGIĆ, Edin, son of Safet (26, male)

1463. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove Edin Mujagić's death. <sup>3239</sup> However, the Chamber has received evidence that Edin Mujagić, son of Safet, born on 19 April 1966, was a member of the Prijedor MUP from 5 April 1992 to 26 May 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans records that he was killed in Kozarac on 26 May 1992. <sup>3240</sup> The Chamber is thus unable to find that Edin Mujagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJAGIĆ, Fikret, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1464. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fikret Mujagić death. 3241 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Mujagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJAKIĆ, Fikret, son of Mehmed (43, male)

1465. Fikret Mujakić, born in 1948, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 15 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Fikret Mujakić, ICRC number BAZ-110283-01, born on 1 October 1948, as having gone missing in Prijedor on 16 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" grave site and marked "KV16-010-B" were identified as being those of Fikret Mujakić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Fikret Mujakić's body was carried out on 14 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. Fikret Mujakić suffered a number of injuries in the form of sixteen broken ribs, a broken sternum, and two broken lumbar vertebrae. The autopsy report states that these injuries were likely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3237</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3238</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4993 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3239</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4996 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3240</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 38 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3241</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5005, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5004, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3244</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5003, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

caused by severe blows from a blunt instrument, feet, fists, or falling, and that, in weakened persons, they could lead to death. The cause of death could, however, not be ascertained. 3245

1466. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Mujakić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJDŽIĆ, Fikret, son of Šerif (37-38, male)

1467. Fikret Mujdžić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. 3246 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" grave site and marked "KV20-011-B" were identified as being those of Fikret Mujdžić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of Fikret Mujdžić's body was carried out on 19 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The head and cervical vertebrae were missing from the body. While the cause of death could not be ascertained due to the complete skeletonisation of the remains, the autopsy established that Fikret Mujdžić suffered blunt force injuries to the chest resulting in several fractured ribs on both sides. He also suffered a fractured right shoulder blade. The autopsy report states that the injuries were likely caused by kicking, blows from a heavy weapon, or falling. It is further stated that the rib fractures could have caused internal injury that could have led to his death. 3248

1468. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Mujdžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJKANOVIĆ, Abdulah, son of Meho (48, male)

1469. Abdulah Mujkanović, ICRC number BAZ-110436-01, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Prijedor on 11 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Abdulah Mujkanović disappeared in Omarska on 11 July 1992. The FIS database records that Abdulah Mujkanović, born on 31 July 1943, died in Omarska on 11 July 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV16-004-B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Abdulah Mujkanović. The autopsy of Abdulah Mujkanović's body was carried out on 13 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The autopsy report states that Abdulah Mujkanović suffered substantial blunt force injury to the chest, resulting in the fracturing of the breastbone, four fractured ribs on the right side, and twelve fractured ribs on the left side, some at the front and some at the back. The injuries were suggestive of repeated kicking, stamping, or blows from a heavy weapon. However, while the

365 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3245</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5002, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3246</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5010, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3247</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5008, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5009, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3249</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5013, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3250</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5014, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3251</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5016, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3252 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5008, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

injuries to the rib cage may have resulted in internal injuries that may have led to Abdulah Mujkanović's death, the cause of death could not be ascertained. 3253

1470. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abdulah Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJKANOVIĆ, Fajzo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1471. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fajzo Mujkanović's death.<sup>3254</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fajzo Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJKANOVIĆ, Kadir, son of Sulejman (49, male)

1472. Kadir Mujkanović, born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Pećani, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. The FIS database records that Kadir Mujkanović, father's name unknown, born on 17 March 1943, died in Kevljani on 2 July 1992. The Chamber has received a police missing persons report compiled by Sanski Most SJB on 6 March 2000, based on the statements of Kadir Mujkanović's sisters. The report states that Kadir Mujkanović, son of Sulejman, born on 17 March 1943, was last seen in Omarska camp on 12 July 1992 and records the "[i]nformation concerning [the] place of killing" as "Omarska camp". The Prosecution adduces an autopsy report for human remains exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site. The Chamber notes that it has not received an identification report for Kadir Mujkanović. It is therefore impossible for the Chamber to ascertain whether the remains that are the subject of the autopsy report are those of Kadir Mujkanović.

1473. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kadir Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJKANOVIĆ, Senad, son of Osman (34, male)

1474. Senad Mujkanović, ICRC number BAZ-101272-01, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Senad Mujkanović, born on 1 December 1957, disappeared in Prijedor on 27 June 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 047" were identified as being those of Senad Mujkanović on the basis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3253</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5017, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5019 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5026, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3256</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5025, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3257</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5020, Police Missing Persons Report, Mujkanović, Kadir (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3258</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5022, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3259</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5037, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3260</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5029, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

of DNA matching.<sup>3261</sup> According to the same report, Senad Mujkanović went missing in Prijedor on 27 June 1992.<sup>3262</sup> The comprehensive autopsy report submitted by the Prosecution does not list Senad Mujkanović.<sup>3263</sup> The Chamber will thus disregard the autopsy report submitted in this instance. The Chamber has also received the evidence of ST244 that he heard that Senad Mujkanović, a construction engineer, was taken to Omarska camp and died there.<sup>3264</sup>

1475. Based on the evidence of ST244, as well as other supporting evidence in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Senad Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MURETČEHAIĆ, 3265 Edin, son of Jusuf (21, male)

1476. Edin Muretčehaić, born on 14 May 1971, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2003. The place of death is recorded as "Vlašić/Travnik Mountain". The date and time of death are recorded as "21 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3266

1477. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Muretčehaić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MURETČEHAIĆ, 3267 Jusuf, son of Husejn (44, male)

1478. Jusuf Muretčehaić, born on 4 March 1948, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2007. The place of death is recorded as "Kozarac". The date and time of death are recorded as "26 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3268

1479. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jusuf Muretčehaić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUSIĆ, Ilijaz, son of Kasim (40, male)

1480. Ilijaz Musić, born on 2 November 1951, is listed in the Omarska Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2002. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "23 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>3269</sup>

1481. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ilijaz Musić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

367

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3261</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5030, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5032, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3262</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5030, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3263</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5033, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3264</sup> ST244, 1 December 2010, T. 17965.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3265</sup> In the Final Victims List, the Prosecution lists this person as "Edin Muretčehajić" or "Edin Muratčehajić". The Chamber, however, notes that the only document presented records the name as "Edin Muratčehaić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5039.1, Death Certificate of Edin Muretčehaić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3267 In the Final Victims List, the Prosecution lists this person as "Jusuf Muretčehajić" or "Jusuf Muratčehajić". The Chamber, however, notes that the only document presented records the name as "Jusuf Muratčehaić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5041.1, Death Certificate of Jusuf Muretčehaić (confidential).

<sup>3269</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5043.1, Death Certificate of Ilijaz Musić (confidential).

#### NASIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1482. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3270 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### NASIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Osman (59-60, male)

1483. Mehmedalija Nasić, born in 1932, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čejreci, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 11 September 2001. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-074BP-I" were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Nasić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of "JK01-074BP" was carried out on 8 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The autopsy report states that the human remains labelled "JK01-074BP" are the intermingled partial remains of two persons, one of whom identified as an adult man. This person sustained injuries on the form of fractures of multiple ribs on both sides. The autopsy could not establish what caused these injuries or whether the injuries were sustained ante or post-mortem. The cause of death could thus not be ascertained. 3273

1484. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Nasić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# OKANOVIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Sulejman (41, male)

1485. Ibrahim Okanović, ICRC number BAZ-109516-01, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 6 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Ibrahim Okanović, born on 10 October 1950, as having disappeared in Prijedor on 6 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 162" were identified as being those of Ibrahim Okanović on the basis of DNA matching. According to the same report, Ibrahim Okanović went missing in Omarska camp on 6 July 1992. The autopsy of Ibrahim Okanović's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 12 March 2005. The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the head, rib cage, and lumbar region of the spine. 3278

368

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3270</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5044 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3271</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5049, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3272</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5047, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3273</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5048, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3274</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5055, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3275</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5056, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5053, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5058, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3277</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5053, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3278</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5059, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1486. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Okanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PAŠIĆ, Jusuf, son of Ćamil (56, male)

1487. Jusuf Pašić, born in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Jusuf Pašić, ICRC number BAS-003737-01, born on 14 August 1935, disappeared in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. He is also listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The place of death is not specified. The date and time of death are recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 021-RF" were identified as being those of Jusuf Pašić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Dr. Jusuf Pašić was one of a number of Muslim and Croat doctors from Prijedor who were killed in Omarska camp. Salvania in the salvania salvania in the salvania salvania in the salvania salv

1488. The Chamber notes the varying dates and places of death or disappearance recorded for Jusuf Pašić in the missing persons reports and the death certificate presented in the Proof of Death Database. However, based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, and the evidence that Jusuf Pašić was exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave, which the Chamber has found to be one of the grave sites where persons killed in Omarska camp during the relevant period were buried, the Chamber finds that Jusuf Pašić was killed in Omarska camp as charged in the Indictment.

#### PAUNOVIĆ, Živko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1489. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. However, the Chamber has received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Živko Paunović was among a number of mine workers detained in Omarska camp who were killed in July 1992. 3285

1490. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, the Chamber finds that Živko Paunović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PAUNOVIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Omer (45, male)

1491. Ibrahim Paunović, ICRC number BAZ-108653-01, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ibrahim Paunović, ICRC number BAZ-108653-01, born on 1 May 1947 disappeared in Prijedor on

369 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3279</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5055, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5065, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5066.1, Death Certificate of Jusuf Pašić (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5066, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5066, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3283</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T.6686; *see also* Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6626.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3284</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5068 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3285</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5082, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

12 June 1992. 3287 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave and marked "KV17-004B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ibrahim Paunović. 3288 The autopsy of Ibrahim Paunović's remains was carried out on 15 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. The autopsy established that Ibrahim Paunović suffered fractures of the sternum and 18 ribs, most likely caused by severe blows to the thorax with fists, feet, or a blunt instrument, or by falling. It is stated that these injuries could be fatal in weakened persons; yet, the direct cause of death could not be established with certainty and was therefore established as being unascertainable. 3289 The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Ibrahim Paunović, an engineer by profession, was killed in the last days of May when mass executions of prisoners began to take place in Omarska camp. 3290

1492. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Paunović killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PAVIĆ, Želiko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1493. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Želiko Pavić's death. 3291 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Željko Pavić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PEHADŽIĆ, Alija, 3292 son of Izet (unknown, male)

1494. Alijna Pehadžić is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths for the year 2005. The place of death is entered as "Omarska camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber notes the Prosecution's reference to Nusret Sivac's testimony. 3294 However, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution has failed to provide the Chamber and Defence with a full reference to the relevant exhibit number and date. Moreover, the Chamber notes, that the page numbers of Nusret Sivac's testimony referred to relate to testimony not admitted into evidence in the present case. Accordingly, this evidence must be disregarded.

1495. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Pehadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PEZO, Ćamil, son of Mušan (51, male)

1496. Cámil Pezo, born in 1941, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 15 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. Samil Pezo, born on 9 April 1941, is also listed in the Omarska

370 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5075, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5071, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3289</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5076, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3290</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T.6636.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3291</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5077 (confidential).

<sup>3292</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution in the Proof of Death Database submits that this person's first name is Alijna. However, the death certificate submitted states that this person's first name was Alija and that he was male.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5066.1, Death Certificate of Alija Pehadžić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3294 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5079, Reference to "ST063; line 13188:21 – 13188:22"

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3295 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5082, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2001. The place of death is entered as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 242-T" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Camil Pezo. 3297 The Chamber has also received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Ćamil Pezo, a businessman who headed a labour organisation in Prijedor was killed in Omarska camp. 3298 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3299

1497. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Camil Pezo was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### POLJAK, Zijad, son of Ibrahim (50, male)

1498. Zijad Poljak, ICRC number BAZ-108431-02, born on 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. 3300 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Zijad Poljak, ICRC number BAZ-108431-02, born on 15 November 1941, disappeared in Kozarac on 27 May 1992. 3301 Assembled human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 214 + Body No. 293-F" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Zijad Poljak. 3302

1499. Based on the evidence presented, as well as the fact that persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were also buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Zijad Poljak was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PUŠKAR, Abdulah, son of Derviš (46, male)

1500. Abdulah Puškar, ICRC number BAZ-102608-01, born in 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 20 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Abdulah Puškar, ICRC number BAZ-102608-01, born on 1 January 1946, disappeared in Puharska, Prijedor, on 30 May 1992. 3304 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 262" were identified as being those of

371 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3296</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5085.1, Death Certificate of Ćamil Pezo (confidential). <sup>3297</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5081, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Nusret Sivac, P1671.10, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 13 January 2003, T. 10253; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5085, Reference to "ST-063; Transcript of Testimony in Case IT-97-24-T (Stakić) on 13 January 2003; Exhibit P01671.9" (confidential). The Chamber notes that P1671.9 is not an exhibit in the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3299</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 41, "ordinal number" 5080.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3300</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5087, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5089, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3302</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5088, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5098, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5095, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Abdulah Puškar on the basis of DNA matching. According to the same report, Abdulah Puškar went missing in Omarska camp on 15 July 1992. The autopsy of Abdulah Puškar's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 9 April 2005. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Abdulah Puškar also suffered a number of broken ribs, possibly caused by blunt force. It could, however, not be excluded that these were caused post-mortem.

1501. Based on the evidence presented, as well as the fact that persons identified by Nusret Sivac as having been killed in Omarska camp were also buried at the Stari Kevljani grave site, the Chamber finds that Abdulah Puškar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### PUŠKAR, Husein, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1502. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Husein Puškar's death. 3308 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Puškar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# RAMADANOVIĆ, 3309 Senadin, son of Ramadan (41, male)

1503. Senadin Ramadanović, born on 3 January 1951, is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths for the year 2000. The place of death is entered as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "28 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3310

1504. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable for find that Senadin Ramadanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### RAMADANOVIĆ, Safet, son of Hajro (63, male)

1505. Safet Ramadanović, born on 12 October 1929, is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths for the year 1992. The place of death is entered as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "30 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3311</sup> The Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that his neighbour Safet Ramadanović, an elderly man, was taken to Omarska camp where he died as a result of the beatings he was subjected to.<sup>3312</sup>

1506. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, and the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Safet Ramadanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3305</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5097, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5099, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3306</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5097, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3307</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5093, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3308</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5101 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3309</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List the Prosecution submits this person's last name to be either "Ramadani" or "Ramadanović", whereas in the Proof of Death Database the Prosecution submits that this person's last name is "Ramadani". However, as the only evidence submitted for this person is a death certificate issued in the name of Senadin Ramadanović, the Chamber considers the latter to be the correct name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3310</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5104.1, Death Certificate of Senadin Ramadanović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3311 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5107.1, Death Certificate of Safet Ramadanović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3312 Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecutor v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6638-6639; Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6577.

#### RAMIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1507. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# REŠIĆ, Samir, son of Idriz (age unknown, male)

1508. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" grave site in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-019B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as being those of Samir Rešić. The autopsy of Samir Rešić's remains was carried out on 31 July 2000 by Dr. A. Samarasekera of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as multiple firearm injuries. Samir Rešić's body also showed signs of blunt force traumata to the chest and legs sustained ante-mortem. The age range of the body was determined as between 30 and 60 years of age. <sup>3315</sup>

1509. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Samir Rešić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# RUSTIĆ, Mahmud, son of Šefer (age unknown, male)

1510. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mahmud Rustić death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mahmud Rustić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SADIKOVIĆ, Ago, son of Ahmet (41, male)

1511. Ago Sadiković, ICRC number BAZ-108369-02, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 15 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ago Sadiković, ICRC number BAZ-108369-02, born on 24 August 1950, disappeared in Prijedor on 26 June 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, incomplete human remains marked "Body No. 070" were provisionally identified as being those of Ago Sadiković on the basis of visual identification of clothing and items found on the body by the deceased's family. The body was later on identified as Ago Sadiković's on the basis of DNA matching. According to the MUP report, Ago Sadiković went missing in Omarska camp on 25 July 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Ago Sadiković,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3313</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5109 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3314</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5112, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3315</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5111, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3316</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5114 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3317</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5118, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5120, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3319</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5121, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3320</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5116, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3321</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5121, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

who used to be a police officer in Prijedor, was executed in Omarska camp among other former Prijedor police officers between 25 and 27 July 1992. 3322

1512. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ago Sadiković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SARALJIĆ, Fikret, son of Husnija (39, male)

1513. Fikret Saraljić, ICRC number BAS-003459-01, born in 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 5 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004.<sup>3323</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Fikret Saraljić, ICRC number BAS-003459-01, born on 29 September 1952, disappeared in Omarska on 27 July 1992.<sup>3324</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 153" were identified as being those of Fikret Saraljić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3325</sup> According to the same report, Fikret Saraljić went missing in Omarska camp between 27 July and 5 August 1992.<sup>3326</sup> The autopsy of Fikret Saraljić's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 15 February 2005. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head.<sup>3327</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Fikret Saraljić, a Prijedor police officer who, after having been dismissed from his job, organised and headed a Muslim Crisis Staff in Prijedor, was taken to Omarska camp where he was subsequently killed.<sup>3328</sup>

1514. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Fikret Saraljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SARALJIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Aziz (50, male)

1515. Mehmedalija Saraljić, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mehmedalija Saraljić, born on 10 May 1942, disappeared in Omarska on 26 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor and marked "KV09-001B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Mehmedalija Saraljić. The autopsy of Mehmedalija Saraljić was carried out on 5 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. The body

<sup>3322</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, Prosecution v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3323</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5130, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3324</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5120, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3325</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5124, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5129, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3326</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5124, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3327</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5128, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3328</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.08, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 1 August 2002, T. 6783; Nusret Sivac, P1671.02, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 29 July 2002, T. 6634.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3329</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5132, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3330</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5133, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3331</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5138, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

showed numerous fractures of ribs and thoracic vertebrae caused by blunt force, such as through kicking, by blows from a blunt instrument, or falling. Although these injuries were in and of themselves not fatal, they were of such nature as to be capable of causing death in weakened persons. The direct cause of death could, however, not be established. The Chamber also notes the adjudicated fact that Mehmedalija Saraljić was beaten to death by guards in the Omarska camp on 26 June 1992, after refusing to rape a female detainee.

1516. Based on the adjudicated fact and the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Saraljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ŠARIĆ, Silvije, son of Josip (49, male)

1517. Silvije Šarić, ICRC number BAZ-106714-01 born in 1943, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Silvester Šarić, ICRC number BAZ-106714-01, born on 1 January 1943, disappeared in Prijedor on 29 May 1992. The Chamber notes the difference in first names recorded in the two lists. However, given that his ICRC number, as well as the birth year and father's name of this person are consistent, the Chamber is satisfied that the entries concern the same individual. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor and marked "KV06-002BP" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Silvije Šarić. The autopsy of Silvije Šarić's body was carried out on 1 July 1999 by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY. The cause of death could not be ascertained. The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Silvije Šarić, a lawyer from Prijedor, was killed among a group of other legal professionals in Omarska camp in 1992. The cause of other legal professionals in Omarska camp in 1992.

1518. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Silvije Šarić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# <u>ŠERIĆ</u>, Nedžad, son of Halid (56, male)

1519. Nedžad Šerić, born on 17 April 1936, is listed in the Prijedor Register of Deaths for the year 2006. The place of death is entered as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "4 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. "Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 119" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Nedžad Šerić. "The Chamber has also received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Nedžad Šerić, the former President of the Prijedor court, was killed among a group of other legal professionals in Omarska camp in 1992. "3341"

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5142, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

3341 Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3332</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5137, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>3333</sup> Adjudicated Fact 881.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3335</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5141, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3336</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5144, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3337</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5143, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3338</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3339</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5150.1, Death Certificate of Nedžad Šerić (confidential). <sup>3340</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5150, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

1520. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nedžad Šerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIKORA, Željko, son of Ivan (34, male)

1521. Željko Sikora, ICRC number BAZ-209578-01, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 11 September 1999.3342 The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Željko Sikora, ICRC number BAZ-209578-01, born on 8 October 1957, disappeared in Prijedor on 23 May 1992. 3343 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-333BP" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Željko Sikora.<sup>3344</sup> The Chamber has also received the evidence of Nusret Sivac that Dr. Željko Sikora was killed among a group of medical professionals in Omarska camp. 3345

1522. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, and other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Željko Sikora was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Šefik, son of Rašid (43, male)

1523. Šefik Sivac, born in 1949, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 4 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 25 May 1999. 3346 The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Šefik Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-108149-01, born on 10 October 1949, disappeared in Prijedor on 25 May 1992. 3347 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" grave site and marked "KV15-002B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Šefik Sivac. 3348 The autopsy of Šefik Sivac's remains was carried out on 7 July 1999 by Dr. Eric Baccard of the ICTY. The autopsy established that Sefik Sivac suffered a number of injuries in the form of nine fractured ribs, a fracture of the sternum, and a fracture of the left shoulder blade. The autopsy report states that these injuries were likely caused by severe blows from a blunt instrument, feet, fists, or falling, and that, in weakened persons, such injuries could lead to death. The direct cause of death could, however, not be ascertained. 3349

1524. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šefik Sivac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3342</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5154, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3343</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5157, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5152, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

3345 Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6686.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3346</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5163, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3347</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5164, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5165, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3349</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5160, Autopsy Report (confidential).

# SULJANOVIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1525. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death.<sup>3350</sup> The Defence submits that this person was a Croatian defender.<sup>3351</sup> The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity.<sup>3352</sup> The Chamber is nevertheless unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment

#### SULJANOVIĆ, Rufad, son of Vejsil (31, male)

1526. Rufad Suljanović, ICRC number BAZ-103417-01, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. 3353 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information. However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Rufad Suljanović disappeared in Prijedor on 25 June 1992. Rufad Suljanović, born on 29 January 1961, is also listed in the Omarska Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is entered as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "6 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3355 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 131" were identified as being those of Rufad Suljanović on the basis of DNA matching. According to the same report, Rufad Suljanović went missing in Omarska camp on 27 July 1992.<sup>3357</sup> The autopsy of Rufad Suljanović's body was carried out on 15 February 2005 by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević. The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the head and neck.<sup>3358</sup> The Chamber has received evidence of Nusret Sivac that Dr. Rufad Suljanović was killed among a group of Prijedor medial professionals in Omarska camp. 3359

1527. Based on the evidence of Nusret Sivac, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Rufad Suljanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>3350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5167 (confidential).

<sup>3352 1</sup>D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). Page 13353 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5172, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3354</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5169, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3355</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5150.1, Death Certificate of Rufad Suljanović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3356 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5174, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5171, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3357</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5174, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3358</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5175, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3359</sup> Nusret Sivac, P1671.04, *Prosecution v. Stakić*, Case No. IT-97-24-T, 30 July 2002, T. 6686.

# SULJIĆ, First name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1528. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# TADŽIĆ, Huse, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1529. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Huse Tadžić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Huse Tadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# TADŽIĆ, Husein, son of Teufik (44, male)

1530. Husein Tadžić, ICRC number BAZ-100184-02, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 23 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 11 September 2001. While the ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Husein Tadžić's identifying information, the ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he disappeared in Kamičani, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. Husein Tadžić, born on 15 August 1947, is also listed in the Omarska Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is entered as "Omarska, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK01-168B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Husein Tadžić. The autopsy of Husein Tadžić's remains was carried out on 7 November 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. Although the body showed signs of injuries, these could not be established with certainty. The cause of death was established as "unascertained".

1531. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Tadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# TADŽIĆ, Mustafa, son of Ibrahim (47, male)

1532. Mustafa Tadžić, ICRC number BAZ-108086-01, born in 1945, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp, Prijedor, on 16 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor, on 14 August 2004. While the ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Mustafa Tadžić's identifying information, it states that he disappeared in Kozarac on 2 June 1992. 3368

378 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>3360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5176 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3361</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5178 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3362</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5183, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3363</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5181, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3364</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5183.1, Death Certificate of Husein Tadžić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3365 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5180, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3366</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5182, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3367</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5183, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5189, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 278" were identified as being those of Mustafa Tadžić, born on 2 January 1945, on the basis of DNA matching. According to the same report, Mustafa Tadžić went missing in Omarska camp on 16 July 1992. The autopsy of Mustafa Tadžić's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 13 March 2005. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. 3371

1533. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Tadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### TERZIĆ, Mirsad, son of Šaban (24, male)

1534. Mirsad Terzić, ICRC number BAZ-104744-01, born on 20 September 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Benkovac, Prijedor, on 27 May 1992. Partial human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-053B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Mirsad Terzić. The autopsy of Mirsad Terzić's remains was carried out on 27 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. Due to the fact that most of the body was missing, including the skull, arms, and upper part of the trunk, and the other body parts did not show specific signs of injury, the cause of death could not be ascertained. 3374

1535. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Terzić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was taken to and detained at Omarska camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TURŠIĆ, Mehmed, son of Hamed (39, male)

1536. Mehmed Turšić, ICRC number BAZ-108762-01, born on 8 July 1953 in Glamoč, is listed in ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. Mehmed Turzić, born on 8 July 1943 in Glamoč, is also listed in the Omarska Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is entered as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor and marked "Body No. 373A-RTb" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Mehmed Turšić. The Chamber has also

379 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3369</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5186, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5185, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5186, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3371</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5193, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5189, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3373</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5197, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3374</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5195, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3375</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5202, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3376</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5203.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Turšić (confidential). The Chamber notes that the father's name recorded in the death certificate differs from the father's name mentioned in other documents and as submitted by the Prosecution. However, given that all other personal and identifying information is consistent, the Chamber considers that the death certificate concerns the same person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3377</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5199 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

received evidence of ST244 that Mehmed Tušić, the director of the revenue services, was taken to Omarska camp where he was susbequently killed.<sup>3378</sup>

1537. On the basis of the evidence of ST244, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Turšić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# VELIĆ, Meho, son of Jusuf (age unknown, male)

1538. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Meho Velić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Meho Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### VELIĆ, Miralem, son of Jusuf (27-28, male)

1539. Miralem Velić, ICRC number BAZ-206558-04, born in 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Omarska, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jama Lisac" mass grave in Bosanska Krupa and marked "JL01-021B" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Miralem Velić. The autopsy of Miralem Velić's remains was carried out on 28 July 2000 by Dr. Carlo Campobasso of the ICTY. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and lower spine. A bullet and metal fragments were retrieved from the pelvic area. The same of the injuries to the head and lower spine.

1540. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Miralem Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ZGOG, Bajram, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1541. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Bajram Zgog's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Bajram Zgog was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ZULJANOVIĆ, Rufad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1542. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Rufad Zuljanović's death. <sup>3384</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is to finding that Rufad Zuljanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### (e) Keraterm Camp, Room 3

1543. As regards the incident of "[T]he killing of a number of men in 'Room 3' at Keraterm camp on or about 24 and 25 July 1992" charged in the Indictment, 3385 the Chamber observes that, whereas many of the alleged individually named victims of this incident appear to have died in Keraterm camp, in the majority of cases, the evidence presented did not support that these persons were killed as defined in the charge. In this regard, the Chamber further notes that the evidence led by the Prosecution in relation to the killing of persons held in Room 3 established that all persons killed in

\_

27 March 2013

380

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3378</sup> ST244, 1 December 2010, T. 17966. The Chamber notes the slight difference in the spelling of the victim's name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3379</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5205 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3380</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5208, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3381</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5209 ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3382</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5207, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3383</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5210 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3384</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5214 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3385</sup> Indictment Schedule B n. 4.1.

the incident where "shot dead". 3386 Accordingly, the Chamber has particularly considered the cause of death of individually named victims alleged to have died in the incident.

# ŽERIĆ, Ismet (35, male), Saud (25, male), Sead (37, male), sons of Meho<sup>3387</sup>

1544. Ismet Žerić, ICRC number BAZ-100143-03, born in 1957, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Žerić, born on 24 June 1957, went missing in Hambarine, Prijedor on 24 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 155" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ismet Žerić. According to this report, Ismet Žerić went missing in Keraterm camp between 1 and 31 July 1992. However, the report on the DNA analysis of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that "Body No. 155" was identified as that of either Ismet, Saud, or Sead Žerić, all sons of Meho. The autopsy of "Body No. 155" carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Kovačević on 9 March 2005, established the cause of death as bullet wounds to the head, thoracic cage and left thigh bone. Remnants of clothing found on the body were identified as being those of blue jeans.

1545. Saud Žerić, ICRC number BAZ-100143-01, born on 1 May 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. The report on the DNA analysis of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that "Stari Kevljani Body No. 062" was identified as that of either Ismet or Saud Žerić, sons of Meho. 3395

1546. Sead Žerić, ICRC number BAZ-100143-02, born in 1955, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Sead Žerić, born on 4 May 1955, went missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004,

<sup>3387</sup> The Prosecution submits in the Proof of Death Database that Ismet Žerić's father's name was "Memo". However, all documentation adduced for Ismet Žerić states that his father's name was "Meho".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3386</sup> See, Prijedor section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3388</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3606, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3389</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3605, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3390</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3604, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3391</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3604, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3392</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3608, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3393</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3607, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3394</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3610, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3395</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3611, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3396</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3618, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3397</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3614, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

assembled human remains marked "JK-01-250-BP + JK-01-252-BP" were identified as being those of either Ismet, Saud, or Sead Žerić on the basis of DNA matching. However, the report on the DNA analysis of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that "JK-01-250BP" was identified as that of either Ismet, Saud, or Sead Žerić, all sons of Meho. The autopsy of the remains "JK01/250BP" was carried out on 7 November 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The cause of death was determined to be unascertainable due to the absence of several body parts, including the head, as well as unspecific fractures to other bones. The age range of the body was determined to be between 26 and 55 years of age. However, the report on the report of the property of the series of the series of the series of the series of the body was determined to be between 26 and 55 years of age.

1547. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet, Saud, and Sead Žerić died a violent death. Moreover, the Chamber finds that one of them died as a result of shot wounds. However, in the absence of unequivocal evidence as to the identity of the bodies of the three brothers, the Chamber is unable to find which one of them was shot dead. Given, however, that all three brothers were reported to have gone missing from Hambarine on or about 25 July 1992, and were equally reported to have disappeared from Keraterm, the Chamber finds that they were among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **<u>ŠOLAJA</u>**, First name and father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

1548. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Ćazim, son of Husnija (39, male)

1549. Ćazim Čaušević, ICRC number BAS-002868-02, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ćazim Čaušević, born on 2 February 1953, went missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 386" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ćazim Čaušević. According to this report, Ćazim Čaušević went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 2 July 2005, established the cause of death as bullet wounds to the ribcage, pelvis, and left lower arm. Remnants of clothing found on Ćazim Čaušević's body were identified as those of grey and white woollen trousers, and white socks.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3398</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3617, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3399</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3613, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3615, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3401</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3619 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3402</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3621, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3403</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3622, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3404</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3624, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3625, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3405</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3624, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3406</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3623, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1550. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ćazim Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Eniz, son of Haso (49, male)

1551. Eniz Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-103617-04, born on 2 June 1943, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. Eniz Čaušević, born on 2 June 1943, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "*Keraterm camp*, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.

1552. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Eniz Čaušević is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# <u>ČAUŠEVIĆ</u>, Enver, son of Alija or Ale (age unknown)

1553. Enver Čaušević, son of Ale, ICRC number BAZ-106367-01, born on 15 May 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared in Hambarine on 20 July 1992. Pursuant to a Report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 203" were identified as being those of Enver Čaušević, son of Ale, ICRC number BAZ-106367-01, born on 15 May 1950. According to this report, Enver Čaušević disappeared from Keraterm camp on 23 July 1992. The report on the DNA analysis of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that "Stari Kevljani Body No. 203" was identified as that of Enver Čaušević, son of Alija. The Chamber notes the discrepancy in father's names recorded, but considers it to be negligible, given the positive DNA match identifying the body as recorded in both reports. The autopsy report issued by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Cantonal Prosecutor's Office records "Body No. 203" to be that of Enver Čaušević, son of Ale, born on 15 May 1950. The autopsy of the body was carried out on 19 February 2005. The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the chest, lumbar part of the spine, and right lower leg. 3413

1554. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enver Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>3413</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3632, Autopsy Report (confidential).

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3407</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3628, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3408</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3628.1, Death Certificate of Eniz Čaušević (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3409 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3633, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3410</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3631, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3411</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3634, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3412</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3632, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes the discrepancy in father's name as recorded in the English translation of this document.

#### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Jasim, son of Salih (35-36, male)

1555. Jasim Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-108649-02, born on 21 July 1956, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, in July 1992. Hursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 379" were identified as those of Jasim Čaušević, on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, he disappeared from Keraterm camp in 1992. According to the cantonal Mup Bihać on 1992.

1556. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasim Čaušević is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# <u>ČAUŠEVIĆ</u>, Midhat, son of Derviš (31, male)

1557. Midhat Čaušević, ICRC number BAS-001443-01, born on 7 August 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3416

1558. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Midhat Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Mirhad, son of Ćamil (34, male)

1559. Mirhad Čaušević, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mirhad Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-110550-01, went missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. Hursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 201" were identified as being those of Mirhad Čaušević, born on 21 May 1958 on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Mirhad Čaušević went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 4 July 2005, established the cause of death as bullet wounds to the head, thoracic cage and left upper arm. Remnants of clothing found on Mirhad Čaušević's body were identified as being those of grey trousers.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3414</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3639, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3415</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3637, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3638, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3416</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3642, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>3417</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3642, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3417</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3650, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3418</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3646, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3419</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3648, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3644, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3420</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3648, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3421</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3647, Autopsy Report (confidential).

1560. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirhad Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Mirzet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1561. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mirzet Čaušević's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Nihad, son of Ćamil (28, male)

1562. Nihad Čaušević, born in 1964, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3423 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Nihad Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-110550-02, went missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. 3424 Nihad Čaušević, born on 17 June 1964, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3425

1563. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Čaušević is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Samed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1564. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Samed Čaušević's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ČAUŠEVIĆ, Suad, son of Husref (16-17, male)

1565. Suad Čaušević, born in 1975, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Tukovi, Prijedor, on 19 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a grave site in Rakovčani in the municipality of Prijedor on 18 August 1998. 3427 The autopsy of the body was carried out on 24 August 1998 by Dr. Semira Mešić-Pašalić of the Bihać Cantonal Hospital. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the head and chest.<sup>3428</sup>

1566. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Suad Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

385

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3422</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3652 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3423</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3657, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3424</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3655, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3425</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3657.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Čaušević (confidential). <sup>3426</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3658 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3660, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3428</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3661, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Abuzeid, son of Fadil (31, male)

1567. Abuzeid Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101194-01, born on 2 August 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3429 Abuzeid Ališković, born on 2 November 1960, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3430

1568. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abuzeid Ališković died in Prijedor on or about 20 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Adil, son of Osman (29, male)

1569. Adil Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101195-01, born in 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.<sup>3431</sup> According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Adil Ališković's body was exhumed from the Redak Ljubia grave site in Prijedor marked as "Rdk.Lj.-010605-13-RF" and identified on the basis of DNA matching. 3432 The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 26 May 1999, whereby Adil Ališković, born on 12 April 1963, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was captured together with around 50 men in Rakovčani, Prijedor on 20 July 1992, taken to Keraterm camp, and shot outside of Room 3 on 24 July 1992. Although he was still alive at the time, he was seen to have been loaded onto a truck with the dead and taken away. 3433 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3434

1570. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adil Ališković was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Dževad, son of Smail (27, male)

1571. Dževad Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101197-01, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3435 The ICRC Missing Persons is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Dževad Ališković's personal information and date and place of disappearance. 3436 According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Dževad Ališković's body was exhumed from

386 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3429</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3664, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3665.1, Death Certificate of Abuzeid Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3431 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3667, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3669, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3668, Declaration of Death of Adil Ališković (confidential). 3434 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30,

<sup>&</sup>quot;ordinal number" 3666.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3435</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3675, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3436</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3672, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor, marked as "Stari Kevljani No. 111", and identified on the basis of DNA matching. Dževad Ališković, born on 15 April 1965, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "*Keraterm* camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3438

1572. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Emir, son of Idriz (19, male)

1573. Emir Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101198-01, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Emir Ališković, born on 12 September 1971, disappeared in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Emir Ališković's body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor, marked as "Stari Kevljani No. 888-A", and identified on the basis of DNA matching. Emir Ališković, born on 12 September 1971, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "*Keraterm* camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July [1992]". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.

1574. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emir Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Emsud, son of Abdulah (39, male)

1575. Emsud Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101208-02, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Emsud Ališković, born on 29 January 1953, disappeared in Rakovčani, Prijedor,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3437</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3673, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3438</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3675.1, Death Certificate of Dževad Ališković (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3439</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3679, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3440</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3678, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3441</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3677, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3680.1, Death Certificate of Emir Ališković (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error in the time of death recorded in the English translation of this document which reads "24 July 1991".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3443</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3682, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

on 20 July 1992.<sup>3444</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 208" were identified as being those of Emsud Ališković, born on 29 January 1953 on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3445</sup> According to this report, Emsud Ališković went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992.<sup>3446</sup> The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 4 July 2005, established the cause of death as bullet wounds to the rib cage. Remnants of clothing found on Emsud Ališković's body were identified as those of a purple, patterned jumper.<sup>3447</sup>

1576. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Eniz, son of Nazif (23, male)

1577. Eniz Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101200-01, born on 5 November 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Eniz Ališković's body was exhumed either from the "Redak Ljubia" grave site in Prijedor and marked as "JKGBP-387 No. E11", or from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site and marked as "Stari Kevljani No.349-RF", as, on the basis of DNA analyses, the aforementioned bodies were identified as being those of Eniz and his brother Jasim Ališković. However, the DNA analyses could not establish which remains belonged to which brother. However, the DNA analyses could not establish which remains belonged to which brother. The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 31 May 1997, whereby Eniz Ališković, born on 5 November 1968, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was shot dead in Keraterm camp by Serbian guards on 25 July 1992, having initially survived the shooting of around 250 detainees in the night of 24 to 25 July 1992. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.

1578. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Eniz Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Esad, son of Ibrahim (age unknown)

1579. The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most issued by judge Adil Draganović on 29 October 1996, whereby Esad Ališković was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was shot dead in Keraterm camp by Serbian guards on 24 July 1992

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3444</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3684, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3445</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3687, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3685, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3446</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3687, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3447</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3686, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3448</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3690, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3449</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3692, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3450</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3689, Declaration of Death of Eniz Ališković (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3451 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30, "ordinal number" 3676.

outside of Room 3.3452 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3453

1580. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Esad Ališković was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Fikret, son of Kasim (27, male)

1581. Fikret Ališković, born on 12 January 1965, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "28 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3454</sup>

1582. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Fuad, son of Smail (25, male)

1583. Fuad Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-107785-02, born on 20 July 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.3455 According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Fuad Ališković's body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in Prijedor, marked as "Stari Kevljani No. 902", and identified on the basis of DNA matching. 3456 Fuad Ališković, born on 28 June 1967, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "26 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3457

1584. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fuad Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Halid, son of Smail (32, male)

1585. Halid Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-107785-01, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report consistently records his identifying information, and date and place of disappearance.<sup>3459</sup>

389 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3452</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3695, Declaration of Death of Esad Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3453 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30, ordinal number" 3693.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3454</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3697.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
3455 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3700, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3701, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3701.1, Death Certificate of Fuad Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3458 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3703, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3459</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3707, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Human remains marked "Body No. 11" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were identified as being those of Halid Ališković on the basis of DNA matching. 3460 Halid Ališković, born on 5 January 1960, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3461

1586. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds thar Halid Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Ifet, son of Kasim (23, male)

1587. Ifet Ališković, born on 7 May 1973, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2010 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is not specified. The date and time of death are recorded as "22 November 1996". 3462

1588. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ifet Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Izet, son of Rasim (34, male)

1589. Izet Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101206-01, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report, lists Izet Ališković as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3464 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 369" were identified as being those of Izet Ališković on the basis of DNA matching. 3465 Izet Ališković, born on 9 January 1958, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' Camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "23 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3466

1590. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Izet Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3460</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3706, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3707.1, Death Certificate of Halid Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3462 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3709.1, Death Certificate of Ifet Ališković (confidential). <sup>3463</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3712, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3464</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3714, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3711, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3466</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3714.1, Death Certificate of Izet Ališković (confidential).

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Jasim, son of Nazif (37, male)

1591. Jasim Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101200-02, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>3468</sup> According to the report of the International Commission of Missing Persons, Jasim Ališković's body was exhumed either from the "Redak Ljubia" grave site in Prijedor and marked as "JKGBP-387 No. E11" or from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site and marked as "Stari Kevljani No.349-RF", as, on the basis of DNA analyses the aforementioned bodies were identified as being those of Jasim and his brother Eniz Ališković. However, the DNA analyses could not establish which remains belonged to which brother.<sup>3469</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, Jasmin Ališković disappeared from Keraterm camp between 20 and 26 July 1992. While the MUP report notes that the DNA report is in the name of the two brothers, it states that the remains found at the "Stari Kevljani" site are those of Jasim Ališković. The body missed a number of parts, including the head, both hands, and the left foot. 3470 The Prosecution also adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, issued by judge Adil Draganović on 31 May 1997, whereby Jasim Ališković, born on 23 August 1954, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was injured in a mass shooting of detainees held in Room 3, Keraterm camp, by Serbian guards on the evening of 24 July 1992; having initially survived the shooting of around 250 detainees, Jasim Ališković, among other injured detainees, was said to have been made to board a truck under the pretence that the injured were going to receive medical treatment. The injured detainees were taken away and never seen again. 3471 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3472

1592. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasim Ališković was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Jusuf, son of Mustafa (57, male)

1593. Jusuf Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-109066-01, born in 1935, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 25 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>3474</sup> Human remains marked as

391 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3467</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3720, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3468</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3717, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3719, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3716, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3689, Declaration of Death of Jasim Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3472 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 30, "ordinal number" 3715.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3473</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3727, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>3474</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3724, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

"Body No. 220/222" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were identified as being those of Jusuf Ališković on the basis of DNA matching. 3475 Jusuf Ališković, born on 12 April 1935, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3476

1594. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jusuf Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Mesud, son of Abdulah (25, male)

1595. Mesud Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101208-01, born on 4 June 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3477

1596. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Nazmija, son of Idriz (31, male)

1597. Nazmija Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101198-02, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3478 Nazmija Ališković is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 June 1992.<sup>3479</sup> Nazmija Ališković, born on 22 May 1961, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3480

1598. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nazmija Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Nedžad, son of Ibrahim (age unknown)

1599. The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, issued by judge Adil Draganović on 26 October 1996, whereby Esad Ališković was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was injured in a mass shooting of detainees held in Room 3, Keraterm camp, by Serbian guards on the evening of 24 July 1992. According to this decision, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3475</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3723, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3476</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3727.1, Death Certificate of Izet Ališković (confidential). <sup>3477</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3730, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3732, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3479</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3734, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3734.1, Death Certificate of Nazmija Ališković (confidential).

3481 See entry on Esad Ališković, son of Ibrahim, above.

witnesses further stated that Esad Ališković's brother Nedžad Ališković, was among those killed.<sup>3482</sup> While the decision of the Sanski Most court primarily concerns Esad Ališković, the Chamber accepts it in relation to Nedžad Ališković. The Chamber further notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3483

1600. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nedžad Ališković was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Sejad, son of Osman (20, male)

1601. Sejad Ališković, born on 1 September 1971, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death not specified. The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3484

1602. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sejad Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Senad, son of Šaban (25, male)

1603. Senad Ališković, born on 20 March 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3485

1604. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIŠKOVIĆ, Vahid, son of Nazif (27, male)

1605. Vahid Ališković, ICRC number BAZ-101214-01, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3486 Vahid Ališković, born on 2 March 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. 3487 Human remains marked as "Body No. 364" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were identified as being those of Vahid Ališković on the basis of DNA matching. Vahid Ališković, born on 2 March 1965, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3482</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3736, Declaration of Death of Esad Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3483</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 31, ordinal number" 3735.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3738.1, Death Certificate of Sejad Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3485 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3740.1, Death Certificate of Senad Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3486 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3744, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3487</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3745, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3488</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3742, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3489

1606. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vahid Ališković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIŠKOVIĆ, Velid, son of Ahmet (20, male)

1607. Velid Ališković, born on 20 January 1972, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is not recorded. The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3490

1608. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Velid Ališković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Asim, son of Šaban (40, male)

1609. Asim Avdić, born on 9 August 1956, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is not recorded. The date and time of death are recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.3491

1610. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asim Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Bego, son of Ibrahim (20, male)

1611. Bego Avdić, born on 8 July 1972, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3492

1612. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Bego Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Damir, son of Sejfulah (19, male)

1613. Damir Avdić, born on 6 November 1972, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3493

1614. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Damir Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3489</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3746.1, Death Certificate of Vahid Ališković

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3490 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3748.1, Death Certificate of Velid Ališković (confidential). <sup>3491</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3750.1, Death Certificate of Asim Avdić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3492</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3752.1, Death Certificate of Bego Avdić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3493</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3754.1, Death Certificate of Damir Avdić (confidential).

#### AVDIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Omer (27, male)

1615. Fahrudin Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100191-01, born on 12 November 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. Human remains marked as "Body No. 137" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Fahrudin Avdić. The Prosecution also adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, issued by judge Ahmet Tatarević on 11 April 2000, whereby Fahrudin Avdić, born on 12 October 1964, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was captured in Čarakovo on 20 July 1992 and taken to Keraterm camp, where he was killed in a mass shooting of around 250 detainees held in Room 3 by Serbian guards on the evening of 24 July 1992. Fahrudin Avdić, born on 12 October 1964, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "*Keraterm* camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.

1616. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Avdić was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Ismet, son of Muharem (24, male)

1617. Ismet Avdić, born on 16 May 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Ljubia". The date and time of death are recorded as "22 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3498

1618. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Mehmed, son of Muho (56, male)

1619. Mehmed Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-104680-01, born in 1936, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. Hehmed Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-104680-01, born on 25 February 1939, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 21 May 1992. Hehmed Avdić, born on 20 February 1936, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Čarakovo, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "23 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause

395

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3494</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3760, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3495</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3756, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3758, Declaration of Death of Fahrudin Avdić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3497 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3760.1, Death Certificate of Fahrudin Avdić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3498 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3762.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Avdić (confidential). 3499 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3764, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3500</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3766, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

of death.<sup>3501</sup> Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, assembled human remains marked "Body No. 432 + Body No. 732 A + Body 955 A" were identified as being those of Mehmed Avdić, born on 20 February 1936, on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3502</sup> According to this report, Mehmed Avdić went missing in Čarkovo on 23 July 1992.<sup>3503</sup> The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 July 2005, states that "[o]n the basis of the damage to the bones, [it is concluded] that Mehmed AVDIĆ died a violent death most probably as a result of an injury to the left side of the rib cage and with injuries to the internal organs; the injury may have been caused by repeated blows with a hard and blunt instrument. [A] fracture of the right upper leg may have been caused by a blow with a hard and blunt instrument; the possibility of [...] post-mortem injury cannot be ruled out." Mehmed Avdić's hands, arms, and breastbone were missing. Remnants of clothing found on Mehmed Avdić's body were identified as those of black trousers and a brown belt.<sup>3504</sup>

1620. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Avdić died a violent death, most likely caused by beatings. However, in the absence of evidence of gunshot wounds or evidence that Mehmed Avdić was detained in Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Avdić was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Nihad, son of Ahmet (38, male)

1621. Nihad Avdić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The man Remains marked as "Body No. 218" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Nihad Avdić. Nihad Avdić, born on 18 July 1954, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.

1622. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Avdić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3501</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3771.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Avdić (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error in the English translation of the recorded place of death.

<sup>(</sup>confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error in the English translation of the recorded place of death. <sup>3502</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3767, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3765, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3503</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3767, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3504</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3769, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3505</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3776, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3506</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3775, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3507</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3776.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Avdić (confidential).

#### AVDIĆ, Rizad, son of Ibrahim (31, male)

1623. Rizad Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-108450-02, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists him as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The FIS database records that Rizad Avdić, born on 1 January 1961, died in Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. 3510 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No.371" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as those of Rizad Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-108450-02.<sup>3511</sup> According to this report, Rizad Avdić went missing in Keraterm camp between 24 and 25 July 1992.<sup>3512</sup> The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 July 2005, establishes the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage and left thighbone. Remnants of clothing found on Rizad Avdić's body were identified as those of blue jeans. 3513

1624. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rizad Avdić was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Samir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1625. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3514 The Defence submits that Samir Avdić, son of Edhem, born on 3 May 1969, was a member of the armed forces in Kladanj from 19 April 1993 to 27 September 1995, and in Živinice from 28 September 1995 to 22 April 1996. The Chamber notes that in the absence of any identifying information provided for the alleged victim Samir Avdić, it is unable to ascertain whether the BiH record concerns the same individual.

1626. In the absence of any supporting evidence that Samir Avdić was killed in Room 3 of Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# AVDIĆ, Sejfo, son of Mehmed (45, male)

1627. Sejfo Avdić, ICRC number, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3508</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3783, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3509</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3780, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3510</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3781, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3511 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3779, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3782, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3512</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3779, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3513</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3785, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3514</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3787 (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 31, "ordinal number" 3786; 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 318 (confidential).

Prijedor on 14 August 2004.<sup>3516</sup> Human Remains marked as "Body No. 337" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Sejfo Avdić.<sup>3517</sup> Sejfo Avdić, born on 10 March 1947, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3518</sup>

1628. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rizad Avdić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Suad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1629. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Suad Avdić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Suad Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Zinad, son of Ibrahim (24, male)

1630. Zinad Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-108450-01, born in 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Redak Ljubia" in the municipality of Prijedor on 31 May 2005. 3520 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists him as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The FIS database records that Zinad Avdić, born on 8 September 1967, died in Prijedor on 25 July 1992. 3522 Zinad Avdić, born on 8 September 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3523 Human Remains marked as "Rdk.Lj.-020605-7-T" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Redak-Ljubia" mass grave were identified as being those of Zinad Avdić on the basis of DNA matching. 3524 The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 27 July 2006, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, neck, and pelvis. Remnants of clothing found on Zinad Avdić's body were identified as those of a navy T-shirt, a piece of black fabric, and a trainer. A bullet round 22 x 7 mm was also found on the body. 3525

1631. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zinad Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

398 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3516</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3789, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3517</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3790, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3518</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3792.1, Death Certificate of Sejfo Avdić (confidential). <sup>3519</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3794 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3520</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3797, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3521</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3798, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3801, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3801.1, Death Certificate of Zinad Avdić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3523</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3801.1, Death Certificate of Zinad Avdić (confidential). <sup>3524</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3800, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3525</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3801.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### BAJIĆ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1632. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ismet Bajić's death. 3526 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEGOVIĆ, Muharem, son of Vejsil (33, male)

1633. Muharem Begović, born in 1959, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3527 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Muharem Begović, ICRC number BAZ-110445-01, born on 9 January 1959, went missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 22 July 1992. 3528 Human Remains marked as "Body No. 024" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevlani" mass grave were identified as being those of Muharem Begović on the basis of DNA matching. 3529 Muharem Begović, born on 9 January 1959, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, *Keraterm* camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3530

1634. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Begović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEGOVIĆ, Nazmija, son of Vejsil (31, male)

1635. Nazmija Begović, ICRC number BAZ-110442-04, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3531 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Nazmija Begović, ICRC number BAZ-110442-04, born on 25 February 1961, went missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 22 July 1992. 3532 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No.335" were identified as those of Nazmija Begović ICRC number BAZ-110442-04, on the basis of DNA matching. 3533 According to this report, Nazmija Begović went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. 3534 The autopsy was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav

<sup>3526</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3803 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3527</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3807, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3528</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3806, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3529</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3805, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3809.1, Death Certificate of Muharem Begović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3531 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3813, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3532</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3814, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3533</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3811, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3812, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3534</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3811, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

Rakočević on 13 March 2005. The cause of death could not be established on the basis on damage to the bones, However, the report states that it was concluded, on the basis of injuries sustained by other persons buried at the same site, that "Nazmija BEGOVIĆ also died a violent death [and that] [t]here [was] a possibility of bullet [sic] through organs of the stomach and of internal bleeding," Remnants of clothing found on Nazmija Begović's body were identified as those of grey track-suit bottoms.<sup>3535</sup>

1636. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nazmija Begović was killed as charged in the Indictment

#### BEHLIĆ, Behzad, son of Mustafa (37-38, male)

1637. Behzad Behlić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 3536 Human Remains marked as "JK01-384BP-2" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave were identified as being those of Behzad Behlić on the basis of DNA matching. 3537 The autopsy of the remains "JK01/384BP-2" was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 6 November 2001. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. The victim also suffered gunshot injuries to the thoracic cavity causing spinal injury, as well as to the right collar bone.<sup>3538</sup>

1638. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Behzad Behlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BILALOVIĆ, Šaban, son of Omer (46, male)

1639. Šaban Bilalović, ICRC number BAZ-109686-01, born in 1946, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in the Rakovčani, Prijedor, on an unknown day. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Šaban Bilalović, went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. 3541 Šaban Bilalović, born on 25 July 1946, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, Keraterm camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3542 Human Remains marked as "Body No. 084" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Šaban Bilalović on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3543</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3535</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3815, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3536</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3820, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3818, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>3538</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3819, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3539</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3823, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). The Chamber notes that the date of disappearance in recorded in

error, reading "01/01/6199".

3540 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3823, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3541</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3826, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3826.1, Death Certificate of Šaban Bilalović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3543 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3822, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

1640. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šaban Bilalović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BILALOVIĆ, Dževad, son of Omer (41-42, male)

1641. Dževad Bilalović, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Dževad Bilalović went missing in Rakovčani in July 1992. Dževad Bilalović, born on 9 April 1950, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor municipality". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human Remains marked as "Body No. 257" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Dževad Bilalović on the basis of DNA matching. 3547

1642. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Bilalović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BILALOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Šaban (24, male)

1643. Ismet Bilalović, ICRC number BAZ-109686-02, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Ismet Bilalović went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Ismet Bilalović, born on 26 April 1968, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' Camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human Remains marked as "Body No. 404" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Ismet Bilalović on the basis of DNA matching. The data are recorded as "Body No. 404" exhumed among those of the persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Ismet Bilalović on the basis of DNA matching.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3544</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3828, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3545</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3829, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3546</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3831.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Dževad Bilalović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3547</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3830, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3548</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3835, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3549</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3833, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3550</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3836.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Ismet Bilalović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3551</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3834, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

1644. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Bilialović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BILALOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Omer (48, male)

1645. Mehmed Bilalović, born in 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in repect of Mehmed Bilalović's identifying information and date and place of disappearance. Mehmed Bilalović, born on 7 March 1944, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human Remains marked as "Body No. 875" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Mehmed Bilalović on the basis of DNA matching. 

3555

1646. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Bilalović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Šukrija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1647. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Šukrija Crljenković's death. 3556 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Derviš, son of Mujo (49, male)

1648. Derviš Crljenković, ICRC number BAZ-111081-02, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report Report consistently states that Derviš Crljenković went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Derviš Crljenković, born on 16 October 1942, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, *Keraterm* Camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 July 1992". The death certificate issued in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3552</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3840, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3553</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3841, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3554</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3841.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Bilalović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3555 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3839, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3556</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3843 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3557</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3847, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3558</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3845, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3559</sup> Human Remains marked as "Body No. 273" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Derviš Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching. 3560

1649. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Derviš Crljenković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3. Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Emir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1650. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Emir Crljenković's death.<sup>3561</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Hasan, son of Mujo (46, male)

1651. Hasan Crljenković, ICRC number BAZ-111081-03, born on 15 September 1945, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3562 Human remains marked as "Body No. 455" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Hasan Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching. 3563

1652. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Crljenković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Crljenković was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Mirsad, son of Hakija (29, male)

1653. Mirsad Crljenković, born on 17 November 1962, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3564

1654. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Crljenković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Nurij, father's name unknown (age unknown. male)

1655. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nurij Crljenković's death. 3565 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurij Crljenković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3559</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3849.1, Death Certificate of Derviš Crljenković

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
3560 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3848, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3561</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3851 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3562</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3854, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3563</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3853, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3858.1, Death Certificate of Mirsad Crljenković (confidential). \$\frac{3565}{2466}\$, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3860 (confidential).

### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Nurija, son of Husein (37, male)

1656. Nurija Crljenković, born on 13 June 1955, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of Omarska, municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The time of death is recorded as "5 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3566

1657. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurija Crljenković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Ramo, son of Omer (37, male)

1658. Ramo Crljenković, born on 6 June 1955, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3567

1659. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ramo Crljenković was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Safet, son of Derviš (21, male)

1660. Safet Crljenković, ICRC number BAZ-111081-01, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Safet Crljenković went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Safet Crljenković, born on 18 February 1971, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked as "Body No. 344" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Safet Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching.

1661. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Crljenković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3566</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3862.1, Death Certificate of Nurija Crljenković (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3567</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3864.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Ramo Crljenković.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3568</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3870, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3569</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3869, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3570</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3870.1, Death Certificate of Safet Crljenković (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3571 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3868, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Salko, son of Haso (49, male)

1662. Salko Crljenković, ICRC number BAZ-104474-01, born in 1942, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kurevo, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Salko Crljenković went missing in Keraterm camp on 24 July 1992. Salko Crljenković, born on 15 November 1942, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, Keraterm camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked as "Body No. 027" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Salko Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching.

1663. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salko Crljenković is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### CRLJENKOVIĆ, Senad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1664. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Senad Crljenković's death. <sup>3576</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Damir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1665. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Damir Džamastagić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Derviš, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1666. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Derviš Džamastagić's death. <sup>3578</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Ermin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1667. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ermin Džamastagić's death. 3579 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3572</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3876, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3573</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3875, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3574</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3876.1, Death Certificate of Salko Crljenković (confidential).
<sup>3575</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3874, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3576</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3878 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3577</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3880 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3578</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3882 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3579</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3884 (confidential).

#### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Ferid, son of Jusuf (32, male)

1668. Ferid Džamastagić, born on 2 January 1960, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' camp". The time of death is recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.  $^{3580}$ 

1669. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ferid Džamastagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Hasan, son of Hakija (32, male)

1670. Hasan Džamastagić, born on 25 December 1959, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3581

1671. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Džamastagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Hasir, son of Hasan (26, male)

1672. Hasir Džamastagić, born on 23 November 1965, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rakovčani, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3582

1673. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasir Džamastagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Ifet, son of Husein (41, male)

1674. Ifet Džamastagić, ICRC number BAZ-108248-05, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ifet Džamastagić, born in 1951, went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. 3584 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 165" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Ifet Džamastagić. 3585 According to this report, Ifet Džamastagić, born on 20 October 1950, went

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3580</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3886.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Ferid Džamastagić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3581</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3888.1, Death Certificate of Hasan Džamastagić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3582 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3890.1, Death Certificate of Hasir Džamastagić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3583 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3894, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3584</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3893, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3585</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3896, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3895, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

missing in Keraterm camp on 20 July 1992. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 16 March 2005, established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the chest and left thigh. Remnants of clothing found on Ifet Džamastagić's body were identified as those of brown socks. 3587

1675. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ifet Džamastagić was killed at Keraterm camp, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Nijaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1676. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nijaz Džamastagić's death. <sup>3588</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nijaz Džamastagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Said, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1677. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Said Džamastagić's death. <sup>3589</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Samir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1678. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Samir Džamastagić's death. <sup>3590</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DŽAMASTAGIĆ, Sulejman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1679. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Sulejman Džamastagić's death. <sup>3591</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽOLIĆ, Husein, son of Muharem (33, male)

1680. Husein Džolić, ICRC number BAZ-110302-01, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Husein Džolić, born on 27 July 1958, went missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 27 July 1992. Husein Džolić, born on 27 September 1958, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3586</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3896, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3587</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3897, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>3588</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3899 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3589</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3901 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3590</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3903 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3591</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3905 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3592</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3907, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3593</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3909, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

not specify the cause of death.<sup>3594</sup> Human Remains marked as "Body No. 166" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Husein Džolić on the basis of DNA matching. 3595

1681. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Džolić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Džolić was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Asmir, son of Adem (32, male)

1682. Asmir Duratović, born on 7 July 1960, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "21 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3596

1683. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asmir Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Bećo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1684. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Bećo Duratović's death. 3597 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Derviš, son of Hasim (59, male)

1685. Derviš Duratović, son of Hasim, born in 1933, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 26 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3598 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Derviš Duratović, ICRC number BAZ-108435-02, went missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. 3599 Derviš Duratović, born on 15 April 1933, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked as "Body No. 265" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Derviš Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. 3601

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3594</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3910.1, Death Certificate of Husein Džolić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3595 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3908, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3596</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3812.1, Death Certificate of Asmir Duratović (confidential).

3597 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3914 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3598</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3919, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3599</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3917, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3600</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3920.1, Death Certificate of Derviš Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3601</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3920, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

1686. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Derviš Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Emin, son of Hilmija (36, male)

1687. Emin Duratović, born on 5 February 1956, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp, Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked as "JK01/379BP/4" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave were identified as being those of Emin Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. 3603

1688. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emin Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Hasib, son of Hasib (41, male)

1689. Hasib Duratović, ICRC number BAZ-101240-02, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Hasib Duratović, went missing in Rizvanovići on 23 July 1992. Hasib Duratović, born on 2 March 1951, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp', Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "24 July 1992". Human remains marked as "Body No. 002" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Hasib Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. Human remains marked as "Body No. 002" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Hasib Duratović on the basis of DNA matching.

1690. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasib Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3922.1, Death Certificate of Emin Duratović (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3922, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3603</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3922, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3604</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3924, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3605</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3926, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3606</sup> The Chamber notes that the English translation of this document erroneously records the time of death as "20 July 1992".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3607</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3926.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Hasib Duratović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3608</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3925, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### DURATOVIĆ, Husnija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1691. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Husnija Duratović's death.<sup>3609</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Idriz (52, male)

1692. Ismet Duratović, born on 15 January 1944, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is not recorded. The date and time of death are recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3610

1693. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DURATOVIĆ**, Kasim, son of Hilmija (38, male)

1694. Kasim Duratović, born on 17 September 1953, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>3611</sup> Partial human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave and marked "JK-01-294-BP" were identified as being those of Kasim Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. 3612

1695. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kasim Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# DURATOVIĆ, Mirsad, 3613 son of Esad (34, male)

1696. Mirsad Duratović, born on 28 April 1958, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 in Omarska, municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The date and time of death are recorded as "4 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3614

1697. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3609</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3928 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3930.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Duratović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3611</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3934.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Kasim Duratović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3612</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3933, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3934, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>3613</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits in its Final Victims List that this person's first name was either "Mirhad" or "Mirsad". As the death certificate tendered records his name as "Mirsad Duratovic", the Chamber considers the latter to be the correct version of his name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3614</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3936.1, Death Certificate of Mirsad Duratović (confidential).

#### DURATOVIĆ, Muhamed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1698. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muhamed Duratović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Nihad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1699. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nihad Duratović's death. <sup>3616</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Ramo, son of Jasim (41, male)

1700. Ramo Duratović, ICRC number BAS-001444-01, born in 1951, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rizvanovići, Prijedor, on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ramo Duratović went missing in Keraterm on 26 July 1992. Ramo Duratović, born on 1 July 1951, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp', Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "26 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human Remains marked as "Body No. 082" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Ramo Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. DNA matching.

1701. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramo Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Salih, son of Ahmet (34, male)

1702. Salih Duratović, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 10 August 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Salih Duratović, went missing in Rizvanovići on 20 July 1992. Salih Duratović, born on 4 July 1958, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rizvanovići, Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3615</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3938 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3616</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3940 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3617</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3945, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3618</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3942, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3619</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3945.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders death certificates for a number of persons under the hyperlink for the translation of the death certificate of Ramo Duratović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3620</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3943, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3621</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3947, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3622</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3950, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3623</sup> Human Remains marked as "Body No. 081" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Salih Duratović on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3624</sup>

1703. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salih Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DURATOVIĆ, Sead, son of Derviš (23, male)

1704. Sead Duratović, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Sead Duratović's identifying information and date and place of disappearance. The FIS database records that Sead Duratović, born on 16 June 1969, died in Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains marked "Body No. 362, 933A+924A" were identified as being those of Sead Duratović on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Sead Duratović went missing in Keraterm camp on 24 July 1992.

1705. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sead Duratović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Senad, son of Derviš (24, male)

1706. Senad Duratović, born on 25 May 1968, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3630

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3623</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3950.1, Death Certificate of Salih Duratović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3624</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3949, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). "ordinal number" 3954, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3626</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3956, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber, however, notes the slight discrepancy in year of birth recorded. The ICRC Missing Persons List records the year of his birth as "1969".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3627</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3953, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3628</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3958, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3952, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3629</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3958, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3630</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3960.1, Death Certificate of Senad Duratović (confidential).

1707. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Duratović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### EJUPOVIĆ, Džemal, son of Šerif (37, male)

1708. Džemal Ejupović, born on 20 November 1954, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "11 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3631

1709. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Džemal Ejupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### EJUPOVIĆ, Iris, son of Nail (31, male)

1710. Iris Ejupović, ICRC number BAZ-103600-01, born in 1960, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 202" were identified as being those of Iris Ejupović on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Iris Ejupović, born on 20 September 1960, went missing in Hambarine on 20 July 1992. The autopsy of Iris Ejupović's body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 19 February 2005. The victim suffered a number of fractured ribs. Both hands were missing from the body. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the head. Remnants of clothing found on Iris Ejupović's body were identified as those of black trousers and a blue shirt.

1711. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Iris Ejupović died a violent death caused by a gunshot to the head. However, in the absence of evidence that Iris Ejupović was detained at Keraterm camp on 24 July 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# FAZLIĆ, Džemal, 3637 son of Smajo (43, male)

1712. Džemal Fazlić, born on 08 April 1949, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, Keraterm camp". The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3631</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3962.1, Death Certificate of Džemal Ejupović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3632</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3967, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3633</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3964, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3634</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3969, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3966, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3635</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3969, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3636</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3965, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3637</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution in its Final Victims List submits that this person's name was either "Demo" or "Džemal". The death certificate tendered is issued in the name of "Džemal".

time of death is recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3638

1713. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Džemal Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Adem, son of Mujo (55, male)

1714. Adem Fazlić, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Jakarina Kosa" in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. September 2001. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains marked "JK-01-191-B + JK-01-189BP-II" were identified as being those of Adem Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Adem Fazlić, born on 16 March 1937, went missing on 20 July 1992. The Prosecution submits separate autopsy reports for the two body parts identified as being those of Adem Fazlić. The autopsies were carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 2 and 5 November 2001 respectively. Adem Fazlić suffered a gunshot injury to the lower limbs. However, the cause of death could not be ascertained. No clothing was found on the body.

1715. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber find that Adem Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Besim, son of Mujo (40, male)

1716. The Prosecution tenders documents in support of its allegation in the name of and concerning a person by the name of "Besim Fazlić, son of Mustafa", and "Besim Fazlić, son of Mujo". In the absence of identifying information, such as an ICRC number common to these documents, the Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the material concerns the same person. Rather, the Chamber considers the material to concern two different persons. Since both the DNA identification report, as well as the death certificate tendered concern "Besim Fazlić, son of Mujo", the Chamber considers this person to be alleged to be a victim of the killing of a number of men in Room 3 Keraterm, on 24 or 25 July 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard material submitted for "Besim Fazlić, son of Mustafa".

1717. Besim Fazlić, ICRC number BAS-003211-01, born on 8 July 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm on 20 July 1992. Besim Fazlić, born on 8 July 1952, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3638</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3971.1, Death Certificate of Džemal Fazlić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3639</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3975, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3640</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3978, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3966, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3641</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3978, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3642</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3973, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3974, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3643</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3984, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

cause of death.<sup>3644</sup> Human remains marked as "Body No. 453" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Besim Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3645</sup>

1718. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Besim Fazlić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Džafer, son of Mustafa (45, male)

1719. Džafer Fazlić, born in 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Džafer Fazlić, born on 20 February 1947, went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Human remains marked as "KV19-003BP" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Kevljani" mass grave, were identified as being those of Džafer Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the remains "KV19-003BP" carried out by Dr. John Clark of the ICTY on 22 July 1999, determined the cause of death to be unascertainable due to the absence of several body parts. Fractures to the left shoulder blade and jaw were, however, determined to be suggestive of kicking or blows from a blunt instrument. Shoulder blade and jaw were, however, determined to be suggestive of kicking or blows from a blunt instrument.

1720. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Džafer Fazlić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Emsud, son of Hasan (31, male)

1721. Esmud Fazlić, born on 19 June 1961, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3650

1722. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emsud Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Fadil, son of Salih (44, male)

1723. Fadil Fazlić, born on 12 August 1947, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rakovčani, Prijedor". The date and

415

Case No. IT-08-91-T

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3644</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3984.1, Death Certificate of Besim Fazlić (confidential).
 <sup>3645</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3980, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3647</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3990, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3648</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3986, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3649</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3988, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3650</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3993.1, Death Certificate of Emsud Fazlić (confidential).

time of death are recorded as "18 June 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3651

1724. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fadil Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Fudo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1725. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fudo Fazlić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Ismet, son of Muharem (27, male)

1726. Ismet Fazlić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3653 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Fazlić, born on 19 April 1965, went missing in Keraterm on 25 July 1992. 1992. Ismet Fazlić, born on 19 April 1965, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked as "Body No. 112" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Ismet Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching. 1965

1727. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Fazlić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Kasim, son of Mujo (49, male)

1728. Kasim Fazlić, ICRC number BAS-003690-01, born on 31 January 1943, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor on 25 July 1992. The Chamber notes that the BiH State Commission entry as submitted for Kasim Fazlić concerns another individual. The Chamber will thus disregard the information. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 445" were

416 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3651</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3995.1, Death Certificate of Fadil Fazlić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3652</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3997 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3653</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3999, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3654</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4002, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3655</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4002.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Fazlić (confidential). <sup>3656</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4000, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3657</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4002, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3658</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4008, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). This entry concerns a certain "Kasim Fazlić, son of Mustafa".

identified as those of Kasim Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3659</sup> According to this report, Kasim Fazlić born on 31 January 1943, went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992.<sup>3660</sup>

1729. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kasim Fazlić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Kemal, 3661 son of Smajo (35, male)

1730. Kemal Fazlić, born on 10 June 1957, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3662

1731. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Kemal Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1732. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented in the Proof of Death Database to prove Mustafa Fazlić's death. The Defence submits that Mustafa Fazlić, son of Omer, date of birth not recorded, was a member of the armed forces in Kladanj from 15 April 1992 to 22 April 1996, when he was wounded in Biljevine and left disabled. The Chamber notes that in the absence of any identifying information provided for the alleged victim Mustafa Fazlić, it is unable ascertain whether the BiH record concerns the same individual.

1733. In the absence of supporting evidence that Mustafa Fazlić was killed in Keraterm, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Nihad, son of Ahmet (37, male)

1734. Nihad Fazlić, born on 22 April 1955, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is not recorded. The time of death is recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed on 1 June 2005 from the mass grave site "Redak-Ljubia" in the municipality of Prijedor and marked "Body No. 3" were identified as those of Nihad Fazlić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 19 July 2006, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head and chest. Remnants of clothing found on Nihad Fazlić's body were identified

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3659</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4004, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4009, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3660</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 3969, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3661</sup> The Prosecution in the Final Victims List submits this person's first name to be "Kemo" or "Kemal". The death certificate and only documentation submitted for this person, is issued in the name of "Kemal Fazlic".

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3662</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4012.1, Death Certificate of Kemal Fazlić (confidential).
 <sup>3663</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4014 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3664</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 33, "ordinal number" 4013; 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 350 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6665</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4016.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Fazlić (confidential).

as those of a black sweater, and a brown shoe. 3666 The autopsy report states that Nihad Fazlić went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. 3667

1735. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Sead, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1736. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Sead Fazlić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FIFIĆ, Husein, son of Hakija (age unknown, male)

1737. The Chamber notes that the BiH State Commission entry as submitted for Husein Fifić concerns another individual. This is also the case for the ICRC Missing Person Report, a copy of an identity card, a lower court declaration of death, identification report, and FIS database entry adduced for this individual. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation.

1738. However, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Fifić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FIKIĆ, Husein, son of Hakija (30, male)

1739. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented under the corresponding entry in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. 3676

1740. However, the Chamber also notes that a host of documents has been submitted in the Proof of Death Database under the entry for a certain "Husein Fifić" and acknowledged by the Defence, as set out in the preceding entry. The Chamber will thus consider these documents, and the Defence submissions under current entry in the Proof of Death Database.

1741. Husein Fikić, BAZ-101251-02, born in 1962, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Jakarina Kosa" on 11 September 2001. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Husein Fikić, born on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3666</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4016.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3667</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4016.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3668</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4018 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3669</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4020, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). This entry concerns a certain "Husein Fikić, son of Hakija".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3670</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4023, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3671</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4022, Copy of Identity Card, Husein Fikić (confidential). <sup>3672</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4029, Declaration of Death of Husein Fikić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3673</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4027, DNA Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>3674</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4028, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3675</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 33, "ordinal number" 4019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3676</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4031 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3677</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4020, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

5 March 1962, as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992.3678 The FIS database records that he died in Prijedor on 29 July 1992. 3679 The Chamber rejects the copy of the identity card adduced, as it is illegible. Human remains exhumed from "Jakarina Kosa" and marked "Body JK01-209BP" were identified as being those of Husein Fikić. 3681 The Prosecution adduces a decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, issued by judge Agan Džafić on 16 November 2000, whereby Husein Fikić, born on 5 March 1962, was declared dead on the basis of witness testimony that he was taken away from his house in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992 and taken to Keraterm camp. He is said to have initially survived the killing of a large number of inmates on 29 July 1992, after which he and other prisoners were ordered to clean the camp and load the bodies of the dead unto trucks. Thereafter, they were made to lay face-down on the ground, and the driver of the truck intentionally drove over the legs of the prisoners. Husein Fikić was severely injured. The next day, the guards took him away, allegedly to Prijedor hospital. Husein Fikić was never seen again. 3682 The Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation. 3683

1742. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Fikić was killed in the aftermath of the incident charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is thus unable to find that Husein Fikić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FIKIĆ, Refik, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1743. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Refik Fikić's death. 3684 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Refik Fikić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HABIBOVIĆ, Adem, son of Derviš (33, male)

1744. Adem Habibović, ICRC number BAZ-111131-01, born in 1958, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Jakarina Kosa" on 11 September 2001. 3685 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance.<sup>3686</sup> The FIS database records that he died in Prijedor on 24 July 1992. 3687 The Chamber rejects the copy of the identity card adduced, as it is illegible. 3688 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3678</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4023, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4028, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3680 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4022, Copy of Identity Card, Husein Fikić (confidential). The Chamber notes that the ID card itself is illegible and that only handwritten notes photocopied with it are relied  $\frac{\text{upon.}}{^{3681}}\text{ P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4027, DNA Identification Report (confidential).}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3682</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4029, Declaration of Death of Husein Fikić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3683 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 33, "ordinal number" 4019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3684</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4033 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3685</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4036, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3686</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4037, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4042, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3688</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4040, Copy of Identity Card, Husein Fikić (confidential).

205-BP" were identified as being those of Adem Habibović on the basis of DNA matching. 3689 The autopsy of the remains "JK01/205BP" was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 24 October 2001. The cause of death was determined as being unascertainable due to the absence of several body parts, including the head, as well as the absence of fractures to those bones present. 3690

1745. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adem Habibović died a violent death and that his body was mutilated. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HABIBOVIĆ, Senad, son of Hilmo (31, male)

1746. Senad Habibović, born on 20 October 1960, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Hrastova Glavica-Podvidača, Sanski Most". The date and time of death are recorded as "5 August 1992". 3691

1747. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Habibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HADŽIĆ, Muharem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1748. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muharem Hadžić's death. <sup>3692</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Muharem Hadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HALILOVIĆ, Muharem, son of Ibrahim (39, male)

1749. Muharem Halilović, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Jakarina Kosa" on 11 September 2001. Hersuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, human remains marked "JK-01-275-B" were identified as being those of Muharem Halilović on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Muharem Halilović went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. The autopsy of the remains "JK01/275B" was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 27 October 2001. The cause of death was determined as a gunshot to the head.

1750. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Halilović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3689</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4038, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4039, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3690</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4041, Autopsy Report (under seal).
<sup>3691</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4044.1, Death Certificate of Senad Habibović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3692</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4046 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3693</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4048, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3694</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4049, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4051, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3695</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4049, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3696</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4041, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### HAMULIĆ, Fadil, son of Mehmed (38, male)

- 1751. Fadil Hamulić, born in 1953, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" on 14 August 2004. Fadil Hamulić, born on 31 October 1953, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, Keraterm Camp". The time of death is recorded as "28 July 1992". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" and marked "Body No. 229" were identified as being those of Fadil Hamulić on the basis of DNA matching.
- 1752. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Hamulić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HAMULIĆ, Razim, son of Adem (30, male)

- 1753. Razim Hamulić, born on 10 November 1961, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "*Keraterm* camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992".
- 1754. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Razim Hamulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HODŽIĆ, Šerif, son of Meho (49, male)

- 1755. Šerif Hodžić, born on 15 August 1943, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Čarakovo". The time of death is recorded as "23 July 1992". The Chamber has also received evidence that Šerif Hodžić, son of Meho, born on 15 August 1943, was a member of the Prijedor TO from 5 April 1992 to 23 July 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of War Veterans records that he was killed in Čarakovo on 23 July 1992.
- 1756. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šerif Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Izet, son of Mustafa (78, male)

1757. Izet Hodžić, born on 12 August 1914, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "30 March 1992, 18:00 hrs".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3697</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3698</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4056.1, Death Certificate of Fadil Hamulić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3699</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4056, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3700</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4058.1, Death Certificate of Razim Hamulić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3701</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4060.1, Death Certificate of Šerif Hodžić (confidential). <sup>3702</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 31 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3703</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4062.1, Death Certificate of Izet Hodžić (confidential).

1758. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Izet Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Mirsad, son of Esad (36, male)

1759. Mirsad Hodžić, ICRC number YUB-014546-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 25 May 1999. 3704 Partial human remains consisting of no more than one foot and a part of the lower leg exhumed from the Kevljani site and marked as "KV25-001B" were identified as being those of Mirsad Hodžić on the basis of DNA matching. 3705 The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Thomas Rothschild of the ICTY on 22 July 1999. The cause of death could not be established due to the incomplete state of the remains.  $^{3706}$ 

1760. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Hodžić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Muste, 3707 son of Mustafa (36, male)

1761. Muste Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-101257-01, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he went missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 317" as assembled from "SK+317+167A+300A" were identified as being those of Muste Hodžić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3710</sup> According to this report, Muste Hodžić, born on 20 October 1950, went missing in Keraterm camp on 20 July 1992.<sup>3711</sup> The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 June 2005, established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the chest and left lower leg. Remnants of clothing found on Muste Hodžić's body were identified as those of blue workman's trousers and a grey sock.<sup>3712</sup>

1762. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muste Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3704</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4065, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3705</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4066, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 - September 2007 (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4067, Autopsy Report (confidential).

3706 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4067, Autopsy Report (confidential).

In its Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits that this person's first name is "Mustafa" of "Muste". The Chamber notes that all documentation submitted is issued in the name of "Muste Hodžić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3708</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4073, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4072, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3710</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4071, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4070, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3711</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4071, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3712</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4069, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### HOPOVAC, Azir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1763. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Azir Hopovac's death. 3713 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JUJIĆ, Sulejman, son of Muharem (34, male)

1764. Sulejman Jujić, born on 2 August 1958, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3714

1765. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Jujić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIĆ, Haider, son of Meho (79, male)

1766. Hajder Kadić, born in 1913, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Jakarina Kosa" on 11 September 2001. 3715 Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, partial human remains consisting of no more than the pelvic bone and the right leg, marked "JK-01-262-BP" were identified as those of Hajder Kadić, born on 12 January 1913, on the basis of DNA matching. The report states that he went missing in Biščani, Prijedor, on 21 July 1992. The autopsy of the remains "JK01/205BP" was carried out on 30 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The cause of death could not be ascertained due to the absence of most body parts as well as the absence of specific fractures to those bones present.<sup>3717</sup>

1767. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajder Kadić died a violent death and that his body was mutilated. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KADIRIĆ, Mirhet, son of Abdulah (age unknown, male)

1768. According to the report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" and marked "Body No. 474" have been identified as those of Mirhet Kadirić, son of Abdulah. 3718

1769. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirhet Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3713</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4076 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3714</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4078.1, Death Certificate of Sulejman Jujić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3715 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4080, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3716</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4083, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4084, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). <sup>3717</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4085, Autopsy Report (under seal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3718</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4088, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### KARAGIĆ, Sulejman, son of Hasan (55, male)

1770. Sulejman Karagić, ICRC number BAS-001473-01, born in 1937, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 26 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Sulejman Karagić, born on 28 February 1937, as having gone missing in Tukovi on 20 July 1992. Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 23" were identified as being those of Sulejman Karagić on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Sulejman Karagić went missing in Keraterm camp on 26 July 1992. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 2 March 2005, established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the head and pelvic bone.

1771. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Karagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARAHODŽIĆ, Husein, son of Fehim (38, male)

1772. Husein Karahodžić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" on 14 August 2004.<sup>3724</sup> This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report.<sup>3725</sup> Husein Karahodžić, born on 22 March 1954, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp', Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death.<sup>3726</sup> Human remains marked as "Body No. 200" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Husein Karahodžić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3727</sup>

1773. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Karahodžić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3719</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4095, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3720</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4092, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3721</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4093, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4096, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3722</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4093, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3723</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4094, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3724</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4101, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3725</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4100, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3726</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4101.1, Death Certificate of Husein Karahodžić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3727</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4099, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### KARDUMOVIĆ, Asmir, son of Hasan (22, male)

1774. Asmir Kardumović, born on 3 September 1969, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "23 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3728

1775. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asmir Kardumović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARDUMOVIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Mehmed (36, male)

1776. Mehmedalija Kardumović, born in 1956, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the mass grave site "Stari Kevljani" on 14 August 2004. Human Remains marked as "Body No. 353" exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Kardumović on the basis of DNA matching. The stari Kevljani" are grave were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Kardumović on the basis of DNA matching.

1777. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Kardumović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARDUMOVIĆ, Sakib, son of Hasan (26, male)

1778. Sakib Kardumović, ICRC number BAZ-102430-01, born on 11 January 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The FIS database records that Sakib Kardumović, born on 11 January 1966, died in Prijedor on 23 July 1992. In support of its allegation that Sakib Kardumović was killed in Keraterm camp, the Prosecution submits a death certificate. The Chamber, however, notes that the death certificate adduced is issued in the name of another person. The Chamber will therefore disregard this document. Human remains exhumed from the "Redak-Ljubia" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 1 June 2005 and marked "Body No. 11" were identified as being those of Sakib Kardumović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 10 June 2006, established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head. Remnants of clothing found on Sakib Kardumović were identified as those of a brown sweater and grey socks. The support of the sakib Kardumović were identified as those of a brown sweater and grey socks.

1779. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sakib Kardumović died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3728</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4103.1, Death Certificate of Asmir Kardumović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3729</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4107, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3730</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4106, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

3731 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4111, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>3732</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4112, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3733</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4112.1, Death Certificate of Sejfo Avdić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3734</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4112.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3735</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4112.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3736</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4112.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARDUMOVIĆ, Samir, son of Hasan (25, male)

1780. Samir Kardumović is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "15 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3737

1781. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Kardumović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARUPOVIĆ, Enes, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1782. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Enes Karupović's death.<sup>3738</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARUPOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Taib (30, male)

1783. Ismet Karupović, born on 13 March 1962, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. 3739

1784. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Karupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARUPOVIĆ, Mesud, son of Taib (33 male)

1785. Mesud Karupović, born on 2 January 1959, listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. 3740 Human remains exhumed from the "Dizdarev Potok" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 7 September 2005 and marked "Body No. 1" were identified as being those of Mesud Karupović on the basis of DNA matching. 3741 The autopsy of the body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 24 September 2005 and 3 June 2006. The cause of death was established as penetrating wounds to the head and face.<sup>3742</sup>

1786. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Karupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3737</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4114.1, Death Certificate of Samir Kardumović (confidential).  $^{3738}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4116 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3739</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4118.1, Death Certificate of Ismet Karupović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3740 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4120.1, Death Certificate of Mesud Karupović (confidential). <sup>3741</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4120.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3742</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4120.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### MEDIĆ, Fikret, son of Hasan (34, male)

1787. Fikret Medić, born on 16 March 1958, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "27 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3743

1788. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Medić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEDIĆ, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

1789. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3744 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUHIĆ, Ćamil, son of Salko (56, male)

1790. Ćamil Muhić, ICRC number BAZ-107706-02, born in 1936, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor on 20 July 1992. 3745 Ćamil Muhić, born on 9 December 1936, is also listed in the Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 3746 Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 28 October 2004 and marked "Body No. 395" were identified as being those of Camil Muhić on the basis of DNA matching. 3747

1791. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Camil Muhić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### MUHIĆ, Dursum, son of Redžo (38, male)

1792. Dursum Muhić, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3748 Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 877" were identified as being those of Dursum Muhić on the basis of DNA matching. 3749

1793. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dursum Muhić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3743</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4123.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Medić (confidential). <sup>3744</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4125 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3745</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4130, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3746</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4130.1, Death Certificate of Camil Muhic (confidential). <sup>3747</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4129, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4134, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3749</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4133, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### MUHIĆ, Ismet, son of Mustafa (48, male)

1794. Ismet Muhić, ICRC number BAZ-107706-01, born on 2 April 1944, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of his identifying information and date and place of disappearance. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 370-HM" were identified as being those of Ismet Muhić on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Ismet Muhić went missing between 24 and 25 July 1992 in the Keraterm camp. The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 19 March 2005, established the cause of death as shot wounds to the neck, rib cage and pelvis".

1795. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Muhić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJADŽIĆ, Đemo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1796. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Đemo Mujadžić's death. <sup>3755</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Đemo Mujadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJADŽIĆ, Ćazim, son of Kasim (22, male)

1797. Ćazim Mujadžić, born 15 October 1969, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' Camp". The date and time of death are recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3756

1798. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ćazim Mujadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJADŽIĆ, Asim, 3757 son of Kasim (24, male)

1799. Asim Mujadžić, born 10 August 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm' Camp". The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3750</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4141, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3751</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4138, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3752</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4137, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4140, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3753</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4137, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3754</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4142, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3755</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4144 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3756</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4146.1, Death Certificate of Ćazim Mujadžić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>3757</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List this person's first name is spelled as "Azim". However, in the only evidence adduced in support of his death, the name is spelled as "Asim".

time of death is recorded as "24 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. 3758

1800. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asim Mujadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJADŽIĆ, Hasan, son of Mujo (25, male)

1801. Hasan Mujadžić, born 23 April 1967, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor on 1 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3759 Hasan Mujadžić is also listed in the Register of Deaths for Omarska in the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2006. The place of death is recorded as "Omarska". The time of death is recorded as "20 July 1992." The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3760 Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004 and marked "Body No. 170" were identified as being those of Hasan Mujadžić on the basis of DNA matching. 3761

1802. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Mujadžić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJADŽIĆ, Kasim, son of Mehmed (52, male)

1803. Kasim Mujadžić, born 10 May 1940, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons records Kasim Mujadžić as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that he went missing in Keraterm on 20 July 1992. 3763 Kasim Mujadžić is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The time of death is recorded as "25 July 1992". 3764 Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 29 August 2005 and marked "Body No. 450" were identified as being those of Kasim Mujadžić on the basis of DNA matching. 3765

1804. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kasim Mujadžić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3758</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4148.1, Death Certificate of Asim Mujadžić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3759 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4152, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4152.1, Death Certificate of Hasan Mujadžić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3761 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4151, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4154, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3763</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4155, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3764</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4157.1, Death Certificate of Kasim Mujadžić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3765 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4157, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

#### MUJADŽIĆ, Kemal, son of Džemal (26, male)

1805. Kemal Mujadžić, ICRC number BAZ-101270-01, born on 26 January 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. 3766 Pursuant to a report of the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, Kemal Mujadžić went missing in Keraterm camp on 20 July 1992. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons records that Kemal Mujadžić disappeared in Keraterm camp on 24 July 1992. 3768 Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kavljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 13 October 2004 and marked "Body no. 306" were identified as those of Kemal Mujadžić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3769</sup> The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 13 March 2005, established the cause of death as shot wounds to the head and rib cage. 3770

1806. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kemal Mujadžić was killed as indicted.

### MUJADŽIĆ, Razim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1807. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Razim Mujadžić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUSIĆ, Šerbo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1808. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Šerbo Musić's death. 3772 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUSIĆ, Adem, son of Hairo (45, male)

1809. Adem Musić, ICRC number BAZ-103617-05, born on 11 May 1947, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 24 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site "Stari Kevljani" in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3773 ICRC Missing Persons Report records that he went missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. 3774 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 156" were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3766</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4159, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3767</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4161, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3768</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4160, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4162, Autopsy Report (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4163, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 -September 2007 (confidential).

3770 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4162, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4166 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3772</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4168 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4174, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3774</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4175, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

identified as being those of Adem Musić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3775</sup> The Chamber notes that while the MUP Report states that an autopsy of the body was ordered and subsequently carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 2 April 2005, the autopsy report has not been tendered by the Prosecution.

1810. Based on the evidence presented the Chamber finds that Adem Musić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUSIĆ, Ahmet, son of Emin (40, male)

1811. Ahmed Musić, born on 18 July 1952, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing from Keraterm camp. Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. Tracing Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains exhumed from the "Jakarina Kosa" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor and marked "JK-01-208-BP" were identified as being those of Ahmet Musić on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of "JK-01-208-BP" was carried out on 30 October 2001 by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY. The body consisted of no more than the lower body. Although several bone fractures were found, it could not be ascertained whether these were caused ante or post-mortem. In the absence of the upper body as well as specific characteristics of injuries to those bones present, the cause of death could not be ascertained.

1812. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Musić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### NASIĆ, Dijaz, son of Mujo (39, male)

1813. Dijaz Nasić, ICRC number BAZ-111727-01, born on 3 August 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Keraterm, Prijedor, on 23 July 1992. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Dijaz Nasić disappeared from Keraterm camp on 26 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 8 October 2004 and marked "Body No. 270" were identified as being those of Dijaz Nasić on the basis of DNA matching. The same report records that Dijaz Nasić went missing in

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3775</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4170, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4173, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3776</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4178, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3777</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4180, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4181, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3778</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4179, Autopsy Report (confidential).
<sup>3779</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4186, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3780</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4183, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3781</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4185, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4188, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992.<sup>3782</sup> The autopsy of the body carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 13 March 2005, established the cause of death as injuries to the internal organs of the thoracic cage caused by fractures of the ribs.<sup>3783</sup> Remnants of clothing found on Dijaz Nasić were identified as those of blue workman's trousers a black leather belt, and other white clothes.<sup>3784</sup>

1814. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dijaz Nasić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was shot dead, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## NASIĆ, Emsud, son of Mehmed (34, male)

1815. Emsud Nasić, ICRC number BAZ-107544-03, born on 3 February 1958, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List records that Emsud Nasić disappeared in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 30 May 1992. Emsud Nasić, born on 3 February 1958, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor and marked "Body No. 184-DF" were identified as being those of Emsud Nasić on the basis of DNA matching. The location of the staries of the property of the pasis o

1816. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emsud Nasić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### NASIĆ, Mehmed, son of Vahid (31, male)

1817. Mehmed Nasić, ICRC number BAZ-105183-01, born in 1961, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mehmed Nasić as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 22 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 410" were identified as being those of Mehmed

37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3782</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4185, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3783</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4184, Autopsy Report (confidential). <sup>3784</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4184, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3785</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4192, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3786</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4193, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3787</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4194.1, Death Certificate of Emsud Nasić (confidential). <sup>3788</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4191, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3789</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4200, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3790</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4197, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Nasić, born on 22 February 1961, on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 10 April 2005, established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage and right leg. 3792 Remnants of clothing found on Mehmed Nasić were identified as those of a white longsleeved shirt and jeans.<sup>3793</sup>

1818. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Nasić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### NASIĆ, Nijaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1819. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nijaz Nasić's death. 3794 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### NOVKINIĆ, Rahim, son of Ekrem (27, male)

1820. Rahim Novkinić, born in 1965, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Hambarine, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Rahim Novkinić, born on 28 May 1965 in Prijedor, as having gone missing in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. The FIS database states that he died in Hambarine on 20 July 1992. Rahim Novkinić, born on 28 April 1965, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Hambarine, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". 3798 Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body Nr. 430" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Rahim Novkinić. 3799

1821. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rahim Novkinić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### PETROVAC, Elvis, son of Husein (20, male)

1822. Elvis Petrovac, ICRC number BAZ-104569-01, born in 1971, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on an unspecified date. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3791</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4198, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4196, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 - September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3792</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4201, Autopsy Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4201, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3794</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4203 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3795</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4207, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3796</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4208, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3797</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4210, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3798 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4210.1, Death Certificate of Rahim Novkinić

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3799 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4206, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Elvis Petrovac, born on 21 November 1971, disappeared in Rakovčani on 20 July 1992. Pursuant to the Report on the Identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, partial human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 261" were identified as being those of Elvis Petrovac on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 20 February 2005. The body's head, hands, and the left foot were missing. The cause of death was established as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage. 3803

1823. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Elvis Petrovac is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### RAMČEVSKI, Rifet, son of Hasib (38, male)

1824. Rifet Ramčevski, born in 1954, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. Rifet Ramčevski, born on 31 March 1954, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm Camp', Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. Human remains exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 109-DF" were identified as being those of Rifet Ramčevski on the basis of DNA matching.

1825. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rifet Ramčevski is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## RAMČILOVIĆ, Sulejman, son of Smajo (53, male)

1826. Sulejman Ramčilović, ICRC number BAZ-110510-01, born in 1939, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Redak-

Rifet Ramčevski.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3800</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4217, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3801</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4216, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3802</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4215, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4214, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3803</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4213, Autopsy Report (confidential).
 <sup>3804</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4219, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential). 3805 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4221.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that a number of death certificates issued in the names of various persons were uploaded under the hyperlink for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3806</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4221, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

Ljubia" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 31 May 2005. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Sulejman Ramčilović disappeared in Rakovčani, Prijedor, on 20 July 1992. The Prosecution submits a number of death certificates, none of which pertain to Sulejman Ramčilović. Human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Redak Ljubia" mass grave in Prijedor and marked "Rdk.Lj.020605-8-LF" were identified as being those of Sulejman Ramčilović on the basis of DNA matching. The autopsy of the body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 17 September 2005 and established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the head, lumbar section of the spine, pelvis, and right thighbone.

1827. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Ramčilović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### RAMULIĆ, Dževad, son of Nail (38, male)

1828. Dževad Ramulić, born on 2 May 1954, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor, 'Keraterm Camp'". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3812

1829. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### RAMULIĆ, Emdžad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1830. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Emdžad Ramulić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### RAMULIĆ, Enes, son of Uzeir (25, male)

1831. Enes Ramulić, born on 23 January 1967, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rakovčani, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "21 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3814

1832. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Enes Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3807</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4223, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3808</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4225, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3809</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4226.1, Death Certificates (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3810</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4224, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3811</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4226.2, Autopsy Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the autopsy report states that Sulejman Ramčilović was born on 15 January 1939.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3812</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4228.1, Death Certificates (confidential). The Chamber notes that a number of death certificates issued in the names of various persons were uploaded under the hyperlink for Dževad Ramulić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3813</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4230 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3814</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4232.1, Death Certificate of Enes Ramulić (confidential).

### RAMULIĆ, Uzeir, <sup>3815</sup> son of Derviš (54, male)

- 1833. Uzeir Ramulić, born on 5 January 1938, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rakovčani, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "21 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3816
- 1834. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Uzeir Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### RAMULIĆ, Kasim, son of Refik (24, male)

- 1835. Kasim Ramulić, born on 29 January 1968, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Rakovčani". The date and time of death are recorded as "19 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3817
- 1836. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Kasim Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### RAMULIĆ, Mustafa, son of Jasim (27, male)

- 1837. Mustafa Ramulić, born on 12 February 1965, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3818
- 1838. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## RAMULIĆ, Nedžad, son of Ibrahim (30, male)

- 1839. Nedžad Ramulić, born on 27 February 1962, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3819
- 1840. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## RAMULIĆ. Samir, son of Mustafa (27, male)

1841. Samir Ramulić, born on 12 February 1965, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3815</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List, this person's name is listed as RAMOLIĆ ("RAMULIĆ"), Huzeir. However, the only documentation adduced in support of this person having been killed in Keraterm Room 3

records his name as "Ramulić, Uzeir".

Ramulić, Uzeir".

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4234.1, Death Certificate of Uzeir Ramulić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

Real P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4238.1, Death Certificate of Kasim Ramulić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

Real P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4242.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Ramulić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3819 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4240.1, Death Certificate of Nedžad Ramulić (confidential).

Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3820

1842. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Ramulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### REKANOVIĆ, Smajil, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1843. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Smajil Rekanović's death.3821 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### RIZVANOVIĆ, Mesud, son of Mustafa (age unknown, male)

1844. Mesud Rizvanović is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. His date of birth is not recorded. The place of death is also not specified. The date and time of death are entered as "22 November 1996". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3822

1845. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Rizvanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SADIĆ, Asmir, son of Alija (22, male)

1846. Asmir Sadić, born in 1970, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm on 25 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor on 14 August 2004. 3823 Asmir Sadić, born on 14 June 1970, is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3824

1847. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Asmir Sadić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# SELIMOVIĆ, Bajazid, son of Ismet (26, male)

1848. Bajazid Selimović, born on 18 July 1966, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Tukovi". The date and time of death are recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3825

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3820</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4242.1, Death Certificate of Samir Ramulić (confidential). <sup>3821</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4244 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3822</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4246.1, Death Certificate of Mesud Rizvanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3823 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4249, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3824</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4249.1, Death Certificate of Asmir Sadić (confidential). <sup>3825</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4251.1, Death Certificate of Bajazid Selimović (confidential).

1849. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Bajazid Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Fuad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1850. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Fuad Selimović's death. Recordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SELIMOVIĆ, Nedžad, son of Ismet (18, male)

1851. Nedžad Selimović, born on 25 August 1973, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "'Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "5 August 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3827

1852. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Nihad, son of Safet (34, male)

1853. The Chamber has received an autopsy report for Nihad Selimović issued by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office on 25 May 2006. According to this report, human remains exhumed from the "Dizdarev Potok" mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 8 September 2005 and marked "Body No. 8" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Nihad Selimović, born on 16 September 1957. 3828 The report further states that the autopsy of the body was carried out on 24 September 2005 and 20 June 2006. The cause of death was determined as a penetrating wound to the head. A deformed bullet and two cartridges were also found on Nihad Selimović's remains. At the time of his death, Nihad Selimović wore a multicoloured track-suit top and jeans. 3829

1854. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Selimović died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### SELIMOVIĆ, Said, father's name unknown (age unknown)

1855. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Said Selimović's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SELIMOVIĆ, Sead, son of Hamed (38, male)

1856. Sead Selimović, born on 9 March 1954, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "25 July 1992". The Chamber has received an autopsy report for Sead Selimović issued by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office on 3 August 2006. According to this report, human remains exhumed from the "Dizdarev Potok" mass

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3826</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4253 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3827</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4255.1, Death Certificate of Nedžad Selimović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3828</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4257.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3829</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4257.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3830</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4259 (confidential).

grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 8 September 2005 and marked "Body No. 7" were, on the basis of DNA matching, identified as being those of Sead Selimović, born on 9 March 1954. The report further states that the autopsy of the body was carried out on 24 September 2005. The cause of death was determined as penetrating wounds to the neck and lumbar part of the spine. 3832

1857. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sead Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Velid, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1858. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Velid Selimović's death. Recordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SIKIRIĆ, Fadil, son of Mehmed (41, male)

1859. Fadil Sikirić, ICRC number BAZ-109857-01, born in 1950, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Omarska camp on 23 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site in the municipality of Prijedor. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with the BiH Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List in respect of Fadil Sikirić's identifying information as well as the place of his disappearance, but records the date of his disappearance as 25 July 1992. Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains marked "Body No. 014" were identified as being those of Fadil Sikirić, born on 3 December 1950 on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Emsud Ališković went missing in Omarska camp on 23 July 1992. The autopsy carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 15 February 2005, established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the head, rib cage, and left leg. Sassa

1860. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Sikirić died a violent death. However, in the absence of evidence that he was detained at Keraterm camp, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### SIKIRIĆ, Ferid, son of Hamdija (age unknown, male)

1861. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ferid Sikirić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3831</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4261.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>3832</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4261.1, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3833</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4263 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3834</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4267, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3835</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4266, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3836</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4270, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4269, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3837</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4270, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3838</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4268, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3839</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4271.1 (confidential).

#### SIKIRIĆ, Mehmedalija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1862. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mehmedalija Sikirić's death. <sup>3840</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SIKIRIĆ, Muharem, son of Husnija (24, male)

1863. Muharem Sikirić, born in 1968, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the "Stari Kevljani" grave site on 14 August 2004. Report on the Identification of bodies exhumed from the Stari Kevljani mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 30 June 2005, human remains exhumed among those of other persons from the "Stari Kevljani" mass grave and marked "Body No. 319" were identified as being those of Muharem Sikirić on the basis of DNA matching. According to this report, Muharem Sikirić went missing from Keraterm camp on 25 July 1992. The autopsy of the body was carried out by the medical expert of the Bihać Prosecutor's Office, Dr. Miroslav Rakočević on 26 February 2005. The cause of death could not be determined.

1864. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Muharem Sikirić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to the cause of death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was among the men killed in Room 3, Keraterm camp, on or about 24 to 25 July 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIKIRIĆ, Smajil, son of Mehmed (61, male)

1865. Smajil Sikirić, born on 4 May 1931, is listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is recorded as "Keraterm' Camp, Prijedor". The date and time of death are recorded as "7 July 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of death. 3844

1866. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Smajil Sikirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Muharem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1867. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Muharem Sivac's death.<sup>3845</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3840</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4273.1 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3841</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4278, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3842</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4277, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Stari Kevljani (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4276, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3843</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4275, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3844</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4281.1, Death Certificate of Smajil Sikirić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3845</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 4283 (confidential).

#### (f) Korićanske Stijene

#### ŽERIĆ, Ferid, son of Karanfil (33, male)

1868. Ferid Žerić, ICRC number BAZ-104318-02, born on 14 May 1959, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozaruša. The Missing Person Statement of the Sanski Most police states that Ferid Žerić went missing on 21 August 1992 and was last seen at "Trnopolje camp (Vlašić)". The circumstances of his disappearance are listed as "taken out from the convoy in Vlašić and executed along with 220 camp prisoners". The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ferid Žerić on the basis of DNA matching. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ferid Žerić on the basis of DNA matching.

1869. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of disappearance listed for Ferid Žerić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the other evidence presented to the Chamber. However, based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ferid Žerić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### **ŽERIĆ**, Refik, son of Idriz (age unknown, male)

1870. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Refik Žerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ŽERIĆ, Sakib, son of Idriz (25, male)

1871. Decision No. R-238/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 8 July 1997, declared that Sakib Žerić, born on 16 June 1967, died on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Sakib Žerić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. Prosecution allegation.

1872. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sakib Žerić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3846</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5221, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3847</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5220, Missing Person Statement (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3848</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5218, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3849</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5216, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 10 December 2009, and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3850</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5222 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3851</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5226, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 8 July 1997 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 3852 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5228, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 23 December 2009, 11 January 2010, 21 January 2010, 25 February 2010, and 4 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3853</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 42, "ordinal number" 5225.

#### ŠABANOVIĆ, Almir, son of Rušid<sup>3854</sup> (18, male)

1873. Almir Šabanović, ICRC number BAZ-107610-01, born on 13 July 1974, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3855 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3856 Almir Šabanović is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996" and the place of death as "Smetovi, Vlašić". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 3857

1874. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Almir Šabanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ŠLJIVAR, Omer, son of Halil (29, male)**

1875. Omer Šljivar, ICRC number BAZ-109919-01, born on 29 June 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Omarska.<sup>3858</sup> The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3859 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Omer Šljivar on the basis of DNA matching. 3860

1876. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the places Omer Šljivar went missing as recorded in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in all other evidence presented in relation to Omer Šljivar. On the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Omer Šljivar's place of death, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that Omer Šljivar died at Korićanske Stijene.

1877. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Omer Śljivar was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### ŠLJIVAR, Omer, son of Imšir (31, male)

1878. Omer Šljivar, born on 3 December 1960, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3861

1879. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Omer Šljivar was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3854</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted this individual's father's name in the Proof of Death Database as "Rešid" rather than "Rušid".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3855</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5231, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3856</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5233, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3857</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5234.1, Death Certificate of Almir Šabanović (confidential). <sup>3858</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5237, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3859</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5240, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3860</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5238, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 8 November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3861</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5243, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

#### ĐONLAGIĆ, Emir, son of Kemal (18, male)

1880. Emir Đonlagić, ICRC number BAZ-100024-01, born on 15 October 1973, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Official BiH Report documents Emir Đonlagić as one of the victims of the incident that took place on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. The Prosecution tenders the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, which states that human remains have been identified as those of Emir Đonlagić on the basis of DNA matching. The location where the human remains were exhumed from is illegible. Thus, the Chamber will not consider this report in relation to Emir Đonlagić.

1881. Based on all the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Emir Đonlagić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ĐONLAGIĆ, Senad, son of Adem (26, male)

1882. Senad Đonlagić, ICRC number BAZ-206457, born on 10 February 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as one of the prisoners visited by the ICRC in Manjača camp. <sup>3866</sup> The Official BiH Report lists Senad Đonlagić as one of the victims of the incident that took place on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. <sup>3867</sup>

1883. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Đonlagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ĆUSTIĆ, Hilmija, son of Mehmed (32, male)

1884. Hilmija Ćustić, ICRC number BAZ-107541-01, born on 26 January 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Hilmija Ćustić on the basis of DNA matching.

1885. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Hilmija Ćustić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3862</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5247, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3863</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5246, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3864</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5250, Official BiH Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3865</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5249, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 September 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3866</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5253, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3867</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5254, Official BiH Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3868</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5258, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders this document in the Proof of Death Database under the name "Lower Court Declaration of Death".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3869</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5257, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders this document in the Proof of Death Database under the name "Lower Court Declaration of Death".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3870</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5260, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 January 2010 (confidential).

#### **ĆUSTIĆ, Ismet, son of Mehmed (23-24, male)**

1886. Ismet Ćustić, ICRC number BAZ-107540-01, born on 27 August 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3871 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Ismet Ćustić, born on 21 July 1968, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Becision No. R-987/96, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 21 December 1996, declared that Ismet Ćustić, born on 21 July 1968, died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. 3873 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ismet Ćustić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3874</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 3875

1887. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Ismet Ćustić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the other evidence presented to the Chamber. The Chamber considers the difference in dates to be a clerical error, as other identifying information is consistent among the sources.

1888. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ismet Ćustić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Besim, son of Smail (40, male)

1889. Besim Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-100028-01, born on 19 August 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3876 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3877 Decision No. R-16/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 18 March 1999, declared that Besim Čaušević died on 22 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain.<sup>3878</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Besim Čaušević on the basis of DNA matching. 3879 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 3880

1890. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Besim Čaušević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

444 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3871</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5263, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3872</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5267, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5265, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 21 December 1996 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3874</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5264, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3875</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5261.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3876</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5273, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is recorded as "Smajo" rather than "Smail".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3877</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5269, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3878</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5271, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 18 March 1999

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

Reports Submitted, (confidential).

Reports Submitted, (confidential). 21 January 2010 and 4 February 2010 (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5268.

### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Eniz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1891. Eniz Čaušević is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3881

1892. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Eniz Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### <u>ČAUŠEVIĆ, Mirzet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)</u>

1893. Mirzet Čaušević is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3882

1894. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirzet Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ČAUŠEVIĆ, Nedžad, son of Smail (27, male)

1895. Nedžad Čaušević, ICRC number BAZ-100028-02, born on 10 December 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in July 1992 in Kozaruša. Decision No. R-15/09, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 18 March 1999, declared that Nedžad Čaušević died on 22 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Nedžad Čaušević went missing on 25 May 1992 in Kozarac. The FIS database states that Nedžad Čaušević died in Prijedor on 28 May 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Stari Kevljani have been identified as those of Nedžad Čaušević on basis of DNA matching. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation.

1896. However, based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Nizvet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1897. Nizvet Čaušević is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3889

1898. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nizvet Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3881</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5276, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3882</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5278, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3883</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5280, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Dead (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is recorded as "Smajo" rather than "Smail". <sup>3884</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5285, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 18 March 1999 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

3885 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5284, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-1819-D000-1819 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3886</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5281, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3887</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5286, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 10 October 2005 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3888</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5279.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3889</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5289, UN IPTF (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's name is recorded as "Nisvet" rather than "Nizvet".

### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Said, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1899. Said Čaušević is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Defence submits that Said Čaušević was a Croatian defender. The Chamber has received evidence that the Croatian government stated that in the absence of further identifying information in respect of this individual, it was unable to confirm whether he was a Croatian defender or not. 3892

1900. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Said Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ČAUŠEVIĆ, Sanel, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1901. Sanel Čaušević is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3893

1902. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sanel Čaušević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### <u>ČOLIĆ, Edin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)</u>

1903. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Colić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **ČOLIĆ**, Hamdija, son of Muho (30, male)

1904. Hamdija Čolić, ICRC number BAZ-100024-02, born on 3 December 1961, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The BiH Police Report No. 21-15/04-674/96, of 15 July 1996, states that Hamdija Čolić was one of the victims of the incident that took place on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. Hamdija Čolić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

1905. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of death listed for Hamdija Čolić in the death certificate and all other evidence presented to the Chamber. On the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Hamdija Čolić, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that he died at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992.

1906. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hamdija Čolić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3890</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5291, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3891</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3892</sup> 1D795, Response by Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2011, p. 2.

<sup>3893</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5293, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3894</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5294 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3895</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5301, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3896</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5298, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3897</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5297, BiH Police Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3898</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5301.1, Death Certificate of Hamdija Čolić (confidential).

#### ČOLIĆ, Hasan, son of Džemal (21, male)

1907. Hasan Čolić, born on 15 May 1971, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Hasan Čolić on the basis of DNA matching. 3900

1908. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Hasan Čolić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ČORALIĆ**, Emin, son of Hasan (41, male)

1909. Emin Čoralić, ICRC number BAZ-104646-01, born on 26 October 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Rajkovići. 3901 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists Emin Čoralić, born on 26 September 1950, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The BiH Police Report No. 21-15/04-674/96, of 15 July 1996, states that Emin Čoralić was one of the victims of the incident that took place on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. Emin Čoralić, born on 26 October 1950, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 August 1992" and the place of death as "unknown". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.

1910. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emin Čoralić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ADŽEMOVIĆ, Sabahudin, son of Dževad (20, male)

1911. Sabahudin Adžemović, ICRC number BAZ-108950-01, born on 17 January 1972, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 25 May 1992 in Kozarac. The BiH Police Report No. 21-15/04-674/96, of 15 July 1996, states that Sabahudin Adžemović was one of the victims of the incident that took place on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 3906

1912. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabahudin Adžemović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3899</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5304, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is listed as "Đemal" rather than "Džemal".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3900</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5305, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 27 June 2008 (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is listed as "Djemal" rather than "Džemal".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3901</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5311, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3902</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5309, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3903</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5308, BiH Police Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3904</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5312.1, Death Certificate of Emin Čoralić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3905</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5315, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3906</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5314, BiH Police Report (confidential).

#### ALAGIĆ, Edin, son of Mustafa (age unknown, male)

1913. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Alagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIŠIĆ, Armin, son of Hasan (age unknown, male)

- 1914. Armin Ališić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3908
- 1915. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Armin Ališić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIŠIĆ, Edin, son of Mehmed (26, male)

1916. Decision No. R-688/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 3 December 1999, declared that Edin Ališić, born on 16 April 1966, died on 28 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of witnesses that, on 28 August 1992, Edin Ališić left Trnopolje camp in a convoy in the direction of Travnik. The witnesses stated that the convoy was stopped on mount Vlašić and a group of around 250 Bosnian Muslim men were separated from the convoy before it continued its journey towards Travnik. The men who got separated from the convoy, including Edin Ališić, never arrived in Travnik.<sup>3909</sup> The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation.<sup>3910</sup>

1917. While the Chamber notes the difference in the date recorded in the decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, it is nevertheless satisfied that the incident in which Edin Ališić died is the killing incident at Korićanske Stijene charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied, based on the evidence presented, that Edin Ališić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Ilijaz, son of Idriz (21, male)

1918. Ilijaz Alić, ICRC number BAZ-101631-01, born on 12 July 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozaruša. <sup>3911</sup> The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>3912</sup> Ilijaz Alić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

1919. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ilijaz Alić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

448

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3907</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5317 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3908</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5319, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3909</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5322, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 3 December 1999 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3910</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5321.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3911</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5327, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3912</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5329, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3913</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5330.1, Death Certificate of Ilijaz Alić (confidential).

#### ALIĆ, Mujo, son of Alija (28, male)

- 1920. Mujo Alić, ICRC number BAZ-103484-01, born on 14 September 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Ugra, Travnik. 3914 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mujo Alić on the basis of DNA matching. 3915
- 1921. Based on the positive identification of human remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mujo Alić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## ALIĆ, Sejad, 3916 son of Rifet (29, male)

- 1922. Sejad Alić, ICRC number BAZ-104684-01, born on 18 March 1963 in Kozarac, son of Rifet, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. Sead Alić, born in 1970 in Kozarac, son of Rifet, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Sejad Alić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3919</sup>
- 1923. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Sejad Alić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. However, the Chamber is satisfied that the material concerns the same person as all other information provided is otherwise consistent.
- 1924. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sejad Alić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# ANTUNOVIĆ, Dominko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 1925. Dominko Antunović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3920
- 1926. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Dominko Antunović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ANTUNOVIĆ, Ilija, son of Ivo (45, male)

1927. Ilija Antunović, ICRC number BAZ-100007-01, born on 2 September 1946, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 2 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3914</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5333, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3915</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5334, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 17 December 2009 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3916</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted this individual's first name in the Proof of Death Database as "Sead" rather than "Sejad".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3917</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5339, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3918</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5342, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5337, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 24 December 2009, 21 January 2010, and 4 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3920</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5344, UN IPTF (confidential).

area.<sup>3921</sup> Ilija Antunović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992.<sup>3922</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Ilija Antunović was a soldier engaged in the HVO Armed Forces for Kotor Varoš from 22 June to 9 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records that he went missing on 9 August 1992 near Kneževo, when he was captured by the VRS and taken to an unknown location.<sup>3923</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ilija Antunović on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3924</sup>

1928. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of disappearance recorded for Ilija Antunović. However, based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ilija Antunović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### ANTUNOVIĆ, Janko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1929. Janko Antunović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 3925

1930. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Janko Antunović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ARIFAGIĆ, Enver, son of Avdo (48, male)

1931. Enver Arifagić, ICRC number BAZ-110115-03, born on 19 June 1944, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Enver Arifagić on the basis of DNA matching. Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Enver Arifagić on the basis of DNA matching.

1932. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Enver Arifagić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### ARIFAGIĆ, Mehmed, son of Ekrem (19, male)

1933. Mehmed Arifagić, ICRC number BAZ-110115-01, born on 3 May 1973, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. <sup>3929</sup> The List

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3921</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5349, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3922</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5347, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3923</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 22 (confidential).
<sup>3924</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5348, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,
5 June 2006 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3925</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5351, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3926</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5354, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is listed as "Avdija" rather than "Avdo".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3927</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5353, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3928</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5356, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 January 2010, 21 January 2010, 18 February 2010, and 15 April 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3929</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5362, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mehmed Arifagić on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3931</sup>

1934. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Arifagić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### AVDIĆ, Mehmed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1935. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3932 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Rasim, son of Suleiman (53, male)

1936. Rasim Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-107611-01, born on 12 April 1939, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3933 Decision No. R-148/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 10 May 1997, declared that Rasim Avdić, born on 10 April 1939, died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 3934 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Rasim Avdić on the basis of DNA matching. 3935 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 3936

1937. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Rasim Avdić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in the decision issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most. The Chamber considers the difference in dates to be a clerical error, as other identifying information in the record is consistent.

1938. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rasim Avdić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## AVDIĆ, Sead, son of Ibrahim (age unknown, male)

1939. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 3937 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Avidé was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3930</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5361, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3931</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5359, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 January 2010, and (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3932</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5364 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3933</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5369, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is recorded as "Suljo" rather than "Suleiman".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3934</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5368, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 10 May 1997 (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is recorded as "Suljo" rather than "Sulejman". <sup>3935</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5367, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>24</sup> November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3936</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3937</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5372 (confidential).

#### AVDIĆ, Sejad, son of Ibrahim (37, male)

1940. Decision No. R-144/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 14 April 1997, declared that Sejad Avdić, born on 11 January 1955, died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Sanski Most court based its finding on the statement of a witness and other evidence that Sejad Avdić left Trnopolje camp in a convoy and disappeared on Mount Vlašić. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. <sup>3939</sup>

1941. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sejad Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BAŠIĆ, Nihad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1942. Nihad Bašić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Defence submits that Nihad Bašić was a Croatian defender. The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain whether or not this person was a Croatian defender. The statement of the Republic of Croatian whether or not this person was a Croatian defender.

1943. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Bašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BAŠIĆ, Rasim, son of Muharem (51, male)

1944. Rasim Bašić, ICRC number BAZ-107945-01, born on 18 July 1941, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 20 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. Decision No. R-3/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 15 April 1998, declared that Rasim Bašić died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 3945

1945. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rasim Bašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## BAHONJIĆ, Esad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1946. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Bahonjić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3938</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5377, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 14 April 1997 (confidential).
<sup>3939</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3939</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 43, "ordinal number" 5375.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3940</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5379, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3941</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 44, "ordinal number" 5378.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3942</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3943</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5384, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3944</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5383, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 15 April 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3945</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 44, "ordinal number" 5380.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3946</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5385 (confidential).

#### BAJRIĆ, Šerif, son of Ramo (50, male)

1947. Šerif Bairić, ICRC number BAZ-105189-01, born on 16 December 1941, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in July 1992 in Čarakovo. 3947 Šerif Bajrić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2001 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Vlašić". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 3948

1948. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BAJRIĆ, Zafir, <sup>3949</sup> son of Šerif (21, male)

1949. Zafir Bajrić, ICRC number BAZ-105189-02, born on 21 July 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in July 1992 in Čarakovo. 3950 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Zafir Bajrić on the basis of DNA matching. 3951

1950. Based on the positive identification of human remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Zafir Bajrić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BALIĆ, Jusuf, son of Selim (41, male)

1951. Jusuf Balić, ICRC number BAZ-107483-01, born on 10 January 1951, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3952 Jusuf Balić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 3953

1952. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jusuf Balić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEŠIĆ, Bećir, son of Adem (61, male)

1953. Bećir Bešić, ICRC number BAZ-111181-03, born on 7 April 1931, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 3954 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3955 Decision No. R-30/2001, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 8 February 2001, declared that Bećir Bešić died on 20 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3947</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5389, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3948</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5391.1, Death Certificate of Šerif Bajrić (confidential). <sup>3949</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted this individual's name in the Proof of Death Database as "Zarif" rather than "Zafir".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3950</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5395, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential). <sup>3951</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5394, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 January 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3952</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5397, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3953</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5399.1, Death Certificate of Jusuf Balić (confidential). <sup>3954</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5403, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3955</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5401, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of witnesses who stated that Bećir Bešić had been taken to Trnopolje camp in May 1992 and left the camp in a convoy to Travnik on 20 August 1992. They stated that he was among the men singled out from the convoy and killed on Mount Vlašić. 3956 The FIS database states that Bećir Bešić died on 20 August 1992 in Travnik. 3957 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.<sup>3958</sup>

1954. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Bećir Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEŠIĆ, Musfafa, son of Ibrahim (48, male)

1955. Mustafa Bešić, born on 10 May 1944, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Decision No. R-615/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 3 November 1998, declared that Mustafa Bešić died on 21 August 1992 in Prijedor. 3960 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mustafa Bešić on the basis of DNA matching. 3961

1956. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Bešić was killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIĆ, Nedžib, <sup>3962</sup> son of Smajo (38, male)

1957. Nedžib Bešić, born on 4 January 1954, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 3963

1958. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžib Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BEŠIĆ, Nermin, son of Izet (22, male)

1959. Nermin Bešić, ICRC number BAS-003583-01, born on 21 September 1969, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died in August 1992 in Vlašić. 3964 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists Nermin Bešić, born on 21 September 1970, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3956</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5405, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 8 February 2001 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5402, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

3958 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 44,

<sup>&</sup>quot;ordinal number" 5400.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3959</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5412, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3960</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5410, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 3 November 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3961</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5409, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 April 2010 (confidential).

The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted this individual's name in the Proof of Death Database as "Neđib" rather than "Nedžib".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3963</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5414.1, Death Certificate of Nedžib Bešić (confidential). <sup>3964</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5418, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Pecision No. R-351/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 31 August 1998, declared that Nermin Bešić, born on 21 September 1969, died on 21 August 1992 near Vlašić. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of witnesses heard who declared that they had been detained together with Nermin Bešić in Trnopolje camp, from where they had been transferred to Travnik. The witnesses stated that Nermin Bešić was taken off the bus and never arrived in Travnik. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Nermin Bešić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation.

1960. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Nermin Bešić in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality and all other evidence presented to the Chamber. The Chamber considers the difference in dates to be a clerical error, as other identifying information in the record is consistent.

1961. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nermin Bešić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠIĆ, Nihad, son of Meho (21, male)

1962. Nihad Bešić, ICRC number BAS-002826-01, born on 22 April 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. He is also listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Nihad Bešić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 3971

1963. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Bešić was killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## BEŠIĆ, Sead, son of Adem (age unknown, male)

1964. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Sead Bešić on the basis of DNA matching. 3972

1965. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sead Bešić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3965</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5420, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3966</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5421, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 31 August 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3967</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5417, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 23 December 2009, 21 January 2010, 27 January 2010, 4 March 2010, and 12 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3968</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 44, "ordinal number" 5415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3969</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5426, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3970</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5425, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3971</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5426.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Bešić (confidential).

<sup>3972</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5428, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

24 December 2009 and 27 January 2010 (confidential).

#### BEŠIĆ, Sead, son of Safet (23, male)

1966. Sead Bešić, ICRC number BAZ-107726-01, born on 12 June 1969, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 3974

1967. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠIĆ, Zilhad, son of Hamida (51, male)

1968. Zilhad Bešić, born on 1 March 1941, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Zilhad Bešić, born on 3 January 1941, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Mt. Vlašić". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.

1969. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zilhad Bešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BEŠLAGIĆ, Suad, son of Mustafa (27-37, male)

1970. Suad Bešlagić, ICRC number BAZ-107134-01, born on 23 July 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. <sup>3977</sup> Suad Bešlagić, born on 27 July 1955, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>3978</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Suad Bešlagić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>3979</sup>

1971. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Suad Bešlagić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Chamber considers the difference to be a clerical error, as all other information in the record is otherwise consistent.

1972. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Suad Bešlagić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3973</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5435, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's name is listed as "Sejad" rather than "Sead". <sup>3974</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5432, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3975</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5437, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's father's name is recorded as "Hamid" rather than "Hamida".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3976</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5439.1, Death Certificate of Zilhad Bešić (confidential). <sup>3977</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5443, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3978</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5442, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3979</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5445, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010 and 12 March 2010 (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's name is recorded as "Suvad" rather than "Suad".

#### BERIŠA, Razim, son of Smail (age unknown, male)

1973. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Razim Beriša was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BESIĆ, Beso, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1974. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Beso Besić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BLAŽEVIĆ, Šerif, son of Suljo (45, male)

1975. Šerif Blažević, born on 9 March 1947, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. He is also named in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. Serif Blažević, born on 9 April 1947, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 3984

1976. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šerif Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BLAŽEVIĆ, Šero, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1977. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Šero Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BLAŽEVIĆ, Ahmet, son of Hamdija (29, male)

1978. Ahmet Blažević, ICRC number BAZ-110434-01, born on 30 September 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ahmet Blažević on the basis of DNA matching. He is also september 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. He is also listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992.

1979. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Blažević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3980</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5446 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3981</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5448 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3982</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5454, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3983</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5252, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3984</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5454.1, Death Certificate of Šerif Blažević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3985</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5455 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3986</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5462, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3987</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5461, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3988</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5458, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 24 November 2003 and 27 August 2004 (confidential).

#### BLAŽEVIĆ, Elvir, son of Avdo (20, male)

1980. Elvir Blažević, ICRC number BAZ-108154-01, born on 8 August 1972, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 3989

1981. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Elvir Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BLAŽEVIĆ, Esad, son of Seifija (25, male)

1982. Esad Blažević, ICRC number BAZ-111182-01, born on 10 May 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Esad Blažević is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2010 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 3992

1983. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# BLAŽEVIĆ, Fadil, son of Ibrahim (39, male)

1984. Fadil Blažević, ICRC number BAZ-108864-02, born on 17 December 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. Fadil Blažević, born on 22 December 1952, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Fadil Blažević on the basis of DNA matching.

1985. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Fadil Blažević in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Chamber considers the difference to be a clerical error, as all other information in the record is otherwise consistent.

1986. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Fadil Blažević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3989</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5464, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).
<sup>3990</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5469, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3990</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5469, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3991</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5471, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3992</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5471.1, Death Certificate of Esad Blažević (confidential). <sup>3993</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5474, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3994</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5475, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3995</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5477, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 23 December 2009 and 14 January 2010 (confidential).

#### BLAŽEVIĆ, Fikret, son of Himzo (29, male)

1987. Fikret Blažević, ICRC number BAZ-104491-01, born on 2 November 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 26 May 1992 in Kozarac. 3996 Fikret Blažević, born on 4 November 1962, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Fikret Blažević on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>3998</sup>

1988. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Fikret Blažević in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Chamber considers the difference to be a clerical error, as all other information in the record is otherwise consistent.

1989. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Fikret Blažević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### BLAŽEVIĆ, Džemal or Ćamil, son of Sejdo (21, male)

1990. Džemal Blažević, born on 13 September 1970, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2009 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 3999 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Džemal or Ćamil Blažević on the basis of DNA matching. 4000

1991. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Džemal or Ćamil Blažević, son of Sejdo, was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## BLAŽEVIĆ, Mustafa, son of Edhem (28, male)

1992. Mustafa Blažević, born on 25 July 1964, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4001 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mustafa Blažević on the basis of DNA matching. 4002

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3996</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5484, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3997</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5481, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3998</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5482, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010, and 12 March 2010 (confidential).

P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5486.1, Death Certificate of Džemal Blažević (confidential).

4000 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5486, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>14</sup> November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4001</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5490, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5489, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 2 March 2004 (confidential).

1993. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Blažević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### BLAŽEVIĆ, Sead, son of Šemso (18, male)

1994. Sead Blažević, born on 14 September 1973, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4003 He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4004

1995. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BLAŽEVIĆ, Suad, son of Šemso (17, male)

1996. Suad Blažević, born on 14 September 1974, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4005 He is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4006

1997. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Suad Blažević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### BRKIĆ, Ako, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

1998. Ako Brkić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4007

1999. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ako Brkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### BRKIĆ, Nermin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2000. Nermin Brkić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4008

2001. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nermin Brkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### CEJVAN, Zijad, son of Ibrahim (25, male)

2002. Zijad Cejvan, ICRC number BAZ-109326-01, born on 25 July 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 15 August 1992 in Dabovci. 4009 The Report of

<sup>4003</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5493.1, Death Certificate of Sead Blažević (confidential). The Chamber notes that this individual's name is listed as "Sejad" rather than "Sead". 4004 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5493, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4005</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5496.1, Death Certificate of Suad Blažević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4006</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5495, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4007</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5499, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4008</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5501, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4009</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5503, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Zijad Cejvan on the basis of DNA matching.<sup>4010</sup>

2003. Based on the positive identification of human remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Zijad Cejvan was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### CERIĆ, Adem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2004. Adem Cerić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4011 The Defence submits that Adem Cerić was a Croatian defender. 4012 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 4013

2005. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Adem Cerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# CERIĆ, Sulejman, son of Sadik (51, male)

2006. Sulejman Cerić, ICRC number BAS-000006-01, born on 10 April 1941, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 9 July 1992 in Prijedor. 4014

2007. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Cerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### CIRKIN, Sulejman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2008. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sulejman Cirkin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# CRLJENKOVIĆ, Muharem, son of Šaban (age unknown, male)

2009. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Muharem Crljenković on the basis of DNA matching. 4016

2010. Based on the positive identification of human remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Muharem Crljenković was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4010</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5504, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 14 November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4011</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5506, UN IPTF (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 45, "ordinal number" 5505.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4013</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4014</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5508, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5511 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4016</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5514, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 4 December 2009, 14 January 2010, 27 January 2010, and 18 February 2010 (confidential).

#### CRNIĆ, Uzeir, son of Derviš (55, male)

- 2011. Uzeir Crnić, ICRC number BAZ-110094-01, born on 16 July 1937, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. Uzeir Crnić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "27 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.
- 2012. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Uzeir Crnić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DEDIĆ, Refik, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2013. Refik Dedić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4019
- 2014. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Refik Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DEDIĆ, Vehbija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2015. Vehbija Dedić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4020
- 2016. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Vehbija Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### DERGIĆ, Admir, son of Džemal (21, male)

- 2017. Admir Dergić, ICRC number BAZ-109918-01, born on 4 April 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Admir Dergić on the basis of DNA matching. Dergić on the basis of DNA matching.
- 2018. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Admir Dergić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### DERGIĆ, Sead, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2019. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Dergić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4017</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5517, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4018</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5518.1, Death Certificate of Uzeir Crnić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4019</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5520, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>4020</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5522, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4021</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5524, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4022</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5526, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 18 February 2010, and 4 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4023</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5528 (confidential).

#### DRAGULJIĆ, Anto, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2020. Anto Draguljić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4024
- 2021. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Anto Draguljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURAČAK, Asim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2022. Asim Duračak is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4025
- 2023. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Asim Duračak was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DURATOVIĆ, Fadil, son of Fehim (35, male)

- 2024. Fadil Duratović, ICRC number BAS-000858-01, born on 7 September 1956, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Fadil Duratović on the basis of DNA matching.
- 2025. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Fadil Duratović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### DUROČAK, Abaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2026. Abaz Duročak is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4029
- 2027. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Abaz Duročak was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# DUROČAK, Ešef, 4030 father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2028. Ešef Duročak is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4031
- 2029. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ešef Duročak was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4024</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5531, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4025</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5535, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4026</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5540, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4027</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5538, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4028</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5539, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 14 January 2010, 4 February 2010, and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4029</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5543, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4030</sup> The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List, this person was listed as "Esef" rather than "Ešef" Duročak.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4031</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5546, UN IPTF (confidential).

#### EGIĆ, Mersud, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2030. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4032 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mersud Egić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Šaban, son of Šerif (42, male)

2031. Šaban Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-111073-01, born on 29 May 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4033 He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4034 Decision No. R-206/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 1 July 1998, declared that Šaban Elezović died on 21 August 1992 near Travnik. The Sanski Most court based its finding on the statements of two witnesses who stated that Šaban Elezović was detained in Trnopolje camp, which he left in a convoy to Travnik on 21 August 1992. According to the witnesses, he never arrived in Travnik. 4035 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Šaban Elezović on the basis of DNA matching. 4036 The FIS database states that Šaban Elezović died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. 4037 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 4038

2032. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Šaban Elezović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Edin, son of Muharem (23, male)

2033. Edin Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-102731-01, born on 21 September 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozarac. 4039 He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4040 Decision No. R-329/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 5 July 1999, declared that Edin Elezović died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of two witnesses who, together with Edin and Emir Elezović, had been detained in Trnopolje camp. According to the witnesses, a convoy of prisoners departed Trnopolje camp towards Travnik on 21 August 1992. Edin Elezović and his brother Emir were among the men travelling in the convoy. They were separated from the other men on Mount Vlašić and killed. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains of two individuals found at Korićanske Stijene have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4032</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5548 (confidential).

<sup>4033</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5552, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4034 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5554, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4035</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5551, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 1 July 1998 (confidential).
4036 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5555, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>12</sup> March 2010, , and 15 April 2010 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5556, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4038 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 45, "ordinal number" 5550.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4039</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5560, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5561, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4041</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5562, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 5 July 1999 (confidential).

identified as those of Edin or Emir Elezović on the basis of DNA matching. The DNA analysis could not establish which body belonged to which brother. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 4043

2034. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Elvis, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2035. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Elvis Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ELEZOVIĆ, Emir, son of Muharem (22, male)

2036. Emir Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-108314-01, born on 14 January 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 7 July 1992 in Trnopolje. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Decision No. R-330/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 5 July 1999, declared that Emir Elezović died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of two witnesses who, together with Emir and his brother Edin Elezović, had been detained in Trnopolje camp. According to the witnesses, a convoy of prisoners departed Trnopolje camp towards Travnik on 21 August 1992. Emir Elezović and his brother Edin were among the men travelling in the convoy. They were separated from the other men on Mount Vlašić and killed. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains of two individuals found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Edin or Emir Elezović on the basis of DNA matching. The DNA analysis could not establish which body belonged to which brother. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation.

2037. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Emir Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Kasim (45, male)

2038. Fahrudin Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-206669-05, born on 16 June 1947, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. He is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4042</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5564, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, D000-2216-D000-2216, 14 November 2003, and 19 April 2004 (confidential). The remains were labeled KRI-08/03 No. 46 and KRI-08/03-No. 136, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4043</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 45, "ordinal number" 5558.

<sup>4044</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5566 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4045</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5574, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4046</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5573, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4047</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5569, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 5 July 1999 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4048 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5571, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 14 November 2003 and 19 April 2004 (confidential). The remains were labeled KRI-08/03 No. 46 and KRI-08/03-No. 136, respectively.

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 45, "ordinal number" 5568.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4050</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5577, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4051 Fahrudin Elezović, born on 5 June 1947, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.4052

2039. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fahrudin Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Hajrudin, son of Salih (45, male)

2040. Hajrudin Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-103179-01, born on 27 June 1947, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 9 July 1992 in Trnopolie. 4053 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4054 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Hajrudin Elezović. 4055

2041. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Elezović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## ELEZOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Hajrudin (21, male)

2042. Jasmin Elezović, ICRC number BAZ-103179-02, born on 5 March 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 9 July 1992 in Trnopolje. 4056 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4057 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tenders a DNA analysis report issued by the International Commission for Missing Persons in support of its allegation. The document does, however, not pertain to Jasmin Elezović. 4058 Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard the information.

2043. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### ELEZOVIĆ, Mehmed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2044. Mehmed Elezović is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4059

<sup>4051</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5576, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5579.1, Death Certificate of Fahrudin Elezović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
4053 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5581, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

4054 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5582, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5584, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 10 November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>4056</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5589, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5588, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5590, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010 (confidential). The report concerns a certain Osman Hasanagić, son of Hasan.

<sup>4059</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5593, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

2045. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### ELEZOVIĆ, Midhad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2046. Midhad Elezović is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4060

2047. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Midhad Elezović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## EMANOVIĆ, Samir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2048. Samir Emanović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4061

2049. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Emanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### FAZLIĆ, Admir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2050. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Admir Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Almir, son of Refik (32, male)

2051. Almir Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-102419-01, born on 10 February 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Kozarac. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Decision No. R-220/2000, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 6 June 2000, declared that Almir Fazlić died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the statements of witnesses who travelled in Trnopolje-Travnik convoy together with Almir Fazlić on 21 August 1992. According to these witnesses the convoy stopped at Mount Vlašić where around 250 people, including Almir Fazlić, were taken off the buses and lorries and left behind. Almir Fazlić never arrived in Travnik. The FIS database states that Almir Fazlić died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation.

2052. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almir Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4060</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5597, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4061</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5601, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4062</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5602.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4063</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5611, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4064</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5606, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4065</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5609, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 6 June 2000 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4066</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5605, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4067</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 45, "ordinal number" 5604.

#### FAZLIĆ, Edin, son of Hilmija (29, male)

2053. Edin Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-109921-01, born on 25 April 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. Thus, the Chamber will not consider this report in relation to Edin Fazlić. Edin Fazlić, born on 17 April 1963, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August [1992]" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.

2054. The Chamber has received an autopsy report compiled by Dr. Miroslav Rakočević, specialist in forensic medicine and pathology, addressed to the Cantonal Prosecutor's Office in Bihać. The autopsy was carried out on 11 October 2003 at the Šejkovača Hall in Sanski Most by Dr. Rakočević. Human remains marked as "Body No. 2", exhumed from Korićanske Stijene, were identified as being those of Edin Fazlić, born on 17 April 1963, through DNA matching; the autopsy report states that Edin Fazlić was killed at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. The body was found with remains of clothing, a wallet, a packet of razors, and a bank card in the name Edin Fazlić. The autopsy report further states that Edin Fazlić's death was violent and caused by penetrating wounds to the head, neck, thoracic cavity, pelvis, and right upper arm. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains marked "KOR.031003-2" found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Edin Fazlić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Edin Fazlić, born on 17 April 1963, was engaged in the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records the circumstances of the death as "taken prisoner - put to death" and the place of death as "Vlašić". \*4073

2055. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Fazlić died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. On the basis of all the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Emir, son of Muharem (22, male)

2056. Emir Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-110695-01, born on 30 May 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 25 August 1992 in Trnopolje. Hemir Fazlić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence that Emir Fazlić was engaged in the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992. The record of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4068</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5614, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Dead (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4069</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5613, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4070</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5615.1, Death Certificate of Edin Fazlić (confidential). The Chamber notes that the English translation indicates the year of death as "1963", but it can be seen from the original BCS document that this is a translation error and the correct year of death is "1992".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4071</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5615.2, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4072</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5615, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 6 January 2004 (confidential).

 <sup>4073 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 63 (confidential).
 4074 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5618, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error as regards the entry number within the Table of Pending Tracing Requests as submitted by the Prosecution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4075</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5619.1, Death Certificate of Emir Fazlić (confidential).

BiH Ministry of Justice records the circumstances of the death as "put to death" and the place of death as "Vlašić". 4076

2057. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## FAZLIĆ, Fikret, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2058. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Fazlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Ismet, son of Derviš (age unknown, male)

2059. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ismet Fazlić, son of Derviš on the basis of DNA matching, 4078 The Prosecution has also submitted the ICRC Missing Persons Report in relation to this individual. However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report lists a certain Ismet Fazlić, son of Dedo. 4079 The Chamber is unconvinced that this entry concerns the same person.

2060. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Fazlić, son of Derviš, was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FAZLIĆ, Jasim, son of Ismet (42, male)

2061. Jasim Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-206592-02, born on 31 May 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Jasim Fazlić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. Jasim Fazlić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.

2062. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasim Fazlić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

 <sup>4076 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 64 (confidential).
 4077 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5620.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4078</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5622, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 4 December 2009, 23 December 2009, 14 January 2010, 21 January 2010, and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4079</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5624, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes the clerical error as regards the entry number within the Table of Pending Tracing Requests as submitted by the Prosecution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4080</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5628, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4081</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5630, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4082</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5629, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4083</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5631.1, Death Certificate of Jasim Fazlić (confidential).

#### FAZLIĆ, Mirsad, son of Ismet (29, male)

2063. Mirsad Fazlić, ICRC number BAZ-102348-01, born on 30 July 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Kozarac. Host information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Prosecution submits that the UN IPTF lists Mirsad Fazlić as likely having been killed at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. Host The Chamber notes that the list records that an individual by the name of Jasmin Fazlić and "his brother" were assumed to have been killed in the incident. On this basis, the Chamber is unable to conclude that Mirsad Fazlić was one of the victims. The Defence submits that Mirsad Fazlić was engaged in the Kozarac TO from 1 April 1992 to 21 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice states that he was killed at Vlašić.

2064. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Fazlić disappeared on or about 21 August 1992 in Kozarac. However, in the absence of evidence that Mirsad Fazlić was among the 154 men travelling in the Prijedor-Travnik convoy on 21 August 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FORIĆ, Zijad, son of Rasim (38, male)

2065. Zijad Forić, ICRC number BAZ-100074-01, born on 11 May 1954, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 25 July 1992. Zijad Forić is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths, Municipality of Prijedor. The recorded day, month, year, and place of death, as well as his date of birth are consistent with this information. The FIS database records that Zijad Forić, born on 11 May 1954, died in Trnova, Sanski Most, on 25 July 1992.

2066. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Forić disappeared and died on or about 25 July 1992 in Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Šefik, son of Osman (40, male)

2067. Šefik Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-104578-01, born on 14 April 1957, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 21 August 1992. 4091 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists Šefik Garibović as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. The FIS database records that Šefik Garibović died in Sanski Most on 21 August 1992. Decision No. R-521/99 issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 28 July 2000 declared that Šefik Garibović died at Korićanske

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4084</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5634, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4085</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5635, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4086</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5637, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4087</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 65 (confidential). <sup>4088</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5640, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Tracing Requests (confidential).

4089 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5643.1, Death Certificate of Zijad Forić (confidential).

4090 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5642, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4091 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5645, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4092</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5646, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4093</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5647, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Stijene in Travnik on 21 August 1992. The Sanski Most court based its finding on the testimony of an eye-witness who was also travelling in the Trnopolje-Travnik convoy and saw Šefik Garibović among the men separated from the convoy at Vlašić mountain before they were killed. The Chamber notes that the Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation.

2068. Based on the evidence presented the Chamber finds that Šefik Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Admir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2069. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Admir Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Derviš, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2070. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Derviš Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Esad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2071. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIBOVIĆ, Kemal, son of Hamdija (44, male)

2072. Kemal Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-103723-02, born on 12 May 1948 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as deceased on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. 4099 The FIS database records that Kemal Garibović, born on 12 May 1948, died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Kemal Garibović on the basis of DNA matching. 4101

2073. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Kemal Garibović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4094</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5649, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 31 August 1999 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4095</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5644.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4096</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5652 (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4097</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5654 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4098</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5656 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4099</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5658, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>4100</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5658, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4106</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5660, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 401 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5659, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports, Submitted 12 February 2010 (confidential).

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Midhet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2074. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Midhet Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Mirzet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2075. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirzet Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2076. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GARIBOVIĆ, Samir, son of Sadik (19, male)

2077. Samir Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-100020-02, born on 6 January 1973, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, in August 1992. Decision No. R-224/99 issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 29 June 1999 declared that Samir Garibović died at Mount Vlašić in Travnik on 1 August 1992, The Sanski Most court established that Samir Garibović was detained in Trnopolje camp, from where he set off in a convoy towards Travnik in August 1992. He was then taken off a bus at Mount Vlašić and disappeared. The Chamber notes that the Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation. 4107

2078. While the Chamber notes the difference in the date recorded in the decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, it is nevertheless satisfied that the incident in which Samir Garibović died is the killing incident at Korićanske Stijene charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied, based on the evidence presented, that Samir Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# GARIBOVIĆ, Taib, son of Arif (34, male)

2079. Taib Garibović, ICRC number BAZ-100093-01, born on 6 June 1958 in Trnopolje, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as deceased on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. Taib Garibović is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for Kozarac for the year 2011 of the Municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4102</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5663 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4103</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5666 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4104</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5668 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4105</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5671, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4106</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5672, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 29 June 1999 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4107 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5669.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4108</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5677, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4109</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5677.1, Death Certificate of Taib Garibović (confidential).

2080. Based on the evidence presented the Chamber is unable to find that Taib Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Vasif, son of Atif (age unknown, male)

2081. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Vasif Garibović on the basis of DNA matching. 4110

2082. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vasif Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GARIBOVIĆ, Zuhdija, son of Emin (age unknown, male)

2083. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Zuhdija Garibović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# GRABIĆ, Muhamed, son of Abaz (21, male)

2084. Muhamed Grabić, ICRC number BAZ-105172-01, born on 22 June 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 22 August 1992 in Jajce. The List of Missing People from the area of Prijedor Municipality stated that Muhamed Grabić as went missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Muhamed Grabić on the basis of DNA matching. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Muhamed Grabić on the basis of DNA matching.

2085. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Grabić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## GRABIĆ, Mustafa, son of Meho (23, male)

2086. Mustafa Grabić, ICRC number BAZ-107858-01, born on 2 July 1969, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. This information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, Mustafa Grabić's body was recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site in Prijedor, marked as KRI-08/03 Br. 30, and identified on the basis of DNA matching.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4110</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5681, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 January 2009, (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5682 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4112</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5691, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5687, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4114</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5689, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 January 2010, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4115</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5696, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4116</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5697, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4117</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5694, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 13 October 2003 (confidential).

2087. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the consistent date of disappearance provided and the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Grabić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GRABIĆ, Vejsil, son of Meho (21, male)

2088. Vejsil Grabić, ICRC number BAZ-107858-02, born on 28 March 1971 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as deceased on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. The date and place of birth is identical in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality where Vejsil Grabić is recorded as having gone missing in Prijedor on 21 August 1992. Grabić is also listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. According to the Reports of the International Commission for Missing Persons, Vejsil Grabić's body was exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site in Prijedor and identified on the basis of DNA matching.

2089. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the consistent date of disappearance provided and the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Vejsil Grabić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GUTIĆ, Mirsad, son of Hasan (23, male)

2090. Mirsad Gutić, ICRC number BAZ-104530-01, born on 15 September 1968 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Mirsad Gutić. 4123

2091. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Gutić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## HADŽIĆ, Edhem, son of Ahmet (age unknown, male)

2092. Edhem Hadžić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Chamber has received evidence that Edhem Hadžić was a member of the armed forces from 18 September 1991 to 8 April 1992. The BiH record states that he went missing while on military duty. 4125

2093. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edhem Hadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4118</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5704, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4119</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5701, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4120</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5702, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4121</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5700, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 4 December 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4122</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5707, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>4123</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5706, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 8 November 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4124</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5711, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4125</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 371 (confidential).

#### HANKIĆ, Husein, son of Salih (42, male)

2094. Husein Hankić, ICRC number BAZ-103376-01, born on 4 October 1948, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Husein Hankić on the basis of DNA matching. 4127

2095. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Husein Hankić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HASANAGIĆ, Osman, son of Hasan (35, male)

2096. Osman Hasanagić, ICRC number BAZ-104679-01, born on 2 April 1957 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Osman Hasanagić as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Osman Hasanagić on the basis of DNA matching.

2097. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Osman Hasanagić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## HEGIĆ, Mesud, son of Avdo (38, male)

2098. Mesud Hegić, born on 27 August 1958, in Dera, Prijedor, is listed in the Kozarac Register of Deaths of the municipality of Prijedor for the year 2008. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. His last residence is specified as Dera, Prijedor. <sup>4131</sup> The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tendered the UN IPTF list in respect of two individuals by the name Mesud Hegić. <sup>4132</sup> As the list only records one individual by this name who was purportedly from Kozarac, the Chamber considers that the list does not relate to Mesud Hegić, son of Avdo.

2099. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Avdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HEGIĆ, Mesud, son of Mehmed (34, male)

2100. Mesud Hegić, ICRC number BAS-003729-01, born on 7 November 1957, in Bišcani, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 20 July 1992 in Hegići,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4126</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5714, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4127</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5716, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 12 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>4128</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5720, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

Reports on Death (confidential).

4129 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5723, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4130</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5719, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>4131</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5727.1, Death Certificate of Mesud Hegić (confidential).
4132 See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5725, UN IPTF (confidential) and P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5730, UN IPTF (confidential).

Prijedor. Hegić, born on 7 November 1957 in Bišćani, Prijedor, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "20 July 1992". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. His last address is specified as Bišćani, Prijedor. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution tendered the UN IPTF list in respect of two individuals by the name Mesud Hegić. As the list only records one individual by this name who was purportedly from Kozarac, the Chamber considers that the list does not relate to Mesud Hegić, son of Mehmet.

2101. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Hegić died on 20 July 1992 in Prijedor. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HIRKIĆ, Šefik, son of Husein (26, male)

2102. Šefik Hirkić, ICRC number BAS-002824-01, born in 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing at Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Šefik Hirkić, born on 15 June 1966, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, three bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site in Prijedor were identified as those of Ismet Hirkić, Rifet Hirkić, and Šefik Hirkić, sons of Husein. on the basis of DNA matching. The DNA analysis could not establish which body belonged to which brother.

2103. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is satisfied that the body of Šefik Hirkić was among the bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site. The Chamber thus finds that Šefik Hirkić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HIRKIĆ, Ismet, son of Husein (41, male)

2104. Ismet Hirkić, ICRC number BAZ-110882-01, born 22 August 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Ismet Hirkić as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, three bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site in Prijedor were identified as those of Ismet Hirkić, Rifet Hirkić, and Šefik Hirkić, sons of Husein, on the basis of DNA matching. The DNA analysis could not establish which body belonged to which brother.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4133</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5729, ICRC Missing Persons Report, BiH Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413‡</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5733.1, Death Certificate of Mesud Hegić (confidential) <sup>4135</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5730, UN IPTF (confidential) and P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5725, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4136</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5737, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4137</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5736, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4138</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5739, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 14 November 2003, 4 December 2003, and 19 April 2004 (confidential). In this instance, the DNA could only be matched to the family, not to the specific individuals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4139</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5745, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>4140</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5742, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5744, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 14 November 2003, 4 December 2003, and 19 April 2004 (confidential). In this instance, the DNA could only be matched to the family, not to the specific individuals.

2105. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is satisfied that the body of Šefik Hirkić was among the bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site. The Chamber thus finds that, Ismet Hirkić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HIRKIĆ, Rifet, son of Husein (32, male)

2106. Rifet Hirkić, ICRC number BAZ-106989-01, born 16 February 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić. 4142 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Ismet Hirkić as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4143 The Chamber notes that, according to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, three bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site in Prijedor were identified as those of Ismet Hirkić, Rifet Hirkić, and Šefik Hirkić, sons of Husein on the basis of DNA matching. The DNA analysis could not establish which body belonged to which brother.4144

2107. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is satisfied that the body of Šefik Hirkić was among the bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene site. The Chamber thus finds that Rifet Hirkić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Adnan, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2108. Adnan Hodžić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4145 The Defence submits that Adnan Hodžić was a Croatian defender. 4146 The Chamber notes the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 4147

2109. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Adnan Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Ahmet, son of Husein (age unknown. male)

2110. Ahmet Hodžić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4148 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ahmet Hodžić. The Defence submits that Ahmet Hodžić was a Croatian defender. The Chamber notes the statement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4142</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5750, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Reports on Death (confidential).

4143 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5748, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4144</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5751, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 14 November 2003, 4 December 2003 and 19 April 2004 (confidential). In this instance, the DNA could only be matched to the family, not to the specific individuals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4145</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5753, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4146</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 46 "ordinal number" 5752; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

<sup>1</sup>D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2 (confidential).
4148 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5756, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>4149</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5755, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 24 December 2009 (confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 46 "ordinal number" 5754; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain whether this person was a Croatian defender.4151

2111. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Hodžić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Alen, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2112. Alen Hodžić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4152
- 2113. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to make any finding in relation to this individual.

### HODŽIĆ, Kasim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2114. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4153 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Kasim Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Kemal, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2115. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4154 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Kemal Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HODŽIĆ, Midhet, son of Fehim (26, male)

- 2116. Midhet Hodžić, ICRC number BAZ-106076-01, born on 24 April 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Čarakovo, Prijedor, on 15 July 1992. 4155 According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Midhet Hodžić went missing on 21 August 1992. 4156
- 2117. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Midhet Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# HODŽIĆ, Mirsad, son of Hilmija (34-35, male)

2118. Mirsad Hodžić, born in 1957, is registered in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the

478 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4151</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2 (confidential).
4152 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5758, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4153</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5759 (confidential). <sup>4154</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5761 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4155</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5765, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4156</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5767, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4157</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5772, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mirsad Hodžić on the basis of DNA matching. 4158

2119. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Hodžić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

#### HODŽIĆ, Nihad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2120. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HODŽIĆ, Rasim, son of Redžep (37, male)

- 2121. Rasim Hodžić is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>4160</sup> The Chamber notes that an individual named Rasim Hodžić, born on 25 June 1955 in Prijedor, is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. <sup>4161</sup>
- 2122. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rasim Hodžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### HOPOVAC, Hamed, son of Ćamil (age unknown, male)

2123. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamed Hopovac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HOROVIĆ, Esmud, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2124. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to make any finding in relation to this individual.

# HOROZOVIĆ, Esmud, son of Alija (39, male)

2125. Esmud Horozović, ICRC number BAZ-108213-01, born 12 August 1957, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 on Vlašić mountain. The UN IPTF lists Esmud Horozović as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. Esmud Horozović is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor; the date of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4158</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5771, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 23 December 2009 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4159</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5774 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4160</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5777, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4161</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5778, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4162</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5781 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4163</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5784 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4164</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5789, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4165</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5788, UN IPTF (confidential).

death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4166

2126. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Esmud Horozović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HOROZOVIĆ, Said, son of Alija (24, male)

- 2127. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Said Horozović as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4167 Said Horozović, born on 2 April 1968, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor, the date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4168
- 2128. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Said Horozović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HRNIĆ, Harun, son of Mumin (24, male)

- 2129. Harun Hrnić, ICRC number BAZ-109723-01, born on 28 August 1967 in Čair, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. 4169 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Harun Hrnić as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Chamber notes that according to this list, he was born on 26 August 1967 in Skopje. 4170 The FIS database records that Harun Hrnić, born on 28 August 1967, died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. 4171 The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the date of birth and the date of disappearance registered in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Chamber has received evidence that Harun Hrnić was a member of the Kozarac TO between 1 April 1992 and 21 August 1992 and went missing on 21 August 1992 in Vlašić. 4172
- 2130. Based on the evidence presented, and the absence of evidence that Harun Hrnić was among the 154 men travelling in the Prijedor-Travnik convoy on 21 August 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HRNIĆ, Jasko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2131. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4173 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasko Hrnić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

480 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>4166</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5790.1, Death Certificate of Esmud Horozović (confidential).
4167 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5792, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>4168</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5792.1, Death Certificate of Said Horozović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4169 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5797, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4170</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5799, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5796, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). The Chamber notes that the Defence submits that Harun Hrnić died on 21 August 1992 in Vlašić.

4172 1D834, List of Names from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bosnia Herzegovina, 30 May 2012,

para. 39 (confidential). 4173 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5800 (confidential).

#### HRUSTIĆ, Esad son of Adem (age unknown, male)

- 2132. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Esad Hrustić, born 10 January 1965, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4174
- 2133. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Hrustić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## HRUSTIĆ, Mahmut, son of Sefer (21, male)

- 2134. Mahmut Hrustić, ICRC number BAZ-100130-02, born on 19 December 1971 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić mountain. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mahmut Hrustić on the basis of DNA matching. 4176
- 2135. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mahmut Hrustić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

#### HRUSTIĆ, Maso, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2136. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4177 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Maso Hrustić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### HUSKANOVIĆ, Zijad, son of Muharem (26, male)

- 2137. Zijad Huskanović, ICRC number BAS-002757-01, born on 2 January 1966 in Hrnici, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 19 July 1992. 4178 The Chamber notes that Decision No. R-58/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 10 February 1999, declared that Zijad Huskanović, born on 2 January 1966, died at Vlašić mountain on 28 August 1992, based on the petitioner's declaration that he died among other men killed at Korićanske Stijene on that day. The Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation in relation to the person. 4180
- 2138. While the Chamber notes the difference in the date recorded in the decision of the Municipal Court of Sanski Most, it is nevertheless satisfied that the incident in which Zijad Huskanović died is the killing incident at Korićanske Stijene charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied, based on the evidence presented, that Zijad Huskanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4174</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5804, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4175</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5806, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Reports on Death (confidential).

4176 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5808, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 February 2010 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5810 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4178</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5814, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5816, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 10 February 1999 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4180</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5812 (confidential).

#### HUSKIĆ, FNU, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

- 2139. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution refers to the UN IPTF list as indicating that this person was taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. While there is one "HUSKIĆ, from Trnopolje" included in this list, there is no additional information to connect this entry to this person.
- 2140. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### IČIĆ, Hajro, son of Huska (45, male)

2141. Hajro Ičić, ICRC number BAZ-104568-02, born on 13 May 1946 in Trnopolje, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 21 August 1992. According to this report, Hajro Ičić's father's name is Husein. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality states that Hajro Ičić, born in Trnopolje, whose father's name is "Huska", is listed as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Hajro Ičić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Kozarac, Prijedor. The death certificate records his father's name as Huska. The date and place of death is listed as 21 August 1992 in Travnik, Vlašić mountain. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. He Chamber notes the discrepancy between the listed names of the father given in the ICRC Missing Persons Report, the Proof of Death Database, the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, and the death certificate. However, the Chamber is convinced that all references refer to the same individual, as the listed date and place of birth are consistent in the record.

2142. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hajro Ičić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### IČIĆ, Sabahudin, son of Hajro (21, male)

- 2143. Sabahudin Ičić, ICRC number BAZ-104568-01, born on 24 June 1971, is listed in ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, on 21 August 1992. This information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Sabahudin Ičić. 4187
- 2144. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sabahudin Ičić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4181</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5818, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5823, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5821, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5823.1, Death Certificate of Hajro Ičić.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4185</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5826, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4186</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5828, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4187</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5827, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 10 October 2005 (confidential).

#### IRKIĆ, Šefik, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2145. The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submits that the UN IPTF lists Šefik Irkić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4188
- 2146. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šefik Irkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### IRKIĆ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2147. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Ismet Irkić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4189
- 2148. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Irkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### IRKIĆ, Rifet, father's name unknown (age unknown)

- 2149. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Rifet Irkić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4190
- 2150. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rifet Irkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Armin, son of Mustafa (25, male)

- 2151. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Armin Jakupović, born in 1967 in Jakupovići, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Armin Jakupović, born on 1 July 1967, is also listed as deceased in the Bibići Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date and place of death is recorded as 21 August 1992 on Mount Vlašić, Travnik. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 4192
- 2152. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Azur, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2153. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Azur Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

-

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4188</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5832, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4189</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5834, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>4190</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5837, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4191</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5841, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4192</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5842.1, Death Certificate of Armin Jakupović.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4193</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5843 (confidential).

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Dedo, son of Bego (age unknown, male)

2154. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4194 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Dedo Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Dedo, son of Mustafa (41, male)

2155. Dedo Jakupović, ICRC number BAZ-104218-01, born on 20 October 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing at Vlašic mountain on 21 August 1992. 4195 This information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. 4196 Dedo Jakupović is also recorded as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4197

2156. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Ibrahim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2157. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4198 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Kemal (20, male)

2158. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Jasmin Jakupović, born on 24 December 1973, went missing on 21 August 1992. 4199 Jasmin Jakupović is also listed in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date and of death is recorded as "1 July 1992. The place of death is recorded as "Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 4200

2159. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Kemal, son of Jusuf (46, male)

2160. Kemal Jakupović, ICRC number BAZ-107934-02, born on 13 June 1946 is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 1 June 1992. 4201 The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4194</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5845 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5851, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4196</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5850, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5852.1, Death Certificate of Dedo Jakupović (confidential) 4198 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5853 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4199</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5855, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5857.1, Death Certificate of Jasmin Jakupović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4201 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5863, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records that Kemal Jakupović went missing on 21 August 1992. 4202

2161. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Kemal Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAKUPOVIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2162. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4203</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Osman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2163. The Chamber notes that Osman Jakupović from Kozarac is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4204
- 2164. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Osman Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JAKUPOVIĆ, Samir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2165. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Jakupović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JASKIĆ, Fehret, son of Jasim (Dedo) (36, male)

2166. Fehret Jaskić, ICRC number BAZ-100066-01, born on 30 July 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in July 1992. The Chamber notes that decision No. R-224/97 issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 17 June 1997 declared Fehret Jaskić dead as of 15 December 1996. The Sanski Most court found that Fehret Jaskić disappeared on Mount Vlašić on 21 August 1992. The Court determined the date of death by calculating a period of one year from the cessation of hostilities. The Chamber notes that the Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation.

2167. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fehret Jaskić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JEZERKIĆ, Ahmet, son of Avdo (43, male)

2168. Ahmet Jezerkić, ICRC number BAS-000148-01, born on 30 December 1952 in Bosanski Otoka, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Bišćani, Prijedor, on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4202</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5860, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4203</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5864 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4204</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5867, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4205</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5868 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4206</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5872, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4207</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5873, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 17 June 1997 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4208 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5870.

20 July 1992. 4209 This date of birth is consistent with the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The recorded date of death is "21 December 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place or the cause of death. 4210

2169. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ahmet Jezerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JUJIĆ, Suljeman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2170. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4211 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Suleiman Jujić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### JUSUFAGIĆ, Edin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2171. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality for Vlašić, Edin Jusufagić went missing on 21 August 1992. 4212
- 2172. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Jusufagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JUSUFAGIĆ, Mesud, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2173. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality for Vlašić, Mesud Jusufagić went missing on 21 August 1992. 4213
- 2174. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Jusufagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### JUSUFAGIĆ, Senad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2175. The Prosecution submits that Senad Jusufagić appears on the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Vlašić, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4214 The Chamber, however, notes that the information relates to another person, namely Senad Jusufagić, son of Latif, who is also, in the Prosecution's submission, a victim of the crime. 4215 Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard this information. The UN IPTF list states that Senad Jusufagić from Kozarac was taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4216 In the absence of evidence additional identifying information, the Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the entry relates to the person submitted to have been killed in the incident.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4209</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5877, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5877.1, Death Certificate of Ahmet Jezerkić (confidential). 4211 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5878 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4212</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5881, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5885, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5889, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4215</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5891 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5890, UN IPTF (confidential).

2176. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Jusufagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### JUSUFAGIĆ, Senad, son of Latif (26, male)

2177. Senad Jusufagić, ICRC number BAZ-207070-01, born on 11 October 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić mountain, on 21 August 1992. 4217 This information is consistent with the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4218</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Senad Jusufagić on the basis of DNA matching. As set out in the preceding paragraph, Senad Jusufagić appears on the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Vlašić, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4220

2178. Based on the consistent evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Senad Jusufagić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

#### JUSUFAGIĆ, Zijad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2179. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality for Vlašić, Zijad Jusufagić went missing on 21 August 1992. 4221

2180. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Jusufagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KADIRIĆ, Sejad, 4222 son of Mustafa (41, male)

2181. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Sejad Kadirić, born on 24 October 1950, went missing on 21 August 1992. 4223 Decision No. R-249/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 25 May 1999, establishes that Sejad Kadirić was killed on Mount Vlašić, Travnik Municipality, on 21 August 1992. The Sanski Most court based its decision on the testimony of a witness who stated that Sejad Kadirić was a prisoner at the Trnopolje camp and that he was one of the men transported to Travnik in the convoy on 20 August 1992. He was taken of the convoy and killed on Mount Vlašić. 4224 The Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation in relation to this individual. 4225

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4217</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5894, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5895.1, Death Certificate of Ahmet Jezerkić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
4219 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5895, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 3 December 2009 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4220</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5889, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5899, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List, the Prosecution submit this person's first name to be either Sejad or Sead. All documents tendered record his name as "Sejad".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4223</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5902, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4224</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5904, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 25 May 1999

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4225 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5900 (confidential).

2182. Based on the evidence, the Chamber finds that Sejad Kadirić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KADIRIĆ, Zuhdija, son of Meho (33, male)

2183. Zuhdija Kadrić, ICRC number BAZ-108620-01, born on 1 February 1959, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing at Mount Vlašić on 25 August 1992. 4226 According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Zuhdija Kadrić went missing on 21 August 1992. 4227 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Zuhdija Kadrić on the basis of DNA matching. 4228

2184. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Zuhdija Kadrić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Almir, son of Edhem (33, male)

2185. Almir Kahrimanović, ICRC number BAZ-111131-02, born on 11 May 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 14 June 1992 in Kamičani, Prijedor. 4229 Almir Kahrimanović, born on 11 May 1963, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.4230

2186. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Almir Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Dursum, son of Fehim (34, male)

2187. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Dursum Kahrimanović, born on 8 January 1958, went missing on 21 August 1992. 4231 Dursum Kahrimanović, born on 8 January 1958, is listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.4232

2188. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Dursum Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>4226</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5908, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4227</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5910, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4228</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5906, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 14 September 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4229</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5914, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466. Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5914.1, Death Certificate of Almir Kahrimanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4231 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5918, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4232</sup> P2466, Proof of Death database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5918.1, Death Certificate of Dursum Kahrimanović (confidential).

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Emir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2189. The Prosecution submits that the UN IPTF lists Emir Kahrimanović as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. However, the Chamber notes that no individual named Emir Kahrimanović appears on this list. The Defence submits that Emir Kahrimanović was a Croatian defender. The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain whether this person was a Croatian defender. The Provided Burnel of Provided Burnel of Croatian defender.

2190. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Ermin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2191. The Chamber notes that Prosecution submits no evidence in the Proof of Death Database to prove this individual's death. 4236 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ermin Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

2192. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ermin Kahrimanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Huzier, son of Muharem (38, male)

2193. Huzier Kahrimanović, ICRC number BAZ-108196-01, born on 20 March 1954 is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Mount Vlašić. 4237 The Prosecution submits that the UN IPTF lists Huzier Kahrimanović as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4238 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Huzier Kahrimanović on the basis of DNA matching. 4239

2194. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Huzier Kahrimanović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

23 December 2009 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5920, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4234</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 46 "ordinal number" 5919; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

<sup>4235</sup> 18705 Process of the Control Contr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4235</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4236</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5921 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4237</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5926, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that according to this list the name is "Uzeir". The Chamber finds this is a clerical error as the remaining evidence on the record is consistent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4238</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5927, UN IPTF (confidential). The Chamber notes that the name is spelled Huzejr Kahrimanović in this list. The Chamber finds that this is a clerical error as the remaining information consistently refers to the same individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4239</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5925, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 23 December 2009 (confidential).

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Suljeman (27, male)

2195. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Mehmed Kahrimanović, born on 14 September 1964, went missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>4240</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mehmed Kahrimanović on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>4241</sup> The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists a Mehmed Kahrimanović from Kozarac, as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. <sup>4242</sup>

2196. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Kahrimanović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAHRIMANOVIĆ, Rifet, son of Abid (33, male)

2197. Rifet Kahrimanović, ICRC number BAS-004287-01, born on 8 May 1959 in Kozarac, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. This information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Rifet Kahrimanović on the basis of DNA matching.

2198. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Rifet Kahrimanović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAPETANOVIĆ, Alija, son of Mustafa (22-26, male)

2199. Alija Kapetanović, ICRC number BAZ-106191-01, born on 1 August 1970 in Prijedor, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Prijedor. This information is consistent with the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. Alija Kapetanović is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2011 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

2200. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Kapetanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

490 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4240</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5932, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that according to this list, his father's name was "Suljo". The Chamber finds the difference to be insignificant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4241</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5930, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5934, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5940, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4244</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5939, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4245</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5938, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 10 March 2006 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4246</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5943, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4247</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5945, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4248</sup> P244, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5945.1, Death Certificate of Alija Kapetanović (confidential).

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Esad, son of Mehmed (age unknown, male)

2201. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4249</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Karabašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Derviš, son of Osman (22, male)

2202. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Derviš Karabašić, born on 26 January 1970, went missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Derviš Karabašić on the basis of DNA matching.

2203. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Derviš Karabašić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Osman, son of Derviš (49, male)

2204. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Osman Karabašić, born on 5 January 1943, went missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Osman Karabašić on the basis of DNA matching. 4253

2205. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Osman Karabašić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Samir, son of Dedo (20, male)

2206. Samir Karabašić, ICRC number BAZ-206918-01, born on 26 June 1972 is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on Mount Vlašić on 21 August 1992. <sup>4254</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Samir Karabašić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>4255</sup> The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Samir Karabašić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. <sup>4256</sup>

2207. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Samir Karabašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4249</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5946 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4250</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5952, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4251</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5951, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 7 April 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4252</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5955, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4253</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5954, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 27 April 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4254</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5963, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5960, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 3 March 2006 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4256</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5962, UN IPTF (confidential).

#### KARABAŠIĆ, Sead, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2208. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4257</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Karabašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARARIĆ, Elvir, son of Kadir (16, male)

- 2209. Elvir Kararić, ICRC number BAS-000259-02, born on 1 March 1976, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on Mount Vlašić on 22 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Elvir Kararić on the basis of DNA matching.
- 2210. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Elvir Kararić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KARARIĆ, Emir, father's name unknown (20, male)

- 2211. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Emir Kararić, born on 28 February 1972 in Trnopolje, went missing on 21 August 1992. 4260
- 2212. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Emir Kararić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KARARIĆ, Hasan, son of Redžep (79, male)

- 2213. The Chamber notes that decision No. R-711/96, issued by the Lower Court of Sanski Most on 2 November 1996, declared that Hasan Kararić died at Vlašić on 22 July 1992. According to the Decision, two witnesses testified that Hasan Kararić left Trnopolje camp in a convoy towards Travnik. Hasan Kararić died during the journey. The Defence submits that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.
- 2214. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Kararić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARARIĆ, Isak, son of Ahmet (33, male)

2215. Isak Kararić, ICRC number BAZ-107701-01, born on 29 May 1959 in Trnopolje, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. Isak Kararić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992", and the place of

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4257</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5964 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4258</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5963, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4259</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5967, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 4 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4260</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5972, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4261</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5975, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 2 November 1996 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4262</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5973.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4263</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5978, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

death as "Trnopolje, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4264</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Isak Kararić on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>4265</sup>

2216. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Isak Kararić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KARARIĆ, Kadir, son of Husein (45, male)

- 2217. Kadir Kararić, ICRC number BAS-000259-01, born on 1 July 1947, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on Mount Vlašić on 22 August 1992. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Kadir Kararić went missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Kadir Kararić on the basis of DNA matching. According to the basis of DNA matching.
- 2218. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Kadir Kararić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KARARIĆ, Zebir, father's name unknown (47, male)

- 2219. Zebir Kararić, born on 4 July 1945 in Trnopolje, Prijedor, is listed as deceased in the Register for Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4269
- 2220. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zebir Kararić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KARBASIĆ, Dedo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2221. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Dedo Karbasić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KAUKOVIĆ, Elvin, son of Mehmed (45, male)

2222. Elvin Kauković, ICRC number BAZ-106547-01, born on 1 April 1972 in Duisburg, Germany, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 23 August 1992 in Crna Rijeka, Vlašić mountain. The Report of the International Commission for Missing

Case No. IT-08-91-T

 <sup>4264</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5980.1, Death Certificate of Isak Kararić (confidential).
 4265 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5977, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 8 May 2006 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5982, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4267</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5983, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5985, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4269</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5988.1, Death Certificate of Zebir Kararić (confidential). <sup>4270</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5989 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4271</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5996, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, on the basis of DNA matching, have been identified as those of Elvin Kauković. 4272

2223. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Elvin Kauković was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KEŠIĆ, Šefir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2224. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists a Šefir Kešić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4273
- 2225. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šefir Kešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KEŠIĆ, Adem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2226. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Adem Kešić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4274
- 2227. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Adem Kešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KEŠIĆ, Hamdo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2228. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Hamdo Kešić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4275
- 2229. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hamdo Kešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KEŠIĆ, Senad, son of Hasan (32, male)

- 2230. Senad Kešić, ICRC number BAZ-103725-01, born on 15 June 1964, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1991 in Kozarac, Prijedor. <sup>4276</sup> Senad Kešić is also listed as deceased in the Kozarac Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996" The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.
- 2231. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Kešić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KILIĆ, Nihad, son of Ahmet (30, male)

2232. Nihad Kilić, ICRC number BAS-002866-01, born on 1 September 1961 in Kamičani, Prijedor, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kamičani,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4272</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5985, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4273</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5999, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4274</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6002, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4275</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6005, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6007, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4277</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6010.1, Death Certificate of Senad Kešić (confidential).

Prijedor, on 14 June 1992. 4278 The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List records Nihad Kilić as having gone missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 16 June 1992. According to this list, his body was exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in the municipality of Prijedor on 11 September 2001. 4279 Pursuant to a report on the identification of bodies exhumed from the Jakarina Kosa mass grave in Prijedor issued by Atif Džafić of the Cantonal MUP Bihać on 5 April 2004, incomplete human remains marked "JK01-63B" were identified as being those of Nihad Kilić on the basis of DNA matching. 4280 4281 The autopsy of "JK01-063B" was carried out by Dr. Marek Gasior of the ICTY on 8 October 2001. The cause of death was established as gunshot injuries to the chest.

2233. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Kilić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KLJAJIĆ, Meho, son of Ahmet (32-33, male)

2234. According to the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality, Meho Kljajić, born in 1959 in Čarakovo, Prijedor, went missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Meho Kljajić on the basis of DNA matching. 4284

2235. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Meho Kljajić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KLJAJIĆ, Sakib, son of Ahmet (30, male)

2236. Sakib Kljajić, ICRC number BAZ-107598-01, born on 29 June 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Korićanske Stijene, Vlašić mountain. The information provided in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality is identical. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Sakib Kljajić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber notes that decision No. R-81/4/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 24 November 1997, declared that Sakib Kljajić was killed on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4278</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6014, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4279</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number " 6013, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6012, Cantonal MUP Bihać Report on the Identification Process of Bodies Exhumed from Jakarina Kosa (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6017, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 11 May 2004 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6017, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 11 May 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4282</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6015, Autopsy Report of Nihad Kilić(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4283</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6021, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4284</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6023, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 21 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4285</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6027, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6029, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6026, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted on 25 March 2010 (confidential).

- 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. Additionally the Chamber notes that the Defence submits that there is evidence to support the allegation. 4289
- 2237. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sakib Kljajić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KLJAJIĆ, Senad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2238. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF lists Senad Kljajić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Defence submits that Senad Kljajić was a Croatian defender. The Chamber considers that there is no evidence to support this argument, noting especially the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. <sup>4292</sup>
- 2239. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Kljajić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KLJAJIĆ, Suad, son of Meho (9 or19, male)

- 2240. Suad Kljajić, born on 16 July 1983, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The UN IPTF lists Suad Kljajić as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. Suad Kljajić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2011 of the municipality of Prijedor. The death certificate records his date of birth as "16 July 1973". The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.
- 2241. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to ascertain the age of the deceased. In the absence of consistent evidence that he was one of the 154 men travelling in the Prijedor-Travnik convoy on 21 August 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KRIVDIĆ, Muharem, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2242. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Muharem Krivdić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 5904, Municipal Court Declaration of Death, 24 November 1997 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4289</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex, page 1 "ordinal number" 5870.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4290</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6031, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4291</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 46 "ordinal number" 6031; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 2.

Annex D, p. 2. <sup>4292</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4293 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6034, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4294</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6035, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4295</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6037.1, Death Certificate of Suad Kljajić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4296</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6038 (confidential).

#### KRKIĆ, Ahmet, son of Salih (49, male)

2243. Ahmet Krkić, ICRC number BAZ-106552-01, born on 23 January 1943, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. 4297 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists Ahmet Krkić, born on 23 January 1943, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4298 The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. Thus, the Chamber will not consider this report in relation to Ahmet Krkić. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ahmet Krkić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber has also received a report of the Bihać MUP on the investigation and the identification of bodies exhumed from the Korićanske Stijene grave site in Skender Vakuf, issued by inspector Atif Džafić on 23 April 2004. According to this report, human remains exhumed and marked as "Body No. 004" have been identified as those of Ahmet Krkić on the basis of DNA matching. 4301

2244. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Krkić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KUBURAŠ, Sabahudin, son of Čazim (20, male)

2245. Sabahudin Kuburaš, ICRC number BAZ-107767-03, born on 10 September 1971, is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Sabahudin Kuburaš as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 23 July 1992.

2246. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabahudin Kuburaš was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KULAŠIĆ, Abaz, son of Omer (41, male)

2247. Abaz Kulašić, born on 1 November 1950, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Abaz Kulašić on the basis of DNA matching. 4305

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4297</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6041, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is recorded as "Ahmo" rather than "Ahmet".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4298</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6042, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4299</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6044, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4300</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6045, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 8 March 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4301</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6046, Identification Report of Ahmet Krkić (confidential). 4302 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6049, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4303</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6050, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6056, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6057, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 8 November 2003 (confidential).

2248. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Abaz Kulašić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### KULAŠIĆ, Ferzija, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

- 2249. Ferzija Kulašić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4306
- 2250. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ferzija Kulašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### KULAŠIĆ, Husein, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2251. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Husein Kulašić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **KUSURAN**, Muamer, son of Mehmed (26, male)

- 2252. Muamer Kusuran, ICRC number BAZ-280020-01, born on 25 October 1965, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. He is also listed as having gone missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The date of disappearance is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of disappearance as "Korićanske Stijene". 4309
- 2253. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MAHIĆ, first name unknown (brother of Suvad), father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2254. An individual identified as the "brother of Suvad Mahić" is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4310
- 2255. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MAHIĆ, Suvad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2256. Suvad Mahić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4311
- 2257. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Suvad Mahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4306</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6060, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4307</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6061 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4308</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6064, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4309</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6066, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4310</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6070, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4311</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6072, UN IPTF (confidential).

#### MAHMULJIN, Ibrahim, son of Arif (29, male)

2258. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ibro Mahmuljin, ICRC number BAZ-107334-01, born in August 1963 in Prijedor, went missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 21 August 1992. 4312 The FIS database states that Ibrahim Mahmuljin, born on 11 May 1963, died in Prijedor on 15 August 1992.<sup>4313</sup>

2259. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MAROŠLIĆ, Fikret, son of Himzo (21, male)

2260. Fikret Marošlić, ICRC number BAZ-105179-01, born on 28 July 1971, is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4315

2261. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MAROŠLIĆ, Himzo, son of Redžo (47, male)

2262. Himzo Marošlić, ICRC number BAZ-105179-02, born on 15 March 1945, is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". 4316 He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4317 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Himzo Marošlić on the basis of DNA matching. 4318 The FIS database states that Himzo Marošlić, born on 15 March 1945, died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. 4319 Decision No. R-521/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most Court on 31 August 1999, declared that Himzo Marošlić died at Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992. 4320 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the allegation in relation to this individual. 4321

499

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4312</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6075, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6076, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
4314 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6080, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4315 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6083, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4316</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6091, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4317 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6086, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4318</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6087, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 6 May 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4319</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6088, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4320 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6090, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 31 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4321</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 49, "ordinal number" 6084.

2263. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Himzo Marošlić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MAROŠLIĆ, Ramo, son of Meho (50, male)

2264. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Ramo Marošlić, ICRC number BAS-002771-01, born on 11 October 1941, as having gone missing on 26 June 1992 in Trnopolje, Prijedor. 4322 Ramo Marošlić, born on 11 October 1941, is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "27 June 1992" and the place of death as "Trnopolje, Prijedor". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 4323

2265. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MAROŠLIĆ, Velid, son of Ramo (20, male)

2266. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Velid Marošlić, ICRC number BAS-002771-02, born on 28 June 1972, as having gone missing on 27 June 1992 in Trnopolje. 4324 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Velid Marošlić, born on 28 July 1972, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Velid Marošlić on the basis of DNA matching. 4326

2267. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Velid Marošlić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## MAROŠLIĆ, Zabir, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2268. Zabir Marošlić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4327

2269. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zabir Marošlić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEDIĆ, Šefik, son of Hilmija (42, male)

2270. Šefik Medić, ICRC number BAZ-102622-01, born on 19 September 1949, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 22 August 1992. 4328 Šefik Medić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4322</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6093, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6095.1, Death Certificate of Ramo Marošlić

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
4324 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6099, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6100, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4326</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6097, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 18 February 2010, and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4327</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6104, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>4328</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6106, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

place of death as "Vlašić". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4329</sup> The Chamber has received evidence that Šefik Medić, born on 19 September 1949, was a member of the Kozaruša TO from 1 April to 21 August 1992. <sup>4330</sup> He is reported to have gone missing and died in "Vlašić". <sup>4331</sup>

2271. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šefik Medić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEDIĆ, Ejub, son of Abaz (37, male)

2272. Ejub Medić, ICRC number BAZ-106505-01, born on 28 October 1954, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. Ejub Medić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Mt. Vlašić/Travnik". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence that Ejub Medić, born on 28 October 1954, was a member of the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992.

2273. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ejub Medić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEHMEDAGIĆ, Alija, son of Bečo (41-42, male)

2274. Alija Mehmedagić, ICRC number BAZ-206558-02, born in 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 15 May 1992 in Trnopolje, Prijedor. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Alija Mehmedagić on the basis of DNA matching. 4337

2275. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Alija Mehmedagić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEHMEDAGIĆ, Osman, son of Husein (35, male)

2276. Osman Mehmedagić, ICRC number BAZ-102655-02, born on 12 October 1956, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found

 <sup>4329</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6108.1, Death Certificate of Šefik Medić (confidential).
 4330 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, paras. 88, 313 (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4331 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 88 (confidential).

4332 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6110, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4333</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6112, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

 <sup>4334</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6113.1, Death Certificate of Ejub Medić (confidential).
 4335 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 21 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4336</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6118, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6116, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 8 December 2003 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4338</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6124, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Osman Mehmedagić on the basis of DNA matching. 4339

2277. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Osman Mehmedagić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEMIĆ, Asmir, son of Mehmed (29, male)

2278. Asmir Memić, ICRC number BAZ-101808-01, born on 27 March 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 26 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. He Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Asmir Memić on the basis of DNA matching.

2279. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Asmir Memić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## MEMIĆ, Huse, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2280. Huse Memić is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4343

2281. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Huse Memić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEMIĆ, Nihad, son of Sulejman (19, male)

2282. Nihad Memić, ICRC number BAZ-107701-01, born on 16 June 1973, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. <sup>4344</sup> The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records that Nihad Memić went missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>4345</sup> Nihad Memić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4346</sup>

2283. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Memić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4339</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6121, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 January 2010, and 12 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>4340</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6128, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4341</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6127, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4342</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6130, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 27 January 2010 and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>4343</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6134, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4344</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6136, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4345</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6138, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4346</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6139.1, Death Certificate of Nihad Memić (confidential).

## MERDŽIĆ, Samir, son of Rizvo (22, male)

2284. Samir Merdžić, ICRC number BAZ-101764-01, born on 24 July 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 23 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. <sup>4347</sup> He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>4348</sup>

2285. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Merdžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### MRKALJ, Himzo, son of Omer (49, male)

2286. Himzo Mrkalj, ICRC number BAZ-108769-01, born on 27 November 1942, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. The UN IPTF lists Himzo Mrkalj as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Himzo Mrkalj on the basis of DNA matching.

2287. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Himzo Mrkalj was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUJKANOVIĆ, Edin, son of Osman (25, male)

2288. Edin Mujkanović, ICRC number BAZ-107461-01, born on 23 October 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Edin Mujkanović on the basis of DNA matching. Decision No. R-17/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 19 March 1999, declared that Edin Mujkanović died at Vlašić mountain on 22 August 1992. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.

2289. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Mujkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

503

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4347</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6143, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tacing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that the father's name is recorded as "Rizvan" rather than "Rizvo". <sup>4348</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6142, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4349</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6149, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6150, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4351</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6148, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 13 February 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4352</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6158, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

Reports on Death (confidential).

4353 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6154, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,
11 January 2010, 14 January 2010, 21 January 2010, 27 January 2010, 4 February 2010, 12 February 2010, and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4354</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6155, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 19 March 1999 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4355 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 50, "ordinal number" 6153.

## MUJKANOVIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Redžep (28, male)

2290. Fahrudin Muikanović, ICRC number BAZ-109921-02, born on 25 September 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4356 Decision No. R-618/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 3 November 1998, declared that Fahrudin Mujkanović died at Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992. The Chamber has received evidence that Fahrudin Mujkanović, born on 16 September 1963, served in the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 7 July 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records that he had been "taken prisoner" and went "missing" in Vlašić. 4358 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual. 4359

2291. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth of Fahrudin Mujkanović in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the record of the BiH Ministry of Justice. The Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that the material concerns the same person.

2292. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Mujkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene. The BiH Ministry of Justice record states that he was a member of the Kozarac TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Fahrudin Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJKANOVIĆ, Fikret, son of Edhem (30, male)

2293. Fikret Mujkanović, ICRC number BAZ-110826-01, born on 16 November 1961, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. 4360 Fikret Mujkanović, born on 12 November 1961, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4361 The FIS database states that Fikret Mujkanović, born on 16 November 1961, died in Sanski Most on 21 August 1992. 4362 The Chamber has received evidence that Fikret Mujkanović, born on 16 November 1961, was a member of the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992. The BiH Ministry of Justice records Fikret Mujkanović to have been "killed" in "Vlašić". 4363

2294. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth recorded for Fikret Mujkanović in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality and all the other evidence presented to the Chamber. The Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that the material concerns the same person. The Chamber also notes the discrepancy between the places of death of Fikret Mujkanović in the FIS database and all the other evidence presented to the Chamber.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4356</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6163, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6162, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 3 November 1998 (confidential).

<sup>1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 91 (confidential). <sup>4359</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 50, "ordinal number" 6160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6166, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4361</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6167, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6169, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 4363 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 92 (confidential).

2295. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fikret Mujkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene. The BiH Ministry of Justice record states that he was a member of the Kozarac TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Fikret Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJKANOVIĆ, Husein, son of Hamdija (age unknown, male)

2296. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Husein Mujkanović on the basis of DNA matching. 4364

2297. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Husein Mujkanović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJKANOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Adem (age unknown, male)

2298. Jasmin Mujkanović is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Chamber has received evidence that Jasmin Mujkanović served in the armed forces from 4 September 1993 to 16 July 1994.

2299. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmin Mujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJKANOVIĆ, Refik, son of Rasim (age unknown, male)

2300. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Refik Mujkanović on the basis of DNA matching. 4367

2301. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Refik Mujkanović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# MUJKANOVIĆ, Senad, son of Esad (21, male)

2302. Senad Mujkanović, ICRC number BAS-002827-01, born on 22 January 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Senad Mujkanović is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2006 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4364</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6171, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 18 December 2009, 21 January 2010, and 27 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4365</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6174, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4366</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 358 (confidential). <sup>4367</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6176, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 14 January 2010 and 29 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6178, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4369</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6179, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

- "21 August 1992", and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 4370
- 2303. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Mujkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJKANOVIĆ, Vasif, son of Mahmut (32, male)

2304. Vasif Mujkanović, ICRC number BAZ-107384-01, born on 17 March 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. <sup>4371</sup> The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. <sup>4372</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Vasif Mujkanović on the basis of DNA matching. <sup>4373</sup>

2305. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Vasif Mujkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# MURČEHAJIĆ, Fuad, son of Derviš (40, male)

2306. Fuad Murčehajić, ICRC number BAS-005309-01, born on 28 July 1952, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 20 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The UN IPTF lists an individual by the name of "Fudo Murčehajić" as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Chamber is unconvinced that the entry concerns the same individual as no further identifying information is provided for this person. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Fuad Murčehajić. The International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Fuad Murčehajić.

2307. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Fuad Murčehajić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# MURČEHAJIĆ, Idriz, son of Haso (33, male)

2308. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Idriz Muretčehajić, born on 27 September 1958, son of Haze, went missing in Kozarac, Prijedor, on 26 May 1992. <sup>4378</sup> The List

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6181.1, Death Certificate of Senad Mujkanović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
<sup>4371</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6188, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).
<sup>4372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6184, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43/2</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6184, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4373</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6183, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 April 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4374</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6192, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>4375</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Death Course "CHS", "ordinal number" 6192, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4375</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6196, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that the last name is recorded as "Muratčehajić" rather than "Murčehajić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4376</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6194, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4377</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6191, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4378</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6199, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists a person by the name of "Idriz Muratčehajić", born on 27 September 1958, son of Haso, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Given that all other identifying information is consistent with that recorded in the ICRC Missing Persons Report, the Chamber considers the difference in the surname and father's name as negligible and is satisfied that the information concerns the same individual. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Idriz Murčehajić on the basis of DNA matching. Associated that the information concerns the same individual.

2309. Based on the evidence presented, and in particular relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Idriz Murčehajić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### MURANOVIĆ, Ahmet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2310. Ahmet Muranović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4381
- 2311. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ahmet Muranović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MURANOVIĆ, Salih, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2312. Salih Muranović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4382
- 2313. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Muranović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MURANOVIĆ, Samir, son of Salih (24, male)

- 2314. Samir Muranović, ICRC number BAS-002817-01, born on 5 August 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje. The UN IPTF lists him as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. August 1992.
- 2315. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Muranović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# MURATČEHAJIĆ, Edin, son of Jusuf (21, male)

2316. Edin Muratčehajić, ICRC number BAZ-107850-1, born on 14 May 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4379</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6198, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4380</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6201, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 6 May 2004 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4381</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6206, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4382</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6208, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4383</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6213, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4384</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6214, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4385</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6212, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

area. Also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Edin Muratčehajić was engaged in the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records that he was "taken prisoner – put to death" and the place of death as "Vlašić".

2317. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Edin Muratčehajić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene. The BiH Ministry of Justice record states that he was a member of the Kozarac TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Edin Muratčehajić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MURATČEHAJIĆ, Mirsad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2318. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4389</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirsad Muratčehaić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MURATČEHAJIĆ, Mujo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2319. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4390</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mujo Muratčehajić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# MURETČEHAJIĆ, Mehmed, son of Derviš (32, male)

2320. Mehmed Muretčehajić, born on 12 August 1960, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Mehmed Muretčehajić is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2005 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Vlašić/Travnik Mountain". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mehmed Muretčehajić on the basis of DNA matching.

2321. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Muretčehajić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4386</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6217, ICRC Missing Persons Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4387</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6218, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4388</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 94 (confidential).

<sup>4389</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6219 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4390</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6221 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4391</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6226, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that the last name is recorded as "Muratčehajić" rather than "Muretčehajić".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4392</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6227.1, Death Certificate of Mehmed Muretčehajić (confidential). The Chamber notes that the last name is recorded as "Muretćehajić" rather than "Muretčehajić".
<sup>4393</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6224, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4393</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6224, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 January 2010, 14 January 2010, 21 January 2010, 25 February 2010 (confidential). The Chamber notes that the last name is recorded as "Murcehajic" rather than "Muretčehajic".

# MUSKANOVIĆ, Abdulah, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2322. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. <sup>4394</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Abdulah Muskanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ORUČ, Refik, son of Osman (22, male)

2323. Refik Oruč, ICRC number BAZ-206025-02, born on 30 July 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 22 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists Refik Oruč, born on 28 July 1970, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Refik Oruč, born on 28 July 1970, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "26 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

2324. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Refik Oruč was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## PARATUŠIĆ, Sakib, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2325. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sakib Paratušić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PARATUŠIĆ, Senad, son of Zarif (32, male)

- 2326. Senad Paratušić, born on 11 October 1959, is recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4399
- 2327. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Paratušić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PARATUŠIĆ, Zijad, son of Sulejman (37, male)

2328. Zijad Paratušić, ICRC number BAZ-100005-01, born on 10 October 1954, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Travnik on 21 August 1992. 4400 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4401 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4394</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6228 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4395</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6231, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4396</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6233, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4397</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6234.1, Death Certificate of Refik Oruč (confidential).

<sup>4398</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6235 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4399</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6238, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4400</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6241, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4401</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6243, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Zijad Paratušić on the basis of DNA matching. 4402

2329. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Zijad Paratušić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## PERVANIĆ, Mesud, son of Omer (36, male)

- 2330. Mesud Pervanić, ICRC number BAZ-109818-01, born on 1 June 1956, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area in August 1992. 4403 He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4404 Mesud Pervanić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2007 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.4405
- 2331. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Pervanić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PERVANIĆ, Mustafa, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2332. Mustafa Pervanić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4406
- 2333. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Pervanić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## PIDIĆ, Samir, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2334. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4407 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Samir Pidić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PIĆIĆ, Fehro, son of Ramo (age unknown, male)

- 2335. Fehro Pićić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4408
- 2336. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fehro Pićić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4402</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6245, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4403</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6247, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6248, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6250.1, Death Certificate of Mesud Pervanić (confidential). 4406 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6252, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4407</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6253 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4408</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6256, UN IPTF (confidential).

## RIZVANČEVIĆ, Faik, son of Osman (28, male)

2337. Faik Rizvančević, ICRC number BAZ-100091-01, born on 10 September 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Faik Rizvančević on the basis of DNA matching. He FIS database states that Faik Rizvančević died in Travnik on 21 August 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Faik Rizvančević was engaged in the Hambarine TO from 15 April to 21 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records that he was "killed" in "Vlašić".

2338. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Faik Rizvančević was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene. The BiH Ministry of Justice record states that he was a member of the Hambarine TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Faik Rizvančević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SADIĆ, Nail, son of Džemal (42, male)

2339. Nail Sadić, ICRC number BAS-003103-01, born on 27 May 1950, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 21 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records Nail Sadić as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Nail Sadić on the basis of DNA matching. Decision No. R-508/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 13 October 1997, declared that Nail Sadić died at Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this person.

2340. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nail Sadić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>4410</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6263, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

17 December 2009, 11 January 2010, 14 January 2010, and 21 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4409</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6260, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that the first name is recorded as "Fajko" rather than "Faik".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4411</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6259, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 25 February 2010, 15 March 2010, 25 March 2010, 1 April 2010, and 7 April 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4412</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6264, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
<sup>4413</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 97 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4414</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 97 (confidential). <sup>4414</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6270, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4415</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6268, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential). The Chamber notes that his father's name is recorded as "Kemal" rather than "Džemal". <sup>4416</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6271, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4417</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6266, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 13 October 1997 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4418</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 51, "ordinal number" 6265.

#### SAHBAZ, Nijaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2341. Nijaz Sahbaz is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4419
- 2342. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nijaz Sahbaz was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SALDUMOVIĆ, Bajazid, son of Hamza (37, male)

2343. Bajazid Saldumović, ICRC number BAZ-205769-02, born on 7 June 1955, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. 4420 The Prosecution tenders a Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons in support of its allegation that Bajazid Saldumović died at Korićanske Stijene. 4421 The Chamber notes that Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons tendered by the Prosecution does not pertain to Bajazid Saldumović, but rather a different individual. Accordingly, the Chamber will not consider this report in relation to Bajazid Saldumović.

2344. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Bajazid Saldumović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SALDUMOVIĆ, Jasmin, son of Mehmed (22, male)

2345. Jasmin Saldumović, ICRC number BAZ-106377-01, born on 12 June 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 21 August 1992. 4422 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records Jasmin Saldumović as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4423 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Jasmin Saldumović on the basis of DNA matching. 4424 Decision No. R-546/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 18 November 1998, declared that Jasmin Saldumović died near Travnik on 26 June 1992. 4425

2346. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of death listed for Jasmin Saldumović in the Municipal Court of Sanski Most decision and all other evidence presented to the Chamber.

2347. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Jasmin Saldumović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

512

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4419</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6274, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4420</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6278, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4421 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6276, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, day and

month are illegible, year 2010 (confidential).

4422 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6286, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Tracing Requests (confidential).

Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6283, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4424</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6285, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 24 December 2009 and 21 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>4425</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6284, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 18 November 1998 (confidential).

### SELIMOVIĆ, Said, son of Hamed (23, male)

- 2348. Said Selimović, ICRC number BAZ-101187-01, born on 29 August 1968, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Prijedor on 20 June 1992. 4426
- 2349. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Said Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SELIMOVIĆ, Zilhad, son of Huska (28, male)

- 2350. Zilhad Selimović, born on 12 May 1964, is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4427 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Zilhad Selimović on the basis of DNA matching. 4428
- 2351. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Zilhad Selimović was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# SINANOVIĆ, 4429 Ermin, son of Jusuf (28, male)

- 2352. Ermin Sinanović, ICRC number BAZ-108415-01, born on 26 December 1963, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 18 August 1992. 4430
- 2353. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ermin Sinanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SINANAGIĆ, Nermin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2354. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4431 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nermin Sinanagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Edin, son of Munib (26, male)

2355. Edin Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-109867-02, born on 1 July 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. 4432 He is also recorded in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992.4433

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4426</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6288, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that the father's name is recorded as "Hamid" rather than "Hamed".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4427</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6295, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6292, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 18 February 2010 and 25 February 2010 (confidential).

4429 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted this individual's last name as "Sinanagić (Sinanovic)".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4430</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6298, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4431</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6300 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4432</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6303, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4433</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6305, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

2356. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Enes, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2357. Enes Sivac is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4434
- 2358. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Enes Sivac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2359. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Kasim, son of Sefik (age unknown)

- 2360. Kasim Sivac is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Kasim Sivac on the basis of DNA matching.
- 2361. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Kasim Sivac was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Merzuk, son of Ibrahim (31-32, male)

- 2362. Merzuk Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-100131-01, born on 31 January 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Merzuk Sivac, born on 31 January 1961, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Merzuk Sivac on the basis of DNA matching.
- 2363. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Merzuk Sivac in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality. The Chamber is, however, is satisfied that the evidence received concerns the same person, as all other information in the record is otherwise consistent.

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4434</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6308, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4435</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6309 (confidential),.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4436</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6313, UN IPTF (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6312, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 February 2005 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4438</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6319, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4439</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6315, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4440</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6318, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 21 January 2004 (confidential).

2364. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Merzuk Sivac was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Mujo, son of Salko (52, male)

2365. Mujo Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-109646-01, born on 3 January 1940, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Mujo Sivac is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2011 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death.

2366. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mujo Sivac was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Nedžad, son of Munib (21, male)

2367. Nedžad Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-109867-01, born on 4 July 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared at Korićanske Stijene on 21 August 1992. He List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Nedžad Sivac is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2010 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death.

2368. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nedžad Sivac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Safet, son of Džemal (20, male)

2369. Safet Sivac, ICRC number BAZ-108782-01, born on 6 October 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in the Vlašić mountain area on 21 August 1992. Safet Sivac is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2004 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Korićanske Stijene". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence that Safet Sivac was engaged in the Kozarac TO from 6 April to 21 August 1992. The record of the BiH Ministry of Justice records that he was killed in Vlašić.

2370. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Sivac was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment. The BiH Ministry of Justice record states

515

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4441</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6321, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4442</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6324, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

 <sup>4443</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6324.1, Death Certificate of Mujo Sivac (confidential).
 4444 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6328, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).
 4445 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6324.1, Death Certificate of Mujo Sivac (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4445</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6327, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

 <sup>4446</sup> P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6329.1, Death Certificate of Nedžad Sivac (confidential).
 4447 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6332, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential). The Chamber notes that the father's name is recorded as "Demal" rather than "Džemal".

 <sup>4448</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6333.1, Death Certificate of Safet Sivac (confidential).
 4449 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 99 (confidential).

that he was a member of the Kozarac TO, but records the time, place, and circumstances of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Safet Sivac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SIVAC, Zuhdija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2371. Zuhdija Sivac is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4450
- 2372. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zuhdija Sivac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SLUJKANOVIĆ, Fikret, son of Smajl (age unknown, male)

- 2373. Fikret Slujkanović is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4451
- 2374. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Slujkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SOFTIĆ, Ekrem, son of Edhem (29, male)

- 2375. Decision No. R-211/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 17 June 1997, declared that Ekrem Softić, born on 23 March 1963, died on 15 December 1996. On the basis of witness testimony, the Sanski Most court found that he was killed on Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992, when around 250 young men were separated from a convoy and disappeared. The date of death was established as 15 December 1996; one year from the cessation of hostilities. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.
- 2376. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ekrem Softić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SOFTIĆ, Esad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2377. Esad Softić is listed in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4454
- 2378. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Softić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# SOFTIĆ, Sead, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2379. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Softić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4450</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6335, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4451</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6339, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4452</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6341, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 17 June 1997 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4453 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 51, "ordinal number" 6340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4454</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6344, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

# SUŠIĆ, Nihad, son of Eniz (20, male)

2380. Nihad Sušić, ICRC number BAZ-110109-01, born on 18 September 1971, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Prijedor. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Nihad Sušić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Nihad Sušić on the basis of DNA matching.

2381. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Sušić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## TADŽIĆ, Zijad, son of Ibrahim (38-39, male)

2382. Zijad Tadžić, ICRC number BAZ-105100-01, born in 1954, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 27 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. 4460 Decision No. R-283/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 5 July 1997, declared that Zijad Tadžić, born on 26 February 1953, died on 21 August 1992, when he went missing on Mount Vlašić among 250 men who travelled in a convoy from Trnopolje. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation in relation to this individual.

2383. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zijad Tadžić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## TALIĆ, Alija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2384. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Talić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# TALIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Ibrahim (39, male)

2385. Mehmedalija Talić, ICRC number BAZ-102655-01, born on 26 July 1953, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 24 May 1992 in Kozarac, Prijedor. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4455</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6345 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4456</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6352, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4457</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6348, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4458</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6351, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4459</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6349, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 9 October 2009, and 23 October 2009 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4460</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6358, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4461</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6355, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 5 July 1997 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4462 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 51, "ordinal number" 6354.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4463</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6360 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4464</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6365, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mehmedalija Talić on the basis of DNA matching. 4465

2386. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Talić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TRNJANIN, Refik, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2387. Refik Trnjanin is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4466

2388. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Refik Trnjanin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### TRNJANIN, Sakib, son of Bejdo (39, male)

2389. Sakib Trnjanin, ICRC number BAZ-104342-01, born on 12 February 1953, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Trnopolje, Prijedor. Decision No. R-459/97, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 23 July 1997, declared that Sakib Trnjanin died on 21 August 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Sakib Trnjanin on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.

2390. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Sakib Trnjanin was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TRNJANIN, Zijad, son of Ibrahim (46, male)

2391. Zijad Trnjanin, ICRC number BAZ-108523-01, born on 18 August 1946, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Trnopolje, Prijedor, in June 1992. Zijad Trnjanin is also listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2002 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "21 August 1992" and the place of death as "Trnopolje". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. 4472

2392. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Trnjanin was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4465</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6364, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 10 December 2009, 21 January 2010, 27 January 2010, and, 29 January 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4466</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6369, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4467</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6371, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4468</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6373, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 23 July 1997 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4469 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6372, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 February 2005 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4470</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 52, "ordinal number" 6370.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4471</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6377, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4472</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6378.1, Death Certificate of Zijad Trnjanin (confidential).

## TURKANOVIĆ, Senad, son of Hamdija (31, male)

2393. Senad Turkanović, ICRC number BAZ-109916-02, born on 3 June 1961, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4473 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4474 Decision No. R-359/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Municipal Court of Sanski Most, declared that Senad Turkanović died on 21 August 1992 in Vlašić. 4475 The Prosecution tenders the UN IPTF list in support of its allegation that Senad Turkanović was killed at Korićanske Stijene. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF list does not contain an entry for Senad Turkanović; it, however, contains an entry "Turkanović, son of Hamdija, two sons", stating that they have been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4476 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation that this individual was killed. 4477

2394. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Turkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## TURKANOVIĆ, Suad, son of Hamdija (32, male)

2395. Suad Turkanović, ICRC number BAZ-109916-01, born on 26 January 1960, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4478 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Suad Turkanović, born on 20 January 1960, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4479 Decision No. R-360/99, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 1 July 1999, declares that Suad Turkanović died on 21 August 1992 at Vlašić mountain. The Prosecution tenders the UN IPTF list in support of its allegation that Suad Turkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber notes that the UN IPTF list does not contain an entry for Suad Turkanović; it, however, contains and entry "Turkanović, son of Hamdija, two sons" stating that they have been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4481 The Chamber is not satisfied that this entry concerns Suad Turkanović and thus will not consider the UN IPTF list in relation to Suad Turkanović. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support this Prosecution allegation. 4482

2396. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Turkanović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4473</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6384, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4474 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6382, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4475</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6385, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 1 July 1999 (confidential). 4476 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6383, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4477</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 52, "ordinal number" 6379.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4478</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6390, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Reports on Death (confidential).

4479 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6388, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4480</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6392, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 1 July 1999 (confidential).  $^{4481}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6391, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4482</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 52, "ordinal number" 6386.

## TURKANOVIĆ, Zijad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2397. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. 4483 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Turkanović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### VEHABOVIĆ, Mirsad (26. male), Seid (25. male), sons of Miralem

2398. Mirsad Vehabović, ICRC number BAZ-108076-01, born on 11 February 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4484 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also lists him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4485

2399. Seid Vehabović, ICRC number BAZ-108076-02, born on 28 April 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4486 The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. Thus, the Chamber will not consider this report. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Seid or Mirsad Vehabović, sons of Miralem, on the basis of DNA matching. 4488

2400. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that one of the brothers was killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## VELIĆ, Ekrem, son of Zuhdija (25, male)

2401. Ekrem Velić, ICRC number BAZ-104893-04, born on 15 June 1967, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4489 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Ekrem Velić is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2008 of the municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is recorded as "22 November 1996". The death certificate does not specify the place of death or the cause of death. 4491

2402. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4483</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6393 (confidential).

<sup>4484</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6397, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6398, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4486</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6403, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Dead (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4487</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6405, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2811-D000-2811 (confidential).

<sup>4488</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6401, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 24 November 2004 (confidential).

<sup>4489</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6407, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6410, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4491</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6410.1, Death Certificate of Ekrem Velić (confidential).

# VELIĆ, Fadil, son of Ramo (age unknown, male)

2403. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Fadil Velić on the basis of DNA matching. 4492

2404. Based on the positive identification of human remains found at Korićanske Stijene, the Chamber finds that Fadil Velić was one of the men killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# VELIĆ, Fajko, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2405. Fajko Velić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4493

2406. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fajko Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## VELIĆ, Jusuf, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2407. Jusuf Velić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4494

2408. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Jusuf Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## VELIĆ, Mehmed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2409. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmed Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# VELIĆ, Muhamed, son of Hasan (26, male)

2410. Muhamed Velić, ICRC number BAZ-111069-02, born on 18 July 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 24 May 1992 in Kevljani, Prijedor. <sup>4496</sup> The Prosecution tenders a document as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the Tribunal. Thus, the Chamber will not consider this report.

2411. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Muhamed Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4492</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6412, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 January 2010, 14 January 2010, 21 January 2010, and 4 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4493</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6416, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4494</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6418, UN IPTF (confidential).

 <sup>4495</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6419 (confidential).
 4496 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6423, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Dead (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4497</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6422, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

#### VELIĆ, Zijad, son of Pašo (19-20, male)

- 2412. Ziiad Velić, ICRC number BAS-003456-01, born on 15 March 1972, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4498 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality lists Zijad Velić, born on 15 March 1973, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4499
- 2413. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ZAHIROVIĆ, Ziko, son of Husein (30, male)

- 2414. Ziko Zahirović, ICRC number BAS-003927-01, born on 27 July 1962, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having disappeared on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4500 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Ziko Zahirović on the basis of DNA matching.4501
- 2415. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Ziko Zahirović was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

### ZERIĆ, Ismet, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

- 2416. Ismet Zerić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4502
- 2417. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Zerić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# ZULIĆ, Esad, son of Alija (35, male)

- 2418. Esad Zulić, ICRC number BAZ-107497-04, born in May 1957, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4503 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4504 Esad Zulić is listed in the UN IPTF as having been taken from the Prijedor-Travnik convoy and possibly killed in Skender Vakuf on 21 August 1992. 4505
- 2419. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Esad Zulić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4498</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6429, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6428, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4500</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6435, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

Reports on Death (confidential).

4501 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6433, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 18 December 2009, 21 January 2010, 25 February 2010, and 12 March 2010 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4502</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6437, UN IPTF (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4503</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6443, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4504</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6444, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4505</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6445, UN IPTF (confidential).

#### ZULIĆ, Mesud, son of Uzeir (26, male)

- 2420. Mesud Zulić, ICRC number BAZ-107497-02, born on 8 January 1966, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4506 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality records Mesud Zulić, born in 1968, as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4507 Decision No. R-175/98, issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 16 June 1998, declared that Mesud Zulić, born on 8 January 1966, died at Vlašić mountain on 21 August 1992. 4508 The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual. 4509
- 2421. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Mesud Zulić in the List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality and in the other evidence presented to the Chamber. The Chamber considers the difference to be negligible, as the other identifying information in the record is consistent.
- 2422. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mesud Zulić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZULIĆ, Mirsad, son of Alija (30, male)

- 2423. Mirsad Zulić, ICRC number BAZ-107497-01, born on 3 November 1961, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having died on 21 August 1992 at Korićanske Stijene. 4510 The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. 4511 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Mirsad Zulić on the basis of DNA matching. 4512
- 2424. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Zulić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

# ZULIĆ, Nedžad, son of Latif (22, male)

2425. Nedžad Zulić, ICRC number BAZ-107503-01, born on 2 June 1970, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in the Vlašić mountain area. 4513 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Korićanske Stijene have been identified as those of Nedžad Zulić on the basis of DNA matching.4514

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4506</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6447, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4507</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6449, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4508</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6448, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 16 June 1998 (confidential).

4509 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 52,

<sup>&</sup>quot;ordinal number" 6446.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4510</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6454, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

4511 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6455, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor

Municipality (confidential).

P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6453, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 15 December 2005 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4513</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6459, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6461, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, 11 December 2003 (confidential).

2426. Based on the evidence presented, and particularly relying on the positive identification of the remains recovered from the Korićanske Stijene site, the Chamber finds that Nedžad Zulić was one of the men killed at Korićanske Stijene, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZULIĆ, Suad, son of Alija (27, male)

2427. Suad Zulić, ICRC number BAZ-104649-01, born on 16 March 1965, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing on 21 August 1992 in Kozarac. The List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality also records him as having gone missing on 21 August 1992. Decision No. 202/97 issued by the Municipal Court of Sanski Most on 21 May 1997, declared that Suad Zulić died on 15 November 1996. On the basis of witnesses heard, the Sanski Most court found that Suad Zulić was detained in Trnopolje camp, left Trnopolje camp in a convoy and disappeared, together with around 200 other men. The date of death was established as one year from the cessation of hostilities. The Chamber notes that the Defence does not dispute that there is evidence to support the Prosecution's allegation in relation to this individual.

2428. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suad Zulić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### 4. Teslić

## ŠAČIROVIĆ, Fikret, son of Memija (29, male)

2429. Fikret Šačirović is listed as deceased in the Pribinić Register of Deaths, municipality of Prijedor. The date of death is entered as "1992". The place of death is entered as "Pribinić". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4519</sup>

2430. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Fikret Sačirović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# PASTUHOVIĆ, Borislav, son of Ivan (53, male)

2431. Borislav Pastuhović is listed as deceased in the Teslić Register of Deaths, municipality of Teslić. The date of death is entered as "1992". The place of death is stated as "Teslić". The death certificate specifies that the day and month of death could not be established. The entry into the Register of Deaths is based upon decision no. 12-03/1-202-6568/99 issued by Doboj SJB on 6 December 1999. The said decision of Doboj SJB has not been tendered into evidence before the Trial Chamber.

2432. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Borislav Pastuhović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4515</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6467, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4516</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6463, List of Missing People from the Area of Prijedor Municipality (confidential).

<sup>4517</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6464, Lower Court Declaration of Death, 21 May 1997 (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4518 Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 52, "ordinal number" 6462.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4519</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6469.1, Death Certificate of Fikret Šačirović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4520 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6470.1, Death Certificate of Borislav Pastuhović (confidential).

#### BEGOVIĆ, Enes, son of Ibrahim (26, male)

2433. Enes Begović, born on 25 January 1966, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. He went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. Enes Begović is listed as exhumed as one of 28 bodies from a grave in the location of Bebe, Teslić. 4522 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre establishes that the remains labelled "Bebe no. 7" were those of a 25 to 35 year-old, 185 to 190 cm tall male with short, straight brown hair. The victim suffered multiple fractures to the skull, including a circular perforation of the left skull bone which was determined as the cause of death. The victim also suffered fractures to the right collar bone, several fractures to the ribs, and the sternum. 4523 At the time of death, the victim's hands were tied with a double rope. Clothing found on the remains consisted of a darkbrown long-sleeved T-shirt and blue jeans. 4524

2434. The Chamber notes that it has not received any evidence identifying the remains exhumed in Bebe, marked "Bebe no. 7" as being those of Enes Begović. The Chamber is thus unable to find that Enes Begović was killed as at the TO warehouse as charged in the Indictment.

## BEGOVIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Salih (17, male)

2435. Fahrudin Begović, born on 26 December 1974 in Gornja Osivica, Teslić, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the List, Fahrudin Begović went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons on 30 August 1999 in Bebe, Teslić, marked "Bebe no. 3", were identified by Dr. Brkić of the Tešanj health centre as being those of Fahrudin Begović. The identity was confirmed by Fahrudin Begović's father on 13 September 1999. 4525 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre establishes that the victim suffered fatal injuries to the skull in the form of multiple fractures, as well as fractures to two ribs and one arm. At the time of death, the victim's hands were tied with a rope. Clothing found on the remains consisted of light blue jeans, a jacket and a black leather belt. The time of death was established as "1992". 4527

2436. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Begović died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. Based on the evidence that, at the time of his death, Fahrudin Begović's hands were tied with a rope, the Chamber finds that he was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. However, in the absence of evidence that Fahrudin Begović was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Fahrudin Begović died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

## BEGOVIĆ, Senad, son of Ibrahim (20, male)

2437. Senad Begović, born on 8 December 1971 in Gornja Osivica, Teslić, is listed as missing in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the List, he went

525 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4521</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6475, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4522</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6472, List of Identified Persons Exhumed in Bebe (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6474, Autopsy Report Enes Begović (confidential). P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6477, Autopsy Report of Fahrudin Begović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4525 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6479, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6485, List of identified bodies (confidential).

<sup>4526</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6477, Autopsy Report of Fahrudin Begović (confidential). 4527 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6479, Record of Identification (confidential).

missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. 4528 Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons on 30 August 1999 in Bebe, Teslić, marked "Bebe no. 28", were identified as being those of Senad Begović by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as an "entry-exit wound to the head". The identification of his remains carried out by Dr. Brkić's team was confirmed by Sabiha Brkić's father on 17 September 1992. The date of death was established as 1992. Sabiha Brkić's father on 17 September 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Senad Begović was a member of the Croatian Armed Forces from 11 April 1992 to 31 July 1992.

2438. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Senad Begović was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Senad Begović was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Begović was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEGOVIĆ, Suljo, son of Hakija (27, male)

2439. Suljo Begović, born on 13 March 1965 in Gornja Osivica, Teslić, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. His ICRC number was BAZ-107464-01. According to the list, he went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, marked as Bebe no. 5", were identified by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of Tešanj health centre as being those of Suljo Begović. The identification of his remains carried out by Dr. Brkić's team was confirmed by Suljo Begović's wife on 17 September 1999. The autopsy establishes that Suljo Begović died as a result of multiple rib fractures. Parts of clothing found on Suljo Begović's remains were identified as dark blue trainers with white stripes. The time of death is determined as "1992".

2440. While the Chamber observes a discrepancy between the year of birth listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, namely 1955, and the ICRC Missing Persons Report, the Chamber is satisfied that the documentation provided concerns the same person, as the other relevant information is consistent. Furthermore, the autopsy report establishes that the victim was between 25 and 30 years of age at the time of his death.

2441. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Suljo Begović died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Suljo Begović was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that he died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4528</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6483, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4529</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6485, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6484, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4530</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6486, Autopsy Report of Senad Begović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4531</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6484, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4532</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6486, Autopsy Report of Senad Begović, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4533</sup> 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4534</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6491, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6492, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4535</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database, (CHS), "ordinal number" 6490, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4536</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6490, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6489, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4537</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6489, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4538</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6488, Autopsy Report of Suljo Begović; P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6489, Record of Identification (confidential).

#### BOTIĆ, Fehim, son of Dedo (38, male)

2442. Fehim Botić, ICRC number BAZ-103226-01, born on 24 June 1954 in Gomjenica, Teslić, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. He is also listed as missing and deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, he went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, marked as "Bebe no. 18", were identified by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre to be those of Fehim Botić. The identity of the remains was confirmed by Fehim Botić's wife and sister on 12 September 1999. The date of death is recorded as "1992". An ID and bank card were found on Botić's remains. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre establishes the cause of death as multiple fractures to the skull bones. Parts of clothing found on the remains were identified as a blue short-sleeved buttoned shirt.

2443. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fehim Botić died of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Fehim Botić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that he died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

### BOTIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Ibrahim (20, male)

2444. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Ibrahim Botić, born on 10 August 1972 in Bardaci, Teslić went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. His ICRC number is BAZ-108214-01. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić, and marked as "Bebe no. 16", were identified as being those of Ibrahim Botić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The identity of the remains was confirmed through Ibrahim Botić's father and sister. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes that the cause of death was multiple fractures to the skull bones. The victim's hands were tied with a rope. The time of death was established as "1992". Parts of clothing found on the remains were identified as dark blue jeans and a black carved belt.

2445. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Botić died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. Based on the evidence that, at the time of his death, the victim's hands were tied, the Chamber finds that he was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. However, in the absence of evidence that Ibrahim Botić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that he died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4539</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6494, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4540</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6497, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4541</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6499, List of Identified Bodies (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4542</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6495, Record of Identification (confidential).

 <sup>4543</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6500, Autopsy Report of Fehim Botić (confidential).
 4544 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6504, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6502, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4545</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6505, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4546</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6503, Autopsy Report of Ibrahim Botic (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4547</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6505, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4548</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6503, Autopsy Report of Ibrahim Botic (confidential).

### BOTIĆ, Salkan, son of Salkan (19, male)

2446. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List and the ICRC Missing Persons Report state that Salkan Botić, born on 10 December 1992 in Gomjenica, Teslić, ICRC number BAZ-104419-01, went missing on 7 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among the remains of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked "Bebe no. 12", have been identified by the Tešanj health centre as those of Salkan Botić on 12 September 1999. It is identity was confirmed by Salkan Botić's sister. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre states that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head. The time of death was established as "1992". Parts of clothing found on the remains were identified as those of a thin blue short-sleeved T-shirt and green and white Bermuda shorts.

2447. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salkan Botić was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Salkan Botić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Salkan Botić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽINIĆ, Zlatan son of Paša (22, male)

2448. The report of SJB Zenica-Doboj on the site visit of exhumations in Zenica-Doboj dated 26 September 2000 states that mortal remains exhumed "in a wooden box" from an unmarked site at the Muslim cemetery Kruševlje in Stenjak, Teslić on 24 July 2000. The remains marked as "STJ 2/1" were identified as those of Zlatan Džinić, son of Paša, born on 5 April 1970. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Sabiha Brkić establishes that Zlatan Džinić suffered a fracture to the shoulder and fractures to the skull bones, causing his death. Remnants of clothing found on the remains of Zlatan Džinić were those of a long-sleeved blue sweater and jeans. The exhumation report states that, according to the information received by the investigation team, residents of Teslić municipality killed in the 1992–1996 period were buried at the cemetery without markings. According to the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, Zlatan Džinić went missing in Teslić on 6 June 1992.

2449. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Zlatan Džinić died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Zlatan Džinić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Zlatan Džinić died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GALIJAŠEVIĆ, Rasim, son of Teufik (63, male)

2450. Rasim Galijašević, born on 12 February 1929, is listed as deceased in the Teslić Register of Deaths, municipality of Teslić under record number 12 of the year 2001. The date of death is entered as "4 June 1992". Neither the place nor the cause of death is specified.<sup>4557</sup> Rasim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4549</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6510, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6511, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4550</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6513, List of Identified Bodies (confidential).

<sup>4551</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6512, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4552</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6514, Autopsy Report of Salkan Botić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4553</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6512, Record of Identification (confidential). <sup>4554</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6514, Autopsy Report of Salkan Botić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4555</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6517, Exhumation Report, Canton Zenica-Doboj (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4556 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6518, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4557</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6520.1, Death Certificate of Rasim Galijašević, (confidential).

Galijašević is listed as having gone missing in Teslić on 4 June 1992 in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4558

2451. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Rasim Galijašević, was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## GARIĆ, Đulaga, son of Hajdo (44, male)

2452. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Đulaga Garić, born on 8 January 1948 in Irice, Teslić, went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. The list states that his remains were exhumed in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999. His ICRC number was BAZ-107206-01. He is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić, and marked as "Bebe no. 14", were identified as being those of Đulaga Garić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 13 September 1999. The identity of the remains was confirmed by Đulaga Garić's son and brother. The autopsy performed by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre establishes that death was caused by "multiple fractures to the ribs and a penetrating wound to the left clavicle and left shoulder blade." The time of death was established as "1992". No clothing was found on the remains apart from remnants of brown socks.

2453. The Chamber notes that the ICRC Missing Persons Report states Đulaga Garić's date of birth as "7 January 1948". However, on the basis of the other corresponding data, such as the ICRC number and place of birth, the Chamber is satisfied that the documentation concerns the same person.

2454. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Đulaga Garić died a violent death, partly caused by severe beatings. However, in the absence of evidence that Đulaga Garić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Đulaga Garić died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GIBIĆ, Fadil, son of Hasan (32, male)

2455. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Fadil Gibić, born in 1960 in Irice, Teslić, ICRC number BAZ-106221-01, went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. 4567 He is also listed as missing and deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4568 Human remains marked as "Bebe no. 21" were exhumed among those of 28 persons on 30 August 1999 in Bebe,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4558</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6520, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4559</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6526, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4560</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6526, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4561</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6526, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6527, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4562</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6527, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4563</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6523, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6522, List of Identified Bodies (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4564</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6525, Autopsy Report of Đulaga Garić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4565</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6525, Autopsy Report of Đulaga Garić (confidential).

 <sup>4566</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6525, Autopsy Report of Đulaga Garić (confidential).
 4567 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6531, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4568</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6532, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Teslić. 4569 The remains were identified as those of Fadil Gibić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Fadil Gibić's wife. 4570 The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as multiple fractures to the skull and a penetrating wound to the right clavicle and first rib. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on Fadil Gibić's remains were those of a blue track-suit and a chequered sweater. 4571

2456. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Fadil Gibić died a violent death, partly caused by severe beatings. However, in the absence of evidence that Fadil Gibić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Fadil Gibić died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GIBIĆ, Ramiz, son of Nazif (23, male)

2457. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Ramiz Gibić, born in 1969 in Irice, Teslić, ICRC number BAZ-379370-01 went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. The information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić, and marked as "Bebe no. 20", were identified as being those of Ramiz Gibić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as multiple fractures to the skull caused by an entry wound at the juncture of both parietal bones and the occipital bone. The victim also suffered seven broken ribs and a fracture to his left hand. The time of death was established as "1992". Parts of clothing found on Ramiz Gibić's remains were identified as blue jeans.

2458. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Gibić was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. The Chamber notes that he also sustained injuries likely to have been caused by severe beatings. However, in the absence of evidence that Ramiz Gibić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Ramiz Gibić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# GILIĆ, Mirsad, 4578 father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2459. The Chamber has received evidence of ST253 that a man with the name of "Mirsad Gilić" was beaten to death by Miroslav Pijunović (a.k.a. "Piko") at the TO warehouse. 4579 It has also received the evidence of ST008 who stated that a man by the name of "Gilić", who used to be a high school teacher, was repeatedly and severely beaten by Tomo Mihajlović. Gilić was beaten with a chain and a wooden stick. ST008 then saw Gilić being taken out of the TO warehouse and did not

<sup>4579</sup> ST253, 1 November 2010, T. 16670-16672.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4569</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6531, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6529, List of Identified Bodies (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4570</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6530, Record of Identification (confidential).

 <sup>4571</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6534, Autopsy Report of Fadil Gibić (confidential).
 4572 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6539, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45/2</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6539, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4573</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6536, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4574</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6541, Record of Identification (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6537, List of Identified Bodies, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4575</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6538, Autopsy Report of Ramiz Gibić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4576</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6541, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4577</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6538, Autopsy Report of Ramiz Gibić (confidential).

<sup>4578</sup> The Chamber notes that in its Final Victims List, the Prosecution submits that this person's first name is unknown.

ever see him again after this. 4580 ST253 saw that Gilić was eventually killed by Piko who struck him on the head with a hammer. 4581

2460. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Gilić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GLANCER, Viktor, son of Franjo (55, male)

2461. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Viktor Glancer, ICRC number BAZ-107626-01, born in Teslić in 1937, went missing in Teslić on 4 June 1992. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons List. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 26", were identified as being those of Viktor Glancer by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 24 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Viktor Glancer's son. Dr. Brkić established the cause of death as multiple fractures to the skull bones. The victim also sustained nine broken ribs. Parts of clothing found on Viktor Glancer's remains were identified as those of blue jeans, a chequered shirt, and a thin blue jacket. Part of an ID card was found on his remains. The time of death was established as "1992". \*4586\*

2462. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Viktor Glancer died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Viktor Glancer was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Viktor Glancer died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ISIĆ, Numan, son of Ibrahim (21, male)

2463. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Numan Isić, ICRC number BAZ-107021-01, born in Gornji Hrankovići, Teslić in 1971, went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 25", were identified as being those of Numan Isić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 17 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Numan Isić's brother. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes that the victim died of fractures to the neck and skull. Remnants of clothing found on his remains were identified as those of blue jeans and a brown long-sleeved shirt. The time of death was established as "1992".

2464. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Numan Isić died of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Numan Isić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Numan Isić died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4580</sup> ST008, 24 January 2011, T. 19214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4581</sup> ST253, 1 November 2010, T. 16670-16672.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4582</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6547, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4583</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6548, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4584</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6549, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6541, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4585</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6546, Autopsy Report of Viktor Glancer (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4586</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6541, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4587</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6555, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, List of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4588</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6553, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4589</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6552, Autopsy Report of Numan Isić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4590</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6553, Record of Identification (confidential).

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Himzo, son of Šaban (39, male)

2465. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Himzo Jašarević, ICRC number BAZ-105653-01, born in Donji Ruževići, Teslić in 1953, went missing in Teslić on 4 June 1992. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 23", were identified as being those of Himzo Jašarević by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Himzo Jašarević's brother. The autopsy establishes the cause of death as an entry and exit wound to the skull, consistent with the characteristics of a gunshot wound. The time of death was established as "1992". No clothing apart from a pair of black shoes was found on the remains. However, a bank card in Himzo Jašarević's name was found on the remains. The Chamber has received evidence from ST008 who testified that Himzo Jašarević was detained at the TO warehouse in June 1992. According to ST008, Jašarević was repeatedly beaten to the point that he was urinating blood and was eventually killed.

2466. Based on the evidence of ST008, as well as evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Himzo Jašarević was detained, beaten, and killed at the TO warehouse in Teslić in 1992. The Chamber finds that Himzo Jašarević was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KOPIĆ, Besim, a.k.a. "Rambo", son of Emko (26, male)

2467. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Besim Kopić, ICRC number BAZ-103464-01, born in 1966 in Barići, Teslić, went missing in Teslić on 6 June 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Besim Kopić, ICRC number BAZ-103464-01, went missing in Teslić on 6 June 1992. However, the year of birth listed for Besim Kopić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report is "1968". Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 19", were identified as being those of Besim Kopić, a.k.a. "Rambo", by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Besim Kopić's father. He autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as a fractured skull. The victim also sustained three fractured ribs. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as blue overalls, a chequered shirt, and a long-sleeved T-shirt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4591</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6562, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons, (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4592</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6561, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths, Table of Solved Deaths, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4593</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6560, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4594</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6559, Autopsy Report of Himzo Jašarević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4595</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6560, Record of Identification (confidential).

 <sup>4596</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6559, Autopsy Report of Himzo Jašarević (confidential).
 4597 ST008, 24 January 2011, T. 19215-19216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4598</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6566, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4599</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6567, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4600</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6564, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>4601</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6559, Autopsy Report of Himzo Jašarević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4602</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6565, Autopsy Report of Besim Kopić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4603</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6569, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6560, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4604</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6565, Autopsy Report of Besim Kopić (confidential).

2468. The Chamber notes the discrepancy between the dates of birth listed for Besim Kopić in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. On the basis of all the evidence presented in relation to Besim Kopić's identity, the Chamber is nevertheless satisfied that the material concerns the same person.

2469. The Chamber has also received evidence of ST253 that Besim Kopić, a.k.a. "Rambo", was detained at the Teslić SJB building in early June 1992, where he was repeatedly and most severly beaten. ST253 saw Kopić being beaten by Miroslav Pijunović, a.k.a. "Piko", reserve police officers, and others who belonged to the Red Berets. Kopić was beaten with fists, feet, and sticks and tied to a tree before being beaten again. Thereafter, he was taken behind the building and did not return.

2470. Based on the testimony of ST253, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Besim Kopić, a.k.a. "Rambo", was killed at the Teslić SJB building in early June 1992. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed at the TO warehouse, as charged in the Indictment.

# KOPIĆ, Mesud, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2471. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mesud Kopić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mesud Kopić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Zlatan, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2472. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### LUGONJIĆ, Ramo, son of Hasan (36, male)

2473. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Ramo Lugonjić, ICRC number BAZ-109367-01, born in Stenja, Teslić in 1956, went missing in Teslić on 4 June 1992. Honor The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 10", were identified as being those of Ramo Lugonjić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 17 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Ramo Lugonjić's brother. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić states that he suffered multiple fractures to the jaw bones and a penetrating wound to the head, the latter of which was determined as the cause of death. The penetrating wound is consistent with the characteristics of a gunshot wound. The time of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as blue jeans, a chequered shirt, and a brown sweater.

2474. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramo Lugonjić was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. His remains also showed signs of other severe injuries. However, in the absence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4605</sup> ST253, 1 November 2010, T. 16653-16657.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4606</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6570 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4607</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6573 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4608</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6578, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4609</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6579, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4610</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6576, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6576, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4611</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6577, Autopsy Report of Ramo Lugonjić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4612</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6575, List of Identified Bodies (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4613</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6577, Autopsy Report Ramo Lugonjić (confidential).

of evidence that Ramo Lugonjić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Ramo Lugonjić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEDIĆ, Nihad, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2475. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nihad Medić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Medić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MEMIĆ, Dževad, son of Ismet (20, male)

2476. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Dževad Memić, ICRC number BAZ-104625-01, born in 1972 in Donji Hrankovići, Teslić, went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Dževad Memić, ICRC number BAZ-104625-01, went missing in Tešanj in June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 8", were identified as being those of Dževad Memić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 17 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Dževad Memić's son-in-law. Health centre on 17 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Dževad Memić's son-in-law. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as a "penetrating wound to the head and pelvis". The time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the remains was identified as blue jeans.

2477. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Memić was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Dževad Memić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Dževad Memić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEMIĆ, Munir, son of Osman (21, male)

2478. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Munir Memić, ICRC number BAZ-108679-01, born in 1971 in Donji Hrankovići, Teslić, went missing in Teslić on 11 June 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Munir Memić, ICRC number BAZ-108679-01, went missing in Teslić on 12 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 6", were identified as being those of Munir Memić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 13 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Munir Memić's sister. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as an entry-exit wound to the head. The victim also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4614</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6581 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4615</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6586, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4616</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6584, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4617</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6583, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6585, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4618</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6587, Autopsy Report of Dževad Memić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4619</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6585, Record of Identification (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6587, Autopsy Report of Dževad Memić (confidential).
 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6593, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

4622 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6594, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4623</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6591, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6589, Record of Identification (confidential).

sustained a fractured neck and multiple fractures to his right upper leg. 4624 The time of death was established as "1992". 4625 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a light blue overall. 4626

2479. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Munir Memić was killed in Teslić in 1992. The Chamber notes that he also sustained injuries likely to have resulted from severe beatings. However, in the absence of evidence that Munir Memić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Munir Memić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### PAŠIĆ, Sedad, son of Smajo (26, male)

2480. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Sedad Pašić, born in 1966 in Teslić, went missing in Teslić on 4 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 22", were identified as being those of Sedad Pašić by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 12 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Sedad Pašić's brother. He autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić states that Sedad Pašić's death was caused through multiple fractures of the ribs on both sides. The victim also suffered fractures of five dorsal vertebrae, a fracture of his upper jaw, and a fracture of his right upper arm. He date of death was established as "1992". He date of death was established as "1992".

2481. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sedad Pašić died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Sedad Pašić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that he died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

### RAŠIĆ, Alija, son of Alija (21, male)

2482. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Alija Rašić, ICRC number BAZ-307051-01, born in Brdaći, Teslić in 1971, went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 27", were identified as being those of Alija Rašić, a.k.a. "Bego", by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Alija Rašić's brother. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as multiple fractures to the skull. The time of death was established as "1992". Clothing found on the remains was identified as blue jeans. A damaged ID card was also found on the remains.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4624</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6592, Autopsy Report of Munir Memić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4625</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6589, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>4626</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6592, Autopsy Report of Munir Memić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4627</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6600, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4628</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6596, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6598, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4629</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6597, Autopsy Report of Sedad Pašić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4630</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6598, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4631</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6597, Autopsy Report of Sedad Pašić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4632</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6608, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4633</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6607, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4634</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6604, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6603, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4635</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6605, Autopsy Report of Alija Rašić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4636</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6606, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>4637</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6605, Autopsy Report Alija Rašić (confidential).

2483. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Alija Rašić died as a result of severe beatings in Teslić in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Alija Rašić was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that he died as a result of beatings there, as charged in the Indictment.

### SALKIČEVIĆ, Nihad, son of Mehmed (19, male)

2484. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Nihad Salkičević, ICRC number BAZ-103228-01, born in Gornji Hrankovići, Teslić in 1973, went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. He ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Nihad Salkičević, ICRC number BAZ-103228-01, went missing in Telsić on 11 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 17", were identified as being those of Nihad Salkičević by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 13 September 1999. The identity was confirmed by Nihad Salkičević's mother. He autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić establishes the cause of death as a "penetrating wound to the head", showing characteristics of a gunshot wound to the back of his head. At the time of his death, his hands had been tied with a rope. The time of death was established as "1992". He death, his hands had been tied with a rope. The time of death was established as "1992". He death, his hands had been tied with a rope. He time of death was established as "1992". He death, his hands had been tied with a rope. He time of death was established as "1992". He time of death was established as "1992".

2485. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nihad Salkičević was shot and killed in Teslić in 1992. Based on the evidence that, at the time of his death, Nihad Salkičević's hands were tied with a rope, the Chamber finds that Nihad Salkičević was not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. However, in the absence of evidence that Nihad Salkičević was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Nihad Salkičević was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### TATAREVIĆ, Safet, son of Hasan (24, male)

2486. The BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List states that Safet Tatarević, ICRC number BAZ-107137-01, born in Teslić in 1968, went missing in Teslić on 7 June 1992. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Safet Tatarević, ICRC number BAZ-107137-01, went missing in Teslić on 9 June 1992. Human remains exhumed among those of 28 persons from a grave in Bebe, Teslić on 30 August 1999, and marked as "Bebe no. 2", were identified as being those of Safet Tatarević by Dr. Sabiha Brkić of the Tešanj health centre on 24 September 1999. His identity was confirmed by his wife and brother. The autopsy carried out by Dr. Brkić states that death was caused by "a blast wound to the head and serial fracture of the ribs on the left". The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4638</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6614, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4639</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6607, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4640</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6612, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6610, Record of Identification (confidential).

 <sup>4641</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6611, Autopsy Report of Nihad Salkičević (confidential).
 4642 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6610, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4643</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6611, Autopsy Report of Nihad Salkičević (confidential). <sup>4644</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6620, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4645</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6619, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4646</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6621, List of Identified Bodies (confidential); P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS) "ordinal number" 6618, Record of Identification (confidential).

victim also suffered a fractured left leg. The date of death was established as "1992". Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as a white T-shirt. Heavy the state of th

2487. On the basis of the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Safet Tatarević died a violent death, caused by a blast wound to this head in Teslić in 1992. His remains also showed signs of other severe injuries. However, in the absence of evidence that Safet Tatarević was detained at the TO warehouse, the Chamber is unable to find that Safet Tatarević was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TIBETANAC, Victor, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2488. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Viktor Tibetanac's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Viktor Tibetanac was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### 5. <u>Višegrad</u>

#### (a) Adem Omeragić's house/Pionirska street

2489. As regards the incident of "[T]he killing of about 70 people in the house of Adem Omeragić on Pionirska street in Nova Mahala in Višegrad on or about 14 June 1992" charged in the Indictment, 4651 the Chamber notes that, for the majority of the alleged individually named victims, no evidence other than a generic reference to the "Lukić judgement" was provided. For the remainder of the victims, the Prosecution did not adduce evidence sufficient to prove their deaths as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber also notes that the Prosecution has not revised its alleged victims list even after the Trial Chamber in the Lukić and Lukić case had found persons on this list to be alive or not to have existed. The Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has not proved that any of the individually named victims were killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ŠEHIĆ, Enver, son of Rasim (11, male)**

2490. Enver Šehić, born in 1981 in Karaula, Ilijaš, is listed in the Victim Record as having on 14 June 1992. According to the Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims list, Enver Šehić from Mušići, Višegrad, was robbed and abducted and is believed to have been murdered on 28 May 1992. 4653

2491. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enver Šehić died between 28 May and 14 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Enver Šehić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Enver Šehić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **ŠEHIĆ, Faruk, son of Rasim (12, male)**

2492. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Faruk Šehić, born on 28 December 1979 in Višegrad, went missing in Mušići, Višegrad, on 13 June 1992. 4654 The Victim Record states that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4647</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6618, Autopsy Report of Safet Tatarević (confidential).

<sup>4648</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6618, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4649</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6618, Autopsy Report of Safet Tatarević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4650</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6623 (confidential).

<sup>4651</sup> Indictment Schedule A n. 4.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4652</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6626, Victim Record (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4653</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6625, Višegrad Area War Crimes Victims (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4654</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6629, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

was murdered on 14 June 1992 in Višegrad. 4655 According to the FIS database, Faruk Šehić died in Višegrad on 13 June 1992. 4656

2493. Based on the evidence presented the Chamber finds that Faruk Šehić died on or about 13 or 14 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Faruk Šehić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Faruk Šehić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ŠEHIĆ, Haraga, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2494. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Haraga Šehić's death. 4657 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Haraga Šehić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## ŠEHIĆ, Kada, daughter of Hasib Kurspahić (44, female)

2495. Kada Šehić, ICRC number BAZ-109751-01, born on 31 January 1948 in Višegrad is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Person's Report. According to the Report, she went missing in Višegrad on 13 June 1992. 4658 The Victim Record states that Kada Šehić went missing in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. The date of death recorded for Kada Šehić in the FIS database is 13 June 1992. The place of death is recorded as "Višegrad". 4659

2496. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Kada Šehić died on or about 13 or 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Kada Šchić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is, however, unable to find that Kada Šehić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### AJANOVIĆ, Mula, daughter of Zajko (72, female)

2497. Mula Ajanović, born in 1920 in Višegrad, is listed in the Victim Record as having gone missing and died on 14 June 1992. The place of death is listed as "Višegrad". 4660

2498. In the absence of evidence that Mula Ajanović was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Mula Ajanović died there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **DELIJA**, Adis, son of Omer (1-6, male)

2499. Adis Delija, ICRC number BAZ-109377-03, born on 27 October 1990 in Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. He is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4661 The Victim Record states that he went missing on 14 June 1992 and that he died in Višegrad. 4662 The Chamber has also received a death certificate issued by the municipal authorities of Višegrad in the year 2011. The death certificate states that Adis Delija died on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4655</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6628, Victim Record (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4656</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6631, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

4657 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6633 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4658</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6636, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6637, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 4660 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6640, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4661</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6644, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4662</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6645, Victim Record (confidential).

22 December 1996. The death certificate does not specify the cause or circumstances of his death. The place of death entered is "Višegrad". The death certificate further states that it has been issued pursuant to decision R-714/03 of 29 March 2004 rendered by the Sarajevo municipal court. The Prosecution has not tendered the said decision.

2500. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Adis Delija is deceased. In the absence of evidence that Adis Delija was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Adis Delija died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## DELIJA, Ajnija, née IMAMOVIĆ, daughter of Nurif (46, female)

2501. Ajnija Delija, ICRC number BAZ-109377-01, born in 1946 in Žepa, Rogatica, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. The Victim Record states that Ajnija Delija was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. Helipa vas murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992.

2502. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ajnija Delija died in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Ajnija Delija was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is, however, unable to find that Ajnija Delija died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### DELIJA, Jasmina, née KURSPAHIĆ, daughter of Safet (25, female)

2503. Jasmina Delija, ICRC number BAZ-109377-03, born in 1967 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. The Victim Record states that Jasmina Delija was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. He victim Record states that Jasmina Delija was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992.

2504. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmina Delija died in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Jasmina Delija was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is, however, unable to find that Jasmina Delija died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Hajra, née HALILOVIĆ, daughter of Zgalj (41, female)

2505. Hajra Jašarević, née Halilović, ICRC number BAZ-106799-01, born in 1951 in Novoseoci, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Sase, Višegrad in June 1992. He entry in the Sarajevo Household Survey adduced by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Hajra Jašarević died at the Omeragić House does not concern the named individual. The Chamber will therefore disregard the document in relation to Hajra Jašarević.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4663</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6645.1, Death Certificate of Adis Delija (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4664</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6649, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4665</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6648, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4666</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6652, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4667</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6653, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4668</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6652, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4669</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6656, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

2506. In the absence of evidence that Hajra Jašarević was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Hajra Jašarević died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Meho, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2507. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Meho Jašarević's death. 4670 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Meho Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## JAŠAREVIĆ, Mujo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2508. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mujo Jašarević's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mujo Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# JAŠAREVIĆ, Tima, daughter of Mujo (age unknown, female)

2509. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Tima Jašarević's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Tima Jašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Šaha, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2510. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Šaha Kurspahić's death. 4673 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Šaha Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Šelja father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2511. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Šelja Kurspahić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Šelja Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Aiša, daughter of Abdulah (44, female)

- 2512. According to the Victim Record, Aiša Kurspahić, born in 1948 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 15 June 1992. 4675
- 2513. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Aiša Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Aida, daughter of Hidajet (13-14, female)

2514. Aida Kurspahić, ICRC number BAS-003257-01, born in 1979 in Koritnik, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4676 According to the Victim Record, Aida Kurspahić was murdered in Višegrad on

Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4670</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6659 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4671</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6661 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4672</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6663 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4673</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6664 (confidential).

 <sup>4674</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6666 (confidential).
 4675 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6669, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>4676</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6674, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending

15 June 1992. 4677 The entry in the Sarajevo Household Survey adduced by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Aida Kurspahić died at the Omeragić House does not concern the named individual. The Chamber will therefore disregard the document in relation to Aida Kurspahić.

2515. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aida Kurspahić died in Višegrad on or about 14 to 15 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Aida Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is, however, unable to find that Aida Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Ajka, daughter of Ibrahim (65-66, female)

2516. Ajka Kruspahić, ICRC number BAS-003257-03, born in 1926 in Kurtalići, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. According to the Victim Record, Ajka Kurspahić, born in 1927 in Kurtalići, Višegrad, is reported to have been murdered in Višegrad on 15 June 1992. The entry in the Sarajevo Household Survey adduced by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Ajka Kurspahić died at the Omeragić House does not concern the named individual. The Chamber will therefore disregard this document in its analysis.

2517. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ajka Kurspahić died in Višegrad on or about 14 to 15 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Ajka Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is, however, unable to find that Ajka Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Alija, son of Suljo (55, male)

2518. Alija Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-108305-01, born in 1937 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. He is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 11 June 1992. He Victim Record states that Alija Kurspahić was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. He Victim Record states that Alija Kurspahić was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992.

2519. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Alija Kurspahić died in Višegrad between 11 and 15 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Alija Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Almir, son of Hidajet (12, male)

2520. Almir Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-003257-05, born in 1980 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. He is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. According to the Victim Record, Almir Kurspahić was murdered in Višegrad on 15 June 1992. The Sarajevo Household Survey states that Almir Kurspahić, son of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4677</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6671, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4678</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6672, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4679</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6680, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4680</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6677, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4681</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6679, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4682</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6683, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4683</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6682, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4684</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6689, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4685</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6688, Victim Record (confidential).

Mehmet, born in 1980, was killed in Višegrad on 15 June 1992. 4686 The Chamber notes that the person named in the Sarajevo Household Survey has a different father to the person named in the Indictment. It therefore considers that the Sarajevo Household Survey relates to an individual other than the one named in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber will not consider the Sarajevo Household Survey in relation to Almir Kurspahić.

2521. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Almir Kurspahić died in Višegrad between 14 and 15 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Almir Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Almir Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Aner, son of Omer (10, male)

- 2522. Aner Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-106678-01, born in 1982 in Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the Report, he went missing on 29 May 1992 in Dobrun, Višegrad. 4687
- 2523. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Aner Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Bećar, son of Hamed (age unknown, male)

2524. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Bećar Kurspahić's death. 4688 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Bećar Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Bisera, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

- 2525. According to the Victim Record, Bisera Kurspahić, born in Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4689
- 2526. In the absence of evidence that Bisera Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Bisera Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Bula, née HADŽIĆ, daughter of Mujo (58, female)

- 2527. Bula Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-106432-01, born in 1934 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 17 June 1992. 4690
- 2528. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Bula Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4686</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6687, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4687</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6691, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4688</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6693 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4689</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6695, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4690</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6698, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

### KURSPAHIĆ, Džefa, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2529. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Džefa Kurspahić's death. 4691 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Džefa Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Enesa, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2530. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Enesa Kurspahić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Enesa Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age and gender unknown)

2531. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this individual's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Haša, daughter of Hasan (19, female)

- 2532. According to the Victim Record, Haša Kurspahić, born in 1973 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 13 June 1992. 4694
- 2533. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Haša Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Hajrija, daughter of Ramo (78, female)

- 2534. According to the Victim Record, Hajrija Kurspahić, born in 1914 in Šip, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 13 June 1992. 4695
- 2535. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hajrija Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Halida, daughter of Eniz (9, female)

- 2536. The Victim Record lists Halida Kurspahić, born in 1982 in Koritnik, Višegrad, as having gone missing on 14 June 1992 and died in Višegrad. A death certificate issued in the year 2011 by the municipal authorities of Višegrad states that Halida Kurspahić died on 14 June 1992. Neither place nor cause of death are recorded in the death certificate.
- 2537. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halida Kurspahić died in Višegrad on or about 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Halida Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Halida Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4691</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6701 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4692</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6703 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4693</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6705 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4694</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6707, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4695</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6710, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4696</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6714, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4697</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6714.1, Death Certificate of Halida Kurspahić (confidential).

## KURSPAHIĆ, Hasan, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2538. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hasan Kurspahić's death. 4698 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasan Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Hasiba, daughter of Hasib (40, female)

- 2539. The Victim Record states that Hasiba Kurspahić, born in 1952 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 1 June 1992. 4699
- 2540. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasiba Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasiba Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Hasnija, father's name unknown (age unknown, gender unknown)

2541. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Hasnija Kurspahić's death. 4700 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Hasnija Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Hata, daughter of Hadžan (71, female)

- 2542. Hata Kurspahić, born in 1921 in Šip, Višegrad, is listed as having been murdered in Višegrad on 1 June 1992. 4701 According to the FIS database, Hata Kurspahić died in Višegrad on 13 June 1992. 4702
- 2543. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hata Kurspahić was killed in Višegrad between 1 and 13 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Hata Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Hata Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Ifeta, daughter of Ismet (17, female)

- 2544. Ifeta Kurspahić, born in 1975 in Višegrad, is listed as deceased in the Victim Record. According to this record, she went missing on 11 June 1992 and died in Višegrad. 4703
- 2545. In the absence of evidence that Ifeta Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Ifeta Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Igabala, daughter of Adem (age unknown, female)

2546. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Igabala Kurspahić's death. 4704 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Igabala Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

544

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4698</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6716 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4699</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6719, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4700</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6664 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4701</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6723, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4702</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6722, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).  $^{4703}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6726, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4704</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6729 (confidential).

### KURSPAHIĆ, Ismet, son of Fehrat (1, male)

2547. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-106432-03, born on 30 July 1990 in Koritnik, Višegrad, went missing in Višegrad on 17 June 1992. The Victim Record lists him as deceased. According to the Victim Record, he went missing in Višegrad on 17 June 1992. The place of death is recorded as "Višegrad".

2548. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismet Kurspahić was killed in Višegrad on or about 17 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Ismet Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismet Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Ismeta, née VATRES, daughter of Meho (32, female)

2549. Ismeta Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-003257-02, born on 30 April 1960 in Brštanica, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have disappeared in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. According to the Sarajevo Household Survey, Ismeta Kurspahić was killed in Višegrad on 15 June 1992. The Victim Record states that Ismeta Kurspahić, daughter of Meho, born in 1960, was murdered in Višegrad on 15 June 1992.

2550. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ismeta Kurspahić was killed in Višegrad between 14 and 15 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Ismeta Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismeta Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Izeta, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2551. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Izeta Kurspahić's death. <sup>4710</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Izeta Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Lejla, daughter of Omer (age unknown, female)

2552. The Victim Record states that Lejla Kurspahić, born in Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4711

2553. In the absence of evidence that Lejla Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Lejla Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Maida, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2554. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Maida Kurspahić's death. <sup>4712</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Maida Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4705</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6731, ICRC Report-Missing Persons on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4706</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6732, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4707</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6735, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4708</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6736, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4709</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6738, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4710</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6740 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4711</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6743, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4712</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6745 (confidential).

### KURSPAHIĆ, Medina, daughter of Medo (30, female)

- 2555. The Victim Record states that Medina Kurspahić, born in 1962 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4713
- 2556. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Medina Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Medo, son of Bego (65, male)

- 2557. According to the Victim Record, Medo Kurspahić, born in 1927 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 11 June 1992. 4714
- 2558. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Medo Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Mejra, daughter of Ibro (53, female)

- 2559. The Victim Record states that Mejra Kurspahić, born in 1939 in Dolovi, Rudo, was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992.  $^{4715}$
- 2560. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mejra Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Meva, daughter of Ibro (age unknown, female)

2561. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Meva Kurspahić's death. <sup>4716</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Meva Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Mina, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2562. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Mina Kurspahić's death. <sup>4717</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Mina Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Mirela, daughter of Fehrat (3, female)

2563. Mirela Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-106432-04, born on 27 September 1988, in Oritnik, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have gone missing in Koritnik, Višegrad on 17 June 1992. The Victim Record states that she went missing on 17 June 1992 and died in Višegrad. A death certificate issued by the Višegrad municipal authorities in the year 2011 states that Mirela Kurspahić died on 17 June 1992 in Višegrad. The cause of death is not recorded. The death certificate is based upon decision P-869/98 of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4713</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6747, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4714</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6751, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4715</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6753, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4716</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6755 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4717</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6757 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4718</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6761, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4719</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6759, Victim Record (confidential).

municipal court. 4720 The Chamber notes that the Prosecution has not tendered the said decision of the Višegrad municipal court.

2564. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mirela Kurspahić died in Višegrad on or about 17 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Mirela Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Mirela Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Mujesira, daughter of Ismet (34, female)

2565. The Chamber has received a death certificate for Mujesira Kurspahić issued by the Višegrad municipal authorities in the year 2011. According to the death certificate, Mujesira Kurspahić, born on 17 December 1957 in Bogdašići, Višegrad, died on 14 June 1992. Neither the cause nor the place of death are recorded. 4721

2566. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mujesira Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Munevera, daughter of Alija (27-31, female)

2567. Munevera Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-108305-03, born in 1964 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as having gone missing in Višegrad on 11 June 1992. The Chamber has also received a death certificate for Munevera Kurspahić issued by the Višegrad municipal authorities in the year 2011. According to the death certificate, Munevera Kurspahić, born on 19 August 1964 in Koritnik, Višegrad, died on 16 December 1996. Neither the cause nor the place of death are recorded. 4723

2568. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Munevera Kurspahić is deceased. In the absence of evidence that Munevera Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Munevera Kurspahić died there, as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Munira, father's name unknown (12, female)

2569. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Munira Kurspahić's death. <sup>4724</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Munira Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Munira, daughter of Šerif (53, female)

2570. Munira Kurspahić, ICRC number BAZ-108305-02, born in 1939 in Rogatica, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as a having gone missing in Višegrad on 11 June 1992. 4725

2571. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Munira Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4720</sup> P244, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6761.1, Death Certificate of Mirela Kurspahić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4721 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6763.1, Death Certificate of Mujesira Kurspahić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4722 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6766, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4723</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6766.1, Death Certificate of Munevera Kurspahić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4724</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6767 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4725</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6766, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

## KURSPAHIĆ, Osman, son of Ramo (66, male)

- 2572. According to the Sarajevo Household Survey, Osman Kurspahić, born in 1926, was killed in Višegrad on 15 June 1992.  $^{4726}$
- 2573. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Osman Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Pašija, child of Mehmed (age unknown, gender unknown)

2574. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Pašija Kurspahić's death. <sup>4727</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Pašija Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Ramiza, daughter of Ohran (age unknown, female)

2575. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Ramiza Kurspahić's death. 4728 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Ramiza Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Sabiha, daughter of Hasan (20, female)

- 2576. The Victim record states that Sabiha Kurspahić, born in 1972 in Koritnik, Višegrad, was murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4729
- 2577. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sabiha Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Sadeta, née ALJIĆ, daughter of Hamed (20, female)

- 2578. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Sadeta Kurspahić, BAZ-915206-02, born in 1972 in Polje, Višegrad, as having disappeared in Višegrad in August 1992. 4730
- 2579. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sadeta Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Safa, daughter of Omer (age unknown, female)

2580. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Safa Kurspahić's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Safa Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

# KURSPAHIĆ, Sajmija, daughter of Hasan (24, female)

2581. The Victim Record lists Sajmija Kurspahić, born in 1968 in Koritnik, Višegrad, as having been murdered in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4732

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4726</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6772, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4727</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6775 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4728</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6776 (confidential).

<sup>4729</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6780, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4730</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6783, ICRC Report-Missing Persons on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4731</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6786 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4732</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6788, Victim Record (confidential).

2582. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sajmija Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Seniha, daughter of Đemail (age unknown, female)

2583. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Seniha Kurspahić's death. <sup>4733</sup> Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Seniha Kurspahić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KURSPAHIĆ, Sumbula, daughter of Šerfo (76, female)

2584. The Chamber has received a death certificate for Sumbula Kurspahić issued by the Višegrad municipal authorities in the year 2011. According to the death certificate, Sumbula Kurspahić, born on 15 March 1916 in Bodežnik, Višegrad, died on 14 June 1992. Neither the cause nor the place of death are recorded.<sup>4734</sup>

2585. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sumbula Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURSPAHIĆ, Vahid, son of Hidajet (10, male)

2586. Vahid Kurspahić, ICRC number BAS-003257-06, born on 19 November 1981 in Koritnik, Višegrad, is listed as missing in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the Report, he went missing in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. The record of the Sarajevo Household Survey on which the Prosecution relies in support of its allegation that Vahid Kurspahić was among the persons killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992 does not list any individual by the name of Vahid Kurspahić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the document in relation to Vahid Kurspahić.

2587. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Vahid Kurspahić was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### Last name unknown, Hasema, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2588. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove this person's death. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MEMIŠEVIĆ, Fazila, daughter of Suljo (age unknown, female)

2589. The record of the Sarajevo Household Survey on which the Prosecution relies in support of its allegation that Fazila Memišević was among the persons killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992 does not list any individual by the name of Fazila Memišević. The Chamber thus considers that it has not been provided with any evidence in support of the Prosecution's allegation. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Fazila Memišević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4733</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6791 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4734</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6793.1, Death Certificate of Sumbula Kurspahić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4735 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6797, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>4736</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6796, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4737</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6798 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4738</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6800, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Redžo, son of Halil (56, male)

2590. The Sarajevo Household Survey record states that Redžo Memišević, born in 1936 was killed in Višegrad on 28 June 1992. He is reported to have been "burned in the house". 4739 The Chamber notes that the document hyperlinked to the Proof of Death Database Victim Record entry, is unrelated to the issue at hand. 4740

2591. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Redžo Memišević was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### SADIKOVIĆ, Rabija, née HOTA, daughter of Abid (52, female)

2592. The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Rabija Sadiković, ICRC number BAS-003399-01, born on 12 September 1939 in Naselje Šip, as having died in Višegrad on 14 June 1992. 4741 The Victim Record states that Rabija Sadiković went missing on 14 June 1992. Her place of death is recorded as "Višegrad". 4742

2593. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Rabija Sadiković died on or about 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Rabija Sadiković was among the people killed at the Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Rabija Sadiković died there, as charged in the Indictment.

### VELIĆ, Nurka, father's name unknown (age unknown, female)

2594. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Nurka Velić's death. 4743 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurka Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### VELIĆ, Tima, daughter of Fehim (age unknown, female)

2595. The Chamber notes that no evidence has been presented to prove Tima Velić's death. 4744 Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Tima Velić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### VILA, Jasmina, daughter of Mustafa (21, female)

2596. Jasmina Vila, ICRC number BAZ-107300-02, born on 24 February 1971 in Mušići, Višegrad, is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. She is reported to have died in Vučine, Višegrad, in July 1992. 4745 The Victim Record states that she disappeared on 14 June 1992 and died in Višegrad. 4746 The FIS database records that Jasmina Vila died on 14 June 1992 in Višegrad. 4747

2597. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Jasmina Vila died on or about 14 June 1992. In the absence of evidence that Jasmina Vila was among the people killed at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4739</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6804, Sarajevo Household Survey (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4740</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6803 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4741</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6809, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6808, Victim Record (confidential).

<sup>4743</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6811 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4744</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6812 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4745</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6815, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6814, Victim Record (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 6817, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

Omeragić House on 14 June 1992, the Chamber is unable to find that Jasmina died there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### 6. Vlasenica

#### (a) Execution at Nova Kasaba

### AHMETOVIĆ, Galib, son of Hakija (40, male)

2598. Galib Ahmetović, born in 1952 in Krasanovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The Chamber has received evidence that Galib Ahmetović, son of Hakija, served in the BiH armed forces from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992 while carrying out defence related duties. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Galib Ahmetović was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2599. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Galib Ahmetović was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Galib Ahmetović was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Galib Ahmetović was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Alija, son of Omer (29, male)

2600. Alija Alić, born in 1963 in Voljavica, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci on 30 June 1998. In support of the allegation that Alija Alić was one of 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, the Prosecution refers the Chamber to the evidence of Suad Džafić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Alija Alić, son of Omer, served in the BiH armed forces from 17 April 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992 while carrying out defence related duties. Arisa

2601. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Alija Alić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4754 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the

551 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4748</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7011, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4749</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 366 (confidential). <sup>4750</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4751 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7014, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4752</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7015 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4753</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 376 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4754</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Alija Alić who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Alija Alić was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Alija Alić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Alija Alić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Hidajet, son of Ibro (25, male)

2602. Hidajet Alić, ICRC number BAZ-902230-01, born in 1967 in Biljača, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber has received evidence that Hidajet Alić, son of Ibro, served in the BiH armed forces from 15 July 1992 to 1 September 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba while on military duty. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Hidajet Alić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2603. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hidajet Alić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Hidajet Alić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but does not record a precise time and place of his death. The Chamber notes that the BiH record states that Hidajet Alić served until 1 September 1992. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Chamber considers the evidence of Suad Džafić and the consistent record of Hidajet Alić's time and place of disappearance, as recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, sufficient for it to find that Hidajet Alić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

# DŽAFIĆ, Fahrudin, son of Senahid (25, male)

2604. Fahrudin Džafić, born in 1967 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber has received evidence that Fahrudin Džafić, son of Senahid, served in the BiH armed forces from 18 April 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992 while on military duty. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Fahrudin Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4755</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7017, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4756</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 368 (confidential). <sup>4757</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4758 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7021, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4759</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 369 (confidential).
 <sup>4760</sup> P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

2605. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Fahrudin Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Fahrudin Džafić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Fahrudin Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAFIĆ, Fejzo, son of Ramiz (24, male)

2606. Fejzo Džafić, born in 1968 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber has received evidence that Fejzo Džafić, son of Ramiz, served in the BiH armed forces in Živinice from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992 while on military duty. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Fejzo Džafić, was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2607. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Fejzo Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Fejzo Džafić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is satisfied that Fejzo Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽAFIĆ, Hamed, son of Mehmed (22, male)

2608. Hamed Džafić, ICRC number BAZ-103268-01, born in 1970 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Hamed Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Hamed Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

553 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4761</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7024, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4762</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7024, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4763</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 470 (confidential). <sup>4764</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>4765</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7029, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4766</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7028, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4767</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

2609. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hamed Džafić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAFIĆ, Huso, son of Vehbija (32, male)

2610. Huso Džafić, ICRC number BAZ-102590-01, born in 1960 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Huso Džafić, was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2611. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Huso Džafić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽAFIĆ, Ibro, son of Mehmed (27, male)

2612. Ibro Džafić, ICRC number BAZ-103270-01, born in 1965 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ibro Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ibro Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2613. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ibro Džafić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### **DŽAFIĆ**, Mehmed, son of Ibro (47, male)

2614. Mehmed Džafić, ICRC number BAZ-103268-02, born in 1945 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mehmed Džafić went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4768</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7032, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4769</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7028, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4770</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4771 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7036, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4772</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7037, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4773</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4774 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7042, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4775</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7037, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Suad Džafić that Mehmed Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. 4776

2615. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Džafić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## DŽAFIĆ, Mirsad, son of Ramo (22, male)

2616. Mirsad Džafić, ICRC number BAZ-103271-01, born in 1970 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 18 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mirsad Džafić went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Mirsad Džafić, was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2617. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Džafić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DŽAFIĆ, Osman, son of Džafer (35, male)

2618. Osman Džafić, born in 1957 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber has received evidence that Osman Džafić, son of Džafer, served in the BiH armed forces from 17 April 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Nova Kasaba while performing defence related duties. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Osman Džafić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2619. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Osman Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Osman Džafić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Osman Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4776</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4777 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7046, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4778</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7047, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4779</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4780 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7050, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4781</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 370 (confidential). <sup>4782</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

### DŽAFIĆ, Samir, son of Maho (20, male)

2620. Samir Džafić, son of Maho, ICRC number BAZ-111747-02, born in 1972 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber notes that the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List includes a second person by the name of Samir Džafić listed under the same ICRC number, BAZ-111747-02. This person was born in 1966 in Prijedor. His father's name is "Smail". According to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Samir Džafić, son of Maho went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992 and the other information is largely consistent with the information recorded in relation to the same individual in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. However, he is listed under ICRC number BAZ-103273-01. The Chamber thus considers that the information recorded in relation to Samir Džafić, son of Maho, concerns the same individual, and that the difference in ICRC numbers stems from a clerical error.

2621. The Chamber has received evidence that Samir Džafić, son of Maho, born in 1972 in Bratunac, served in the BiH armed forces in Sebrenica from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed at Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica on 21 May 1992. The register of the BiH Ministry of Justice further states that Samir Džafić was captured and executed by enemy forces during the occupation of Bratunac and its surrounding areas. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Samir Džafić, was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2622. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Samir Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Samir Džafić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces, but records the time and circumstances of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Samir Džafić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

## HUSEINOVIĆ, Azem, son of Hasib (20, male)

2623. Azem, Huseinović, born in 1972 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. In support of the allegation that Azem Huseinović was one of 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, the Prosecution also refers the Chamber to the evidence of Suad Džafić. 4789

<sup>4789</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7060 (confidential).

556 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4783</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4784</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7054, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4785</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7055, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4786</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 325 (confidential). <sup>4787</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4788 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7058, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

2624. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Azem Huseinović was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4790 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Azem Huseinović who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Azem Huseinović was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

### KARIĆ, Arif, son of Omer (24, male)

2625. Arif Karić, ICRC number BAZ-103277-01, born in 1968 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he went missing on 21 May 1992 in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Arif Karić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2626. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Arif Karić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### KARIĆ, Ramiz, son of Avdo (45, male)

2627. Ramiz Karić, ICRC number BAZ-102610-01, born in 1947 in Krasanpolje, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Vitkovići, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ramiz Karić, born in Vitkovići, went missing in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ramiz Karić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2628. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Karić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MUJČIĆ, Aziz, son of Azem (32, male)

2629. Aziz Mujčić, ICRC number BAZ-103104-01, born in 1960 in Rakovac, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4790</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4791</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7069, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4792</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7064, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4793</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4794 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7062, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4795</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7064, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber notes the difference in places of birth as recorded in the two missing persons reports.

reports. <sup>4796</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The Chamber has also received evidence that Aziz Mujčić, son of Azem, served in the BiH armed forces from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 21 May 1992 in Nova Kasaba while off duty.

2630. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aziz Mujčić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4799 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Aziz Mujčić who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Aziz Mujčić was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Aziz Mujčić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record is consistent with this information. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Aziz Mujčić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### MUJČIĆ, Halid, son of Azem (26, male)

2631. Halid Mujčić, ICRC number BAZ-103104-02, born in 1966 in Rakovac, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Halid Mujčić went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992. In support of the allegation that Halid Mujčić was one of 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, the Prosecution also refers the Chamber to the evidence of Suad Džafić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Halid Mujčić served in the BiH armed forces from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Vlasenica in 1992 while performing defence related duties.

2632. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Halid Mujčić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4804 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Halid Mujčić who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Halid Mujčić was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Halid Mujčić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Halid Mujčić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4797</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7072, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

 <sup>4798 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 471 (confidential).
 4799 Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4800</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7075, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4801</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7074, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4802</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7076, Reference to Suad Džafić, P2281, Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 20 June 2000; Suad Džafić, P2280, Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4803</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 392 (confidential).
 <sup>4804</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

### MUJČIĆ, Salih, son of Aziz (age unknown)

2633. The Chamber notes that the witness statement referred to by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Salih Mujčić was killed at Nova Kasaba, does not specifically name Salih Mujčić as one of the 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba. In the absence of other supporting evidence, the Chamber is unable to find that Salih Mujčić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MUMINOVIĆ, Ibrahim, father's name uknown (age unknown)

2634. The Chamber notes that the witness statement referred to by the Prosecution in support of its allegation that Ibrahim Muminović was killed at Nova Kasaba, does not specifically name Ibrahim Muminović as one of the 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba. In the absence of other supporting evidence, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Muminović was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

## SALIHOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Idriz (50, male)

2635. Ismet Salihović, born in 1941 in Krasanovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Salihović, son of Idriz, born in 1942 in Vitkovići, went missing in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ismet Salihović from Kasanovići was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Asaba on 21 May 1992.

2636. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ismet Salihović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SALIHOVIĆ, Ragib, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2637. The Chamber has received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ragib Salihović was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. 4810

2638. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, the Chamber finds that Ragib Salihović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4805</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7078, Reference to Suad Džafić, P2281, Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 20 June 2000; Suad Džafić, P2280, Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential).

Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential).

4806 See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7080, Reference to Suad Džafić, P2281, 
Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 20 June 2000; Suad Džafić, P2280, Prosecutor v. Momčilo 
Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential)

*Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential).

4807 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7083, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4808</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7082, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4809</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4810 Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

#### SULJAGIĆ, Alija, son of Daut (42, male)

2639. Alija Suljagić, ICRC number BAZ-103276-01, born in 1950 in Voljavica, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Voljavica, Vlasenica, on 18 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Alija Suljagić went missing in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Alija Suljagić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. \*\*

2640. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Alija Suljagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SULJAGIĆ, Ibro, son of Daut (39, male)

2641. Ibro Suljagić, born in 1953 in Voljavica, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Ibro Suljagić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. \*\*

2642. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ibro Suljagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SULJAGIĆ, Munib, son of Hakija (35, male)

2643. Munib Suljagić, ICRC number BAZ-103136-01, born in 1957 in Voljavica, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Vlasenica on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Munib Suljagić went missing in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has also received evidence that Munib Suljagić served in the BiH armed forces from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992 while carrying out defence related duties. In support of the

560

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4811</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7088, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4812</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7090, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4813</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4814 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7095, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table 1 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4815</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7094, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4816</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4817 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7098, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4818</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7099, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4819</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 398 (confidential).

allegation that Munib Suljagić was one of 29 men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, the Prosecution also refers the Chamber to the evidence of Suad Džafić.  $^{4820}$ 

2644. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Munib Suljagić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4821 as well as the fact that 11 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Milići-Jatariš grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Munib Suljagić who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Milići-Jatariš grave site is that Munib Suljagić was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Munib Suljagić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Munib Suljagić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SULJIĆ, Šahin, son of Suljo (47, male)

2645. Šahin Suljić, ICRC number BAZ-102619-02, born in 1945 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Šahin Suljić went missing in Mravinjci on 22 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Šahin Suljć was one of 29 men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. 4824

2646. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Šahin Suljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SULJIĆ, Himzo, son of Šahin (23 or 30, male)

2647. Himzo Suljić, ICRC number BAZ-102615-01, born in 1962 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba on 18 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Himzo Suljić was born in 1969. It also records a different date of disappearance to that recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the ICRC report, Himzo Suljić went missing in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Himzo Suljić was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4820</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7100, Reference to Suad Džafić, P2281,
 *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 20 June 2000; Suad Džafić, P2280, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 10 February 2004 (confidential).
 <sup>4821</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; *see also* Adjudicated Fact 1368.

Suad Dzaric, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

4822 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7120, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4823</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7103, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4824</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4825 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7109, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4826</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7103, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

21 May 1992. 4827 On the basis of the evidence of Suad Džafić and the ICRC Missing Persons Report, the Chamber considers that Himzo Suljić disappeared in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, rather than 18 May 1992, as recorded in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List.

2648. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Himzo Suljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## SULJIĆ, Izo, son of Šahin (21, male)

2649. Izo Suljić, ICRC number BAZ-102619-01, born in 1971 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Mravinjci on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Izo Suljić went missing in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Izo Suljć was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Have the subject of the subject of Suad Džafić that Izo Suljć was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2650. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Izo Suljić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### SULJIĆ, Suljo, son of Sulejman (28, male)

2651. Suljo Suljić, ICRC number BAZ-103091-01, born in 1964 in Vitkovići, Bratunac, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Mrvanjici on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Milići-Jatariš, Vlasenica, on 24 May 2004. He ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Suljo Suljić went missing in Nova Kasaba. The Chamber has received evidence that Suljo Suljić served in the BiH armed forces from 10 May 1992 to 21 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Nova Kasaba while on military duty. The Chamber has also received evidence of Suad Džafić that Suljo Suljć was one of 29 detained men shot dead at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992.

2652. Based on the evidence of Suad Džafić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Suljo Suljić was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Moreover, the Chamber finds that prior to his death, Suljo Suljagić was detained at the Vlasenica SJB building, and therefore not taking an active part in hostilities when he was killed. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment; the BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4827</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4828 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7113, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4829</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7112, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4830</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4831 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7118, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4832</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7112, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4833</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 399 (confidential). <sup>4834</sup> Suad Džafić, P2283, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 11 February 2004, T. 739; P2282, List of Victims Killed at Nova Kasaba; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7012 (confidential).

Indictment. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that Suljo Suljagić was killed at Nova Kasaba, as charged in the Indictment.

### TURŠUNOVIĆ, Hanija, son of Đulaga (42, male)

2653. Hanija Turšunović, born in 1950 in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. 4835

2654. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hanija Turšunović was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4836 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Hanija Turšunović who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Hanija Turšunović was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

## TURŠUNOVIĆ, Hasan, son of Emin (47, male)

2655. Hasan Turšunović, born in 1945 in Nova Kasaba, Vlasenica, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed in Mravinjci, Vlasenica, on 30 June 1998. 4837

2656. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Turšunović was killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992. Noting the evidence of Suad Džafić that at least 29 men were killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, 4838 as well as the fact that 10 men named by Suad Džafić to have been among those killed were buried at the Mravinjci grave site, the Chamber considers that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the fact that Hasan Turšunović who disappeared on 21 May 1992 and was buried at the Mravinjci site is that Hasan Turšunović was among the men killed at Nova Kasaba on 21 May 1992, as charged in the Indictment.

#### 7. Zvornik

#### (a) <u>Drinjača School</u>

# ABIDOVIĆ, Beriz, son of Ramiz (19, male)

2657. Beriz Abidović, born on 6 August 1973 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Drinjača in the municipality of Zvornik. The place of death is entered as "Kostijerevo". The registered date of death is "30 May 1992". The death certificate issued in 2006 does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4835</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7122, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4836</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4837</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7124, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4838</sup> Suad Džafić, P2281, Witness Statement, 20 June 2000, pp. 6-7; see also Adjudicated Fact 1368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4839</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7126.1, Death Certificate of Beriz Abidović (confidential).

from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Beriz Abidović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4840

2658. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Beriz Abidović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### ABIDOVIĆ, Hariz, son of Ramiz (24, male)

2659. Hariz Abidović, born on 7 July 1968 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report as having gone missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. The Report further states that his body was exhumed in Tuzla on 7 January 1999. Abidović by the Registrar of the Medical Healthcare Institution of the University Clinical Centre Tuzla states that Hariz Abidović died in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. The cause of death, as established through autopsy, is recorded as "gunshot wounds to the chest". It further specifies that the remains examined as those of Hariz Abidović were marked as "RGR-1/156". Section Chamber has also received other evidence that human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/156" were identified as being those of Hariz Abidović. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/156" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 29 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as "penetrating gunshot wounds to the chest". Abidović sweater. Section on the remains was identified as black trousers, a black and brown chequered shirt, and a black sweater. Section on 30 May 1992, Hariz Abidović was detained and executed at Drinjača school.

2660. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hariz Abidović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment. The discrepancy in the dates of exhumation listed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the report of the Tuzla Cantonal Court do not affect this finding.

### ABIDOVIĆ, Muriz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2661. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that Muriz Abidović was detained and executed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. 4847

2662. Based on the evidence of ST014, the Chamber finds that Muriz Abidović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>4847</sup> ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, pp 8, 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4840</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4841</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7130, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

 <sup>4842</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7133, Death Certificate of Hariz Abidović (confidential).
 4843 P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7132, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4844</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7134, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4845 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7134, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4846</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

#### ABIDOVIĆ, Ramo, son of Ramiz (19, male)

2663. Ramo Abidović, ICRC number BAZ-103333-02, born in 1972 in Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. 4848 The FIS database records that Ramo Abidović, born on 26 June 1972, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. 4849 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/241" were identified as being those of Ramo Abidović. 4850 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/241" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, were carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 8 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the head. Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a chequered shirt, a sweater, and jeans. 4853 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Ramo Abidović was detained and executed at the Drinjača school.4854

2664. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ramo Abidović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## ALIĆ, Aljo, son of Safet (39, male)

2665. Aljo Alić, ICRC number BAZ-102095-01, born in 1952 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4855 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Aljo Alić went missing in Zvornik on 28 May 1992. 4856 The FIS database records that Aljo Alić, born on 25 November 1952, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. 4857 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/182" were identified as being those of Aljo Alić. 4858 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/182" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 22 December 1998.

565

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4848</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7140, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4849</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7139, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

4850 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7145, Identification Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7146, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4852 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7143, Death Certificate of Ramo Abidović (confidential). <sup>4853</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7146, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4854 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4855</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7150, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4856</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7154, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4857</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7152, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4858</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7151, Identification Report (confidential).

The autopsy established that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the forehead. 4859 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a multi-coloured shirt, a sweater, and dark jeans. 4860 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 4861 The Chamber has received evidence that Aljo Alić served in the armed forces from 8 April to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing in Drinjača while on military duty. 4862 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Aljo Alić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4863

2666. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Aljo Alić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Aljo Alić was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Aljo Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Hasan, son of Aljo (64, male)

2667. Hasan Alić, ICRC number BAZ-103371-02, born in 1928 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4864 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4865 The FIS database records that Hasan Alić, born on 4 February 1928, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. 4866 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/199" were identified as being those of Hasan Alić. 4867 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/199" exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik on 10 November 1998, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 21 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the head. Hasan Alić also sustained multiple fractures to the ribs. 4868 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a blue long-sleeved shirt, a sweater, and brown trousers. 4869 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4859</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7153, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4860 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7153, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

4861 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7152, Death Certificate of Aljo Alić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4862</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 367 (confidential). 4863 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03,

Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4864</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7162, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4865</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7158, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4866</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7159, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 4867 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7157, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4868</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7160, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4869</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7160, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

into evidence. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Hasan Alić was detained and executed at the Drinjača school.

2668. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hasan Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Safet (52, male)

2669. Ibrahim Alić, ICRC number BAZ-108892-01, born in 1940 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The FIS database records that Ibrahim Alić, born on 25 March 1941, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/206" were identified as being those of Ibrahim Alić. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/206" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 23 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a striped shirt, an olive sweater, and brown trousers. Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Ibrahim Alić was detained and executed at Drinjača school.

2670. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Mehmed (approx. 17-22, male)

2671. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/172" were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Alić. <sup>4880</sup> The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/172" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 15 December 1998.

November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4870</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7163, Death Certificate of Hasan Alić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4871</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4872</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7170, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4873</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7167 ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4874</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7166, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4875</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7165, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4876</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7168, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4877 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7168, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

 <sup>4878</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7169, Death Certificate of Ibrahim Alić (confidential).
 4879 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03,

Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

4880 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7172, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

The age range of the exhumed remains was determined as 17 to 22 years of age. The autopsy established that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the forehead. 4881 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a green sweater and jeans. 4882 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mehmedalija Alić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4883 The Chamber has also received evidence that Mehmedalija Alić, son of Mehmed, born on 11 March 1967 was a member of the BiH armed forces from 18 September 1991 until 22 April 1996 with several short intermittent breaks in service. According to the records of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, there is no information as to the circumstances of his death. 4884 The same register contains another entry under the name of Mehmedalija Alić. This individual, born on 9 September 1973, is reported to have been a member of the 6<sup>th</sup> Zvornik Detachment of the armed forces from 8 April 1992 until 30 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing on 30 May 1992. 4885 The Chamber notes that in their Addendum to the Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, the Defence submit that neither one of these individuals listed in the register of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans is in fact the person whom the Prosecution alleges to have been killed at Drinjača school. 4886 Considering the age range of the exhumed remains as determined by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine, the Chamber is of the view that the exhumed remains are those of Mehmedalija Alić, born on 9 September 1973.

2672. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Alić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Mehmedalija Alić was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIĆ, Mujo, son of Hasan (33, male)

2673. Mujo Alić, ICRC number BAZ-103371-05, born in 1959 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4887 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4888 The FIS database records that Mujo Alić, born on 21 Sepetmber 1959, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4889 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/259" were identified as being those of Mujo Alić. 4890 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/259" exhumed on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4881</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7173, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4882 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7173, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

4883 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4884</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 11 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4885</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 18 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4886</sup> Addendum to Joint Defence Final Submissions on the CHS, 11 July 2012, Confidential Annex C, pp. 12, 13; the Defence submit that both individuals are the individual listed under "ordinal number " 7171 in the Proof of Death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4887</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7179, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4888</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7175, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>4889</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7180, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4890</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7176, Identification Report (confidential).

10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 28 January 1999. The autopsy established that the cause of death was unknown, although consistent with homicide. Mujo Alić sustained multiple fractures to the left upper arm, multiple fractures to the left lower leg, and fractures of three ribs. <sup>4891</sup> Clothing found on the remains was identified as a brown shirt and denim trousers. <sup>4892</sup> Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. <sup>4893</sup> The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mujo Alić was detained at Drinjača school. <sup>4894</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Mujo Alić was a member of the BiH armed forces' 6<sup>th</sup> Zvornik Detachment from 18 April 1992 until 30 May 1992 when he is reported to have been killed in action in Drinjača.

2674. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mujo Alić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Mujo Alić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mujo Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### ALIĆ, Zihad, son of Asim (27, male)

2675. Zihad Alić, born on 26 March 1965 in Kamičani, Prijedor, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Kozarac in the municipality of Prijedor. The place of death is entered as "Kozarac". The registered date of death is "27 May 1992". The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. <sup>4896</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Zihad Alić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. <sup>4897</sup>

2676. In this case, the Chamber finds the witness testimony of witness ST014 to be more reliable and finds that Zihad Alić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## BAŠIĆ, Sinan, son of Hasan (58, male)

2677. Sinan Bašić, ICRC number BAZ-101887-01, born in 1933 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/173" were identified as being those of Sinan Bašić. The FIS

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4891</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7178, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4892</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7178, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4893</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7177, Death Certificate of Mujo Alić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4894</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4895</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 361 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4896</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7182.1, Death Certificate of Zihad Alić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4897</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4898</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7185, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4899</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7186, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4900</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7188, Identification Report (confidential).

database records that Sinan Bašić, born on 5 December 1933, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4901 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/173" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 5 March 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage and pelvis. Sinan Bašić also sustained spinal injuries and multiple fractures to the ribs. 4902 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a cream-coloured shirt and a black suit. 4903 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. The Chamber received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Sinan Basić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. The Chamber has also received evidence that Sinan Basić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 until 30 May 1992, and that he was killed in action on 30 May 1992.

2678. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Sinan Basić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Sinan Bašić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sinan Basić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BARUČIĆ, Mirsad, son of Mehmedalija (26, male)

2679. Mirsad Baručić, ICRC number BAZ-105638-01, born in 1965 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. <sup>4907</sup> The FIS database records that Mirsad Baručić, born on 9 July 1965, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. <sup>4908</sup> Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/240" were identified as being those of Mirsad Baručić. <sup>4909</sup> The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/240" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 18 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage and abdomen. Mirsad Baručić was also shot in the right leg. <sup>4910</sup> Clothing found on the remains was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4901</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7180, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4902 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7189, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

4903 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7189, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4903</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7189, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4904</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7187, Death Certificate of Sinan Bašić (confidential).
 <sup>4905</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03,

Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

4906 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 409 (confidential).

4907 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7198, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7198, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

4908 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7196, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4909 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7192, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>4910</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7195, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

identified as a chequered shirt, a sweater, and jeans.<sup>4911</sup> Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence.<sup>4912</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mirsad Baručić was detained and executed at Drinjača school.<sup>4913</sup>

2680. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Baručić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BARUČIĆ, Suad, son of Džemal (23, male)

2681. Suad Baručić, ICRC number BAZ-107145-01, born in 1969 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4914 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4915 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/162" were identified as being those of Suad Baručić. 4916 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/162" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 7 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the chest and a gunshot wound to the forehead. Suad Baručić also suffered a broken leg. 4917 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a chequered shirt and beige velvet trousers. 4918 The Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. <sup>4919</sup> The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Suad Baručić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4920 The Chamber has also received evidence that Suad Baručić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 until 30 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. <sup>4921</sup> The Chamber notes the close geographical proximity of Drinjača and Kostijerevo. 4922

2682. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Suad Baručić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Aljo Alić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast

571 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4911</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7195, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>4912</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7193, Death Certificate of Mirad Baručić (confidential).

<sup>4913</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4915</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7203, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4916</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7204, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4917</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7201, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>4918</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7201, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4919</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7202, Death Certificate of Suad Baručić (confidential).
<sup>4920</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4921</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 379 (confidential). <sup>4922</sup> P1691. Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Suad Baručić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### BARUČIĆ, Vehid, son of Alija (18, male)

2683. Vehid Baručić, ICRC number BAZ-107093-01, born on 25 November 1973, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Vehid Baručić was detained and executed at the Drinjača school. 4924

2684. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Vehid Baručić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEČIĆ, Osman, son of Huso (45-55, male)

2685. The death certificate issued for Osman Bečić in Tuzla in 2001, states that Osman Bečić was born in 1952 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik. Human remains exhumed from Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/187", were identified as being those of Osman Bečić, a.k.a. "Haso", born in 1938. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/187" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 9 December 1999. Professor Cihlarž established the age range of the remains to be between 45-55 years of age. The cause of death was established as a gunshot wound to the forehead. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a chequered shirt, a brown sweater, and flannel trousers. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Osman Bečić was detained and executed at Drinjača school.

2686. While the Chamber, on the evidence presented, cannot establish the age of Osman Bečić, and is therefore unable to rely on the death certificate issued in his name as evidence of his death, it nevertheless finds on the basis of the evidence of ST014, as well as other evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, that Osman Bečić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEGANOVIĆ, Džemal, son of Osman (33, male)

2687. Džemal Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-101329-02, born in 1959 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. While the ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Kostijerevo as the place of his disappearance, the other information contained in the Report is consistent with the information in the BiH State Commission

572 Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4923</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7206.1, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4924</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>4925</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7208, Death Certificate of Osman Bećić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4926</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7211, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4927</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7209, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>4928</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7209, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4929</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4930</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7217, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

For Missing Persons List. 4931 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/253" were identified as being those of Džemal Beganović in 2003. 4932 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/253", were carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 7 December 1998. The remains showed signs of severe injuries in form of broken ribs and spinal injuries. However, the cause of death could not be established. 4933 Remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as those of woollen trousers. 4934 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 4935 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Džemal Beganović was detained and executed at the Drinjača school. 4936

2688. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Džemal Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEGANOVIĆ, Esad, son of Smajo (20, male)

2689. Esad Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-103581-03, born in 1972 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4937 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4938 The FIS database records that Esad Beganović, born on 4 April 1972, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4939 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/165", were identified as being those of Esad Beganović. 4940 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/165" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 5 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the head. Esad Beganović's remains showed evidence of further gunshot wounds. 4941 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a grey, patterned shirt, grey trousers, and a brown sweater. 4942 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4931</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7218, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4932</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7215, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4933</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7214, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

4934 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7214, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4935 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7216, Death Certificate of Džemal Beganović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4936 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4937</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7224, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4938</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7226, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4939</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7225, Federal Institute of Statistics Database  $\begin{array}{l} \text{(confidential)}. \\ ^{4940}\text{ P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7222, Identification Report (confidential)}. \end{array}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4941</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7223, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7223, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

has also been tendered into evidence. 4943 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Esad Beganović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4944

2690. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Esad Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEGANOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Smajo (18, male)

2691. Mehmed Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-103581-01, born in 1974 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4945 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4946 The FIS database records that Mehmed Beganović, born on 10 December 1974, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4947 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/174" were identified as being those of Mehmed Beganović. 4948 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/174" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 10 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the forehead and gunshot wounds to the chest. 4949 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a blue chequered shirt, black trousers, and a denim jacket. 4950 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 4951 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mehmed Beganović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4952 The Chamber has also received evidence that Mehmed Beganović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing in Kostijerevo while on military duty. 4953

2692. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Beganović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that at the time of his death, Mehmed Beganović was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly,

574

Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4943</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7227, Death Certificate of Esad Beganović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
4944 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4945</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7232, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4946</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7230, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4947</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7231, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 4948 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7234, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4949</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7233, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4950 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7233, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4951 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7235, Death Certificate of Mehmed Beganović

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4952</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4953</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 383 (confidential).

the Chamber finds that Mehmed Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## BEGANOVIĆ, Mustafa, son of Smajo (23, male)

2693. Mustafa Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-103361-01, born in 1969 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. 4954 The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists Mustafa Beganović, son of Smajo, born in 1967 as having gone missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. 4955 The Chamber notes that both reports concern Mustafa Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-103361-01. The Chamber also notes the close geographical proximity of Drinjača and Kostijerevo. 4956 As Mustafa Beganović's name, father's name, ICRC number, and the date and municipality of disappearance are identical in both reports, the Chamber considers the information to be generally consistent. The FIS database records that Mustafa Beganović, born in 1967, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4957 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/236" were identified as being those of Mehmed Beganović. 4958 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/236" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 11 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the head. 4959 Clothing found on the remains was identified as grey trousers and a black sweater. 4960 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 4961 Furthermore, the Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mustafa Beganović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4962

2694. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### BEGANOVIĆ, Nezir, son of Osman (24, male)

2695. Nezir Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-101329-01, born in 1968 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing missing in Glumina, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4963 The ICRC Missing Persons Report, while consistent with all identifying information regarding Nezir Beganović, states that he disappeared on 29 May 1992 in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4954</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7243, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4955</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7241, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4956</sup> P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7237, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4958</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7240, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4959</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7239, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential). 4960 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7239, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>à961</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7238, Death Certificate of Mustafa Beganović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4962</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4963</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7246, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Kostijerevo. 4964 The Chamber notes the close geographical proximity of Drinjača and Kostijerevo. 4965 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/227" were identified as being those of Nezir Beganović on 6 May 2002. 4966 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/227" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 1 March 1999. The autopsy could not establish the cause of Nezir Beganović's death. 4967 Remnants of clothing found on the remains were those of blue jeans and a lined jacket. 4968 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. Furthermore, the Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Nezir Beganović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4970 The Chamber has also received evidence that Nezir Beganović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing while on military duty in Drinjača on 30 May 1992.

2696. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nezir Beganović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that at the time of death, Nezir Beganović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nezir Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BEGANOVIĆ, Smajo, son of Omer (54, male)

2697. Smajo Beganović, ICRC number BAZ-103581-02 born in 1938 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. <sup>4972</sup> This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. <sup>4973</sup> Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/252" were identified as being those of Smajo Beganović. <sup>4974</sup> The Chamber notes that the report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court submitted in support of the allegation that Smajo Beganović has been killed at Drinjača school concerns remains exhumed from

576 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4964</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7248, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4965</sup> P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4966</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7247, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4967</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7250, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4968 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7250, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4969 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7249, Death Certificate of Nezir Beganović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4970 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4971</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 385 (confidential). <sup>4972</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7253, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4973</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7256, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4974</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7257, Identification Report (confidential).

the same mass grave marked "RGR-1/227" belonging to a 20-30 year-old male. 4975 The Chamber is thus unable to consider the report on the medical examination of "RGR-1/227" carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine. However, the Chamber has been provided with a death certificate issued by Professor Cilharž issued for Smajo Beganović, son of Omer, born in 1935, which records the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the chest. 4976 The Chamber has also received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Smajo Beganović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4977

2698. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Smajo Beganović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### DAUTOVIĆ, Esad, son of Husein (21, male)

2699. Esad Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-910740-03, born in 1971 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 4978 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 4979 The FIS database records that Esad Dautović, born on 24 March 1971, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 4980 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/274" were identified as being those of Esad Dautović. 4981 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/274" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 5 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head and chest caused by a blunt instrument. Esad Dautovic's remains showed further evidence of multiple gunshot wounds to arms and legs, as well as multiple fractures to ribs. 4982 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 4983 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a dark blue denim shirt, and light-coloured jeans. 4984 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Esad Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 4985

2700. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Esad Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4975</sup> See P2466 Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7254, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4976 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7252, Death Certificate of Smajo Beganović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4977 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7264, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4979</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7263, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4980</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7260, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).  $^{4981}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7261, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4982</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7266, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4983</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7265, Death Certificate of Esad Dautović (confidential). <sup>4984</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7266, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4985</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Husein, son of Omer (61, male)

2701. Husein Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-910740-02, born in 1931 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The FIS database records that Husein Dautović, born on 10 January 1931, died in May 1992 in Drinjača. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/205" were identified as being those of Husein Dautović. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/205" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 10 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the body and limbs. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a beige shirt and black trousers. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Husein Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school.

2702. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Husein Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### DAUTOVIĆ, Huso, son of Husein (28, male)

2703. Huso Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-100187-01, born in 1964 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 29 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Huso Dautović went missing in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. Noting the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. The FIS database records that Huso Dautović, born on 18 March 1964, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/166" were identified as being those of Huso Dautović. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/166" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4986</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7273, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4987</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7275, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4988</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7274, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4989</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7268, Identification Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7272, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4991 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7272, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 4992 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4993</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7280, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4994</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7283, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4995</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4996</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7281, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4997</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7279, Identification Report (confidential).

Institute of Forensic Medicine on 11 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as a gunshot wound to the forehead, while there was further evidence of gunshot wounds to arms, thoracic cage, and spine. Clothing found on the remains was identified as a grey shirt and overalls. Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Huso Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. The Chamber has also received evidence that Huso Dautović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992, and that he went missing in Drinjača on 30 May 1992 while on military duty.

2704. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Huso Dautović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Huso Dautović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Huso Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Idriz, son of Meho (29, male)

2705. Idriz Dautović, born on 9 May 1963 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the Đedino and Vrnojevići, in the municipality of Živinice. The place of death is recorded as "Kostijerevo". The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Idriz Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5004

2706. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Idriz Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### DAUTOVIĆ, Mirsad, son of Mehmed (17, male)

2707. Mirsad Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-103353-01, born in 1975 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 29 May 1992. While the ICRC Missing Persons Report records his place of birth as "Drinjača", it is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. The Chamber is thus satisfied that the ICRC Missing Persons Report and the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List concern the same individual. The FIS database records that Mirsad Dautović, born on 9 March 1975, died on 30 May 1992 in

579 Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4998</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7272, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

4999 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7272, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5000 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7284, Death Certificate of Huso Dautović (confidential). 5001 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

<sup>5002 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 413 (confidential). 5003 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7185.1, Death Certificate of Idriz Dautović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5004 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5005</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7293, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5006</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7290, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Drinjača. 5007 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/155" were identified as being those of Mirsad Dautović. 5008 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/155" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 20 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as "multiple gunshot wounds to the head, trunk, and limbs". 5009 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a dark blue chequered shirt and jeans. 5010 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5011 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mirsad Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5012

2708. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mirsad Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Mirzet, son of Selmo (20, male)

2709. Mirzet Dautović, born on 31 March 1972 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Tuzla in the municipality of Tuzla. The place of death is recorded as "Drinjača". The registered date of death is 30 May 1992. The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not state the cause of death. 5013 Human Remains registered under the number "GR01/03613" were identified through DNA testing as being those of Mirzet Dautović. The identification of the remains was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine. The record of identification states that Mirzet Dautović was killed in Bijeli Potok on 30 May 1992. 5014 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mirzet Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5015 The Chamber has also received evidence that Mirzet Dautović, son of Selmo, born on 31 March 1972 was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Mirzet Dautović was killed in Drinjača while carrying out his duties. 5016

2710. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mirzet Dautović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Mirzet Dautović was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5007</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7288, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5008 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7291, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5009</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7289, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

5010 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7289, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

5011 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7287, Death Certificate of Mirsad Dautović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5012 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5013</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7294.2, Death Certificate of Mirzet Dautović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>5014</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7294, Tuzla Medical Centre, Record of Identification

P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5016</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 12 (confidential).

doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mirzet Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Nezir, son of Husein (45, male)

2711. Nezir Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-101426-02, born in 1947 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. 5017 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Nezir Dautović went missing in Drinjača. Solla Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. <sup>5019</sup> The FIS database records that Nezir Dautović, born in 1947, died on 30 May 1992 in Kostijerevo. <sup>5020</sup> Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/250" were identified as being those of Nezir Dautović. The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/205" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, were carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 28 January 1999. The autopsy established that death was caused by a gunshot to the head. 5022 At the time of his death, Nezir Dautović wore a blue shirt, woollen trousers and a green sweater. <sup>5023</sup> Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5024 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Nezir Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5025 The Chamber has also received evidence that Nezir Dautović was a member of the BiH Armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992.<sup>5026</sup>

2712. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nezir Dautović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Nezir Dautović, was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Nezir Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### DAUTOVIĆ, Omer, son of Selmo (23, male)

2713. Omer Dautović, ICRC number BAZ-101332-01, born in 1969 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5017</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7300, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7297, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5019</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5020</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7301, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).

5021 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7298, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5022</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7296, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

5023 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7296, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

5024 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7302, Death Certificate of Nezir Dautović (confidential).

5024 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7302, Death Certificate of Nezir Dautović (confidential). <sup>5025</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5026</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 414 (confidential).

Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5027 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 5028 The FIS database records that Omer Dautović, born on 2 January 1969, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 5029 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/61" were identified as being those of Omer Dautović. 5030 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/61" was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 7 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as "gunshot wounds to the head and trunk". 5031 A white T-shirt with imprint was found with the remains of Omer Dautović. 5032 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5033 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Omer Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5034 The Chamber has also received evidence that Omer Dautović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5035

2714. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Omer Dautović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Omer Dautović was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Omer Dautović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DAUTOVIĆ, Selmo (age unknown, male)

2715. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Selmo Dautović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. Based on this evidence, the Chamber finds that Selmo Dautović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### FEJZIĆ, Nuko, son of Nurija (66, male)

2716. Nuko Feijzić, ICRC number BAZ-101832-02, born in 1926 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 29 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. 5037 While the ICRC Missing Persons Report

<sup>5027</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7308, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7310, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5029</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7304, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 5030 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7305, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5031</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7307, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5032 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7307, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

5033 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7306, Death Certificate of Omer Dautović (confidential).

503 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7306, Death Certificate of Omer Dautović (confidential).

503 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7306, Death Certificate of Omer Dautović (confidential). <sup>5034</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5035</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 415 (confidential). <sup>5036</sup> ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 11 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5037</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7317, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

records Nuko Feijzić's place of birth as "Konjević Polje", the other information recorded in the Report is consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. 5038 The Chamber thus considers the reports to be generally consistent. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/189" were identified as being those of Nuko Fejzić. 5039 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/189" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 23 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as penetrating wounds to the forehead, trunk, and limbs. <sup>5040</sup> Clothing found on the remains was identified as black trousers and a grey sweater. <sup>5041</sup> Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. <sup>5042</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Nuko Fejzić was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5043

2717. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nuko Fejzić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### FEJZIĆ, Mevludin, son of Nuko (25, male)

2718. Mevludin Fejzić, ICRC number BAZ-101832-01, born in 1967 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 29 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. 5044 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Mevludin Fejzić went missing in Drinjača on 29 May 1992<sup>5045</sup> Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. 5046 The FIS database records that Mevludin Fejzić, born on 28 June 1967, died on 29 May 1992 in Drinjača. 5047 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/175" were identified as being those of Mevludin Fejzić. 5048 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/175" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 21 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as a trauma to the head, most likely caused by a blunt instrument. 5049 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a blue and black shirt, jeans, and a striped sweater. 5050 Professor Cilharž

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5038</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7315, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5039</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7318, Identification Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7319, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential). <sup>5041</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7319, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

5042 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7316, Death Certificate of Nuko Dautović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5043</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7327, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7324, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5046</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5047</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7323, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>5048</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7325, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5049</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7322, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5050 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7322, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence.<sup>5051</sup> The Chamber has received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Mevludin Fejzić was detained and executed at Drinjača school.<sup>5052</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Mevludin Fejzić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Drinjača on 30 May 1992.<sup>5053</sup>

2719. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mevludin Fejzić was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Mevludin Fejzić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mevludin Fejzić was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### HUSEJNOVIĆ, Muriz, son of Mujo (31, male)

2720. Muriz Husejnović, born on 8 March 1960, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Tuzla in the municipality of Tuzla. The place of death is recorded as "Drinjača". The registered date of death is "30 May 1992". The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. Human remains marked "RGR-1/207" were identified as those of Muriz Husejnović on the basis of anthropological and dental characteristics and clothing. The identification of the remains was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine and confirmed by Muriz Husejnović's brother. The record of identification states that Muriz Husejnović, born on 3 August 1992 was killed in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5055 The Chamber notes a discrepancy between the day and month of birth recorded in the death certificate and the day and month of birth registered in the record of identification. Given that Muriz Husejnović's brother confirmed the identification of the remains, the Chamber is satisfied that the date of birth recorded in the record of identification was the actual date of birth of Muriz Husejnović. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Muriz Husejnović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. The Chamber has also received evidence that Muriz Husejnović, son of Mujo, born on 3 August 1960, was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Muriz Husejnović went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. 5057

2721. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Muriz Husejnović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Muriz Husejnović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muriz Husejnović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

 <sup>5051</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7321, Death Certificate of Nuko Dautović (confidential).
 5052 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5053 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 424 (confidential). 5054 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7328.2, Death Certificate of Muriz Husejnović (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>5055</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7328.1, Tuzla Medical Centre, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>5056</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5057</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 21 (confidential).

#### HUSEJNOVIĆ, Velid, son of Mujo (40, male)

2722. Velid Huseinović, born on 3 January 1952, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Drinjača in the municipality of Zvornik. The place of death is entered as "Drinjača". The registered date of death is "30 May 1992". The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. 5058 The Chamber has received a report on the forensic medical examination of remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik on 10 November 1998, marked "RGR-1/171" issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court. 5059 The Chamber has, however, not received a record of identification that identifies the remains labelled "RGR-1/171" as being those of Velid Husejnović. The Chamber is thus unable to consider the report on the medical examination of "RGR-1/171" carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine. The Chamber has received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Velid Husejnović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5060

2723. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Velid Husejnović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Haso, son of Ibrahim (31, male)

2724. Haso Memišević, ICRC number BAZ-103297-01, born in 1960 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5061 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Haso Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 29 May 1992. 5062 Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. 5063 The FIS database records that Haso Memišević, born on 1 October 1960, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 5064 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/213" were identified as being those of Haso Memišević. 5065 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/213" exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 15 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage. 5066 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a shirt, black woollen trousers with braces, and a blue sweater. 5067 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7331.1, Death Certificate of Velid Husejnović(confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7330, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5060 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5061</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7334, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5062</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7324, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>063</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5064</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7333, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).  $^{5065}$  P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7336, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5066</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7337, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>2067</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7337, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

evidence. <sup>5068</sup> The Chamber has received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Haso Memišević was detained and executed at Drinjača school. <sup>5069</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Haso Memišević, son of Ibrahim, born on 31 October 1960, was member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry of War Veterans, Haso Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992 while carrying out defence related duties.<sup>5070</sup>

2725. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Haso Memišević was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Haso Memišević was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Haso Memišević was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Ramiz, son of Ibrahim (43, male)

2726. Ramiz Memišević, ICRC number BAZ-103372-03, born in 1949 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5071 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ramiz Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992<sup>5072</sup> Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. 5073 The FIS database records that Ramiz Memišević, born on 30 April 1949, died on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača. 5074 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/217" were identified as being those of Ramiz Memišević. 5075 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/217" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 16 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as "gunshot wounds to the head and trunk". 5076 Remnants of clothing found on Ramiz Memišević's remains were identified as those of a beige shirt and a red and black sweater. 5077 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5068</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7338, Death Certificate of Haso Memišević

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5069</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5070</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 22 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5071</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7347, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7343, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5073</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5074</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7342, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). <sup>5075</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7345, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5076</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7344, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7344, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

which has also been tendered into evidence. 5078 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Ramiz Memišević was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5079

2727. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Memišević was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Ramo, son of Ramiz (21, male)

2728. Ramo Memišević, ICRC number BAZ-103372-01, born in 1971 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. <sup>5080</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ramo Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992<sup>5081</sup> Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. 5082 The FIS database records that Ramo Memišević, born on 25 April 1971, 30 April 1992 in Kostijerevo. 5083 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/178" were identified as being those of Ramo Memišević. 5084 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/178" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 8 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as "a shattered head" consistent with an entry-and exit wound. <sup>5085</sup> Clothing found on the remains was identified as a green shirt and overalls. <sup>5086</sup> Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Ramo Memišević was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5088

2729. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ramo Memišević was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Senaid, son of Ramiz (19, male)

2730. Senaid Memišević, ICRC number BAZ-103372-02, born in 1972 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5078</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7346, Death Certificate of Ramiz Memišević

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5079 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5080</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7352, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7353, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5082</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5083</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7354, Federal Institute of Statistics Database

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5084</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7351, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5085</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7355, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5086 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7355, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>5087</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7346, Death Certificate of Ramiz Memišević (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5088</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. <sup>5089</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Senaid Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent. 5091 The FIS database records that Senaid Memišević, born on 20 Sepetmber 1972 died in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5092 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/237" were identified as being those of Senaid Memišević. 5093 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/237" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 26 January 1999. The autopsy established that death was caused as a result of a gunshot to the head, as well as to the thoracic cage. 5094 At the time of his death Senaid Memišević wore a red chequered shirt and jeans. 5095 The Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5096 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Senaid Memišević was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5097

2731. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Senaid Memišević was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### MEMIŠEVIĆ, Zaim, son of Ibrahim (28, male)

2732. Zaim Memišević, ICRC number BAZ-103333-04, born in 1964 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 29 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Zaim Memišević went missing in Kostijerevo on 1 June 1992. 5099 The FIS database records that Zaim Memišević, born on 25 June 1964 died in Drinjača in May 1992. 5100 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/229" were identified as being those of Zaim Memišević. 5101 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/229" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor

588

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5089</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7358, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5090</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7360, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5091</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5092</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7368, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
5093 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7363, Identification Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7357, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7357, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5096 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7359, Death Certificate of Senaid Memišević

<sup>(</sup>confidential).  $^{5097}$  P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5098</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7365, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5099</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7360, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5100</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7368, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 5101 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7369, Identification Report (confidential).

Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 16 December 1998. The autopsy report states that the cause of death was unknown. However, the victim sustained fractures to one rib and two dorsal vertebrae. 5102 Clothing found on the remains was identified as a brown shirt and work trousers. 5103 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5104 The Chamber has also received evidence the evidence of ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Zaim Memišević was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5105

2733. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as other supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Zaim Memišević was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## OSMANOVIĆ, Šaban, son of Meho (45-60, male)

2734. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/202" were identified as being those of Šaban Osmanović on the basis of DNA matching. 5106 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/202" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 28 February 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as "a shattered head" and "penetrating wounds to the thoracic cage". 5107 Clothing found on the remains of Šaban Osmanović was identified as a dark brown long-sleeved shirt and flannel trousers. 5108 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Šaban Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5109

2735. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Šaban Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## OSMANOVIĆ, Šabanija, son of Meho (26, male)

2736. Šabanija Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-103359-01, born in 1966 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumnia Ramin" on 6 October 1998. <sup>5110</sup> This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. <sup>5111</sup> The FIS database records that Šabanija Osmanović, born in

<sup>5102</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7371, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5103 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7371, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5104 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7370, Death Certificate of Zaim Memišević

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5105 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 13 (confidential).

<sup>5106</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7373, International Commission for Missing Persons Report (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7374, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential). 5108 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7374, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5109 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03,

Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5110</sup> P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7376, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5111</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7381, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

1966 died in Drinjača in May 1992.<sup>5112</sup> Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/183" were identified as being those of Šabanija Osmanović.<sup>5113</sup> The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/183" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 9 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshots to the thoracic cage. 5114 Clothing found on the remains of Šabanija Osmanović was identified as grey and beige trousers and a beige sweater. 5115 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5116 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Šabanija Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school.5117

2737. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Šabanija Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### OSMANOVIĆ, Šefer, son of Šaban (29, male)

2738. The Chamber has received a record on the identification of human remains, marked "?/R/GR-1/208" issued by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine. The record states that the remains were identified as being those of Sefer Osmanović, born on 6 August 1963, killed on 30 May 1992 in Drinjača, Zvornik. 5118 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014, that, on 30 May 1992, Šefer Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school.<sup>5119</sup>

2739. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Šefer Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

## OSMANOVIĆ, Bajro, son of Meho (age unknown, male)

2740. Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/161" were identified as being those of Bajro Osmanović on the basis of DNA matching. 5120 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/161" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 20 January 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as "gunshot wounds to

<sup>5112</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7380, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential).
5113 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7382, Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>5114</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7377, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).
5115 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7377, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5116 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7379, Death Certificate of Šabanija Osmanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5117 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5118</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7383.1, Record of Identification (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5119</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5120</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7386, Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007 (confidential). Report (confidential).

the thoracic cage, abdomen, and left thigh". 5121 Clothing found on the remains of Bajro Osmanović was identified brown trousers, a chequered long-sleeved shirt, and a green jumper. 5122 The Chamber received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Bajro Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5123

2741. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Bairo Osmanović was killed at Driniača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### OSMANOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Meho (40-50, male)

2742. The Chamber has, received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Mehmed Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5124 Based on this evidence, the Chamber finds that Mehmed Osmanović was killed at Drinjača School, as charged in the Indictment.

### OSMANOVIĆ, Juso, son of Meho (27, male)

2743. Juso Osmanović, born on 12 July 1964, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Drinjača in the municipality of Zvornik. The place of death is recorded as "Drinjača". The registered date of death is "30 May 1992". The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. 5125 The Chamber has received evidence from ST014, that, on 30 May 1992, Juso Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5126 The Chamber has also received evidence that Juso Osmanović, son of Meho, born on 12 July 1964, was a member of the BiH armed forces between 8 April 1992 and 30 May 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Juso Osmanović went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. 5127 The Chamber notes the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača. 5128

2744. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Juso Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that at the time of his death, Juso Osmanović was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Juso Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### OSMANOVIĆ, Mehmed, son of Meho (30, male)

2745. Mehmed Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-103360-01, born in 1962 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in

591 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>5121</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7385, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

(confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7385, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5123 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5124</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7331.1, Death Certificate of Juso Osmanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5126 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential), ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5127 1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 23 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5128</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

Kostijerevo, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same report, his remains were exhumed in Sremska Mitrovica, Serbia on 16 September 2002. <sup>5129</sup> This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 5130 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST014, that, on 30 May 1992, Mehmed Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5131

2746. While the Chamber considers it unusual that Mehmed Osmanovic's body was found in a different grave site than the other victims of this incident, it is, based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, nevertheless satisfied that Mehmed Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### OSMANOVIĆ, Mehmedalija, son of Šaban (36, male)

2747. Mehmedalija Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-101939-03, born in 1956 in Drinjača, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" on 6 October 1998. 5132 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 5133 The FIS database records that Mehmedalija Osmanović, born on 20 March 1956, died in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5134 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/225" were identified as being those of Mehmedalija Osmanović. 5135 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/225" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 23 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as "gunshot wounds to the extremities". 5136 Clothing found on the remains of Mehmedalija Osmanović was identified as navy trousers and a beige shirt. 5137 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5138 The Chamber has received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Mehmedalija Osmanović was detained at Drinjača school. 5139 The Chamber has also received evidence that Mehmedalija Osmanović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5140

2748. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the

<sup>5129</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7393, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5130</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7360, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5131</sup> P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5132</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7396, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7398, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5134</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7397, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 5135 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7399 Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>5136</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7401, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5137 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7401, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5138 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7395, Death Certificate of Mehmedalija Osmanović (confidential). 5139 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5140</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 456 (confidential).

charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Mehmedalija Osmanović was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Mehmedalija Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

### OSMANOVIĆ, Meho, son of Šaban (34, male)

2749. Meho Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-101939-02, born in 1958 in Drinjača, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5141 This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 5142 The FIS database records that Meho Osmanović, born on 10 March 1958, died in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5143 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/167" were identified as being those of Meho Osmanović. 5144 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/167" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 16 December 1998. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the forehead and trunk. 5145 Clothing found on the remains of Meho Osmanović was identified as a black sweater and work trousers. 5146 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5147 The Chamber also received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Meho Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5148 The Chamber has also received evidence that Meho Osmanović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5149

2750. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Meho Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Meho Osmanović was detained and was thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Meho Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>5141</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7407, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5142</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7403, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7397, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 5144 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7406 Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5145</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7409, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5146 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7409, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5147 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7408, Death Certificate of Meho Osmanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5148 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5149</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 457 (confidential).

#### OSMANOVIĆ, Muhamed, son of Redžo (21, male)

2751. Muhamed Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-102076-02, born in 1970 in Kostijerevo. Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Drinjača, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5150 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Muhamed Osmanović went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992. 5151 Given the geographical proximity of Kostijerevo and Drinjača, the Chamber is satisfied that the information provided in the two sources is generally consistent.<sup>5152</sup> The FIS database records that Muhamed Osmanović, born on 31 August 1970, died in Drinjača on 30 May 1992. 5153 Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/218" were identified as being those of Muhamed Osmanović. 5154 The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/218" exhumed on 10 November 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 15 December 1998. The cause of death could not be established. However, the remains showed a fractured sacrum and right pubic bone. 5155 Clothing found on the remains of Muhamed Osmanović was identified as brown trousers and a black leather jacket. 5156 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5157 The Chamber has received evidence that, on 30 May 1992, Muhamed Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5158 The Chamber has also received evidence that Muhamed Osmanović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Drinjača on 30 May 1992.<sup>5159</sup>

2752. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Muhamed Osmanović was detained and thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Muhamed Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### OSMANOVIĆ, Redžo, son of Ramo (40, male)

2753. Redžo Osmanović, ICRC number BAZ-102076-01, born in 1952 in Kostijerevo, Zvornik, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as

594

<sup>5150</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7413, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5151</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7416, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5152</sup> See P1691, Croatian Statistics Agency Ethnic composition data map of Zvornik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5153</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7397, Federal Institute of Statistics Database (confidential). 5154 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7417 Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>5155</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7412, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5156 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7412, Court Record of Postmortem Examination

<sup>(</sup>confidential).
5157 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7411, Death Certificate of Muhamed Osmanović

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5158 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>5159 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 455 (confidential).

having gone missing in Glumina, Zvornik, on 30 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from the grave site known as "Glumina Ramin" in the municipality of Zvornik on 6 October 1998. 5160 The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Redžo Osmanović went missing in Kostijerevo on 30 May 1992<sup>5161</sup> Human remains exhumed in Glumina, Zvornik, and marked as "RGR-1/266" were identified as being those of Redžo Osmanović, son of Ramo, on 3 May 2002.<sup>5162</sup> The report on the forensic medical examination issued by investigative judge Emin Halilčević of the Tuzla Cantonal Court states that the autopsy of the remains marked "RGR-1/266" exhumed on 10 October 1998 in Glumina, Zvornik, was carried out by Professor Zdenko Cihlarž of the Tuzla Institute of Forensic Medicine on 5 March 1999. The autopsy established the cause of death as gunshot wounds to the thoracic cage and pelvis. 5163 Clothing found on the remains of Redžo Osmanović was identified as a grey shirt and navy woollen trousers. 5164 Professor Cilharž subsequently issued a death certificate which has also been tendered into evidence. 5165 Furthermore, the Chamber has also received evidence from ST014 that, on 30 May 1992, Redžo Osmanović was detained and executed at Drinjača school. 5166 The Chamber has also received evidence that Redžo Osmanović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Drinjača on 30 May 1992.<sup>5167</sup>

2754. Based on the evidence of ST014, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Redžo Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school on 30 May 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing military duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Redžo Osmanović was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Redžo Osmanović was killed at Drinjača school, as charged in the Indictment.

#### (b) Čelopek Dom Kulture

## **ČORMEHIĆ, Ibrahim, son of Osman (26, male)**

2755. Ibrahim Čormehić, born in 1966 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ibrahim Čormehić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Ibrahim Čormehić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 29 June 1992. He is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5160</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7422, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5161</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7416, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5162</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7420 Identification Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5163</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7421, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). <sup>5164</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7421, Court Record of Postmortem Examination (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5165 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7419, Death Certificate of Redžo Osmanović (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5166 P292.06, List of Persons Killed in Drinjača School on or about 30 May 1992 (confidential); ST014, P292.03, Witness Statement, 15-16 January 2001, p. 12 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5167</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 454 (confidential). <sup>5168</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7426, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5169</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7427, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 29 June 1992.5170

2756. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ibrahim Čormehić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Ibrahim Cormehić was detained at Celopek Dom Kulture, as well as evidence as to the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Cormehić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIHODŽIĆ, Ahmet, son of Ramo (27, male)

2757. Ahmet Alihodžić, ICRC number BAZ-105816-02, born in 1965 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5171 According to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Ahmet Alihodžić went missing in Čelopek on 26 June 1992. 5172 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ahmet Alihodžić. <sup>5173</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Ahmet Alihodžić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 8 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 8 June 1992. 5174

2758. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Alihodžić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Ahmet Alihodžić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as well as evidence as to the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that Ahmet Alihodžić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### ALIHODŽIĆ, Benjamin, son of Ramo (23, male)

2759. Benjamin Alihodžić, ICRC number BAZ-105816-01. born in 1969 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5175 The ICRC Missing Persons Report records that Benjamin Alihodžić went missing in Čelopek on 26 June 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Benjamin Alihodžić. 5177

2760. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Benjamin Alihodžić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Benjamin Alihodžić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as well as evidence as to the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that Benjamin Alihodžić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5170</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 412 (confidential). P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7431, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5172</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7429, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5173</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7430, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

November 2001 – September 2007(confidential). 5174 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 402 (confidential). <sup>5175</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7439, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5176</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7437, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5177</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7433, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

#### ALIHODŽIĆ, Ramo, son of Ahmet (48, male)

2761. Ramo Alihodžić, ICRC number BAZ-105816-03, born in 1944 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5178 According to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Ramo Alihodžić went missing in Zvornik on 27 May 1992. 5179 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons which states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ramo Alihodžić. 5180 The Chamber has also received evidence from ST088 that Ramo Alihodžić was detained and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on or about 5 to 11 June 1992. His body was thereafter loaded into a car. 5181

2762. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ramo Alihodžić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### ATLIĆ, Abdulah, son of Mehmed (51, male)

2763. Abdulah Atlić, ICRC number BAZ-111022-01, born in 1941 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, Zvornik, on 28 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5182 According to the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Abdulah Atlić went missing in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. 5183 The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Abdulah Atlić. 5184 The Chamber has also received evidence that Abdulah Atlić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Divič on 10 June 1992.<sup>5185</sup>

2764. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Abdulah Atlić died in June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Abdulah Atlić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as well as evidence as to the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## ATLIĆ, Alija, son of Mehmed (54, male)

2765. Alija Atlić, born in 1938 is listed as exhumed in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report, he went missing in Čelopek on 11 June 1992. His remains are reported to have been exhumed in Tuzla on 30 March 2007. <sup>5186</sup> The Report of the International Commission for

<sup>5178</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7435, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5179</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7434, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7438, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential). 5181 ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5182</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7443, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5183</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7442, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5184</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7444, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5185</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 403 (confidential). 5186 P2466. Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7448, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Alija Atlić. The Chamber has also received evidence of ST088, that, on 11 June 1992, Alija Atlić was shot and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture by Dušan Repić. 5188

2766. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Alija Atlić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### ATLIĆ, Hasan, son of Mehmed (40, male)

2767. Hasan Atlic, ICRC number BAZ-102581-01, born in 1952 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, Zvornik, on 11 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Hasan Atlić. The Chamber has also received the evidence of ST088 that Hasan Atlić was shot and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture by Dušan Repić on 11 June 1992.

2768. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hasan Atlić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### ATLIĆ, Sehad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2769. The Chamber has received evidence that Sehad Atlić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have gone missing on 10 June 1992 while performing defence related duties in Divič. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Sehad Atlić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. The Sehad Atlić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture.

2770. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sehad Atlić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### BIKIĆ. Nurija, son of Hasan (40, male)

2771. Hasan Bikić, born in 1952 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report he went missing in Divič, Zvornik on 29 May 1992. 5195

2772. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurija Bikić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.<sup>5196</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5187</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7444, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5188</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5189</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7453, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7454, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

Deaths (confidential). <sup>5191</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7455, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5192</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5193</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 406 (confidential). <sup>5194</sup> See Final Victims List, p. 33 at 14.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5195</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7458.1, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5196</sup> See Final Victims List, p. 33 at 14.2.

### BIKIĆ, Šaban, son of Osman (35, male)

2773. Šaban Bikić, ICRC number BAZ-108341-01, born in 1957 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Zvornik on 28 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Šaban Bikić went missing in Čelopek on 11 June 1992. The Chamber has received the evidence of ST088 that Šaban Bikić was abused and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Šaban Bikić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992, and that he was killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 10 June 1992.

2774. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Šaban Bikić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Šaban Bikić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Šaban Bikić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### BIKIĆ, Alija, son of Ibro (age unknown, male)

2775. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Alija Bikić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Alija Bikić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 30 June 1992 in Čelopek performing defence related duties. The commission of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 30 June 1992.

2776. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Bikić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### BIKIĆ, Damir, son of Nurija (age unknown, male)

2777. The Chamber has received evidence from ST088 that Damir Bikić was shot and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. 5203

2778. Based on this evidence, the Chamber finds that Damir Bikić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5197</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7460, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5198</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7461, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5199</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; ST088, P2190, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15756 (confidential).
5200 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 411 (confidential).

<sup>1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 411 (confidential). 5201 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7463, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5202</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 410 (confidential). <sup>5203</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7465 (confidential).

#### DŽIHIĆ, Enes, son of Salih (57, male)

2779. Džihić, Enes, ICRC number BAZ-101990-01. born in 1935, in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, Zvornik, on 11 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Enes Džihić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Enes Džihić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 11 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 11 June 1992.

2780. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Džihić died on 11 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Enes Džihić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as well as evidence as to the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### **DŽIHIĆ**, Sead, son of Adem (32, male)

2781. Sead Džihić, ICRC number BAZ-105153-01, born in 1960 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed as missing and exhumed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the List, he went missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 28 May 1992. He is reported to have been exhumed at Crni Vrh, Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Sead Đihić went missing in Divič in April 1992. The Chamber notes the discrepancy in the spelling of Sead Džihić's name between the two reports. The Chamber has also received evidence that Sead Džihić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Divič on 28 May 1992.

2782. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sead Džihić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Sead Džihić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## <u>DŽIHIĆ, Šemsudin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)</u>

2783. The Chamber has received evidence that Šemsudin Džihić served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 10 June 1992. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Šemsudin Džihić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. 5212

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5204</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7468, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5205</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7454, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7455, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,
 November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).
 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 419 (confidential).

<sup>1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 419 (confidential). 5208 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7471, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5209</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7472, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5210 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 417 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5211</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 418 (confidential). <sup>5212</sup> See Final Victims List, p. 33 at 14.2.

2784. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Šemsudin Džihić was killed Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DEDIĆ, Hajrudin, son of Juso (32, male)

2785. Hajrudin Dedić, born in 1960 in Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the report, he went missing in Divič on 27 May 1992. <sup>5213</sup>

2786. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Hajrudin Dedić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

## EFENDIĆ, Alija, son of Mustafa (28, male)

2787. Alija Efendić, ICRC number BAS-001083-01, born in 1964 in Divič, is listed as missing, pending confirmation of death in the ICRC Missing Persons Report. He is reported to have disappeared in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Alija Efendić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 27 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while perfoming defence related duties in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. The state of the second second

2788. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Efendić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### EFENDIĆ, Hajrudin, son of Mustafa (34, male)

2789. Hairudin Efendić, ICRC number BAS-001084-01, born in 1958 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 26 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have been identified as those of Hajrudin Efendić on the basis of DNA matching. The Chamber has also received evidence that Hajrudin Efendić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 June 1992, and that he was killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 28 June 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Hajrudin Efendić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 June 1992, and that he was killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 28 June 1992.

2790. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hajrudin Efendić died in June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Hajrudin Efendić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### EFENDIĆ, Zulkarnejn, son of Omer (57, male)

2791. Zulkarnejn Efendić, born in 1935, in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik

601

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5213</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7474.1, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5214</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7475.1, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports of Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5215</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 420 (confidential). <sup>5216</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7478, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5217</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7477, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5218 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 421 (confidential).

on 28 July. <sup>5219</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Zulkarnejn Efendić. <sup>5220</sup> The Chamber received evidence that Zulkarnejn Efendić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 27 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 27 June 1992 while performing defence related duties. <sup>5221</sup> The Chamber has also received the evidence of ST088 that Zulkarnejn Efendiić was abused and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. <sup>5222</sup>

2792. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Zulkarnejn Efendić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Zulkarnejn Efendić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zulkarnejn Efendić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### FEJZIĆ, Meho, son of Muharem (28, male)

2793. Meho Fejić, born in 1964 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič. Zvornik, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Meho Fejzić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Meho Fejzić was a member of the BiH armed forces. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Čelopek on 10 June 1992.

2794. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Meho Fejić died on 10 June 1992 in Čelopek. However, in the absence of evidence that Meho Fejić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as alleged in the Indictment.

## HADŽIĆ, Izet, son of Mustafa (56, male)

2795. Izet Hadžić, ICRC number BAZ-106773-01, born in 1936 in Janja, Bijeljina, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, Zvornik, on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5226 This information is consistent with the ICRC

602 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5219</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7481, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5220</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7480, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 422 (confidential). 5222 ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; ST088, P2190, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15756 (confidential).

Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15756 (confidential).

5223 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7484, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5224</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7483, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5225</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 423 (confidential). <sup>5226</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7488, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

Missing Persons Report.<sup>5227</sup> The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Izet Hadžić.<sup>5228</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Izet Hadžić was member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992, and that he went missing while performing defence related duties in Divič on 28 May 1992.<sup>5229</sup>

2796. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Izet Hadžić died on or about 28 May 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Izet Hadžić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

# HADŽIAVDIĆ, Farid, son of Kasim (32, male)

2797. Farid Hadžiavdić, born in 1960 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Farid Hadžiavdić. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST088 that Farid Hadžiavdić was one of 20 men shot and killed by Dušan Repić at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 27 June 1992. 5232

2798. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Farid Hadžiavdić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### HADŽIAVDIĆ, Husein, son of Ahmet (58, male)

2799. Husein Hadžiavdić, ICRC number BAZ-110016-01, born in 1934 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing missing in Divič, on 26 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that he disappeared in Čelopek on 11 June 1992. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Husein Hadžiavdić. The Chamber has also received evidence that Husein Hadžiavdić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992, and that he went missing while performing defence related duties in Divič on 28 May 1992.

603 Case No. IT-08-91-T

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5227</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7486, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5228</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7487, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5229</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 436 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3229</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 436 (confidential). <sup>5230</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7491, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5231</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7490, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5232</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5233</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7494, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5234</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7495, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5235</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7496, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001 – September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5236 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 431 (confidential).

2800. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Husein Hadžiavdić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Husein Hadžiavdić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### HADŽIAVDIĆ, Nurija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2801. The Chamber received evidence of ST088 that Nurija Hadžiavdić was detained and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on or about 5 to 11 June 1992. His body was thereafter loaded into a car. 5237

2802. Based on the evidence of ST088, the Chamber finds that Nurija Hadžiavdić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

# HADŽIAVDIĆ, Salih, son of Mustafa (46, male)

2803. Salih Hadžiavdić, ICRC number BAS-001484-03, born in 1946 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, on 10 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report is generally consistent with this information, although it records Salih Hadžiavdić's year of birth as "1947". The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons which states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Salih Hadžiavdić. The Chamber has also received evidence of ST088, that, on 11 June 1992, Salih Hadžiavdić was shot and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture by Dušan Repić. S241

2804. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Salih Hadžiavdić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

## HALILOVIĆ, Abdurahman, son of Ahmet (age unknown, male)

2805. The Chamber has received the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons which states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Abdurahman Halilović. 5242

2806. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Abdurahman Halilović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as alleged in the Indictment.

## HALILOVIĆ, Hasan, son of Halil (38, male)

2807. Hasan Halilović, born on 6 April 1954 in Kamenica, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Kamenica in the municipality of Zvornik. The place of death is entered as "Kamenica". The date of his death is registered as "27 May 1992". 5243 It has been

Case No. IT-08-91-T 27 March 2013

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

<sup>5237</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5238</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7501, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5239</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7502, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5240</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7500, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5242</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7505, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5243</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7126.1, Death Certificate of Hasan Halilović (confidential).

submitted by the Defence that Hasan Halilović was a Croatian defender. 5244 The Chamber rejects this argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 5245 The Chamber has, however, also received evidence that Hasan Halilović, son of Halil, born on 6 April 1954, was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 27 May 1992. According to the register of the BiH Ministry for War Veterans, Hasan Halilović was killed while carrying out his duties for defence purposes in Gornja Kamenica on 27 May 1992. 5246

2808. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Halilović died on 27 May 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Hasan Halilović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### HALILOVIĆ, Ibrahim, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2809. The Chamber notes that the evidence presented, namely the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing requests, lists two individuals with the name of "Ibrahim Halilovic". 5247 In the absence of further evidence establishing either the name of Ibrahim Halilović's father, and/or his date of birth, the Chamber is unable to consider the report submitted. It has been submitted by the Defence that Ibrahim Halilović was a Croatian defender. 5248 The Chamber rejects the argument noting the statement provided by the authorities of the Republic of Croatia that, in the absence of precise personal information, the government was unable to ascertain this person's identity. 5249

2810. Based on the material presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibrahim Halilović was killed Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### JAHIJAGIĆ, Fikret, son of Alija (age unknown, male)

2811. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Fikret Jahijagić. 5250 The Chamber has also received evidence of ST088 that, on 11 June 1992, Fikret Jajagić was abused and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. 5251 The Chamber has also received evidence that Fikret Jahijagić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while performing defence related duties in Divič on 10 June 1992.5252

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5244</sup> Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 63 "ordinal number" 7506; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 3.

5245 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 13 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7507.1, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Pending Tracing Requests, see entries 3328 and 3329.(confidential).

Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex A, p. 63 "ordinal number" 7507; Joint Defence Final Submissions on the Proof of Death Database, 12 April 2012, Confidential Annex D, p. 3.

5249 1D795, Response by the Croatian Government Regarding Register of Defenders, 31 March 2001, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5250</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7505, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007(confidential).

ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; ST088, P2190, Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15756 (confidential). The Chamber acknowledges the difference in spelling of the last name in the evidence given by the witness and that submitted by the Prosecution and in the supporting documents in the Proof of death database. The Chamber is, however, satisfied that the difference in spelling is regligible, and that the evidence concerns the same person.

5252 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 441 (confidential).

2812. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Fikret Jahijagić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 10 June 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that at the time of his death, Fikret Jahijagić was detained and thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Fikret Jahijagić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Eniz, son of Husejn (20, male)

2813. Eniz Kapidžić, born in 1972 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Zvornik in the municipality of Zvornik. The place of death is recorded as "Divič". The registered date of death is "28 May 1992". The death certificate issued in 2011 does not specify the cause of death. <sup>5253</sup> The Chamber received evidence that Eniz Kapidžić was a member of the BiH armed forces and from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing on 28 May 1992 in Divič while performing defence related duties. <sup>5254</sup>

2814. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Eniz Kapidžić died on or about 28 May 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Eniz Kapidžić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Ismail, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2815. The Chamber has not been provided w any evidence in support of the allegation that Ismail Kapidžić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictemt. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## KAPIDŽIĆ, Sakib, son of Adem (39, male)

2816. Sakib Kapidžić, born in 1953 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič, on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons states that human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Sakib Kapidžić. The Chamber has received evidence of ST088 that Sakib Kapidžić was abused and killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on 11 June 1992. The Chamber has also received evidence that Sakib Kapidžić, son of Adem, was a member of the BiH armed forces from 15 January 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed while on military duty in Čelopek on 10 June 1992.

2817. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Sakib Kapidžić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture on

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5253</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7510.1, Death Certificate of Eniz Kapidić (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5254</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 444 (confidential). <sup>5255</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7513, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5256</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7515, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007(confidential).

<sup>5257</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; ST088, P2190, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15756 (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7516 (confidential).

<sup>5258 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 443 (confidential).

11 June 1992. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Sakib Kapidžić was detained and was thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Sakib Kapidžić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Sead, son of Husejn (28, male)

2818. Sead Kapidžić, born in 1964 in Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Zvornik in the municipality of Zvornik. His place of death is recorded as "Divič". The registered date of death is "28 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of his death. 5259

2819. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Kapidžić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

### KAPIDŽIĆ, Sulejman, son of Husejn (29, male)

2820. Sulejman Kapidžić, born in 1963 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the town of Zvornik in the municipality of Zvornik. His place of death is recorded as "Divič". The registered date of death is "28 May 1992". The death certificate issued in the year 2011 does not specify the cause of his death. The Chamber has also received evidence that Sulejman Kapidžić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing while carrying out defence related duties in Divič on 28 May 1992.

2821. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Sulejman Kapidžić died in Divič on or about 28 May 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Sulejman Kapidžić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### **KULIN, Edin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)**

2822. The Chamber has not been provided with any evidence in support of the allegation that Edin Kulin was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KULJANIN, Mustafa, son of Ibrahim (39, male)

2823. Mustafa Kuljanin, born in 1953 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek, on 10 June 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Mustafa Kuljanin. The Chamber has also received evidence that Mustafa Kuljanin was a

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5259</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7517.1, Death Certificate of Sead Kapidžić (confidential)

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5260 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7518.1, Death Certificate of Sulejman Kapidžić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5261 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7522, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5262</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7521, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Čelopek on 10 June 1992 while performing defence related duties. <sup>5263</sup>

2824. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mustafa Kuljanin died in Čelopek on or about 10 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Mustafa Kuljanin was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

## KURŠUMOVIĆ, Himzo, 5264 son of Husein (58, male)

2825. Himzo Kuršumović, born in 1934 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič on 10 June 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Himzo Kuršumović. Secondary of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Himzo Kuršumović.

2826. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Himzo Kuršumović died in Divič on or about 10 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Himzo Kuršumović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### KURŠUMOVIĆ, Ismail, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2827. The Chamber has not been provided with any evidence in support of the allegation that Ismail Kuršumović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture as charged in the Indictment. The Chamber has, however, received evidence that Ismail Kuršumović, son of Fahrudin, was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 28 May 1992. He is reported to have gone missing in Čelopek while performing defence related duties on 28 May 1992. Section 25 May 1992.

2828. The Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the evidence received on the combatant status of Ismail Kuršumović, son of Fahrudin concerns the same individual as the one named in the Indictment. Moreover, based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ismail Kuršumović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## MURATOVIĆ, Ahmet, son of Murat (55, male)

2829. Ahmet Muratović, born in 1937 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek on 1 May 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ahmet Muratović. The Chamber has received evidence that Ahmet Muratović was a member of

\_

 <sup>5263 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 447 (confidential).
 5264 The Chamber notes that in the Final Victims List, this person's name is listed as "Himza Kušumović".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5265</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7525, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5266</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7524, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5267</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 449 (confidential). <sup>5268</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7529, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5269</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7528, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007(confidential).

the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 10 June 1992 while performing defence related duties in Čelopek. <sup>5270</sup>

2830. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ahmet Muratović died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Ahmet Muratović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### OKANOVIĆ, Nesib, son of Hasib (42, male)

2831. Nesib Okanović, born in 1950 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič on 28 May 1992 The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Nesib Okanović. The death certificate issued for Nesib Okanović by the municipality of Zvornik in the year 2011 states that Nesib Okanović died on 10 June 1992 in Čelopek. The death certificate does not state the cause of death. The Chamber has also received evidence that Nesib Okanović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed in Čelopek on 10 June 1992 while performing defence related duties.

2832. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nesib Okanović died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Nesib Okanović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### OKANOVIĆ, Omer, son of Šemso (55, male)

2833. Omer Okanović, ICRC number BAZ-102215-01, born in 1937 in Gušteri, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. This information is consistent with the ICRC Missing Persons Report. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Omer Okanović. The Chamber has also received evidence that Omer Okanović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 1 June 1992 while performing defence related duties in Bijeli Potok.

2834. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nesib Okanović died in Bijeli Potok on or about 1 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Nesib Okanović was

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5270</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 450 (confidential). <sup>5271</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7532, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7531, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

5273 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7533, Death Certificate of Nesib Okanović (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5274</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 451 (confidential). <sup>5275</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7534, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5276</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7535, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5277</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7536, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5278 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 452 (confidential).

detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### PAŠIĆ, Edin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2835. The Chamber has not been provided with any evidence in support of the allegation that Edin Pašić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Edin Pašić wad killed as charged in the Indictment.

## PAŠIĆ, Mujo, son of Ahmet (43, male)

2836. Mujo Pašić, born in 1949 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. <sup>5279</sup> He is reported to have been exhumed at Crni Vrh, Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. <sup>5280</sup> According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Mujo Pašić. <sup>5281</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Mujo Pašić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 10 June 1992 while perfoming defence related duties in Čelopek. <sup>5282</sup>

2837. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mujo Pašić died in 1992. However, in the absence of evidence that Mujo Pašić was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture and the cause of his death, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### PEZEROVIĆ, Senahid, son of Mehmed (age unknown, male)

2838. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Senahid Pezerović. The Chamber has also received evidence that a person named Senaid Pezerović, son of Mehmed, born on 2 July 1957 served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Pezerović was killed on 10 June 1992 at Čelopek while carrying out defence related duties. 5284

2839. The Chamber is unable to ascertain whether the evidence received on the combatant status of Senahid Pezerović, son of Mehmed, concerns the same individual as the one named in the Indictment. Moreover, based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mehmet Pezerović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

## PEZEROVIĆ, Zajim, son of Šefo (33, male)

2840. Zaim Pezerović, ICRC number BAZ-106292-01, born in 1959 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Čelopek on 11 June 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the

<sup>5284</sup> 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 14 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5279</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7539, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5280</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7539, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5281</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7540, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5282</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 458 (confidential). <sup>5283</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7542, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003.<sup>5285</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report lists his date of disappearance as 10 June 1992.<sup>5286</sup> A death certificate issued by the Zvornik municipal authorities in the year 2011 states that Zajim Pezerović died on 11 June 1992 in Čelopek. The death certificate does not indicate the cause of death.<sup>5287</sup> According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Zaim Pezerović.<sup>5288</sup> The Chamber has received evidence from ST088 that Zaim Pezerović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture where he was abused and killed.<sup>5289</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Zajim Pezerović, son of Šefo, served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 10 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 10 June 1992 while carrying out defence related duties in Čelopek.<sup>5290</sup>

2841. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Zaim Pezerović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time and place of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Zaim Pezerović was detained and thus hors de combat when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Zaim Pezerović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SALIHOVIĆ, Husein, son of Mehmed (41, male)

2842. Husein Salihović, ICRC number BAZ-102207-01, born in 1951 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič on 26 May 1992. The same list states that his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. <sup>5291</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Husein Salihović was born in 1950. The information contained in the Report is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. <sup>5292</sup> According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Husejin Salihović. <sup>5293</sup> The Chamber has received the evidence of ST088 that, on 11 June 1992, Husein Salihović was detained at Čelopek Dom Kulture, where he was forced to load the bodies of dead fellow inmates into a truck and accompany them. He did not return. <sup>5294</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Husein Salihović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 27 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 27 June 1992 while performing defence related duties in Divič. <sup>5295</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5285</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7545, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5286</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7544, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5287</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7533, Death Certificate of Zajim Pezerović (confidential).

<sup>5288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7546, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3288</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7546, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5289</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 8; see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7547 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5290</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 460(confidential). <sup>5291</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7552, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5292</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7550, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5293</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7549, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5294</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 9; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7553 (confidential).

<sup>5295 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 461 (confidential).

2843. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database that Husein Salihović's body was exhumed from the same grave site as other victims of the incident he was forced to accompany to their grave, the Chamber finds that the only reasonable inference is that Husein Salihović was killed after burying the bodies of his fellow inmates on or about 11 June 1992. The Chamber further considers that in light of the aforementioned, it is unconvinced that the BiH record which states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties on 27 June 1992, casts doubt on its finding that Husein Salihović was killed hors de combat. The Chamber therefore finds that Husein Salihović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TUHČIĆ, Almir, son of Mehmed (17, male)

2844. Almir Tuhčić, born in 1975 in Divič, Zvornik, is reported as to have gone missing in Čelopek on 27 June 1992. 5296

2845. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Almir Tuhčić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### TUHČIĆ, Aziz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2846. The Chamber has not been provided with any evidence in support of the allegation that Aziz Tuhčić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Aziz Tuhčić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### TUHČIĆ, Ejub, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2847. The Chamber has received evidence of ST088 that, on 11 June 1992, Ejub Tuhčić was beaten with a chair and other instruments which caused him to lapse into a coma and die on 15 June 1992. 5297

2848. Based on the evidence of ST088, the Chamber finds that Ejub Tuhčić was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

## ZAHIROVIĆ, Salih, son of Salko (44, male)

2849. Salih Zahirović, ICRC number BAZ-101971-01, born in 1948 in Divič, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Divič on 27 May 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Husein Salihović was born in 1946. The information recorded in the Report is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Salih Zahirović. The Chamber has also received evidence of ST088 that on or about 5 to 11 June 1992, paramilitaries of Toro's group

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5296</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7550, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Reports on Death (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5297</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 7; ST088, P2190, *Prosecutor v. Momčilo Krajišnik*, Case No. IT-00-39-T, 4 July 2005, T. 15753 (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7557 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5298</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7560, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5299</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7559, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5300</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7561, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

killed Salih Zahirović. Before he was shot, his body was tied to a car and dragged through the street. 5301

2850. Based on the evidence of ST088, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Salih Zahirović was killed at Čelopek Dom Kulture, as charged in the Indictment.

#### (c) Karakaj Technical School

### AHMETOVIĆ, Ismet, son of Agan (53, male)

2851. Ismet Ahmetović, ICRC number BAS-002794-01, born in 1939 in Klisa, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. He is reported to have been exhumed at Crni Vrh, Zvornik on 28 July 2003. The ICRC Missing Persons Report states that Ismet Ahmetović was born in Donja Baljkovica, Zvornik. The information recorded in the Report is otherwise consistent with the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ismet Ahmetović. The Chamber received evidence of ST015 that, on 3 June 1992, Ismet Ahmetović was one of 25 detainees held at Karakaj Technical School who were led out of the school by Serb soldiers and never returned. The Chamber has also received evidence that Ismet Ahmetović served in the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992 while performing defence related duties.

2852. Based on the evidence of ST015, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Ismet Ahmetović was killed at Karakaj Technical School. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing his duties, but records the time and place of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that at the time, Ismet Ahmetović was detained and therefore *hors de combat*. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Ismet Salihović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

# ALIĆ, Aljo, son of Osman (56, male)

2853. Aljo Alić, ICRC number BAS-002844-01, born in 1936 in Zaseok, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Zaseok on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5301</sup> ST088, P2189, Public Redacted Witness Statement, 30 June 1996, p. 7; *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7562 (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7566, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5303</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7566, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5304</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7564, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5305</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7565, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5306</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević*, Case No.02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21482 (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7567 (confidential).

<sup>\$307 1</sup>D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 400 (confidential).

16 June 1992.<sup>5308</sup> According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003.<sup>5309</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. 5310 According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Aljo Alić. 5311 The Chamber has also received documentary evidence in form of a list of persons detained and killed at Karakaj Technical School. Aljo Alić's name is on this list. 5312

2854. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Aljo Alić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

#### AVDIĆ, Hasan, son of Alija (51, male)

2855. Hasan Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100649-01, born in 1941 in Klisa, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Grbavci-Hajdarev, Zvornik, on 12 October 2000. 5313 The ICRC Missing Persons Report is consistent with this information. 5314 According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at a grave site in Grbavci and marked "GR-01/041B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Hasan Avdić. 5315 The autopsy report of the remains "GR-01/041B" prepared by Dr. John Clark of the United Nations International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia on 7 July 2001, determines the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the head. Clothing found on the remains was identified as grey trousers, a white vest, and a chequered shirt. 5316 The Chamber has received evidence that Hasan Avdić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 1 June 1992 while carrying out defence related duties in Bijeli Potok. The Chamber has received other evidence, including the testimony of ST015 and Petko Panić, that Hasan Avdić was shot dead by Serb soldiers at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 5 June 1992. 5317

2856. Based on the evidence of ST015 and Petko Panić, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Hasan Avdić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while performing his duties, but records the time of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment, and the Chamber considers that it is not capable of cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Hasan Avdić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>5308</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7571, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5309</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7571, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7570, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5311</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7569, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential). <sup>5312</sup> P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2

<sup>(</sup>confidential). 5313 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7576, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing

Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5314</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7574, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential).

<sup>5315</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7575, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5316</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7573, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>5317</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević, Case No. IT-02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21481-2142 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666-2667; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential).

#### AVDIĆ, Hrustan, son of Hajdar (43, male)

2857. Hrustan Avdić, ICRC number BAZ-100651-02, born in 1949 in Petkovci, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same list, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Grbavci-Hajdarev, Zvornik, on 12 October 2000. <sup>5318</sup> The ICRC Missing Persons Report is generally consistent with this information. <sup>5319</sup> According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at a grave site in Grbavci and marked "GR-01/020B" have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Hrustan Avdić. The autopsy report of the remains "GR-01/020B" prepared by Dr. Marek Gasior of the United Nations International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia on 29 May 2001, determines the cause of death as a gunshot injury to the head. The remains also showed evidence of fractures to the right lower arm. Clothing found on the remains was identified as blue trousers and a brown leather belt. A leather wallet containing a driver's licence and remnants of Deutsch Marks was also found on the remains. 5321 The Chamber has received the evidence of ST015 that Hrustan Avdić was detained at Karakaj Technical School where he is said to have suffocated among a group of 20 detainees on 1 June 1992. 5322 According to ST015 the 20 bodies including Hrustan Avdić's body, were removed from the building the following day. 5323

2858. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hrustan Avdić was killed by gunshot. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he suffocated at Karakaj school and is therefore unable to rely on the evidence that he was detained there and killed. The Chamber is thus unable to find that he was killed as, as charged in the Indictment.

### **BOŠNJAK**, Meho, son of Ibrahim (53, male)

2859. Meho Bošnjak, born in 1939 in Kućić Kula, Zvornik, is reported to have disappeared on 1 June 1992 in Klisa, Zvornik. 5324 The Chamber has received a list of persons killed at Karakaj school on or about 1 to 8 June 1992. The list includes Meho Bošnjak from Kula. 5325 The Chamber has also received evidence that Mehmed Bošnjak, son of Ibrahim, born on 5 July 1939, was a member of the BiH armed forces between 8 April 1992 and 1 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry of War Veterans, Mehmed Bošnjak was killed on 1 June 1992 while carrying out defence related duties in Bijeli Potok. 5326

2860. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Meho Bošnjak was killed at Karakaj Technical School. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and died while

<sup>5318</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7580, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5319</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7579, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Solved Deaths (confidential). The Chamber, however, notes the difference in the place of birth, as recorded in the ICRC

Missing Persons Report.

Missing Persons Report.

5320 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7582, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential). <sup>5321</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7581, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>5322</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 4 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v.* Slobodan Milošević, Case No.02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21477-21478, 21530 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666; Petko Panić, 11 November 2009, T. 2896; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School

Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential); Adjudicated Fact 1407.

5323 ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7583 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5324</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7585, ICRC Report-Missing Persons on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5325</sup> P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential). 5326 1D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 1 (confidential).

performing his duties, but records the time of his death in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment, the Chamber therefore considers that the BiH record is not capable of casting doubt on the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber finds that Meho Bošnjak was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

#### DEDIĆ, Himzo, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2861. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Himzo Dedić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Himzo Dedić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### DELIĆ, Nurdin, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2862. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Nurdin Delić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly the Chamber is unable to make any finding in relation to this individual.

### DELIĆ, Nurija, son of Mehmed (45, male)

2863. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at a grave site in Crn Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Nurija Delić. 5327 Nurija Delić, ICRC number BAZ-102164-01, born in 1947 in Klisa, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. 5328 The Chamber has also received the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests in support of the aforementioned information. 5329 However, the Chamber considers that the information provided in the ICRC Missing Persons Report concerns another individual, as ICRC number, year of birth, place of birth and father's name differ from the information provided in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. Given that the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List also records the place and date of exhumation consistent with the information provided in the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, the Chamber considers the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List to contain information on the individual alleged to have been killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard the ICRC Missing Persons Report in relation to this individual. The Chamber has also received evidence that Nurija Delić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992, He is reported to have gone missing in Bijeli Potok while carrying out defence related duties on 1 June 1992.<sup>5330</sup>

2864. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Nurija Delić died on 1 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence as to Nurija Delić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that Nurija Delić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5327</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7595, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5328</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7592, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5329</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7594, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5330</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 416 (confidential).

### GOJKIĆ, Ahmed, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2865. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Ahmed Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GOJKIĆ, Alija, son of Mujo (53, male)

2866. Alija Gojkić, ICRC number BAZ-103504-01, born in 1939 in Đulići, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. <sup>5331</sup> In support of its allegation that Alija Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution further submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. <sup>5332</sup> However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests does not list any individual by the name of Alija Gojkić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the report in relation to this individual. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Alija Gojkić. <sup>5333</sup> A death certificate in the name of Alija Gojkić, born in 1939 in Petkovci, Zvornik, issued in the year 2011 by the municipal authorities for Zvornik, states that Alija Gojkić died on 1 June 1992 in Đulići. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>5334</sup>

2867. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Alija Gojkić died on 1 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence as to Alija Gojkić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that Alija Gojkić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Hasan, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2868. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Hasan Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GOJKIĆ, Himzo, son of Ohran (73, male)

2869. Himzo Gojkić, ICRC number BAZ-103396-01, born in 1919 in Đulići, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. Since In support of its allegation that Himzo Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution further submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests does not list any individual by the name of Himzo Gojkić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the Report in relation to Himzo Gojkić. According to

617

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5331</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7602, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5332</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7600, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>5333</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7601, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5334</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7604.1, Death Certificate of Alija Gojkić (confidential). 5335 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7610, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5336</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7608, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at a grave site in Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Himzo Gojkić. 5337

2870. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Himzo Gojkić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence that Himzo Gojkić was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that Himzo Gojkić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

### GOJKIĆ, Husein, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2871. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Husein Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Ibro, son of Ibrahim (53, male)

2872. Ibro Gojkić, born on 25 December 1939 in Petkovci, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 1992 of the town of Kalesija in the municipality of Kalesija in the Canton of Tuzla. The date of his death is registered as "1 June 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Bijeli Potok, Zvornik". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. An additional remark on the death certificate states that the entry was made pursuant to a decision of the municipal court of Kalesija number R-2345/98 of 4 July 1999. The Chamber has not received the said decision of the municipal court of Kalesija.

2873. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Ibro Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Mensur, son of Mustafa (25, male)

2874. Mensur Gojkić, born on 12 October 1967 in Đulići, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 1992 of the town of Kalesija in the municipality of Kalesija in the Canton of Tuzla. The date of his death is registered as "1 June 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Bijeli Potok, Zvornik". The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. An additional remark on the death certificate states that the entry was made pursuant to a decision of the municipal court in Kalesija number R2-95/2000 and MKV Register of marriages of 17 November 2000.<sup>5339</sup> The Chamber has not received either of these documents. The Chamber has received evidence that Mensur Gojkić was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 1 June 1992 while performing defence related duties in Bijeli Potok. 5340

2875. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Mensur Gojkić died on 1 June 1992. However, in the absence of evidence as to Mensur Gojkić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that Mensur Gojkić was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Mustafa, son of Mujo (51, male)

2876. The Prosecution tenders a report as part of the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, which has not been translated into one of the official working languages of the

<sup>5337</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7609, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

F338 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7615.1, Death Certificate of Ibro Gojkić (confidential). 5339 P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7617.1, Death Certificate of Mensur Gojkić (confidential). 5340 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 429 (confidential).

Tribunal. The Chamber will thus not consider this report in relation to Mustafa Gojkić. <sup>5341</sup> In support of its allegation that Mustafa Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution further submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. <sup>5342</sup> However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests does not list any individual by the name of Mustafa Gojkić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the report. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site in Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Mustafa Gojkić. <sup>5343</sup> A death certificate in the name of Mustafa Gojkić, born on 20 July 1941 in Petkovci, Zvornik, issued in the year 2011 by the municipal authorities for Zvornik states that Mustafa Gojkić died in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. The death certificate does not specify the cause of death. <sup>5344</sup>

2877. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber is unable to find that Mustafa Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Nijaz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2878. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Nijaz Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nijaz Gojkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Senad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2879. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Senad Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Senad Gojkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### GOJKIĆ, Zijad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2880. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Zijad Gojkić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Zijad Gojkić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GRABIĆ, Muradif, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2881. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Muradif Grabić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Muradif Grabić was killed as charged in the Indictment.

### GRAHIĆ, Hasan, son of Ramo (25, male)

2882. Hasan Grahić, ICRC number BAZ 101988-02, born in 1967 in Đulići, Zvornik is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni

· ·

619

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5341</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7619, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, D000-2271-D000-2271 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5342</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7621, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>5343</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7620, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5344</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7622.1, Death Certificate of Mustafa Gojkić (confidential).

Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003.<sup>5345</sup> In support of its allegation that Hasan Grahić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests.<sup>5346</sup> However, the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests does not list any individual by the name of Hasan Grahić. The Chamber will therefore disregard the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests in relation to this individual. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site in Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Hasan Grahić.<sup>5347</sup>

2883. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Hasan Grahić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to Hasan Grahić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### GRAHIĆ, Salih, son of Hasan (52, male)

2884. Salih Grahić, son of Hasan, ICRC number BAZ 101989-01, born in 1940 in Đulići, Zvornik is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Grbavci-Hajdarev, Zvornik, on 12 October 2000. State In support of its allegation that Salih Grahić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. This report lists two individuals by the name of Salih Grahić. Both individuals carry a different ICRC number than the one listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List, as well as differing personal information, such as year of birth and father's name. The Chamber therefore considers that the information contained within the ICRC Missing Persons Report concerns different individuals than the one listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site at Grbavci-Hajdarev and marked "GR01-015B", have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Salih Grahić, son of Hasan. State Persons International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia on 5 June 2001, determines the cause of death as "unascertainable". Clothing found on the remains was identified as a blue jumper and white shorts with fine stripes.

2885. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Salih Grahić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to Salih Grahić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5345</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7631, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5346</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7632, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5347</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7633, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>5348</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7635, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5349</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7637, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>5350</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7636, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5351</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7538, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### HAMZIĆ, Nešad, son of Rasim (36, male)

2886. Nešad Hamzić, born on 12 November 1956 in Klisa, Zvornik, is listed as deceased in the Register of Deaths for the year 2003 of the town of Petkovci in the municipality of Zvornik. The date of his death is recorded as "1 June 1992". The place of death is recorded as "Bijeli Potok", Zvornik. The death certificate, issued in the year 2011, does not specify the cause of death. <sup>5352</sup> The Chamber has received evidence from ST015 that Nešad Hamzić suffocated among a group of 20 detainees held at Karakaj Technical School on 1 June 1992. <sup>5353</sup> The Chamber has also received evidence that Nešad Hamzić, son of Rasim, born on 12 November 1956, was a member of the BiH armed forces between 8 April 1992 and 1 June 1992. According to the register of the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, Hamzić went missing while carrying out defence related duties in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. <sup>5354</sup>

2887. Based on the evidence of ST015, as well as the evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Nešad Hamzić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. The BiH record states that he served in the armed forces and disappeared while performing defence duties, but records the time of his disappearance in a manner that is consistent with the charges in the Indictment. Moreover, the Chamber finds that, at the time of his death, Nešad Hamzić was detained and thus *hors de combat* when he was killed. The BiH record therefore does not cast doubt upon the finding that he was killed as charged in the Indictment. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that Nešad Hamzić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

### JAŠAREVIĆ, Avdo, son of Abdulah (42, male)

2888. Avdo Jašarević, ICRC number BAZ-100884-01, born in 1950 in Klisa, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. In support of its allegation that Avdo Jašarević was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution further submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. This report lists one individual by the name of Avdo Jašarević, son of Avdija. The Chamber thus considers that the entry concerns another individual. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site at Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Avdo Jašarević, son of Abdulah. The Chamber has also received evidence from ST015 that Avdo Jašarević was shot and killed at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 4 June 1992.

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm

Case No. IT-08-91-T

27 March 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5352</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7640.1, Death Certificate of Nešad Hamzić (confidential).

<sup>(</sup>confidential).

ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 4 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević*, Case No.02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21477-21478, 21530 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666; Petko Panić, 11 November 2009, T. 2896; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential); Adjudicated Fact 1407.

<sup>1</sup>D834, List of Names from the BiH Federal Ministry for War Veterans, 30 May 2012, para. 16 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5355</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7642, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>5356</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7645, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>5357</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7644, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević*, Case No. IT-02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21481-2142 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666-2667; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential).

2889. Based on the evidence of ST015, as well as supporting evidence presented in the Proof of Death Database, the Chamber finds that Avdo Jašarević was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

### JAŠAREVIĆ, Nurija, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2890. The Chamber has received evidence from ST015 that Nurija Jašarević was shot and killed at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 4 June 1992. 5359

2891. Based on the evidence of ST015, the Chamber finds that Nurija Jašarević was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

#### KAŠAREVIĆ, Nešad, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2892. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Nešad Kašarević was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Nešad Kašarević was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### LOLIĆ, Ramo, son of Murat (46, male)

2893. Ramo Lolić, ICRC number BAZ 100920-01, born in 1946 in Mrakodol, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Grbavci-Hajdarev, Zvornik, on 12 October 2000. In support of its allegation that Ramo Lolić was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. However, this report does not list any individual by the name of Ramo Lolić. The Chamber will thus not consider the document. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site at Grbavci-Hajdarev and marked "GR01-029B", have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Ramo Lolić. The autopsy report of the remains "GR01/029B" prepared by Dr. John Clark of the United Nations International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia on 7 June 2001, determines the cause of death as "unascertainable". Clothing found on the remains was identified as a white or pale orange short-sleeved shirt and grey trousers. Saccertains of the saccertains of the saccertains of the remains was identified as a white or pale orange short-sleeved shirt and grey trousers.

2894. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramo Lolić is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to Ramo Lolić's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### LUPIĆ, Adam, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2895. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Adam Lupić was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed as charged in the Indictment.

.

<sup>5359</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević*, Case No. IT-02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21481-2142 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666-2667; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential).

<sup>5360</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7653, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5361</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7652, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5362</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7655, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5363</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7654, Autopsy Report (confidential).

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Dževad, son of Rifat (21, male)

2896. Dževad Selimović, ICRC number BAZ 101014-01, born in 1971 in Đulići, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Crni Vrh in the municipality of Zvornik on 28 July 2003. In support of its allegation that Dževad Selimović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. However, the report does not list any individual by the name of Dževad Selimović. The Chamber will thus not consider the document. According to the Report of the International Commission for Missing Persons, human remains found at the grave site in Crni Vrh have, on the basis of DNA matching, been identified as those of Dževad Selimović. The Chamber has also received evidence that Dževad Selimović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have gone missing Bijeli Potok while performing defence related duties on 1 June 1992 in Bijeli Potok.

2897. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Dževad Selimović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to Dževad Selimović's cause of death and evidence that was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Osman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2898. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Osman Selimović was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Osman Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Sead, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2899. The Chamber has not received any evidence in support of the allegation that Sead Selimović was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that Sead Selimović was killed as charged in the Indictment.

#### SELIMOVIĆ, Smajo, son of Mehmed (39, male)

2900. Smajo Selimović, ICRC number BAZ 101022-02, born in 1953 in Đulići, Zvornik, is listed in the BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons List as having gone missing in Bijeli Potok on 1 June 1992. According to the same report, his body was exhumed from a mass grave in Grbavci-Hajdarev, Zvornik, on 12 October 2000. In support of its allegation that Smajo Selimović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests. However, this report does not list any individual by the name of Smajo Selimović. The Chamber will thus not consider the document. Human remains found at the grave site at Grbavci-Hajdarev and marked "GR01-004B", have been identified as those of Smajo Selimović. His identity has been confirmed by his wife. The

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5364</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7659, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5365</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7662, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>5366</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7661, ICMP Notice of DNA Reports Submitted, November 2001-September 2007 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5367</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 464 (confidential). <sup>5368</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7671, BiH State Commission for Tracing Missing Persons, Table of Exhumed Persons (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5369</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7669, ICRC Missing Persons Report, Table of Pending Tracing Requests (confidential)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5370</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7668, Identification Report (confidential).

autopsy report of the remains marked "GR01/004B" prepared by Dr. John Clark of the United Nations International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia on 4 June 2001, determines the cause of death as "unascertainable". San Clothing and remnants of clothing found on the remains were identified as a jumper, a blue and black chequered shirt, and a pair of black trousers. 5372 The Chamber has also received evidence that Smajo Selimović was a member of the BiH armed forces from 8 April 1992 to 1 June 1992. He is reported to have been killed on 1 June 1992 while carrying out defence related duties in Bijeli Potok.<sup>5373</sup>

2901. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Smajo Selimović is deceased. However, in the absence of evidence as to Smajo Selimović's cause of death and evidence that he was detained at Karakaj Technical School, the Chamber is unable to find that he was killed there, as charged in the Indictment.

#### SINANOVIĆ, Ramiz, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2902. The Chamber has received evidence from ST015 that Ramiz Sinanović was shot and killed by Serb soldiers among 160 to 180 detainees held at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 4 June 1992.<sup>5374</sup>

2903. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Ramiz Sinanović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

### MAJLOVIĆ Enes, son of Avdo (27-29, male)

2904. In support of its allegation that Enes Smajlović, ICRC number "BAZ-100928", 5375 was killed at Karakaj Technical School in June 1992, the Prosecution submits the ICRC Missing Persons Report. 5376 The Chamber notes that while the report lists an individual by the name of Enes Smajlović, this person's ICRC number does not correspond to the one provided as identifying information by the Prosecution in the Proof of Death Database. 5377 The individual's name whose ICRC number matches the number provided by the Prosecution is Enes Majlović, son of Avdo, born on 7 April 1965 in Đulići, Zvornik, reported to have gone missing in Đulići, Zvornik, on 1 June 1992. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that the Prosecution's Final Victims List lists the individual as "Smajlović ('Majlović'), Enes". The Chamber has also received evidence that a person named Enes Majlović, born in 1963 in Đulići, was detained and killed at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 8 June 1992. 5378

2905. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Enes Majlović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5371</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7670, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>5372</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7670, Autopsy Report (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5373</sup> 1D833, List of Names from the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 28 October 2011, para. 462 (confidential). <sup>5374</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v.* Slobodan Milošević, Case No. IT-02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21481-2142 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666-2667; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential); see also P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7673 (confidential). 5375 The Chamber notes that the ICRC number as recorded is incomplete.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5376</sup> P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7674.1, ICRC Report-Missing Persons on the Territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 30 June 1998 (confidential).

<sup>5377</sup> See P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7674.1 (confidential).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5378</sup> P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential);

## SMAJLOVIĆ, Osman, father's name unknown (age unknown, male)

2906. The Chamber has received evidence from ST015 that Osman Smajlović was shot and killed by Serb soldiers among 160 to 180 detainees held at Karakaj Technical School on or about 1 to 4 June 1992. 5379

2907. Based on the evidence presented, the Chamber finds that Osman Smajlović was killed at Karakaj Technical School, as charged in the Indictment.

### SOFTIĆ, first name unknown, father's name unknown (age unknown)

2908. The Chamber has not received any evidence on the identity of this individual. It has also not received any evidence in support of the allegation that this individual was killed at Karakaj Technical School. Accordingly, the Chamber is unable to find that this person was killed as charged in the Indictment.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5379</sup> ST015, P299.04, Witness Statement, 24 November 1996, p. 5 (confidential); ST015, P299.01, *Prosecutor v. Slobodan Milošević*, Case No. IT-02-54-T, 2 June 2003, T. 21481-2142 (confidential); ST015, 5 November 2009, T. 2666-2667; P301, List of People Killed and List of Guards at Karakaj School Camp by Mehmedalija Gojkic, 29 June 1992, p. 2 (confidential); *see also* P2466, Proof of Death Database (CHS), "ordinal number" 7673.

#### III. ANNEX III: LEGAL AUTHORITIES

#### ICTY and ICTR Jurisprudence

- Prosecutor v. Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, Judgement, 2 September 1998 (Akayesu Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Aleksovski, Case No. IT-95-14/1-A, Judgement, 24 March 2000 (Aleksovski Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Babić, Case No. IT-03-72-S, Sentencing Judgement, 29 June 2004 (Babić Sentencing Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Babić, Case No. IT-03-72-A, Judgement, 18 July 2005 (Babić Sentencing Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-A, Judgement, 3 July 2002 (Bagilishema Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Blagojević and Jokić, Case No. IT-02-60-T, Judgement, 17 January 2005 (Blagojević and Jokić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Blagojević and Jokić, Case No. IT-02-60-A, Judgement, 9 May 2007 (Blagojević and Jokić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Blaškić, Case No. IT-95-14-T, Judgement, 3 March 2000 (Blaškić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Blaškić, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Judgement, 29 July 2004 (Blaškić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Boškoski and Tarčulovski, IT-04-82-A, Judgement, 19 May 2010 (Boškoski and Tarčulovski Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-T, Judgement, 1 September 2004 (Brdanin Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Brdanin, Case No. IT-99-36-A, Judgement, 3 April 2007 (Brdanin Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Delalić, Mucić, Delić, and Landžo, Case No. IT-96-21-T, Judgement, 16 November 1998 (Čelebići Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Delalić, Mucić, Delić, and Landžo, Case No. IT-96-21-A, Judgement, 20 February 2001 (Čelebići Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Deronjić, Case No. IT-02-61-A, Judgement on Sentencing Appeal, 20 July 2005 (Deronjić Sentencing Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Erdemović, Case No. IT-96-22-Tbis, Sentencing Judgement, 5 March 1998 (Erdemović Sentencing Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Furundžija, Case No. IT-95-17/1-T, Judgement, 10 December 1998 (Furundžija Trial Judgement)

- Prosecutor v. Furundžija, Case No. IT-95-17/1-A, Judgement, 21 July 2000 (Furundžija Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Gacumbitsi, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A, Judgement, 7 July 2006 (Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Galić, Case No. IT-98-29-T, Judgement and Opinion, 5 December 2003 (Galić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Galić, Case No. IT-98-29-A, Judgement, 30 November 2006 (Galić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Gotovina, Čermak, and Markač, Case No. IT-06-90-T, Judgement, 15 April 2011 (Gotovina et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Hadžihasanović and Kubura, Case No. IT-01-47-T, Judgement, 15 March 2006 (Hadžihasanović and Kubura Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Hadžihasanović and Kubura, Case No. IT-01-47-A, Judgement, 22 April 2008 (Hadžihasanović and Kubura Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Halilović, Case No. IT-01-48-T, Judgement, 16 November 2005 (Halilović Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Halilović, Case No. IT-01-48-A, Judgement, 16 October 2007 (Halilović Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Haradinaj, Balaj, and Brahimaj, Case No. IT-04-84-A, Judgement, 19 July 2010 (Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Jelisić, Case No. IT-95-10-T, Judgement, 14 December 1999 (Jelisić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Jelisić, Case No. IT-95-10-A, Judgement, 5 July 2001 (Jelisić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Jokić, Case No. IT-01-42/1-S, Judgement, 18 March 2004 (Jokić Sentencing Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-T, Judgement, 1 December 2003 (Kajelijeli Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-A, Judgement, 23 May 2005 (Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-99-54A-A, Judgement, 19 September 2005 (Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Karadžić, Case No. IT-95-5/18-AR72.4, Decision on Prosecution's Motion Appealing Trial Chamber's Decision on JCE III Foreseeability, 25 June 2009
- Prosecutor v. Kayishema and Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-A, Judgement, 1 June 2001 (Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kordić and Čerkez, Case No. IT-95-14/2-T, Judgement, 26 February 2001 (Kordić and Čerkez Trial Judgement)

- Prosecutor v. Kordić and Čerkez, Case No. IT-95-14/2-A, Judgement, 17 December 2004 (Kordić and Čerkez Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-T, Judgement, 27 September 2006 (Krajišnik Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Krajišnik, Case No. IT-00-39-A, Judgement, 17 March 2009 (Krajišnik Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Krnojelac, Case No. IT-97-25-T, Judgement, 15 March 2002 (Krnojelac Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Krnojelac, Case No. IT-97-25-A, Judgement, 17 September 2003 (Krnojelac Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Krstić, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Judgement, 19 April 2004 (Krstić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kunarac, Kovač, and Vuković, Cases Nos. IT-96-23-T & IT-96-23/1-T, Judgement, 22 February 2001 (Kunarac et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kunarac, Kovać, and Vuković, Case No. IT-96-23 & IT-96-23/1-A, 12 June 2002 (Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kupreškić, Kupreškić, Josipović, Papić, and Šantić, Case No. IT-95-16-T, Judgement, 14 January 2000 (Kupreškić et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kupreškić, Kupreškić, Kupreškić, Josipović, and Šantić, Case No. IT-95-16-A, Appeal Judgement, 23 October 2001 (Kupreškić et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kvočka, Kos, Radić, Žigić, and Prcać, Case No. IT-98-30/1-T, Judgement, 2 November 2001 (Kvočka et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Kvočka, Radić, Žigić, and Prcać, Case No. IT-98-30/1-A, Judgement, 28 February 2005 (Kvočka et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Limaj, Bala, and Musliu, Case No. IT-03-66-T, Judgement, 30 November 2005 (Limaj et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Limaj, Bala, and Musliu, Case No. IT-03-66-A, Judgement, 27 September 2007 (Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Lukić and Lukić, Case No. IT-98-32/1-A, Judgement, 4 December 2012 (Lukić and Lukić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Martić, Case No. IT-95-11-T, Judgement, 12 June 2007 (Martić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Martić, Case No. IT-95-11-A, Judgement, 8 October 2008 (Martić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Milutinović, Šainović, Ojdanić, Pavković, Lazarević, and Lukić, Case No. IT-05-87-T, Judgement, 26 February 2009 (Milutinović et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Mpambara, Case No. ICTR-01-65-T, Judgement, 11 September 2006 (Mpambara Trial Judgement)

- Prosecutor v. Mrkšić, Radić, and Šljivančanin, Case No. 95-13/1-T, Judgement, 27 September 2007 (Mrkšić et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Mrkšić and Šljivančanin, Case No. IT-95-36/1-A, Judgement, 5 May 2009 (Mrkšić and Šljivančanin Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-2000-55A-A, Judgement, 29 August 2008 (Muvunyi Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Nahimana, Barayagwiza, and Ngeze, Case No. ICTR-99-52-A, 28 November 2007 (Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Naletilić and Martinović, Case No. IT-98-34-A, Judgement, 3 May 2006 (Naletilić and Martinović Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. D. Nikolić, Case No. IT-94-2-A, Judgement on Sentencing Appeal, 4 February 2005 (D. Nikolić Sentencing Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. M. Nikolić, Case No. IT-02-60/1-A, Judgement on Sentencing Appeal, 8 March 2006 (M. Nikolić Sentencing Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Ntagerura, Bagambiki, and Imanishimwe, Case No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement, 7 July 2006 (Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Ntakirutimana and Ntakirutimana, Cases Nos. ICTR-96-10-A & ICTR-96-17-A, Judgement, 13 December 2004 (Ntakirutimana and Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Orić, Case No. IT-03-68-T, Judgement, 30 June 2006 (Orić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Orić, Case No. IT-03-68-A, Judgement, 3 July 2008 (Orić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Perišić, Case No. IT-04-81-A, Judgement, 28 February 2013 (Perišić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Plavšić, Case No. IT-00-39&40/1-S, Sentencing Judgement, 27 February 2003 (Plavšić Sentencing Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Popović, Beara, Nikolić, Borovčanin, Miletić, Gvero, and Pandurević, Case No. IT-05-88-T, 10 June 2010 (Popović et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Semanza, Case No. ICTR-97-20-T, Judgement and Sentence, 15 May 2003 (Semanza Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Semanza, Case No. ICTR-97-20-A, Judgement, 20 May 2005 (Semanza Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Seromba, ICTR-2001-66-A, Judgement, 12 March 2008 (Seromba Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Sikirica, Došen, and Kolundžija, Case No. IT 95-8-S, Sentencing Judgement, 13 November 2001 (Sikirica et al. Sentencing Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Simić, Tadić, and Zarić, Case No. IT-95-9-T, Judgement, 17 October 2003 (Simić et al. Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. B. Simić Case No. IT-95-9-A, Judgement, 28 November 2006 (B. Simić Appeal Judgement)

- Prosecutor v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-T, Judgement, 31 July 2003 (Stakić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Stakić, Case No. IT-97-24-A, Judgement, 22 March 2006 (Stakić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-T, Judgement, 31 January 2005 (Strugar Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-A, Judgement, 17 July 2008 (Strugar Appeal Judgement)
- *Prosecutor v. Tadić*, Case No. IT-94-1-AR72, Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction, 2 October 1995 (*Tadić* Jurisdiction Decision on Interlocutory Appeal)
- Prosecutor v. Tadić, Case No. IT-94-1-T, Opinion and Judgement, 7 May 1997 (Tadić Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Tadić, Case No. IT-94-1-A, Judgement in Sentencing Appeals, 15 July 1999 (Tadić Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Tadić, Case No. IT-94-1-A and IT-94-1-Abis, Judgement, 26 January 2000 (Tadić Sentencing Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Vasiljević, Case No. IT-98-32-T, Judgement, 29 November 2002 (Vasiljević Trial Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Vasiljević, Case No. IT-98-32-A, Judgement, 25 February 2004 (Vasiljević Appeal Judgement)
- Prosecutor v. Zelenović, Case No. IT-96-23/2-S, Sentencing Judgement, 4 April 2007 (Zelenović Sentencing Judgement)

#### Treaties and Commentaries

- Convention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War of 12 August 1949, entry into force 21 October 1950 (Geneva Convention III)
- Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War of 12 August 1949, entry into force 21 October 1950
- Jean Pictet (ed.), Commentary, Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in the Field (1952, 1st reprint 1995) (ICRC Commentary to First Geneva Convention)
- Jean Pictet (ed.), Commentary, Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (1952, 1st reprint 1995) (ICRC Commentary to Fourth Geneva Convention)
- Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts, 8 June 1977, entry into force 7 December 1978 (Additional Protocol I)
- Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of Non-International Armed Conflicts, 8 June 1977, 7 December 1978 (Additional Protocol II)

### IV. ANNEX IV: DESIGNATED TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

1 <sup>st</sup> KK	1 <sup>st</sup> Krajina Corps
APC	Armoured personnel carrier
ARK	Autonomous Region of Krajina
ARK Municipalities	Municipalities for which Župljanin is alleged to bear criminal responsibility: Banja Luka, Donji Vakuf, Ključ, Kotor Varoš, Prijedor, Sanski Most, Skender Vakuf, and Teslić
ВіН	Bosnia and Herzegovina
BSA	Bosnian Serb Assembly, Assembly of the Serb People in BiH
Common Article 3	Common Article 3 to the Geneva Conventions
CSB	Regional Security Services Centre
CSCE	Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe
DM	Deutsche Mark
EC	European Community
ECMM	European Community Monitor Mission
Final Victims List	Public Updated Annex to Second Amended Consolidated Indictment, attached to Prosecution's Corrigendum to the Prosecution's Notice of Compliance with the Trial Chamber's Decision of 29 March 2012, 11 April 2012
FNU	First name unknown
FRY	Federal Republic of Yugoslavia
HDZ	Croatian Democratic Union
HVO	Croatian Defence Council
Indictment	Second Amended Consolidated Indictment
ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross
JCE	Joint criminal enterprise
JNA	Yugoslav People's Army
LIA	Law on Internal Affairs
LNU	Last name unknown

MBO	Muslim Bosniak Organisation
MOD	Ministry of Defence
MOJ	Ministry of Justice
Municipalities	Municipalities for which Stanišić is alleged to bear criminal responsibility: Banja Luka, Bijeljina, Bileća, Bosanski Šamac, Brčko, Doboj, Donji Vakuf, Gacko, Ilijaš, Ključ, Kotor Varoš, Pale, Prijedor, Sanski Most, Skender Vakuf, Teslić, Vlasenica, Višegrad, Vogošća, and Zvornik
MUP	Ministry of the Interior
NSC	National Security Council
OSCE	Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe
PIP	Prijedor Intervention Platoon
POW	Prisoner of War
Proof of Death Database	P2466, Proof of Death Database, Consolidated Hyperlinked Spreadsheet
RBiH	Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina
RDB	State Security Department
RS	Republika Srpska, Serb Republic in BiH, which was also known as the Serb Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina until 12 August 1992
RSK	Republic of Serb Krajina (Croatia)
RS MUP	Ministry of the Interior of Republika Srpska
SAO	Serbian Autonomous Region
SDA	Party of Democratic Action
SDB	State Security Service
SDK	Social Accounting Service, Public Auditing Service
SDS	Serbian Democratic Party
Serb Forces	Members of RS MUP, Army of Republika Srpska ("VRS"), Yugoslav People's Army ("JNA"), Yugoslav Army ("VJ"), Territorial Defence ("TO"), Serbian MUP, crisis staffs, Serbian and Bosnian paramilitary forces, volunteer units, local Bosnian Serbs acting under their instruction or pursuant to the direction of the aforementioned forces
SFRY	Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia

SJB	Public Security Station, Public Security Service
SM	Police Station
SMB	Camouflage olive-grey uniforms
SNB	National Security Service
SNO	National Defence Council, People's Defence Council
SO	Municipal Assembly
SOS	Serb Defence Forces
SRBiH	Socialist Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina
Statute	Statute of the Tribunal
SUP	Secretariat of Internal Affairs
ТО	Territorial Defence
UN	United Nations
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNPA	United Nations Protected Area
UNPF	United Nations Peace Force
UNPROFOR	United Nations Protection Force
US	United States of America
VJ	Yugoslav Army
VRS	Army of Republika Srpska
ZOBK	Community of Municipalities of Bosnian Krajina